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PREFACE 

I fed great relief In being able to send out this seemd toIusk 

ol m/ New History of the Marathas nut very tong after the first, 

and 1 have little to add by way ai a prefatory word to wliat I liavc 

said before. 1 hope 1 shall be equally fortunate in completing the 

third volumo se wail m quick succeaslon and along with it my last 

gruat caslL Tire matter of tlicac two volumes has increased beyond 

my oxi>cctation, as I considered a full statement necessary in justice 

both to tbe Achiovomtinta and the failures of the Marathos. The 

reader will notice that many new characters and episodes have been 

IwiTe dealt with, which had not hitherto received proper treatineru. 

'flK: vast amount of Marathi souvcca and the iccorda in the recently 

published Persian Calendar and tl» Poona Residency Correspond* 

once, have made this ampliAcativi necesaary. 

A full chronology for cadi draptcr and thus for the whole of 

Maratha history is a novel feature ^lich I have tor the first Umc 

introduced here and vrhldi, I am confident, will be appreciated by 

shldents of history artd general readers alike, although it has mate* 

rially increased the sise of my bode 

I must repeat my keen sense of gratefulness both Co Sir Jadunath 

Sarkar and U> Dr. V. G. Dighc fur the unstinted hdp and care 

which tlKy have readily exterKled to me in the execution of what I 

have always fdt as an ambitious undertaking for a soUiary worker 

like me. 

Kamhjibt, -I 

Djst, Pooka, j* G. S. Sardesai 

February, 1948. ) 
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dhti $bAHu Cbb4Crmpjti 



CilAPTiil? I 

SHAHU'S POSITION STABILIZED 

11707—17153 

1 SluUtu's KonW'ComiAg. ? SliaHu nnd nnbadur 
2 QauIo of Kited. 6 Ch.inJr]U(Q*i( defefiioni 

O)rontclocv tUc of Knlhctpur. 
f Kl>i' c)f lUInji 7 I3afa;i wios die UcshwLship. 

1. Shsih«*$ home-coming.—llie death of Aurangzeb on 
20th February, 1707, marks a distinct break between the old 
order that \vbs parsing and the r£w that 'waa coining. The 
Emperor had spent foil twenty-Evc years of his long rdgn and 
the vast resources of his extensive dominions in a vain atlen^t 
to subdue the Maratha:^. Tliis long drawn war of independ- 

once won an imperishable place for them in the annals of 
India, We have to begin our study ol it with the life of Shahu 
as a prisoner in the Mughal camp. 

On hearing of Aurangaeb's death his second surviving son 

Asam Shah hastily returned to Ahmadnagar and performed 
the funeral rites. Next, on 5th March, he proclaimed himself 

Emperor and at once started with all his father's camp for 
Che north, to put down his elder brother Shah Aiam who was 
coming from Lahore to contest the throne. Shaha had Tio 
choice but to accompany Azam Shah. His mother and party 

numbered about two hundred. Me had long formed a friend¬ 
ship with the generalissimo Zuifiqar Khan who looked upon 
the Mughal Deccan asi his future charge. After reaching 

Burhanpur Zulhqar Khan presented Shahu to Azam Shah, 

pleaded his cause and begged that he might be released and 
sent back as a contrivance for keeping the Marathas divided 

by a domestic feud. Several Rajput princes of the camp were 
friendly to Shahu and mged the same course upon Aim 

Shah's attention. Azam Shah honoured Shahu with gifts and 

dresses, hut put off the actual release for one reason or another. 
His attention was focussed on the contest he was going to 
have with his brother, and he little cared for the fedings of a 

harmless mendicant that Shahu appeared to him to be. Leav- 

1 
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ing Burhanpur on 13th March, Azam Sliah crossed the 

Narmada at the end of April and reached Sironj on 4t!i May, 

With the increase of distance from his home, Sliahu iKgan 
to grow impatient and restless about his release and u uk advis¬ 

ed, In the midst of his gloom by his never failing guardian 
angel the Begum Zinat-un-nisa and other fiiends, not to wait 
for formal sanads ol appointment from Azam .Shah, but In 

quit the camp at once and proceed to his home country. Iht 
readily acted upon this advice and left the Muglial c^imp on 
8th May at Doraha about 20 miles north-west of Bhopal. Tlio 
Ma«?lim writers a.sseil that he ran away, the Moratha wtIIcim 

that he obtained permission to go bad<, leaving Ix^hind, as 
hostages, a small party including his motlier, wife and Ma<lan 
Sinh, an illegitimate brother, in case he should upon his return 

home assume a hostile attitude. Jotyaji Kesarkar was left 
belilnd to obtain the formal sanads which were under prepara¬ 
tion, when completed. That Shahu was not pursued shows 

that Aram Shah ei^r tacitly consented or was helpless under 
the circumstances. - The terms ol his release as tlxey had come 
under discussion from lime to time were (I) tliat he to 
rule the small swarnjya of his grandfather ax a v«&«tl of tlic 

Mughal Empire; (2) tliat he was to serve his liefst lord when¬ 
ever called upon to do so with his contingent of troops; luid 

(3) that he was also permitted to collect Chautii and Saedesh- 
mukhi from the six Mughal provinces of the south. It may 
be noted in passing that the tirst two of these are tixe .some 

terras which Aurangzeb himself had granted to Shivaji in 3667, 
and all three ol which later on, Shahu obtained from Muham¬ 
mad Shah in 1719 in formal sanads, notwithstanding all the 

wars and wranglings durir^ the intervening period. 

A montii after Shahu’s departure from Azam Shah's camp 
in Malwa, the contest between the two sons of Aurangzeb was 
decided on the battlefield of Jajav near Agra on 8th June 

1707, where Azam Shah was killed and Shall Alam became 
Emperor under the title of Bahadur Shah. After his accession 
Bahadur Shah came to the Deccan during 1708, killed his 

youngest brother Kara Baksb in a fight near Haldarabad on 
3rd January 1709, went back to E)elhi and died three years 

later on 17th February 1712. With these events in view we 
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must here follow Shahu's career to his Iw^meland alter leaving 
Doraha with only a couple of hundred followers and servants. 

Mahadaji Krishna Joshi, a banker, and Gadadliar Pralhad 
Nasikkar a priest, were the only ro^ of note who accompanied 

Shahu on his return journey. By their advice he addressed 
formal letters to seveial Mahratha chiefs informing them of 
his expected anival and demanding their help and obedkiice. 
After crossing the Narmada lie purposely trjolc the slicirter route 
through Bijagjid and Sultanpui* into Western KJiandesh so as 

to avoid the eastern highway via Burhanpur, the principal seat 
of the Mughal (lovemment in tlie Deccan. He arrived at 
Bljagad about thirty miles south of tJic Narmada and was 
there joined by iLs ruler Mohananh Rawal, who had lor^ 

reljelled against Autangzeb and co-operated with the Marathas. 
Mohansinh was the first to espouse the cause of Shahu 
and help him with troops and funds. From Bijagad 
Sliahu proceeded to Sultanpur on the river TapCi, where he 

was joined by several Maratlm chiefs, such as Amritrao 
Kadam Bande, Sujansingh Rawal of Lambkani, die Bokils, 
the Purandares and other representative Brahmin families, 
who although sei'Ving the Mughal government nominally had 

favoured the cause o! this declared heir of Shivaji. The 
Purandares possibly brought with them their friend BaJaji 
Vishvanath, who had for long been a moving diplomatic figure 

at Poona and round about. , 

Thus Shahu came to be cordially welcomed in Maha- 
lishtra, as the legitimate sdon of the Bhosle family, for whose 

liberation a long and tough war had so long been waged. But 
Shahu's greatest help came from Parsoji Bhode, the ancestor 

of the later Bhosle rulers of N^ur, who was then in posses¬ 
sion of tlie territory of Berar. Parsoji’s example wag quickly 
followed by Nemaji Sindia, Haibatrao Nimbalkar, Rustumrav 
Jadhav (Shahu's father-in-law), Chinmaji Damodar and 

others who were then workiDg in Khandesh and Baglan. 
Having spent the two months of June and July in Khandesh 
in collecting troops and strengthening his position, Shahu pro¬ 

ceeded to Ahmadnagar early in At^ust with high hopes of a 
smooth passage to die capital of Satara, where he wished to 

rule as the Maratha sovere^. 
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2. Battle of Khed._But Shahu was soon difllliusioned. 
He received intimation his aunt Tarabai thni; she looked 

on him as an impostor, diat he had no right to the Marathn 
throne, Chat Che Idnjfdom ^s'hich his /aiher Sambhaji had ones 

enjoyed had been lost by him, and tlial the present doiruiin 
was a fresh acquisition made by her husband Riijaram and 
had now deacended to her son, ihe young Shivaji, who had 

been duly crowned a few years ago. Thus the plan long con¬ 
trived by Aurangzeb himself ot effecting a sdusm among Uw 
Maratlia nationals and bringing about a civil war between llw 

lollowerR of Shabu and Tarabai, ckcqo into opwalUm and in 
•consequence Shahu had to face a difficult Kituatlcm. Hr* 
halted at Ahmadnagar for three long inunihs picparing lor a 

contest with his aunt and organi/ang Jiis ionxa. 
One point that he was careful about wag. to secuix* the 

good wiJi oi the local Muasiim Government officialM by riefciT/ng 

to their claim to overloidship. He viaifed the dead Emperor's 

IChuldabad walking there on foot, renderod pious 
obeisance to his memory and exhibited in an unequivocal 
manner his deep gratitude and devotion to the rc^yai house oi 

Delhi. During this absence from Ahnwdiiagar lie had ah 
accidental little skirmish with the villagers of I^rud, alxjut 
25 mUes north of DaulaCabad. The Patll of the village wns 

killed and his widow brought her little son to Shahu and 
sought his protection. Shahu looking upon the encounter as 
his first victory, gave the boy the name Fati»inh and bmugliC 

him up as his own eon. Iliis boy of the Lokhandc family 
came to play an important part at Shahu’a court, was bn^ught 

up as an heir apparent and would pos^bly have inherited 
Shahu'a throne, if he had not declined Ihe portion himself, 
riis family still rules at Akalkot. 

This little incident illustrates the soft and kindly vein in 
Sbahu’s character. It influenced not only his personal actions 

throughout his long reign, but the fortunes of tlie wliole 
Maratlia nation. He had given his sacred word to the dying 
Emperor that he wquldjtm to the rescue of the JTmperor’s 
descendants whenwer ^ey needed help. In fact, Shahu never 
tor a moment forgot that he owed what he was, entirely to 

the kindness of tl» Emperor, who could as wdl have put an 
•end to his life and infUcted miseries upon his mother and 
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Other relations. Ifc «lid not leave AhmadDagar until drcum* 

stances compelled him and would even toe prefened in order 
to avoid an open recourse to arms, to rule hum that town it¬ 
self, if it were posable. But Satara had behind it the claims 
of a legitimate Maratha capital while Ahmadnagar which had 

figured tor centudes as a Muslim possession and mere recent* 
ly as tlie seat of Aurangzeb's govemmeitt, was now ill-suited 
to the reejuiranenb of a Marat ha kii^. Wlien at Ahmad- 
nairar Sbahu learned in October 1707 that Tarabai's forces 

w«ix‘ marching against him, he moved from lhat place south- 
waitl towards Ptxjna and halted at Kited wliere he found him¬ 
self confnmted by a powerful army drawn up on the opposite 
side of the Bhima leady to attack liim. 

Shahu’s following wiw after all a heterogeneous mass with 
no capable general lo lead them into action. On the opposite 

bank were ranged against him seasoned troops commanded by 
the veteran pl;nnali Tadhav. the hero of a hundied fights, 

and Parashuram Pant Pratinidhi a devoted parlizan of Tara- 
bat. Afitiid of certain annihilation "by risking a precipitate 
attack, Shahu had recourse to diplomacv in which the here-* t» 
ditary Chitnis Khando Ballal, Bslaji Visbvanath Bhat, a ^ ^ 
Brahman Sar-fiubahdar, and Naro Ram, all olose helpmates of f 

Uhanaji, played a conspicuous part, These and aevetal othera 
had already been well convinced of Shahu'a identity and fm- 
pressed by his charming personality. He managed through 
these agenbi lo call Dljapaji to a secret paiwnal iiueryjew and 

aucteccied in wjutiffg biro over to bis caiw. * Dhaiiap agreed 
lo wage a battle and 4pi^t p Shalm at^a convenient 
moment. An action took place the next day on thTpratlf of 

Khcd on the north bank of the Bhima. in wWch Shahu ap¬ 
peared at tile head o[ his troops in a manly deportment con¬ 

fident of success. The F^tinidhi fcaight.yaliaJl^y but having 
been deserted by the SenapatT after the action had been joined, 
was routed and fled /or safety across the river. Shahu thus won 
the day and encamping on the battlefield, received Dhanaji and 

conferred upon him the honours of the Senapad and upon 
Khando Ballal the office of the Chitnis. The whole episode 
disclosed the nj Tarabai’s position. The Maratlia 
nation was solidly rallying ^hihJBhahu and acclaimed him 
with full heart as against a lady, who, however competent, 
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could not occupy the throne and whose son the young Shivaji 
was known to be altogether incompetent and incapable of con¬ 

ducting the affairs of tlie State. 

3. Cofonacton ar Sacara,—After this first success 
Shahu lost no dme in marching on Satara, halting a short 

while at Shirwal. near which another faithful adherent of 

Tarabai, the redoubtable Sachiv Shanlutraji Narayan, had his 
official residence in fort Rohida near Bhor. Shahu calletl upon 

him to surrender or talce the consequences of refusal. Thu 
Sadiiv confounded by this peremptory summons, put an end 

to Ws life by swallowing poison on 27th Octo)>cr, 171)7. As 
he failed to appcai', Shahu personally marchwl agafi^st him 
and, to his dismay, while ascending the lioighls met the 
Sachiv's dead body being bnwght down for cremation on the 

banks of tlie stream below. Feeling very sad at heart, he 
directly went up to the Sachiv's palace, comforted with 
soothing words the dead Sachiv’s shrewd wife Yesubai. con¬ 

ferred the hereditary ofTxce of Sachiv upon her young son then 
about a year old, and with singular tact and judgment gained 
the affection of a large section of the Maiatha populace in ihcjst* 
homelands of the Mawals. 

Prom Shirwal to Satara is only 35 miles, whicli Shahu 
did not take long to cover. Having secured the forts of 

Chandan and Vandan on the way, he appeared before Satara 
some time in November. The capital had already been desert¬ 
ed by Tarabai and her son, who bad taken shelter in the fort 

of Panhala about 60 miles further south, leaving the defence 
of Satara to the Pratinidhi, whom Shahu called upon to sub¬ 
mit. The Pratinidhi refused aiid defied Shahu to an open 
fight. The commandant of the ganison was a Muslim ofTicer 
of the name of Shekh Mira, who on reoaving an assurance of 

safety and emoluments from Shahu, put the Pratinidhi under 
confinenent and opened the gates to the rightful heir of the 
Maratha raj. Shahu entered the capital on a Saturday in 
December, within seven months of his leaving the Mughal 
(2mp. 

Thus the nago^got back.their Idpg.ifSsta.Iong heroic 
strj^^e. The coronation ceremony was duly perform^ on 

12^ .1708 with all the customary pomp and ritual. 
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Shahu made fresh ministerial appointments on the occasion 
and thus ending the preliminary stage of caplivity and hard¬ 
ship, began a new era of success and moderation, with which 
his name came to bo associated during succeeding generadons. 

Even at this day his name is a household word in Waharashtra 
signifying tlie ldng*s piety and simplicity of life and good will 

lowaids all. 

Almwit tile flrat act of his new regime was an attempt to 

nppeaso his aunt Tarabai in carder U> put an end to iho domes- 
lie s-trife, and witli that object he offered her very liberal 
terms, cunsislcnt wilh liis own position as Chhatraj^t!. But 

the pi'oud lady far from accepting the proffered hand of 
friendship, prepared to carry on the struggle, using all the 
powerx of craft ami diplomacy that she singidarly possessed. 

Slialm mai'clied on Panhala in March. Upon hla approach 
Tiunhaf left that fort and fled to Kangna about 60 miles further 

souUi. Her only adviser was now the veteran Ram* 
clmiidrHpAnt, who continued to support her cause in spite of 
her fast dwindling resources. “When Shaitu arrived before 
Tlanpia in summer, Taral^ai nm away to Malvan on the west 
const. But the approaching monsoon compelled Slialni lo give 

up tlic pursuit and retrace his steps to Paohala where he spenl 

I he rainy season. 

4. of Balaji Vislivanath.—Wlille thus engaged In 
his operations against his aunt, Shahu had not neglected his 
main oljjcct of souring Uie northern portions of his patriruen^. 
He had deputed his Pratinidhi Gadadhtir Pralhad and his 

Senapati Dhan^i Jadhav to ^^lan and ICband^ with his 
trusted confidaiit Vishvanath. Tltey vanquished tlie local 
Mughal officers like Karim qf lupoar and plundered that 
city of its accumulated fich®. They were now recalled by 

Shahu for the monsoon. On hie way to Fanhala, Dhanaji was 
suddenly taken ill and died in June 1708 at Wadgaon on the 

Watna, thereby dealing a "severe Wow to Shahu’s cause. Al¬ 
though Shsdiu at once conferred the Senapati’s office upon 
Dba^jl's son C^drasen, he was already suspicious about 
the latter's loyalty on account of his well-known leanings to¬ 

wards Tarabai's party. As a safeguard against possible trea¬ 
chery by the new Senapati, Shahu appointed Balaji Vishva- 
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natii lo the post of acna^rte (organj«er of forces), a new 

office Uiat encroached to some extent upon the province of 
the commander-fn^iief. Chandrasen had never taken kindly 

li> Balaji's views and policy 0/ supporting Shahu, and iiad 
pOAsibiy condemned his father for having deserted Tarabafs 
cause on the field of IChed, Balaji on his part did his best at 

this crisis to carry out Shahu‘8 wislies by raising funds, en* 
lislinK tnen and bringing to obedience such elements in die 

kibgdom* as were hostile, so that he soon outstripped all the 
other ministew and helpmates of Shahu in efficiency and speed 
(►f execution. In q lew years, Sliahu conferred upon him Uw 

ofTice of the PesUwa or Prime Minister, a consummation which 
soon cliangcd Hie wliolc cliaractcr of Ihe Maialhn ndministra- 
tion and grn/ernment, and in course of time caused the pfwiUon 
of Uio Cliiiatrapati himself to be ecii|BCd. Subsequent history 
speaks of the Peshwa as the de facto mlcr of the Maralhas. 

In order to understand the significance of tliis chan^ it is 
necessary to go back a little and review the anteculcnta which 
raised Balaji so high in Shabu'it estimation. 

The early career of Balaji VisUvanath is litQe recorded 
in history. We know that his anceatora were Jkislimukhs of 
S^rivardhan on the west coast under the jurisdiction of the 

of Janjira, a navarofficer first of the NiMmshahi Kings 
ol Ahmaclnagar and, after its extinction, of the Emperor of 

Delhi, While Balaji’s elder brother looked after the 
IJeiimukhi work of.Shrivardhan, he himaelf waa employed as 
a derkjn tlic salt works at Qiiplun also owned by the Siddi. 

Tradition says that having been persecuted by the Biddi. 
Balaji left hla home and want out in aearch of employment 

to the upper regions of the Western Ghats, where Shivaji was 
then just opening fresh fields of activity for those who were 
strong In arm. We cannot say definitely whctlier Balaji had 

(he chance to work in any of the offices established by Shivaji: 
the earliest recorded noUce we get of him refers to the year 
1689, the year when Sambhaji was put to deallt by Aurang* 

ztb, wherein Balaji is mentioned as a revenue clerk or writer 
under Ramcliandrapant Amatya. Many letters have been 
discovered for the twelve years 1695-1707 in which Balaji is 

addiessed by Ramchandrapant and other ministers of Baja* 
ram as the Sar-Subah of the districts of Poona and Daulat> 
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abad. just the districts in which the Erapeior was conducting 
his war against the Marathas. He it also mentioned as a 
x^i^ue collector working under the Senapati Dhanaji Jadhav, 

We know that the Mughal Emperor conducting a relent¬ 

less war agaii^t the Maralhas, had cantoned hU armies at 
Poona and Khed during the two successive monsoons o( 1705 
and 1704, and that Bfdajl Vishvanath as a Maratha oITicer 
eluting orders oi the Chhatrapati and his mmtsters, had 

also his headquarters at Poona at the same time. A quesUon 
arises how could Balaji escape beii% captured and put to death 
by the hostile Emperor. Perhaps the answer is that Balaji did 
not belong to the fighting force, was probably helpful as a reve¬ 
nue ofiicer of the district and as such was expected to supply the 
various necessaries of life, draft animals, carts, labourers and 
other requirements as much to the vast Mughal camp as to 
his own employers. Scanty scattered evideice proves that 
Balaji had made friends with the various officials of Aurang- 

reb and was possibly introduced even to his dai^htei' Zinat- 
un-Nisa Begam’s notice,' Balaji looked after the captive 
Shahu’s concerns and supplied means to convey and bring 
him news of happenings outside. One may presume that he was 

privy to the a^r of Shahu’s proposed conversion and may 
have been consulted in the selection of brides for his marriage. 
In 1703 when the Emperor captured the fort of Sirhgad, it 
was stoutly defended by the Maralhas against Tarbiyat Khan's 
formidable arrillery, and a letter printed in the Purandare 

Daftar mentions how Balaji Vishvanath tried to save this 
famous stronghold from falling into the Emperor’s hands. 
From such circumstantial evidence it would not be unfair to 
conclude that during the five years of arduous campaign con¬ 
ducted by the Emperor personally between 1699*1704 against 

the hill forts roiand about Poona and Satara, Shahu and Balaji 
Vishvanath became well attached to each other. PosaUy the 
young Sawai Jaya Sinh wlio had distinguished himself in the 
capture of Vishalgad in April 1702 was also equally acquaint¬ 
ed with them both. Prominent figures working together in 
a narrow field of action, cannot long remain utter'-strangers. 

Balaji rendered invaluable service to Shahu on the eve of the 

J. Aa unpublished Maratha Bskhar at Osmnnia Uoiveiahy, 
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bnUlf of Kiied and he in return rewarded him with the Pcshwa- 
ship after a fuU trlai of year?, in which Balaji had CKhibited 

an uncommon grasp of the political situation as it de\'eloped 
between the Marathas and the Mughals and a rare capacity 
for handling? It to tlio best advantage of tiie Mahratha nation. 

History hae justified Shahu's choice and done credit h> his 
discernment. 

5. Shahu and Bahadur Shah.—Slwlni’s fortune daring 

these early years of his Idngship were severely controlled by 
the Kmpornr Bahadur Shah, u clever and c^mciliatory ruler, 
who had gained long and varied expericiu>i of war and gewra- 

ment under his exacting falhei*, so that to all apiwamnccs he 
gave promise of a long and jirmpcioua reign avoiding the ex- 

* tremes which had ruined his father nnd fully controlling the 
disrupdve forces that had set in. His early death waa a blow 
to the Empire. But during his five years rule Shahu liad to 

reckon with this Emperor's policy in controlling tlie MaraU\aK. 

Bal)adur Shah’s first concern after his coronation was the 
(/(;rvV'Recovery of the southern Mughal dominions which his brolher 

, 'Kam Balteh had seized. He immediately started from Agra 
and arrived on the Godavari in June 170S when Shahu 
was conducting operations against his aunt Tarabai, Baha¬ 
dur Shah called upon Sliahu to join him wftJi Ills force.s. 

Shahu sent excuses for his absence. Kam Baksh prepared for 
the contest and in a aanguicary fight met his death near 
Haidarabad on 3 January 1709. After arranging the adminis- 

' ' trative affairs of the conmiered territory, Baliadur Shah slart- 
e<l hack from the Deccan, and reached Ahmadnagar in May, 

yv.* where &whu’s Pratirddhi Gadadhar Pralhad and Raybhanji 

Bhosie offered him obeisance and begged for sanade or writ- 
ten uivlertakjri|?3, confirming the grants of Qiauth and Sar- 

deehmukhi for their master Shahu in order to have lus posi¬ 
tion legalized. Tarabai too was not inactive in this respect 

* Through her agents she made a similai* request for tl)e grants, 

f * contending that Shahu was not die rightful hdr to the Mara- 
tha throne. 

In this predicament Bahadur Shah's Wazir Munyim 
Khan, rejecting Zulfiqar Khan’s advice to confirm Shahu'a 

nomination, went through the details of the representations 
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and ordered that Shahu and Tavabai ^^hculd settle the dispute • 
by fighting it out and then the sanads wouJd be issued to the 
party that would win. This (ieci^on fully anawera those cri¬ 

tics who argue that Tarabai was fighting for the principle of 
complete independence as established by Shivaji and denounce 

Shahu for accepting subordination to the EiTqjeror. Tarabai 
followed the tactics of ?>hahu. Raybhanjl Bhosle, one ol 
Shahji's UleRitrmalc sons, was during these negotiations 
Shahu’s main support and adviser pleadir^ his cause at the 
Emperor's Court. He had served Aurangreb for several years 
and obtained a rare insight into the various political currentR 

of the Mughal-Maratha relations. Raybhaiiji died cm 23rd 
August, 1709 soon after Baliadur ^ah had left the Deccan, so 
that Shahu liad none in the Mughal camp to support his cause. 

6. Chaadrasen’s defection, rise of KoJbapur.^_Sly>hu'$ 
activities in the region of Poona had not ceas^ during the 

new Emperor’s preseiv:® in the south. A capable Mughal , , 
officer named Lodi F^ian from his seat at Chakan used to 
harass the Maratha agents, but he wasJtilled in an action at .. ^ 

the pass of Purandar on 16th May 1709, bx.Sbahu*8 troops 'v 
under Gadadhar Praihad, Lodi Khan's collaborator the power*^ jz mv 
ful Karim Beff of Jaxiaar was captured alive and kept in 
fincment. Tliese two notai^ success^ which at once esta-^^^j 
blislied Shabu’s aut5iority in the region between Satara and 
Jumiar, were however, of short duramen, and Shahu's portion . 

QuI^ly received a set back chiefly through the machinations-*^ 
ofj^andrasen Jadhav, who out of spile towards Balaji's risIngTw^i ^ 
power, b^n open hostilities apinst Wm. A trivial inddent 

aggravated the tawornSfw^'tliem. During the summer of 
1711, as both Chandrasen and Balaji were conducting aiv ex¬ 
pedition r^ar XCarhad, a dea* beiflg'pursued and wounded by 
one ot Balaji's troopers, casually entered the kitchen tent 

Chandrasen’fl Brahman clerk (one Vyasrao), who sheltered it . . 
and refused lo give it up. The dispute soon reached the prin* ^ 
cipaJs and indted tiiem to open hostilities. !^aji was worsted 

by Chandrasen and had tollee for 
Balaji escaped capture ar^d sought. Sbahu’a-protfctiontKough 
interinidianes. CJiandrasen sort a strong threat to the' king 

that urfleaa Balaji was delivered into hts hands for puuish- 

-/a,. \ J' ^ '' ■ - 
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ment, lie would quit hia service and join the standard of Tara* 
bai. Shahu had no alternative. He determined to support 
Balaji against the insolent Senapati whose loyalty was never 

firm and who was beyond hope of appeasement. 

A very serious atualion at once developed for ShaJiu. 

Qiandrasen moved lieaven and earth against him in all direc- 

, \ tions. Tarabai greeted him with expressions of the warmest 
, respect ahd’fed his vanity with all the arts of flattery. Shahu 

' , sent Parasurampant and Khanderao Dabhade to mediate and 
' settle the dispute. The former was released and promised the 

coveted office of Pratinidhi if the mission proved successful. 
But these two noteworthy figures were easily won over by 

Cbandrasen and they deserted Shahu’s cause. Several local 
^ chiefs such as Damaji Thorat lO'ishnarav Khatavkar, Udaj: 

Chavan and others of lesser repute, seized tliis opportunity of 
ris^ ^inst Shahu in order thereby tp gjgji their own selfish 

ends, l^ot'one of these had a moment's thought for the na* 
tional interests as such. Thus the latter half of 1711 filled 
the cup of Shahu’s misery to the brim. His only hope was 
centered in Balaji, who, though by no means a soldier, pos- 
sessed unrivalled fortitude, power of planning and ^source- 

'' ? fulness. ' . ' 

But Tarabai’siEiaiJijKpakness lay in lhe_want_(?f.solidarity 

or cohesion between the various elements formed her 
following. She had absolutely no funds and an army cannot 
march on empty stomachs. Chandrasen was a mere br^gart 
without toy capacity for leadership. 'T^ainaSiandrapant, her 

' ' folT5a‘"inmister and ^wser, had been too much offended to 
feel enthusiasm or interest in her concerns." He was secretly 

' negotiating for a place in the newly formed ministiy of Shahu. 
f I^aji rose to the occasion. Through friends and bankers he 

r”‘ bonwed large sums, er^ged and organized what later on 
came to be styled the Hiarat, or the King's own troops, and 
with a rapid stroke put down Khatavkar and sufficiently 

^ Recked Thorat and Chavan. He also,^n a plienomenal diplo- 
,y t^tic success against Kanhoji Angre, another foimidable 

lidhera^t of Tarabai, as will be described later. Thus within 
two 1712 and 1713 Shahu's difficulties were settled to 
a large extent. . 
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But the severest blow to Tarabai came from the jealousies 

in her own .family. Rajaram's second wife Rajasbai and to 
son Sambh^i 11 were not content to lemaiu nonentities. 
During* the monsoon of 1714 Rajasbai contrived to put Tara* 
bai and her son Shivaji in confinement and plaa her own son 
Sambhaji in the Chhatrapati's scat. In this connection 

Tarabai wrote lonu afterwards, fn the course of time we were 
compelled to undento a sad e>^ricnce. Rajasbai and her son 
Samhhaji managed through some of tiaeir agents to put us in 
confinement and inflict hardships upon us. Saml)haji was 
sealed upon the throne.” Evidently there was a strong opposi¬ 
tion to Tarabai's doiuinnlion, and she had to pass the remain- 
ins ^^7 years of her Ufa practically behind piison walls, a specta¬ 

cle of great legret and commiseiation for such a gifted and 
heroic lady. As Chandrasen does not Agure in this revolution, 
he was perhaps not trusted by either party. 

This change in the Kxtihapur government must have been 
supported, if not initiated by Ramchandia Nillcanlh himself, 
the only man of capacity and experience in that party. The 
famous Ajnapolja, completed on 10th November 1715, ex¬ 

pounding Shivaji’s policy, is addressed by Ramchandrapant 
to Samhhaji II, then 17 years old as to a belove3‘^^3rcon- 
veying lessons in the art of governance and pouring forth all 

the accumulated wisdom of Shivaji's policy in which the 
Amatya was the principal instrument oj execution. The 
language and diction are in harmony with the exalted sub¬ 

ject, so that this treatise is considered of sirujular value in 
disclosing the high ideals of the founder, Ramchandra Nil- 

kanth cither died or retired after the issue of this Ajnapatra.* 

The ^al monarchy in the Chhatrapat^s, line has been 
the source of perennial evil affecting the unity of the Maratha { 

Sambhaji estabTisheS'hia seat at Kolhapur, having 

fotxnd the fort of PanhaJa suitable for the close guarding of 
Tarabai and her son. Althoi^h Sambhaji did not entertain 
if more conciliatory attitude towards Shahu, the rigour of his 
rivalry certainly declined in the course of time. He now and 
then disturbed Sbahu'a peace by playing into the hands of 

2, An iascnpdOQ hal been leceotly discovered pointing wt tb^ spot 

where Ills lunen! took place in fort PanhaTa. ^ \ ' 

)Kx \ . 
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Nizam-ul-mulk: bul; the Peshwa Bajitao pro\‘«l a match for 
them both, and relieved ShaJiu of his anxieties. Shaliu de¬ 

feated his cousin in open fi^ht after enduring irem him repealed 
acts of treachery, but gave him generous terms by the treaty 
of Wama in 1731, which forms the foundation charier of 

the present house of IColhapur, as the sequel will show. 

Shahu desired to inlliot severe punishment upon I’arasu- 
ram Pant for his treachery, but was induced by the mediation 
of his devoted O^itnis Khando Ballal to relent and to restore 

him to his old office of Pratiuidlh. After his death on 26 May 
1716, his second son Shripatrao was appointed to the Piati- 
nidhi’s post, the eldest son ICrishnajt having already accepted 
Uie same office under the IColhapur branch. 

' ' 7. Balaji wins the Peshwaship.—How Balaji contrived 
to secure his. appointment to the Peshwa’s office is an 
interesting story. He woii over to Shahu's cause another 
opponent greater in resources and valour than Chandrasen, 

viz. ICanhojt Angre, the garden of the west coast and head ol 
^ ■ the Maratha navy, whose* career has become well-known in 

Anjdo-Indian history. Kanhoji had vastly extended his power 
. ^^,t/^uring the regime of Tarabai and readily joined ^hahu on hw 

arrival from the imperial camp and tendered his obedience and 
. help to him. But after the defection of Chandrasen Jadhav, 

A ^ ^^‘Tie went over to Tarahai’s party and started war upon Shahu. 

'He captured several forts^above the fjhafcs belonging to Sliahu, 
^who sent his Peshwa Bahiropant Pitigle to put him down, 

i But Bahiropant was no match for Kanhoji, who seized and 
' confined him at Kolaba and almost threatened Shahu’s capital 

; of Satara. TarabaVs triumph during the monsoon montlis of 
I72S knew no bounds. At this very moment the highly 
capable Nizam-ul-MuIk was made the Emperor’s Subahdar in 

the Deccan, thereby menacing Shahu’s position still nwre. 

Shahu was at a loss how to curb Angre’s aggression. He 
a^ed the Sena*Karte Balaji to proceed against him and pro¬ 
mised him the Peshwaship if he succeeded, Balaji thereupon 

urged that he was quite willing to execute the king's com¬ 
mands, provided he went out as ^ accc«dU.«<iPeshwa possess¬ 

ing powers to decide delicate issu^-Ot'^r and peace. " Here 
is ah enemy,” he added, "who has dared to capture and con* 
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fine your Peshwa, and insinuates thereby that he would deal 
^milariy with the Chhatrapati himself. Is it rot then neces¬ 
sary to impress upon ICanhoji that another Peshwa al¬ 
ready taken the place of the one that is gone and that the 
}djig*s government goes on without interruption ? This is the 
Only way to put him down." This areumejit was irrefutable. 
Balaji gained bis object, Shahu immediatel}* conferred upc>n him 

tHe* office of the Peshwa with due ceremonies of investiture on 
tile field of Manjri, 8 mile<> south of Poona, where tliey were 

then camping, Thw the 17th of Movember 1713 was a proud 
and momentous day not only for Balaji and his fanihy but for 

the Maratha nation as well, as it marked tiie beidnuing of the 
transfer of power from the Oiliatrapati’s to the Peshwa’a 
hah^ In due course the other ministerial post<^ vrere also 
/iUed up out of the new Pteiiwa’s partisans whose loyalty and 
devotion had been found unshakable. Ambajipant ^randaro 

was appointed the Peshwa's Mutalik or V^c^Peshwa, and 
Ramajfpant Bhanu his Phadnis or purser, an office which 
later descended to another wdl-lcnown member of the family 

named Nana Phadnis. Thus the Bhats, the Purandares, the 
Bhanus and several other families of future note, came to lie 

locked together in a revolutionary change for weal or woe, 
jointly bearing the responsibilities of the State in 
future. 

Kanhoji Angre and Balaji had long been known to each 

other as friendly neighbours inhabiting the same coastal re¬ 
gion of the west. Through common friends and seeret agents 

Balaji appealed Co Kanhoji’s conscience, how both their per¬ 
sonal and national interests would be highly promoted by tbeir 
acting jointly under Shahu’s suierainty and how they would 
be ruin^ by adhewon to the Kolhapur party thg^e a broken 

re^. He urged that the .lyiaratiia. raj was _g »33l.lfigacy left 
behind by the Great Stuvaji, which it was their duty at the 
present crisis to preserve through common ^OO.-pperatJon and 
h^nnonious working of the two forces, the army and the jaavy: 

that ^ahu'was a generous and large-hearted ruler incapable 
of Iiarming even an adversary ; tiiat Kanhoji himself waa sur¬ 

rounded by en«nl€8, like the Siddis, tiie British and the Portu- 
guese, against whom he coOW SSIctT long 
^gle-handed, unless he had at his back the M support of 

k H. n-3 fK-.; ‘ ■ 
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the central Gcft'emment. Re^Ds botii of policy and interest* 

therefore, required that Kanhoji should not alienate Shahu’s 
sympathies, and at the same time BalajI promised to stand 
guarantee as the Peshwa to see that all promises made to 

Angre would be solemnly carried out. 

This forceful appeal had its effect at once. Shrewd words 
proved effective where anus had failed. ICanhop agreed to 

receive Balaji with the respect due to a Peshwa and pei'sonal- 
ly arrange terms for their future relations. Balaji marched 
from Poona some 30 miles west to the vicinity of Loligad 
where Kanhoji had taken his station. The latter came dowti 

from the fort and they had a cordial meeting at Valvan, a 
suburb of Lonavja, early in January 1714, They Ireld a long 
conference discussing terms of a la.sting peace Ivtween the 
Chhatrapaci and the Sarkhel, which later proved a basis for 
a similar settlement wltli the other feudatories, thui^ gradual¬ 
ly building up a fes^ constitution for the future Martha 
expansion, as the old constitution had faUen into utter confu¬ 
sion during the period of war and unrest that followed Shivaji's 
death. The terms having been solemnly agreed to with Shahu's 

knowledge and approval, the two chiefs proceeded together to 
Kolaba where the treaty was ratified on 8th February and the 
ex-PesIiwa Bahiropant was released from confinement. Kanhoji 
came to pay his respects to Shahu at Satara, where the llali 
festival of 1715 was performed with particular rejoidngJ In 

the main the treaty dwnarcated the Angrian and the Cbhatra* 
pad's possesMons and provided for mutual ccKiperation and 
common defence. 

This happy conclusion of what at first had appeared a 
cal^ity had itsjjatural effect upon tiie policy of the Siddi of 

Janjira and (he English at Bombay, two constant enemies of 
Kanhoji, who had all aloi^ shown determined oppo&tion to any 
Maratha ambition. The Siddi readily concluded a peace with 
Angria on 30th Januaiy, 1715, an engagement whidi was not 
disturbed for seventeen years. 

But the English of Bombay would not go easily give up 
the game and needed a lesson, particularly their pugnacious 

3. The full iCTt of the treaty an be 8t\idied in Mawjj and Parasiiii’ 

printed colIecUona. 
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President Charles Boone, who assumed office on 20th Decem¬ 
ber 1715. Shahu's power and prestige weit fast improving 
all round and were resented by the impulsive and aggressive 
temperament of Boone, who organized a strong naval expedi' 
tion to extirpate the pirate, as Angria was then styled by ■fee 

English, As special histories have fully detailed what followed, 
there is no need to treat the episode here at lengfli. Clement 
Downing's published diary is eloquent and describes how 
miscra))ly the English venture failed and how it was repeated 
year after year. Ultimately the English formed a coalition 
with lli€ Portuguese of Goa and launched a conjoint attack 
against Angria during 1721, when Balaji VishvanaA was doad, 
and his son Bnjitao who had just entered his new office, earned 

his first laurels by suddenly swooping upon the English by 
land and routing them near Kolaba. The English thought it 
wise to retrace their steps by concluding a treaty of peace with 
the Peshwa, which was not disturbed tor several years. 

u// V \ < I ^'[/ 
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CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER n 

1671, August 11. Nizflm-ul-Mulk bora. 

1706 Mughal Subabdai's of the Deccan. 
1706-13 Daud Khan Pani. 
1713 FU3.—1716 April Nistmi-ui-MuU;. 
1715 May-i718 Nov. Saiyad Husain Ali. 

1718 Dec.— 1720 Au&Alam All. 
1720 Mr.—1722 Jan. Ni8am*uJ-Mullc 

1709-10 * Rajput alliance against the Emperor, 
1711 Wazir Mbnyim Kliaa dies. 

1712 February 17 Bahadur Sltah dies. 
1713 January 12 ZulCu^ar Khan put to dealii, 
1713 January 19 Farrukhsiyar becomes Emiwror, 
1713 Nov.—1714 July Saiyad Husain AJi invades Marwar. 
1713 Jaya&inh Sawai appealed Subahdar of Malwa. 
1715 May 10 Jayasinh defeats the Marathas in Malwa. 

1715 August 26 Daud Khan Paoi killed in battle. 

1717 January 11 Khanderao Dabbade appointed Senapati by 
Shahu in tbe place oi Manenih More. 

1718 Shankarsjl Malhar negotiates hfoiatha help 

lor Saiyad Husain All. 
1718 August I Shahu enforces terms of agreement. 

1718 November Balaji Vialivanath leads Karatha expedition 
to Delhi. 

1719 February 13 Emperor meets the Saiyad Brothers. 

17X9 February 28 Emperor deposed; some Merathas massacredr 
near Delhi. 

1719 March 3 Grant of Chauch ratified. 
1719 March 15 Grant of Sardeshmukhi ratified. 

1719 March 2D Balaji Viehvanath leaves Delhi on return. 
1719 July 4 Balaji Yishvanath reaches Satara. 

1720 April 2 Balaji Vishvanath dies. 
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.* Tiic frasti^))' Kitj^tur PriAcvs. 

.« Sajyaii riiuitJn AJI in d)« 
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aplaJoed 
10 Orlicin and c?ib of 

Jayirdwa. 
11 Herod Imry OCnK. 
12 l^eath of Oalaji, eh.vneur 

Mciraued. 

1. Imperial policies favour Sbabu._Shabu'a posltioD 

as King of Che Marntbas came to be slabillzed during the six 
year's that elapsed between liis release and the appointment of 
Balaji Viabvanath to the Peshwaship. But Maratha politics 

received special vigour not so much through domestic occur- 
rcnceft, as from tlie many momentous and rapid changs that 

came over the Court of Delhi after Bahadur Shah’s death on 

17th February 1712, His successor Jahandar Shah sufiered a 
^d fate within less than a year, and Farnilchsjyar came to 

occupy the throne on 17th January 1713, mainly with the 
support of the well-known Saiyad brothers, Abdulla and Husain 
Ali, who put to death the old experienced general Zuiiiqar 

Khan, who had an eye on the Deccan and who, if he had 
lived, would possibly have established Ids rule at Haldarabad. 
The six years of Farrukhsiyar’s reigu were taken up by intri¬ 

gues and counter-intrigues between him and these two power¬ 
ful mioistenj, each doing his utmost .to contiive the other's 

ruin, The Saiyad brothers possessed not only power but 
talents of a rare order combined with administrative capacity. 
If they had been given & hoe hand, they could posably have 

raised the tone of the decaying Mugb^ administratbn, and 
bi'ought it to the level of that of Bahadur Shah. But the 
Jyiughal house came to be TiftpftjtHy divTfiPil Rnd 

Marthas theii oweted chance to expand tbemBelvea in all 
directions outside theii* nationdJtDlltiers—1 
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Daud Khan Pani had governed the Mughal Deccan since 
1708 as the deputy of Zulfiqar Khan. When Farrukhsiyfli* 
ascended the throne and Zulfiqar Khan came to be as^^asslnat- 
ed, Chinqilich Khan Gbazi-ud-din Firuz-jang, then 42 years 

old (bom August 1671), was appointed to die government of 
the Deccan with the title of Nizam-uUMuUi Khan-i-Khanati, 
Daud Khan was then transferred to <5ujarat and he left Au¬ 

rangabad in July 1713 ; aud in the following October Nizam-ul- 
MuUc took cliarge of hia office : at this very moment Balaji 
Vishvanath was invested with the l*eshwasliip, so that llicse 

^'two great men and their desccndaiiU between them made up 

the history of the Deccan for nearly a century, developing 
relations scanetimes ol amity, at otha's of enmity towards each 
other, with the result that whilst no trace of the Peshwas 

exists in Maharashtra at this day, the dominions of His 
Exalted Highness tlie Nisam are flourisliing under tlie aegis of 
Britain. How this happened is fully explained by Maratha 

history. 
Chinqilich Klian, however, Jield office in the Deccan only 

for two years, 1713-1715, owing to a sharp antagonism bet¬ 

ween the Emperor and the two Saiyad broQier.s. Kan ukhsiyar 
appointed HuKiin Ah to the charge of the Deccan in 1716, and 
removed Nixam much against his will to the insignificant Fouj- 

dari of Moradabad. During these two years of his office 
; Nisam-ul-mulk could not do ropch to consolidate his power. 
He encouraged his local assistants and befriended Rambhaji 

'Nimbalkar, Chandrasen Jadhav and others who had, risen 

against Shaliu, and tried to st^ngthen the Mughal hold on 
Poona and its en^irons as a means of checking the a^vitien 
o? Shahu and hia Peshwa. He lived during this period a life 

of almost regal splendour at Aurangabad, and lavishly spent 
on the cererhonies of dreumdsion of his two sons, Ghaziuddin 
and Nasirjang, the latter about five years old at the time. 
Shahu on his part continued to be harassed on all sides, parti¬ 

cularly by Chandrasen Jadhav; and the Peshwa Balaji was 
occupied in saving his master's position against heavy odds. 
His critical situation is dearly evidenced by the followir^ 
letter addressed by Shahu to his Peshwa some time in 1715 :— 

“We have had no news for some time about your move¬ 
ments and plans. As regards our situation here, we have 
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sdready communicated to you in detail the rebellious activities 
of our cousin of Kolhapur incited thereto by Nj*am-ul-muJIc. 
Thus the short-sightedness of the one and the treachery of the 
other, have now combined to our detriment: but we are by 

no means daunted by this developmeni: our only lear is how 
you can counteract these intrigues from the distance that you 
are now at; but we are perfectly easy and calm having full 
confidence in the incomparable prowess of a servant of your 

type. We have called tc^ethcr all the scattered tioops posted 
in different stations and would feel greatly relieved if you can 
run up here immediately, leaving aside your ordinary engage¬ 
ments,” 

iTte departure of Niram-ul-mulk for the north for a time- 
removed the anxieties of Shahu, whose situation took a dif-* 
fevent turn with the arrival of Saiyad Hussain Ali. The Em- . 
peror called upon Daud Khan Pani of Gujarat to march 
against the Saiyad and do away with him. He also insi^ated 

Shahu for the same purpose. As a result of this incitement ^ 
Daud Khan and the ^iyad met in a deadly combat near Bur* 
hanpur on 26th August, 1715, wherein Daud Khan was killed [ 
and the Saiyad came out victorious, so that Shahu’s prospects 
came to be affected by the policy that Saiyad Husain Ali Khar 

would now adopt in co-operation with his brother Saiyad ?- 
Abdulla at Delhi. The two brothers' inspect of. s^f-preserya- 
tion was the factor which moulded Shaim's policy during the 

next two years. 

2. The friendly Rajput Princes,—Another powerful 
factor at the Imperial Court, which affected Shahu's ii^ests 
was the attitude of the prominent Rajput princes towards the 
struggle between the Emperor and his powerful ministers, 

Akb^r's policy, of conciliating the Rajputs had been reversed 
by Aurangzeb, whose death afforded them a welcome oppor¬ 
tunity of throwing away iheir allegiance to the Emperor, The 
princes that counted most in surit a revolt deserve to be care¬ 

fully noticed. Amar Sinh, the Rana of Udaipur ruled from 
1700 to 1716 and his son Sangram Sinh from 1716 to 1734, 
both strong and clever, refusing obedience to the Muslim 
sovereign, Jodhpur was ruled by AJlt Sinh Raihod. who 

although a nominal ally of die Emperor was at heart no better 
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iriend than his brother princes of Udaipur. Ajit Singh ruled 
hi?i state from 1678 to 1724 and was succeeded by his son 

A^hay Sinh the most terrible of aU Rajput Icinga. wiio ruled 
from 1^24 lo 1750. The Jaipur slate was ruled, however, by 
a genial and accomplished ruler named Sawai Jaya Sinh, frmrth 

in descent from the great Mirza Raja, the devoted general {)f 
Auiangzeb. Sawai Jaya Sinh m early youth served the JSin- 
peror in the Deccan and rendcicd conspicuous service to Aurang- 

geb at the capture of fort Vislialgad between the montlw of 
November 1701 and April 1702, although thcii quite young. lie 
attained irrmrense iniluence and prestige in the Imperial 
counsels after Aurangseb's death mainly through Kevtu'al pre¬ 

cious qualities Of head and heart, which he acquired b}* 
assiduous labour, via., a loudness for letters and learning, a 
study of science, particularly aalronoroy, a congenial compro¬ 

mising spirit guided by high ideals in life and a sound judg^ 
ment about men as well as a refermiog spiril; far in advance of 
his age. In,this connecUon the particular attacluncnt tiiat 
emsted between Shahu and Jaya Sinh deserves to be noted, as 
it led to far-reaching political relations between the two Hindu 
races—Rajputs and Marethas. Jaya Sinh patronired poets 

and writers from all j>arts of India, while Shahu patronized 
saints and warriors. Several Maharashtrian names have recently 

"^6^ discovered among those whom Jaya ^nh revered and 
promoted. His family priest and bis guru were Oeccani 
Brahmans, of whose capacity he evidently formed a high 

opinion during hia residence in Aurangaeb’s camp. 
What great significance such a typical contact between 

the MaraCha Shahu and the Rajput Jaya Sinh, must have 

carrieJin the long run during those revolutionary times, had 
better be imagined. What could have been the ideal that stir* 

red their hearts and the hearts of the society they moved in ? 
The Hindus have always cared jnorc for religion than politics, 
The destruction of the KaafiivishvShwar temple of Benaw by 

Aurangseb In 1669, was an unforgettable shock to the average 
ilindu mind. We know how it affected Shivaji and his 
mother, and how it nen*ed the Marathas during their menjor- 

ble struggle against tlie Emperor through a quartec of a 
century. In other respects they had no quar^ with the 

Emperor, They only needed an assurance that tlielr relipous 
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liberty would not be interfered with. They were not covetous 

of political domination beyond their liome. The expansion 
of power which they later acquired was an indirect result of 
tlieir zeal for preserving their religion. Shivaji had made this 
dear in his famous letter to Aurangzeb on the subject of Jazia. 
That Emperor's bigoted policy of destroying Hindu temples, 
of conversion under pressure, of the imposition of Jazia and 

of administrative d^cceslon of the Hindus, bad exasperated 
and alienated tlie whole Hir>du community, who severely re¬ 
sented this attack on their religion. This is ali they wanted 
to prevent. The dream of Hinditpad Padshahi was not terri¬ 
torial ambition but mainly limited to the religious held.^ 

At any rate Slahu and Jaya Sinh freely exchai^ed views 
on this policy of the Mughals and later each tried in his own 
way to bring about a land of compiomise, that is, non-inter¬ 
ference or toleration as inculcated and practised by the great 

Akbar. When Bahadur^Shah started bis religious war ag;aicst 
the Sikhs, the above mentioned prominent Rajput princes /^ 

held a prolonged conference on the border of Gse PushkarV*^'^' 
lake and after full deliberation proclaimed a solemn concerted 
policy,—that they would not thencefordi give that dav^ters , 

in marriage to Muslima and that if any prince acted contrary 
to this resolution, the others should joiri and put down the, 'zajk. 
deserter by force if necessary. The dedaration went further,^' ^ 
The Ranas of Udaipur were acknowledged to be of purer , 
blood, havuig all along refused to give thdr daughters in 

marriage to Muslims ; so the ^shkar conference laid down 
that if any Rajput prince had an issue from a daughter of 
the Udaipur family, ^t issue should be gl^ preference over 

those ^rn from other wives in choosing a successor to the va¬ 
cant throne. This stipulation.made the remedy worse than the 
disease, as, in the long run, it led to a crop of wars of succes¬ 
sion throughout Rajputana. The famous story of Krialijia- 
Ki^ari is an illustration of such results. But in our present 

discussion of Maratha activities, it is enough to note how the 
religious el«nent prevailed over politics. 

1 fhU M well exj^ained by Sir Jedonath In hie History of AurangsA. 

Vol. 3, Chspter on Islamic State-Church. Ja^ means substitute-taK, price 

oi indulgence, i.e, ft tax or fine levied io retum hr liberty In rdigioue 

aatters, 
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The Saiyad brotliers were by no means l«s enlhu«aslic 
than Auranitzeb in putting down the religious claims of tlie 

Hindus, and used thdr power in sternly eoforcii^ tlie tradi* 
tionaJ Muslim policy. To counteract the results of the 
PuBhkar conference, these ministers carried sword and fire into 

Rajputana and compelled Ajit Sinh ol Marwar to give hia 
daughter Indra-Kumari ns a wife to the Kmperor. TIic mar¬ 

riage was later on solemnized at i>elhl with groat pomp. Thu 
other I^jput princes submitted to the inevitable and l>owcd 
down before the powerful Saiyads, who doubtless possessed 

valour and talent of a high order, which Fatrukhsiyar had not 
the wisdom to diiuct towards beneficial ends. He kepi on 
plotting incessantly for their ruin and wlxen he found himself 
foiled at every step, he separated them by appointing Husain 

AU to the government of the Deccan, ae we have already 

mentioned. 

3. Saiyad Husain Ali in the Deccan.—To make room 
for Saiyad Husain AJi, Nizam-ul-mulk was recalled from tho 
Deccan, thereby giving him unnecessary umbrage. The Saiyads 
and Nizam-ul-mulk far from being on cordial terms with eacli 

other, passed tlicough Malwa without observing Ihe customary 
formality of an exchange of visits as brother ofllccra, Im¬ 

mediately on arrival, Husain Ali as has been already noticed, 
encountered Daud IChan in an action near Burhanpur and 
killed him. The Emperor had called upon the Marathas 

also, to oppose the Saiyad, but they were discreet enough not 
to Jake any active p^t cyi^eithec aide. Shahu, Balaji and 
IChan^^ Dabbade, his Seoapeti mostly occupied themselves 

at this time in ^wresting the region of Poona from the hands 
of the Mughal officiaia who were then in charge. 

The main object of both the Emperor and the Saiyads was 
to put down the riang Maratha power in the Deccan and to 

oust them entirely from Malwa, where tl>ey had been acquir¬ 
ing a foot-huld. Malwa being the main highway between the 
north and the south, its possession had always been 
considered essential for the security of the Empire. Aurang- 

zeb himself was watchful about Malwa and as early as 
February 1704 had inflicted a crushing defeat through his 

trusted general Ghaziuddin upon several Maratha chiefs such 
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as Nemaji Sinde, Parsoji Bhosle, Keshopant Pingle and others 

near Di^pur and Ujjain. Later on llie Maralhas, by no 
means entirely checked, had continued tlw depredations so 

persistently tliat in 1713 Farrukhsiyar appointed Jaya Sinh 
Sawai to the government of Malwa, winch the Pajput was 
ambitions to annex to his own patrimony of Jaipur. iOiande- 
rao Dabhade and Kanlmji Bhosle entered Malwa iu tlie early 
moitthx oi 1715, liurnt and plundered Ujjain and the regions 
round about; Jaya J^tnh was ready to meet tliem and inflicted 
upon tliem a crushing defeat on lOtli May and i-ecovered all 
the goods and properly tliat had been plundered. But Jaya 
Sinh's success proved temporary and when be was recalled 

soon after, the Marathas renewed their aggression with 
impunity. 

The Emperor had about him capable generals and efficient 
re-sourccs : the Sayid brothers, Nisam-ul-mulk, Amin Khan, 
Saadat Khan, Jaya Sinh, Ajit Sinh were all men of valour 
and capacity, but their efforts were never combined and thus 
proved ineffective, mainly on account of the Empaor's intri- 
guing policy and his want of trust in them, Every one Of his 

officers and courtiers remained in immin^ danger to life and 
was prevented from putting forth his best effort in the 
imperial service. Historians often criticise the Saiyad brothers 
for allowing the Marathas a free passage right up to Delhi. 
But this was not really the case. They tried thrir best to 

put down the Marathas: and Husain Ali during Ws first two 
years in the Deccan made strenuous efforts to prevent Maratha 
inroads in Baglan and Khandesh. But when ultimately they 
found they stood in the greatest danger to their life and pod- 

' tion from their master, they were compelled to reverse their 
' policy and seek Maratha friendship. 

Shahu’s'positidh likewise remained insecure for long, He 
.was not as fortunate in securing a competent Senapati as he 

was in hia choice of the Peshwa. Dhanaji^s son Chandrasen was 
put into that office, but he ^tictised open treachery: his 

brother Santajl whom Shahu ^ve the office in 1711, wa.<5 an 
idiot with no capacity to plan campaigns. He was replaced 
by Mansinh More in 1712,. a faithful servant, but quite a 
mediocrity in his profession ; and he too unfortunately broke 

down in health. Shahu then had recourse to Khanderao 
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Dabhade whom he appointed to the office of the Senapati on 

11th January 1717. For a time he worked well, but age and 
infinnities soon disabled him for the growir^ intricacies of the 
political situation, particularly for meeting the demands of a 

new era created by Che revolutionary changes at the Court 
of Delhi. Khanderao Dabhade's failure to enter wholeheaited- 
ly into the plans and schemes of tlie Peshwa, soon made him 
lose his ground and gave a welcoirie chance to Che risir^ star 

of the future young Bajirao. 

For two year's Saiyad Huaain Aii struggled bard in the 
Deccan to put down the Maratlia encroachments as best he 
could, and to meet the intrigues whidi the Emperor was assidu¬ 

ously devi^ng in order to ruin him, His biother Saiyad Abdul¬ 
lah's jwsition at Delhi was steadily deteriorating and became so 
precarious, that being afraid of his own life, he recalled Husain 

All from the south wiflj all expedition and with a strong mili¬ 
tary equipment to save their pCAition at Court. Husain AU 
thereupon took full counsel with his frierxds and followers, and 

came to the conclusion that his only chance of success lay in 
securing the goodwill and coHjperation of the Marathas, parti- 
cdlarly„of Shahu and his supporters. He could not afford to 
antagonise them, if he were to remain absent from the Deccan: 

for the two ministers coi^d easily be cru^ied between the 
Marathas in the south and the Emperor's clique in the north. 
The author of Shahu's chronicle* writes 

" When the Emperor Farrukhyyar recalled Nijam-ul- 
mulk and. appointed Saiyad Husain Ali to the chief Subah- 
ship of the Deccan, the latter selected for his chief adviser 
one Shankaraji Malhar, a renowned old Maratha diplomat 

who had migrated long ago from his attendance as Sachiv 
upon Rajaram at Jinji and resided at Benares. The Emperor 
feamt of tiiis clever and serviceable person, brought him to 

Delhi under pei^ual persuasion, and sent him to the 
Deccan with Saiyad Husain Ali as his confidential ad¬ 
viser upon matters concerning the Marathas. The Em¬ 

peror made a suitable provision for Shankaraji's services 
as an ambassador.” 
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4. Husain All secures Maracha Help,_This Shan* 
karaji Malhar, a Maharashtra Brahman surnamed NarfundJtar 

possessed a rare genius for political affairs. He had in 1689 
accompanied Chhatrapali Rajaram to Jinji and on some irri¬ 
tation had retired to Benare.s. But a spirit of restless ambi¬ 
tion took possesion of his mind, and he readily accqrted the 
^peror’s mission to the Deccan to accompany Saiyad Husain 
AU, whose good graces he soon managed to secure and he made 
himself invalual^e in bis oew ofbee, as Husain All himsell 
was an utter straiip;er to the Mai'Sthas. Shankaraji’s presence 
soon became known to Shahu and his Peshwa Balaji, through 
personal agents and commanders, Wherr'SaTyad Husain AU 
received a peremptory call from his brotlior at Delhi, his 

first concern was not only to close his war with Shahu, but 
also to gain his friendsJhp and military help in order to prose¬ 
cute his future plans with success. He deputed Sbankaraji to 
proceed to Satara and secure a friendly arrangement with 
Shahu. Shankaraji arrived at Satara early in 171$. Shahu 
and his counsellors grasped this misaon almost as a heaven¬ 
sent opportunity for establishing a direct contact with Delhi, 

and for put^ng an end to the vexatious wars which were 
sapping their strength and resources practically ever since the 
release of Shahu.’ 

Shahu and Balaji had already come to their wits’ end in 

putting their house in order. Ten years had gone by and they 
were in no way better off. Internal and external troubles, dissen¬ 
sion and tj'eason among their followers, the unstable character 

of the imperial administtaUon, digorder all round, were eating 
into the vitals of the small afflicted Maratha nation with 
hardly any prospect for it to live and revive after the fashion 
of their revered founder. 

The Marathas posse^d brain and nerve, which bad been 

well exercised and disciplined during their long war mtk 

Aurangxeb. Leaders of their martial bands were roving fhe- 
land, crying for woric and adventure, and wasting their energy 
in cutting each other’s throats, swearing one moment to up¬ 
hold the cause of Siahu, and deserting the next mwnent to 

9. This mission of Shaokaiait is clcscly explmned both by Khaii: 

Khan and the author a( &yiir.uI*MUtskhenn. 
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Kolliapiu* or to the Mughals; and all the lime seeking nothing 
hut thejr edii^ ends, preying upon the hapless toiling popu* 
lation, the real produceii^ of food and wealth. How waa tliis 

anarchy to be ended ? ITiis was the problem which Balaji 
aiid Shahu witli all their wjstlom had proved impotent to 
solve. 5)hanknraji when he arrived at ^tara, suegested the 

solution. He urged lliat if lliese roving bands of Maiiitha 
soldier/ could be supplied with some suitable employment out 
of their accustomed routine, their attention would be divertwl 

to now prospects outside and the chaotic conditions in Mflha- 
rashtia would be at once changed. 

SUiankarajjpant like a prophet assured the demisters and 

hesitators that the Mufibal power was at that tune only a 
make-believe; that there was no less anarcliy and turbulcjice 
in the north; diat races and principalities in those quarters 
were ready to any power that would come and rehevo 
them; that these lessona cF adventure and self-reliance were 

bequeathed to them by the great Shivaji and that they must 
follow in his foot-steps. “ Here," said Sbankaraji, " are the 
two powerful Saiyads holding out their hand for friendship : 

grasp it by all means without hesitation: ofTer your own 
terms: they would be ungrudgingly granted : they arc hard 

pressed by danger at this moment Your king is pious and 
generous at heart. He will not sanction a policy that would 
do harm to the Emperor. This is an advantage in itself. The * 

Saiyads themselves do not personally contemplate any harm 
to the Emperor: they are only anxious to set matters^ right in 
the administration which must run smoothly. They only seek 

to gam suflicient control over the government machinery. 
Shahu had given his solemn word to the dying Aurangs;^ 
that he would never rise against the Empire, and that he 

would help It with all his power in its sore need.”* That was 
just the course th&t Shankaraji advocated. So a treaty of 

peace and good will, an agreement with dehnitc terms, ensur¬ 

ing the imeiests of both parlies, was advocated- Shahu and 
his Court xrerc called upon only to stand by the Saiyad minis¬ 
ters as supporters. 

4. p. D. SO 222. 



CHAP. II I NBW ERA DAWNS 41 

» 5. Coudicions of M^tha Vai&a2ag«._Such was the 
nature of tiie pcsace parleys that were held for some days at 
Satara. The actual details have not lueen recorded. But 
Shahu had another personal reason for falling ic \vitli the plan, 

His mothei* Yesubai, wile Savitribai (for his wuoud wife 
< Ainbilca]>ai was already dead^ and hift brother Madaiisiiih with 

a number cjf followers were still lield at Delhi as hostages 
whom lie was naturally mo^ anxious to get back. 3alaj: and 

Shankarajl managed tcj pul In a clear stipulation to that effect 
in Ihc treaty that was airangcd for the approval of Saiyad 

ilusain All. The terms agreed to by both the parties were 
1. That all territories known as Sliivaji's swaraiya (on- 

‘ ginal dominions), together witli Che forts therein, should be ' ' 
delivered Co Shahu in full poasesaion ; 

2. That such territories as had been recently conquered 
by the Mai-allxas in Khandesh, Berar, Gondawana, Haidarabad 

and Kamatak as described in the annexiire to the treaty, 
should also be ceded to them as part of the Maratha Kingdom. 

3. Tlial the Maralhas should be allowed to collect 
Qiauth and Sardeshmukhi from all the six Mughal Subahs in 

the south I in return for the Chauth the Maralhas were to /) ^ 
serve the Emperor with a contuigenl of 15 thousand troops for 

his protection; and in return for the Sardeshmukhi the Mara¬ 
lhas were to be responsible for maintaining order by prevent- 

' ing robbery and rebellions; 
4. That Shahu should do no harm to Sarabhaji of Kolha¬ 

pur ; 
5. That the Maralhas should make a cash payment /(J'v; 

annually of ten lacs of Rupees to the Emperor by way of 

tribute; and lastly 
6. That the Emperor should rdease and send bad from 

Delhi Shahu'a mother Yesubai, his wife and his brother 
Madansinh with all the follo.wers that were detained there. 

Saiyad Husain AH agreed to these terms and promised to 

get them formally ratified by the Emperor in due course. On 
Ist August 1718, Shahu issued orders to his local officials to 

s.. enforce the terms of the above agreement and make collections 
of Chauthai and Sarcleshniukhi. An order issued by Balaji to 

the Deshmukhs and Dealipandes of Poona dated 30th July 
1718 exists which calls upon them to stop the payment of these 

M. K. II—«4 
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dues to the Mughal official Rambhaji Nimbalkar. Balaji, im- 

mediately upon the agreement being confirmed, toured 
through the districts and took possession of them in the name 
of Sbahu and raised a special corps of troops for the service 

of the Emperor which along with what he already possessed, 
later came to be termed the Huaarat, 14. the King’s troops. 

Such was the welcome stroke of policy and good fortune 
which through Balaji's state'Craft at once raised Shahu's 

prestige and established his position as Che lawful ruler of Ihp 
Marathasi in contrast with his cousin Sambhaji. It was this 
legal status which Shahu had all along been trying to acquire 

since his release and which Balaji’s supreme efforts succccticd 
at laat in confirming. An orderly government for ShahuV 

sivaraiya came to be immediately organised in place of wlial 
was UU then a casual op^tion based upon force. Divided 
loyalties were thenceforth removed and a legal status for all 

Maratha governmental measures established. Tlius this treaty 
enabled the Marathas to become masters of their home and* 
to obtain fresh facilities for expamalon outside from their base 

in the Deccan. The exact interpretation of the teems agreed 
upon remained vague in several points for a long time, and 

often varied with eacli fresli official dealing with the Rubjed 
CD either side. 

Shahu unlike Shivaji never claimed to be an absolutely 

Independer^t kir^. but agreed to remain like a vassal pay¬ 
ing annual tribute and rendering nominal obedience to the 
Emperor whom, however, he undertook to protect with hia 

own troops. But when a sovereign seeks protection from a 
vassal it means in actual practice, that the comparative 
strength of the two contracting parties is reversed. The 

Marathas hereafter obtained freedom to go about in search of 
fresh fields and pastures new. 

For years past Shahu was seeking such a development. 
For this very purpose lie had deputed his Parasnis Yadavrao 

Prabhu to Delhi to arrange malteis as long ago as 1715. He 
now addressed the following letter on 24 February 1718 to 
Ihis Parasnis:— 

'' From what Shankaraji Malhar and you have written, 
the three important conceswons, viz., of Swarajya, Chauthai 

and Sardeshniukhi have been satisfactorily secured. The only* 
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matter that yet remains to be e:tecuted is the release and 
return of our revered mother Yesubai, Madansingh and their 
staff, When this is effected, th^ only will all the strenuous 

exertions and mediations which Shankarajipant and yourself 
have been so selflessly rendering, have been profitably em¬ 
ployed, Please do not neglect this point; urge it incessantly 
upon the Saiyad's attention and have it Quickly carried out. 
I have written fully on the subject to Shankarajipant from 

whom you can gatlier what ray special aiudety is.” 

C. Balaji's Expedition to Delhi.—Although a satisfac¬ 
tory agreement was formally executed with the Saiyad, it 

remained to he ratified at Delhi, where the Emperor was al¬ 
ready involved in his struggle with his ministers. There was 
no knowing that he would readily assent to the terms. The 
Emperor was by no means a friend of the Marathas. He had 
his* own counsellors and advisers and the Maratha hopes de¬ 
pended upon the turn affairs might lake at Delhi, They would 
gain their ends only if the Saiyad brothers came out 

sdetorious in the contest that was impending between them 
and the Emperor, When Husain AU and Balaji met and dis¬ 
cussed the situation, they must have talked fully and plainly 
what preparations were needed, how they were to act how 
the expenses were to be met in the venture they were jointly 

undertaking. The irresisdble urge came from Shahu on ac¬ 
count of his anxiety for his mother, and Balaji could not refuse 
to undertake the risk. 

Kbanderao Dabhade, Shahu’s Senapati arrived at Aurang¬ 

abad in June 1718 with his contingent of 15,000 troops, in 
fulfilment of the contract. Husain Ali had already kept the 
Emperor informed of his new move of * conciliating the 

Marathas and requested his assent to it The Emperor, 
in reply, however, wrote to state his disapproval of the whole 
transaction and appointed his own nominees to several im¬ 
portant offices in the E>eccan. Husain Ali on his own part 

put down these officials and arranged his affairs with a 

hand- The>Emperor.re?4ia^ ninrfffff ^ 
antagppieing his powerful^ minis^ and hastily caTledJiadc to 
his .jjtMfiftce rT^cafiT-fil-muilT from Moraibad. Sarbuland 
Khah'^m Patna’and AjITSinh horn btftaratr-When these 

t 
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grandees anived at I>elhf with their large followings, Saiyad 
Abdulla also strei^thened his fighlii^ resources and sent uigent 

calls to his brother to repair to the capital from Uw sooih 

without a moment’s delay. 
Husaiji All quickly ginsped the situation. He hjicl not a 

^^moment to lose. He arrang^ hie plans in con«ultati(»n with 
Balaji who was asked to accompany the espcdiUon, Shaiiu 

and his Court suppoited the project heartily and left nothing 
undorxe that discretion and foresight ctmld suggest. KlnindtJ 
Ballal Qiitniii and Yadavinci Mun«hi Parasnis accompaniwl 

the party as Shahu’s personal agents to watch the conduct rif 
affairs. IChanderao Dabhade Senapati, wilh Udaji, Keroji 
and Tukoji Pa war, Ranoji and Santaji Bhosle, were the prin¬ 
cipal Maratlia leaders of the fighting aim, Shekh Mira. Baji 

Kadam, Naro Shankar, Chimnajx Damodar, Mahadeo Bhal 
Hingne, Ambaji Trimbak Puranclare, Balaji Mahadev Bhanu, 
these and other rising spirits of the future, were ordered by 
Shahu to accompany the expedition, which, headed by the 

Peshwa with hia promising youthful son Bajirao by his sude, 
formed, as would be seen, the best brain and arm of the 
Maratha king. 

Husain Ali posted hU own spirited nephew Alam AU 

Khan at Aurangabad with his brother Saif-ud-din Ali lo sup¬ 
port him. He also left with them Shankaraji Malhar by 
■whose advice they were to be guided during his absence. At 

.Balaji’s special pleading, however, Shankarajipant was taken 
% Delhi for a short time and was allowed to return very soon. 
Husain All’s sole hope rested upon the cordial support he 

secured from the Marathas and he boldly left Aurangabad in 
high hopes and confidence in November 1718, and Burhanpur 
in the middle of December, reaching Delhi on 16th February 

next year. Each Maratlia trooper received from the imperial 
treasury one rupee per day for his expenses. 

7- Clash of Arms.—As news of Husain Ali’s approach 
reached the Emperor, he became extremely apprehensive for his 

life and forwarded repeated mess^es and special agents to turn 
l^ back. Thereupon Husain Ali aslced the Maratha com¬ 

manders to return or halt where they were, but they refused 
to do 80 unless Shahu’s mother and paity were delivered into 
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their hands. Huiiaia Ali reported the matter to the Emperor 
adding that it was now impossible ior him to offend his 

Maratha allies and that they would create fearful trouble for 
all, if their wi^es were opposed. Thus they all pushed on 
and the two Satyad broUiers met together at Delhi and at 

once concerted sound plans for mastering the aitualion as it 
developed. Details of the revolution that followed ai'e plentiful 
and can be sLudied in the pages of Irvine’s LaUr Mughals. iu 
Siyoriil-Mnlakhenn and other contemporary accounts. Here 

only the relevant portions toucliing die Maratha doings need 
)x’ ndverted to. 

During February and March the capital of Delhi wore a 
dreadful appeai'ance. due to large Maratha forces and others 
belonging to the several Rajput rulers and Muslim grandees, 
having assembled there. The populace of Delhi and tlie en- 

vinms took serious alarm at the obvious portents of what was 
to come nest. The Emperor to ease the atuation tried to send 
away Jayrinh and Ajit Sinh to their dominions, but they 

only left the city and remained encamped in tlie vicinity. 
During llie last week of February the Empeiw and the two 
brothel* ministers had many stprmy meetings at which the 

latter gained the upper hand, The news that the Emperor 
was trying to get rid of Husain Ali Khan, infuriated the 
brothci*s so highly that they deteimined to depose him and 
place on the throne another Shahzada of thdr choice, who 

would be more amenable to their measures and policy. 

On 27th February the brothers besieged the palace and the 
fort and posted their ovn guards at the gates for prev^ting 
ingress or egress. The sjtralegic points in the dty were also 

similarly guarded. The ^teratha troopers were posted not fer 
from the main entrance to the palace. Saiyad Abdulla and Ajit 
Sinh remained closeted all night with the Emperor, exchang¬ 

ing hot words and angry epithets which grew in tone anti 
temper as the night advanced. The Imperial city cdiibited 
a ghastly appearance in the early morning of 28th February, 

the ministerial cavalry men ridir^ through the principal 
streets and killing all who opposed them. Muhammad Amin 
I4han a partizan of the Emperor tried with his few determined 

followers to force open the palace gate and had a severe skit- 
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misil with the Maratha guards pwted at tlic entrance. In 

this encounter some 1600 to 2000 Maratha horsemen were cut 
to pieces, prominent among whom were Santaji Bhosle of 
Nagpur and Balajipant Bhanu the ^od^father of the famous 

Nana Phadnis. The ministers arrested the Emperor and con¬ 
fined him; and successvely put on the throne two Shahaadas 
after short mteirals. Muhammad Shah was ultimately instal¬ 

led who ruled until his death in April 1748. The deposed 

Farrukhaiyar was put to death two months later. 

In this revolution Apt Sinh the Raja of Manvar aided 
with the Saiyad ministers and with his strong support facili¬ 
tated their measures, so that they became supreme masten? for 

a time able to make whatever arrangements they thooglit best. 
They appointed Nizam-ul-mulk to the government of Malwa 
whom BaJaji Vishvanath particularly befriended, as he was 

likely one day to be the governor cl the Deccan. While at 
Delhi Balaji and Nizam-ul-mulk exchanged Bhakkara or 
brotherly dinners in token of mutual friendship. They at this 

time cultivated such esteem and regard for each otltcr that the 
Nizam himself recommended Balaji and Ambaji 'fVimbak to 
the notice of the Emperor. Similarly Jaysinh and Ajit 

Sinh both willingly supported the Maratha claims as embodi¬ 
ed in the treaty contracted by the Saiyad and thus legalized 

actual practice was b«ng enacted by t^ Marathas 
ew since the da^ of Shivaji. As soon as the palace revolu¬ 

tion was over, the Saiyads prepared formal grants for the 
three items of Swarajya, Chauthai and Sarde^unukhi and deli¬ 
vered them to Balap duly ratified under the imperial seal. 

Shahu's mother and the rest of the party who had been In 
•confinement at Delhi for nearly twelve years, were released 

and delivered over. The Sanad for the grant of Chauthai is 
dated 3rd March 1719 and that of Sardeahmukhi 15th March. 
Writes Sir Richard Temple,— 

“ BaJaji Vishvanath carried victoriously all his diplomatic 
points and brought back to western India a political instru- 

rnent which is one of the most noteworthy state documents in 
Indian history and constituted the MagTia-Charia of the 

Macatha Dominion.” These sanads wer^lcoTg in Ae Chhatra- 
pati’s possession at Satara and we-e examined by the historian 
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Grand Duff. They ate now available in print, but not in the 
original Pfersian.^ 

Shahu had instructed Balaji and others to try and obtain 
similar sanads for the Sutehs o( Malvm and Gujarat, but the V * 

drcumstances at the Court of Delhi wore not yet favourable 
for such a consummation. What they already obtained was 
by no means a small gain. Balaji was given a heady send 
off back from Delhi which he and the party left on 20th 

March and reached Satara early in July, after the Peshwa him- 
self had paid a huiticd vi^t to Benares and perlortned the 
customary rites of a pious Hindu. The Maratha stay at Ddhi 
did not extend lor over a month, A.jil Sinh of Mar war was re¬ 
warded by the Saiyads for his services with the grant of the 
Subah.of Gujarat, which he had long coveted and which he at 
once went to take possession of. 

Shahu journeyed a long way from Satsra to offer a grand 

welcome to the Pe^wa and his party on their arrival- He 
felt highly gratified at the success of the expedition which had 

all the while caused him no small anxiety. The joy he felt at 
meeting with his mother after twelve years of separation can 
only be imagined. He profusely complimeoted the Peshwa on 

this remarkable achievement. It is said that Balaji reedved 
from the Saiyads about 50 thousand rupees cash dally for the 
expenses, out of which he actually paid 80 lacs into Shahu’s 

treasury in addition to a large number of presents of dresses 
and cunos of various kinds, which each member of the expedi¬ 

tion must have separately obtained. All received their wages 
regularly in cash and the usual complaint of the salaty of 
troops remaining in arrears was not heard. 

A grand Darbar was held at Satara where Balaji' pre- 
ser^ted ldS“Cffl!5agGe§ and co-workers to Shahu bringing to his 

notice their particular services. A new era of hope and aspi¬ 
ration had begun for Mahara^tra. The pretgngpns of Shahu*s 
cousin of Kolhapur were now curbed. As Santaji 
hafflost his life* at Delhi, his brolher Ranoji was given the title 

of Sawai Santaji with fresh inams and rewards for the sacri- 

S. “Titalia mid Airtmmti" edited by hfAwji and Fersmlsi 
Nlnay Sa^r Pran, 1914. 
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fices he had made. The two hrotbers were the sons of Shahu’s 
first benefactor Paraoji Bhosle.® 

The social results of this first Maratha venture into Ihe 

north were no less important. It gaw a new tuna and a fresh 
yisioii to Maratha ambitions. Delhi had hitherto been sup* 
posed to be far off. They had only heard of it, they hud never 

seen the imperial Court, or its stniucleur and etiquette. Tlicy 
now fell the strikini; contrast of the splendour ol Delhi U* 
the poor and half-nalced life of an average Maliarashlrian in 

the south. The Marathas for the first lime experienced Uw 
remarkable difference in the whole life, di'ess, fcxKl, manners 

and ways, which hereafter widened their outlook and excited 
their greed for conquest and expanwon. Tliis is typified in 
the life of the first Peshv^ a’s son Bajirao, whose nerve came to 
be entirely different from his father’s. Shahu quickly noticed 

the change in this promising youth and did not hesitate to 
invest him with the robes of Peshwasbip when Balaji suddenly 

died a few months after his return home. 

$. Release and death of Yesubai.—The story of 
Yesubai the pious and revered mother of Shahu, desci'ves to 
be concluded here. Daughter of Filaji Shirlce of Shringarpur, 
she was married probably at the age of 8 to Sambhaji aI)out 
the year 1669 and passed her early life under the direct eyes of 

Che great Shivaji. She bore two children, the elda a girl 
named Bhavanibai, the younger, a son named Shahu- They and 
tlieir foilowers about 200 in all were captured at the fall of 

Ratgad and kept in strict confinement in the Mughal camp 
and carried from place to place wherever it moved during the 
18 years oJ war, a period in which she had to suffer sudi misery 

and want as would excite one^s pity tor her misfortunes and 
admiration for the patience and fortitude which she exhibited 

6. The following lelter written by Shahu on 2 Auguft 17D to Balaji 

Mahadev Bhanu's son is typical of the way in which he rewarded the 

services rendered to the Stato 

' Your father Balajtpant who had accompanied Lhc Feehwa on duty 

as an accountant (Fhadnis), lovt his life in the confusion that occurred 

at Delhi. In recogniUoii of his Joyai services yon are hereby granicd 

the viiloev of Bsnksai in jnan which you should share aloog with your 

unde Ramajl Mehadev the brother of the deceased.” 
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uDder severe trial. After AutaJig;5:eb’8 death at Ahmadnagar the 
party were forced to follow his son Azam Shall in his journey 

to the north and were taken to Delhi as hostages. After the 
long and wearisome detention at the capital Yesubai was releas* 

ed in March 1719 and soon alter reached Satara to find her son 
securely seated on the Maratha throne. After her return to 
Satara she seems to have lived for at least 12 years 
more. Yesubai ended her chequered life very happily, leaving 
behind a pious memory of a pure and selfless soul. Sarnbhaji 

wrote the following letter of condolence to Shahu on learning 
of the death of Ye»ul»i, It discloses the unusual reverence in 
u^ich the lady was held by all. 

'' The sad new's of the illness and consequent death of your 
revered mother Yesubai, has occasioned to us no less sorrow 

than to you. It ia a matter beyond human conbol and we 
have all to put up with it. You as an elder doubtless possess 
the fortitude to bear the calamity calmly. What more comfort 
can f offer on this sad bereavement?" Shahu and Yesubai 
live in Maratha memory almost as much as Shivaji and his 

mother Jijabai do, Shahu ever felt that he owed all his good 
fortune to the ble»ng of his mother- 

9. Chftuthat and Sandeshmukhi explained.—It is now 
Ume to review Che actual results of dte policy and efforts of 
the first Peshwa for the revival of the Maratha State from the 

condition in which it eiij?ted at the time of Aurangzeb’s death. 
The three main points secured by Balaji Vishvanath under ^ 

the Emperor's seal and on which the future policy of the ^ • 
State came to be based, were tliree distinct claims which 
Bliivaji had out of his own strength and under no outside sane* 

tion long ago enforced upon the Mughal Empire, That Shahu 
and Balaji obtained fregh grants from the Emperor for these 
old claims clearly meansShivaji considered himself 

an independent sovereign, the ruler of the Maratha State be- 
came henceforth a vassal, and an ob^ent servant of the 
“Emp^Qr, This patent and striking distinction, wMe'ceffilrly 

plain and unquestionable, made difference In actual , y 
practice, since we know that the Maratha soldiers and people 
in"getftral under the regime of Shahu and his.Peshwa, were '' 
by no means less independent than they had been during the' ' i 
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^ days of Sambhaji and Rajaram. If these latter two conducted 
wars directly against the Emperor, Siiahu and his Peshwas 

waged similar wars against, the provincial govemoi's cf the 
Mi^hals. Shahu's position was doubtless more delicate and pre* 

carious. Having been compelled to pass the prime of his life 
*' in the Emperor's confinement, he owed his life mainly to his 

kindness and became the head of the Maratha State. With 
the help of Balaji he turned to the best advantage of his nation 
the peculiar difficulties of the Mughal Cbiirt and utruck Ihe best 
bargain posable under the circumstances. If he Avere to 

oppose openly the Mughal power and its numerous local 
f agents and keep the old sore of war open, he would have failed 

in his attempt. He had no. money, no men, no resources. He, 

. . therefore, took the path of co^Uation and goodwill, thereby 
''''' pracUcally obtaining results more brilliant and lasting than 

he would have secured by any other method. He knew his 
• M/ ^^'^n limitations and delihsatfily departed from the policy of 

‘' complete independence followed by Shivajl- 

In the mind of an average student the close association 

of the three charters, Sufarojya, Chauihai and Sordeskmukhi 
has perhaps created a confusion about their origin and import. 
They are three entirely different items : their juxtaposition is 
a mere chance brought about by the three documents having 

been drawn up and executed at one and the same time at Delhi 
in Macdi 1719 and thereby having, thenceforth continued to 

be mentioned together in official records first at Satara and 
subsequently in Grant Duffs Wstory, so that their co-exist¬ 
ence has become almost proverbial in text-books and studies. 

Swarajya^ is a term applied to those territories of central 
Maharashtra, which were originally formed into an independ- 

• ent kingdom by Shivaji out of the possessions of the Adilshah 

' of Bijapur and the Mughal Empire of Delhi. It practically 
extended from the river Tapti in the north to the Krishna in 

* I the south with a few gUring exceptions round about Aurang¬ 

abad and Burhanpur, On the west Shivaji's swarajya was 
' , bounded by the sea and on (he east the boundary was not quite 

7. In Persitn documents the term is tmnslaced »/, 

meaning 'old domlnloo i<, lands oaRinaDy held by Shivaji. It did not 
tneao Hindu raj. 
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definite, as it oilen shifted according to circumstances. The 
Marathas continued to claim this region as their legitimate 
patriajony acquired by Shivaji and it to preserve this 

precious acquisition that they waged that long and relentless 
war against Aurai^eb tor a full quarter of a century. The 
sanad for Swarajya obtained by Balaji enumerates tlie parti¬ 

cular districts included in the term. A few isolated outposts 
subjugated by Shivaji such Kopbal, Gad^, Bellari and 
even VcUore, Jinji and Tanjore were also supposed to be in¬ 
cluded in the swarajya established by SbivajL These distant 
posbi formed a link to hold the southern regions in sway. 

Shivaji did not liimself live to realize his dream of full Hindavi- 
Kwarajya. 

The next puzzling term Is Sardeahmukhi. This has 

nothing to do either with Swarajja or with Chauthai, Its 
origin goes bade to the far off ancient days when Maharashtra 
came to be first colonized and agriculture was taxed for re¬ 

venue, to collect whidi, village or district officials called Desh- 
mukhs or heads of the land were appointed. They were en¬ 
trusted with the duty of collecting thej^d-te^, receiving a 
commission of ten per ait for tlieir services. If a village was |0'^! 

assessed say at one thousand rupees, the Deshmukh was to 
collect the amount due from each larid-holder, pay Rs. 900 
into the Government treasury and appropriate for hrs own 

labour the remaining one hundred. This was found in those 4#^ 
old days to be the eaaest, cheapest and most convenient method 
of collecting the revenue ra^r than appointing fully paidj,^^, 
government servants, whose honesty could not be taken for 
granted and whose knowledge of the holders and tillers cf the 

soil might not be close. It was the interest of the Deshmukhs^^^c* 
to bring under cultivation fallow lands by inducing suitable^^^^ 
persons, to inhatat and cultivate them, as their own I 
sion inCTeased with the increase of the cultivation. These 

E>eshmukhs were supposed to exercise a gqp^gl.SUpefnsiflP 
oyer village administration and afford facilities to the ryots ^ - 

^osper by their labour. 
Thus the interests of all parties came to be safeguarded' 

by the employment of the Deshmukhs all over Maharashtra 
since remote pre-Maratha and pre-Muslim rule. Many fre^ 
conquerors came, occupied the country in succes^on, but the 
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Deshmukhs did net change with the diani» of rulers as their 
existence was indispetwabie to aU. A head Deshmukh con¬ 
trolling a group of several villages or one district, was styled 

Sardeshmukh, and he was responsible for tlie peaceful and 

ordefly government throughout the district. These Deahmnlths 
and Sardeshmukhs considered their prolessinn a vaian or a 
hetedilary. preserve, which could not be alTected by poliliOJil 

revolutions or changes of government, Shivaji, however, made 
a slight change in this conception. In the capacity of a 
Chbalrapali he styled himself the supreme Sardeshmukh of 

the whole swarajya and took powers for himself to distribute 
the Desbmukhi vatans to Itis own followers and favourites In 
order to ensure his revenue and to prevent trcacheiy towards 

' the stoarajya which lie wa« establishing. He laid down lliat the 
Chhatrapafi was the Sardeshmukh of the wliole country; and 

this practice was adopted by Shahu, who upon his being 
crowned as Chhatrapati assuined the function of the Sardesh* 

.runukh and had it legalised by the sanction ol the Emperor in 
' 1719. The Sardeshmukhi cess was confined only to territories 

Of the Maratha swarajya and the six Muglial Subahs of the 

Deccan. 

Chauihai again is another separate levy quite different 
from the two mentioned above. A practice existed during pre- 
Shivaji days in some of the territories conquered by Che Portu¬ 

guese on the xveat coast, where the Portuguese settlers agreed 
to pay to the adjoining chieftains, Co avoid incessant inroads 
and to ensure their protecdon, pne»lourth of the revgpqe of 

their possessions. When the Portuguese conquered the dis¬ 
tricts of nocth Konkan between Bassein and Daman, the local 
chiefs and landlords often attacked them and they offered to 

pay them a fourth part of their assessed income ts.buy. their 
protection or immunity frorn further attack.* Such a practice 
or contract existed in some other parts of the country and 

later Shivaji adopted it for his own gain ^^hen conquering 
foreign territories. He first established his s^rajya over the 
few lands which he had inherited and which were distinctly 
IV^ratha in character. Thereafter he began to extend his 

g. Sec Dr. .SenV AHH/ary sysfeiu of the Mutaihss. Chapter If. Refer 
to Sloiia ih Magin t niulcr Chutia) 
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dominicms by raiding outside territories, which although 
Maratha in character formed part of Ibe Miislim kingdoais 
of Bijapur, Goikonda and the Mughal Empire. As soon as 
he subjugated a certain portion of these regions, he offered their 
chieftains or leaders the choice of enlirdy coming over to his 
rule or the payment of a fourth of their annual income, for 
which he would thereafter bind hi[n.self not to molest them 

furtlrer and Jilso to protect them from any other co'iqueror. 
Thus tlierc arose a categoiy of .serp):^PQuer€d territories whidi 
paid the Chauth and thereby aclmowledged their aUogiance 
to him, hut for wlxose internal welfare and administraUDu he 
was n£^ directly responsible. It was essential for a conqueroi 
of tire type of Shivaji to find methods of consolidatii^ his 

con<7uests. He had to incur expense for keeping an army of 
occupalion and devised the method of Chauth as an aHema* 
live to sioaiajya, the principle involved in die process being 
that the subjugated peoj^es bore the cost of their protection. 

Students will notice how this same principle was later on 
adopted by the British Governor General Lord Wellesley when 
he formulated his famous Subsidiary Ss^sCem, which was 

nothing but a well-defined and minutely conditioned develop¬ 
ment of the system of Chauth prevalent in the country and 
practised by the Maratha Governors from Shivaji on to 
Nana Phadnia." 

In the hands of Balaji Vishvanath and the succeeding 
Peshwas this system of Chauthai proved a convenient means 

for the rapid expansion of tiie Maratha power, as it had done 
during the reigns of Sambhaji and Rajaram for waging a sue- 
cessful war against Aurangaeb, whose territories they 
on the plea of collecting Chauth. Khandesh, Malwa, Karnatak6»xka» 

and other parts of the Mughal Empire were subjected by the^c-yvl 
Marathas to the levy of Chauth. Aurangeeb never adcnow-<. 
ledged these Maratha claims, nor did the vari()U8 Mughal 

governors of later times, like Niaam-ul-mullr, care to execute/V /.. , 
the formal crants of 1719 which,^ey urged, had been exacted^ i I, 
tinfler prtssure of a military threat. This gave nse to anever- ' 

ending stn^gle tKroi^bounRe eighteenth century between 

9. Note the ca« of the SUte of Sondba, Shiife—C Sakitya III 

No. 497; also ReQade'& JiUt of th€ Mtratha Foum. Chap. DC. 

i V • i ■»' t 
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the Maratha leaders roaming about for the coUectian ot 
Chauth and the M^^hal governors rewsting these claims. The 
history of tiie 18th century of Indian politics is a record of 

this struggle. 

Let us now dispassionately con^der how these instru¬ 
ments worked in practice. On the face of them they amount 

to a d^er djsdmulation between the two opposite parties, 
the Marathas and the Mughals, the latter trying to preserve 
their prestige as suaerain, concealing the important fact of 
their seeking Maratha protection against internal and ex ter 

nal enemies; while the former accepted and avowed specious 
vassalage oi* the position of tiibutary chiefe, outwardly obedi¬ 
ent to the Emperor but in reality possessing the actud power 

of managing the imperial affairs as suited their own interests 
best. The Marathas agreed to serve the Emperor with fifteen 
thousand troops and pay an annual cash tribute of ten lacs. 
In return they were allowed to collect 25% Chauth and 10% 

Sardeshmukhi from the six Subahs of the Deccan which were 
supposed on paper to yield a nominal yeariy revenue of 18 
crores, of which 35% was to go to the Marathas. It is obvious 

that in practice the figures actually realised fell far below the 
paper calculations. Governments like individuals accepting 
foreign protection virtually admit their weakness and conse¬ 
quent loss of liberty. 

10. Origin and evils of Jagirdari.—This collection ot 
Chautbai was the direct cause of Maratha expansion through 

the system of jagirdars of which the merits and evils must 
now be set forth. It was fortunate that Balaji's young son 

Bajirao proved himself capable of enfordi^ the terms con¬ 
tained in the three grants. He got together a band of enthu¬ 
siastic associates, F^war, Holkar. Sindla and others, and 

within a few years managed to expand the Maratha power 
beyond the six Subahs of the south. For this purpose separate 
spheres were assigned as the exclusive preserve set apart for 

each army chiefs independent activity. This practice had be¬ 
come altogether essential during the seventeen years of war 

which the Marathas waged against Aurangxeb over the vast 
region of several thousand square miles between the Narmada 

m the north and Jinji in the south. The necessities of this 
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long war compelled each Maratha leader to act on his own 

initiative and devise whatever mearis he t height best to meet 
the situation in which be found himself. Santaji, DhanAji, 

Parsburam Trimbak, Shankaraji Narayan and a host oi other 
leaders all acted under the nominal direction of Ramchandra- 
pant Amatya at Panhala in Maharashtra and the Chhalrapati 
Rajaram at Jinji in the Kamalak, when practically there was 
no central government nor easy commuoicatton to enforce de¬ 

finite orders and plans on these subordinates. 
Unconsciously a situation came to be developed in the 

course of time in which the Maratha leaders and captains of 
fighting bands, came to establish tlieir sway over distant parts 

of the country and gradually settled down in them as their ow^ 
exclusive spheres of influence. The Ghorpades subjugated 
most of the Kamatak lands south of the ICrishna and received 

the titles of Mamalkat-madar, Hindurao and Amir-ul-umrao. 
KanhojiBhosle, Senasaheb-subah, controlled Berar and Nag¬ 

pur. B^an was seized by the Sarlashkar Nimbalkars. Senapati 
Dabhade established himself in west Khandesh and parts of 
Gujarat, while the Peshwa tried to capture several intervening 
tracts as If to control and supervise the activilies of all in bis 
capacity of the Prime Minister of the State. 

This §iatf of things had come into being before Balaji 
obtained the formal grants at Delhi in 1719, so that most of 
the lands south of the Naimada had been already parcelled 
out among the various Maratha chiefs. Thereafter fresh 

leaders and captains flocked to Shahu'a Court and begged him 
to supply Ihem with fields of work and employment elsewhere. 
The Peshwa's return from Delhi with success gave a new 
Impetus to Maratba aspirations. eroloita" 

tion, expansion and conquest sdzed every youthful-soldier^ 
jpiiid.: ihejBft-hearted obliging king allowed them liberty to . 
spread statlbhcd ffatdsinh Bhosle * ids go3-s(m, at 

A^llKit on the southern frontiers S the.MarafhaJijgdom 
by way of check upon the Nawab of Haidarabad. Patesinh's 

‘descendants are today ruling the small sbte of Akalkot. Shabu'a 
bosom friend and favourite the Pratinidhi was allotted 

a few districts round about .the capital his line today 
holds sway at Aundh. Kanhoji Angre the Sarkhel of Kblaba 

Becaine the naval guardian of the west coast, and his line has 
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become extinct. Each of these leadeii» was supposed to keep 
a certain number of trained lighters for the service of the State 

whenever called upon, to defray hia expenses out of the 
Chauth he collected, and pay the balance into the Govern¬ 
ment treasury rendering regular accounts of Jus transactions 

to the Chhatrapati. 

This was roughly the airangement that was found most 
I convenient by Balaji and the king, 'iliey could not at once 
institute a perfect new system of their own. Tliey^had to 

build upon the system Uiat existed witli the material they Itacl 
at hand. Balaji was nof -oblivTou^of the evils of this arrange¬ 
ment, which later developed into the Maratha system of Jaglrs 
and Saranjams. For the rapid expansion of the Maratha 

,J power no other arrangement could have served so well, Tlie 

jagifdars had no easy task to perform. They had to hold their 
own in a distant land surrounded by enemies and to collect 
Chauthai dues mostly by armed force, which they had to keep 

ready at hand and for which they had to incur hufsg. debts in 
order to pay the wages of their troops. They had all sorts of 
trouble in realizing the expected amounts. Their troops could 

never be paid in time and were always clamorous for their 
pay. 

Shivaji the founder of the Maratha raj had CTP* 

tenanced such a system of jagirs. He made regular cash pay¬ 
ment to hts troops and never alienated the state lands for 
military services, On the contrary he rigoroasly confiscated 
land gifts and inams for government service that^iad 

come down from previous regimes. This salulaiy prin¬ 
ciple of Shivaji was abandoned by Shahu and his Pesh- 
was on account of various considerations. The jagira 
had come into being during the recent war. They could not 

be at once done* away with- Shahu himself owed his position 
to the help which these jagirdars rendered him in the first 

instance, He could not deprive them of their possessions at 
his will. They would have revolted and aeated confusion in 
the midst of the civil war which was not of his seeking. He 

had no regular army of his own for putting down feudal dis¬ 
affection and revolt. The case of Chandrasen Jadhav is a 
glaring Instance of this. 
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But there is no doubt the system carried with it the 
of dtay, although for a time it conduced to the rapid spread 

of theMaratha power. The jagirdar chiefs offered all kinds of 
excuses and troubles when called upon to render service. They 

did not often entertain the stipulated quota of troops and ac¬ 
coutrements ; sent a thousand excuses for non-attendance and 
always^ exhibited the usual separatist tendency and selfishness 
80 ruinous to the interests of the State, Tlieir accounts 
were never perfect, could not be settled from a dis¬ 
tance ' and this fact caused tremandous vexation to 
all concerned. 

But in able liands the system worked admirably. Parti¬ 
cularly the second Pe^vfa Bajirao, possessh^ most of the 
qualities of leadership, personal valour, circumspection, and 

winsome ways, collected a band of young enthusiasts and in 
the short space of a few years succeeded in putting down his 
veteran experienced antagonist Nizam-ul-mulk Asaf Jah, occu¬ 
pied Malwa, Gujarat and Bundelkhand and carried the 
Maratha arms right up to the gates of Delhi under the 
plausible excuse of collecting Chauth. His able comman¬ 

ders soon acquired small hereditary holdings or dependent 
Idngdoms with suitable well fortified catatals of their own. 
Dhar, Dewas, Indore, Ujjain, Gwalior, Saugor, Nagpur, 

Baroda and other towns in non-Maratha regions became es¬ 
sentially IVIaratha colonies which have existed to the present 
day. To hold the Maratha raj together no other method 

covUd have worked so admirably, particularly when distant 
parts were to be held by strength of arms with no military 

roads for easy communication with the seat of the central 
go^nment at Satara, from which reinforcements could be 
sent in case of emergency. The main prep of this system of 

jagirdars was the ^petency of^ the Oihatrapati and the 
Peshwa to exact obediSce. Shahu and Ris first three Peshwas, 

and after the tiiird Peshwa’s death his son Madhavrao suc¬ 
ceeded in keeping the jagirdars under proper check and in 

looking after the numerous concerns of a growing empire with 
strictness and justice. Bui when disorders started in the 
Maratha government after the murder of the Peshwa Nara- 

yanrao, the edifice toppled down for want of a competent 
master. We as students of history should properly weigh the 

M. H. 11—S 
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pros and cons of the system before pronouncing a final judg¬ 

ment on it. 

11. Heredirary Offices._There was also another 
pernicious principle, that of hereditary posts, which liad then 
taken deep root not only in Maharashtra but througliout tlw 
country, and of which students of history must take careful 

note, High and low alike, private or public, looked upon nil 
offices and services as hereditary claims. Wlion an ofijcer, any 
the Senapati, died, his son or other relation claimed the office 

a.s of right, whether he was competejit or not. This practice 
of hereditary appointments to public offices was sternly pul 

down by the wise Shivaji, who looked to merit alone In mak¬ 
ing his selection. But the practice could not be completely 
rooted out from society and was revived during the years of 
the Mughal war with redoubled force. All offices, grants of land 
or cash emoluments of wliatever nature, came to be looked 

upon as personal property, or vatan as it is tenned, to be claim¬ 
ed in hereditary succession in private as well as in pui)lic trans¬ 
actions. A few landed trafon; like those assigned to certain 

village olJidals, the Patil or the Kulkami, had pr<3bai)ly existed 
since ancient times. But however essoiitUl the system might 
have been for village admimstration> it certainly proved harm¬ 

ful to the public service where capacity and efficiency must 
be the essential qualifications. A Senapatl's son, unlike ti\e 
son of a carpenter or goldsmith, was not neGe.^sarily compe¬ 

tent to conduct his father's duties after him. Commanders 
and administrators cannot be produced at will. They have 
Co be trained In external experience. 

To reward a person’s good service is a commendable 

policy; but for a person to claim the same reward for services 
rendered by his predecessors, is an intolerable evil which en¬ 
courages idleness and sloth, kills initiative and niins the 

whole society. Innumerable papers have been publi.shcd in 

Marathi wherein constant applications are seen pouring in. 
the tone and substance of whicli 'may be thus summarized. 

Writes the Peshwa to an applicant,^ 

“You (such and such a person) came and represented 

to us at such and such a place that your father and grand¬ 
father &C. loyally served the State and that you too wish 
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wholeheartedly to continue to do the aame, that you have a 
large family and have no means for th«r support and that 
therefore some lands and villages may be kindly granted to 
you in inam. Taking into consideration this humble prayer, 
it has pleased its to bestow on you the followir^ lands or vil¬ 
lages &c. &c/' 

Thus what at first was granted for loyal and meriloriotis 
service and for valour and sacrifice, came to be demanded for 
maintenance and support of large families, su form of beggary 
which ruined both the State and the recipients of the alms. 
So long as there was a competent Peshwa or master exerdang 
healthy control from above and exacting obedience, the system 

of rewards worked well and yielded satisfactory results, A 
comprehensive and reasoned review of later Maratha activi¬ 
ties alone would correctly explain the results and implications 
of the three memorable imperial grants obtained by the first 
Peshwa in the early months of 1719 and would supply the 
coiTBciive in estimating the worth of the deeds or misdeeds 
of Maratlia nationals workiryj their way to northern India 
during the first half of tire 18th century. 

12. Death of Bfikjz, cbaiaccer estimaced-^Unfortu- 
nately Balaji Vishvanath did not live long enough to put into 

practice whatever aims and intentions he had formed or ex- 
pu’essed during his discussions with the Saiyad ministers and 
with other oflicials in authority at Delhi. While Balaji was 

away on his expedition to the north, Sambhaji of Kolhapur 
seized the opportunity of the Peshwa’s absence to create mis¬ 
chief against Shahu, so that If Balaji had not achieved the 
success he did, some serious trouUe would have ensued in 

Maharashtra. Shahu lost no time in leading his troops against 
Sambhaji, whom he worsted on the Warna near Wadgaon in 
the early months of 1719. Iramediatdy upon his return 
Balaji took possession of Poona and the surrounding districts 

and of those of Kalyan and Bhivandt in north Konltan. 
Shahu and Balaji together carried their arms against Sambhaji 
during the dosing months of 1719 and besieged his capital 

Kolhapur, wthout however putting a permanent stop to Sam- 
bhaji’s nefarious activities. In March 1720, Balaji returned to 
Saswad where the Peshwas had tenporary residence before the 
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palace in Poona came to be constructed. Balaji'a first home was 
at Supa whence he shifted to the shelter of his friends the 
Purandare family at Saswad. Here he suddenly expired on 

2nd April 1720. His age is nowhere mentioned, but may be 
presumed to have neared sixty or probably exceeded it. 

Balaji left behind him his wife Radhabai. a shrewd and re¬ 
vered lady, comin<t from the Barve family, who survived her 

husband for thirty-three years and materially helped the caasc 
of tlie Maratlia raj, which he had toiled to rear up. DurliiR 
the regimes of her son and grandson Radbabai> voice and 
infuence were powerful, particularly in social and religious 

matters, in the construction of the Peshwa’s palace and thoir 
numerous shrines in Poops and outside. She boi'e four diil- 

dren, two sons and two dflugliters, all manied before Balaji’a 
•death, the eldest Visaji alias Bajirao succeeded Balaji in the 
Peshwaship. The second was a brother Antaji alias Chimnaji 
Appa who became equally famous with his brother in manag- 

irig the affairs of the Maratha State. Next came a 
•daughter named Anubai married to Vyankatrao Ghorpade of 
IchaUtaranji. where her descendants are still ruling a ^unall 

prinapallty under the Kolhapur jurisdiction. This Anubai was 
a great favourite of the two brothers who ever tried to please her 
with gifts of rare cloths and fancy articles. The youngest was 

a daughter named Bhiubai married to Abaji Naib Joshi of 
Baromati. Bajirao was oiarried to Kashibal daughter of Maha- 
daji Krishna Joehi of Cbas, a rich banker who had helped 
Shahu in his difficulties and whom the Chhatrapati appointed 
his treasurer. Chimnaji Appa was probably two or three years 

younger than Bajirao and was married to Ralchmabai sister 
of Trimfaakrao Pethe, known later as TVimbakrao Mama who 

■commanded the Peshwa's force in many subsequent cam¬ 
paigns. The two brothers Bajirao and Chimnaji were cxtie- 
mely attached to eaclx other and much of thbir success in 

political life is due to the wise drcumspection and enthusiastic 
•co-operation they rendered to each other through weal and 

woe. The whole family of these Peshwas had handsome fea- 
ttires and a very fair complexion. 

The phenomenal success which the Peshwas attained 

in their careers is in no small measure due to the development 
of diaracter and enterprise ao rigidly enforced paihculariy by 
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the ladiee in the domestic Ufe of the Peshwa's paJecc and its 
surroundings, a feature which rapidly pervaded the upper 

strata of Maharashtrian society for nearly a century, In severe 
contrast to the decadent life of the contemporary Muslim 
households. 

Balaji Vi&hvanaLh was entir^y a self-taught man. 
Zt was under KamdiandrapaDt Amatya that he r^ved 
his befit • training in the politics of the day and in 

the organisation of national resources by aclualiy handle 
ing different problems and temperaments. He not only 
studied the Maratha character and capadty, but be was 

as intimately acqu^nted with the life and ways of the Mughal 
Court and its agents. Thus it was Balajl alone who could 
chalk out the future course of Maratha policy. He observed 
the last days of Aurangzeb and foresaw that the best chance 
for the Maratha nation lay In upholding ^ahu in preference ^ 

to Tarabai: He seconded Dhanaji Jadhav and secure “or"* 
co-operatjon of other prominent individuals and families. 

sucH' as the Purasdares; the' Bokils, &c. Kbanderao Dabhade, 

Pareoji and Kanhojl Bhosle, and Shankaraji Malhar were his 
inttm^'ralleagues. He also secured the doancial support of 
most of Che bankers of the day through friendship or family 

connection, so that he could cope with the treachery of 
Chandras^ Jadhav and Damaji Thotat. It is futile to at¬ 
tempt to discover in him any special genius like that of Shivaji. 
but barring such exceptional and gifted personalities, one 
mi^t put down Balaji Vishvanatli as a statesman of a^high 

order, comparing favourably with Che other eminent persona- 
im€^o[ his day. Sir Richard Temple remarks:— ' 

He was more like a typical Brahman than any of bis 

successors. He bad a calm, comprehen^ve and commanding 
intellect, an imaginative and aspiring disposition, an aptitude 
for ruling nide nature by moral force, a genius for diplomatic 

combinatioo, a mastery of finance, hh political destiny pro¬ 
pelled him into affairs wherein his misery must have been 
acute. More than once be was threatened with death for 

wliich he doubtiess prepared himself with all the stoicism of 
his race when a ransom opportunely arrived. He wrung by 

power of menace and .a^ument from the Mughals a recogni¬ 
tion of Maratha sovereignty, He carried victoriously all his 
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diplomatic points and sank into premature death with the 

consciousness that a Hindu Empire had been created over the 
ruins of Muhammadan power and that of this ICiapire the 

hereditary chiefship had been secured for his family.. 
T!ie following contemporary estimate of the high re\*erence 

in which this Pesbwa was held is available. "Tlic most 
ardent de&re of Balajipant Nana was to «cure the weal and 
pcosperity of the common masses and to this aim he studious* 

iy devoted all his powers of head and heart. We restored 
peace and plenty to the Maratha territory which had been 
utterly ruined by the long devastating war. He put down 

with a liigh hand all turbulent elements and rcpopulated the 
country by means of special concessions. Thus the ryots 
came to look upon Nana as their great benefactor, His fame 
spread in uncommon measure to all quarters.*’” 

Some critics have charged this Peshwa with sowing the 
seeds of ruin of the Maratha State by departing from the wise 

constitution laid down by the founder. It is contended that 
the thi^ instruments which Balaji brought from Delhi were 
iK>thing short of shackles of slavery inasmuch as they ac¬ 
knowledged the Emperof*8 supreme power. It has already 

been explaii^ how circumstances justified the policy of Balaji 
for securing Maratha expansion by aidii^ the Saiyad brothers. 

An exact parallel can be discovered in Clive's acceptajice of 
the Diwani of Bengal leaving mere phantom power in the liaiids 

of the Emperor. The British secured the substance and con¬ 
tinued to utilise the Emperor's name long aftei* he had become 
quite a non-entity. Even their currency continued to be issued 
in the Emperor’s name right upto 1835. By offering Maratha 
help to the Emperor Balaii secured real power, a plan which 

deserves to be acclaimed as consummate. He succeeded iri 
cutting a new path out of a vicious drde of civil war and 
stagnation. For the ultimate fall of the Maratha State Balaji 
can in no way be held responsible. 

10, Oriental Expcnencei pp. 38d-d0. 
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CHAPTER in 

1700 Amtust 18 
1720 April 17 
1720 June 10 
1720 July 'S\ ' 

1720 October d 

1720 November 14 

1720 Decumber IS 

1721 January ‘I 
1721 F<d>iuaiy 

1721 October 21 
1722 January 
1722 October 2 

1722 December 5 
172S February 13 
1723 May 15 

1723 December 23. 

1724 

1724 May 18 
1724 June 11 
1724 July 27 

1724 September 30 

1725 June 20 

1726 September 21 
1734 Auguet 25 

dajirao bom. 
Baji Pao appointed Pealiwa. 
Battle of Rataninir, Diluwar AU Killed. 

Battle of Balapur, Alam All killed. Shankaiaji 
Malhar died. 

Saiyad Musain All murdered. 
Salyad Abdulla cunfmed Cpat to death on 

nth October 1722). 
The Mugbale deTcaled by the Marathas on the 

GodfivarL 
Bajirao and Niram meet at Chikhalthan. 
Waiir Amin Khaii dies. 

Nizam leaves Deccap for DelU. 
Nizam becomes Wazlr. 
Nizam starts for Malwa. 
Bajirao meets Aiwaz Khan in Khandeah. 

Bajirao and Nizam meet at Bolagha. 
Nizsm*ul'mulk returns to Delhi. 
Nlam*ul*molk resigns Wasirship and marches 

to the south. 
Mubari2 Klian opens war upon Shahu. 

Bajirao and Nizam meet at Naldihz. 
Niaam possession of Aurangabad. 

Qamr*u4 din Khan becomes Wazir. 
Nizam wins victory st Fateh Kherda; Muba* 

rlz Khan killed. Nisam assumes mdepend- 

eoce. Entertains Baji Rao at Aunmiabad. 
Ernpemr confirms Deccan U> the Nizsm. 

Khanrio Balial Chitnis died. 
Amfaaji Purandsre died. 
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CHAPTER in 

NIZAM AND BAJIRAO, FIRST CONTACT 

£1720—1724} 

1 inv«sUC(i{« «nd ii( i MncAthi claiiw 
CAuri N{are*ul*mulk, 

2 FaU tyf th« Broihcta, 'i fiAjirao with u new 
dnngor. 

9 Nisaa wjeru indftpeadence. 

1. Iflvesdture and position ac Court._Balaji’s sudden 
death was indeed a national loss, but Shahu had spedai 

reasons to mourn it since he owed his position and fortune 
entirely to this devoted servant. Happily for the Maratha 
nation, however, Bajirao then 19 years of age had been asso¬ 

ciated with his father in all hie later movemeots, indudiog the 
expedition to Delhi, and liad closely watched its implications. 
The general opinion considered him to be a raw, inexperienced 

and impetuous youth, because none had yet any occasion to 
judge the genius that he possessed. But Shahu was a shrewd 
judge of men and possessed the power of dctadied observation, 

lifc often acted on his own intuitive but unerring judgment 
and now did not tales long to make up his mind on the ques¬ 

tion of appointing a successor to the departed Feshva. He 
always appreciated tlie adventurous spirit of a youthful and 
aspiring soul and reserved to invest Bajirao with the responsi* 

We office of the Prime Minister. 
Many a veteran of Shahu'a Court possessing experience 

and merit was not prepared to support or acquiesce in sitcb a 
choice. Shripatrao Pratiuidhi, Anandrao Sumant, Naro Ram 
Mantri, Khanderao Dabhade, Kanhoii Bhosle and others of a 

similar bent of mind, opposed the appointment with all the 
vehemence they possessed. What irritated them most was the 
idea ^at they would have to be controlled and commanded by 
a young lad of Bajiiao’s type. Shahu properly gauged this 
feeling of the public and was at a loss to silence ^e clamour 

of his courtiers and advisers. He also realised the usual pre¬ 
judice against the Chitpavan Brahmans coming from the 
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Konkan, and attaining prominence. In such a dilemma Shahu 

took all his immediate courtiers into his confidence and made 
a personal appeal to one and all to support the cJjoice which 
his mature thought and best judgment dictated. One parti* 

cular merit he urged upon all was the resourceful character oF 
Balaji and his family, saying that they would carry to success 

every venture that they undertook, and timt they would never 
accept discomhture, whatever the odds againsit them. IlisU^ry 

proved that Shahu was right. 

The robes of Peshwa?hip were conferred upon Bajirao in 
Shahu's camp at Masur, SO milts east of Satara on 17th April 
1720, exactly a fortnight aflcr iiis father’s death, l^or this 

purpose he held a special Darbar and asited the ^ussembUige 
to give a cordial supjwrt to the course he was following, and 
assured them at the same time that if Bajirao proved un* 

worthy in his future plans and actions, he would himself 
remove him and make a fresh appointment. But to place 
Bajitao in the post, was the only way, Shahu explained, in 

which he could repay the heavy debt of gratitude he was 
under to the deceased Pc»<]iwa Balajipant Nana. 

Bajirao fully entered into Che spirit of the time^ij and was 
intimately acquainted with the policy and measuren Of his 
father. He posseasod, as the great historian Grant Duff puts [ 

Jt^the head to plgji.and tbe’Kand' lo execute. He had fully j 
^uired the traditional training in athletics an? horsemanship, 
was well versed in reading, writing and accounts, and conver* 

sant with the ancient Sanskrit learning then current among 
the Brahman class, The members of Balaji’s family were all 
smart and intelligent and generally possessed handsome 

features in addition to courteous manners, which produced a 
favourable Impression wherever they went. This was parti¬ 
cularly the case with Bajirao, whose visits to Niram-ul-mullc 
arc known to have evoked a peculiar enthusiasm among the 
crowds of the places through whjcli he passed. It is recorded 

that when this Brahman wanior of thirty whose name had 
become famous tlirou^out India for valour and diplomacy 

and who had so quickly overcome such experienced officers of 
the Mughal court as Giridhar Bahadur, Daya Bahadur and 
Muhammad Khan Bangash, rode through ^e cities of Au* 

rangabad, Burhanpur, Ujjain and Jaipur, crowds of men and 
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women instantly flocked to their windows to have a view of 
this remarkable f^ure. Such striking quaJilies as Bajirao 
possessed are rarely to be met with, 

The life stories of Shivaji and Sambhaji, of Rarachandra- 

pant Amalya and Santaji Ghorpade were, we may be sure, 
well-known to Bajirao and must have inspired him to deeds of 
valour and sacrifice, for reaping the fullest advantage of Uie 
great war of independence, in the midst of which hU father 
the first Peahwa had lived his life of hazard and unrest, 

Bajirao’s training and mentality can he conectly gathered from 
the la^ number of published and e^ttant letters and papers, 
which a recent calculation reveals to be more than 3,500 in¬ 
clusive of the official correspondence of all die Maratha writers 
and workers of that period. Of these at least five hundred are 
from the pen of Bajirao and his brother alone.* It is certain 
that a considerably la^ei' number has perished throt^h the 

action of time and neglect. But what remains is sufficient to 
enable a student to arrive at a correct estimate of his life and 

work. 
Bajirao possessed a robust and hardy constitution. His 

younger brother Chimoaji was, however, most unlike him in 
this respect. He constantly suffered from cold, cou^ and 
asthma. His mother and near relations always entertained 

great fears about his health and frequently cautioned him on 
that score, The two brothers did their utmost to win the 
lavour and good opinion of their master Shahu, and with this 
object kept some one in their own confidence about the royal 
person, not only to keep him fully informed of all that was 
happening outside, but to courrteract any adverse influence or 

counsel which their numerous opponents at Court were apt 
to exercise on the open, pliant and imsuspectii^ mind of 
Shahu. For to Bajirao and his brother their master's full 

1. Of these 3^00, about S.100 aie dated and the remaining 400 

have 00 dates. Moreover, only S50 of these pertain to the fiist eisht 

years of Bajirao’s Rgrae; end over 2,800 to Ibe last 12 years. Abooc 

900 belong to the vara and affaire of the west coast. By far titt maj« 

portion of these letiecr has been ooly recently discovered in the Peshw&'s 

Daftar and published by the Bombay Govemraeat No accurate and 

connected account Bajirao could have been written befoec these letters 

came to light 



6S NEW HISTORY OF THR MARAT HAS t VOL. 11 

support and implicit confidence were essential lor their success 

abroad. It was 8 practice in those days to appoint a Mutalik 
or deputy-ministcr for every cabinet post. When the chief 
was out on duty, it was the Mutalik who acted for him at 

Court for the execution of orders and measures coming for the 
King's consideration. Ambajlpant Puiandare was made Ins 
Mutalik when Bajirao was invested with Che Peshwasliip and 

continued to support him loyally right up to his death in 1734. 
and so did his relative? after him. 

Tlie Konkanastha Peahwa family and that of the 
Deshastha Purandares, ihougli diltering in their origlDi wero 

closely attached to each other, a fact lo which mucli of the 
Peshwa’s success is certainly due. When both Bajirao and 
Ambaji had to be away on duty abroad, Chimnaji Appa re¬ 

mained with Sliahu as the keeper of his conscience. In a few 
years when the young son of Bajirao, Balaji alias Nanasaheb, 
was grown up, he used to remain at Satara and thus relieve 

Chimnaji for work outside. The Peshwas had another strong 
supporter at Court in the revered saint Bralimendra Swami, 

whose role in the war against the Siddi of Janjira will be ex¬ 
plained in a subsequent chapter, and who wielded great influ¬ 

ence by reason of his being the guru to Shahu and to several 
members of his Court. The veteran IChando Ballal Chitnis 

was Shahu’s obedient secretary, regularly submitted papers 
and petitions for orders and co-ordinated the work of the 
various officers engaged in distant expeditions and matters of 

state. When Khando Ballal died in 1726, his son Govindrao 
took the father's place and performed his duty with zeal and 

probity for a long time. Govindrao, a shrewd and loyal sup¬ 
porter of the Peshwas, carried out with candour and persua¬ 
siveness the Kingr's orders in a sweet conciliatory spirit, always 

trying to secure the highest good of the State. 

Immediately on receiving the robes of office Bajirao 
formed his own band of devoted followers of equal age and 

companionship. There was doubtless a large pdiiy of elder? 
around Shabu's person whose susceptibalities Bajirao cautious¬ 
ly avoided offending. But there was also a large number of 
youngsters whom he managed to attract by his brilliant and 
vigorous policy, and who followed his lead with devotion and 

intelligence. The Purai^ates, the Bhanus, the Bokils, the Iling- 
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jieSk the Pethes, and other lamtlies that were to attain promin¬ 

ence In later days now joined heartily in Bajirao'a undertakings 
and largely contributed to his success. One of Shahu’s ex* 
perienced favourites was Pilaji Jadhav, who at the instance of 
his master offered bi$ sincere co-operation to Bajirao. Pilaji’s 
genial temper and shrewd foresight proved immensely Ivdpful 

to Bajirao'a early acUvities, and even later on Pilaji continued 
his best endeavours to support Bajirao in several arduous 

campaigns and delicate missions. Fateh Sinh Bhosie was an¬ 
other great favourite of Shahu and was brought up by him 
almost as his heir-apparent. He possessed an upright and 
honest character, was coi^ious of his own limitations, and 
the two being nearly of the same age be fell in readily with 
Bajirao’s views and never raised a dissentient voice. 

2. Fall of the Saiyad Brothers,—The new Emperor 
Muhammad Shah whom the Saiyad brothers had raised to tbe 
throne (in 1719), soon started against them the same old 
intrigues to ruin their power. How those imperial concerns 

affected Bajlrao's plans at the beginning of his career is a 
question that deserves careful consideration. Chin Qilich 
Khan Kiaam-ul-mullc, the only powerful opponent of the 

Saiyads at Court, was Ihen appointed by them to the govern¬ 
ment of Malwa. He left Delhi on IStli March 1719 and after 
reaching Ujjain collected a number of troops ostensibly 
to drive away the Mamtbas from Malwa, but in reality to 
put down the Saiyads at an opportune moment. His cousin 
Mtihammaj Amin Khan, an equally powerful noble, who was 

the Governor of Agra, also prepared for a contes; afainst 
Saiyads.**^ F^ing extremely alarmed at developments tlie 
^yads decided to take the offensive and despatched with 
adequate provision, Dilawar Ali IChan, one of their own 
trusted and spirited partirans, to put down Nlsam-ul-mulk, 

and at the same time instructed their cousin Alam Ali IChan, 
then the Subahdar of the Deccan, to march from Aurangabad 
with ail his armed forces towards so that, it was 
arran^, NiKun-ul-mulk might be ’oushed between the 

millstones of ihe two powerful armies, one under Dilawar Ali 
marching fiom the north and the other under Alam All 
marching from the south. These movements suddenly plung- 
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cd Che central and aoutheirt provinces of India into a severe 
panic. The Emperor and his mother, intendini; the ruin of the 

Saiyads, wrote, personal letters to Nizam-ul-mulk urging him 
with promises of honours and rewards CO release them from the 
tyranny of those powerful Saiyad ministers : the i\vo yoyClis 

DUawar All and Alam Aii were quite equal to the task en- 
trusted to them, but lacked coolness and circimu^tion agoinst 
the tactful and consummate veteran Nuam^uUmulk, calculat¬ 

ing and collected to a degree, who arranged his mo^'es with 
the utmost caution. He was recalled l>y the Saiyads to Delhi, 
but he declined to obey Che summons and proceeded inKtcacI 
to the south, crossing the Narmada in May 1720. i.e.. ju«t 
when Bajirao had received tlic robes of the Pcshwasiip. 

Nisam-ul-mulk managed to take possession of A»rgad, a fort 
that guarded the gate of the south and entrufited It to the care 
of his son Ghaziuddin. Thereafter ho took his post at Bur- 

hanpur on the north bank of the Tapti river. Here Aiwas 
i^n from Berar came and joined him. 

Alam All learned of these aggressive moves of Nizam-uU 
mulk and at once despatched Anwar IChan and l^o Kambha 

to recapture Asirgad and Burhanpur. As these two chiefs 
came within range of hia moving forces, Niaajn-uUmulIc cap* 

lured and kept them both in confinement. Alam All him¬ 
self left Aurangabad early in June wilh a view to joining 
Dllawar Ali. who had crossed the Narmada near Handia and 

was coming upon the Nizam with great impetuosity. The 
Nizam decided to prevent their junction by all means and 
bring about their destruction by meeting them separately. 

Botluthe antagonists solicited the Peshwa's help : but Shf^u 
ordered Bajirao to remain neutral and watch the garne from 
a distance so as to turn it to lus own advantage. 

Nisam-ul-mulk took post near Ralanpur, about 30 miles 
north of Burhanpur and not far from the present railway 
station of Khandwa. Dilawar Ali on the other hand instead 

of waiting for the arrival of Alam Ali from the south, and 
finding the NUam ready for a fight, at once attacked him 
rashly on 19th June and suffered a crushing defeat after three 

hours of severe fighting. Dilawar Ali himself with most of hi? 

followers was killed and Niaam-uUmulk gained a decisive 
victory. Tlie battle is known in history as that of Khandwa. 
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Mam All who was then nearing Bitrhaupur^ felt extremely 
confused at the news of Dilawar Ali’i; fall, whfle I^isaiQ'UU 

rniiUc now flushed with victory and playing his game with 
deep calculation, without allowing himself test, marched 
against Alam AU and did not give him time either to retreat 
or to rearrange his battle front and plan of action. Nuam'Ul- 
muUc arrived at Burhanpur on 27th Juoc and wrote to Alani 

All that he cherished no hope oi obtaining the Subabdah of the 
Deccan and only wauled to visit Mecca to end bis days there 
peacefully, after discharging his troops and settling his mone* 
liiry OffairR. 

Alam All was strongly advised by bis own intimate friends 
and by his Maratha ailies not to rkk a battle in the midst of 

the severe rains that had started, but to retire to a convenient 
position towards Aurangabad or even back to Ahmadnagar, 
continuing to harass the enemy during the interval after the 
Maratha fashion. Alam AU, however, did not accept this 
advice and developed his own strategy. The Nizam played a 

cool game. The two armies marched towards Balapur along 
the flooded river Puma, the Nizam by the northern bank and 
Alam All by the southern. The former soon managed to cross 

over by means of a bridge of boats and came face to face with 
Alam Ali in the environs of Balapur. The latter had lor his. 
alUe.s a Maratha contingent led by Khaaderao Dabhade, 
Santaji Sinde, Kanhoji Bhosle and others numbering about 

V/18.000 in all. Tbe Saiyads' agent Shankaraji Maihar did his 
best to bring Maratha support to Alam Ali much against 
Shahu’s explicit orders. On 10th August 1720 Alam Ali In a 

high spirit of personal valour and self-confldence, led an atta^ 
upon the Nizam’s position. Fighting with desperate courage 
he received a mortid wound from a bullet while goading his 

elephant, which had got out of control, At this critical mo¬ 
ment one of the Nizam's captains rushed upon the mad ele* 
phant, cut off Alam All’s head and carried it to his master in 
great triumph. "Hie general being thus killed, all his followen 

fell fighting for him on the field of battle, giving a decided 
victory to the Nizam. Shankaraji Maihar who was also in the 
thick of tbe fight became wound^ and was captured alive. lie 

died a few days later. The Marathas lost altogether about 700 
men in their ardent endeavour to save the day for Alam All. 
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The victories of Khandwa and Balapur within a few 

weeics of each other at once created an important change in 
the politics and history of India, as they marked the beffin^ 
ning of the Saiyad Brothers’ fall from power and the rise of 

tlieir opponent Nizam-iil-mullf. * Most of Alam AU’s followers 
such as Mubariz Khan, Turk*Taz IQian and others, as also 

his Maratha allies submitted to the victorious Nizam and 
offered him their homage and congratulations, The Nizjim 
possessed a wonderfully discreet and thoughtful tempenunenl. 

He treated Alam All's family and relations with kindness and 
-courtesy, gave them pensions for support, and assured them 
that he was their best friend and that having won his object, 
he had no longer any personal rancour towards them. It was 
this policy of the Nizam to win, the good opinion even 

of his endtftle, which in the long run helped him to 
gain success in his attempt to carve out an independent 
kingdom. 

The news of the defeat and death Of Alam Ali following 

close upon that of Dilawar AU, threw the Saiyads into utter 
consternation- The root cause of their ruin was the clever 
and insidious intrigue of the two cousire^ Amin Khan and 
Nizam-ul-mulk, both acting in perfect concert to encompass 

the Saiyads’ fall. They were secretly instigated by the Em* 
perof who pretended to march against the rebellious Nizam 
and asked Saiyad Husain Ali to accompany him, leaving 

Abdulla at DelU. Thus the two brothers came to be separate 
ed. The Emperor left Agra on 11th September lor Jaipur, 
all the while secretly plotting to murder Husain AU at an 
opportune momenl. As the party were camping at a spot 
about 60 miles east of Jaipur, Saiy^ Husain Ali was suddenly 

assassinated on 8th October 1720 by agents instigated by 
three high officers of the Emperor. Overjoyed at this event 

the Emperor , held a grand Darbar and distributed presents to 
those who had contrived to bring it about. He at once ap¬ 

pointed Muhammad Amin JChan to the Wazirship and retraced 
his steps towards Delhi. During the march the Emperor was 
joined by Muhammad Khan Bangaah, another powerful 

opponent of the Saiyads. Abdulla thus left alone fell an easy 
prey to his enemies. He did his best to oppose the Emperor 

for a time but after his devoted Hindu casMer Katan Chand 
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had been put to death, Abdulla also came to be captured and 
imprisoned on 14th November. He was put to death alter 
about two years* coalinement, on llth October 1722. 

3. Maiacha daims opposed by Ni2afn*ul*muik,— 
After tlxe fail of the Saiyad brolliers the Peshwa and his 
colleagues at Sbahu’s Court reallad that they stood on jdip- 
pery ground as regards the execution of the imperial giants 

that hod been obtained by Balaji Vishvanath and which, they 
wdl knew, Nizani*ul*mulk and the other membae of the 
Einperot's Court would strorigly oppose. Moreover, Nizam-ul* 
mulk was not the man easily to forget that the Marathaf; h^ 
helped Aiam Ali at Balapur. He, howevr, at this time showed 
not the least irritation towards the Maiathas. On 15th Octo¬ 

ber 1720 Bajirao’s cousin and agent Malhatrao Barve thus 
reported from Delhi, "Saiyad Husain Ali Khan has been 
murdered by Amin IChan. The field is now open. You must 
not allow your enemies to capture it." In this letter the ambas¬ 

sador suggests that steps must be taken to counteract the evil 
effecte of fall of Qieir supporters the Saiyads, At Oils very 
moment Mubariz l^han wrote pre^ii^ly to the Nlsam from 

Haidarabad, that "Maratha pressure for collectii^ Chauth 
was daily increasing in that part of the Karnatak, and that it 

must be promptly put down by th^ joint efforts." Nizam- 
ul-mulk took the hint and employed Chandrasen Jadhav to 
instigate Sambhaji of Kolhapur to prefer daims for Chauth 
similar to those which Shahu and his Peshwa were already 

trying to enforce. Thereupon Nizam-ul-mulk informed Bajirao 
that as he had received demands from Sambhaji sinuUr to 
his, he did not know who the rightful claimant was; and as the 
domestic dispute between Shahu and Sambhaji had not been 

’Sttled, he would withhold the payment, until the issue bet¬ 
ween them was decided. 

' This fresh development, a devi«.of Niiam-ul-mulk, be¬ 
came a positive imp^ment to Se realization ofMaratha 
claims. Shahu had already directed his Sarlashtar Sultanji 

Nimbalkar to collect Chauthai from the regions between the 
Godavari and Aurangabad. Nuam-ul-mulk accepted the chal¬ 
lenge and despatched Chandrasen, Rap Rambha and Muhkam 

Sinh against the Sariashkar. A severe batde took place on 

M. H. II—6 
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15th December 1720 in which SuUanji obuined a decisiv'o 
victory over the Mughals. 

About this time SKshu and Bajirao held a consultation 

together about the attitude they should hereafter adopt to¬ 
wards Nizam-ul*mulk’s refusal to respect the l£mper<jr a 
grants. Bajirao advocated an Immediate armed conflict as 

the only effective remedy for a final decision. He siiid. 
" IL h the duty of the Pc8liw« to undertake such ventures. 
If I cannot assert myself, I havt no right to llic UigU dignity 

of that office. 1 only crave Your Highness’ cornmnixls. 
Do order me U‘ go against the enemy, and see what 1 can do 
under your blesungs. 1 will put down this Nisam-uhmulk and 
assert our claims throughout north India, wliorc my revered 
fatlici* bad eatablisl^ed political connections with llie Itajput 

princes.” Upon this representation Shahu gave Bajira<3 the 
necessary permiadon and asked him first to meet the Nn:am 
personally and try if the dispute could be amicably settled.- 

Anandrao Sumant, Shahu's foreign secretary, went to the 
Nizam and arianged the place and time for the Peshwa’s visit. 
Accompanied by Pilaji Jadhav. Khanderao Dabhadc, Kanh^ 

%/Bho.Kle and Faleh.sinh Blio.de with their full qu^itaK of trooj^n, 

Bajirao proceeded to Chikhalthan. a few miles cast of Chalis- 

gaum, where a meeting took place between him and Nisam-ul- 
mulk on 4th Januaiy 1721. For four daya all the pomp oi 
a gr^d ceremonial visit daarled the spectators. <7rcetlngs 

and presents were lavishly exchanged : long discussions on vital 
questions took place; but so far as actual results wem con^ 

cemed, all this proved of no avail. Bajirao concluded that 
the Nizam would not yield the Maraths claims unless com¬ 

pelled to do so by force of arms, Shahu and Bajirao'a mother 
having apprehended danger trom a personal meeting of the 
two chiefs, showered hearty congratulations upon the Peshwa 
for the visit having passed off quietly without any untoward 
incident. 

Soon after this visit Bajirao went his own way and the 
Nisam and his trusted lieutenant Mubarlz Khan fumed their 

attention to tlie KarnaUk, where the Marathas had been as¬ 
serting their power for some time past. Mubaria IChan who 

2, CbUini^ Life fif Shahu. p. -tS. 
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bore a bitter enmity towards the Marathas, was a formidable 

antagonist for them, having worked successfully and efficiently 
for several years in the government of Gujarat and Malwa 
and having been specially commissioned by the previous 
Emperors to punish the Marathas for their eneroachment.* 
Thus in 1721 these two powerful chiefs, Nizam-ul-mullc and 

Mubaris Khan became Bajirao's bitter c^onents. 

4. l^ajino faced with a new danger.^Muhammad 
Amin Khan whom the Emperor had appointed his Waair upon 
the fall of the Saiyads, died in February 1721, within a few 
monlhi* of his receiving tlie office. A vacancy was thus created 

for filling wliich the Emperor considered none amoi^ the 
elderly noblemen at Court, so well fitted by character and capa¬ 
city as Niaam-ul mulk, who was not at all keen on playing 
a part in the Central Government. The Waarship was not 
a bed of roses as recent experience had amply proved. Such 
powerful men a.s Zulfiqar Klian and the Saiyada had to pay 
for it with their lives. The frequent changes of government 

since the death of Aurangiseb had clearly disclosed to public 
view the decadent condition of the Mughal power. The Em¬ 

peror with a view to improving his position begged Niaam*u!- 
mulk to come and accept the Wasir’s post and do all be could 
to uphold the prestige of the Chaghfai dynasty. For some time 
the Nizam hesitated. His friend and counsellor Mubariz 
Khan also pressed him not to leave the Deccan. But the 

Emperor continued to repeat his call, so that k became im¬ 
possible for Nizam-ul^nulk to resist his master’s wishes. At 
last he entrusted the government of the Deccan to Mubariz 
Khan as his deputy and left Aurangabad on 21st Oetdier 1721 
for Delhi, 

Once more the Nizam'S transfer to Delhi meant a break 
in the arrangements fte Marathas had effected as to their 

claims. They were destined to suffer further disturbances on 
account of the Nizam's insecure tenure of the Wazirship. He 

reached Delhi in January 1722 and w-as formally invest^ with 

3. This Khen 1$ mmtionfid under venous n&mea in Marathi pap«i». 

Hia original name waa Aananat Khan. Farrukhefyar conferred « him the 

title of Mubari* Khan and appointed hiin the Na^ of Haidarabad, an 

office which he heW for many year^ 
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the Wazir’a robes on 13 February Wlovving. During the nest 

ten months that he held this office, he found that lie could not 
pull well together with his master who cared for nothing be¬ 

yond personal pleasures. They soon so severely disagreed that 
Niaam-uUmunc tound his portion intolerable and had to part 
company finally, Kls clever moves during this disagreement 

and the plans he was Intent on pursuing during the next two 
years, affected the Maratlia interests vitally. Nbam-ul-mulk’s 
ambition was to break away from .the Empire and secure for Si' an independent position in tlie Deesan with, if possible, 

\ and Gujarat added to It, For Malwa. was die doorway 

to the south. He began with this object to consolidate his pusl* 

don but in this daring plan he encaunlered opposttton not only 
from the Marathas, but from tiie two Rajput rulers of Jaipur 

and Mar war, who coveted for themselves Malwa and Gujarat 
respectively, The Nferathas also had planted their power in 
these two province and were not going to give up their hold 

easily in the Deccan either. His agents at Delhi kept Bajiiao 
fully informed of the Niaam's discussions wjtli the Emperor 
and the schemes and projects he was there forming. 

Towards the end of 1722 Nisam-ul-mulk collected a large 
force and arrived in Malwa, having given out that he 

intended to drive the Maralhas out of that province. This 
was a cUisct challenge to Bajirao who resdEy accepted it and 
proceeded into Mdwa with adequate preparations. But no 

open clash between him and Niaam-ul-mulk then took place. 
Both were eager to avoid direct hosdlides and arranged 
through intermediaries for a second peraonal meeting in order 

to reach some basis of adjustment and peaceful settlement. 
They had a week’s conference from 13th February 1723, at 
Bolasha, about 25 miles south of Dohad on the borders of 

Malwa and Gujarat. Jt is not recorded what actual condu* 
siona were formed during the meeting : it is not wrong to 
infer, however, that once more they tried to conceal their real 

aims from each other tinder a profuse display of good will and 
•complimentary ceremonial. How could two oppodte extremes 
of aggression meet ? At this and other meetings of a similar 

•character ample warning was conveyed to Bajirao of a possible 

Attempt on his life. But he always put on a bold appearance. 
On the present occasion, it is recorded, that he had consulted 
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a Muslim Fakir named Jyotlliiig Bawa and obtained an assur¬ 
ance from liim that no harm wouid lesuit from tiie meeting.^ 

During the period between February and May 1723 
Njzam-ul-mulk efteclcd a Idnd of loose hold upon Malwa and 
CUijarat and returned to Delhi to explain to the Kinpeior wliat 
he had accomplished in restraining the aggresave Marathas. 
But the disagreement between them assumed the same violent 
form as that which had grown a few years ago between 
FaiTuldisiyfir nixl tlie Saiyads. The Kmpercr getting alarmed 

at the growing power of Nisam-ul-mulk now in possession of 
Ihivo large provmcef*, Malwa, Gujarat and the Dcccaa trans¬ 
ferred him to the Kovemment of Oudh In order to ward off 

the danger. This irritated Nisaiit'ubmidk so bitterly diat on 
27th December 1728 lie resigned i\h Waairship in disgust and 

under pretence of proceeding to his new charge of Oudh, 
marched straight to the south, informing the Emiieror that lie 
felt it his imperative duty to drive away the Marathas from 
Malwa and Gujarat. By long and rapid marches he quickly 
reached UJiain, little dreaming that he would have to en¬ 

counter there the Peshwa in full force. In the meantime the 
Emperor decided to punish the rebel> nominated Mubari? 

Khan to the government of tbe Deccan, and called upon him 
and Faja Sl^u to do their best to put down the Nizam 
with all the forces at their command. This proved a welcome 

opportunity to Bajirao. Having been securateTy intonned hy 
h*xs agenT5 at” Deferol the Nizam’s activites, Bajirao left 
Satara in January 1724 and passing some time in north Kban- 
desh, organizing his forces, crossed the Narmada on 8th May, 

and arrived in close proximity to the Nizam's camp at Sihore. 
Mubariz Khan had in tbe meanwhile fallen into 

grave doubts as to what attitude he should adopt in the con¬ 
test that was developing between the Emperor and the Nizam. 

Should he join the larier and punish the Maratbas or should 
he execute the Emperor's commands by putting down the 
Nizam ? The thr^ portiei had.their own personal objective 

and watched the situation with caution. Sf^bu alone aneercly 
tried for peace, for averting open hostilitiGs and reconciling the 

conflichsg interests. During February Shahu sent 

4. p. D. s. 10. 2S, 
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round urgent calls to his Sardare to come with all their troops 

as hostilities were imtnineiit against the Mughal Chief o! 
Bhaganagar, that is, Mubariz Khan, to whom he despatched 
lus ambassador Anandrao Sumanl offerir^ a Ijasis lor peace 

and declaring that if those terms were rejected, hcjs^ti lilies 
would be immediately opened. Shahu and his Court deter¬ 

mined to reap the best advantage out of tlie ensuing coiilesi 
provoked by the Nizam. 

A very important paper printed as No. 1 of the P. P. 

Volume 10, gives scjme clue to Ihe Maratha aims and their 
attitude towards this three-sided contest. A broatl and im¬ 
perative call by Shahu repeatedly occurs in this dncunuml 

enjoining the well-wishers of the Empen): "to put down litis 
rebel Nisam-ul-inulk by joining their forces with those of Haja 
Shahu.’' The Nizam however, considering Mubariz Khan /is 

his enemy No. 1, tried to condliate the Marathas, as he found 
it beyond his power to fight the two enemies simultaneously, 
particularly when he himself was declared a, mbel by the Em¬ 
peror. So on his way to the south, the Nizam had his third 
meeting with Bajirao at Nalchha, near Dhar, on 18th May 

1724, wherein they once more professed friendship towards 
each other, concealing their real designs for the time being, 
widiout committing themselves to any definite terms. 

Maratha help was similarly sought by Mubariz Khan 
also in his struggle against Nizam-ul-mulk. Shahu seems to 
have put before him some definite terms, probably throu^i 

his Sumant Anandrao. These terms occur in the paper re¬ 
ferred to above. It is necessary to state them in full, as they 
clearly explain the aims of the Maralhas in creating an exclu¬ 

sive field for their activities 

1. The grants of Swarajya, Chauthai and Sardeshmukhi 
already sanctioned under the imperial seal should be ratified 
and given effect to. 

2. in addition, the right to collect Chauthai and Sar- 

deshmukhi from the provinces of Malwa and Gujarat should 
be conceded. 

3. The kingdom of Tanjore which had been annexed to 
the Mughal Empire should be restored. 



CHAP. HI } NJ2AM AND BAJ18A0, MftST CONTACT 79 

4. The forts of Shivner, Chahan, Mahull, Kamala, Pali, 

Miraj together with the lands attached to them should be haiid- 
ed over to the Marathas. 

5- The Deshmulthi of Sinnar should be granted personal¬ 
ly to Shaliu. 

d The appohitment of the Mughal Subahdar of the^ 
Deccan *<hould be made upon the recommendatioc of Shahu. , 

7. The three Mughal officials of the Dcccan, Dilcr Khan, 
Abdul Nabi Khaa and Alaf Khan should be asked to join 
the Maralhfis in putting down Nizam-ul-mulk. 

8. No protection should be extended to Shahu’s cousin 
of Panh«la. 

9. Maratha deserters should not be entertained hi 
Mughal sei-vice. 

10. Maratha deserters already in Mughal employ should 

be lianded back. 
11. Those Mughal and Maratha chiefs who hold land* 

grants ^lould be continued in their possessions if they zealous* 
ly exerted themselves in putting down Ni2am-ul*niullc. 

12. Patehsinh Bhoslc should be appointed to the vice* 
royalty of Haidarahad. 

13. The forts and territories captured by the Siddi of 

Janjira should be restored to the Marathas. 
14. Maratha troops on duty with Mubariz Khan should 

be paid their wages at the same rate as was paid by the Saiyads 
to Balaji Vlshvanalh. 

15. The present of Rs. 50,000 promised by the Emperor 

to Shahu should be delivered. 
It is obvious that these terms, while umllar in form to 

those which had been offered to the Saiyads are on a much 
higher pitch. The Maratha aims amount in substance to this 
that to be the masters of the Deccan and protK- 
tors of the EmpVor b^niTIt.' The reference to Sambhaji, 

' to the Raja of Tanjore and the Nawah of Janjira foreshadows 
the contests waged against them a few years later, and upon 
which Shahu bad set his heart as personal objectives. 

5. Nizam asserts independence.—Immediately afler 
ills visit to the Nizam in Malwa, Bijirao returned to Poona to 
prepare for the part he was to play in the approaching con- 
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test. The Emperor openly declared Nizam to be a grand rebel 

removed his son GharAuddin from the WazuaUip and ap* 
pointed Qamruddin Khan to that office. He also appointed 

Qridhar Bahadur to the government of Malwa, lest Nizam-ul- 

muJlc should appropriate it. 

During June and July 1724 Shahu's Court had a busy 
time at Satara, discussing the probable conisequena»s of tlic 

impending single and the (ittiUidc they sliould adoi^t in re* 
gard to it On 29Ui^July Slrahu writes to Kanhojl Bhosle, 
'‘A war is impend mg Ixtweon Nizam-ul-mulk ai^d Muhariz 

Khan ; you must not join either party/Shahu felt it wise 
Co remain perfectly neutral, not being hii« wiiich party would 
win. Bajirao, Ixowever, prepai'ed to reap tlie best aclvanlage 

from the affair and immediately seized the province ol Burhan* 
pur, which was the main theatre of war between the two 
Mughal grandees, He wiote to Qiimnajl Appa, “ Tlie 

Mughals have evacuated Buihanpur. As you have to pa«4 
that way, you must not neglect to seize the territory even by 
force if r^ecessary.”* 

Mubariz Khan at Haidarabad learned tliat Nizani-ul-mulk 
was fast malting towards him for a decisive encounter. The 

Khan did not at first reailze that his aafety lay in quickly 
proceeding to meet and oppose the Nizam and firmly securing 
in his hand the key*post of Aurangabad, then the centre of 
Mughal power in tte Deccan. His deputy Aiwaz Khan was 

in charge of it and was not suspected to be a traitor. Aiwaz 
Khan, however, had leanings towards Nlzain>ul*mulk to 
whom he at once surrendered the place before Mubariz Khan 

had any inkling about it At the end of May the Nizam was 
near Dhar in Malwa and in three weeks he reached Aurang¬ 
abad. Mubariz Khan was completely outwitted by the rapidi¬ 
ty of his opponent's march. By losing this capital town, the 

Khan lost all valuable stores and supplies and thereby coi^i- 
derably weakened his own position. Nizam-ul-mulk used an¬ 
other artifice to keep Mubariz Khan off his guard- He wrote^ 

to him frequent letters to this effect: “Why should we fight 
between ourselves ? I have come only to chastise the 

Marafhas who are our common enemies. I have besought the 

5, SAffku jrv/uw 22. 6. p. D. 10. 30.^ 7. Irvine II, 
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Emperor to appoint me to some other post. As Soon as I 
receive liig commands, I will quit the Dftxan and proceed to 
my charge. We should not uselessly shed Muslim blood." 

In the meantime Mubariz Khan received formal com* 

mauds from the Emperor coofirming him in the sdceroyalty of 
the E>eccan and calling upori him to attack aod annihilate f 
Nizam-ul-mulk. He also promised a quick despatch of re- 
inforcementa from the capital for the pxupost. Young and 
impetuous as Mubariz Khau was, he neglected all caution and 

started boldly to oppose tl;e Nizam, coniident that he could 
crush him between his own army and the otlier that was to 
come friHn the north. He slighted the Maratha contuigeuts 
wlien tliey demanded the cash payment of their wages. In¬ 
stead of going directly to Aurangabad Mubariz Khan marched 

northward from Haidarabad. thereby giving Nizara*ul-mulk 
the chance to select his own terrain for the ensuir^ action. 
When he learned that Mubariz Khan had gone towards the 
north, the Nizam left Aurangabad on 3rd September, proceed- 
ii^ eastwards. At a distance of about 50 miles he found 

Mubariz Khan encamped at a place called Sakhatkhedla in the 
district of Mehkar on the banks of the Purna. On 0th Sep¬ 
tember Bajirao thus writes to one of his lieutenants, " You m- 

torro me ttiat Mubariz Khan has taken shelter in the village 
of Sakharkhedia. This proves he is not in a position to take 
the offensive. Perhaps he would run away unobserved during 
the night. You must, therefore, closely watch his movements 
and keep me fully informed. I have advised Nizam-ul-niulk 

to halt at this place for a day."* 
The two armies manceuvred for a few days in search of 

a suitable moment of attack. On 3Qth . September a bloody 
battle took place between them, the actual details of v^\ch 
can be studied in the eloquent narrative of an eye witness quot¬ 

ed by Irvine. Mubariz Khan fought with the greatest fury 
and determination, but he lacked calculation and foresight in 
a critical atuation where patience avails more than personal 

valour. Most of the Nawabs and chiefs of the Karnatak, of 
Arcot, ICadappa, Karnul, were present in support of Mubariz 
Khan to wlxom they were personally attached. They all fou^t 

8. P. D, 3a 34. 
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hard and dauntlessly. Mubari^ IClian fell figliting along with 

two of his sons, and practically the whole of his army was 
annihilated. Nizam-ul-mulk won the day and thereby chang¬ 
ed the course of the subsequent history of India. A large 

number of elephants, animals and baggage was capturwl by 
him. The severed head of Mubariz Khan lie aenl on to (he 

Kmperor with an explanatory letter of apology, saying " With 
your Majesty’s blessing I have succeeded in killing llus 

lie changed the name of the battlefield from Sakharkliedla to 

Fathkherda, 

It ia diffiailt to determine whaL actual part the Maratlins 

played in this famous battle. Bajirao and w»mc others itmafu- 
ed close by, watching the result and ready to make a bargaiii 
with the winning side. Bajirao’s personal sympathies were for 

Nizam-ul-mulk, as probably iie had had bitter experience of 
Mubariz Khan's antagonism towards the Marathas. Mention 
is made in an account paper "of Rs. 10 having been paid to 

RanojL Sindia and others for dressing their wounds received in 
the fight against Mubariz Khan." Other payments of a simi¬ 
lar nature are also recorded, mentioning the rising stars of 

future history. Raghuji Jadhav of Sindkhed, one of the family 
from which Shivaji’s mother Jijabai came, was killed fighting 
for Mubariz Khan. His son Mansing Rao Jadhav, bom from 

Ambikabai (Rajaram Chhatrapati'a daughter) was afterwards 
brought up by Shahu and became a partizan of Tarabai in her 

■contest with the Peshwa after Shahu's death. 

Nizam-ul-mulk’s practical skill and far-sighted wisdom 

were wett exemplified in his handling of the situation after the 
actual fighting was over. He did aO he could to assuage the 
grief of tile family and friends of Mubariz Khan by keeping 

them contented in all possible manner and thus extinguislifog 
tlie rancour of a fallen enemy. The dead bodies were giA-en 
proper funeral : the wounded were carefully look^ after. The 

Nizam remained four days on the spot and then he returned 
to Aurangabad where he received Bajirao in a ceremonial visit 
of courtesy and good will and conferred upon him the title of 

a commander of seven thousand with personal honours and cash 
rewards including robes and jewellery of a raie quality. This 

was possibly a reward for the neutral attitude which Bajirao 
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had adopted bclore the battle." Nizam-ul-mulk was certainly 
anxious to disarm all opposition and bitterness in Bajirao's 
mind and to condliale the Matatha sentiment, at the com* 
mencement of his career of independence in the Deccan. He 
also similarly rewarded Maratha Sardars like Rao Rambha 

NimbaJkar and Chandrascn Jadhav who were in the Mughal 
imperial employ. 

Having made the necessary arrangements for the security 
of Amangabad and the northern regions, Nizam-ul-mulk start- 
cd for Haidarabad to subjugate the soutbcm territory. On 

his way Hdaji Chavan, one of the arch-enemies of the Maratha 
Ck>vemment, came and offered his submission at Pandharpur, 
agreeing to serve him. In due course the Nizam stabilized his 
poiution at Haidaiabad, after taking possession of that place 
)jy appeasing those who had tried to oppose him. He then 
wrote a long explanatoiy letter to the Emperor with 

profuse expreswons of loyalty and obedience and begging par¬ 
don for his offences. The Emperor made a virtue of necessity, 
accepted the Nizam’s professions and confirmed him as Subah- 
dar of the Deccan. At the same time the provinces of Guja¬ 
rat and Malwa were taken away from his charge, Sar-buland 
Khan and Raja Giridhar Bahadur being respectively nominat¬ 

ed for them. The imperial firman oi these changes arrived 
in due course and was received by Nisam-ul-mullt with proper 
ceremony on 20th June 1725. 

Thus, the battle of .Sakhar^edla proved a tumii^ point 
for the fortunes of the Asaf Jahi'" dynasty. It at once marks 

the assumption of i^ependence fc>r_aU practtcal purposes by 
the. a political change by which the futtjre of ^ 

Marathas came to be closely linked up with the fortunes of flie 
rulers of Haidarabad. He cer^inly for'a time conceded hfo 
new position and shrewdly avoided outward signs and open 
declarations, that might have indicated his severarice from the 
Central Covernraent of Delhi; but be ceased hereafter to refer 

to Delhi for orders on administrativTmatters dnd'sStrttthe 

9. What passed at this vbit id narrated in Purandan Daltar J. 77. 

10' The title of Aeaf Jah v.'as given to Niaaia-ul-mulk by the En- 

peror later on in 1737, when he V'^s called to Belbl to put down the 

Some writers mention that it was given in 1725. See Ashob, 

Irvine 11—pi 301. 
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surplus re\'enue into the imperial treasury. lie declared wars 
and concluded treaties on his own account. He made appoint¬ 
ments and conferred honours, titles and dignities sifter the fash¬ 
ion of the Emperor.” But he did not establish a throne for 
himself, nor did he strike coins in his own name. In his Friday 
prayers he k^t up the name of the Emperor. In all loimal cor¬ 
respondence, he look care to use forms of language avowiiiir the 
Emperor as liis master. It cannot at the same time be denied 
that tlie actual disnicmfx?rment of the Muffhai ICmpiro start wl 
with this example of open revolt set by the Nizam. Wlien a 
suggestion was made to him that he tihould set up an inde¬ 
pendent throne, he retorted, “ May thrones and umbrellas bring 
good to him wlio has them. My business is to prewm my 
honour, and if this be mine, what need have I for youv Im¬ 
perial throne? ” Doubtless thi.s exam^e came soojj to be 
copied by otliers. 

The Asaf-Jahi dynasty at Haldar^ad became thus a 
permanent factor to be reckoned with in tlie future policy of 
the Marathas wifri dimiiujdiing interference from Delhi. The 
fortunes of the Marathas hereafter came to be controlled by 
one dominant personality for whom Bajirao alone proved more 
fhan a match. He thought it the best policy under the dr- 
rumsfances to bar out Nisam-ul-mulk's actmties from the 
(north by securing a permanent footing in Malwa and Gujarat, 
un his Aurangabad visit Bajirno had offered his full co-opem- 
ftion to Nizam in jointly carryiiu; out measuves of government 
Ihnd in settling mutual dainis and disputes. For this the 
l^^eshwa proposed a joint expedition into the Kamatak, where 
lurgent matters now invited his attention.'= 

11. Se« above, tho titk ot Seven thoui^d Commander conferred upon< 
Bajirao. 

12. Sec PuiAadorB Daflar I. 77. 



CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER IV 

1725 Nov.~172(iM?ty Bajtrao's let expedition into Kaniatak. 
1726 Nov.--27 April Sajinio’s 2nd expedition into Kamataic* 

1726 Shahu assures Chief of SuDda ot protection. 
1726 Niuim-uUmuhc marches into KarnataJc, 
1726 FcNuary ^mbhajl rises against Shalm. 
1720 Nov. 11) SarlashKar Sultanji Nlrnbalkai joins Nlsan, 

ia diamlaacd by Shahu. 

1726 Novernber Qiandrasen. Rao Haichha, Udajl Chavao 
raid Shahu*6 territory. 

1727 April 

1727 April 

1727 April 

1727 August 27 
1727 Oc5-Dec. 

172$ January 

1728 February 

Maratha armies suffer from ohokra at Shri- 
rangapaltan. 

Karnaiak chiefs submit to Bajtrao. 

Bajirao effects settlement with Kawab Sadat- 
uila Khan of Arcot 

Bajirao starts against Nicam-ul-mulk. 

Nisam joioed by Sambhaji attacks Shahu's 
territory. 

Bajirao raids north Khande^. threatens 
Burliaspur; proceeds to All Mohan. 

Nizam declares Sambhaji Chhatrapati at 

Poona: ravages Poona territory; Shahu 
and Oiimnaji Appa take shelter at Purao- 
dar. 

1728 Febniary 14 

1728 February 28 

1728 Mirch 6 

1728 June 

1728 Oeijobes 26 

1728 November 25 
ms November 29 

Bajirao on the Taptl is Khasdesb. 
Bajirao humbles Nizam at Folkhcd. 

Nizam accepts terms from Bajirao at Mun^ 
Sheogacn. 

Chhatmaal begged by Muhammad Khan 

Bangash at Jaitpur. 
Chimnaji Appa leaves Poona for Malwa. 

^iinnaji reaches the Narmada. 
Battle of Amjhera, Girldhar and Daya Baha¬ 

dur killed. 
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1728 December 13 
1729 February 

1729 March 12 

1729 April 18 

1729 May 23 
1729 E)ecember 
1730 Man* 31 
1731 December H 

Qiimnajt besiejjes Uijain, 

Bajirao enters Bunctdkhand via Dcogad and 

Garha. 
BaJijao meets Chhatrasal. 
Bajirae routs Bangash and receives a i^ortion 

ctf Bunclela dominiuns, 
Bajirao returns to the Deccatj. 
Mnratiias capture Mandavgad 

Mandavgad returned to the KmjKiror. 
Cl^atraaal die& 



CHAPTER IV 

RAPrO SUCCESSES SOUTH AND NORTH 

[1725—172^1 

1 Qm»<»lidiu><»n in KArmmk. i Nuam uveKnne at Piilkbad. 
2 NluiAi*iil«jnalk *et» up •{ TTie quick acilcm of Ainjherft. 

Sambluijl M Chbtitnpftti. ^ QthntrMal mcu^. 

1. CoiuoiicUcion in che Karnaok.—How Maratha 
interests developed in the Eastern Karaatak or Che region 
south of the river Krishna ever since the days of ^ivaji and 
Rajaram, has already been told. Apart from the wish of main* 

Uining a strong Maratha hold on pbces and stations that had 
been his ancestral possessions so long, Shahu personally enter¬ 

tained a deep sentimental attachment towards his cousins of 
Tanjore, where at this time Raja Sharfoji ruled on a precari¬ 
ous tenure in the midst of unsettled and hostile surroundings. 

Out of revenge for the murder of Santaji Oorpade in June 1697 
his brothers and nephews waged stern continuous fights 
against the imperial forces under Zulhqar Khan and other im¬ 
perial generals, who tried to expel the Marathas from those dis¬ 
tant regions. The Ghorpades practically conquered and held 

them almost to the time we are now talking of. Santaji's 
brother Bahirjl Hindurao, hia son Sidhoji and grand^ 

Murarrao became for a lime household words in the annaU 
of the Kamatak,'’ 

Shahu and his Peshwa as arbitei^ of India's destiny 

and confident? of their righteous aims, now felt called 
upon to control the political situation, as they enter¬ 

tained high and noble hopes of creating order and esta¬ 

blishing a congenial peaceful government by regulating the 

1. A vast unounc o( recordinfr tits activities q( the Gbor- 
padea haa been rtccDtly unefirthed and irregularly printed; it h awaiting 
a carefui and patient study /or oUracting a roanected 9tfvy from it, 
Munnao nade Gutti hie permanent eeat. and Us’ history oF half a cen* 
tury haa yet to be consmicted. See Shir. Ch. Sa. IZI. S^dhe, 
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conHicting daims of the various chiefs and exacting obedience 

from them by force of arms, if necessary- During his vidt 
to Ni2am-ul*mulk after the battle of Sakarkhedla Bajirao 
freely discussed with him his aims and views, and suggested a 

joint tour of the ICarnatak, in which the Nis^ agreed to ofter 
his co-operation. The matter was discussed at Satara during 
the autumn of 1725 and Shahu issued commands to Bajiroo, 

so that two successive Maratha expediUoas look place during 
the years 1725 "and 1726, the first extending fn>m Noveml'jor, 
1726 to May 1726 and die second from November 1726 to 

V April 1727. The first campaign i.s named after Chitalduti; 
and the second after Shrirangapattan. Both were led by Baji- 

• rao personally, although Shahu gave the nominal command to 
his favourite Fatehsinh Bhosle. Nizam-ul-mulk sicnt Marso 

Kusaji the Maratha agent at his court to Bajirao in February 
1725 inquiring what the Peshwa’s object was in going to the 

ICamatak.® 
From this scheme of proposed joint expedition in settling 

the Karnatak affairs, Nizam-ul-mulk deliberately Icept himself 

aloof and tried to counteract whatever harm might possibly oc¬ 
cur to his interests from the Peshwa’s move, only sending his 

^ own deputy Aiwaz Khan with a considerable force to act inde¬ 
pendently of the PeSiwa. From this very moment Nizam-ul- 
mulk began to apprehend a dash with the Marathas and com¬ 

menced deep underhand intrigues against both Shahu and 
Bajirao, which culminated at Palkhed. In the present expe¬ 
dition Fateh&nh Bhosle was accompanied by Trimbakrao 
Dabhade, Sultanji Nimbalkar and the Pratiuidhi in addition 

^ to the Peshwa, totalling between them about 50,000 troops. 
Murarrao Ghorpade joined them later from Gutti. Fatehsinh 

Bhosle at the special behest of Shahu proceeded to Tanjore 
and explained to Sharfoji the object of the Kamatak under¬ 
taking. 

The Marathas proceeded via Bijapur, Gulburga and Kop- 
bal on to Chitaldurg. They collected antars of tribute, 
obtained promises of regular payment in future, put down 
those who opposed them and re-established J^ratha rule in 

places which had thrown it off. The chief of Sunda (Sondhe) 

2. P. D, 30. 36. 
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was taken under Maratba protection at Shabu's special 
instatice.* Tlie campaigning season having ended, the Maratha 

aimies returned to their headquarters for the rains. During 
the winter of 1726 tiiey again moved into the Kamatak to 
complete the remaining work of collecting the Chautb and 
mee^ng the possible oppo^tion from the Nizam.' In this con¬ 
nection Shahu addressed the following letter to the Dc^unuldi 

of T-akshmeshwar on July 20, 1726 - 

'* We have received your request for help against the 

tyianuy that Uie Nawab Nizam-ul-mulk has been practising 
upon you and your territories and have pleasure to infonn 
you that we have arranged to send you the required succour 
about the next Oassarah season, when troop-movemente be¬ 
come practicable. 'Phe Senapati, the Peshwa and the Sar- 

Laahkar will proceed to the south, and you must try to de¬ 
fend your position tiU they arrive, with whatever resources 

you posses and prevent the Nawab's entry into your 
alate/’^ 

This partially explains why a second expedition became 

necessary, Nizam-ul-rnulk commenced .open encroachments 
upon the Maratha s^arca of influ^ce when Bajirao was ab- 
smt; and Shahu undertook to restrain him and protect his 
fepdatories, Bajirao went this time by the western route via 
Belgaum, Sunda and Lakshmeahwar, on to Bednur. From 

thence he proceeded to Shrirangapattan, where be arrived on 
4th Marcli and after spending a month at that place returned 
rapidly to Satara on receiving an urgent call from his master 

for meeting the trouble that Nizam-ul-roulk had Chen started 
in various parts of Maharashtra. Through heat, lack of water 
and a sudden outbreak of cholera, the Maratha armies suffer* 
ed terrible losses during 1222. While at Shriranppattan Baji¬ 
rao arranged a treaty of friendship and alliance with the Nawab 

Sadafulla Khan of Arcot settling the rights of the Tanjore Raja. 
The arrangement was scrupulously honoured by the Nawab 

for tlie nect 15 years and evinces the true ^toatha spirit of 
condliation and amity towaiBs ne®bouring states. This 

9, Vide Sbivs-ChanUa'Sehltyo, 3. 497, 

4. S. R. 27. 

M. n. n—7 
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example and the cases of Sunda and LskshmesKwar already 

mentioned, testify to the gpnerai trend of the Marat ha system 
of collecting Chfluth and offering protection in return. 

Shahu and Bajirao were now bent upon consolidating 

Maralha rule all round. Murarrao Ghorpa^ was slruinrfing 
alone to maintain iiis precarious position at Gutti and was 
now induced by Bajirao to accept the HesJiwas IradLfslnp. 

Henceforth lie became a friend and loyal member <jf the 
Maialha power. Similarly the Pnligar Chiefs of Surnpur, 
Kiinakdiirg, Chitalclurc, Gadag. Lakj^meshwar came to mivt 

Bajirao, and paid him their Immage and tribute*. Tlic Kaja 
of Stirirangapatlan also offered his sulwnis.sion by jxiylng a Iri* 
bate of 21 lacs in caidt. Tlw exleiisii>n of Maralha ixnver 
in the extreme south tl^us atHrlcd, necessaiily retiuirvfl u longor 

time to consolidate and was unavoidably interrupted by Baji* 
rao’R presence being required urgency In Maharashtra. Years 
passed before Shahu could take tlie woik up ttgain; but lie 

had not forgotten it and when in 1739 lie sent Raid^uji and 
Fatesfoh Bhfttle again into die Kaumtak, the object was to 
complete the work of consolidation which had been begun by 
Bajirao in those two expedtllons of 1725 and 

2. NreRm*ul*mulk sets up Sambhajl as Chhatrapati.^— 
From February 1725 lo Pebi-uary 1^3 or roughly fnim 
Sakliarklicdla lo Falkhod is a period of three veal’s, wliich hi 
miniature discloses tlie nature of the relationship which tlie 

two neighbouring powers, die Maratha and the Niauni, were 
lo dov'dop towards each other for some three generations, cul¬ 
minating in both being iiubjected to the parainountcy of Bri¬ 

tain, Tlie Marathas all along tried to enforce the rights grant¬ 
ed to diem by the Emperor in 1719, The Ni*am opposed them 
on the ground that they had been won through their unholy 

alliance with the Saiyada, who had defied the Emperor and 
ultimately put him to death. Nixom-ul-mulk did not, how'- 
ever, precipitate matters and required over one year to consoli¬ 

date hi8 own poation in the Deccan before openly challenging 
the Marathas. The two expeditions of Bajirao into the Kar- 

natak were construed by the Nizam as an encroachment upon 
his own government, for he considered tliat as all the regions 
south of the Krishna had once belonged to the old Idngdoms 
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ot Bijapur and Golkonda, they had come into the Emperor’^ 
poffiession by right of conquest, and now naturally formed 
his own jurisdiction. AC the same time the Marathas mainJ 
tained Chat these territories were subjugated by them aC an' 
enormous cost of blood and dforC. during the long wai* which 

the)' had successfully conducted against the Emperor Aurang*^ 
**.eeb, This* is indeed the pripn of tl>e whole dispute which in 
^ * ihe last resort came to be decided by an appeal to arms. Daji- 

rao had well anlidpated this dash of policy and had suggested 
an immediate offensive against Nizarn-ul-muik. But 'Shahu 

long hesitated to give any oifence to the Nawab and feared Chat 
Uajirao might not be able to cope with the task of putting 
him down. Matters took an ominous turn for Shahu when 
Bajlrao was absent in the Kamatak during tlie early months 
of 1727 and Shahu's patience was sorely tried. 

Let us here review the resOurccM of the two parties. Aiwae 

Khan, Turk*Taa Kiian and Ghias Khan were the three princi¬ 
pal agents whom Nizam-ul-mulk employed to harass the 
Maradta collectors of Chautb and their local agents, by subtle 

pinpricks, which soon became intolerable. The three abovemen- 
tionccl officers of the Niaam were guided in their work by some 
Maratha deserters, such as Cbandrasen Jadbav, Rao Rambba 

Nimbalkar and Udaji Chavan, whose only principle had al¬ 
ways been an uncompromising opposition to Shahu and Uia 
Pe.'^hwas. Moreover, Niaam-ul-mulk was not slow in seduc¬ 
ing some of Shahu'a .intimate supporters, notably hie Sens- 'j 
saheb'Subha ICanhoii ^hosle and hk Sar-Lashl^r Sultanjf|| 

Nimbalkar, who had grown jealous of Bajirao*s increasing asr^ 
cendency in the Maratha Government. 

Sambhaji of Kolhapur and his mother Rajasbai were no 
less hostile than Tarabai, and continued thrir intrigues against 
Shahu by playing easily into tiie hands of Niam-ul-tnulk, 

through the agency of men like Chandrasen and Udaji Cha* 
van. A letter written by Sambhaji to the Renapati’s agent 

Rayaji Malhar on 23rd July 1721 dearly reveals thie intrigue. 

It runs thus 

"Chandrasen Jadhav must have already communicated 

to you the deep interest he takes in our affairs and the efforts 
he is making to promote our cause. We lave no doubt that 

I/' 
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you too with your great attachiuenl for U8 would do your ut¬ 

most towards tho same end."^ 

Such a raove against Shahu had dearly been afoot since 
1721 ; but it could not gain materiaJ strength until Niram-ul- 

mulk lent It weight by espousing Sambhaji's cause openly in 
1725. Bhagwantrao Amatya, son of the famous Ramclmndra- 
pant, alao joined tlie conspii^y then being fonned ngaini;! 

Shahu. One of Shahu's falth/ul commanders Nilkanllirao 
Jadhav was captured in a fight and kept in confinement by 

NizaoT-uI-iDullc. An order of Shahu dated 23rd August 1725 
exists describing his anxiety to get Nilkandirao released. On 
.25th November Bajirao tliua writes to Shahu," I am perfeclly 
aware of Your Highness's intentions not to create suspicion 

in Nizam-ul-mulk's mind by my assemblage of troops near 
Pandharpur. These are meant for our Karnatak undertaking, 

flnd I am taking no action direct or indirect that would give 
•offence to Niaam-ul-raulk. I cannot, however, omit to cons'ey 

to you ray strong suspicion that the signs are ominous and 
tliat I apprehend trouble." 

In February 272S Sambhaji writes to Chandrasen, " We 

are cxce^ingly happy to receive your letters and to Jearn that 
you have succeeded in inducing NIxam-uI-mulk to espouse our 
cause and promote it in every possible way. Acting upon your 

valuable suggestion, we led an expedition towards the south 
right up to the river Tungabhadra, having been joined by the 
influencial following of Hindurao and Sagunabai Ghorpadc and 
of Rraji and Ranoji also. As Shripat Rao Pratinidhi has 

marched against us, please come quickly for our succour. 
Nizam-ul^mulk has marched towards Adoni and asked us to 
send him our contingent. Accordingly we have despatched 
our minister NiJkanth Trimbak with orders to join the Niaam 

quickly; and now we are waiting at Torgal to meet you. We 

cannot ourselves go and join the Nizam, as the Peshwa and 
the Pratinidhi are both coming to oppose us. You have indeed 
done US a great service by inducing Nizam-ul-mulk to break 
oft his relations with Shahu and take up our cause. We are 

confident that Murarrao Ghorpade, Udaji Chavan, Appaji 
Suro and otJ'kers would soon join us. Aiwaz Khan has also 

5. Raj. 3. 669. 9. S. R. 14, 157. 
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earnestly commenced operations in a different directbn. Thus 
the moment is now ripe lor action, and we aie only waiting 

for you to join in as quickly as possible.”* Here is dear evid¬ 
ence of the intrigue which Niaam-ui*mulk fomented against 
Shahu. Sambhaji fell into the trap and allcrwed himself to be¬ 
come a tool in Nisam^ui-mullc's hand. Was Sambhaji doing 

all this to preserve Maiatha independence ? 

Sambhaji, however, did not possess a single capable fol¬ 
lower, nor the high character necessary in a master to main¬ 
tain his position. Jealous of Shahu's increasir^ popularity 

and prosperity, he resorted to mean intrigue and sedition, 
whjci\ ultimately ruined him, Shahu left no atone unturned 
tu wean Sambhaji from his evil course, and when he despatch¬ 
ed Bajirao into the Karnatak, he sought Sambhajrs co-opera¬ 
tion by offering him the following terms on 30tli Dec. 1725,^ 

*' Let us botli exert ourselves in co-operation to recapture 
Mughal territories and add them to cur swarajya in the way 

our ancestors did- You may work in the south, we will work 
in (he north, We shall give you a fair ahaie of what we ac¬ 
quire in the north and you should also similarly give us a share 

of what you would acquire in the south."* 

But Sambhaji did not see the wisdom of falling in line 
witii Shahu and allowed himself to be duped by self-seeking 
agents of Mizam-ul-mulk, on tbe advice of his minister Nil- 

kanlh Trimbak Pratou Mahadkar, and another vainglorious 
officer of Sbahu, his Rajadna Chimnajl Damodar Moghe, who 

with a record of 20 years iaithM service behind him had been 
directed by Shahu to persuade Nieam-ul-mulk in a personal 
discussion to desist from the harmful course he was following, 

A letter of 30th July 1786 mentions that Shahu deputed 
Oilmnaji to meet the Niaam.* 

This Chimnaji Damodar had the vain dream of rivalling 
Bajirao both in war and diplomacy, and out of spite towards 

him fell into Nizam-ul-mulk’s snare, Tbe latter induced him 
to accept Sambhaji'b Feshwasbip. Chimnaji light-heartedly 
deserted Shahu'a cause and agreed to serve Sambhaji for 

which he had to pay dearly in the end, Shahu at first never 

7. Daivi*9 Kinocy o( the Jedhav family, p. SL 

& Pitre Yadi U. 9. S. R. 28. 
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suspected tliat a strong oppoation was being formed against 
him but was rudely awakened to his danger towards the end 
of 1726 during Bajirao’s absence in the Karnatak. 

About the Dassara of 1726 (2‘lth Septwnbei ) Sambliaji 
left Kolhapur and joined Nisazn-ul-mulk, leaving hie moUier 

Rajasbai beliind to conduct the usual administration. IIu 

wat? away from his capita) for about three veal's.'" Iloslik* 
activities against Shahu iminKUalcly commenced in differynl 

quarters. Tiirk-Taz Khan committed terrible atrncitics near 
Sangamner during the fair season of 1726-27. Nisam-ul-mtilk 
long kept up professions of amity and goorl will, which lie 

communicated to Sliahu tlirough the PratinidhI and the 
Sumant- He alleged that he had nothing to urge iigamsl 

Shahu personally, hut that hia Pesliwa was the principal 
source of mischief. Along with Turk-Taz IChan, other ofllcerK 

of Nizam-ul-mulk, ."^uch as the Nlmbalkars, Rao Ramblia and 
his son Janoji, and UdHji Chavan, began to create trouble in 
the neighbourhood of Satara itself. They attacked Rahlmat- 

pur a few miles east of Sgtara, where in an action in August 

1726 one of Shahu’s Sardars Rayaji Jadhav was killed. Happi¬ 
ly Shahu managed to win over Chandrasen's brother Shambhu- 

sinh and the Kolhapur Senapati Piraji Ghorpade with 
lieutenant Dharrao Nimbalkar. The veteran Vyasrao, an 

old servant of Dhanaji Jadhav, who was stror^ly attached to 
Shahu, broi^ht about ^milar defections in the ranks of Kolha¬ 
pur to the advantage of Shahu. Early in 1727 Sambhaji 

toured through the district Of Poona as the dc facto ruler re¬ 
ceiving homage from and granting sanads to the local ofTicials. 

When this repoit reached Shabu's ears, he felt shocked and 
realized the far-reaching game that Nizam-uTmuIk' had begun 
to play. So he wrote to some of his northern diiefs imiting 
them to come to his relief without a moment’s delay, as all his 

troops were away in the Karnatak.’' 

3. Nizam overcome at Palkhed.—At this junclum 
Shahu’s counsel was divided. The only man of courage and 
foresight who could save the situaUon was away, and those 

10. Kaj. Vnl. 8 Nos. W and 96. 11. S, k. as, 26, 
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who were near advised him to effect a compromise with 

Nixam-ul-mulk by mild and submissive measures. In a weak 
moment Shahu accepted their advice and asked his Sumant 
and his Pratinfdhl to n^otiate a peaceful understanding with 
tlie Nizajii. The latter proposed that he would make ca^hJ' 
payment of the Chaulhai dues and that the Maratha ageiitS 
stationed for the purpose at different places should be with-1 

drawn, lie also communicated to Sltahu his own friendly and \ 
salutary advice to rid himself of the pernicious influence of I 
the Koiikanastha Peshwa, 

Shahu was almost on the point of accepting the proposal 
of cash payment, when Ba^irao returned and remonstrated 

with him strongly on the subject, explaining that such a 
course would destroy all hold of the Marathas upon the out* 
lying districts already subjugated. 'While this discussion was 
going on at Shahu's court, he was informed that even die pro¬ 
posed cash payment of Chauthai could not be made, sina 

Sfimbliaji now claimed it as head of the Maratha State, This 
meant an immediate danger to Shahu's position as the Mara* 
tha sovereign and he indignantly ordered Bajirao to open 
a war against Nizam-uUmuIk. Bajirao left Satara on this 

task on 27th Augu^ 1727. 
The following letter addressed by Ni2ajn*ul-mulk to 

Sawai Jaysinh dearly explains his evil designs. 
“ It has been repeatedly reported to the Emperor that 

these Marathai raid Gujarat and Malwa at my suggeation and 

instigation. I have performed all the necessary exertion in 
this matter. 1 have again and again written to Shahu Rajah 
giving him the good counsel that the Marathas should not 

plunder Gujarat and Malwa. Althoi^ thus pressed and 
threatened, nothing has resulted Crom it and the Marathas 

have not given up their raids. Therefore with a view to carry¬ 
ing out the Emperor's order I have called to my side Raja 
Sambhaji, who is Shahu’s rival- I have conciliated him and 
engaged him in punishing and exterminating Shahu. Sul tanji 

Nimbalkar, the Sar-i-Lashkar of the enem/s array came and 
saw me and has been appointed to command Sambhaji's anuy, 
By the grace of God I am hopeful that the other partons of 
Shahu would equally desert him. As at this time autograph 
letters from the Emperor have repeatedly reached me, asking 
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me to Chastise Sbahu, I have taUen on my shoulders this 
grand enterprise, in order to satisfy the Emperor and give 

him proof of my loyalty and devotion. Otherwise it would be 
highly inexpedient for me to break my relations with the 

Marathas. And now that they have permanently planted 
their daws in all the imperial territory and tlieir strength and 
power have increased beyond limit, I have challenged them to 

fight soldy out of reliance upon the grace of God and the 

Einperor's favour."** 

On October 13th SJiahu declared war upon Niaam-ul- 
mulk.*® The Niaam readily took up the cliallenge. lie Icepi 

his movements entirely secret- Giving out that he was going 
to Aurangabad he marched towards Junnar and Poona. At 

the beginning of 1727 he was encamped at Bid and spent die 
three months from June to August at Dharui. On 2l8t Sep¬ 
tember 1727 Purandare Informed Bajirao that Nizam-ul<nulk 

was marching upon Satara, via Mhaswad, guided by Sultanli 
Nimbalkar. At this crisis Bajirao was the only strong sup¬ 
port of Shahu. His Senapati Khanderao Dabhade was belli 
old and involved in domestic dissensions- Besides, Dabhade 
entertained a secret grudge against die Peshwa, possibly 

because the latter entirely usurped the Senapati's oflidal func¬ 
tions. Operations were opened on both aides. 

Turk-Taa Khan and Aiwaz Khan were the two able lieu¬ 
tenants of Nizam-ul-mulk, while Bajirao relied on Maiharrao 

Holkar and Eanoji Sindia. The latter declared to the Peshwa 
that he was ready for any eventuality, even to saaifice his 
life if it became necessary. God is the protector of all." The 
Pawar brothers were also ©jually loyi and served Bajirao 

with perfect devotion- Aiwaz Khan maiched towards Poona 
from Aurangabad but was encountered by Tukoji Pawar near 
Sinnar, whose Deshmukh Kuvar Bahadur was an old land¬ 

holder in Mughal service. Kuvar Bahadur was defeated and . 
made to join the Peshwa’s banner. Fatehsinh and Raghuji j 
Bhosle encountered Chandrasen Jadhav and defeated him after I 
a sanguinary action. 

12. Ttanv. k icxi printed in htanik CuUure by Sir J, N, Sarbar. 
13, & R, 30, 
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But Nizam*ul*mulk made the Poona district his main 
objective, and ravaged it throi^h his trusted Maratha c«n- 
manders. They attacited Lohgad and came upon Chinchwad 

and Poona. Shahu's garrisons at most of his posts deserted 
them and ran away for safety in different directions. Accom¬ 
panied by Sambhaji, Nizam-uUmulk himself entered the Poona 

district from Junnar and after capturing most of the lortifted 
places on the way came and took up his residence at Poona. 
Here in February 1727 Sambhaji was mamed to a Rajput 

lady of the Sisodia dan of Bamnagar and was there openly 
declared the Chhatrapati of the Maralhas- Appointing Fazal 
Beg to hold Poona, Nizam-ul-mulk proceeded to Loni Par- 

gaum, Pafas, Sups and Baramati, creating fearful havoc ai 
all these places by means of his efficient artillery. 

Bajirao on tl« other hand had no artillery and depended 
solely on his usual guerilla tactics of long marches and sudden 

jiwoops upon the enemy at different spots. Leaving Poona in. 
September, he crossed the Godavari near Puntamba and 

plundered Jalna and Sindkhed, defeating Aiwaz Khan who 
opposed him on November 5. Thereupon Bajirao proceed¬ 
ed through Berar, ravaged Mahur, Mangrol and 'Wasim, and 
then suddenly directing his course to the north-west entered 
Khandeah, crossed the Tapti at Kokarniunda, and with 

lightning speed proceeded through eastern Gujarat in January 
1728 to Alimoiian or Chhota-Udaipur. Satbuland Khan, the 

governor of Gujarat befriended him in opposition to the Nizam.. 
Here learning that the Niaam had turned towards Poona, 
Bajirao gave out that he would devastate Burbanpur, the prin- 
cii^ Mughal mart in the north, and reached Betawad in 

Khandesh on 14th February. 
Bajirao rightly calculated that his sudden descent uponr 

Burhanpur and Aurangabad would draw away Ni^am-ul- 
mulk from Poona for the protection of his northern possessions- 
Chimnaji Appa was stationed to watch the Nizam's move¬ 
ments and to mancsuvre him away towards Bajirao's position, 

Chimnaji Appa and Shahu had in the meantime taken up 
their residence in the Purandar fort both for safety and for 
watching the movements of the enemy. Nizam-ul-mulk found 

ins occupation of Poona extremely costly. His allies Sam- 
bhaji and Chandrasen having no efficient troops or sufficient 
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iunds, proved only a clog on his own movemonia and a fear¬ 
ful drain on bis resources. When he hcaid that his northern 

territories were being dc\'aslated, he left Poona about the mid¬ 
dle of February and directed his marcli towards the Godavari 
with (he object of destroying Bajirao and his light-footed aimy 

in an open plain where his artillery could be effectively em¬ 
ployed. Both pardea now played their own tactics with I lie 
ulmo.st care and watchfulness. But the Marat has pnived 

more alert and agile. Their spies obtained useful informiitmn 
about the enemy’s plans and quickly cummunica^ng it to their 
various chiefs, managt^d bi keep liic Nizam off his guard and 

get him into an inextricable position like a hunted IkiihL of 
' prey. In order lo carry out swift moveincnlK Nizam-ul'iniilk 
left hid cumbrous artillery behind and crossed tlic GodaMiri 

to find Bajirao near Aurangabad. During tlw couiw of his 
march, on February 25. the Nusain found himself suddenly 
entrapped in a maze near Palkhcd about 20 miles west of 

Aurangabad and some ten miles east of Baizapur, a difTiculL 
hilly place in which he could get no water or provisions. Here 
he was quickly surrounded on all iddes by the Maratha bands; 

his ccpinmunicatlon with the outside world was entirely cut 
off and he soon found it impossible to extricate himself and 

escape to a place of safety. Bajirao thus writes of this ^tua- 
tion: ''Today I have come within sight oi the Nawab. A 
distance of four miles separates us. Please point out to me tlK* 
beat route for bringing him to bay. Instruct all men to l>e 

extremely cautious and join me without a moment's loss," 
Malharrao Holkar was stationed to watch and arrest tlie 
Nawab’s movements. 

Aiwaz Khan and Chandrasen understood what had hap¬ 
pened and appealed to Bajirao for relief, as the situation daily 
grew more desperate for NiKun-ul-mulk. Bajirao demanded 

hostages before any relief could be offered. Thereupon the 
two parties moved to Mungi-Shevgaum where water and pro¬ 
visions were offered to the Nawab in plenty. On 6th March 

1728 a settlement was rigned, the terms of which were - 

(1) All administrative or diplomatic mcaaurc.s for the 

government of the six Mughal Subahs should be executed 
through the agency of the Marathas, who would fully guard 
the imperial interests. 
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(2) Ananclrao Sumant should not be employ^ as an 
inteonediary for transacting politkal biteinesR, as he no longer 
enjoyed the Peshwa'a confidence. 

(3) Tht Nawab should withdraw hta protection Irom 

Raja Sambhaji and allow him to piTOed to Panhala. 
(4) Poona, Baramati, Khed, Talegaum and other places 

captured by the Nawab should be restored to Sliahw. 

(5) The previt>UK grants of Swarajya and Sardeshmukhi 
should be nmfirraed. 

(d) Balavant Sinh (?) and others should have tlieir 
jagiffl rcstorecl 

(7} No mure jagir should be bestowed on Sambhaji 

than liad been already provided for him by Shahu Raja bet¬ 
ween the Krishna and the*Panchaganga. 

(8) Suilanji Nimbalkar w)u> had deserted to the Nawab 

should not be allowed to create mischief, 
(9) Tributes illegally collected by Sambhaji should be 

paid bade to Shahu Raja. 
(10) The vatan and Palilki of Shahgad should be conti¬ 

nued to PUaji Ja<toav as before. 
(11) The prisoners captured by Turk-Tas Khan out of 

file Maratha swarajya should be sent back. 
(12) Tlie five villages of Peta Nimbone should be granted 

to the Pawar brothers, Krisbnaji, Udaji and Keroji. 
(13) Raja Sfunbhajl should not be allowed to collect 

Clifiuth from districts north of the Krishna.''' 

When these terms were negotiated Bajlrao and Nizam-ul- 
mulk met and ratified them by a formal exchange of dresses 
and presents, completely restoring a cordial spirit of mutuai 
relationship. This was the fifth meeting of these two chiefe, 
the fourth having taken place at Aurangabad after the battle 

of Fatelikherda. 

This narrative of Ihe Palkhed campaign wherein Bajirao 

successfully overcame Nixam-ul'inuik encloses the impcrtanl 
results which accrued to the Marathas for all the strenuous 
labours, preparations and anxieties of a year's hostilities. The 
main polpt they gained was a foitoal acknowledgmeiU by 

Niranvid-muJk oflEe htirafta‘claims* long ago ratlfied^ by the 

14. See P. D. 15. 86 p. 89. Fogr unimporUml artitlen are omitted, 
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Saiyads. This was now uJiequivocally conceded by Asaf Jali. 
He would no longer openly support Sambhajl and repudiate 

Shahu*s claim to be regaided as the head ot the Maratha raj. 
TTie Nizam's power was certainly not finally broken, nor was 

that the avowed object of Maratha policy. Nizam-ul-mulk 
fully realised Bajirao’s capacity as an opponent and whal he 

would have to expect from him in the future. This wok a 
signal outcome of this short but successful episode of Paildicd, 

in which Bajirao overcame the greatest strategist of the day, 

thirty years his senior. 

Another indirect result of this victory was the restraint 

that came to be imposed upon Maratha deserters like Chandra- 

sen Jadhav, XJdaji Chavan, Kanhoji Bhosle, even the Dabhade 
Senapati and the Sar-Lashkar TOnbalkar, who were merely 
self-seekers, plying between the two powers and making a per- 

tvmal bargain out of divided loyalties. Bajirao and his bro¬ 
ther now obtained full control to restrain these disturbers and 
their treacherous intrigues, as they made capital out of the 
difficulties of Shahu and his Beshwa. Guerilla tactics triumphed 

over artillery. It should, however, be clearly noted by thf«e 
who carelessly accuse the Peshwa of inability or neglect to 

uproot the Niaam finally from the Deccan, lhat Shahu was 
mainly responsible for preserving the Haldarabad State. He 
thus writes to Bajirao, Vou must on no account inflict any 

loss upon Nizam-ul-mulk or injure his susceptilHlities. We 
enjoin this on you as a sacred obligation to the memory of 
your revered father.*' At the same time Shahu allowed his 

Peshwa to exercise fuH control over the Maratha government 

and the State,'* 

It is also clear incidentally that those stand self-condemn¬ 
ed, who accuse Shahu and his Peshwas of having sold Maratha 
independence to the MughaJs by accepting their vassalage. 

What better results could have been achieved by Tarabai and 
her party, If Shahu had not gained the leadership of the 
Maratha State ? 

4. The i^uidc aaion of Amjbera.—Palkhed funns a 
landmark in the career of Bajirao. The eight years from ApriC 

15. P. D. 10. 75, 5. R. 188, P. D. 17. 13. 
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1720 when he was invested with the Peshwaship, to March 
1726 when he scored his first notable victory against a veteran 
soldier and diplomat of tile character and capacity of Nuam- 
ul-mulk, may be termed a period of probation in which he 

felt his ground, collected his own party, and proved his capa> 
city for the leadership in the Maratha State. Above all he 
secured the confidence of his master Shahu and belief in his 

own powers. At the same tlme^he seems to have made his 
•choice of expansion of his power in the north in preference to 
the south, in which latter direction the Pratinldhi, 'Qic Sumant, 

Fateainh Bhosle and even Shahu himself would not have al¬ 
lowed him a free hand. Tired of constant pertonal jealou^ea 
and court intrigues, he selected Malwa and Bunddkband as 
the field where he could leave a pennanenl mark. 

During the rainy season of 1728 the two brothers and their 
immediate assodaten deliberated long and anxiously, and made 
up their minds to strike first, strike hard and strike efFeedve- 

ly. Possibly they did not disclose their plans to Shahu for 
fear of provoking his disapproval: perhaps they had no full 
rand detailed plans of what was going to be achieved. They 
had only one pres&ng object before them. Shahu had long 

since contracted debts which he was most anxious to pay off. 
If the Peshwa was not to find funds to release his own master 

from the constant pressure of creditors, who else could do it 7 
'Whom else was Shahu to look up to ? So by some means 
or other money must be procured at once. Malhar Rao IIol* 
kar and Ranoji Sindia who had previous acquaintance with 
Malwa, had estimated Its resources and revealed to their mas* 

ter the prospect of some signal achievement and quick gain. 
Gujarat was rich enough, no doubt, but it was a preserve of 
the Senapatl whom the Peshwa dare not touch. 

Giridhar Bahadur was at this time the Mughal Subahdar 
governing Malwa. He was an able and tried officer with a 
prestige for upholding Mughal predominance and traditions. 

He had by his side an equally energetic and resourceful co¬ 
adjutor in his own cousin Daya Bahadur. They bad vowed 

to oust the Marathas from Malwa and had received for that 
task all the support they asked for from the Emperor. Baji- 

Tao had despatched his trusted diplomat Dado Bhimsen to 
interview Sawai Jaysinh and find out how the venture into 
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Malwa wa? likely to turn out. Jaywnh had loi^ l>eeii 

on friendly terras with Shahu and being: covetous of securini; 
Malwa for himself, he was not immediately concerned in sup¬ 
porting: Giridhar and his cousin. Dado Bhimsen wrote from 

Jaipur on 17th Au^sl 1728 communicating Jayiinh’s advice 
that the time was opportujic for the Pediwa’s ento' into 

Malwa and that be should not lose a moment in under!akiiw il. 
Bajimo and hU brother formed their plans f<jr an inva¬ 

sion of Malwa and tadi separately made a formal slart <n) 
an auspidotis day from Poona, Clnmnaji by the western route 
throuKh Baklan and Khandesh, and Bajirao by the eastern 

tluough Abmadnasar, Beiiir, Chanda !uid Uevgad lowaids 
Bundelkliaud, keeping in close touch so as to render Iwlp to 

each other in case of emergency. Baji Bhivnio Ketrekar, 
Ganapatrao Mehendale, Naro Shankar, Antaji Manlashvar, 
Govindpant B undale accompanied Chimnaii in addition to the 

three trusted lieutenants Malbar, Ranoji and tldaji, These 
three proceeded long before in advance to prepare tlie paeli- 
rainaries of a sudden swoop upon Malwa. The actual inarelr- 
of Chiranaji did not commence till the Pivali (Octolrer 2S). 

and Bajirao’8 indeed much later, he having been called away 
by Shahu to accompany him to Tuljapur on his devotional 
visit to his tutelary ^ity. The veteran Pilaji Jadirav and Da- 
v'aljj Somavanshi. the new Sar-ljshkar accompanied Bajirao. 

Chimnaji reached the banks of the Narmada on 25th 

November, and four days after, on 29th he won the grand vic- 
toiy of Amjhera (near Dhar) after a stiff figlit in which both 
Giridhar Bahadur and Daya Bahadur lost their lives. The news 

of this fateful event flashed like lightning acrans India and 
shoclced the Mughal Court as much as it gladdened Maratlni 
hearts. Bajirao received the news in Bemr and at once des¬ 

patched further instructions to his brother quiddy to lollow 
up the action of Amjhera. How such a reverse could so sud¬ 

denly overtake the powerful Mi^ghal forces led by two gallant 
and experienced generals and fortified by an efficient artillery, 

is a mystery which cannot be correctly solved in the 
absence of full details. The first announcement of the Mughal 
defeat runs thus:— 

“Daya Bahadur marched to meet die Maratha.^ and 
awaited their advance at Amjhera blockirig the narrow pass of 
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the Vindhia range. But the Marathas avoided that paa, as¬ 
cended by the pas.^ oi Mandavgad and attadccd the Mughais 

unexpectedly from behind. Daya Babador found himself in 
a fix but had no alternative, except to ra^t the onslaught. 

He faced it bravely and was killed along with many note¬ 
worthy followers. Elephants, horses, drums ajid all the stand¬ 
ards were captured by the J^^arathas, and tlie whole Mughal 
camp plundered.” Cliiranaji Appa writes on 30th November, 
'*(hridhar Bahadui trcadioieusly upon us and a stitf 

IwUle raged lor six houn^ (2 praUaral. He was routed arte! 
killed dong with his wlwlo army.'*' 

The Jaipur lelt«rs run thus 

” KeshavraoV Arzdast to Maharaja Sawai Jaysinh dated 
21Jth No^Tmbcl• 1723. You must have already learnt the a^ 
(X^unl of Mtilwa and 1 also intimate tJ)e same to you. ICantlia 
Mai all w (Kanthaji Kadam) with len Lhousand horse wan¬ 
dered in Malwa and went to Gujarat. On licaring the nev»t 
ol his wandering, Raja Oiridhar Bahadur who had encamped 

at Mandsaur, sent hJs personal staff to Ujjaln and started in 
puiKuit of ilte viUain. When the Haja Bahadur was camping 

at Amjhera, Chimna Pandit brothet* of Bajirao and Uda Pawat 
with a force of 22 thousand horse suddenly crossed the 
Narmada and travelling 30 cos jo one day, left part of th«r 

troops at the fort of Dhar to prevent Muhammad Omar Khan, 
who was stationed to guard the fori, coming to join the Raja 
Bahadur, and widi tl^e rest tl^e Marathas fell upon the Raja 

Bahadur’s army. In an engagement that followed, first Rao 
Gulab Ram, and then Jamadar Salabat Khan were kilied- 
Raja Anand Ram received two musket wounds and was cap- 

turetl by tlie Ghanim with his brother Shambhu Ram. The 
Raja Bahadur discharged arrows with his own hand until the 

16. The recendy disrovered letten from the Jaipur tefarti ceatain 

a simiUr account uid Imvm ivi doubt that ih& tvG nobles mar. thefr tad 

end in one end the aaoic action of 29lh Navtrr^. althou|h pnedbly the 

fact took a little lime to be acaiTitsly aacertemed and reported It is 

necessary to note that for years pant the exact tiioe and detaib of Ihc 

death of these two chiefs had eier^laed the ingenuity of many research 

fuudenta and it ii a relief that the aystery surrounding tbe annt haa 

been Anally solved by Dr. Raghuvir Sinh. 
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/our quivers became empty, when he suddenly received a shot 
in his breast and lost his H/e in his master's sersice." 

There are further letters giving an account of the subse¬ 
quent siege of Ujjain, which was valiantly held by the ira* 

perialisU against desperate attacks by the Marathas. 

Not content with this first success Bajirao wrote back to 

•his brother, “1 am happy to learn the news of your victory 
at Amjliera, which is due to Ihu Wesaing of our master ami 
•nor revered father, May God continue to grant you similar 

victories ever more. You must take forethought about Ihc 
future : press upon Ihc capital Ujjain with all xpeed so as trj 

•obtain fur^a with which to pay the ChhatrapaCi's debts, I 

note what you say about the strenuous services rendered by 
Uclaji Pawar and others. We rely upon them all for follow¬ 
ing up this first achievement with equal persistence. Convey 

.to them all my congratulations and an assurance ol our good 
intentions. You must in particular be very circumspect. Allow 
no slackness in discipline, nor feel unduly elated by your sue* 
cess. Your fir^t concern should be money and more money. 

We intend marching towards Bundelkhand via Clianda and 
Devgad.” 

Similar congratulations were showered upon Cbimnaji 
from all quarters. It became also known that it was Holkar 
and Pawar who had obtained information beforeliand about 

the dispositions of Che Mughal forces, and the suitable routes 
for fording the river and crossing the passes beyond. Tliis 
striking success at once created a name and a pre-eminent posi* 

tlon for the Peshwa. The local Rajput element welcomed 

Maratha penetration and rendered valuable help in Che adven¬ 
ture which the Marathas had undertaken. The andent fort 
cf Mandavgad which commands the passes and passages into 

Malwa, was at once captured by Udaji Pawar but was restored 
to the Emperor’s authority by Shabu at the special request 
•of Sawai Jaysinh. 

5. Cbhatiasal rescued.—We must now turn to the 
movements of Bajirao himself. The moment was full of both 
danger and hope for the Marathas. A new era was davming 
in Indian politics. The Rajputs of no^^^ 

thoroughly disaffected towards the Mughal Empire. The 
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Bundelas in particular had long contracted iriendly relations 

with the Marathas, having been imitating the latter in thar 
light for liberty and in the many difficult adventures and trials 
for national uplift. One valiant son of Champat Rai, named 
Ghhatrasal, bad established his capital at Fauna and waged 
intennittent war against the Mughals ever since tlie da)'3 of 
Aui'angzeb and Shivaji. Born on 26th May 1650 and fadng 

misforUines and adverse circumstances, Chhatrasal early came 
to the Deccan seeking employment in the train of Mim Raja 
Jaysinh when that powerful general was sent by the Emperor 
to conquer Shivaji. He was since then more or less in touch 
with that hero's activities and lilce him aspired to win in* 
dependence for his own land, which was then included in the 
Suhah of Allahabad for adrainislrative purposes- A Pathan 

general of valour and ability named Muhammad Khan Ban- 
gash, who afterwards made a name in Indian history as the 
founder of the house of the Nawahs of Farrukhabad, was then 
the Mughal Subahdar of the province and severely restrained 
Chhatrasal from the national activities he was conducting. A 
strong antipathy thus arose between the two often leading to 

open fights and bloodshed for several years. 
Jast about the time that Nizaiti*ul-inulk and Bajirao 

were engaged in hostile operations during the early months of 
1728 in the south, Muhammad Khan Bangash attacked the 
Bundela king with a large force commanded by himself and 
hiB three valiant sons and defeated him on several occasions, 

After a sanguinary action in June 1728 Chhatrasal betook 
himself to the fort of Jaitpur, which the Bangash at once in¬ 
vested, The «ege was long and arduous. In E>ecembei‘ 1728 

at the moment when Chimnaji Appa invested Ujjain after hb 
signal success at Amjhera, Chhatrasal was so haid-pressed at 
Jaitpur that he desperately attempted to fight his way out and 

came to be captui^ severely wounded along with the fort, 
He sent urgent messages and piteous calls both to Chimnaji 

Appa at Ujjain and to Bajirao, to come with all speed and save 
his life and fortunes. Muhammad Khan Bangash was a con¬ 
summate politidan and seasoned soldier devoted to the im¬ 

perial cause. He knew what the Marathas were doing in 
Malwa but possibly did not e>fpect Bajirao to march by the 
unfrequented eastern route towards Bundelkhand with another 

M. ». n—8 
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army. Chitnnaji was fully occupied with hi^: operations 
for coasolidating the Maratha positions and acquiring booty 
out of the riches of Ujjaln, Bajlrao was at De\>gad when he 

received the news of the posture of affairs. He thus wrote to 
his brother in January : " Do not waste lime and energy upon 

Ujjain. There are other places and surrounding dislricts 
equally alluring. Let me at once know if you require* me to 
join you. If I do not hear from you, I shall go directly into 

Bundelkhand." Tn the mcfintlme Chhatrasal managed to seiwl 
urgent and conhdenCial emissariej^ to Bajirau calling upon him 

to come to his relief without a moment's delay,” Bajirsu) a** 
ceived this S. 0, S. at (iarha in February, 1729 and at once 
wrote to Chimnaji, " I am proceeding to succour Chhatrasal. 

You may anange your movements independently of me as 
suits you best.” 

Bajlrao bad with him about 25,000 horsemen commanded 
by trusted lieutenants like PUaji Jadhav, Naro Shankar, Tukoji 

Pawar and Davalji Somavanshf. On 12th March he reached 
Mahoba where Oihatrasal's son met hhn. The next day 

Chhatrasal himself arrived having contrived to escape from his 
confinement and brought him prcjicnts and marks of honour.“ 

Bajirao boldly pusl;ed forward against the Bnugash and having 
act in motion his (^ans for the contest he wa.s undertaking, 
infected severe reverses upon his adversary^ considerably add¬ 

ing to the glory of Maratha valour already won by Chininaji 
Appa at Amjhera. The Bangaah also met the danger boldly, 
ser^ urgent calls for help to the Emperor and requisitioned 

his son Qaim Khan to come with fresh troops. Bajirao learnt 
that Qaim Khan was coming in hot haste and so he proceeded 
against him before the father and tlie son could effect a Junc¬ 

tion. Qaim Khan was routed near Jaitpur and ran away from 
the field with only 100 followers to save his life. Writes Pilaji 

17. This imploring caQ has bean tnusortalized by the poci in a Hindi 

verse rccallicjf a mytliolo^caT stozy now .wclMuigwn la every Kbool boy. 

It mcQRS "Know you, Bajirao, I am in that name i9d pDfilU in 

vhi<^ thfi hmrm ^ephant wu when caitidit by the erocodUo. My vali¬ 

ant ra^e b on the point ol extincdoc. Coaic and save ray honour. 

^ ^ri?r rft? ^ STfsig STTsr I 

flTw 3iT?r *fnfr sra* ii 
18. P. D. 22, 3fi, 
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Jadhav from the place of action: "Having conciliated the 
chief of Devgad, the Peshwa proceeded to (>arha where lie 
leaml of the Bangash coming to attack Chhatrasal with a 
strong force of 20 thousand well equipped troops, We then 

effected a junction with Chhatrasal's men and have now sur¬ 
rounded the Bangash. In the meantime Qalm Khan Bangash 
with a fresh succour of 30 thousand marched against ue. Wi> 
prevented him from effecting a junction with his father and 
handled him so roughly, that after a sanguinary action be was 
completely routed. A large amount of booty has been secured, 

among whid) are 3.000 and 13 elegants. Endowed Ih 
a list of our killed and wounded. Please do conununicate the 
news to their relations, We hope itoon to finish this affair and 
mlum ht«ne. Muhammad Khan still remains besieged and wiW 
be vonquislicd i\ lie ventures out. If to save himself from 
starvation he for terras, these will be granted in order to 

conclude operations quicldy as the season is fast espiring,'**® 

Muhammad Khan was humbled and "allowed to return 
safe to his headquarters upon hid giving a written undertaking 
that he would never again r^m to Bundclkhand or embarrass 

Qihatrasal in any way." Thus was Bundelkhand lost to the 
Empire in the same way that Malwa had been four months 
before. The defeat and disgrace of Muhammad Khan Bangash 

the bravest and most spirited of the Mughal nobles of his time 
were complete. Tlic Emperor deprived him of his government 

of Allahabad and appointed Sar-buland Khan to that <&e. 

The old Chhstrasal could now afford to have a peaceful 
arid glorious end. He lavished all honours and riches upon 

Bajirao, who became 8o endeared to him tJial he held an open 
Darbar in Bajirao’a honour, brought his two young sons 
Hirdesa and Jagat Raj before him and entrusted them to his 
care for the future. At the same time he assigned out of bis 
dominions a large jagir In perpetuity to Bajirao, and extracted 

from him a sacred promise that he would look upon his two 

sons as his younger brothers and protect them from harm in 
the midst of the ferocious enemies round them. Bajirao readily 
assented. It was very possibly at this time that Chhatrasal 

19. Raj. 3. 14. 
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made a unique present of the young Mastani®'* to Bajivao fol¬ 
lowing the traditional usage of honouring a guest in liigh posl- 

lion, wlw had rescued him from instant ruin. 
Bajirao left Jaitpur on 23rd May 1729 for Poona. The 

aged Qihatrasal died two years later on 14th Decomher 
1731, happy in the thought that his descendants would be free 

from the distress that he had to put up witli during his long 
and chequered life. The example of Bajirao like that of Shi- 
vaji in^ired the Bundelas and other Kajputs in north India 

and even the Sikhs of the distant Punjab caught the spirit of 
revolt against the religious persecution of half a century. Tlie 

Hughal Empire was in dissolution. 
Upon Bajirao's return to his native land lavisli praises and 

hearty congratulations were showered upon him. But what must 
have been the feelings of Sliahu ? Was he elated at these grand 

successes ? No. His sense of justice and good will could not 
welcome such excesses as he thought the two brothers had com¬ 
mitted in a distant land. He was afr^d, they would bring 
disaster and retribution. On 12Lh April 1729 he wrote, " It 
is now the season for the troops to return. We have to con¬ 

vey to Bajirao certain imperative admonitions and command 

him to repair to our presence at once along with iTdaji Pawar 
and Holkar, Please do not delay.” 

The disposition made by Chhatrasal proved more trouble¬ 
some than beneficial for the ends it was intended to serve. 

Chhatrasal’s agents Hahdas Purohit and Asharam came to 
Poona to adjust the points in connection with the jagir that 
was promised to Bajirao. In the meantime Chhafrasal expired 

and his two sons agreed to hand over to Bajirao territory 
worth Rs. one and a quarter lacs each. Next year when Chim- 
naji Appa went to BundelJdiand he took charge of the assigned 
districts and appointed Govindpant Kher known thereafter as 

BundeU to manage the acquisition. They are enumerated as 
Kalpi, Hata, Saugor, Jhansf, Sironj, Kunch, Garhakota and 
Hirdeaagar.*' 

20. Mastani't story vill be narrated Ulcr. 

2t. Later on some of th« districts were transferred by Bajirao to 

Mastani'a son Shamther Bahadur who made Banda his chief town of reti¬ 

cence, thus giving hie deacendanU the title of the Nawabe of Banda. It 

ta said that the Jagir of Bands later on yielded an annual revenue of 
33 Isca of rupees. 
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1717 January U 

1726.2a 
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172a September 27 

1730 January 8 
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1730 August 8 

1730 Sep.—Oct, 

1730 November 

1730 closing months 

1730 October 10 

1730 December 

1731 February 

1731 February 
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CHAPTER V 

Khanderao Ihibhade made Senapnti. 

Rajasbai administers tlie Kolhapur Stale. 

Sambhaji deserts Nisam, returns to Panliala. 

Maiwa, Bundelkhartd. Gajarat pass under 

Maratha inAucnce. Jay^nh advocates ap* 

peasement ol Bajkao. 

Senapati Khanderao Dabhade dvd. 

rrimbak Rao Dabhade appointed Senapati; 

CJiimnaji Appa levies Chauth In Gujarat. 

Sarbuland Khan recalled from Gujarat; 

Abliay Sinb appointed Subahdar. 

Sambfiaji offers suboiisslon to Shahu. 

Deep Sinh's mission to Satara and to Nizam 

at Aurangabad. 

Shahu sends a deputaiioo to fetch Sambhaji 

from PanliaJa to Satara. 

’Senapati Dabhade and other Msiatha Chiefs 

join Nisam aod form a strong combination 

against Sbabu aod Bajiraa 

Under orders of Shahu Bajirao lett Poona to 

fetch Dabhade to Satara. 

Muhammad IChan Bangssh appointed Su- 

bahdar of Malwa and Abbay Sinh ol 

Gujarat 

The two royal cousins meet near Karhad arki 

prooed to Satara. 

Bajirao and Chimnaji Appa j^n forces in 

Gujarat. They meet Abhay Sinh at Ahtnad* 

abad and proceed to Baroda. 

Nisam and Bangash meet at the Narmada 

and concert mcasuias against the Marathas. 

Battle of Dabhai: Trimbak Rao killed ; his 

mother seeks justice from Shahu. 
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172-1 April 13 

1731 May 

1732 April 14 

1732^ 

1^1 April 26 

1760 December 20 

1761 December 0 
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Treaty of IVarna concluded between %Slialm 

and Sambhaji. 

Umabai Dabhade reconclJcd to Bajiraih 

Abhay Sinh murders Pilaji Gaikwad at Daknr. 

Five vieits r>f Sambha;i to Sstara. 

Sambluijj’d motlicr Rajosbal dks. 

Sambbaji dies. 

Tarahai< Pnjararn’a Paiu. dies 



CHAPTER V 

FURTHER TRIUMPHS 

C1730—1731} 

I tlHi mwlor Deep Sinh. S CcremooiAl meerini* nf the 
i ^niMiajl licuufiht tti n>X*l cutaias. ABreemeok 

sultmissjon. ‘1 Fu Senipaii 

I. Tlie mission of Deep Sinh.—We must now go back . 
to Shahu's Court and review how he and hia immediate 
advisera were faring during the year 1729 when Malwa, 
Hundrikhand, and Gujarat were being subjugated by the 

Peeh?i^ and his brother. The affairs of Gujarat will be narrat* 
>ed elsewhere. Nisam-ul-mulk, though temporarily checked at 

Palkhed, did not give up his efforts Of putting obstacles in 
the way of Maratha progress in the south. The defeat and 
death of Giridbar Bahadur and the set back that the Bangash 

had sustatned, created quite a coastemation in the heart of the 

Emperor and his re^nsible advisers, among whom there was 
a sharp division of opinion about their future policy. One 
party headed by Kban Dauran and Jaysinh was for appeas¬ 
ing the Marathas and trusting to their honour for the preser¬ 
vation of the Empire. The other party headed by SaadaC 

Khan, Muhammad Khan Bangash and Abbay Sinb were 
for a united offensive to be at once launched against the 
Marathas to drive them out by force of arms. ITie Wazir 

Qamruddin Khan and the Emperor himself could not make up 
their minds rither for the one or the other course. 

The Court of Delhi iiad lost all their former vigour and 

Idt thenselves too weak for an ofieasive war, particularly when 
they remembered that heroic efforts against the Marathas by 

Aurangzeb, Bahadur Shah and the Saiyads for hall a century 
had proved of no avail. At the same time they could not in 
all conscience think of an abject surrender. At this juncture 
Jayanh came forth to undertake the respomibility of deal¬ 

ing with the Marathas, and as an earnest of hie efforts suc¬ 
ceeded in getting back Mandavgad by a personal appeal to 



112 NBW HISTORY OF THR MARXTHAR [ VOI.- II 

Shahu. Before any decision was taken, it \vas necessarj' Co 

fmd out what the Maratlia aims actually weie, how Tar they 
were disposed to come to terms with the imperial Court and 

most of all how Shahu Raja was personally indined towards 
the Emperor. ReliaWe information on these points \va>^ vlul 
lor any step to be taken and had to be obtained personally 

through trustworthy agents. It was, tlierefore, resolvKl by the 
Emperor and his Court to «end a deputation to meet Siuihu 
and the Peshwa at Satara, discuss personally wiUi tliem llu* 

points of a lasting settlement and also gather at the same time 
the views and indinatfons of Nisam-ul-mullc whose voice and 

experience as an accredited governor of tlw south, was c»f su¬ 
preme importance for any decision. Tlie dcputalion was em¬ 
powered to arrange definite terms of a solemn agreement Co be 

ratified at a later date, 
Jay^h himself took the lead in this negotiation and after 

consulting Rana Sangram Sini of Udaipur, chose the person¬ 
nel of the mission- He himself nominated Deep Sinh and 
Mansaram Purohit and Sangram Sinh added his own nominee 

Bagchi (Vyaghraji). These ambassadors with a sultalile 
retinue arrived at ^tara in tlw autumn Of 1730 and were 
courteously received. The Pe&hwa, Faieainh and Raghuji 

Bhosle, the Frstinidhi, tl)e Sumant, the Purandares and dth^ 

were all openly and privately consulted by these delegates in 
the month of September ; and after iinishing tlieir business at 
Satara, the mission proceeded to Aurangabad to interview 

Nisam-ul-mulk, who iso treated them with equal hospitality. 
They left Aurangabad early in November and on return made 
their report to Jaysinh and the Emperor's Court. Bagchi the 

representative of tfdaipur died oa the way back near Ajanta. 
The ambassadors formed a flattering opinion of the Maratha 

Court and its policy. One of them Mansaram Pumhit was 
indeed so taken up with Shahu’s ways and the life at Satara, 

thnt he soon after cane and lived with Shahu for tlie rest of 
his life. He was highly respected in flw Deccan. 

The impression formed by the mission was that the 
Marathas had no aggressive or grasping ambition of a wicked 
character, that they only imusted upon collecting the Chautb 

and were ready in retui'n to serve the Emperor and run to 
his protection whenever required. They demanded 11 and 15 
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lara for the amiual Chauth of Gujarat and Malwa respectively. 

If such an arrangement were formally approved by the Em¬ 
peror, no trouble would be created by the Marathas in future. J 
The views of Nizam-ul-toulk were, however, found entirely 
different He had no good opinion of Bajirao and declared 
openly that he could not trust hU word, although at the same 
lime he could not suj^st how be could be put down by means 

of force in the face of repealed failures in Che past. Nizam-ul- 
mulk tried to influence the ambassadors and Induce tliem to 
make a strongly unfavourable report about Maratha ambitions. 
He isaid, agreemg to pay them 15 lacs a year tor Malwa would 
ruin it^ governor Bangaslt, as he was not in a position to save 

that amount out of the usual collections. As regards Gujarat, 
the situation accoiding to Nizam-ul-mulk was more depress¬ 
ing, as the Gailcwadi^, the Bandays, Abhay Sinh and others 
laid claim to that province, and Ihe Peshwa could not keep 
all these under control. Deep Sinh suggested tliat the Peshwa 

and Jayeinh together would repel the Bandays and the Gaik* 
wads. Nizatn-ul-mulk rqiiied, they profess^ to do so, but 
who could trust Bajirao ? Deep Sinh replied, *' 1 consider 
Bajirao's word of honour fully trustv^orlhy, as he and Jaysloh 

wore traditional friends and admirers of each other." 
Nlram-ul-mulk could not refute Deep Sinb's conclusions 

and in indignation asked, ''Whom do you find worthy of truat 
and re8i)ect at Satara ? Who do you think commands the , 
Raja’s confidence?" Deep Sinh replied, “Of course Ba-jirao. 

It was lo find this out that I was particularly deputed from 
Delhi. No one else at Shahu’s court can equal Bajirao in 
valour, probity, diplomatic talents or organizing capacity. 

He is the only man who pre-eminently rules the Maralha 
Court" "How did you find the Raja himself?" saked the 
Nizam. 

De^ Sinh—The Raja too is a capable ruler, 
Nizam—1 do not think so. He is too light-hearted and 

fond of gossips. 
Deep Sinh—If he were not wise and capable, bow could 

hi% raj fiourisb so well ? He is indeed a considerate and wise 

ruler and knows his craft well. 
The \&ratha agent at the Court of Nizam-ul-mulk thus 

comments on tius subject> 
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“ Nixani'Ul-mulk felt severe irriiation at the lavish praise 
which Deep Sinh bestowed upon Bajirao and replied,--! have 

absolutely no good opiinon of Bajlrao's faith or humanity/' 
Deep Sinh—You may have your own grounds for formiug 

this opinion about him. I for myself feel sure that Bajirao 

is a capable man, welhexperienced and honest, who would res¬ 

pect his plighted word. Of aU the Haja'a counseUoni lie alone 
bears a pre-eminent cJiaracter. Mis army tru.^ts him as a super¬ 

ior person. 
Nj2am«-But he Is inordinatdy arrogant and deserves U» 

be severely handled. 
Deep Sinh-«I do not consider it wise on your part to 

think of antagonising such an able person a.s Bajirao. parll- 
cularly when the Emperor himself looks upon you as a rebel 

and deserter. Bajirao can at any moment collect a lac of troops 

to oppose you. 
Nizam--Is not Nar Bawa (Naro Ram) an equally cap- 

ble person at Shahu's Court ? I sent Gbiyas Khan to Satara 

and he reported that he could easily put down Bajirao by 
taking Nar Bawa into his confidence. You will soon sec how 
we shall accomplish this end of bringing Bajirao down to his 

knees. We have already been promised about 50 thousand 
men to be collected by Sidhoji Nimbalkar, Kantliaji Banday, 
Udaji Pawar, and Kanhoji Bhosle and the Gaikwads, who are 

all ready to join us and witiTwhose co-operation we shall «lher 
capture Bajirao alive or put him to such a rout and plunder, 
that he would nev^ raise his head again. 

Deep Sinh—I have communicated to you what appeared 
to me right and just. You are at liberty to take whatever mea¬ 
sures you consider necessary. 

lius account of Deep Sinh's mission supplies a recorded 
explanation of tlie lifelong conteal that raged betsreen Niaam- 

ul-mulk and Bajirao with results which are well-known. 
Jaysinli possibly wished to secure Maratha friendship in order 
to acquire the provinces of Malwa and Agra. So far as any 

direct reaulls are concerned. Deep Sinh's mission proved a 
failure. It only presents a graphic picture of Ihc political 

situation of the times and explains tlie turn of future events. 
Nisam-uJ-mulk was the ablest old representative of the 

Mughal power and Bajirao, thirty years his junior, was the 
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young rising slar of the Marathas. Bajirao’s agent residing 

with the Niaam thus reported to him (November 1730), 
Anandrao Sumant has addressed to Niaatn-ul-mulk a sadly 

vituperative abuse of you. This certainly spells danger. 
Niaam-ul-mulk takea these reports as true. He wterlains 
venom in his breast; is full of wiles and stratagem. Kanthaji, 

Udaji and Kanhoji are frequept visitors here and are bdng 
seduced by Anandrao Sumant, who has assured the Nisam that 
King Shahu would not be ^rry at all if Bajlrao is put down, 
and that not a di>« would bark at such a result." The agent 
then warns Bajirac against remisaness or neglect. '* One must 

lake warning even from a casual dream " says he, and adds, 
“two ol the Nizam’s prominent helpers Hamid Wian and Aiwa2 

Khan are dead and ) a few others have lost faith in him. 
These openly dedare that he in test losing his senses and ap' 
preaching his end. which he is destined to meet with at your 

hands. You are fortunate in possessing the blesdngs of a pious 
king like Shahu. Tliose who oppose him will surely court 

ruin. Such a foolish move on the part of the Niaarn only 
indicates there are higher successes in store for you. Pride will 
have its fall. God works on the side of truth. Yesterday 

Deep Sinh was given hia final send-off, when a ooldneas between 
Cl^em became perfectly visible. Chandrasen Jadhav was sulk¬ 

ing and h being assuaged. Dabhade and Bsnday have written 
lo the Nizam asking for assurance of shelter, if they sticceed 
in humbling the Peshwa and in putting an end to Shahu’s raj. 

They contemplate making Sambhaji the CWiatrapati, Dabhade 
his Senapati and Kantbaji Banday his Sar-Lashkar. Letters 

to this effect were received through Ghiyas Khan, upon which 
the Nawab declared. "I have Sambhaji’a interests next to my 
heart; if we can, we should raise him to the throne and remove 

Shahu. thus aggravating their family dissensions: that will 
conduce to our interest Sudi a chance has been presented to 
us without our asking. 'Which of the two, Shahu or Sambhaji. 
loses is immaterial, one opponent will be the itas for us. 

Therefore we won’t reject the pmpoeal-’' 
Another agent of Bajirao writes to him from the Nizam’s 

headquarters, "Ycoi must be closely on your guard. The 
Pratinidhi is setting up an. intrigue against you here. It is 
a wilful mischief, which you must as wilfully counleract. The 
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Nisain is afraid of forfeiting Shahu’s friendship; outwardly 
he speaks sweet words, as the terror of Bajirao has taken 
possession of his heart/' 

As reports like this poured upon Bajirao's attention from 
various quarters, it would have been madness for him to re¬ 

main off hU guard. The safely of Shahu and of the Maratha 
raj was in bis keeping, and he lost no time in brinitiiiit to 
Shahu’s mind a lively seasc of the daneerous idtuatiun that 

Nizam-ul-mulk was creating in collusiun with Dabhade and 
other traitors. Thus arose tl^e necessity of restrain I nir both 
Sambhaji and Dabhade, a task which occupied Bajirao during 

the two years 1730 and 1731, and which now deserves our 
attention. 

2. Sambhaji bioughc co submission.—Shahu's domestic 
struggle which commenced with his advent into tire Deccan 
in 1707, had ^ce passed through various phases and had not 

yet ended. How the unprovoked attack by Niaam-ul-mulk 
which ended in his discomhture at PalJched, aro.se Ihrough 
Sambhaji has been already narrated. Bhagwsnlrao Ainalya 
and Udaji Chavan tliereaftei* half-heartedly upheld his caase; 

Chandrasen Jadhav did not venture any longer to take an 
active part against Shahu and Bajirao. Shahu did his beat 

all along to conciliate his royal cousin. When he openly re^ 
volted and sought the shelter of Nizam-ul-mulk in 1727 Shahu. 

addressed the Mowing letter to him. which deserves to be 
quoted in full as it sets forth the ideals which Shahu as the 
Maratha king was pumulng and the method he employed in 
dealing with bis antagoniets :— 

'*ThLs kingdom is a gift iiam How can you hope 

to win success by seeldng the protection of a Muslim ? K 
you wanted to have a separate kingdom of your own, you 
could have communicated your desire to us. We possess men 

of pre-eminent capacity some of wiiom would have accompani¬ 
ed you and procured for you a kingdom of your own ; or you 

should have acquired one by your own prowi^s. We are at 
present acquiring fresh territories to add to our kingdom out 
of tiiose seized by the Mughals. You could have followed a 
similar course and made your own maik. But to ask a share 

out of what we hare gained is not right. Y*our revered father 
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the late Rajaraiti Maharaj went as far as Jinji and eventually 
obtained a kingdom through great personal efTort. He then 
returned to his home in Maharashtra, plundered ridi and re¬ 
nowned dties and made a name lor himadf. You must be 
well aware what a keen interegl he tool? in our welfare, and 

what efforts he made to get us released from the impedHl con- 
Cnwnent. Knowing all this, your seeking the protection of a 
Muslim governor was not at all proper. You should at once 
quit the Mughals and come back to us. We will ourselves 
grant you whatever you need most willingly. But to daim a 
shsue in a kingdom has no religious sanction. You must give 

up tills evil course- Chandrnsen Jadhav’s conduct in proving 
faithless to us and accepting service under a Mughal govern¬ 

ment, is most reprehensible; coming as he docs from the 
Jadhav family of Ramdev Rao of Devgiri, he openly acted 
against the Maharashtra Dharma, i.e., the sacred policy en¬ 
joined by our religion- It was tlie height of folly on your part 

to have acted upon the advice of such a renegade and served 
the Muslim ends." 

But this remonstrance had no effect upon Ssmbhaji. 
Soon hia Senapati Ranoji Ghorpade and his Amatya Bhag- 

wantrao and other officials openly deserted him out of disgust 
and came over to Bhahu for service. Udaji Chavait of Athni 
already a broken reed remained Sambbaji's only supporter for 
a time. When Bajirao and Chimnaji Appa were engaged in 
Malwa and fiuodelkband during 1729, Udaji at the instiga¬ 

tion of Sambhaji plundered Shahu*s territories and created 
trouble for him. Then Shahu himself undertook a campaign 
against Udaji Chavan early in 1730. One day as Shahu was 

out hunting, some agents employed by Udaji came up with the 
intention of murdering him. The plot was discovered and 
the culprits punished. Thereupon Sbahu flung aside his usual 

equanimity and ordered a march straight upon Saznbhaji's 
territory with a large force commanded by Trimbalcrao 
Dabhade. Shahu himself remained encamped on the Warns. 

In Mdich 1730, the Pratinidhi attacked Simbhaji’s camp on 
the other side of the Wama. Both Sambhaji and Udaji were 

separately routed and escaped to Panhala. When Sambhaji's 
camp was plundered, his ladies including his aunt Tarabai, bis 
Rani Jijabai and the whole staff of the household, were cap- 
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twed dnd brought before Shahu as prisoners. The occasion 

revealed Sbahu's nobility of heart, to Lbe aatonisliment of the 
royal ladies. He paid due respect to them all and after con¬ 
versing with them affably, allowed them to go back to Sam- 

bhaji at Panhala. Tarabai was already under Sambhaji’s 
confinement and elected to live with Shahu at Satara. 
havit^ for her manager Yado Copal ICiatavkar who was ap¬ 

pointed to loolc after her comfort- She was to have Uw same 
reatramts upon her liberty that she Iwd to pul up wUli ul 
Panhala, Thereupon Shahu and Tarabai returned from the 
camp to Satan for the monsoon, giving up the plan of pur¬ 

suing Sambhajl In favour of conciliation. Sambliaji now 
found that hia position had become hopeless. Writes Bhag- 
wantrao Amatya, “The affairs of Sambhaji sank lower day 
by day. Justice, diaracter, wisdom and similar virtues be¬ 

came conspicuous by their absence in hk administration. 
Tliere exists not a single person here who can be called a 
gentleman.” 

Sambhaji was strongly advised by his well-wij^hera and 
perhaps by his Kani Jijabai in particular, to tlirow himself on 

the mercy of Shahu and obtain the best bargain he could from 
him. ratlier than continue hostilities which promised no suc¬ 
cess against the resources of Shabu, who had already despatch¬ 
ed force.* for the capture of Vishalgad and other places belong¬ 
ing to Sambhaji. Udaji Cliavan also deserted Sambhaji and 

accepted service under Shahu. 

Tarabal’s presence at Satara opened a channel for com¬ 
munication and exchange of views. Sambhaji wa* urged to 
make a personal visit to Shahu. They had never met before. 
Shahu wmte to him a cordial personal letter assuring him of a 
waiTii reception if he would come in a penitent spirit. In 

October 1730 Sambhaji wrote the following reply to Shahu:-- 

"Your very warm greetings and your sincere and hearty 
wishes for a cordial and lasting understanding between us. 

conveyed by the revered Matushrisaheb (Tarabai) have rea¬ 
ched me and gladdened my heart immensely. Coming from 
an elderly person of your eminence, the message is most wel¬ 

come and in the htness of things. I leciprocate your senti¬ 
ments with equal wanath. What can redound to our credit 

more than that our differences should be finally settled and 
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that perfect amity should for ever exist between usV Her 

Highness had long since advised me to send Babaji Prabbii 
to discuss and arrai^ an agreed course. But ill-l^alth pre* 
vented him from undertaking the journey earlier. He is now 
better and takes this letter from me as a token of my sincere 

wish for a happy lennination of the troubles betweer\ us.” 
Bhagwantrao Amatya also wrote at the ^ame time to 

Shahu that “ as tlie Court of Kolhapur has become a reluge of 
mean and ill-mannered beings, I would feel grateful if your 
liighness would allow me to serve at your feet." 

Babaji Nilakanth Prabhu Parasnis of Kolhaptir mention¬ 
ed in Sambliajl's letter was a clever and commanding perso- 
Dality, who heardly worl<»d for bringing about a lasting re¬ 
conciliation iKtween the royal cousins of the Chhatrapati's 
house. Shahu practically agreed to everythii^ that Sambhaji 
aslfed for and sent back the ambassador with dresses and pre¬ 
sents along with a reply courfied in such flattering terms, that 

they melt^ e\fen the hard heart of Sambhaji, whose answer will 
c\'er remain a model of both language and aenliment. He 
wrote back this short message : ” Your divine grace and extra¬ 
ordinary affection have touched me to the quick. You are a 

father to me, It belioves you in that capacity to take care of 
me. This conduct will redound to your lasting credit." 

3. Ceremtmial meeting and agreement—Sambhaji 
thus gave up his former high pretensions and agreed to accept 

what Shahu out of his generosity would willingly offer. But 
the latter did not stint himself In any way and rose to the occa- 
{don without showing the least rancour for all the past ans 
of hb cousin. During November 1730, Shahu sent to Panhata 

a large party of his high officials and men of influence to 
escort Sambhaji to Satara. Fatesinh Bhosle, the Pratinidhi, 

Nar Bawa Mantri, Balaji Bajirao, Bhavani Shankar Munshi, 
Ambajipant Purandare, Krishnaji Dabhade, Nimbalkar, and 

others with a large body of troops proceeded to Panhala and 
were received with equal respect m a Darbar where they^ all 
offered to Sambhaji Tuiiar$ and presents of elephants, horses, 

jewellery and dresses. In letum they were each ^ven similar 
dresses at a parting ceremonial. They left Panhala on 
December 16 escorting Sambhaji and his party, travelling back 
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by easy raardies. After a'Ossing the Wama at Wadgaon they 

reached the vicinity of Karhad in due course. 
Shahu on his part had already proceeded to Karhad, about 

30 miles south-east of Satara, where a grand cimp was pitched 
-on the banks of the Krishna. The meeting place of the two 
royal cousins was arranged at a village a few miles off. at 

Jakhinwadi, where a large open tent or shamyiiwi splendidly 
decorated, was pitched near the river. ThQ large iu^'^in- 
blagc consisting of the Sardars, troops and followci's t)l 

the two parties is said to have numbered over two lacs. An 

auspicious moment on the afternoon of 27 February, 1731, 
Saturday, Falgun Shudh 2 of the Shak year 1652, was fixed 
for the actual meeting. Amidst the music of bands and instru¬ 

ments, Shahu and Sambhaji rode on their richly caparisoned 
elephants towards each other through long files of well ap¬ 
pointed troops, receiving tlidr homage. As soon as they 
sighted each other, they dismounted from their elephants and 

ooming closer embraced each other warmly, punctiliously ob¬ 
serving the traditional forms prescribed in tl« shastras. They 
then proceeded to the Darbar where the members of the two 

parties made their bows. After the Darbar the two sovereigns 
again mounted an el^hant and top:ether drove to the camp 
of Shahu. A grand dinner was ananged in the evening after 

which rich presents were distributed. The two princes spent 
a few days in the camp freely conversing and enjoying the 
amusements of* hundng, music, games and other pastimes, each 

doing his utmost to please the other. Some no^ programme 
was arranged every day- The merriment of the occasion was 
heightened by its synchronising with the celebration of the I loll 
festival which commenced on 12th March and for which the 

host and the guest moved to Shahu-nagar for additional re¬ 
joicings. The whole of Maharashtra glowed in rapture at the 

unaccustomed ^ghts of spendour that characterised the cele¬ 
bration which long lived in the memory of that generation. 

Thus the civil war that had started with the release of 
Sh^u came to a close. A treaty of peace consisting of nine 
articles was concluded and formally ratified on 13th April 1731 

It is known as the treaty of Wama, for that river was 

made the boundary line between tHe two kingdoms. The 
territory to the south of this river and stretching right up to 
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the bark of the Tungabhadra was assigned to Sambhaji’s 
independent sovereignty in all essentials, but subordinate to 
Shahu as far as his foreign relations and safety v;ere concern- 
ed. It was also stipulated that the southern districts beyond 
the Tungabhadra right up to Raraediwar should be supposed 

common for joint endeavour. Sambhaji never once moved out 
or endeavoured to eictend his dominion- What Shahu allot¬ 
ted to him in 1730 has practically been the ectent of the 
Kolhapur State right up to the present day, without much 
change in spite ol the vidswtudes of more than two hundi-cd 

years. Pos.sibIy Belgaum and a few other places have been 
lost by Kolhapur- 

Sambhaji’s character and capacity were limited and be 
sank into insignificance in comparison with the high portion 
of Shaliu and his rapidly rising Peshwas. If be had delayed 
longer to submit to Shahu in a spirit of humble acquiesencc, 
he would probably have been extinguished altogether. During 
the 23 years of the civil w^, one dearly notices three st^es 

of an'approach to settlement, the earliest in-1708, just after 
Shahu’s coronation, the next in and the last during this 
visit in 1731- At each stage Shahu’s terms grew less liberal on 

account of the mtinued opposition which Sambhaji Openly 
offered to him, Thus the cM war star^ by and 
continued by Sambhaji availed them nolhL^,''ii5rn3id"it* 
materially affect Shahu’s prospects, He. rose all the more in 
public estimation on account of his high personal characte* 

and the latitude for service he offered to the able persons he 
collected about himself, 

This result of Shahu's relations with Sambhaji has proved 
historically noteworthy for the Maratha raj- -A aeF>arate 
kingdom c^€_to be permanently created .in the heart..of 

Tsiahar^lra, whidi proved a perennial source of discord. The 
Kolhapur rulers claimed equality of status with those of Satam, 

» that the creation of the Kolhapur raj resulted in perpetuat¬ 
ing the divison of the Maratha. nation. In 1740 upon the 
death of Bajirao, Sajnbhaji came to visit Shahu at Satara, 

when the new Peshwa executed a secret understanding vrith 
him for umting the two branches of the C3iba&3p;yi's 

Shahu had no male issue and it v?as proposed that Sambhaji 
should succeed him at his death. If such a consummation bad 

M, IT, 
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come aboul, a perpetual source of factious trouble would have 
been permanently removed. 

Sambhaji’s affairs did not improve by the treaty of the 
Warna. Nor could his relations with Shaliu remain entirely 

cordial. He paid frequent visits to Satara mostly at Shahu's 
invitation and was every time treated wiUi all respvct and 
cordiality. But he remained sullen and discontented owing to 

various trifling causes. He found himself openly defied by some 
of his own subordinates who, he considered, were instigated 
agairust him by persons in Shahu's employ. Sambhiiji was born 
on 23rd May 1698 and died on 20 December 1760. It is 

curious that Shabu or Tarabai never once visited Panliala and 
Kolhapur again after the treaty wa« concluded. Sambhaji’s 
mother Rajasbai died on 26th April 1761; and tl« aged Tara¬ 

bai, Chhatrapati Rajaram’s wife also died ten years later on 

Deceraber 9> 1761. 

4, Bxii Senspad D&bhndc.^It has already been men¬ 
tioned how the pfinciple of hereditary appointments proved 
vinous to the Maratlia State. Khanderao Dabliadc, who 
had been appointed Senapati by Shahu on 11th January 1717, 
liad no doubt been a capable lender at one time, but soon be¬ 

came a spent force, unable to execute the new policy and fresh 
enterprizes wfuch the dashing Peshwas inaugurated, Bajirao 
necessarily usurped the Senapatl's function byj:£islng his own 

iqdep^ndant armies and leading expeditions in whidi the ser¬ 
vices of the Senapati came to be gradually discarded. Thus 
the Dabhades slowly came to be pu^ied into the back-ground 

and spent their time and energy in sulking and recrimination, 
which Shahu could not prevent. Khanderao declined in 
health and became personally unfit for carrying on the duties 

of his ofilce. His own household became a hot bed of intrigue 
vice. His wife Umabai and son Trimbakitio, both spirit¬ 

ed and able in their own way but jealous of the Peshwa's 

predominance, only worsened the situation, by their overbear¬ 
ing ways and aniagonUm to the Peshwa. When Khanderao 

died on 27th September 1729. matters began to assume a grave 
aspect for the Senapati's house. Trimbakrao-rMeived from tabu the robes of his father^ office,,on 8th January 1730 

Satara. 
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The province of Gujarat and parts of Khandosh had been 

assigned by Shahu as the Senapati's sphere of activity. 
Chimnaji Appa had already entered Gujarat and secured it 
from Sarbuland Khan, so that the Peshwa on that account 

claimed a haU share of it, Shahu could not adjust thek claims: 
mutual antagonism followed, leading ulUmately to a daah 
of arms. During the early months of 1730 Chimnaji Appa 
entered Gujarat with a large force and wrested from Sarbuland 
Khnn the Maratha claims of Cbauth and Sardeshmukhi for 

that province. The terms were modelled on those of Malwa 
and Maharashtra. For his incocnpetency to hold Gujarat 

against the Maratlias, Sarbuland Khan was recalled by the 
Emperor and Abhay Sinh of Marwar appointed in his place. 
This only introduced a further complicaUoii into the situation. 

Trimbakrao lodged before Shahu a strong complaint against 
the Peshwa for having Interfered with his sphere of activity,, 

and when he foiand that Shahu was too soft to control Bajirao 
effectively, he began open preparations for an armed conQict. 
The dispute was agitating Satara during Che autumn of 
1730 at the very time when Deep Sinh the imperial envoy 

was there discussing the affairs of Maiws with ^hu. 

Dabhade had under him several powerful local chief| of 
Baglan, Khandesh, and east Gujarat whom ^jirao seduced 
from their allegiance by ofTering them better prospects. Bhau* 
sinh Thoke of Mudane, Dalpatrao Thohe of Abhone, Kuvar 

Bahadur Deshmukh of Sinjiar, Lakshadhir Dalpatrao of 
Peth, along with Bajajj Atole, Avji Kavde and others were 
induced to accept service under Bajirao. 'fhis enraged 
Trimbakrao and his mother Umabai, l»th bitterly resenting 
B^irao’s conduct and they started negotiations with Mkam- 

ul-muik for help In order to counteract the I%shwa’s"^i3i6us 

aggression. It has already been mentioned how 
mu^"smartlng under his humiliation at Palkhed, was himself 
trying to seduce some of Bajirao’s and Sbahu*6 adherents, 

such as Kanhoji Bhosle, Sar-Lashkar Kunbalkar and so on; 
and when Dabhade approached him with a proposal to put 
down Bajirao, we may imagine how cordially the Nizam must 

have welcomed it. If the abovementioned local chiefs espoused 
Bajirao's leadership, they would materially affect the security 
of Nbam-ul-mulk as his territory was mtenn’xed with theirs. 
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So lie started cnishir^ them one by one by means <>/ hifi 

powerful artillery. Thus towards the end of 1730 the atmos¬ 
phere of north Deccan became surcharged with serious unrest 
and impending signs of war. 

Dajirao and Chimnaji Appa foresaw the danger, gauged 
its force, and prepared to meet it boldly. Shahu on his part, 
however, began hts usual method of persuasive reasoning and 
conciliation. He sent his personal agents to Dabhade to in¬ 

duce him to accept a reasonable compromise and called upon 
3ajirao to appease Dabhade by conceding all that he claimed. 
Upon this Chimnaji sternly replied, “ If Dabhade creates 

trouble for us, we are quite equal to stopping him from doing 
mischief: but if he goes over and joins the Nizam, your High¬ 
ness must not hesitate lo deprive him of his ofDce ol the 

Senapati.” Thereupon Shahu despatched his own trusted 
agents Ambaji Trlmbah, Naro Ram, and Naro Oangadliar 
Muzumdar to meet Trimbakrao and Umabai and bring them 
to reason for a peaceful accommodation, Dabhade, however, 

instead of comii^ to the point, wasted time in vague discus- 
ions and genera] accusations, setting forth his grievances 

ainst the Peshwa and showing no disposition to come ic 
rms, He was all the while secretly intriguing with Nizam-ul- 
ulk and concerting plans of a rebellious character, His 

How professions of loyalty put the Peshwa on bis guard, 
Tvho in his heart decided to take time by the forelock. Tt\e 
^napati declared to Shahu's ^ents, " We shall not give up an 

finch of the lands we own and will render only such service as 
we can.'’ When Shahu jeaml that Dabhtufe wa.s in league 
with Nizam-ul-mulk, he sent him the followii^ strong 
remonstrance.* 

“ You have been a loyal Hindu servant of the State and 
us such we have all along dealt with you most kindly. You 

"have nevertheless deserted to the enemy, taking offence at 
something we are not aware of. You must know what fate 

traitors meet with- We urge you, therefore, to forget all wrongs, 
to remember how your ancestors behaved, and serve the State 
instead of the enemy, so that the nation may be proud of your 

conduct You must exert yourself to execute our commands 

i. P. i>. 17. 12. 
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and ‘win increasing favours from us, Such a conduct alone 

will be noble, You have to subdue the nation's enemies and 
not join them. You must work to extend the Maratha raj. 
This warning is addressed to you fn Ml confidence that you 
will remain a loyal servant of the State and not molest tixe 

poor innocent ryota." This letter besides being an admonition 

explains incidentally the objects of the Maratha raj and the 
policy of Shahu in pursuing them. This remonstrance, Iiow- 
ever. had no effect and the affair of Da1)liade soon asstimed a 
tlircaU'ning aspect. 

Tlu* Niram fonued a grand pint to remove Bajirao nito- 

gethcr from Shahu s cotutsels, and in this plot Oabliade and 
sevonil other prominent siardara readily joined, so that the 
supreme power in settling political qucstlorw not only of the 

Deccan but of Malwa and Gujarat also, would have been snatch¬ 
ed away from Shahu’s hands and gone to Niaam-ul-mulk, Udaji 
Pawar and hia broths Anandrao, Pilajl Gaikwad and the Ban- 

day brothers, Chimnaji Damodar, these and others joined in 
the plot with Ni^am-ul-mulk and Dabhadc, thus creating a 
:«erjous threat Co Slraliu’s position by crushing the Teshwa. 

Bajirao could not Quledy submit to such dictation and prepared 

to meet his enemies with foresight and caution, 
Shahu then ordered Bajirao to proceed to Gujarat and 

bring Dabliade to his pre.scnce at SaCara, as he would not obey 

the written commands or the messages sent with accredited 
agents. At this time Shahu was engaged in settling his dis¬ 

pute with his cousin Sambbaji; and realizing the value of per¬ 
suasion, believed that if Dabhade could by some means be 

brought to Satara like his cousin Sambbaji, he would personal¬ 
ly settle their quarrel with equal success in an atmosphere of 

peace and goo^ill. To, br^ D^ade to Satara was 
mlfiioa which.Shaha entrusted ailonnly to Bajirao, wl^rLil_ 

qgttr means, failed.^ Bqjirao found himself in a most delicate 
situation. 

The two brothers left Poona on the auspicious day of the 
Dassara, 10th October 1730, intending to dissuade Dabhade 

from the evil courae he was following and compelling him to 
repair to Satara for a personal adjustment. But when they 
proceeded on their business, they became aware of the deep- 

laid plans which had been arranged by Dabhade in full con- 



126 NttW HISTORY or TUB MAR\TH-\S (VOL. II 

sullalioii with Niram-ul-mulk, and which spelt immediate 

danger to Sbahu personally and to the vital interests of the 
Maratha State. 

At this very time the Emperor appointed Muhammad 

Khan Bangfish to the government of Malwa and Abha>‘ Sinh 
to that of Gujarat in order to stop the Maratha agfirc}<siun 

in these provincen. Bangash arrived at Ujjain and offered liia 

wholehearted co-operation to Nisam-ul-mulk in putting dwvn 
the Marathas. In order to concert efTective measures lotvaiclH 
this and and make a grand united effort to achieve sure success, 

the two chiefs decided to meet before moving their forces to sup¬ 
port E>abhade. who was not expected to precipitate a fight with 
the Peshwa until a fully concerted plan was arranged between 

them all. Bajirao and Chimnaji Appa l<ept themselves well 
informed of the movemanta of their opponents and acted 
'Cpiickly to ncutraJiae their plans with matchless dexterity and 

intelligent anticipation. 
Towards the end of 1730 Nizam-ul-mulk iefl Aurangabad 

to open the campaign and join Dabhade in good time. He 
went as far as Burhanpur, where he learn I that Bangash was 

at Uijain. After a preliminary consultation they decided to 
meet personally and mature their plans for winning a sure 
’Success. Two responsible governors of high status could meet 

only on the border: so they both proceeded to the Akbarpur 
Ferry on the Narmada, where they had long conferences from 
17 to 28 March 1731; and having settled tlie details of their 

project they parted, Bangash returning to Ujjain and the 
Ki2am hurrying into Gujarat where Bajirao was already on 
Che track of Dabhade. Malharrao Holkar with his trusted 
lieutenants and a corps of spies remained in the vicinity of the 

Narmada watching tlie plajis and movements of the Bangash 
and the Nlsam, and promptly communicating vital information 
to Bajirao. Holkar incessantly harassed Bangash during the 

time of the above mentioned conference. 
The Emperor,.on the other hand, looked upon this secret 

conference of the Niiam and Bangash with grave suspicion. 
The former was a notorious rebel and intriguer, and the Em¬ 
peror had called upon Bangash to bring him to book. So while 

the two nobles were iorming secret plans to reduce the over¬ 
grown power of the Marathas, Muhammad Khan Bangash 



CHAP. Vj FURTHER TRIUMPHS 127 

was urged to work the ru(n of his colleague. It was this factor 

of the complicated atuation whirfi weakened Dabhade and 
proportionately strengthened the astute Pcshwa, S!»ahu at 

Satara hardly understood this involved situation in the 
northern regions. His only method of composing n quarrul 
was to bnng the disputants together in hb presence. But 
Dabhade, relying upon the help promised to him by the 
Niaam, refused to accompany Bajliao to Satara. Shahu there^ 

fore feared a clash, and on 15th December. 1730, cancelled the 
iinlf share of Gujarat which he bad granted to the Pesltwa, 
luipinE that this would satisfy Dabhade. The Peshwa did not 

at once give effect to this order and waited on the course of 
events. 

ISajirao and Chimnaji with their loyal followers Avji 
Kavdc, Ambaji Trimbak, Ayaba Muzumdar and other? 

marched towards Khanclesh, where Chimnaji remained behind 
to watch the movements of Nisam-ul'tnulk; and Bajirao pro¬ 
ceeded towards Baroda via Nasik, Peth, Surat ar'l Broach in 
December. Chimnaji too joined Bajirao soon after in Gujarat, 

having made sure that Nizam*ul-mu]k had proceeded to the 

Narmada and would posssibly bring large forces including those 
of the Bangash to help Dabhade. 

During February the two brothers met and wdghed the 
possibilities of & future action. Bajirao sent overtures to 

Abhay Sinh at Ahmadabad tor his fnendship and advice. 
Abhay Sinh returned a cordial message inviting Bajirao to a 
personal meeting. Bajirao readily consented arid Immediately 

proceeded to Ahmadabad where in a Ml conference at Shahi- 
bag, he won the support of Abhay Sinh. Thejat^^nduded 
.a pact with Bajirao, agreeing to pay him 13 lacs annually”iir" 

lieu of Chauth; six lacs >vere paid immediately and ihe. b^ance^ 
was to be paid when the Peshwa would expel Pilaji Galkw^* 
wd Banday from Gujarat. For this purpose ^ju^o left 

Ahmadabad with a contingent and a park of artillery supplied 
by Abhay Sinh and marched upon Baroda to oust Pilaji from 
that place. Although the actual value of Abhay Sinh's con¬ 
tingent was not much, the moral support of the Subahdar of 
Gujarat proved certainly effective.® 

2. H. R. C Proc»«d>»e* Abbey Slnh’s Jotters. 
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Coming noar Baroda Bajirao encamped at Savll a few 
milea to the north, whem he learned that Dabhade and Gailcwad 

had made preparations for an open ^ght on the plain of Dabboi 
and Bhilapur with a force miml>ering some 40 thousand, wliile 
Bajirao's ntunbers hardly readied 25 thousand in all Prom 

Savll Bajirao sent repeated messages to Dabhade to proceed 
to Satara and have tlie dispute composed amicably in the pr42- 
senee of the Clihatrapali, reminding liim tliat it was not pro¬ 

per that tlie two prominent servants of the king should engage 
in a personal contest. Finduig Dabhade stiff and unyieldlnK 
the Pe^wa precipitated mattem by suddenly falling upon the 

Senapati's camp on let April 1731. Dabhade fought with 
determination itd fury, The actual usue for a time hung In 

the balance, wlien a chance musket shot' pierced Trimbakrao’s 
head killing liim instantly, and turning tiie day in favour of 
Bajirao, who thus reported the event to his guru Brahmen dra 

Swami i— 

"Dabhade with his allies came forward for an encounter 
ou 4th Shawai. Trimbakrao himself, Javji Dabhade, Malojl 
Fawar, and PHaji Gaikwad's son Sambhaji, were killed out¬ 

right. Udajf Pawar and Chioinaji Damodar were captured. 
Piiaji Gaikwad and Kuvar Bahadur escaped wounded. A 

large booty was secured. Our side too lost a few brave ones 
in the battle,” 

Bajirao wis^y showed no rancour after the victory. He 

captured the elephants carrying the Senapati's dead body and 

the standards, but handed them back to his brother Yashvant- 
rao, who had just arrived with fre^ succours, and who after 

performing the funeral rites during the night came on the next 
mornit^ For renewing hostIUties, But Bajirao did not tany 
a moment after that bloody day and returned with all haste to 

Satara with the plunder he had secured. On the way, he had 
a brush with a party of the Nizam’s troops near Sural. Baji* 
rao was anxious to report to Shahu the details of his encounter, 

before olher& could poison his master’s mind against him. 

The news shocked Sbahu beyond measure. The Sena- 

3. Hu shot that kiUcd was later reported to have been 
(^red by Trimhakroo's maternal usde Bhauginh Thoke of Abheoc 
dbiy reduced by Bajirao. 
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pati's mother Umabai (coming from the Thoke family of 

Ahhone), was heartbioI«n at the death of her valiant son, 
attributed it to the Peshwa's treachery and peremptorily re¬ 

quired Sliahu to inflict adequate and instantaneous retribution. 
Shahu himself immediately hastened to Talegaum to meet the 
lady and brought her to Satara for confronting her with 
Bajirao. The task of adjusting blame or punishment was not 

at all easy. The peculiar position and predicament of the 
parties had stirred the whole Maratha nation as never before. 

It is said that Shahu called Umabai and the Pehwa to 
hi« presence and in a Darbar asked Bajirao to prostrate him> 
self before the lady, and giving her a sword asked her to sever 
his head if that would satisfy her feeli:^ of revenge. The lady 

was moUified when the Peshwa humbly beffied her pardon and 
offered all possible comE>ensation ior the loss. Shahu conter> 
red the Senapati’s ofHce upon the deceased's younger brother 
Yashvantrao, bat he proved utterly incompetent, so that the 

Dabhades soon saxkk into nonentity notwithstanding every 
effort on the part of Shahu until the day of bis death, to 
resuscitate the declining fortunes of that house. Pilaji Gaik- 
wad and his son Damaji both capable lieutenants trained 

under the Seoapatt, took up the latter's work in Gujarat and 
managed it through varying fortunes so ably, that their dy¬ 
nasty still rules ovtr Gujarat No permanent reconciliation 
came about between the Peshwa and the Dabhades; and the 

latter after Shahu’s death made unsuccessful efforts to oust the 

Peshwa from his position. 

Before the Nizam could rexxdet help to Dabhade. Bajirao 

had already disposed of him as is shown by a Persian letter 
written by Asaf Jah to Abdul Nabi IChan. It seems this ac¬ 
count refers to an encounter which Bajirao had with the 

Nizam’s troops near Surat on his return journey from Dabhoi- 

Asaf Jah to Abdul Nabi Khan,—April 1731. 

“The accursed Bajirao the province of Gujarat 
unoccupied by defenders laid siege to Baroda a dty that Is 

in the hands of dispersed i.e., mutually antagonistic people. 

" 1 reflected tfiar if, God avert it, this rebel got Baroda, 

it would be a great disgrace and loss, and our work would 
be ruined, while his disturbance would become perpetual in 
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that Subah and utter ruin would seise the prevalence of the 

religion of Muhammad- Therefore, in the ^irit and pride of 
Islam and fidelity to [the Emperor’s] salt, 1 decided upon this 
religious duty, that after crossing the Narmada 1 should 

engage at the lull gallop in rooting this black wretch out and 
thus perform the tasks of holy war and cutting off the roots 

of disturbance. Immediately on hearing namours of the ap¬ 

proach of the Islamic army by way of Ali Mohan, tlie wretch, 
casting off all at once bis plans of dominion, withdrew from 
the siege [of Barodaj and wiUi a view to interposing a long 

distance between the Islamic army and the rebel horde, In 
terror of tlte Muhammadan army, in utter bewilderment at mid¬ 
night quiddy crossed the Narmada and entered the limits of 

the Deccan. Through his short sight, seeing that the Muslim 
army was very distant from his, he began to disturb the 
pargana of Ankleshwar and plundered and burnt the country, 

land and water alike. 

“Therefore, this foUower of Mustafa’s precepts U-c,, 
Asaf Jah] from the ford of Akbarpur near ihe fort of Mandu, 

sent off his ba^ge and camp with the big guns to Burhanpur 
and by favour of the strength and power of (lod, with great 

rapidity and in a short time I arrived at Nandurbar, a second 
time disburdened myself by leaving there other surplus bag¬ 
gie and artillery which were hindering my rapid marching, 

and reached the environs of Surat in a few days. leaving my 
light guns at Kathor, our army arrived near the enemy’s horde 
after undergoing great exertions. 

“ We surprised the Maratbas when they were sleeping in 
great negligence and ignorance of our whereabouts and they 
ffed away in the utmost disorder, while the Muslim army slew 

and pursued them with deafening shouts. The dead were 
countless. Our troops made spoil of their property. Durir^ 
Iheir confused flight they were also plundered b^’ the KoUs and 

the Bhils in the jungles and deserts, especially at night, when 
the rebels moved losing their way, much booty fell into their 
hands and the wretches sxiffered total losses. 

“ The Subah of Gujarat has been freed from the disturb¬ 
ance created by Bajirao and the Subah of Malwa too has re¬ 

mained safe from that wretch’s mischief-making; and the holy 
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port (of Sarat) has been saved from fallii^ into the dutches 
of the villain.’'* 

The deplorable end of the Dabhades at Dabboi was indeed 
the result of the separatist tendency of the Marathas, which 

the Peshwa as the head of the administration felt it his duty 
to chedc. It must also be said to Bajirao’s credit that he 
wisely restored the Pawars, the Bandays, the Gaikwada and 
others to their fonner oflScee, although for a time they had 
joined the hostile faction. 

Abhay Sinh’s. vaallatlon cost him his position in Gujarat. 
His alliance with Bajirao was shortlived, and when he found 
to his cost that Dabhade’s tout at Dabhoi instead of benefiting 
him, strengthened the GaiUwad who became his opponent, 
Abhay Si^ managed to encompass Pilaji’s murder by 
treadierous means at Dakor on I4th April 1732. This act 
was fully avenged by Pilaji's able son Damaji who after cap¬ 

turing Dabhoi and Baroda marched upon Alunadabad, when 
realizing his dangei* Abhay Sinh agreed to pay the annual 
Chauth to the Marathas and hastened home to protect his 
patrimony of Marwar then threatened by other enemies. He 

Ihtt behind him in Gujarat his brothers Anand Sinh and Rai 
Sinh, but they could not check the increasing power of the 
Oailcwads. Thus Abhay Sinh'a ambition of holding Gujarat 

<ame to nothing. 

4. £:itracUd fraa the text publiebed by Sir JadunaCh in Isiotnu 
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CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER VT 

1$45_1746 

1727, February 8 

1729, July 4 

1729, July 29 

J730, Pecombei* 

1731, March 

1732, February 12 

1732, July 29 

1732, December 

1732, December 27 

1733, early months 

1733, Febntary 

1733, February 

1733, Mardi*April 

1733, Aprn 

1733, June 8 

1733, July 8 

1733, August 

1733, December 5 

1734, early monOis 

1734, April 12 

1734, Monsoon 

1734, November 

1735, Early months 

Biahmendra Swaraj's Iiie-rime. 

Siddi Sat desecrates the shrine of Paiashuram 

at Chipluo. 

Kanhoji Angria dies. 

Ilia son Sekhoji becomes Saikhel. 

Jayamii removed from Malwa, Muhaminad 

Khan Bangasli appointed Subahdar. 

Bangasli arrives at Ujjain, confers with 

Ni2iim*ul*mullc. 

Bajirao and Sekhoji meet at IColaba. 

Tlte Peshwa effects division of Malwa bet¬ 

ween Sindia, Holkar and Pawar. 

layainh reappointed to Malwa. 

Nieam and Bajirao meet in a conference at 

Roh&Rameghvar. 

Chimnaji Appa in Northern India 

Holkar overcomes Jayrinb near Mandsor. 

Siddi Rasul dies. 

Chimnaii Appa and hlolkar capture part of 

Bundelkhand. 

Bajirao opens operations ^:ajnst Janjira. 

Pratinidhi captures Raigad. 

A severe action takes place at Govalkot. 

Sekhoji Ar^ia diea> 

Bajirao clc^ Janjira operations. 

Hlaji Jadhav with Sindia and Kolkar plant 

Maratba rule in Malwa and Bunddkhand. 

They take poesesaon of Bundl. 

Jaysinh beads a Rajput league agakiat 

Marathas. 

Pilaji Jadhav enters Bundelkhand with Balaji 

Bajirao. 

TChan DaursQ and Qamr-ud-db Khan open 

offensive against Marathas. 
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1735, February 13 Sindia and Holkar ddeal Mughali near 

Eajnpura. 

1733, February U Radhabai leaves Poona on pilsriniage. 

1735, February 23 Holkar plunders Sambhar. 

1735, March 2 Qamr-ud-djn Khan Is routed by Pilaji 

Jadhav in BundeJkhand. 

173$, Mardi 4 Khan Bauran accepts peace on Marattut terms 

of Chauch. 

1786, May 6 Radluibai at UdaiiAir. 

1735, June 81 Radhabai readies Jaipur, 

1735, October 17 Radhabai arrives at Benares- 

1735, Nov. Bhagwantsinh Adaru fell fiKhlmg;. 

1736, February Bajirao at Udaipur. 

173(3, March 4 Bajirao meets Jayainli at Kishangad. 

1736, May Emperor declines to receive Bajirao’s visit; 

he returns to Poona, leaviny Siodia and 

Holkar in Malwa. 

,. June I Radhabai returns to Poona. 

1736, November Bajirao leaves Poona for a dasb on Delhi. 

1737. February 16 Marathas capture Biiadawar and Ater. 

1737. March 12 Saadat Khan routs Holkar and Baji Bhivrao 

in the Doab. 

1737, Maith 13 Mughala encamp near Mathura. 

1737, March 28 Bajirao's surprise atCadc upon Delhi. 

1737, April 5 Bajiiao returns to Jaipur. 

1737, April 7 Niaam leaves Burhanpur for north. 

1737, May 26 Nisam and Bajirao near Saronj, 

1737, July 2 Nisam meets Emperor at Delhi. 

1737, October Nizam starts from Delhi to recapture MaUva. 

1737, November Chimnajl prevents Nasir Jang proceed! ng 

north to support his fathei. 

1737, December 13 Bajirao and Nizam face each odier near 

Bbopal. 

1737, December 16 Bajirao besieges Nizam at Bhopal. 

1737, Deoember 26 Ra^uji Bhosle routs Shujaat Khan in Berar. 

1736, January 7 Nizam accepts Bajirao's terms and concludes 

peace at Sara!‘X>oraha. 

1738, February 13 Kota raided. 



CHAPTER VI 

THE MUGHAL POWER HUMBLED 

£1732—1738} 

I War (Ut Jtinjira, BraltntenUca i Rodhibars northetn 
Swami Rvcn^d. pUgrioiaga. 

J visit to Nianr. •/ Emperor rcKiacs to meat 
.4 Attnnpr to clicck Sajirao. 

iKc Macachas. 6 Dnj inn’s dnsh upon PeThi. 
7 Nieiiiu hunblcti jit BKopai. 

1. The war on Janjica, Brabmeodra Swami aveng^ 
As witii the Niaam so wiili the Siddis of Janjiia the 

Marathas had to carry on perpetual warlare ever ^ince the 
days of ShivajL These Siddie were Muslims of Abyssiniaa 
descent and had planted their small colony on tlw west coast 

of India in the days of Malik Ambar. From their imprcfiuble 
island fort since known as Janjira, situated about 50 miles 
south of Bombay, they ruled a small independent principality 

which has existed to the present day through strange vicisa- 
tudes. Aurangzeb took them under his protection against the 
aggres^on of Shivaji and enti'uated to them the task of con^ 
voying Muslim pilgrims from Surat to Mecca and back. They 
captured the islet of Underl at the entrance of the Bombay 

harbour and thence raided Maratha territories along the coast, 
particularly that portion of it which belonged to the Angrid 
of Kolaba. the admiral of the Marathas. The Slddis often 

allied themseiv^ with the Portuguese power of Goa and with 
the British at Bombay. All the.% foreign elements usually 
combined a^Tnst theTdarathas and obstructed their legitiinale 

ambitions. It therefore became alrnosl a creed with the 
Marathas to make the Siddi perfectly innocuous. 

But the iimnediate cause of the hostilities was Ihe meddle¬ 

some actMtjr of an influential Hindu ascetic Brahm* 
^rtjSTSwatni, who was*' loolid upon as the gum or spinbi^ 
guide by Raja,3hahu and most of the Maiatha gentry.lnclud- 

i^..the Pe^was. A celebrated orthodox preacher, wielding a 
flvwnt pen and an equally powerful tongue, he took up his 
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residence in a lonely jungle near Chiplun, where Balaji Vishva- 
nalh in his early day? at the time, was employed. Balaji 
was struck with the saint's miraculous powers and paid devo¬ 

tion to him. The Swami built a large temple /or ParsKhuram, 
which still stands on a high hid adjoining Chiplun, and collect¬ 
ed funds for that purpose from most of the Maratha cliie/s. 

He himself accompanied them for collecling alms in their mili¬ 
tary expediUorw. The Angrias and even the Siddis held liw 
Swami h\ high reverence and contributed money, lands mid 

other gifts for the s^irine he thus raised. He held a grand 
annual celebration at the place on the Shivaralrl day, which in 
1727 fell on February 8. At this time the Siddi governor of 
Govalkot and Anjanvel, two fortified posts not far from the 
shrine, was one 5iddi Sat, a competent, if rather roxigh, officer, 

^0 probably for some personal reasons, liad developed an 
aversion towards the Swam!, and made a sudden attack on the 
Parashuram temple, on tliat day of celebration in 1727 during 

the saint’s absence, desecrated the idols, and plundered the pro- 
subjecting innocent priests and Brahmans to unspeak¬ 

able atrocities. This wanton and certainly premeditated vio¬ 
lence by a Muslim on a centre of Brahman orthodoxy, roused 
the whole of Maliaraj^tra as if from a dream, and a cry for 

vengeance arose on all sides. The chief ruler of Janjira at once 
apologised for the foolish action of his subordinate, and re¬ 

stored whatever property was le/L intact. In a few days the 
SwanjLarrived on the spot, vented his wrato against the Siddi 
an^J^t tjjfi place for good, having been granted another spot 

by^ahu up the Ghats nt Dhavadsi near Satara, where he 
then erected new edifices and where an annual celebration 
for his deity is still held, 

The Swami appoaied pathetically to Shahu and the 

leading Maratha commanders, calling upon them to wage a 

relentless holy war .against the Siddi of Janjira. Time passed 
as no one was free to undertake the venture. When Bajirao 
returned victorious from bis campaign of Dabhoi. both Shahu 

and the Swami became insistent on his punishing the Siddi 

for the unwarrantable crime he had committed. Perhaps 
Bajirao was not keen on that point, as it promised no im¬ 

mediate gain and involved naval operations in which he himself 

was not very proficient. During 1732 the plans for wax were 
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seriously discussed at Satara and the campaign was deter¬ 
mined upon in the n»t season. The main objects of the 

war were to r^se the Maratha capital Raigad, from the 
Siddi's control to whom U had been delivered for protection 
by fhe Emperor Auraogreb after its capture in 1689. Similar¬ 
ly the forts of Anjanvel and Govalkot held Ijy the Siddi in 

the vicinity of the shrine at Chiplun, were also to be captured. 
Janjira itself was to be attaclced and taken, if possible, and 
tlie power of the Siddi to hamper the Maratha government in 
future was to be completely broken. Bajirao moved inb Kon- 
kan, met the admired Sekhoji Angrc in February 1732 and 

formed plans in consultation witli him for a simultaneous war 
(m the Siddi by sea and land, 

But the wheels of Shahu’s Court moved very slowly and 
not a soul arrived at the appointed places till tlxe beginning 
of May 1733- Bajirao opened vigorous operations against 
Janjira in May and quickly captmed several places and 

strongholds on the land side and destroyed the Siddis* navy 
in the creek of Rajpuri. Tlie Pratinidhi also arrived soon 
after and through bribery or some diplomatic contrivance cap¬ 
tured Raigad at the very first stroke on June 8, 1733, a sudden 

and sensational achievement, which brought temper^ glory 
to the Pratinidhi. " 

But either flushed with the pride of this achievement Or 
standii^ on ceremony, the Pratinidhi did not care to go and 
meet Bajirao at Rajpuri and arrange with him' a concerted 
plan of operations. Their differences were well known and 

Siddi Sat of Govalkot was not slow to take advantage of them. 
Salcaji Naik a valiant subordinate of the Angrias, proceeded 
from Suvamadurg and worked for the capture of Anjanvel 

and Govalkot, then ably defended by Siddi Sat. The Prati¬ 
nidhi arrived at Qiiplun and was approached by ^di Sat for 
the surrender ol the two piaces by negotiation. As the 

Pratinidhi had succeeded at Raigad, he thought he would do 
the same with Govalkot and asked Bakaji Naik to raise the 
aege, But Sjddi Sat- played a successful game and kept the 
Pratinidhi long under deluson spinning out the negohations. 

In the meantime the monsoon started with fury making all 
warlike operations impossible, Bakaji Naik was recalled by 
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Sekhoji Aagria at the instance of Bajirao and the Pratinidhi 

soon realised that he bad been outwitted. 
It was unfortunate that the campaign was opened in an 

unsuitable season, when no naval and hardly any land gpeiti- 
tions could be undertalcen on account* of the violent rains and 

more violent seas. Bajirao and Sekhoji Angria met at Rajpxtri 
and held prolonged deliberations on the situation. Sekluip 
explained that they must wait for the dry aeastm before any 

eiTcctive actioji could be laundied against the Siddi. Bajirao 
was thus forced to sit down idly before Janjira in whldi tlie 
Siddis had taken shelter and against which no effect could be 

made by the navy or by the land forces during the rains. In 
August Bajirao wrote to Shahu, “ Ibe Siddi Is not an ordinary 
enemy : you know how often in the past, heioic attempts Lo 
humble him have failed. A tremendous efFoit is nece'^sary if 

he is to be finally overcome. Without a complete naval 
blockade combined with carefully arrar^l operations by 
land, it is not possible to overcome him. This means enorin* 

ous expenditure of money, which is not available. We need 
at least fifteen thousand expert foOlmen for an effort of this 

kind, working through a period of at least two years. Janjiiu 
is receiving support from Anjanvel and Uncleri ; these places 
must first be secured before an attack on this principal strong¬ 

hold could succeed. We have already exhausted all our money 
and resources, so tliat unle$» you send us ample funds at once, 
we cannot make any movement. We are putting forth our 
utmost effort, but that is not enough. The Siddis are getting 

lielp Jrom Surat and Bombay a^. The Pradnidhi has not 
come to Rajpuii- 1 await turner ordei‘8.” 

These were highly practical suggestions, but Shahu could 
not work up to them. The four months of the inoperative 
season proved a welcome respite for the Siddi, He made 

urgent appeals to the Porti^ese, to the British at BcHubay, 
and to his colleagues at Surat and even to Nisam-ul-mulk 
and the Bteperor of Delhi. Bajirao realized this too late and 
a re-arrangement could not be quickly effected. He felt dis¬ 

gusted with the undercurrent of intrigue, which sapped tlie 

force of his own command and initiative, Shahu got so con¬ 
fused with the conflicting reports and complaints that reached 
him through his several favourites, that he was quite non- 
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plussed and couJd do nothing beyond a stiongly worded re* 
monstrance to Bajirao Co which the latter replied with equal 
warmth. These documents are well worth study as iey 

fully illustrate the strength and weaJmess of the Maiatha 
character.* 

Another unexpected mishap, the sudden death of Sekhoji 

Angria, proved also a serious impediment to tlie conduct of the 
war. Sekhoji died of a short illness at Kolaba on 23th August 
1733, almost in the piime of youth. He was a man of un* 
common sobriety and foresight and exercised a wholesome 
check upon his lluee capable and valiant brothers, Sambhaji, 

Manaji and Tulaji, and exacted from them all the best work 
they were capable of- His death proved the nun of the house 
of the Angrias and with it that of the Maratha navy. It at 
once let loose tlie forces of disruption and compelled Bajirao 
to abandon the campaign. Bakaji Naik had already been re¬ 
called ; and in September the Pratinidhi also returned to 

Satara. So in December Bajirao himself withdrew after patch¬ 
ing up a temporary understanding with the Siddi. He per¬ 

sonally explained to Shahu the difficulties of the &fuatioD and 
never again himself led a campaign on the west coast For 
the present the effort ended in failure with the year 1733. 

To redress the wrong done to the shrine of Parashuram 

at Chiplun, it was necessary to capture from Siddi Sat the two 
important posts of Govalkot and Anjanvel, and since a dispute 
had stalled among the Angria brothers over the succ8ssk«i issue 

after Sekhoji's death, Shahu dedared that he would confer 
the office of ^khel on whichever brother should capture 

those places- Of the feree Sambhaji, Manaji and Tulaji, tlie 
^?lrwa found Manaji more pliant, while Sambhaji although 

more daring, refused to obey the Peshwa on account of his 
interference with the succession issue, Predous time thus 
came to be wasted in settling the dispute of succession with 

the result, that a land of slow desultory fightii^ continued 
against the Siddi during 1734 and 1735 near Bankot ai^ 
Govalkot- The former changed hands several times, and in 

l, P, D. Voi, 3. 43 contains Shahu'a icmonatiaocs, which though 
addressed to Sekhoji Angria is meant for Bajirao. The latier'a repiy, a 
forceful but dignified protest, is conveyed in Val. 33. 79. 
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this Struggle lor the possesion of Banlcot many Maralha com¬ 

manders distii^uiahed themselves. 
Shahu became all the more impatient lor subjugating the 

Siddis and called upon Chimnaji Appa and Pilaji Jadhav to 
save Manaji from a serious attack on Kolaba by Siddi Sat 

which was reported eaily in 1736. Chimnaji Appa under¬ 
took the work seriously and leaining that Siddi Sat liftrl loft 
his base at Anjanvel and moved with all Jiis forces tiirwitening 

IColaba, renowned stnsnghold built by Shivajj, diverlixi his 
course towards the enemy’s quarters and suddenly aUackw) 
Siddi Sat as he was encamped near Rewas. The latter had 
no alternative but to face Chimnaji Appa in an open fight. 
A bloody action ensued at the villages ol Charegaum and 

ICamarlen, in which Siddi Sat was killed while defending him¬ 
self valiantly. More than 1300 of his brave followers were 
^aln, including Siddi Yakut the defender ol Underi, and a 

much larger number wounded^ This signal victory over the 
implacable Siddi who had destroyed the famous Hindu shrine 
of Parashuram, roused all Maharashtra to heights of ecstasy 
and earned an imperishable fame lor Chimnaji Appa. He 
was congratulated oi\ the victory by the Swami in the follow¬ 

ing terms:— 

“ By killing Siddi Sat, a demon of the type of Havana, 

you have uprooted the very life of the Siddis and earned an 
undying fame." Shahu showered upon Chimnaji honours, 
costly ornaments and dresses, including a sword set with 

diamonds. The event naturally unnerved the Siddis of Janjira 
and Induced them to seek a humiliaiir^ peace with the 
Peshwa. Anjanvel and Govalkot alone remained as their 
mainland posts, and came to be captured much later by Tulaji 
Angria in January 1746, so that Brahmendra Swami could 

have a happy death in 1746 after seeing his wrongs fully 
avenged. His temple of Parashuram atm ccanmemorates his 
life’s endeavour in its pristine grandeur. These Konkan 

regions were looked upon by the Peshwas as their homeland 
and were always dearest to their heart even during their 

distant wanderings.* 
The activities of Brahmendra Swami were inter-miried 

2. Sea P- D. 33. I<2. 
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tt'itli th« Maratha poll ties o! Shahu’a days for nearly half a 
century. His was a powerful figure not to be easily ignored 
by any one who aspired lo share the fortunes of tlic 

Maratha State. Although possessing nciUier deep scholarship 
nor unernng foresight, he yet was gifted with sound common 

sense and a paewon for notoriety. Most of the sardars and 
commanders of Shahu’s court paid homage to him as their 

guTH, and the guru never lost an opportunity of exactii^ from 
lus zealous disdples, gitls of rare articles of alf kind, when 
the^* relui i^ed from the distant parts where they roamed. But 

ho giive away Uiese articles to his devotees, ladies and com- 
uumera and the moat eKacting scrutiny of his dealings does not 
reveal any wrong or immoral use or a »nister motive on his 
part in loestowing them thus. He collected funds aa alms, 
often lent them at interest which he rigorously exacted even 

from his dearest devotees like Bajirao. The proceeds of his 
accumulatior^s he utilised in building temples, tanks, roads, 

wdls, and similar conveniences for travellers and the people 
in general.’ He is said to have enjoyed the life of a full 

century. 

2. Bftjirao*s visic co Niaairj.—The Maratha pencQ^tion 
into Malwa and Bundelkhand created a sharp division of 
opinion in the Emperor's counsels. One party headed by 
Ja^’sinh and the Mir Bakhsbl Khan Dauran advocated ap¬ 

peasement and conciliation : the other party, headed by Saadat 
Kban. Muhammad Khan Bangash and others, advocated an 
immediate concerted drive against the Marathas. The Wazii 
Qamr-ud-din Khan, Ihe Nizam and even the Emperor him¬ 

self could not at once decide upon the one course or the other, 
and bided their time in the hope of better days. The Deep- 
»nh mission arrived at Satara in August 17S0 and communi' 

3. Tlie Swsmi hsd b vulumlnoua correepondcoec of a hiUorical 

(iisncter, portions of which have tnen puhUihed by Parairus, Rajwadc 

and oihorfs. A full Ilia of him also been puhlidied in Marathi. In 

a Kfnso w);iaV..RttUla6 for Sluvaii, Brahnsendm was for Shalni, al¬ 

though the latter eatot CfiR $Uaa no compar^Mn WilhlU inmBr in pomt 

of patriodc work of national uplift. A cnediotfity like firahmenclra 

figum in llhtory bocauee ha long swayed the politico of the HrA 

three Peahwas under the dUectioc of Shahii, 
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catecl their views, upon their return. Acting on the advice of 

his delegates Jaysinh arranged a compromise with Shahu, 

(I) that an annua] payment of ten lacs be made to the 
Marathas for tlie CJiauth of Malwa; (2; in return for this 

amount one of Shaiiu*s sardars was to reside Tor service at the 
Emperor's court. Dado Bhimsen, Shahu's envoy witli Jay- 

ainh submitted tliix compromise to Uie Emperor, but (t was 
not accepted. Jayainh, thereupon made the follow!lig repre¬ 

sentation to tite Emperor. 
*' You have been tryiru? this game of driving away Llic 

Marathas Irom Malwa for the last twenty years, If you take 
into account what it has cost you and what Huccess you have 
attained, I am sure my plan would appeal to you as the only 

way out of the difficulty." 
The Emperor, however, decided otherwise, transferred 

Jaysinh from the government of Malwa and appointed 

Bangash to that office towards the end of 1730, Tlic arrival of 
Bangash at Ujjam and his confeience with Nizam-til-mulk in 
March 1731 l^ave been already referred to. For a time Ban- 
gash seemed to succeed, as Bajirao was engaged In a war with 

the Dabhades, Holkar ami Antaji Mankeshwar were then 
acting In Malwa ; the latter was defeated near Uliain by 

Bangash. Later in the year when Ranoji Sindia ^it>ed 
Holkar. Bangash realized that he was not equal to the task 
of holding the Marathas back and sent urgent appeals to the 

Emperor for more remfoicements and funds. This demand 
severely upset the Emperor, who was expecting to reedve 
a substantial addition of income from Maiwa. At the same 

time serious complaints poured in from several landlioldern 
and officials of Malwa, directed against the mis-government of 
Bangash, to whom both Khan Dauran and Qamr-ud-dln Khan 

were opposed from the beginning. The Emperor, therefore, 
to save the situation recalled Bangash and once more appointed 

Jaysinh to that province at the end of 1732. The latter held 
that post for the next four years. 

The year 1732 happened to be one of comparative 

quiet for the Peshwa. During the rainy season, while dis¬ 
cussing preparations for the Janjlra campaign, he invited 
SIndia and Holkar to Satara and effected a kind of working 

diviidon of the disixicts of Malwa between them and the three 



CllAP. VI) THE MUGHAL POWER HUMBLED 143 

Pawar chiefs, in a solemn document dated 29th July 1732. 

The defeat ol the DabhadC'Niaam ccKnbine at Dabhoi, 
paved the way for an understanding between the Peshwa and 
Nizam*uJ-iiiuJIc, The latter proposed a personal meeting in order 
to put a stop to the frequent dafihes between tliem which made 

neighbourly relations impossible. Bajirao was not personally 
sanguine about any good coming out of a personal visit, as 
neither ol them could rely upon the other’s word, Nbam-ul- 

mulk repeated his desire to Shahu through the Sumant. 
Sluihu called upon Bajirao Co go and visit the Nl2am at once. 
Uniler audi circumstances n report went round that Niisam- 
ul-mulk had some foul intention in asking for a visit from 

Bajirao; that he had offered Shahu the amount of two crores 
fur sending Bajirao on a personal visit. Letters poured into 

Bajlrao’s hands from friends and colleagues calling upon him 
to decline the invitation point blank. But Shahu became 
insistent and would brook no delay. At last Bajirao ac* 

companied by a few select friends and guards and faithfully 
served by a number of able spies, boldly advanced into the 
Nizam's dominions and the two chiefs met on Wednesday 
27th December 1732 at a place called Rohe-Rameshwar on the 
upper Manjjra. in the neighbourhood of Ausa, about S miles 
north of Latur. Only a few details of the visit zx^ available. 
The vildt proved quite cordial. The Nbam presented Bajirao 
7 dreanoa, 2 l)cautiful pairs of costly pearls, two horses and an 
elephant. The successful terminalion of the visit sent a tlirill 

of joy throughout Mahara^tra and was announced by a salvo 
of guns from the various forts and the distribution of sugar by 

Shahu and others. 
Bajirao himself wrote the following account of this visit 

to his brother. ' 1 proceeded by rapid mardtes towards Latur, 
wiiere I learnt that the Nawab was at Koti near Vagir about 
twenty miles a^vay. On 25 December I despatched Anandrao 

Sumant to meet the Nawab and arrange the details of my 
visit. An immediate reply was received from the Sumant, and 

as I advanced, the Nawab cancelling his journey to Haidar- 
abad came specially to meet me and halted at a convenient 
open plain. Next day, 27th December, I proceeded with my 

full force to the Nawab’s camp. Upon my arrival the Nawab 
removed the usual armed guard from his gate and posted 
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Suinant, Rao Rambha and Turk-Taz ICian to wait at the gate 

to receive and admit me. I left my troops oat«de and went 
in with two hundred followers. The Nawab sent a party of 

a few special oHicera to conduct me in and himself witii Alwax 
Khan and Hamid Khan stood in front of his tent, As 1 ad¬ 

vanced, I first accosted the leceJving officers and they iiil in¬ 
duced me to the Nawab. He tlien received me with 

respect and cordiality. After spendini; « few mirtules 
in the open Dad)ar exclian^inir enquiries of welcome, tlic 

Nawab took me by the hand ;ind led me to anoUier lent for a 
confidential lalk where only Rao Rambha, Turk-Taz Khau 

and four oi my companions were present. Here we talked Iopk 
and fredy upon many topics in a vein of Ihe utmost cordiality 
and happiness. The Nawab highly applauded me and our 
Chhairapa^, After an hour’s conversation he offered me pan 

and the same was distributed to all our party outsider Thun 
the visit was concluded and f returned to my quarters an 
hour before evening. Thereupon we received from Che Nawab 

grand and sufficient rations for our dinner, baxkels <if sweet¬ 
meats and ^iU. these exte/iding in a long line from his 
cemp to ours. I had made before now tiirec visits to ihc Nawab. 
bat Chose wc« only formal with no opening of heart?, This 
Lime, however, we discussed many questions openly, cementing 
our mutual good will and friendship. Whatever suspicions and 

fears had existed formerly, have now beeni^Sfipletely removed. 
The Nawab repeatedly expressed a desire that our cordiality and 
pleasant relations would go on ever increasing. He specially 

cafied Sultanji Nimbalkar and Chandrasen Jadhav for my 
visit and ask^ me to extend my kindly attention to llicm.’ ' 

The outcome of this mcsnentous visit is thus related by 

4, BqUi UitM diiufs o( wftigbt and ttandine in the Mnretba Stfltc 
b«id deserted (& the Nisani, L'handraaen in 1711 after qriarrcDIne wirh 

Balaji Vjahvanath, and Sultanji Nimbalkar in 1736. They were now in 

Ihtf Nisam’a service and feared retributioa at Ibe bends of Bajiraa This 

the sixth recorded visit of Bajimo to Nisam-ul-mulk. These can be 

ihuB enrinwrated:— <th January 1721. ChtkhaJrhan13tb February 1733. 

Dolasha: 18th May 1724, Nalchha; OctobiT 1724, Aurangabad; 

6th March I72g, Palklted; and 27lh Dec. 1732 Rohe-Rameghwar. Cam* 

bridge History of India. Vol. IV. page 3Ji2; [ivlne's Utcr MiiRhals Vol, 

2, 2C2 : R D. Si. Vol. IS jw** ; Alt ^nfrirm Sahitya VI. p. 11. 
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EJphirstone. “The Nizam entered into a secret compact with 
Bajirao by which the Maratha government promised to leaYS 

the Deccan unmolested and to levy nothing beyond Chauth 
and Sardeshraulchi from thejn: while the Nizam agreed to re¬ 
main neutral during tlte projected Maratha invasions of 

Hindustan provided tliey did not injure the province of 
Khandesh in their northward march through it.” 

3. Jaysinh’s attempt to check the Maradias_Wliik 
the Pesliwa and the Nisam were at Rohe*Rameshwar, Jay- 
sinh arrived at Ujjain and took charge of the goverrunent of 
Malwa, At this time Chimnaji Appa advanced from the 

Deccan to meet the Rajput Prince and complete with him the 
cfjmpacl which had been long discussed. But as JaysinlVs 
orders were to drive the Marathas out of Malwa, a settlement 

became impossible- Chimnaji, therefore, despatched Vithoji 
Buie, Holkar» principal lieutenant, and Anandrao Pawar to 

overcome Jaysinh- For a time a tenacious figlit ensued 
in which Jaysinh found himself suddenly surrounded and 

liard-presscd on all sides by the troops of the two Maratha 

chiefs. No reinforcements arrived from the Emperor and 
Jaysinh extricated himself from a difficult situation by pay¬ 
ing a fine of 6 lacs in cash in addition to the tributes that had 
already been collected. The business was handled entirely by 
Holkar as Chimnaji had proceeded to Burdelkhand in order to 

take charge of the districts which had been ceded to Bajirao by 
Chhatrasal three years ago, Two Bundela agents, Asharam 
and Haridas Purohit had come to Poona to settle the affair 
of partition; they were sent to Chimnaji Appa by Bajirao 

with his agent Mudhaji Hari. Chimnaji employed Govind- 
pant and Mudhaji Hari to confirm the Maratha hold upon 
Bundelkhand and exact tributes from the several States. At 
the end of the season Chimnaji returned to the Deccan with 

Sindia and Holkar about June 1733, at a time when Bajirao 
was occupied in the Janjira campaign. 

Mudi had, however, to be done in the north, and as both 

Bajirao and his brother were detained in the south, they de¬ 
puted Pllaji Jadhav with Sindia and Hofkar to proceed to 
Maiwa at tlie end of 1733. These Chiefs had a large followii^ 
with which they marched ri^t upto Bhadawar beyond 
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Gwalior collecting tribute, and returned home lor Uic mon- 
iwn in May 1734. Jaywnh as Governor of Malwa 

tried his best to avoid an open dash with the Maratha com¬ 
manders. He was involved at the time in a dispute about 

the succession to the ruleiship of the stale of Bundi, which 
he coveted. One of the claimanls Pratapsinh Hada repaired 

to Satara and implored Shaliu for help against Jaysinh. 
Shahu asked Slndin and Holkar to captuie Bundi and entrust 
it to Pratapsinh. The two Sardars accordingly look ptJhScs- 

sion of Bundi on 12th April 1734. But upon the return (it 

the Maratha annies to the south, Jayninh managed to lake 
it back- At .Taysinh's entreaty the Emperor sent him addi¬ 
tional troops with funds and supplies under an able com¬ 
mander Muzaffar Khan, the Mir Atish and brother of Khan 

Dauran. In addition Jayainb formed a strong league of 
the Rajput princes during the monsoon of 1734 and with such 

formidable preparations earnestly started to drive the Maratlias 
out of Malwa. 

When this fresh danger was imported to the Pesiuva, 
Pilaji Jadhav was again despatched with young Nanasaheb 
(Balajl Bajlrao) then 14 years of age, with special instruc¬ 

tions to Sindia and llolkar to pr«ictise their usual tactics and 
conTimi their hold on Malwa. Thus the year 1735 opeiwl in 
Malwa with grand preparations on both aides^ for a final deci- 

^6n in which the Emperor and his able officers readily joined. 
Th^ marched from Delhi in two divisions, one under Klian 
Dauran by the western route Into Rajputana, and the second 

under the Waaii Qamr-ud*din IChan by the eastern route into 
Bunrielkhand- During January and February several Rajput 
princes headed by Khan Dauian fought many stiff battles 

with Sindia and ITolkar near Rampura, after Che Marathas 
had descended into Malwa through the Mukundara pass. 

Sindia kept them engaged while Holkar moved rapidly into 
the north, devastated tlie territories of Marwar and Jaipur, 
and on February 23 carried away an enormous amount of 
plunder from tlie rich commercial town of Samhhar. Jay- 

ainh and the imperialists found themselves so hard pressed by 

the guerilla melhods of the Marathas, that they paid Rs. 22 
lacs in casli and purcha>«3 pence by a f^olcmii agreement 
mutually effected at Kota on 24 March 1735. Twenty iJifm- 
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sand Marathi proved superior to the M\^al army of 2 lacs, 
a unique triumph of Maratha strategy. 

The campaign in Bundelkhand under the Wazir did not 

prove more successful. He was encountered by Pilaii Jadhav, 
Panoji Bhoaie and Vyankahao Narayan Ghorpade. On 2nd 

Marti 1735, PSlaji thus reported the result. " The Wazir came 

upon us -with 25 Ihovisand troops; we had three severe battles 
with them. Wc captured 300 horses artd camels and fell back 

upon Kolaras. Qamr*ud*din IChan agrees to pay 5 lacs; but 
we have not aa’Cpted this offer and await further results. We 
wiidi soon to return Jiomc for tlic monsoon." 

At this time occurred the affair of Bhagwanl Sinh Adaru, 
a sjnall jagirdar of Ghaaipur near* tlie northern banic of the 

Jumna in the Fatehpur district. It illustrates to what a low 
levd the Mughal power had sunk, One ol Qamr-ud-din 
Khan's near relatives was killed by Bbagwant Sinh, and lot 

four years the Wazir exerted himself to punish him but with¬ 
out success. At last Saadnt IChan was ordered to march against 

Ghazipur when a severe encounter took place in which 
Bhagwant Sinh fell fighting in November 1735 ; but his son 

Rup Sinh sought Maratha protection in Bundelkhand and the 
al?air dragged on for a long time. 

4. Radhabsi’s northern pilgrimage.—I'he year 1735 
was pregnant with far-reaching consequences to the Mughal- 
Maratha contest The Peshva's mother Radhabai made a 
peaceful and most successful pilgrimage throu^ northern 
India during this same year, when the valiant Jaysinh was 
conducting a serious campaign againat the Marathas. Radha¬ 

bai left Foona on 14th February 1735 and returned there on 
Ist June of tlie following year. The lady had a large follow¬ 
ing and her son-in-law Abail Naik of Baramati and his 

brother Babuji were in charge of the arrangements of the 
journey. When the lady’s intention of soing on pilgrimage 
became Icnown, such was the awe that Bajirao's name had 

created that invitations Irom the Rajput princes and 
Mughal officials in north India poured into Poona requesting 
the revered lady's visit to their States and shrines. The Em¬ 
peror himself ordered an escort of one thousand troops of hie 
own body-guard to accompany the lady during the period of 
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her stay beyond the river Narmada. Even Muhammad 

Khaa Bai^ash whom Bajirao had routed only a few years 

before, offered a cordial w'elcome to the lady when she would 
pass through his jurisdiction. 

Radhabai reached Buthanpur on 8th Marcli, crossed the 
Narmada on 18th April, was received at Udaipur on 6 May. 

Nath Dwara was visited on 18th May, the party arriving at 
Jaipur on June 21. Here at the special rcQuest ol Jayslnh 

she made a halt of tJiree long monllis, During September and 
October she travelled* hurriedly to Mathura, Brindtwun, 
Kurukshetra and Prayag. reaching Benams on October 17, 

where she spent over two months, enjoying the blissful 
spiritual atmosphere of the sacred place. She proceeded to 
Gaya in the last week of December, and started tlience on her 

return journey in January 1736, travelling straight west 
throt^h Bundclkhand and alter making a short stay at Saugor 
returned safely to Poona. Ihe Peshwa’s agent at Jaipur thus 

describes her journey : “The revei'ed mother arrived at Jai- 
nagar at the beginning of Ashad under the cate of Baljuji N'aik. 
She is being pressed to stay here till tlie Dawsaia. an event of 

special celebration. All things go well for her on account of 
he* pious personality. The journey further will, I am sure, 
prove equally successful. Bajirao's stars are most propitious 

and no harm can come to her. The Maharaja Jaysinh has 
deputed Ray Narayandas to accompany her throughout the 
journey. Narayandas's relation Ray Haraprasad is the Diwjin 
of Muhammad Khan Bangash, who entertains such high 

esteem for the Pe&hwa, that Haraprasad came to meet us at 
the Jamuna, and having escorted tlie party during the crossing 

took us for a visit to the Khan, his chief. We all received a 
cordial welcome from him. The Khan expressed his hearty 
pleasure that he was honoured by a cordial letter from Bajirao 

and that he trusted his mother to his care. “ She Is to me,’' he 
says, “ just like my own mother.” He has sent orders round 
to his district ofiidals to accord the party full reception 

through his territory. Haraprasad had brouj^t her a present 
of Rs. 1,000 in cash with sarics of cloud-colour (suitable for a 
widow). Sawai Jaysinh too expressed his high and sincere 

regard for the Peshwa. The Rana of Udaipur did the same 
and has sent his agent Kamant Sinh to Poona on a special 
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mUi$ion. Your very name has struck a reverential awe !n the 
minds of the® potentates "'' 

This pilxriinage of the Peshwa’s mother without any unto- * 

ward incident dm;lag-3. year of unrest and Mujchal-Maratha 
wp'j discloses the great awe in which the Peshwa's name was [ 
held in north India. , For this happy result Jaysinh alone was l 

r^ponsible as " he acted exactly like a son to the lady, escorl- 
Fng her with a strong guard and personally entcrtainii^ her ! 

fh his own capital, supplying all her needs and comforts in the 
minutest detail.'^ 

5. Emperor refuses to meet Bajirao.—SawaJ Jaysinh 
was a shrewd observer of events and could (oiin as unerring 
estimate of the comparative strength of the Maratha and the 

Mughal forces, having been himself long involved in war and 
diplomacy. He was perhaps the only person capable of bring* 
ing about an adjustment of a lasting character after the vexa^ 
tious hostilities Ihat had continued for so many years. He was 
essentially a man of peace, tired of incessant war which ham¬ 

pered the peaceful occupations of the people. He directed his 
energies towards bringing about a lasting and peaceful solu* 
tion. He had sincere^ conducted offensive operations against 

Ihe Marathas during die years 1733*35, putting forth his own 
utmost effort along with that of ®veral Mughal chiefs, 

such as the Wazir and the Mir Bakhshi. Jayanh fully real¬ 
ised tlie futility of trying to stop the Maratha aggression by 
force of arms, and once more used his influence with the 
Emperor to bring about a reconciliation. He advocated direct 
negotiations with the Feshwa hiin®lf to avoid the mischief 

and misunderstaridiDg which middlemen on both sides were 
prone to create. If*5§ji|3P^d.tbg Emperor could, he urged, 
meet face to face in a friendly conf^ence, many vexatious and 

immoderate demands would be avoided, Jaysinh disais^ 
ed these views freely in the fenperor’s counsels and with his 
pemtisaon invited Bajirao to come over for personal talks 

6. F. D. 30 :3<f—Such Manlhm conua tfilb north ladia cruted 
nvohiUonftiy change# In the BOdal snd earnmerail life of Mehersshtra and 
fcrrms a subjvt yihiA d^erves c f^eciel a^d careful study from the 
ample sources now available lo print. 

6. Hingnc Daftai Pt, I. 19. 
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first with the Rajput princen and then with the Emperor. 

Bajirao himself was not very san^ine about the outcome oi 
wch spectacular visits and conlerencee, but agreed to the 
proposal out of his great regard for Jaysinh and also for a 

chance of 'winning over the Rajput princes throuRh friei^ly 

discourses. 

Bajirao obtained Shahu’s consent for such a venture, left 

Poona during the auKprcioas Divali lime of 1735 and reached 
Ddaipur in February of the loUowing year. Lest his troops 

should do Viranton damage to the ci'ups and the peaceful pur¬ 
suits of the inhabitants, l\e diverted the route of his main 

army in a dilTerenC direction and entered Rajpulanu witli 
only a small personal escort. Says one writer, "The Pcsbwas 
name exercises such a terror over the minds of the people in tlie 

north, that he could easily renwve the Emperor from his posi¬ 
tion and inafall the C3ihatrap8ti on the throne of D^hl." 
Mahadev Bhat Hlngne. the Peshwa's agent at Delhi, came to 

Udaipur with the draft treaty proposed by the Emperor with 
gifts and presents for Bajirao- JaysinU’s Divan Aymnall, 
alias Rajmal popularly called Mnlji, also accompanied 

Mahadev Bhat.^ 

Bajirao was everywhere welcomed v/lth plentiful demon¬ 
strations of joy and respect He had a great reception at 
Udaipur, the Champabag palace having been appointed for 
hie accommodation. He was the next day honoured by the 

Maha Rana in a grand open Darbar, where two gold-cmhroi- 
dered seats were arranged for the guest ai^ the host. When 

Bajirao approached the Seat which the lUna pointed to Mm, 
he politely declined to accept the portion of equality with the 
Rana, the scion of the ancient godly soverdgn of India, and 

occupied a seat just below. They had a long and free con¬ 
versation together. Dresses and presents were offered and 

entertainments took place for five iiys from 3 to 7 February. 
Bajirao inspected the various «ghts and monuments of the 
State and then left for Nath-Dwara. The Rana agreed to pay 

a lac and a half annually as Chauth. 

During his tour through Rajputana presents and tributes 

7. P. D. 30. 134 ; 14. 50, 35-57. 
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poured upon Bajirao from all quarters. Khan Dauran the* 
Mir Bakhshi sent five to ten thousand Rupees every day. At 
Nath-Dwara Bajirao and his wife Kashibai offered Ibeix joint 
devotion to the celebrated deity, and proceeding further he and 

Sawai Jayanh had th«r first personal meeting on 4lh March 
at Banibhola near Kishangad.® They arrived both riding on 
their elephants and as soon as they sighted each other, they 
dismounted, embraced and sal down on the same musnad m an 
open Darbar. Their visit lasted foi several days up to 8th 
March when tJiey discussed the peace terms and arrangements 
for the visit to the Emperor regarding which a communication 

was expected from Delhi. Jayginh offered to pay 5 lacs 
Chauth annually for Jaipur and promised to obtain from 
the Emperor written giants for the provinces of Malwa and 
Gujarat. Tlie Peshwa's agents Mahadev Bhat Hingne, 
Yadavrao Munshi, and Jaysinh’s envoy Kiipaiam proceeded 
to Delhi (or arrar^ing Bajirao's visit to the Emperor and as 
time was hanging on his hand before the reply could come. 

Bajirao moved into the nei^bourtng territories on his own 
account. Ranojt Sindia and Ratnchandm Baba powerfully 
exerted their influence upon the Peshwa in gaining his object. 

In the meantime the Emperor not caring to receive BajiraO' 

in a personal visit at Ddhi, sent his own agents Yadgar Khan 
and ICriparam to Jaysinh with certain proposals tending 
to effect as advantageous a bargain as possible. Bajirao at 
once rejected the offer and sent hi? own agents Dhondo Govind 
and Baburao Malhar to Delhi with counter proposals on his 
part^ the high tone of which displeased the Emperor so much, 

that he declined to reply and prepared for an offensive against 
the Marathas. The season also advanced and as there seemed 
rw prospect for Bajirao of a visit to the Emperor, he at once 
returned to the Deccan fully determined soon to compel the 

Emperor to grant his demands^® 

8. Some papen; erventtoQ M&iiohATpur as the place of tbeir meeUi^. 

9s Hingae Daf(ar PC. I receneV published omCains gnphtc perti* 

nent details of tbe aegotiadoos with the Imperial Court, see 

letter No. 3. (Dec. 1735), No. 4 m May 1786), No. 5, (20 June 1736), 

No. 6 (11th July 1738) and No. 7, HanojI Snde and Pamdiandra Bribe 

arc mentioned as having only one soul in two bodies. 
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6. Bajirao’s dash upon Dellij.—Yadfiar Khan reported 
to the Emperor his impressions, which were by no means 
agreeable to him. So the atmosphere at Delhi and Satara 

during the monsoon of 1736 was M of preparations for a 
stiff campaign- Bajirao asked Ratioji Sindia and Malharrafl 
Hoikflr to encamp in Malwa and prepare for the coming 

hostilities. This was indeed the first time that Marat ha (nK>i>s 
encamped in the north away fi'om home during the rriiny 
season, Heroaftcr these chiefs formed their permanent camps 

in Malwa. 
Bajirao himseff waa not long away. lie took fufi counsel 

with bhahu and his colleagues and after completing bis 

arrangements entered Malwa early iu January 1737, Kanoji 
met him at Bhifsa on January 13 and they deliberated over 
the details of the impending campaign oi a whirlwind type. 
Duties were definitely as^gned to the various comtoandfeta for 

laying under contribution the vast territories between the 
Narmada and the Jamuna. Baji Bhivrao and Holkar ad¬ 

vanced through Bundelkband, and Bajirao lumaelf with SIndia 
followed by slow marches to render succour wherevei* needed. 

Bhadawar and Ater were captured and an enonnous amount 
of booty was obtaioed. Nana Phadnis's father Janardan Baba 

kept a stem supen^fsion under Bajirao’s directlona upon the 
accumulation of funda and economy in expenditure. 

In the meantinte Saadat Khan who had been ordered by 
the Emperor to oppose the Marathas, proceeded* against them 

and attacked the corps oi Holkar and Baji Bhivrao who bad 
crossed over the Jamuna for ravaging the fertile imperial 
{erritoiifts of the Doab. They plundered Itimadpur and otlier 

places opposite Agra, when they were suddenly attacked by 
an cverwheiming force of Saadat Khan, The Marathas fled 
for life hut were overtaken and a few were slaughtered; and 

the remainder recroseed and joined the main army. It was 
indeed an insignificant akhmiah with a few advanced strag¬ 
glers. But Saadat l^an took them to be the irialn Maratha 

army, and at ooce sent to the Emperor a boastful account 
Giat he had met and destroyed the Maratha army completely. 
The Emperor lost no time in sending congratulations to Saadat 

Khan and other officers and heaped honours and rewards 
upon them. All the Mughal commanders including tfie Wazir 



CHAP. VI] TUB MUGHAL POWER irUMBLED 153 

and tlie Mir Bakhshi and aJso Muhammad Khan Bangash, 
formed an exten^ve camp near Mathuva and started joyous 
festivities in honour of their victory, entirely oblivioua of the 
coming storm. 

Bajirao was at this time in Bundelkhand watdiing the 
course of events and meditating upon die best course of un¬ 
deceiving the Emperor and exposing the boast of his vain 

satellites. He gathered accurate information of tlie Mughal 
concentration, of the routes leading to Delhi and tlie derencea 

of the capital In this retspect hus agents Dhondo Oovind and 
Hingne imparted to liim valuable bints and suggestions. 

7^ at followed hns bees well summariaed is the long account 
written by Bojirao himself to his brother from Jaipur on 
5th April 1737.'" 

Saadat Khan aent a false report to the Emperor tliat 
he had routed the main Maratha army, slaughtered two thou- 
5ar>d and drowned another two thousand in Ihe Jamuna. He 
also reported that Malharji Bfolkar and Vlthoji Buie were 

Idlled and that he had thus repelled the so-called furious on¬ 

slaught of Bajirao. The Emperor was so highly gratified with 
this news that he sent him hearty congratulations with dresses, 

and a pearl necklace, elephants and other gifts. My agent 
Dhondo Govihd sent me frequent messages with correct news 

■of these transactions at the Emperor's Court You Jmow 

how hollow are the professions of these Mughal grandees. I, 
therefore, decided lo tesdh the Emperor a wholesome lesson 
by letting hhn know that ilolkar and Buie were still alive. 

T>w ways were open to me, to attack Saadat Khan and des¬ 
troy him; or fail upon Delhi itself and burn, its outlying parts. 
But Saadat IChan would sot venture out from .Agra. So I 

took the latter course. Avoiding the main Mu^al concentra¬ 
tion, I advanced through the Mewati territory while Khan 

Dauran and Bangash marched towards Agra and j<uned 
Saadat Klian on 23rd March. Our agent Dhondo Govind was 

expelled from th^ camp as a supposed mischief-maker. He 

came and joined me. 
" In two long marches I reached Delhi on 28, and en¬ 

camped out^de the city. I gave up the idea of setting fire to 

10. ffroAmerrJra Cfierf/^-So. 7. 

V. H. 
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tEie adjoining suburbs, considering it a sacrilege to commit 
such a wanton outrage upon the ancient city. March 29 

happened to be the day oi Rama’s birth, lor wJuch celebra¬ 
tions were going on in the dty when we created a sensation 
by falling upon the crowds and carrying away some liglit 

plunder, This was enough to strike tenor, Tlie news reached 
the Emperor who on 30th March sent hia agent to me, with a 
request that 1 sliould send bade Dhondo Govind. I sent w'or<l 

saying that an escort may be sent for Phondo Govind’s safe 
journey through the infuriated crowds of the dty, In tire 
meanwhile to allay the scare created by our pr«?stncc, wc 

withdrew to a position away from the city and formed our 
camp at the Jhil Lake. As we started lack a force <jf about 
8,000 was despatched by the Emperor to drive us away. Our 
Sardars, Hoikar, Sindia and the Pawar brotliers, at once faced 

them gallantiy and inflicted upon them a crushing defeat. A 
dozen Mughal oflicers were killed and Mil* Hassan Koka was 
wounded. Several others fled away to save their lives. Our 
own loss was inaignifkant After repairing to the Jhil Lake, 
we discovered in the afternoon tliat tire Waair Q«mf*ud*diji 
Khan was coming tc face us, We at once attacked him, but 

it soon became dark and we were compelled to retire, On 
Thursday 3lRt March we received news that air the combined 
Mughal army was coming upon us. In Di*der to draw them 

away and attack lliem piecemeal we marched towards Rewari 
and Kotputli, and now we hear the Emperor has called tliern 
all back. Jaysinh has written to me requesting me not to 
molest his territory. We are now proceeding towards Gwalior 

for collecting aiTcars : if the Mughals pursue, we are quite 
equal to the tasit of facing and destroying them. We have prac¬ 
tically desolated the environs of Delhi. If Nizam-ul-mulk 

tries to cross the Narmada and come to the help of the 
Emperor, you must prevent him and hold him in dieck, Such 

is the outcome of this great offensive.” Bajirao considered this 
chastisement sufficient and retraced his steps towards the 
Deccan before the rainy season. 

Bajirao received unbounded congralulatiojjflfc from his 

friends and co-workers for ffiis phenomenal " Tlie 
princes of Rajputana now gave up their vacillation and tried 

to make friendly approaches to him in order to gain his 
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favour” writes Vyapkaji Ram from Jaipur, “The raja”, 
continues the agent “has sent Jawahar Sinh with Rs. 5,000 

cash in lieu of a feast for you and has expressed through him 
his utmost gratification at the brotherly affection svhich you 

have exhibited towards him. 1 read to him every word of your 
letter, after which he replied “We are the Peshwa’s loyal ser¬ 
vants : all (mr raj is his : it behoves him to take care of us 
in every possible way. His revered mother has given us her 

blessings and he must continue to do the same.*' 
While Bajirao was in the north, the Emperor sent 

Muliammad Khan Bangash hiuriedly to Jaipur to inspect the 
raja’s military preparations and report what chance there was 
(or a combined and bold stand against the Peshwa. Shahu 

on the other* hand felt extremely nervous at the conflicting 
reports that reached him from the north and wrote to Bajirao 
urgent letters calling him beck, lest his rashness sl^ould launch 
him into ruin, inflicting permanent harm upon the Maratha 
cause, He wrote, “a servant of unparalleled capacity lilre 

you is a great asset for us. You must riot seek a personal 
Interview with the Emperor, The Nisam and other grandees, 

we are informed, are not at all friendly towards you. They 
are ail bent upon your ruin. So please take the utmost care 

and caution and send us prompt news of your immediate 
plans.”*’ 

7. Nixani humbled at Bhopal.—The two and a half 
years from the beginning of 1736 may be rightly styled as a 
period of Mughal-Maratha war, in which Bajirao handled the 

operations in the north and his brother did the same in the 
south, helped by Avjl Kavde, Raghuji Bhosle, Vyankatrao 
Ghorpade and others, whose names fr^ently appear in the 
documents of the day. The climax was reached in 17S8 when 
Bajirao and Nizam-ul-mulk came face to face for a final trial 
of strength. The Emperor, terrorized by Bajirao's raid of the 
summer of 1737, sent repeated and urgent calls to Nisam-ul- 

mulk to repair to Delhi and stop the Maratha nuisance. 
Since the secret understanding arrived at during their meet¬ 
ing of December 1732 at Rohe-Rameshwar, Bajirao and Nisam- 

11. Shaku's evlQt^cph Itlttr, on Bajirao. p 308. 
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ul-mulk had both faithfully Icept their word and not crossed 
each other’s path in any flagrant manner. Even now when 

summoned by the Emperor, tlie Nizam intimated to Bajirao 
tltat his object in going to Delhi was to r«nove the taint that 
had long attached to his own name as being the first rebel 

to assert independence of the central authority. So leaving 
his dominions in tlic spring of 1737, he readied Sironj on 
10th May and found Bajirao camping in the vicinity for seve¬ 

ral days on his return journey to the south after de\';istalinK 
the environs of Delhi. It ivas indecorous for them lo ivmaiii 
utterly indifferent being in such close proximity; an inter¬ 
mediary wa-s discovered in tlie pliant Pilaji Jadliav, who visiled 

Nizam-ul-mulk on Iwhalf of Bajirao on 28tji May and ofTer&i 
him the formal customary greedngs, though one may l» sure, 
Pilaji was deputed to get some inkling of Nixam-ul-mulk’s 

future plans. The latter was shrewd enough to conceal his 
real intentions by a grant bf lavish presents, Bui silence was 
more eloquent and Bajirao was not slow to take the hint and 

prepare immediately for the impending amtest. 

In Malwa Nizam-ul-mulk was first occupied in exactir^t 
obedience from the local chiefs who had deserted to the 

Marathas since'the battle of Amjbera. It is also possible that 
Bajirao purposely avoided an open encounter in that hot 
season, his troops being already worn out by the arduous 

•campaign of several months and impadent to reach their 
houses before the commencement of the rains and to clepojul 
safely the booty th^ had collected. From Sironj Nizam-ul- 

mulk proceeded to Delhi to mature his plans. Heavy clouds 
began to gather bn the political horizon. Once* more was 
Nizam-ul-mulk received in tlie imperial capital with great but 

feigned jubilation. The Emperor accorded him a hearty wel¬ 
come and 80 did the whole Court Nizam-ul-mulk made his 

humble hom^e to the Emperor and received in return un¬ 
precedented courtesy and lavish honours, The latter bestowed 
on him his own robe and sirpao with the title.of Asaf-Jah, the 
highest among the Mughal nobility, and sent him choice 

dishes from hie own kitchen every day, during the period of 
his stay, Writes Vyankaji Ram from Delhi on 10th August,— 

"Nizam-ul-mulk has demanded from the Emperor the 
government of tlve five Subahs in addition to a crore of cash 
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to finance his preparatioiw, tor removing the Maratha pest 
frtm north India. The Emperor has freely granted him all be 
asked for, HU son Gbazi-ud'din has been given the Subahs 

of Agra and Malwa. His eon Kasir Jang has been command¬ 
ed to prevent Maratha succours coming into Malwa from the 
Deccan. The three Subahs of Allahabad, Ajmete and Gujarat 
are to be bestowed on the nominees of the Nizam." Bajirao 
rightly interpreted the import of tliese events ae reported by 
liis trusted agent and prepared to ^pose the Mughals. 

Well equipped with his requirements in every detail 

Nizam-ul-mulk left Delhi in October with Ihirty thousand 
select troops, a powerful park of artillery and full authority 

to act in expelling Uie Marathas Iroio Bundelkhand and 
Malwa, He took tl)e easier route to the south crossing the 
Jumna Into the Dcab near Agra and recrossing it into Bundd- 
khand near Kalpi. The Pe^wa had already a war on hiR- 
hands at the time against the Portuguese in noith Konkan : 

but the two brothers rose equal to the occadon and faced a 
second war of a more gigantic proportion in Malvra. Never’ 
was such an anxious time experienced before by Maratha 

warriors and their helpmates. Never aince Aurangseb's days 
was such a supreme cO'Opcradvc effort put forth against the* 
Marathas by the Mughal imperialists. The prospect was 
appalling even for the stoic equanimity of Sbahu, who held 

frequent and serious deliberations with his Peshwa at Satara 
and who had specially Invited to his presence Ranoji, Maihar* 
rao and other responsible leaders trom the north for a full 
consultation. Bajirao enthusiastically took up the dialloige 
and cheered up his sovereign's drooping spirits. The die was 

cast. On the auspicious day of 15 October Bajirao took his 
departure for the north along with his master's blessings and 
the best wishes of his nation, now united as never before. 

In the fflcantimc Nasir Jang, a worthy son of a worthy 

father, had not been idle. He raised fresh levies for use in 
Malws and spent lavishly in preparstiorei to crush the 
Marathas between two pincers, himself moving from the south 
and his father from the north. Bajirao, foreseeing the game, 

stationed his brother Chimnajl Appa at Varangamn on the 
Tapti with iflfitructions to prevent Nasir Jang from proceeding 
beyond Burhanpur. Chimnaji performed this duty excellently. 
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Some other tried Maratha chiels such as Raghuji Bhosle, 
Dainajj Gaikwad and Avji Kavcle ffiithfuUy j«upported Baji- 
rao’s plans and unflinchingly can led out tl;e duties assigned 

to them. 

Bajirao himself crossed the Naimacia early in December 
with a huge force and keeping hia cf»nmunication» uiukT 
strict control through agents and spies well posted in difTcrent 

directions to report the enemy's moves, watched for ati <Ji>por- 
tunity lo push the Mug])alK by his gueriMa tactics Inlo an 

untenable position. It was the momentous slrugglc of his life. 
Before his arrival in Malwn Nizam-uUmulk liad ivclucwl 
Bundclldmnd and arranged his camp witli strict attention to 

compactness and supervision. From the Iwgtnning {‘f Decem¬ 
ber the Maratha bands started hovering about the Mughal 
camp and harassing them from a distance, Icecping well out 
of the range of llieir artillery. The advanced Maratha Irtjops 

gradually drove the Mughftia towards the south into Bajlrao’s 
net, as soon as he had arrived on the tableland of MaJwa. 

Tlie Maratha tactics soon proved effective and the Niaam 
realized early enough that he could not pursue the Marathaa 
and retaliate swiftly with his huge camp, whose necessaries 

of life came to be rapidly cut off. He, dierefbre, decided to 

find shelter in a well fortified place wherein he could keep biH 
anny secure and deal piecemeal witli the various Maratlia 

bands. 

He was coming towards Bajirao, and as he neared Bhopal 

he took shelter in that fortified town without first assuring 
himself of plentiful provisions and remained fully entrenched, 

This was just the trap Bajirao was trying his utmo.M to drive 
bis adversary into. Bajirao besieged the Mughal^ in that 
small walled, place and "sapped provisions reaching them from 

outside. The siege commenced on 14th December and in les.s 
than a week's time the Mughals came to an extremity for 
want of food, Artillery alone served them well and Icept the 

Marathas out of the range of their fire. Niaam-ul-mulk soon 

found his position intolerable and tried to move out with his 
whole camp under the shelter of his guns. But he could hardly 

travel more than four or five miles a day. Thus nearly a fort¬ 
night elapsed under extreme pressure, and when he learned 
that his longed for relief under his son had not even reached 
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Rurlmnpur, he was overwhelmed with despair ajid in a^fony 
of heart seat for Anandrao SumanC, his friend in the Maratha 
camp, and throu;th lum beg^ Bajirao for terms of peace. 

Bajirao refused to negotiate ttough the Sumant whom he did 
TOt' trust and offered to send instead hia own agents Pilaji 
Jadhav, Baji Bhlvrao and Baburao MaJhar. In the mesn- 
time Jayj«oh'« minister Ayamall arrived on behalf of the 
Nizam with Saiyad Lashkar Khan and other agenht to seo 

Bajirao and anange terms of peace. They urged that if Baji¬ 
rao would release the Nizam from the present difftcult posi> 

tion, without inflicting any disgrace on him, the Nizam would 
grant any compenMition that would be demanded. After long 

and vexalious conferences, Nizam-uhmuiJc affixed his signature 
to the following terms on 7tli January 1738 al Doraha Sarai 
abtml 61 miles north of t^ironj : — 

1, Nizam-uUmuIk solemnly undertook to grant the 
Marathes a formal cession of Malwa under the imperial seal; 

2, To deliver over to them all the territory between the 
Narmada and the Jamuiia; and 

3, To pay 50 lacs in cash from the imperial treasury 
by way of expenses to the Marathas. 
All the chiefs and jagirdars within the ceded r^on who had 

formerly accepted Maratha suzerainty but who had during the 
recent campaign deserted to the Nizam, were sent back by 
him and received in open Darbar by the Peshwa where they 
took an oath of loyalty to him, 

Thus once more did Bajirao ^ow his phenomenal mag¬ 
nanimity by staying hla hand and desisting frum proceeding 

''"^CTtTEmitics towaids an enemy, who had more than once 
^oken*. his .Righted word and who was out to crush the 

' h^rathas finally. This was one more instance of the Chhatra- 
pad's policy towards the Empetor and his provincial govc^ 
hors. They were not to be extirpated but to be supported in 

flKtf positions. Indeed, the Marathas bad at this time ’a 
^eShdid opportunity of inflicting a crushing blow i^on Nizam- 
Q*mulk, but they'allowed him to escape lightly, thus con- 

fOrrhiog to their traditional policy of ''live and let live.” 
Writes Bajirao*to bis brother, “Fortified as Che Nawab was 

witH- a strong .artillery and with the Bundella and Rajput 
princes as hia staunch allies, I accepted your advice and agreed 
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to much lower terms than could have been exacted. You can 

realize what a severe morUficaticn it must have been lo Asaf 
Jah to sign a docximent with his own hand parting with 

Malwa and the rights therein of Chauth and Sardeslimuldii, 

of which he never allowed even a mere mention till then. It 
was the heiglit of shame (or him to be compelled to yield 

these. £ven tliis much success is the result of tlic blessings' 
we have secured boUi from our revered Chhalrapoli oiid our 
late panint. The liif^^est noble^ of the Mughnl Empire has 

been brought lo'HS knees, He has taken sacred <»dhH on ihc 
Koran to SBide by the terms agreed upon." 

Read between the lines, this letter dearly reveals ihe 
policy of Shnhu, which was communicated lo Bajirao through 
the mediation of his broth^. Bltopal was tlius the last and 

the highest triumph of Bajirao, gloriots on account of the 
very moderation displayed by him in the moment of victory. 
After the treaty was signed, every facility was allowed Co the 

Mughals to d^art witliout molestation, but Bajirao spent a 
few months in the nortli wai^ng for a formal ratification of 
the lernis by the Emperor.'’ When Che negodations were com¬ 

pleted, Bajirao left the vidnity of Bhopal and proceeded to 
Kota whence he exacted ten lacs of tribute and returned to 
Poona in July Co the immense gmtification of Shahu and the 

nation. The credit of the successful campaign is equally due 
to C^imnaji Appa who had so intelligently supported his 
brother when absent in the north. 

12. Before mifying the treaty the Peshy^a and tbe Nisoin roust 
have exchanged fonral ccreraonial vlaiU at this time. U so, this would 

be the seventh but unrecorded visit between them. Sea note 4 144. 
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CHAPTER VII 

1730, January 11 

.. July 5 
1732, April 

1734, 

1734, Aug. 15 

1734 

1735, Feb. 4—April 

1737 Summer 

1737, March 27 

1735 

17S8,Nc^. 27 

1735, December 29 

1739, January 9 

irao, January 12 

1739, January 12 

1739, January 18 

1739, F^ruary 13 

1739, Mardi 7 

1739, March 9 

1739, April 

1739, April 25 

1739, AprU 27 

1739, May 1 

1739, May 1 

First mentinn Maatani at Poona. 

Sadaahivr&o Bhau bom. 

Count of Sandomille PortLiguse Governor of 

Goa. 

SandomiUe starts fortifications of 'Hjana. 

ilaghunathrao bom. 

Shamshcr Bahadur bom to Mastaoi' 

3 Bajirao at Kolaba, divided Angrlan estate in¬ 

to C\vo portions between Sarobbaji and 

Manajl. 

War opened against the Portuguese. 

Chimnaji Appa captures Thana, Dbaravi and 

other places. 

Nadir Shah occupies Kabul. 

Pedro cle Mello killed at Tharm. 

Battle of Tarapore. 

Mahim and other places captured. 

Vyankatrao Ghorpado attache Goa, the Portu¬ 

guese heart. 

Nadir Shah captures Lahore. 

Emperor leaves Delhi to face Nadir Shah. 

Nadir Shah defeats the Emperor near Kamal, 

ke^s him under arresL 

Nadir Shah arrives at Delhi. 

Saadat Khan takes poison, dies. 

Nadir Shah plunders Delhi and the environa 

Nadir Shah calls upon Indian potentates to 

support the Emperor. 

Goa accepts Maiadia teems of peace and saves 

itself. 

Nadir Shah leaves Delhi for home. 

Marathas attack Bassein violently. 
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1739, May 6 

1739. May 31 

1739, May !2 to 

July U 

1739. June 

1739, December 

1740, Jan.-Fcb. 

1740, January 14 

1740, F<*ruapy 4 

1740, February 7 

1740, February 17 

1740, March 12 

1740, April 26 

1740, Sep. 7 

1740, Sep. 7 

1742, January 12 
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Bassein autrendiua, p(*acc concluded. 

Stahu aaka Bajiiac to defend thu Em^jCror. 

Capt. Gerdon'e mission to Satara, 

English envoy Tnchbird mecU Qumn<iji Appa 

at Thana, concludes a friendly nuacmc^nt. 

Mastani kept under confinement at I’oona. 

Nusir Jang lnvad(« MAralha KTiibiiy on 

the Godavari. 

linjirTto and Chimnaji niul Kaair JntrK, sokI 

bcaiujtu him ni AuranRHlvad. 

Inchbitd meets Bajirao near Paithan and con* 

eludes a friendly undursUindlnu. 

RagliunatU Fao's thread ceremony. 

Sadashivrao married to Uimibai 

Nasir Jang acceifU M&ratlia turns, treaty of 

Mungi'Shevgaon. 

Chimnaji A|}pa meets Naair Jang, 

Bajirao dies at Faver Khed!. 

Treaty with the English ratified by B;ila)i. 

Marathas ca|rturc Cbaul. 

Sanibhajl Angria dies, 



CHAPTER VII 

BAJIRAO’S LAST PHASE 

[1739—1740) 

1. Niulir Invasinn^ 

Hindu Suveregoir? ? 
2 Wnr ihe 

Oliiutc <d Busscin. 
Kvperciissions in Boinhiiy. 

4 Minor vpisoclcs^ clu Angtiu. 
5 The rofniince nt Mfl^canl. 
6 Navrr 
7 SuJJcn (lu(h. 
H Bajirao’^ ihoniL(i!f. 

1. Nadtr Shah’s invasiou, Hiadu Soveieignty ?— 
The invasion ol Nadir Shah and its devastating effect upon 
the Mutual Empire are too well-knovm to require any clabo* 
rale ireaiment here. How tlie affair reacted upon the general 

trend of Maratha history is our concern. Nisam-ul-mulk re¬ 
turned to Delhi alter his discomfiture at Bhopal. What be 
Imported to the Emperor about his doings we have no means 

of knowing, but that he took no pains to fulfil his promise to 
Dajirao and obtain from the Emperor a lull ratification of the 
terms of the agrewnent of DoraRa SaraX fe perfectly dear. In 

December 1738 the Maratha envoy Baburao Malhar reported 
from Delhi, “ I had an int«view with the Emperor who has 
exchanged solemn oaths of friendship with Nisam-ul-mulk. 
Disconcerting news conveying Nadir Shah's threats on account 

of some frontier disputes, has disturbed the peaceful atmos¬ 
phere of the Court of Delhi. Rumour has it that Saadat Khan 
and Niaam-ul-mulk have conducted treacherous underhand 

parleys with Nadir Shah, instead of supporting the Emperor in 
the measures that he was concerting to meet the danger.” II 
is dear at any rate if these two most prominent nobles of the 
Mughal Court had wholeheartedly exerted themselves in resist¬ 

ing Nadir Shah's onslaught, by fully co operating with the Em¬ 
peror, the danger would certainly have been averted, The 
ministera in power made light of the threat from Persa and 

tried to seek selfish ends rather than undergo the least sacrlffce 
for the imperial cause. Tliese nobles all severally detested the 

Marathas and possibly conceived the idea of putting them 
down with the welcome aid of Nadir Shah when he would 
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arrive. There was s widespread Wief that the implacable in¬ 

vader undertook the invasion with the sole object of saving 
the Mughal power from the aggressive Marathas, 

Nadir Shah's intentions had been well-knmvn at Delhi for 
a year in advance. He occupied Kabul in 173^, and at once 
sent his agents lo the Emperor at Delhi, calling upon him to 

suppress the disturbances of the border tribes who had been 
ravaging his territory. No notice was taken of tlicse a)m- 

plaints and Nadir Shah started from Kaljul in Novemhur uixl 
after capturing Peshawar and Atlock appr(«ichcd I^lKjru early 
in January 1739. What was Nizam-ul-rnttlk df)inK all this 

time, if he had sincerely repented, as he alleged, of his rebellious 
conduct towards the Empeior since 1723 ? Zaltaria Khrui the 
able governor of Laliore tried his ulmost to keep away tl« 
invader, but was overpowered and Lahore was lost on January 
12. There was no stir at Dellii yet. On 18th January Muham¬ 

mad Shah left Delhi with all his forces arid nobles to oppose 
him. Ife formed a huge camp at Karnal and with the excel¬ 
lent equipment and fighting material that he possessed, could 

have easily put down the invader, if he had the determination, 
grit and above all the unity of command and counsel. Dis¬ 
unity and intrigue, particularly among the principal nobles, 

were the bane of the Mughal Court and it collapsed like a 
house of cards. Nadir Shah reached Sarhind on 5th 
February. On 13 th February the imperialists advanced from 

their base at Karnal and attacked the Persians, but were easily 
repulsed with great slaughter. Khan Dauran tlie Mir Bakhshi 
received mortal wounds and died two days after, Saadat 

Khan was wounded and captured. Nizam-ul-mulk remained 
vacillating to the last, and took no part in the actual opera¬ 
tions, although everybody looked up to him for guidance as 
the most sober and experienced grandee of the Empire. 

Nadir Shah contrived to obtain useful information by 
secret personal talks with the captive Saadat Khan about the 

wealth of Delhi, with a view to satisfying his inordinate greed, 
which was the prindpal object of his undertaking, like his 

great predecessor, Mahmud of Ghazni. Saadat Khan pointed 
to Nizam-ul-mulk as the custodian of imperial affairs. There¬ 
upon Nadir Shah summoned Nizam-ul-muik to his camp and 

asked him how it was that " with such consummate counsellors 
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as you atsout tho Emperor's person, the Marathss could not 
be driven out^” He replied, “ I have no voice in the matter. 
The Emperor is guided by young inexperienced men ; tjiat is 

why I had to carve out an independent field for myself in the 
Deccan." It was then agreed to between Nadir Shah and Ihe 
Nisazn that the former should receive Rst. 60 lakhs and retire 
without creating trouble. The next clay Nadir Shah invited 

the Emperor Co his camp tor dinner. Upon hia return tlie 
Emperor learned lb a I Khan Dauran had expired and appoint¬ 
ed Nizum-ul-mulk to the post of Mir Rnkhfihl a position to 
whicii Saadat Khan was aspiring. The latter felt mortally dis¬ 

appointed and commenced his inlrigues. Me represented to 
Nadir Sliah why he should not retire with only a paltry sum 
of 50 lacA, whereas, if lie proceeded lo Delhi, he could easily 
obiuin twenty crorea. Saodat IChan added, '‘there Is none 
with the Emperor who can oppose him except the Nisam, but 
he is a mere cheat and a philosoplier." Nadir Shall was net 
slow to realise the force of this suggestion; he besieged the 
Mughal camp in order to starve It out, summoned the Nizam 

tor a visit and kept him under arrest, demanding twenty eroras 
as tile price 0/ hla r^eaee, Thereafter Nadir Sliah Irept the 
Emperor himself under confinement and plundered his whole 
camp. 

Baburao Malher, the Maratha envoy at the Couit, fled 
tor safety to Jaipur. Ho writes, " Nizam-ul mulJc seekiac his 

own selfWi ends, contrived to pay a visit to Nadir Sliah and 
gain hla favour.” Thereupon Nadir Sliah made captives oC the 
Emperor, Qamruddin Khan and Nizam ul-rouUt, and proceed¬ 
ing to Delhi he took possesion of the capital where he arrived 

on 7th March. He immediately called upon Saadat IChan to 
procure for him the 20 crores he had promised, on pain of 
death. As Saadat Khan could not face the situstion, he put 

an end to hie life by swallowing poison.* On 10th March 1 

Nadift-ShsK occupk^jihe Mughal throne and proclaimed him- 
self EmperoTfc^ immediately alter he began to perpetrate those 
atrocila« upon the liapless populace of Delhi which have 

continued fresh In Indian memory. - From 9th March to Ut 

1. Irvine II—An eslimote of Nadir Shah’s plunder is mte* 

doiied as three end ihree-quartera crorea Ja Hotfi** Doflir I. 16. 
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May men of all grades of society suffered indescribable cruelty, 
hardship and public htuniliation. Instead of 20 crores, it is 
said, Nadir Shah ainassed very nearly a hundred crures worth 

in cash and goods, including the Peacock Throne of Dafiu 
constructed by Shah Jahan and the famoux diamond Kohi* 

noor, all of which he carried back to Persia. 

Competent Maralha agenU and observers of cvenU pc?sl«) 

tliroughout northern India sent detailed accounts to Muiia* 
raahtra, to Bajirao, Shahu and otiicr leaders of the Maratho 

State, with suggestions eacli in his own way. as to the course 
they should adopt in the future. Ttie Hingnes aixl Bahurao 
Malhar sent their own advice. Jaysinh had .slatij^ncd his 
own agent Kriparam at Delhi. Pilaji Jadhav was posted by 
Bajirao In Malwa to prevent further advance of Nadir Sliah. 

Anandrao Suraant remained with N(2am*iil-mulk at Delhi 
watching the course of svcnls. All contemporary reports from 
Delhi and Rajputana agree that there was unprecedented 

anarchy throughout northern India with no ruler who could 
impose his will upon the distracted land then entirely Tilled 

with stupefaction, with every soul crying out, " Wliat nuxt?" 
Some called upon Bajirao to come forth boldly and drive away 
the invader. Others advised a more cautious policy, waiting 

for eventualities and stepping in at an opportune moment. 

While more fanatical extremists were not wanting who advised 
immediate fulfilment of the long delayed dream of placing a 
Hindu monarch on the vacant throne of Delhi. But all eyes 
turned to Bajirao, the only man of nerve for the moment, who 

could face the altuadon valiantly and command ^ confidtaice 
of all. 

At heart Jayeioh. and Bajirao were friends and acted in 
concert, being now happily relieved of tlie several mischievous 
elements about the Emperor's person. The Emperor in bis dis¬ 

tress peremptorily summoned Jaysinh to come to his aid : but 
Jaysinh did not move from his home. On the contrary he 

eent congratula^ons to Nadir Shah by means of courteous 
letters. Dhondo Govind, a shrewd observer of events, wrote 

to Bajirao from Delhi advising him to stadon himself in 
Malwa, fttfly prepared^frt* a conflict, adding Nadir Shah 
h no God that he could destroy the earth. He possesses .sense 

enough and knows his busine-ss. He will not wish to brealt 
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with you, but will effect a friendly undKatanding when lie 
knows you are strong enough to oppose him. Please lot us 
have directions as to how we ^ould act. You must hrst assert 
your power and then follow it with a soft and sweet atlitude. 
I don't expect actual hoatllltics to break out between him and. 

you. Important results are often obtained by a mere show of 
strength and sternness. Jayalnh and youryclf aided by the 
Bundela diicfs will be quite a strong Hindu front which Pro* 

vidence in its wisdom will surely crown with aucces-s. Jay- 
sinl) is anxioualy waiting lor your arrival to take the lead. 

Nisam'uUmulk is playing a mischievous game. Some of his 
spies who were found roving about prying into Jaysinh's 

secret counsels, were captured by him. They confessed they 
were deputed by Nijam-ul-mulk, They were discharged with 
their noses and ears cut When such a powerful noble as 
Nixatn*ul-mulk behaves so trcaclieroualy towards his master, 
how can you expect Nadir Shah to return quietly without 

punishing the Hindus ? All voices agree that the two nobles 
Nisam-ul-mulk and Saadat Khan alone induced Nadir Shah 

to undertake the inva»on of India. The latter has met the 
fate he deserved. The former still lives, hut lives a life worse 
tlmn death. He Is forced to ride a mule, while proceeding to 

pay his respects to Nadir Shah. Victory at this momeiW 
crowns the Peshwa alone. Many here desire tliat the Rana of 

Udaipur should be seated on the tlirone of Delhi and made 
Emperor of the Hindus. Tlie northern Rajas are anxiou^y 
expecting the Peahwa’s arrival : a momentous change appears 

to be in sight. The wodd is going to rack and ruin. Let us 
face the situation boldly."* 

Id the midst of this confusing predicament Shahu alone 
kept his vision clear and exercised the Snal voice on the strength 
of his power. At h!s instance the Maratha Court and the 

nation in general did not feel themselves competent to^ndw* 
lake the risk of sustaining a Hindu Emperor at Delhi, (y^ahu 
and^hls Peshwa were not. prepared to provoke acoth^, contest 

at ^ lime when they were already involved in a deadly stfurel^ 

Ihlo long letter supflits valuable coairaponTy evldmce iwt only 

on the momentous event of Ne^r Shah's invasion, but cn the relative 
stimate of the t«o princlpsl characters acting on (be sta^e of bcitory— 
Bajirao and Niaaro-uLmuIk. AiL Charcha 4. »■ 
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with the Portuguese on the west coast The fall of Bassein 

and the departure of Nadir Shah from' India were synchron¬ 
ous ; and then Bajirao following tlie advice of Pilaji Jadliav 
prepared immediately to go to (he north, a course which SIxahu 

himself dictated, remembering the solemn promise he had 
made to the dying Emperor Aurangseb, tliat he would Imsten 
to the rescue of the Empire whenever it was threatened by an 

invader from outside. The opportune moment had arrived tor 
Shahu to malce his plighted word good. When Bajirao reached 
Burhanpur he received advices from Delhi that Nadir Shah 

had departed for his native land, having restored Muhammad 
1 Shah to the throne of Ddhi and issued «nphalic commands to 
\ the Indian potentates to reiider obedience to him. 

' Shahu reposed implicit faith in Bajirao. He had pre¬ 
viously issued orders that “all should obey Bajirao faithfully 

and should do nothii^ to disturb his temper.”= When ques¬ 
tioned about creating a Hindu monarchy at Delhi he issued 
the following clear wamir^r on 31st 1739, that is just 
about the time that Bajirao was proceeding to the north. 

Purandare communicates to him Shnhu*s sentimenls :— 

“ God has helped Muhammad Shah to regain the imperial 

position which he had lost, and now that Nadir Shah has gone, 
the question arises what attitude the Marathas should adopt 

towards the Mi^hal Emperor. In this respect His Highness 
the Maharaja Chhatrapati wi^s to ingress upon you the 
following line of policy, vi^., that it should be our duty to 
X^^uscitate the falling Mughal Empire; that the Chhatrapati, 

as you are already aware, does not aspire to secure the im¬ 
perial position for himself; that he considers it a higher merit 
to reiiovate an old dilapidated edifice than to build a new one. 
If we attempt the other course (of aggression), it would involve 

U5 in enmity with all our neighbours, with the consequence 
that we should be exposed to unnecessary dangers and court 

a crop of trouble all round. Hence the wisest course for us 
under the circumstances would be to wholeheartedly support 
the present regime ; secure only the administrative manage¬ 

ment for ourselves as the Amir-ul-Umra of the State : in that 
capacity we should eollect the revenues of the country, out of 

5, P. D. ir J8 
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which we should recover our expenses ior tlK troops and pay 
the balance into the imperial treasury. This is the general 
policy I have been aslced by His Highness to impress on you 
for your guidance," This dear definition of the Maratha aims 

by Shahu deserves tlie careful attention of students of Muj?hal- 
Mstatha relations. Is this not exactly the policy that Qive 
later adopted in securir^ the Diwani of Bengal ? 

Bajirao fully complied with these commands ia his journey 
to the north, but his task became iiglit when he learnt that 
Nadir Shah had left India. Bajirao sect written assurances to 
the Emperor with expressions of loyalty and respect and a 
present of 101 mohurs. The Emperor returned an et^uaJly cor¬ 
dial answer, coniiimlng all former agreements and renewed pro¬ 

mises of executing them faithfully. Before leaving India 
Nadir Shah addressed a circular letter to the mlers of India 
including the Chhatrapati of Satara and the Pe^wa, calling 
upon them to obey and serve the Emp^or of Delhi.* 

2- War upon the Poicuguese, capture of Basscin.— 
The conquest of the island of Salsette^ ar^ the strong fortress 
of Bassein from the possession of the Portuguese is one of the 
most glorious episodes of Maratha history. It receives added 
importance from the fact that the Marathas proved victorious 

over a strong foreign naval power adept in the art of sea-fight, 
and invincible on account of their artillery. The Portuguese 
held their sway over a few points in a strip of the west coast 
extending from Goa to Daman, a distance of nearly 400 miles; 

a few fortilied places which they held at intervals served as 
bulwarks of defence impregnable to any invader using anti- 

<iuated arms like the spear and the sword. 
The Peshwa’s ambition to extend Maratha supremacy 

and protect the Hindu religion is responsible for the friction 
that existed between them arni the Portuguese on the wesf 

coast. The religious fanaticism of the Catholics and tlieir 
persecution of the Hindus embittered their mutual relations and 
Sequent complaints reached the Peshwa fr«n the Hindu in- 

4. Kincaid, ffisUry of the M(fratfu People. Vol. 2, p. 2» : P, D. 22. 

S99 and P. D. 15 p. 83; Satata Hist. Sodety, Vol, 2. No 26S. . 

6. SaJaette « ihe naioe jiven to the «]and e*tending (rom the 

creek o< Bandra to that ol Bassein, a corruption of Snasti, 66 villager. 

(4. H. n—12 ' 
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habitaats of north Konkan aying lor redress. The religious 
zeal of the Portuguese manifested itself in atrocious persecu¬ 

tion of the non-Christian residents in their territory. They de¬ 
manded tribute frcan ships plying on the west coast and inter¬ 
fered with the native diiefs in their legiCimace sph^es. Thujs 

the Portuguese government became a scouige and a lerror to the 
natives of the coastal regions. They forced whole villages 
to ^brace Christianity at the point of the sword. On the 
death of the head of a family the minor children were taken 

possession ol by tlie priests and compelled to Idss the cross. 
The Hindus were forbidden to practise their religious rites and 

ceremonies. Temples were pulled down and churclies raised 
on their sites. Men of portion and standing were falsely ac¬ 
cused by the priests and forcibly converted. These methods 
although lately much softened, had become so intolerable that 

the Peshwa had to take up arms in defence of his religion. 
In 1719 Bajirao’s father had reconquered the district of 

Kalyan and gradually extended his conquest to Jawhai* and 
Ramnagar. During 1730 Pilaji Jadhav ennied war into the 

Portuguese territory. He took Kamba, a Portuguese outpost 
near Bhivandi. A new Portuguese Governor Count de Sando- 

mille, a man of a stro/^ and stern character arrived from Eu¬ 
rope and took charge of the Portuguese possessions in India in 
April 1732. He continued to hold the office for nine years, and 
assumed such a high handed irritating attitude tov'ards Uic 
I^rathas that they were compelled to open immediate hoslili* 
ties, The-two important posts which the Portuguese held in 
their government of the north were Bassein and Thana, the 

former already strongly fortified but the was Vulnerable. 
Appr^iendir^ trouble from the Marathas of Kalyan, the new 
Viceroy hurriedly started to build a jlrpng fort at ^ana, a 

threat directly aimed at the Maratha possessions of Kalyan and 
the north Konkan districts, which they could not ignore. Be¬ 
fore the fortifications of Thana were completed, the Marathas 

opened hostilities gainst that place in the summer of 1737- 
Chirrmaji Appa sent bands of sdected men and captur^ 
Thana on 26 March. The Marathas quickly completed the 

foitifications and organised the defence of the place so that 
it might serve as a sbpng base for operations gainst Bassdn. 
Several other places iiT tlie ^and of ’Sal«tie“aurrendered 
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to them in April; Dharavi was secured !n May and Santa Cruz 

in June, Thert was, however, no naval action so iar. 

The of Bassein fhejnain symbol of Portuguese 
power in this part of the country, resisted all the landward at¬ 
tacks that were launched by ihe Marathas. A mile and a half 

in drcumfercnca and trian^lar in shape, the fort had slrooi 
atone walls ri^g to a height of 30 to 40 feet from the ground 
and about 5 ft. in thickness. Four-sided bastions rose from 

each corner on which strong artillery was mounted, To the 
south of tile fort ran the Bassein aeek, the west was washed 
by the open sea. The eastern side was bounded by a belt of 
marshy land overflown by tidal waves, while the north sup¬ 
plied the only land passage for attack. Shankaraji Phadke 

immediately after Ibe capture of Ihana tried to surprise the 
place but failed witli the consequence that the Marathas lost 
heart, at least during the season ot 1737. a critical year for 
the Maratha fortunes, in which the Mughals had put forth 
their last supreme effort winst tl)e Marathas under the sole 

command of their veteran leader Nizam-ul-Tiuilk. Chimnajl 
Appa had thus to attend to two arduous campaigns, Bassein 
and Bhopal simultaneously. So all action against Basscin 

came perforce to a standstill during tlie early months of 1738. 
The interval, however, was a welcome relief to Chimnajt Appa 
to some extent, as it afforded him leisure to mature his plans 
and deliver hie final attack with no chance of failure. The 
return of fair weather at the end of 1733 was availed of and 

the best and most valiant Maratha leaders and soldiers were 
directed with ringular effect against the fortress of Basaein. 
Holkar, Sindla, Pawar and other renowned captains of the 

north were summoned lor this heroic effort. 

But the Portuguese had not been idle. Tlicy fuEy utiUsed 

the interval of Maratha distraction during 1738. Fresh-suc¬ 
cours arrived for them from Euroi>^.«)d thty started a great 

•offensive ag^hst tE^ Marathas in 17^% Mahadaji Pant 
Phadke, a daring Maratha capfimTost his life in the attempt 

agaiost; Nfehim, another Porti^ese post* ^ thereby 
caused a Mft of general depression aiueng the Maratha sol¬ 
diery. So when Chimnajl resumed operations towards the end 
of ITS 8, he had to face a serious situation. At the risk of 
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ruining his faOuig health. Chimnaji proceeded to the theatre 
ot war and starts a determined campaign, a lUe and death 

struggle regardless oi losses. The Portuguese made a last 
heroic rffort to recapture Thana, in which a chance shot from 

the Maratha garrison killed the valiant Portuguese commander 
Pedro de Mello, while inspecting the defences from his boat 
rowing through the aeek. This was a portent of coming events 

to the Portuguese and served to cool Llicir ardour. It at 
the same time roused the Maratha spirits to nn onprca^lcnled 
height t nor was the lure of pecuniary reward iicglocted by 
Cbimnaji at this critical moment, as be held plentiful funds 

collected during several years of prontable expeditions by Baji* 
tao in north India. In the month of December Chirauajl des¬ 
cended into Konkan with his very best commanders and select 

troops and occupied the marshy regions travereed by the 
various creeks, examined the terrain and formed concerted 
plans for simultaneous storming, assigning duties with definite 

instructions and inculcating care and caution. All conceivable 

prelfininaries and precautions added to a spirit of buoyant 
hope and pre-vision, alone yielded tl« desired result The 

Portuguese contested every inch of the ground and defended 

their posidons with the courage of desperation, so that even 
if overcome, they would make victory as costly to the Marathas 

as possible. Chimnaji wag ever cm the move like lightning 
thT;^hout the difficult months from November to June. 
' * ijinic Maratha successes began with the capture of Mahim 

on 9 January 1739. followed a fortnight after by that of Tara- 
pur and Aiiheri on 24th- The capture on 6 March of Dharavi 
a small island at the mouth of the Bassein creek, sealed the 

fate of that main fortress, as it gave the Marathas a portion 
of vantage for an effective attack, N 

Tlie stiffness with which Mahim and Tarapur were de¬ 

fended, was only second to that of Bassein, Baji Bhivrao the 
most trusted Iicutei\ant of the Poshwa, lost his life while 
storming Tarapur, causing severe pangs to the Peshwa’s 

family i for he was conadered one of it. Several othew like 
Ram^andra Hari Patwardhan* received more or less serious 
wounds. Bajirao wrote a comforting letter to Baji Bhivrao'a 

6. Father of Pan^unm Bhau nf fumre hlSLOry. 
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mother, in which he significantly menrior«l that her son was 
«tiJl living. 

By the middle of March most of the Porh^uese posts in 

the region of Bassein had fallen into Maratha hands, so that 
a last concentrated effort against that atrooghold became pos¬ 
sible. lo order to prevent r^nforcements reaching Bassein for 
its relief, Chimnajl had la the previous year despatched hie 

Mister’s husband Vyaolcatrao Ghorpade against Goa, who 
played hla part an splendidly that he could have captured the 
whole of the Porluguesc po»^s.^oqm In that rejpoti. But this 
certaiiUy was not the Msratha aim, and when Bassein fell, 
Vyankfltrao was called back. 

Cbimnail himself arrived before Bassein on 7 February 
and immediately began preparations for storming the place. 
A pasi*age had to be forced by demolishing the strong stone 

wallM mounted with terrific guns of the best Portuguese make. 
This passage was possubic only on the landward line from the 
north. Mines were excavated under the foundations of the 
walls and the workers met with volleys of fire and shot from the 
garrison. Bombs and combustibles were rained upon the ap' 

preaching miners, who notwithstanding pushed on with grim 
determinalton. The Maratha cannon and mortars silenced the 

enemy’s guns. The siege was relentlessly pressed and at last 
the Marathas succeeded in springing thirteen mines on the 
cortines and the bastionA^ On the fateful morning of 2nd 
May the Maratha drums beat a*loud peal, the mines were 

jgnited and an explo»on blew up the northern tower, making 
wide breaches through which heroic Maratha bands quiddy 
rushed in, but were thrown into confusion by some of the 

mines catching fire late. Bttt they pressed on recklessly against 
the oppo^ng defenders: a terrible carnage in a hand to 
hand fight ensued. An^er big mine was sprung the next 

day which made a fresh breach for Maratha parties who quick¬ 
ly made a lodgment in the bastions. This proved the end. 

The final engagement lasted for two days. Eight hundred 

of the Portuguese officers and men had been killed : their 
ammunition was exhausted and the survivors lost all hope of 
further defence.^ On 4th May they hoisted the white flag and 

7, FftTOrt * SeUetieru, M9t. Seim. VoL I. p. 39. 
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,a Portuguese oflicer met Chimnaji Appa for arranging terras 
of surrender. The capitulations were signed on 5Lh and a 

week was allowed for the evacuation. 

Rewards a fallen ioe genetoeit)^ was an invariable policy 
of the iClamtha duefs, and it was well exhibited in tlie present 

instance. Chimnaji in this a^air raised his reputation for 
valour and magnanimity by granting most honourable U*nns 
to the Portuguese. The remaining garriM>n was allowed to 

depart unmolested with all tJieir families and belongings and 
with full military honours. War vessels in liie harbour wore 
allowed to remove tlie artillery without molestation and full 

religious liberty for practising one's fellgion was proclaimed 
throi^hout tlw district of north Konlcan, which was indeed the 
main purpose of the war. An exchange of priiU)ners was also 

satisfactorily effected and all Portuguese churches were granted 
full liberty of worship and prayer accoiding to Christian ntes. 

3. Repercussions in Bombay.—The campaign of Bas¬ 
se! n lasting over two years proved a resounding success (or 

the Marathas in general and the crowning glory of the Peshwa 
and his brother in parUcuIar. The Marathas took possession 

of the place on 12th May and on the auspicious day of 23rd 

the odire-coJoured Maiatha flag was ceremoniou^y unfurled 
from the ramparts of Bossein, with a proclamation of having 

annexed the mighty fortress and the province to the Maralha 
dominions. The gains and losses of both the combatants can 
be judged with tolerable accuracy. The Portuguese power, 

which had flourished and overawed the Indian coastal regions 
in the $^here of commerce and religion for two centuries, was 
j^cticaUy destroyed and came to be circumscribed to two or 

th^e small spots, Goa, Daman and D(v. Soon after the loss 
of Basscin, Chaul and Korlai, two small Portuguese posses* 
sions near Alibag came into Maratha possession through the 
mediation of the English. 

After finishing the necessary adjustments required by the 
late war. Chimnaji Appa and Vyankatrao Ghorpade returned 

from Bassein and Goa respectively, to Satora by the end of 
June 1739, and were both heartily complimented upon 
their success and profusely rewarded by the Chhatrapati for 

the victorious condu^on of an anxious and arduous war. 
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An immediate efTect of the conquest of Basscin was the 

alarm that the English settlement of Bombay received from 
the Maratha power being planted in its neighbourhood with 
a fine naval arsenal. 'Dre English in their anxiety to remove 

all chance of offensive Maratha plans against Bombay, sent 
Captain Inchbird to conciliate Chimnaji Appa, while lie was 

occupied ac Bassein in settling its administrative affairs. Inch- 
bird and Chimnaji met in June 17S9 and arranged a general 

treaty of i«ace arid friendship in their mutual interest. But not 
satisfied with this particular setUement, the English Authcaities 
of Bombay wishing to gauge the inherent strength of the 

Maratha power, particularly Che exact relations of the Chhatra* 
pati and Hit Peshwa, sent anothci* mission to the authcriUca 

at Satara under Capt. Gordon with particular instructions to 
find out what chance there was of poaalble antagonism between 
the King and his Pe&hwa. Gordon left Bombay on 12th May, 

visited ^Uu on 8th June, remained there till the 30lh ot tliat 
month and returned to ^mbay on 14th July. He carried 
with him presents for Shahu and his courtiers, whom he several¬ 
ly interviewed and gathered minute infonnation of the strength 
and weakness of the central Maratha Government, for which 

liG was specially deputed. He reported his impressions that 

Bajirao ^one was all powerful and that there \vas no Ifkeli- ' 
hood of his being dislodged irom power. 

The Bombay authorities then realised that it was neces¬ 
sary in their own interest to conciliate Bajirao and with this 
view they deputed Capt Inchbird to see Bajirao and arrange 

affairs with him. Inchbird left Bombay towards the end of 
1739 and having learnt at Poona that Bajirao was touring out- 
&de, he proceeded towards him and saw him near Paithaa 

on the Godavari on January 14, 1740. A treaty, of peace and 
friendship was discussed and arranged. It dealt mainly with 
the of^oots of the late Maratha war against the Portuguese. 

The actual ratification of this treaty of 8 articles was execut¬ 
ed by the next Pc$hwa Nanaaaheb on 7th September 1740. 

as Bajirao had died on 28th April. Chaul or Pevdanda came 
into Maratha posseesion as a result of this treaty and was 
subsequently dismantled by them. These transactions bet¬ 

ween the English and the Marathas now only possess a histo¬ 
rical interest in yymt of the relative strength of tht two powers. 
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4. Mioor episodes, cbe Angrias.—The author's aim has 
been to deal only with tixe main points of Bajirao’s singular 

career and not to study in detail every incident of his life o( 
diversified activity, an adequate treatment of which would re¬ 
quire a very mudi larger volume. A large number of capable 

leaders whether acting with or against Bajirao contributed in 
no small measure to the history of the period, and liiey dewrse^ 
some notice. One was the founder of the principality of Nag¬ 

pur, l^huji Bhosle, whose uncle ICanhoji and Kanliojrf^ IuIIkt 
Parsojl bad been tlie first to espouse Shahu's cauM when he 
returned from tlie Muglial camp after Aurangzeb’s death. 

When soon afterwards Shahu appointed Balaji Vislivanatii to 
be his Peshwa and practically surrendered all his powers to 
him, it came to be the Pe&hwa's duty to bring about uniformity 

of plan and action and co-ordination of e^ort among the 
various scattered leaders and cliiefs acting in different locali¬ 

ties on behalf of Shahu. These Bhosles, like the Dabliadcs 
and the Angrias began to resent the controlling authority excr- 
cased on them by the Peshwa, as they were all direct creation.^ 
of the Chhatrapati and in no way indebted to Uic Peshwa for 

their positions. The Peahwas too by way of counterpoise raised 
to prominence in the state business their own trustworthy 

helpmates such as the Sindias and the Ifolkars. With all their 
valour and capacity tlie Marathaa as a race have always 
betrayed a separatist tendency which can brook no central 

control^ CojKerted action, the very soul of a powerful govern¬ 
ment, is a raie phenomenon in Maratha history. This inhe¬ 
rent weakness dearly eitplains why the Maratlias failed to 

build a permanent empire over this vast continent. Much of 
Bajirao^s energy came to be wasted In keeping under control 
these recalcitrant elements at home. The dvil war between 

Balaji Vishvanath and Chandrasen Jadhav, followed by a 
similar war between Baprao and Trimbakrao Dabhade and 
later the third Peshwa's vindictive operations against Tulaji 

Angria, are all typical illustrations of the delicate domestic 
politics the Peshwas had to manage, while at the same time 
they were seriously occupied with expanding the Maratha power 
Into distant provinces outside, Raglmji Bhosle. however, knew 

his limitations and managed to restrain his jealousy without al¬ 
lowing it to provoke a rupture with Bajirao. The two kept 
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up an attitude of mutual respect and dignity and often also 

co-operated in thdr undertakings. 
The Angrias were the wardens of the west coast which they 

guarded with the help of the Maratha fleet. Kanhoji and hia 

son Sekhoj! were both influential members of the Maratha 
government and employed the navy so dexterously that they 
were feared and respected by the foreign powers planted on the 
western ajast. After Seklioji’s death his two brothers Sambhaji 

and Manajl found it impossible to ^^ree to n peaceful Kucces- 
sion. Bajlrao being called upon by Shaliu to settle the dispute 
went to Kolaba, examined the situation patiently and as the 
conflicting claims of the two brotliera could not be reconciled, 

he divided the Angrian estate into two sections, the larger 
extending from Suvamadurg to Vijayadurg was allotted to 
Sambhaji widi the title of Sarkhel : the nortliern portion was 
given to Maimji with his headquarters at ICoIaba and the 
title of Waaarat-Maab. This division certainly weakened the 

strength of the Maratha navy and perpetuated the family 
jealousy instead of ending it. The two brotlxcrs started an 
open war, of which the English and the Portuguese were not 

alow to take advantage. I^e affair of the Angrias proved a 
perpetual acre in the Maratha polity, which the death of 
Sambhaji on 12th January 1742 did not heal. Sambhaji’s 

brother Tulaji proved more intractable to the next Peshwa> 
who put him down with the help of tlie English navy, a course, 
which in the end proved ruinous to Maratha national interests. 

Thus, it should be rcali2ed that from the beginning all 

was not well with the ^emal management of the Maratha^ 
power, and although outwardly it expanded rapidly, it con- 

* taihed insidious germs of decay to which it soon fell a prey. 

The root cause can certainly be traced to Shahu's softness of 
heart which grew with his age. He hardly ew moved out of 
his groove round about Satara. Only once did he make bold 
to wipe the stigma by personally undertaking a child’s play 

which is known as the h^raj campaign for the conquest of 
that outpost, a remnant of the old Mughal power almost 
bordering on the Maratha capital. After two years dow cam¬ 

paigning the place was captured on 3rd October 1^9. But 
diis anaJl achievement did not in any way restore Shahu’s 
prestige in the SUte, beyond giving him an opportunity of 
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vlsUing some holy places like Pandharpur. The Peshwas 

managed to entrust Miraj to their own partisan, the Patwar- 
dhans whose fajnily still continues to hold it through many 
vicissitudes of iortune. 

Students of history will note how the year 1739 was 

•crowded with events of outstanding importance to the fortunes 
6i the Maratha raj. Nadir Shah convulsed India, tlie expul* 
aion of the Portuguese from north Konkan and the wcakniaw 
of tlie Anglian houae improved the chancca of the Englisli for 

a slow rise in which the missions of Inchbinl and Gordon 
served aa the first cautious feeling of the ground. But nobody 
dreamt tliat the heroic Peshwa to whose phenomenal career the 
rapid expansion of Maratha power was mainly due, would 
be prematurely cut olT. The mystery of his unexpected deatli 

is heightened by a domestic affair of a romantic character to 
which we must now advert. 

5. The romance of Mascani.—It is now well-known 
that in the midst of his glowing successes on every side, all wa.^ 

not well in Bajiruo's family. His infatuation for a Muslim 
dancing girl named MasUni since 1730, impaired his reputa¬ 
tion in orthodox society, including his ncaiost kith and kin. 

The origin of Mastani is shrouded in obscurity. Tradition 
makes her the offspring of a Hindu father and a Muhammadan 
raothti. but highly accomplished and trained in the cultivated 

arts of blandishment. The first mention of her name in au¬ 

thentic papers occurs in die accounts of the marriage ceremony 
of Bajirao's ^dest son Nanasaheh which took place on 11th 
January 173D. In the same year Bajirao built his Shaniwar 
palace in Poona and later added to it a portion named after 
his ladylove. In 1734 she bore him e son who was named 

Shamsher Bahadur. Tarikh-i-Muh(mmadskaki mentions that 
she was a Kahchani (a dancing girl) skilled in riding and 

handling the sword and spear. She always accompanied Baji¬ 

rao in his campaigns and rode stirrup to stirrup with him." 
She was adept in music and gave public performances during 
the annual Ganapati celebration at the Peshwa's palace. Baji¬ 

rao was passionately attached to her and felt in her company 
«11 the inspiration of his eventful life. She dressed, talked and 
lived is Hindu fashion and looiccd after Bejirao's comforts 
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with the devotion of a wife. No wonder that Bajirao's infatua¬ 
tion for her grew with years and Jed him into meat-eating and 

wine-drinking 30 repugnant in a Brahman household. Bajirao 
had sons by his Mndu wife and naturally the favour shown 
to the social outcaste seriously disturbed the peace of the 
Peshwa’s family. Popular voice ^tributed Bajirao's love ol 

wine and meat to his association wilh Mastani. But a man 
of Bajirau’s type leading the life of a soldier oauld not retain 

the rigid rules of his Brahman caste, as be had to mix freely 
with all kinds of people. The narrow exclusive life of a 
Maharashtra Bral^man must naturally undergo sudden changes 

by marching .to distant lands and coming into contact with 
Rajput courts where wine clrinldng, flesh eating and smoking 
were freely indulged. This supplies a clue to Bajirao’s lapses. 

Majatha society in general doubtless underwent immense 
transfonnatlon during the process of their expansion. 

The published papers supply us with only a few glimpses 
of what actually happened In Bajirao’s family. Possibly the 
contemplated tl'itcad ceremony ot Hsghunathrao and the mar¬ 

riage of Sadashivrao were the immediate occasion of the 
trouble. Bajirao then became a topic of public entidsm and 
the priests were not prepared to officiate at the ceremonies 

if such a tainted person as he were present. While Bajirao 
was absent from Poona on a campaign towards the end of 
1739, Mastani was suddenly seized and kept in confinement by 

Nanasaheb and Chlmnajl Appa. This broke Bajirao's heart 
so completely that the world became all misery lor him^ He 
could not outrage Bociely and public opinion by returning to 
Poona to rescue his beloved one by force. Mahadoba Puran- ) 

dare, Morshet ICaranje and other well-wishers of the family 
visited Bajirao at Patas and counselled him as to the best course 
to follow. Tiie orthodox party meant possibly to do away with 

Mastani altogether as the sole cause of trouble In their opinion, 
and wrote to the King’s secretary Qutnis, to obtain his sanc¬ 

tion for the violent course. The King was wiser. On 24th 
January 1740 writes Govindrao, " I have privately ascer¬ 
tained His Highness's pleasure on the subject of Mastani 
Ke strongly objects to the proposal of ford We s^ration or . 

personal restraint. He will not tolerate any offence being 
given to Bajirao, who should be kept entirely pleased. Tire 
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evil does not abide in that lady. It can be stopped only when 

he himself feels so inclined. On no account can His High¬ 
ness advise any violence to the feelings of Bajirao.” Bajiiao 
was away fighting his last war with Naslr Jang : Msstani was 

kept under restraint in an out of the way place and the cere¬ 
monies of Raghunathrao's thread and Sadashivrao'a maniage 
were performed at Poona on 4 and 7 February 1740, when 

ShaUu specially came down from Satara to grace the occasj(ni 
with his presence. 

6. Nasir Jang routed.—Perhaps, the affair of Nasir 

,Iar\g supplied Bajirao with a plausible excuse for absence fn>in 
Poona during this important coemony in his family. Naalr 
Jang was doubtless the ablest of Nizam*ul'mulk’s ax suns. To 
help his father at the time of the Bhopal campaign, he had 
built up a large disciplined force which he had not yet dis¬ 

banded. During the early months of 1739 there existed the 
of Nadir Shah marching to the south and ft seem.^ after 

that invader's departure, Nizam-ul-mulk, smarting under the 
discomiiture he had met with at Bhopal, once more tried his 
gamo of an underhand intrigue at Satara through his willing 

instrument, Anandrao Sumant, who according to the stipula¬ 

tions of Palkhed, was no longer to be entertained at the Nixam's 
Court This Sumant had been with him at Delhi during the 

period of Nadir Shah’s invasion and now returned to Satara 

to instil a prejudice against Bajirao in the Chbatrapati’s mind. 
The province of Berar, which the Niaam consideied as his 
own exclusive possession, was recently seized by Raghuji 
Bhosic, In relaliadon Nayr Jang advanced from Aurangabad 
towards tlie end of 1739 and cro$^ng the Godavari invaded 

the Peshwa’s domain. Bajirao had already deputed Tubaji 
Anant to capture some of Ihe Nizam's forts in the upper 
reaches of tiie Godavari^ and now when Bajirao heard that 

Nasir Jang was advancing, he immediately moved against him 
and was soon after joined by his brother. Nasir Jang finding 
his game unprofitable retraced bis steps, fighting rearguard 

actions. He was relentlessly pursued and surrounded near 
Aurangabad and soon finding himself at his wits' end, 
to the, terms Bajirao ciiose to impose upon him. The treaty 

was formally concluded at Mungi Sheogaon on 27th February 
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and was ceremonioualy ratified at a personal meeting between 
the two chiefs on 3rd March at Pimpalgaon. Nasir Jang 

ceded to Bajirao two of his districts, Hiidia and Khargon in 
Nemad south of the Narmada, and Bajirao immediacdy pro¬ 
ceeded to the north to occupy them. Chiranaji Appa also paid 
a visit W Nasir Jang at Aurangabad on 12th March. 

7. Sudden dcadL_Nobody then knew tliat Bajirao was 
Inst nearing liis end. But a letter dated 7th March 1740 trom 

Qiimnaji Appa to Nanasaheb strikes the following alarming 
note, whidi gives a faint suspicion that Bajirao was quite ill at 

lieart. “1 have had no news from the revered Rao since we part¬ 
ed. I did my utmost to console bift distracted mind, but God, it 
seems, willed otherwise. I do not know what fate is in store 

for us. We should send Act to him upon my return to Poona.” 
It is obvious that Bajirao was greatly upset not only on ac¬ 

count of being deprived of Mastani's company, but of his in¬ 
ability to get her released from confinement or save her trom 
worse harm. Things remained in this unsettled condition, 

when on Monday 28th April Bajirao expired suddenly at 
Raver on the south bank of the Narmada, where a small, stone 
terrace still preserves his memory. He was taken P1 on the 

previous Friday with a strong fever, the first and the last ail¬ 
ment, which he ever suffered during life, Hopes w^ given up 
bn Saturday when he fell unconscious. His wife Kaehibai 
arrived at his death-bed with iheir little ®n Janardan. There 
is no mention of Mastanl, Possibly Bajirao drowned his afllic- 
tions in excessive drinking. Any way his end was tragic and 
sudden. 

As soon as the news of Bajirao’a death reached Mastani 
she died in the palace of Poona, whether by stucide or of shock 
it is difficult to say, Her dead body was removed to Pahal, 
a village about 20 miles east of Poona, which Bajirao bad 

granted her in inazn and where an unpretentious tomb reminds 
passers by of the story of her love and her tragic end. By 
common consent she was known a$ the most doming woman 

of her time. 
Bajirao’s permanent memorial exists at Poona in the 

shape of the Sh^war palaqp which was first constructed by 
hln\and of which only the surrounding wall and the front gate 
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now survive. The construction was started on lOlli January 
1730 and the ceremony of actual residence took place on 2nd 
February 1731. It cost Rs, 16,110, Bajirao’s lather had re¬ 

covered the old outpost of Poona from Muslim hold and intend-, 
ed to make it his family's pennanent residence in preference to 

Saswad, where he had lived with his friends the Purandares 
in his early career. Unfortunately a bald, open barren square 
plinth is all that remains today of the great Peshwa’s edifice, 
to remind tlie present day visitor of its pristine glory, 

8, Bajirao’s character.—It is not necessary lo write 
separately about Bajirao’s character and achievements. His 

deeds speak for him. He stands next only to Shivaji in military 
genius. Shahu’s discernment in selecting him for the Peshwa- 

shit) ^at the early igt of nineteen was more tiian jusdfied- 
lliat'a boy in his teens assuming the highest position under 
the Maratha Chhatrapati, should be able within twenty years 
to extend the Maratha dominion in all directiona, north, soutJi, 

east and west and to overcome great antagonists both at home 
and abroad, is an achievement which stands to tire permanent 
credit of the Maratha race. Twenty years spent in breathless 
activity and tireless journeys across the Ii^dian continent from 
Sfirangpattan to Delhi and from Ahmadabad to Haidarabad. 

wore out the iron constitution of this great man of action. 
The twenty years of his active career witnessed a complete 
revoiutloiLiD the charac^ of the Maratha State and an entire 

redistribution of politic power throughout India. At his 
death in 1740 the political centre of gravity shifted from the 
Cojiit^of Delhi to that of Shahu. The system introduced by 

Bajirao’s father and executed by him and his son, equally 
transformed the constitution laid down by Shivaji and dotted 
the map of India with numerous centres of Maratha power. 
Thus Bajirao became the creator of greater Maharashtra. 

Shahu was oo longer the p^ty raja of a small self-contained 
one*race, one-language kingdom, as hb father and grandfather 

had been; he-waanow monarch over a far flung and diver«fied 
dominion. ShaKu was a good judge of the character of men 
and followed the wise rule of choosing the best instruments and 

allowing them full latitude and initiative without interfering 
with their plans and actions. This Is well illustrated in the 
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case of Bajiiao's appointment to the Pnahwaship. He was a 

matchless cavalry leader and introduced his own technique In 
the art of warfare which lon^ served the MaraCha natior. 
While Bajirao possessed a hardy robust constituUon himself, 

which never knew what aUinent was, his brother Chimnaji was 
entirely unlike him, being always ailing, sickly and asllimalic. 

When Chimnaji returned from his victorious campaign of 
Basse in, Shahu was impatient to hear every detail first hand 
from Ilia own mouth and called him to Salara : but Chimnaji 
was so severely bed-ridden, that tl^e patlietic letter he wrote 

In excuse is a sample o( both sentiment and language.* 

Dr. Diglie in hix special study of ‘'Bajirao and Maratha 

KxpariRion" gives a penetrating and accurate analysis of that 
Peshwa’s relations with bis master. He wiitcs, '* the methods 

of the Sovereign and the Minister were different but their ob¬ 
jective was the same. Shahu looked not to supplant .the 
Mughal Emperor; he would rather be the Emperor's friend 
and mentor, would lend his eword arm to his support and thus 
acquire control over the imperial policy. The reverence felt by 

him for the throne of the Chagtais expressed not the servility 
uf a subordinate to his superior but the aympsthy which a man 
of culture—a noble soul—for an ancient relic, for a fallen 

cause. In the hands of Bajirao this attitude w*as rightly tran^ 
formed into an attempt at political hegemony in the north r 
the sword arm of the Maratha State was widded so ably by 

his Peshwa as to fulfil the wildest dream of the monardi. The 
Peshwa never forgot that his authority emanated Irom the 
crown and had its roots in the confidence placed in him by Ihe 
Sovereign. Some of the lesser chiefs resented the power thus 

acquired and failed to realize that what gave the Peshwa his 
preponderance in the royal council wa^ .the military strength 

acquired by him through years of successful warfare. It was 
equally open to them to raise armies and lead them to foreign 
conquests, but, like their master, they loved the repose of the 

Court, and in coniequence slowly faded into insignificance. 
Even the Raja on occasions felt the overgrown power of his 
Minister and expres^ his displeasure in sharp reprimands.'* 

a. P. D. 17. 98. 
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Bajirao to wage ac implacable war against Nizam-ul- 

muik, the first rebel to succeed against the Mughal Empire. 
The Emperor never trusted Nizam. The mischievous part Ixc 

played during Nadir Shah's invasion bt clear. Saadat Khan 
•called him a cheat He well realired his weaJanwR before 
Bajirao and avoided an open conflict with him. Chhatrapati 

Shahu, however, I'espected Nizam-ul-mullc as the last repre¬ 
sentative of Aurangzeb’s rule and never entertained the thought 
of removing him from his position. On the conlrary he seveif- 

ly chedeed Bajirao whenever the latter was ftjund to 
commit the least aggression against Nitam-ul-mulk, and us 
a set off against Bajirao employed the Sumant and liie Prat I- 
nidhi to keep the Nizam at ease of rnuid. This situation of 

the Pe.Rhwas should be clearly borne in mind by those who ask 
why the Nizam was allowed to remain a permanent factor of 

i[ disturbance in the Deccan, 

Sir Richard Temple, a wise student of history and poli¬ 
tics, has rightly assessed the greatness of Bajirao in a passage 
breathing exceeding enthusiasm. He remarks: “Bajirao was 
hardly to be surpassed as a rider and was ever foiward in action 
eager to expose himself under fire if the affair was arduous. 
He was inured to fatigue and prided himself on enduring the 

same hardships as his soldiers and sharing their scanty fare. 
He was mov^ by an ardour for success in nadonal undertak¬ 
ings by a patriotic confidence in the Hindu cause as agaiast 

its old enemies the Muhammadans and its new rivals the 
Europeans then rising above the political horizon. Me lived 

to see the Maiathas spread terror over the Indian continent 
from the Arabian sea to the Bay of Bengal. ITc died as he 
lived in camp under canvas amoi^ his men and he is remem¬ 

bered among the Marathas as the i^bting Pesh^, as the in- 
camarion of Hindu energy."® 

A contemporary, Marathi letter thus speaks of Bajirao’s 

achievement: Along with his fathers blessing Bajirao in¬ 
herited from him the great task of regeneration that he had 
undertaken and he spent his life’s effort in accomplishing it, 

viz., to bring peace and prosperity to the country, noitlt of the 
Narmada as had been done to the territories south of that river. 

a. OrienUt Bxficrifnee—pf^e 3JK), 
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Bajirao tried to restore the Hindu religion to its termer 

grandeur. It was his ambition to rebuild the great shrine of 
Kashivlshveshwar at Benares. In these efforts he outshone 
his father in a far higher degree. He possessed uncommon 

valour and his fame spread widely as a re-creator of 
his nation 

10 /iingnt 2)efigr L IS. 

M. H. II—la 
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CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPl'ER VIJI 

1710 

1721. Dcccinbuj* 12 

17S1, January 11 
1740. June 25 
1740, June 26 

1740, Au;'URt 

1740, June 3 to Mar. 

30, 1741 
1741, January 5 

1741, January 7 
1741, May 12—19 
1741, July 4 

1741, July 23 

1741, September 7 
1743, April 21 

Gtiaziudclin, ddevt auii (>1 Nizum-ul-mulk born. 
Balaji Bajirao born. 

Btilajl married to Goptkabai. 
Balaji invested with robes of Peshwaship. 

Bnlxrji Naik claims Peshwa^up. 
Miilutdev niiat visits the Reshwa at 

Poona. 
Niaam-ul'inulk leaves Delhi, for Aurangabad 

to put down his son Naair Jang in rubdlion. 

Snmbliajl of Kolhapur's visit to Satara: 
makvH a secret pact with the Pcahvni. 

Ilolluir captures Dhar. 
Peshva meets Nisam at Edlabad. 

Pesima's visit tn Jaysinh at DiKJpur. 
Emperor ratUics grant of Malwa to the 

FesUwa. 
Battle of Khuldabad, Nisam victorious over 

his SOD, 
EmpcTOi confinrs the cession of Malwa. 
Sindia, Hnlhar and Pa war pjarantee observ¬ 

ance of tlic terms of Che grant of Malwa. 

Tlie Peshwa's nordiern Ej^ltions : 

1. December 1740 to July 1741, Dholpur; 
2. December 18, 1741 to July 1743, Bengal; 
3. November 20. 1744 to August 1745, Bhilsa : 

4. December 10, 1747 to July 9, 1748, Newai. 
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aiAPTER VI11 

PESHWA BALAJI RAO, SUCCESSFUL START 

{;1740_174I) 

1. Acc(a»i(iit Cti Pcshwaslup, 3 Kiulr Jang*}; Kd'clllini. 
Dead) of Cliimna|L 4 Malwa secui’ed. 

2 The tkiivf inasicr sit Work. 

1. Acc«ssioa CO Peshwaship, Death of Chiirmajl.— 
When Bajirao died at Raverlchedi his eldest son Balaji, popu* 
larly called Nanasalieb, and his brother Chimnaji Appa along 
with Mahadoba Purandare were at Kola1)a, negotiating an 
adjustment ol the dispute of tile Angria brothers. Unperturbed 
by the sad event, they continued the task in hand, at the same 

time performing the obsequies for the thirteen days. Tliere- 
after they reCurned to Poona on 26th May where the condol* 
ence Darbar was held on the 28th, Balaji's widowed mother 

Kashibai returned from Bajirac’s camp on Srd June. In the 
meantime he received a summons from Shahu at once to repair 
to Satara to receive tile robes of Peshwaship. He left on 

13th and on the auspicious morning of June 25 (Ashad Shudh 
12) was invested with the robes ol the office,* He was then 
18 years and six months old. about a year younger than hie 

father when the latter was appointed to that post. 

Mahadoba Purandare was appointed Balaji’s Mutalilc or 

deputy to look after the duties of the Peshwa’s office in the 
absence of his principal abroad. To cover the ^noluments of 

•Rie Peshwa Shahu conferred on him the revenues thirty 
'vQlages in different places, and issued to him the following 

specific instructions : — 

" Bajirao served tile State loyally on the lines laid down 
by his father and expanded the Maratha dominions by means 
of many a heroic deed. When Nadir Shah devastated Delhi. 

Bajirao was despatched to restore the Emperor to his seat, but 
was cut o£F bj fate in the midst of his life. You are his son 

I. Sh. R. 112, 113, 134 ; N. R. 1. 1S3, 
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iind must carry to completion his halMnislied work by extend¬ 

ing the Maratha preside to the frontier of Attodc.’' 

Perhaps this young Peshwa’s path of work was smoother 
tlian his father's. Bajirao was commonly dreaded hy his 
friends and foes, but Balaji was loved. Nevertheless he too 

had to contend against several hostile elements, such as Babuji 
Naik, Raghuji Bhwle and Tarabai. But he manEijred to get 

over them by his innate tact and sweet temper. 
Duff is wrong: in asserting that Shahu hesilalcd in ap¬ 

pointing a successor to Bajirao and conferred the robes on 

Nana Saheb in August. Babuji Naik Joslii, a jwnkcr ai«l a 
favourite of Shahu came forth as a competitor ol Balaji for 
the Peshwaship. A small faction, particularly Raghuji Bhosle 

of N^ur, supported Babuji’s claims. But both were in the 
Karnatak conducting important operations before Trichino- 

poly where tliey learned of Bajirao’s death and they hastily 
repaired to Satara for a few days in June- Shahu, however, 
turned a deaf ear to Babuji's request and conferred the robes 

on Balaji without delay. The two thereafter returned to 
Trichinopoly to continue their work, 

Bom on 12th December 1721 Balaji Rao was In his 
19th year at his investiture, but had given ample proof of his 

capacity. He had keenly watched and occasionally participat¬ 
ed in the rising political career of hia father Bajirao, but the 
raouldii^ influence on him was the personality of his unde 

Chimnaji rather than his father. He inherit^ none of his 
father's dash or leadership for conducting military operations. 
As a rule he never accompanied his fathei' In his campaiens, 

and associated mostly with his unde in the various iransac- 
Uons of administratm and diplomacy. He possessed a suave 
temper and a naturally commandii^ appearance which brought 

him easy success in whatever he undertook. On 11th January 
1730, he was married to Gopikabai then about 7 years of age, 
daughter of Bhikaji Naik Raste, an eminent banker of Wai, 

in whom the Maharaja Shahu took great interest. During 
1735 Balaji was present with Pilaji Jadhav in north India and 

from an early ^ understood and promoted the policy of 
Maratha expansioji projected by his predecessors. In 1737, 
he accompanied Shahu in his southern expedition, which ended 

with the capture of Miraj in 1739. Early In 1740 in his 
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father’s absence he supervised tiic thread ceremony of Ws 
brother Raghunaihrao and the raarriaue of his cousin Sada* 
sliivrao, which Raja Shaliu attended as a special favour, 

Immediately on his acccaaion to power a number of press¬ 
ing problems required the young Peshwa's attention. 
They may be tlsus enumerated. Bajirao aspired to the Subah- 
darship of Malwa, wliicb had almost come into liis gmap by his 

victory over the Nizam at Bhopal. Nadir Shah’s invasion, 
and tlie l^sliwa*s sudden deatJi prevented die ctm^ummation. 
Nana Saheb tned and obtained the grant from tlie Em* 
peror. Ouring tlic dlslurbance of Nadir Sbah's invasion, the 
MaraCha prestige at the court of Delhi had received a set back, 
and it had lo be immediately re-eslablLshed. The ailairs of the 
Deccan su^cred from the interference of Nizam-ul*midk, who 
had now to be made perfectly innocuous. The S,ddi and the 
Angristf, the Portuguese and tlic English, still obstiiicted 

Uw wnoolh working of Ihe Maratha Government on the west 
coast. Some kind of a settled understanding with them had 
to be quickly arrived at. 

It will be noticed that Che Peshwa steadily kept Uiese 
objects before his mind during the twenty^one years oi his 

office, which fall into two dear divisions, Hie fimt of nine 
years ending with the death of Shahu. and tlie second of twelve 

years when he acted as the practical head of the Maratha 
Government, having removed the whole administration from 
Satara to Poona. 

As soon as Balajirso received the robes of Feshwaship, 
he planned an expedition to the noitli for the purpose of 

examining the situation there, whi^ had been disturbed.by 
Nadir Shah’s invasion and of securing the grant of the Subah- 
darslup of Malwa which had been promised by Nisam-ul-mulk. 

Balaji and Chunnaji both started together from Poona early 
in December, but the latter was compelled quidily to return 
on account of lU-health. Chimnaji Appa died at Poona on 

17th December. This pronature d^h was severely mourned 
by the whole nation. Writes Kashiraj Shivdev (author of the 
future Panipat Bakhar) to the Peshwa, “ I am unable to con¬ 

ceive the magnitude of the loss occa^oned by Appa’s death.” 
Nana Saheb reported Chimnaji’a death to Bralunendra Swaml 
as a stunning blow, coming as it did within S months of 
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Bajirao's death It was indeed a national loss, for much of 

phenomenal success which Bajirao attained was due to 
Chimnaji's hearty co-operation and silent, ungrudging selfless 
effort. It la hard to find a brother of such capacity and high 

moral character as Chimnaji was to Bajirao. He possessed 
very poor health and he willingly aacriilod it for tlw service 
of hU nation. 

One important secret transaction effected hy the new 

Peshwa at this time deserves mention, He had rciUizcd the 
p^ftajtv of uniting the two branches of the ManiUia Stale, 
Satara and Kolhapur, into one. Shahu had no longer any 

prospect of a .<;on being born to him and tlie queslion ol kuc* 

cession had begun to press itself upon the attention of the 
Peshwa. The only surviving male member of the great 

Shivaji's family was Sambhaji of IColhapur, who happened to 
pay a visit to Shahuand stayed there from 2nd June 
1740 to '30th March 1741. There was not mucli love lost 

between the two cousins; and Shahu would never consent to 
Sambhaji succeeding him, But the new Peshwa formed a 
s^mt compact with Sambhaji for his succeeding Shahu at 

Satara on the latter's death. Although for various reasons 

beyond the Peshwa’s control the arrangement proved futile, it 
none the less riiscloscji a very desirous stroke of ftolley on ibe 

of the young Peshwa and his advisers, who thus tried 
although eventually in vain to close tHe rift which for long 
maired the unity of the Mara^a nation,* At hia death Shahu 

left a definite order that Sambhaji should not succeed him and 
that Ramraja should be made the CSihatrapati. 

2. The new master ar work.—The new Peshwa was 
no soldier either by inclination or prof&^ion, and managed 

to military operations through loyal and trusted sub¬ 
ordinates of hia own. He never stood in danger of militarj' 

adventurci's usurping his power and setting up their independ¬ 
ence. Balaji's cousin S^d^jyrao Bl^au was trained from 
the beginning to lead military expeditions and the two pulled 

2. P. D. 40. 25, Pelrt Yadi 36, 3g. 

3. The student l« refetrfid to Paire Yadi, 246, 249, Wena Rf>t, 193 ; 
SUuhu Hot. I7g 
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together in full co-operation for the service of their State, 

which under tl^r joint supervMon became a school of train¬ 

ing for many youngsters working enthusiastically in all its 
varied activities. 

Control over the finances was perhaps Che special feature 
ol Balajlfao’s administrative capacity, In the policy of in¬ 
creasing the resources of the State and utlllsmg them to 

tile higliest advantage, this Peshwa attained remarkaWe suc¬ 
cess, He noticed the weakness of his fatlier's portion on ac¬ 
count of his embarrassing debts and always kept liimsclf above 
dire want, exerciang careful supervision over all financial 
transactions. A minute study of his itinerary discloses that 

he was constantly on the move, receiving explanations, grant¬ 
ing interviews, reprimandiog offenders and rewarding nxerit 
wherever it was discovered. During his travels and expedi* 
Ilona, during Meges and battles he is constantly seen working 
quietly and unperturbed, Inspecting accounts, adjusting treaties 

and guarding the interests of the State in every respect. Every 
day brought new problems to be solved, which the Peshwa 
faced boldly. He proved equal to the strain and achieved the 

largest expansion of the Maratha State under his regime. Un¬ 
like Sadashivrao, Balaji loved cotnfvomise and condliatipn. 
He knew wl\en to recede and yield if necessary even at some ^ 

sacrifice of prestige and interest. He was unequalled in diplo-^'^' 
matic skill and a writer of great capacity, His eye constantly <, 
moved to distant places in all quarters of India. Of all the 
Peshwas Balaji has to his credit the largest number of extant 

letters, mostly in his own hand : as a rule every letter going 
out in hid'name has at least a few lines of his own added at 
the end. The earliest letter extant is dated 20th March 1731 
when he was just nine years old. 

But tills Peshwa's success is in do small degree due io 

the effident training of his own family and the co-opeiation 
of his own kith and kin. In this respect the training of (he 
Peshwa's family was indeed exemplary, particularly under the 

supervision of Radhabai, Bajirao's mother, who for nearly half 
a century efficiently managed the private relations not only 
of her own family but influenced those of several sardars. 
Brahman and Maratha alike. Balaji's own brothers Raghu- 

nath and Janardan and his cousin Sadashlv imbibed this 
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trsinin^ (uUy SiTtd learned to co>opcra£e hearUlY and ably in 

the work of the State. Unfortunately RaghunalU did not 
develop the unselQ^ spirit of work and service displayed by 
the other membera, Janardan was highly promising, but was 

carried away by death at the early age of 14. Sadaxiilvrao 
proved the best example of the family group sve are foikiiiK cif. 
It was necessary to have «jmc memlwr oi tl'ie fiunily always in 

attendance on the Chhalrapati at Satara. as the keeper of his 
conscience, in order ax mucli iv post him with correct infoi - 
mation of all happenings outside, aa to prevent opponents fiYun 

poisoning his ears. Sadashivrao, Raghunathrat) iind oIIilts 
in turn used to reside with the King at Kalara wlitncvcr the 

Peshwa happened to be away. 
Satara contained the residence of tlie ministers and high 

ollhcers and sardats with their personal advisers and aelf- 
seekers. These constantly caiTied on secret Intrigues affecting 
the policy and actions of the Peshwa, which had to be watched 

for and counteracted. Satara with Shahu’s increasing age and 
infirmities became a hot-bed of factions and intrigues, re¬ 
quiring the Peshwa’a dose attention. Tlie saving feature of 

this situation was the dose intimacy and hearty co-opoiation 
that existed between ihe two families, the Peshwas and tht 

Purandarea. To counteract thase intrigues the Peshwa created 

new workers in his own conffdence. Sakharam Bapu Bokil, 
Gangadhar Yashvanl, the Barves, the Chaskars and olher 
future lights of the Maratho State received their early training 

under the direct eye of Nana Saheb and became attached to 
him through weal and woe. 

Young men ardently came forward to imdertake the 
fatigues of long marches and distant expeditions. Nana 

Purandare, a mere lad felt deeply grieved when the Peshwa 
refused to let him accompany his expedition of 1741. His 

elder cousin-Mahadoba was at great pains to persuade the 
boy to remain at home. This was the enthuriastic spirit that 

stirred every young soul to serve the State and se^ hU fortune 
in what is termed Mulukgiri or expansion of power. 

As soon as the Peshwa received the robes of investiture 
he called his envoy Mahadev Bhat Hingne from I>elhi and 
they met at Poona in August along with Malliarrao Holkar 

and Ramchandra Baba. Pilajirao Jadhav and Avji Kavde 
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also returned from their duUes in Bundellchatid. It was agreed 

that the Peshwa should proceed to the north at once, personal¬ 
ly ascertain the views and secure the co-operation of Jaysinh, 
then the most powerful Rajput chief of Ihe north. The Peshwa 

left Poona on 23rd November 1740, accompanied by liis wife 
Gopikabai and after paying a viat to Jaysinh at Dholpur for 
a week from 12 to 19 May 1741, returned to Poona on 7th 
July. The first expedition of the Peshwa is named after 
Dholpur, Tlie second expedition generally known as the 
Bengal expedition was more important and lasted from 18th 
December 1741 to 30th July 1743, the Peshwa having his 
monsoon camp of 1742 at Orchlia in Bundelkband. His third . 
expedition termed the BhiUa lasted from 20th November 1744 
to August 1745 ; and his fourth and last one called tiie Newai, 

from December 10, 1747 to 9th July 1748. These are the 
only expeditions which the Peshwa personally led to northern 
India. He never again went to that side and this perhaps 
.accounts for the neglect of Maralha affairs in that quarter 
which culminated in tlie disaster of Panipat. We shall now 

deal with these four expeditions in detail. 

Nizam-ul-mulk had not given effect to the agreement he 

had contracted with Bajirao after his defeat near Bhopal 
How to deal with him now was the main concern of the 
Peshwa. The Nizam’s hostile attitude had already necessitat- 

*ed his presence urgently in that quarter. At that time Nkam- 

ul-mulk was involved in the rebellion of his own son Nasir 
Jang which indirectly favoured the Maratha cause. The 
Nizam otherwise would have assumed a very fonnidable atti¬ 
tude. It is necessary to go into this affair in greater detail 
in order that the comparative positions of the Marathas and 
Nizam-ul-mulk may be well grasped. 

3. Nasir Jaog’s rebellion.—Briggs mentions that 
Nizam-ul-mulk had one married wife and four concubines. 
The former bore him two sons Ghaziuddin Cbom about 1710) 

and Nasir Jang and two daughters. He had four more sons. 
Salabat Jang, Basalat Jang, Nizam All and Meer Mughal, 
from his mistresses. All these have played important parts in 
later history. The first two were men of ability and valour. 

The eldest Ghaziuddin was brought up at the Court of Delhi, 



196 NIiW HISTORY OF TKE MARATHAS IVOL. U 

while Naair Jang lived mostly in the Deccan with his father. 

When during 1737 the Emperor called Nizam-ul-mulk to Delhi 
lor opposii^ Bajirao, the Nieam stationed Naair Jang to 
watch the Marathas in the south and prevent Maratha suc¬ 

cours reaching Bajirao in the nortli. Chimnajl Appa foiled 
Nasir Jang's efforls and prevented him from uiossing the 
Tapti and Ixelping hi$ father during the action at Bhopal. 

Thereafter Naslr Jang and Bajirao had an open war during 

the early months of 1740, which has been already described. 

The Emperor and his Court had been utterly disgusted 

with Nisani«ul>mu]k owing to his vacillating conduct and intri¬ 

gue witli Nadir Shah. The report of his having fallen out of 
favour with the Emperor reached Naslr Jang in tlie Deccan, 

and the youth endeavoured to snatch away all power from his 

father's band and declared himself independent This rebel- 
lioua attitude of hia son so disconcerted N!aam-ul-mulk at 
Delhi that he suddenly left the city in August 1740 with a 

large force'and reached Burhanpur in November, all the while 
trying persuasive methods to wean his son from his evil de¬ 
signs. He also prepared, if necessary, to oppose Naiur Jang 
in open war. Nasir Jang was firm, managed to obtain the 

support of several influential ofhcials of Aurangabad and with 
a large army took his station at Ajunta to oppose his father. 

He addres.sed to his father defiant and Insulting letters, He 
said, " You ^ould lemain at Delhi and look after the Imperial 
concerns, leaving me the sole power to manage the affair.^ of 

the Deccan. I have no desire to go to war with you; but 
if you don't deliver to me the sole management in the Deccan, 
1 will become a faqir and resort to the shrine of the saint Shah 

Burhan-uddin of Khuldabad," The Nizam then came quick¬ 
ly against his son. This was Indeed a delicate time for the 
Peshwa. Both parties appealed to him for help and whatever 

be the result of the civd war between the father and the son, 
here was an. opportunity for the Pcsliwa to make the best 

bargain out of that affair as victory was sure for the side which 
the Pe^wa would espouse. He had already decided to pre- 

^ ceed to the north and Cry to take possession of Malwa by force 

of arma if the Emperor would not himself appoint the Peshwa 
to the Subahdarship. 'While the Peshwa was proceeding to the 
nort'', he learned in IChandeah that Nizam-ul-mulk was coming 



197 CHAP- VlUlPESHWA BAUJIRAO, SUCCESSFUL START 

to the south with an army to put down his son. Both were 
anxious to arrange a personal meeting, Nizam to keep the 
Peshwa from joining his son; the Peshwa to secure the grant 

of Malwa. Baburao Barve called on the Nizam on behalf ct 
the Peshwa whose armed help was humbly besought. After 
full deliberation the Peshwa decided to support tlic Nisain. 
Pilaji Jadhav brought about a meeting betwe«i than at Edla* 

bad on the Purna in Khandesb on 7Ch January 3741. At this 
meeting the Nisam induced the Peshwa not to join or help 
his rebellious son.'* A week was spent in cordial entertainments 

on both »des. The appearances looked entirely cordial, but 
the two parties were suspldous of each other. The Peshwa 
demanded possession of Malwa as agieed to in the convention 

of Bhopal, but the Nizam urged that he was powedess to 
influence the Emperor to abide by that decision, The Pealiwa 

writes to Brahmendra Swami on I4th January : "A dispute 
aroae between the Nizam and his son Nasir Jang. I supported 
the former; the latter lost the fijdit ar)d has ^cocoe a faqir. 

The Nizam personaQy acknowledged deep obligations to me, 
and added that the Emperor has entrusted the Subah of Malwa 
to him (the Nizam) ^ and if 1 (Nana) were prepared to remain 

in obedience to him, he would appoint me there as his deputy.'' 
Thus tlie hopes of securing Malwa from the Nizam were foiled. 
The Peshwa/ however, thought it best to utilize the occasion 

for seizing Malwa, took no part in the civil war in the Nizam’s 
liousc, beyond ensuring that Maratha Interests did not suffer 
on that account, and rapidly proceeded to the north. 

In the meantime Nizam*ul*mulk reached Aurangabad and 
began measures to put down his son. Nasir Jang commenced 
hostilities against Ids father and marched upon Aurangabad 

itself. A severe action took place between the father and the 
son on 23rd July L741 on the plain between Khuldabad and 
Daulatabad in which Nizam-ul-mulk's cannon proved so 

effective against Nasir Jang's troops that most of his sup¬ 

porters were eithw killed or captured and he was himself 
severely wounded He was taken captive in this helpless con¬ 
dition by Saiyad Laahkar Khan and delivered over to his father. 

Nasir Jang's main supporter was Shah Nawaz IChan, who ' 

Full, details of the vuit la Minsne Daflat 1. Br. Cb. 60. 
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fled ajid saved his life by hidii^ himself secretly for five years, : 
a period which he spent in writing the famous biographies of 
the grandees of the Mughal Empire entitled Masir-ul^l/mreft. 
He was ultimately pardoned and restored to his former post. 

After winning this victory over his son, the old Nizam 

prayed on the battle-d^d, offering sinceie thanks to Providence 
for the three gifts he had received that day : viz., (I) success 

in the battle, (2) the life of his own son being spared, and 
(3) the joy he fell for the great valour displayed j)y him. 
Nasir Jang was kept a close prisoner for some six months, 
after which at the urgent solicitations of his wives and rcla* 
tions, the Nizam pardoned and restored him to favour, A 

touching scene ia described when the father and tlie son met, 
embraced each other with tears and were finally reconciled. 

4. Malwa secured—The aims and policy of Balaji 

Vishvanath in expanding Maratha influence beyond the Nar¬ 
mada, later executed by his sons Bajirao and Qiimnaji Appa 
have received fresh light in the Hingne papers recently pub¬ 
lished. There are some very significant paper? in this collec¬ 

tion which disclose the measures adopted by Bajirao, both 
, stern and persuasive, to bring about a healthy tone between 

the distracted warring elements and confiictfug counsels of 
Muhammad Shah. Bajirao’s friendship with SSwai Jaysinh 

stands out in glowiog colours and was the creation of tlie 
shrewd Maratha ambassador Mahadev Bhat Hingne who was 
first stationed at Jaipur and later transferred to Delhi. The 
several Maratha exp^ilions of Bajirao to the north after the 

fall of Giiidhar Bahadur and the peaceful and friendly manner 
in which Bajirao all along proposed to set right the imperial 
affairs to the best advantage of the parties concerned, can now 

be studied in their proper perspective by means of these valu¬ 
able documents. Some of these papers faithfully recount the 
inside story of Maratha penetration into the north, which till 

now could be' illustrated only on the basis supplied by SiyoT’ 
ul-mutakherin and “Tkt Later Mughals" of Irvine. The 
Maratha version was nowhere in evidence. 

Chimnaji Appa soon after Bajirao’s death on 28th April 
1740 eloquently recounts wliat grand services Bajirao made to 
the Indian world and how the same policy would be faithfully 
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pursued by his son who was succeeding to the Peshwaship. 
Chimnaji writes to Mahadev Bhat on 2nd June 1740, ”Sawai 
Jaisinh, Niaam-uJ-muIk and Khan Dauitin w'ere all of one mind 

in. enlisting the sympathies of Bajirao and entrusting to him 
the management of the imperial aHairs. Bajirao was asked 
to bring to obedience all those who had ilout^ the authority 

of tlie Emperor; to nourish the interests of the poor ryots, 
It) elTeci peace and pro^erity in the disiiiicted lands, to re¬ 
plenish the imperial treasury and thus to deserve favours from 
tlic Emperor and earn for himself traitsccnding fame for having 
set his power right. For this the late Peshwa exerted hinwcU 

assiduously for eight long years in co-operation with Sawai 
Jaysinh. The undertaking was all but completed, in spite of 
severe trials and obstacles caused by disloyal elements. The 

Nawab Asaf Jali lias supported the scheme and recently sent 
to me in confirmation his trusted agent Saiyad Lashkar Khan. 
Every detail having been thus arranged, the late Peahwa 
marched towards Malwa having hrst deputed you (Hingne) 
to meet Sawai Jaysinh to aitange the whole affair in advance, 

But as soon a.s the Peshwa reached the Narmada in the dis¬ 
trict of Khargon he was suddenly taken ill and expired. God’s 

will be done I His young son Nana has now assumed the same 
lesponsibilily. He and I are ready to carry to completion the 
unfinished programme of the onerouJi undertakiiyg, the baas 

of which was first laid down liy my revered father (Balaji Vish- 
vanath, the first Pesliwa) whose most ardent concern was to 

improve the lot of the ryoLs. Our great Chhatrapati (Shahu) 
blessed him wltli all bb heart, and treated him with the highest 
reverence. He thus earned a great name and left the predous 

heritage of his blessing to his son (Bajirao), who faitlifuJiy 
carried out the benevolent programme chalked out for him, 
viz., the regeneration of religion, of gods and Brahmans, of tlie 
sacred places of Hindu pilgrimage lilce Benares. He so worked 

for the good of the people that he improved their lot and 
earned their good wishes. Having completed the task in the 

south, he turned his attention to tlie north, His great ambi¬ 
tion was to restore the Kashi Vishveshwax shrine of Benares 

to its pristine glory and greatness, The late Peshwa has left 

in tact the whole machine behind, a well disdplined army 

and a number of capable chiefs, who are all now anxious to 
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work on the same lines. We hope wthout delay to overcome 
all difficulties and carry to completion tlie aims and ideals of 
our revered predecessors. 

“ We are now on our way to Satara to meet our revered 
monarch and hope within a couple of months to gel together 

an army of a hundred thousand men. And since Nizam-ul- 
mulk seems to oppose our scheme, you must assure Sawaiji 

and through him the Emperor, that we shall cany out their 
wishes unreservedly and put down the pretensions of Niznm- 
uUmullc as desired by the Emperorand that we shall faith' 
fully execute every item oJ the scheme ananged by the late 
Peshwa. We have every desire to meet the Rana of Udaipui’ 

and Abhay Sinh of Marwar in order to enlist their sympathies 
and co-operation in executing the plans agreeably to the wisliea 
of the Emperor. If chiefs life Nizam-ul-mulk fed that 

now the field is open lor them as the brave Peshwa is dead, 
we are prepared to disabuse their minds and to show that the 
death of the Peshwa makca absolutely no difference to the 

position of affairs. We are more than a match for Nisam-ul- 
mulk or others that come in our way. We count on the bro¬ 
therly aupport of Sawaiji and will with his co-operation soon 
execute our cherished schemes. We have received Sawaljl's 
invitation that a strong body of Maratha troops be perma* 

nently stationed in Malwa. We are alive to this project arvl 
in anticipation have already ordered Vithoji Buie and Pilaji 
Jadhav to proceed to Malwa immediately; in addition either 
Malharrao Holkar and Ranoji Sindia or both will soon follow.’' 

Indeed, Ranoji conveys the following threat through 
Mahadev Bhat on IS July 1740. “ You intimate that Azam- 

ulla IChan is coming rapidly upon hfelwa. Please note that 
we are ready to welcome him aa servants of the Peshwa. 

Under God's favour he will receive the reward he deserves at 
our hands. You should feel entirely at ease as to the result.”* 
Again on 26th February 1741 tlie Peshwa writes to Hingne, " I 

have already informed you of my visit to Nizam-ul-mulk. 

You must have communicated to Baj Rajendra Sawai Jai- 
sinh how I am earnestly striving to carry out the imperial 
undertakings of my father. Sawaiji haa agreed to obtain im- 

S. Hifiine Dajlar, Nos, IS, 17, 18 and 19, 
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peri^ sanai^ for the Subah of Malwa together with all the 
fortified places therein, and the acknowledgement of our 
sovereignty over the local chiefs on this side of the Chambal. 

He has also agmed to obtain a caah payment of twenty lace 
from the imperial treasury, the remitlance of Uie piliplm tax 
at Prayag and the cession of Benares. You must impress upon 
Sawaiji that in our hearty co-operation lies iiis interest as well 
as oura,”” 

Ilis vi»t to the Nizam ended early in January and the 
Peshwa tlien proceeded to the north, He crossed the Narmada 
on 7th March and made for Bundellchand where he appointed 

Naro Shanto as the permanent Maratha agent, The Sindia 
and Holkar wore already operating in Malwa. On Stl\ Janu¬ 
ary Malharrao Holkar captured Dhar from its Mughal keeper; 
Uhar was the gateway into Malwa and ils possession proved 
a prelude to the complete absorption of that province in the 

expanding Maratha Bmpire, On 16lh February the Peahwa 
wrote to Hingne :—"In compliance with youf suggestion, I 
have given strict instructions to our troops not fo molest Jay* ' 

sinh's territories. Assure him of my deep regard for him and 
enlist his sincere cx>-opcrstion in obtaining the grant of Malwa 
from the Empwor. Pie is our great elderly friend and we 
depend upon him to look after our Interests." 

The capture of Dhar by the Marathas led the Emperor 
Airiously to decide upon his future course. He called Jayslnh 
to his presence ajid consulted him along with his ministers. 

The Maratha agent reported to the Peshwa on 17th May, 
" ITie Emperor has decided to offer armed opposition to 
Maratha aggression. He has appointed Jaysinh to lead the 
expedition. Jaysinh has reached Agra." The Pcahwa pre- 
pa^ to meet the situation. I*Ie at once despatched Avaji 

Kavde and. Govind Hari with some light troops to devastate 
the Doab up to Allahabad, and hlmsdf proceeded to Dholpur, 

as Jaysinh had now decided upon conciliating the Pe^wa by a 

personal visit 

Ever since the arrival of Che Peshwa in Malwa, negotia¬ 
tions had been going on with the imperial Court, throi^ 
Jaysinh. Mahadev Bhat Hingne managed the affair with the 

6. P. D, 21, S; Rai. 6. 152. 
M. H, 11—14 
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Utmost prudence. He impressed upon the Emperor that If Ihe 
two Subahs of Gujarat and Malwa were at once conferred upon 

thfi Peshwa by a formal firman, the Peshwa would serve the 
Emperor loyally: but that a recourse to arms would plunge 

the imperial affaira into chaos. The Emperor agreed to the sug* 
gestlon aod asked that a written petition be submitted by the 
Peshwa to that effect. Out of this projiOMEil enme Uie visit ol 
Jaysinh Ui the Pcsliwa. which lasted lor*a wvelc fnm 12Ih to 

19cli May 1741, in a camp between Agra and Diiulpur in Ihe 
presence of Mahadev Biiat Hingjie. Tlie Peahwa called on 
Jaysinli first in his camp, and the next day Jaysinh returned 

tlie visit in the t^shwa's camp. The occasion proved a great 
triumph for the Peshwa.^ Long conferences were held the 
outcome of which was an agreement on these three points 

via,, (1) That the Peshwa and Jaysinh should act in complete 
friendship and help each other in all circumstances; (2) that 
the Maratbas should behave with sCiict loyalty towards tlic 

Emperor and that (3) the grant of Malwa to the Peshwa be 
secured within six months,*' Having accomplished his object 
the Peshwa immediately returned to the south aud rvatjied 
Poona on 7th July, 

Jaysinh acted promptly and kept his word scrupulously. 
He had long realized the futility of opposing the Maratbas by 

arms, and from Dholpur he at once repaired to Delhi and ex¬ 
plained the situation to the Emperor, who took counsel with his 
advisers and issued a farman appointing Shahzada Ahmad as 

die Subahdar of Malwa and the l^shwa aa his deputy acting 
on tile spot. On 4th July die deed was ratified undei* die 
Emperor'.s seal. A few details which were vajifue were cleared 

up and a subsequent explanation was issued on 7th September 
1741, entrusting the whole management of the Subah of Malwa 
to the Peshwa including the civil and criminal jurisdiction. 

The grant was confined to Malwa only and did not apply to 
C^jaiat. But as this latter province was already in Maratha 
possession the absence of a formal grant was immaterial. 

What was commenced on the battle field of Amjhcra at the 

end of November 1728. came thus lo fructify after 12 years of 
war and wrangling. Malwa and Bundelkhand became, pijicti- 

Raj. 6. ISl: Puraniaro DaftAT 1. H9, 
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calJy Maralha possessions hereafter. The femis of the grant 
of Malwa stipulated that the Maratlias ^uld not encroach 
i^on any other imperial territory : that the Peshwa should 
station at Delhi one of his commandants to serve the Emperor 

with 500 horse and if the neces«ty occurred, four thousand more 
troops should be provided at the expense of the Emperor ; the 
Marathaa should respect all the previous Muslim grants to 
individuals and r^ious instittiUons, and tliat they should not 

enhance the taxes upon the ryols. 
On 2l8t April 1743 Ranoji Sindia, Malharrao Holkar, 

Yashwantrao Pawar and Hlaji Jadhav endorsed this imperial 
grant pledging themselves as sureties to guarantee that the 
terms would he strictly adhered to by the Peshwa. 

The new Peshwa’a regime came thus to he inauguiuted 

by a great triumph, as he ultimately carried out Ijy a di* 
plomatic stroke what war had long tried to secure, hut with¬ 

out success. 





CHRONOLOGY 

aUPTER IX 

1726 

1726 

172<). June SO 

irjy, March 30 
1741, Monsoon 
1741, October 

1742, February 
1742, Matdj 

1742, April 15 

1742, April 

1742. May 6 

1742, June 29 
1742, July 

1742, September 27 

1742, September 30 
1742, November 8 

1743, Jan.—Fteb. 

1743, Match 
1743, March 31 

1743, April 10 

1743, May 20 

AUward! IChiin entenj Nawab of Bengal’s 
Muiviof. 

Mir llabib apix^intLsi Guvciuor ol Orissn 

by Mursltid Quli Khaji. 

MunOiid Quli Klian dies, his son-in*law Sbuja 
KiiBn succeeds 

SUuja Khan dies, son SarfaraJ Khan succeeds. 
Bapuji Naik expelled from Poona. 
Ragluiji Bhoale despatches Biiaskar Ram 

to Bengal. 
Feshwa at Chanda on way to the north. 
Peshwa captures Garha and Manilla. 

Bha&kar Ram forms Ills camp near Burdwan, 
harasses Aliwardi Khan and gradually re¬ 

duces Bengal. 
Babuji Naik prevented by Hoikar and 

Pawar Jrom uiccring Malwa. 

Marathas rmd and plunder Murshidabad* 
Pfsikwa cantons at Oichha. 

Peshwa restores Dhat to ‘Vashvant Rao Pawar. 
During Durgapuja celebration Bbaekar Ram’s 

camp raided by Aliwardi Kban. 

Raghuji leaves Nagpur for Bengal. 

Peshffa leaves Orchha tor Bengal. 
Peshwa perfoms pilgrimage Co Prayag, 

&»aFes and Gaya. 

Raghuji meets Peshwa at Gaya. 
Peshwa and AUwardi Khan hold a conference 

near Plassey and conclude a pact 

Raghuji being routed by the Peehwa near 
Pachet. returns to Nagpur. 

Peshwa leaches the Bhaglrathi on his return 

Journey. 
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1743, August 31 

1744, January 
1744, March 80 

1745, Kitoaiy 
1746, May 6 

1745, Dca mber 21 

1747, Januaiy 

1747, Summer 

1748 
1751, March 

1752, August 24 
1755, February 14 
1756, April ID 
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Shahu reconciles Peshwa and Raghujl at 
Salary cot solemn oaths. 

B))a!d(ar Ram leaves NaRpur for Bengal. 
Bliaskar with 21 othm' generals is massacicd 

by AUwnrdi Khan at Mankara near* Kalwa. 
Uaghuji marches on Bengal. 
Kagliuji captures Qittack, Oriasa 

artd serwlfi Durtabh Ram pn'amer to Nagpur. 
Kagiiuji rr^uted ncstr MurahKlrtUK) ;u)d nv 

turns lo Nrtgj)ur, 
Jaiujji Bbosle iiHirdies upon l^ingal, iinO to 

turns after being defeated. 
Raghuji visits Niaam at Aumnipilxi<l and 

Sliuhu ?.t Satara. 
Sabaji Bltoslc marches on Bengal. 
Aliwardi Khan makes peace with Raghuji by 

yielding Qiaath of Bengal. ShiVabh<*iC Saihe 

appoi[U:cd Governor of Oris.<» and Bcrt- 

gal. 
Mir Habib dies, 
Rsghuji Bhoale dies. 
Aliwardi Klian dies. 



CHAPTER tX 

MAKATHA PENETRATION INTO BENGAL 

[1742-^17523 

l Oflivi ilto OrJf^tn of (rtaihlc. 4 Tlic Kconict/iaUuD. 
i IMuukac Uttm ac Kftiwn. 5 Mosuicrc of Marulha 

Unic^iuM oiul ihe Peolma Gensrals. 
c'Ush (()|,H!/hcr. 6 OuiKh imposed upon Bcoual. 

1. Ori^a, tlic origin of ctoublc.^Whilc engrossed in 
attending to foreign offairH, tlio Pcaliwa had always on his hands 
several matters of a domestic character. One such that he Itad 
to attend to upon his return to Poona in the monsoon of 1741, 
was the rupture of his relations with Babuji Naik his tinsuccess- 

ful rival for the Peshwnship and since then hie sworn enemy 
wlio had now to he foicibly expelled from Poona. He was a 
banker who had advanced loans to the Peshwa; and bis bro' 

ther Abaji was married to a sister of Bajirao. Although thus 
a close old relation of tlie Peshwa's family, his presence at 
Poona became troublesome. He demanded from the Peshwa 

the immediate reluni of his loan, Mahadaji Ihirandare collect¬ 
ed funds from the other bankers and paid off Babuji, who then 
quitted Poona dnally. Babuii had the support of Shabu, while 
Raghu]! Bhosle and Damaji Gaikwad were his friends. Shahu 
granted him lands at Baramati, where he built his residence and 

embellished his chiefship. Even here, however, Babuii's de¬ 
scendants could not continue in peace. They were finally expell¬ 
ed the Pcahwa Bajirao II, as will appear in subsequent 

history. 
North-Indlan affairs now demanded the Peshwa's serious 

attention, as they came to be complicated by the jealousy 
which Raghuji Bhosle now began to develop towards the 
Peshwa. The presence of bodi at Satara in June 1741 created 

some sensational developments with which Shahii could not 
cope and which he with his usual weakness allowed to drift 
towards serious consequences. The Peshwa explained to the * 
Chhatrapali the necessity of strengthening the Maratha posi* 
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ticm not only in Malwa and Bunddkhand but in the territories 
lying 'beyond towards the east He took counsel witlr his ad¬ 

visers and prepared for a long and arduous expedition, which 
proved a vexatious affair lasting from Decenber 1741 to June 

1743- 

It was Bajirao wiio had foimed dreams of Maraiha ex¬ 
pansion in all Quartei’s, in which several capable Maratlin 
leaders came forth to secure a share. As early us 1738 Raghuji 

BhosJe secured a aanad from Shahu, entrustinfr to him tlw 
eastern field of Bengal as hia excluwve sphere for Uie levy of 
Chauth. The actual words in the document are, “ The Suhahs 

of Lucknow, Malcsuclabad, BundeUUiand, Allahabad, Patna, 
Dacca and Bihar are made ovei* as Rc^huji's field of iictivily." 
This was indeed a rough demarcation, with no notion of a 
definite boundary or geographical accuracy on the map. A 
scj'amble thus arose between R^uji and the Peshwa, each 

trying to secure the eastern sphere. Tlie latter liad already 
oxupied Bundelkhand and appointed Naro Shanltar to its 
management, thus giving sufficient umbrage to Raghuji as an 
encroachment on his sphere. 'When the Peshwa returned to 

Satara for the rains of 1741, Raghuji precipitately left for 
Nagpur, and was determined, now that Bajirao was no more, 
to assert his power by exercising a check upon die Peshwa if 
the latter tried to encroach upon hia sphere in the east 

There soon arose an inevitable dash between the Peshwa 

and Raghuji Bhosle, as the latter*s conquest of Trichinopoiy 
now gave him prominence in the Maratha Court His brilliant 
successes in the Karnatak and capture of Chanda Saheb 
naturally gave him a high place in the Raja's favoui*. He was 

upon his return received with special honours, gifts and dresses 
in an open Durbar and soon returned to N^ur to attend to 
the affair of Bengal, to which we must now turn. 

After Aurangaeb's death the hold of the Central Mughal 

government at Delhi upon the provincial administrations be¬ 
came very loose and the local governors began to assert their 

independence. 'What Nizam-ul-mulk did in the Deccan was 
imitated in the Karnatak and in Bengal. This last pro^nce 
consisted of three separate units of the present day, Orissa. 

Bihar and Bengal proper, al( then under the jurisdiction of the 
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Nawab who resided at Murshidabad. This was the richest of 

Ihe Mughal provinces and had once supplied funds for the 
costly wars of Aurangzeb. After that Emperor's death Mur- 
shid Quli Khati became the governor of the province and ruled 
it wisely until his death on 30ti^ June 1727, He was then suc¬ 

ceeded in the governnient by his son-in-law Shuja Khan who 
also carried out iiia duties e/nciently, making regular payment 
of animal dues to the Emperor. Bhuja Khan died on 13CU 

March 1739 and his son Sarfaraz Khan who succeeded him, 
being incompctciit, was defeated and killed by Aliwardi Khan. 

This Aliwardi Kliati waw a T'urk who had come b India 

and accepted service in Bengal in 172(3. Clever in the art of 
war and diplomacy alike, and calculating in his mananivres, 
lie soon ruse to be the principal military oflicer of Bengal and 
secured for himself the government of Bihar. lie earned the 

good opinion of Ihe Court of Delhi by liis vork and the Fjn- 
peror conferred on him the title of Mahahat Jang, by which 
name he is known in Marathi papers. When disorder broke 

out in the government of Sarfaraz lOian, Aliwardi Khan was 
not slow in taking advantage of it. Posstssing full control oi 

the army in Bihar, he marched from Patna upon Munhidabad, 
when Sarfaraz Khan came out to oppose him. A battle was 
fought at Gheria on 10th April 1740 in which Sarfaraz ICban 
was killed and Aliwardi JCh^n 5^ized the Mawabshio. Taking 

possession of the accumulahsl hoiutls of wealth at the capital, 
be paid two crores of rupees to the Emperor and obtained from 

him a confinnation of his appointment, The Empuor and hie 
new eubabdar thus for a time became essential to each 
other. 

Aliwardi Khan's usutparion was not at all welcome to 

the parlizans of the old Nawab. The Englisli traders in Ben¬ 
gal wore flourishing and had then become a power in the land 
controlling money transactions, ^iwardi Khan secured iheic 

good will by granting them concessions and securing their 
sympathy for strengthening his assuic^tion of the Nawabship, 
We And in the contemporary English documents Aliwardi 

Khan’s regime highly applaud on account of his sobriety 
and good administration, But there was a strong faction at 
the Nawab’s Court headed by Mir Habib and some other 
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olBcials who could i»t forget the new Nawab's ti-eachery to 

tlie son of his benefactor. 
Mir Habib, a clever Persian of Shiraz, had long ago 

migrated to India and horn humble beginnings, risen to the 

deputy Nawabship of Orissa in which post he served his master 
another Murahid QuU Khan, Governor of Orissa witli devotion 

and distinction. He remained loyal to his muster to (lie lust 
arid after the latter’s defeat by AUwaidi, had unsuco^c^fully at¬ 
tempted to ei^^^c the Mamthas in his master’s cause. Kaglmji 

Bhosle was then in tile Karnatalc and his deputy, Bhaslair Itum, 
in his master’s absence was disinclined to undertake major 
operations in Bengal. Mir Habib being compellerl by circum* 
stances re-entered Aliwardi's service though he continued lo 

nurse severe hatred for the usurper. 
Raghuji Bhoale of Nagpur lool«d on this eastern pro¬ 

vince of B^gal as his special sphere and had showed deep 

resentment when Peshwa Bajirao made demands on the re¬ 
venues of Bengal in his negotiations with Niaam-ul-muik at 
Bhopal in 1738, Raghuji’s ICamatak expedition had added 
to his reputation and on his return to Nagpur, in 1741, lie 

was informed of the political changes in Bengal and of the 
offers received from Mir Haolb and tlie disgruntled section of 
the new Nawab’s officers. Raghuji dreaded the new Peshw'a’.s 
ambitious views towards the province and decided to forefttall 

him by at once sending his army eastward. He was naturally 
anxious to have an independent field for his activities and 

readily grasped the offer made to him by Mir Habib, At 
Satara, therefore, he hurriedly took his leave of Shahu. At 
this very time the Peshwa himself conceived the plan of taking 
a hand in the aUair of Bengal, being jealous of Rs^huji’s rising 
power, 

Immediately after his arrival at Nagpur, Raghuji formed 
plans in consultation with his trusted lieutenant Bliaskar Ram, 
who had directly arrived there from Trichinopoly with Chanda 

Saheb in his custody, A strong expedition was fitted out for 
proceeding info Oiissa and Bengal. It started on the Dassara 
day of 1741, with about ten thousand troopei's, Bhaskar Ram 

headed the party and himself left Nagpur in November. He 
marched through Hamgad and plundered the district of 
Pachet (60 miles east of Ranchi). 



CHAP, :x I MARAVHA PKNEfRATION INTO BENGAL 211 

2. Bhaskar Ram at Kacws,~^Aliwardi Khan was sur* 
prised to learn of that Maratha movements snd ihe activities 
of Mir Habib, when the Nawab was idsutely returning fiom 

Cuttack, Realizing that he was unable to hold lus own against 
the strong Maratha liordes, ho by a rapid march with a lender 
force reached Burdwan on 15th April 1742, whexc he fonned hla 

camp on the banlc of Ihe Rani’s lake outside tlie town. To 
hki dismay, however, he found himseU early next morning com¬ 
pletely surix)umlcd by the Marathmi and was faced witli utter 
starvation, Duritig the following days Bhaskar Ram 
employed half his men in plundering ai^ devastating the ad¬ 

joining districts. To escape the miseries of his unbearable 
situation, Aliwardi Khan «ent his agenU to Bhaskar Ram 
begging for terms. The latter demanded 10 laca which the 

Khan dedined to pay; and on the advice of some of his 
trusted lieutenants, he secietly set out by night witli a »2lecC 

escort for Kaiwa about 35 miles north-east oi Burdwan. The 
trick waa soon detected and the Khan was pursued hotly, hia 
baggage and tents were burnt making him utterly helpless on 

the way. He again sent piteous appeaJs to the Maraiha com¬ 
mander to 1‘clcaiiC him. Bhaskar Ram now demanded one 
crore as the price of the Khan’s release. Again the terms 
were refused, but by lighting desperate rear-guard actions the 

Khan managed to reach Katwa. In the meantirue Mfr Habib 
came by a different route and joined Bheskarpant 

It was now tlic month of May and the signs of the ap¬ 
proaching moasoon appeared so unmistakable, that Bhaskar 

Ram wished to retire to Nagpur immediately. This proposal 
was strongly opposed by Mir Habib, who offered an alluring 
plan of a suddw atta(^ upon Murshidabad and seising its 
jfnniAfig^ wealth, a prospect which Bhaskar Ram after some 

persuasion accepted. Mir Habib himself undertook the ven¬ 
ture. On 6d: May with a contingent of his own and a select 
body of Maratha horse, he came upon the suburbs of the city, 

rapidly plundered its treasures, particularly its wealthy 
bankers, the Jagat Shelh and others, and released his own 
brother and family who had been imprisoned there by AJi- 
wardi ICian, The Mir returned to Katwa and joined the Pant 

with the accumulated plunder amounting to between two and 

three croree of rupees. 
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All ward! IChan bdng Informed in lime of the Mifs move¬ 
ments followed upon liis track but readied Mursliidabad only 
a day too late, i.e. on 7th May. The Bhagirathi being in flood, 

Bliasltarpant could not cxos over in pursuit of him, During 
the next three months the Marathas assisted by Mir Habib 
establidicd their sway right up to the neighbourhood of Cal¬ 

cutta and Hupiii and recaptured Orissa. It was in fear of tlw 
Maratha raid upon their factory at Calcutta at tills time, that 
the linglish traders hastily constructed a long ditch round their 

establishments, whidi ts still known as the Maratha Ditdv aiul 
which has now bwn filled up. Bliaslcar Ram’s violent methods 

were deeply resented by the populace of Bengal as the sequel 
will allow,* 

Bhadcar Ham's greed was whetted by the irnmen.*^ wealth 

he had gained; and he fell a prey to the wily plan of 
revenge which Wiwardl Khan now contrived, Maratha troops 
were small in number and came to be scattered at long distances 

holding the extensive territory which had been subjugated, He 
bad been IncEsaantly asking Raghuji for more men. In order 
to please the local sentiment the Maratha general decided to 

hold a grand celebration of his victory during the Durga- 
puja festivities commencing on IStli September 1742, the 26tli 

being the principal day, While Bhaskarpani and his band were 

engrossed in the rejoicings of the occasion, Aliwardl Khan 
planned a surprise attack upon the Maratha camp. During 
the night of the 26th as the Marathas after a long vigil were 

fast asleep, the Nawab early in the morning of the 27th having 
secretly crossed over the river during the night, suddenly fell 
upon the unwary Marathas and started an indisciiminate 
massacre. Bewildered by tlii.*^ unexpected havoc the Marathas 

to save their life fled in various directions from the camp of 
Katwa, Mir Habib loo had to flee for ]iis life, and did his 
best to help the Marathas to escape safely tJirough bypaths 
and private agencies, Bhasl^ar Ram instantly sent ne^vs of 
this disaster to Raghuji and requested Immediate succour, On 

23rd September Raghuji writes to his Murumdar, " Enclosed 
you will find urgent letters received from Bhaskarpant. 1 

l. S« Nfahara^ita Puraij by poci Ganga Ram, Encli^h imnslciUcm 
in, ' dental Pen rtwrf PmfUi." 
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have irnmediately to proceed to bis succour, and am slartiag 
on the Desam day. Bhaskarpant has undertaken the labori¬ 
ous project of Malcsudabad, for the completion of which ha is 
in sore need of further forces, which must reach him quidcly. 
Therefore you must drive all atraKRl^rs to jam in immediately.'" 

This letter despatched four days before the actual raid 
upon Bhflskarpant by Aliwardi Khan, proves that the Pant 

was neither vain nor incautious, as is generally believed, He 
knew what risirhc waji running and had already fuJly reported 
to his roaster the perilous situation he had been dnven into. 
Tiiflt Kaghuji for various reasons could not send him succours 

in time is obvious. However. Che Pant bravely faced the situa¬ 
tion and saved himself and his forces from complete ruin aiKl 
to tliat extent foiled the enemy's object. He escaped towards 
Pachet cleverly waging a running fight with his pursuers. 
From Pachet he fled to Midnapur, The outposts of Burdwaa, 
Hugh and Hijli were abandoned and the scattered Maratha 
forces were collected together. The Pant plundered Radha- 
nagar and sent a detachment to attack Cuttack. Shaikh 

l^asum the Governor of Cuttack was killed and the post was 
captured by Ihe Maraihas, but Aliwardi Khan coining qiuckly 
upon his track recaptured Cuttack, provided for the defence of 

Orissa and returned lo Murahidabad on 9th February 1743. 
It is now necessary here to narrate why Raghuji could not at 
once go to the relief of Bhaskarpant. 

"While die Peshwa was strengthening his portion in Uic 
north, he came to a severe daah with Raghuji Bhosle, mainly 

on account of his having claimed the revenues of Bengal and 
just then captured Garha and Mandia, which Raghuji consider¬ 

ed as his sphere. On this point Raghuji lodged through his 
jagent at Salara the following strong protest before Shsbu on 
''4th May 1742. " After my return to Nagpur I found that the 

Peshwa had encroached upon the sphere assigned to me. He 
had captured my posts Garha and Mandia, plundered and de¬ 
vastated my territory, and ruined my parganas of Shivni 
and Chhapar. The ruling king of Mandia burnt himself alive 

to avoid the disgrace. Upon this the. Peshwa marched into 
Bundelkhand. I have heretofore studiously avoided crossing 
bis path. But now my patience has been tried beyond mea¬ 

sure. Please inform the Chhatrapati that 1 am determined to 
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take lull revenge, I have already kept under restramt TrimbaJc 
Vishvanath Pethe the Peshwa'a commandant, for having 

violated my domains.” This Trimbakrao suffered imprison¬ 
ment lor a short time and vas released after Skahu bad sent 
his own emissaries to Ra^hujl for that purpose. The estrange- 

merit between the Pesliwa and Raijhuji was complete. Let us 
now go back to the Pealiwa'a mov'OmentK. 

3. RagUuji and the Peshwa clash togcclicr.—I'lie 
Peshwa left Pciona at the end of 1741 with the object of 

checkmating Paghuji in Bengal, and slowly proceeded niu’lh- 
ward, having secured the Emperor's Iwcldng in his projected 
journey to Bengal. On February 20, 1742 a writer from the 

Peshwa’s camp says, ” He was accompanying Uie Peshwa into 
Bengal." This is written Irotn Vairagad in the district of 

Chanda (eastern Berar), so it is clear Uiat the Peshwa was 
watching Raghuji’s moves. Theitaftai* he marched along the 
southern bank of the Narmada, and after taking possession of 

Garha and Mandla stepped into BundeDihand. In tlic mean 
lime he asked Sindia and Holkar to collect tribute from the 

Rajput princes, Abhay Sinh and others. In April these two 
sard are were in Rajputana, executing the Pe^wa's commands. 

In June the Peshwa wanted to return to the south, but finding 
the Namiada In flood, decided to canton in Bundelichand. He 
had good reason for maldng such a halt. Babuji Haik smarting 
under his expulsion from Poona and widi a view to avenging 

himself on that score, rualied Into Gujarat and in conjunction 
with Damajl Gaikwad tried to harass the Peshwa's flank from 
Malwa in the summer of 1742, But Holkar and Pawar got 
scent of this attempted mischief and prevented Babuji's entry 
into Malwa through Gujarat, Babuji had to return disisanfited. 

It thus became necessary for the Peshwa to make his 

possession of Malwa and Bundelkhand flnnly secure against 
any hostile attacks, before he moved on to Bengal. Dbar, 

\ commanding the western and southern entrance of Malwa, had 

been entrusted to the care of the Pawajs after its first capture 
in 1729 but it had been restoiod to the Emperor next year 

at the desire of Shahu. For ten years this strategic post re¬ 
mained in the Empei'or'a possession, but when Malwa was 
formally handed over to the Peshwa by the Emperor, Holkar 
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under orders from the Peshwa took possession of that place on 
5th January 1741 and appointed Ya^ivant Rao Pawar as its 
guardian. Tht Pawar brothers had ions; been estranged from 
the as they had joined his opponent Dabhadc at the 
battle of Dabhoi. Yashvant Rao now came back lo the 
Peshwa’fi allegiance on condition that Dhar was given to him 

for hie permanent residence. The Pej^iwa complied with this 
request and jpive him possession of Dhar, which has since 
continued to be tbc seat of this family. Yashvant Rao was a 
spirited man who had at tlifs time adjusted the longslsncllni' 
ispute between Sawni Jayhinli and Abl«y Sinh of Marwar, 
tlius lielping the smooth working of the Peshwa's rule in Malwa 
and Rajputann. 

So the Feshwa planted him firmly in Malwa along willi 

Ilolkar and Sindia, where these three Maratlia Chiefs still hold 
their sway. Raghuji had liis agents, at Delhi, Poona, Satard 
and elsewitere. On the strength of the information received 
from them, he plainly asked the Peshwa on 30 September 
1742 what his project was, and Informed him that he himself 

was proceeding through Devgad to Bengal to succour Bhaskar 
Ram. In the mean Lime Aliwardi Khan too was actively 
strengthening his own position, expecting an onslaught both 

from Ragliuji and the Peshwa. lie applied to the Emperor for 
miUtary help to waid of! the danger and warned him that if 
no help came, the Emperor must con^der Bengal as entirely 
lost to him. The Pesliwa on his part communicated his readi* 
ness to help the Emperor If the Chauth of Malwa. Bundel* 
khand and Allahabad was granted to him, The Emperor 

agf^ to the Peshwa’s proposal and asked him to proce^ to 
Bihar and Bengal in order to help Aliwardi Khan to resist the 
Bhosle's aggresaon. The Emperor also ordered Aliwardi Khan 
to pay the Peshwa’s expenses. This was highly advantageous 
to the Khan, as it led to a discard between the two leading 
Maratha diiefs,—the Peshwa and the, Bhosle of Nagpur. 

Aliwardi Khan at once sent some money to the Peshwa and 
invited him for a conference. The Peshwa lec^ved the Em¬ 
peror’s commands in November and began a cautious ai)|^ 
adroit game, on the one hand to put down the recaldtrai) 

Bhosle and on the other to deal effectively with the norther; | 
possessions of the Emperor, lie tried to reap the gieate^. 



216 NEW HJ STORY OF THIS MARATHAS j VOL. 11 

advantage out of Bhaskar Rain's trouble. The PesUwa had 
undertaken to protect the Empeinr’a territories by driving 

away all those who had become aggressive. A ncws'letter of 
lat February 1743 from the soutli bank of the <ranges at 
P^ayag, states The Shrimant has advanced from Bundel- 

khand Co this place with the object of proceeding to the tenritory 
of Patna. He had a holy bath along with hra whole folio wing 

of 75 thousand at Triveni near the Allahabad fort. The boaC^ 
were provided by llie Mu>4im Subairdar of the place. What 
a wonderful achievement never before attempted ]yy anybody 

else, for s;ich a concourhe to have a successful pilgrimage Uius 
attaining titc highest bliss of life. God is great.’* hVorn Allah' 

abad the Pesbwa proceeded to Benares, to which place he paid 
a hurried private visit simply for taking a batli in the holy 
waters, wisely refraining from reconstructing the /amou.s 
temple. 

^ In the mean time some well-wishers of the Maratha 

cause attempted to bring about a reconciliation between the 
* Peshwa and Raghuji Bhoslc. Obviously it was a grievous 

prospect for two Maratha principals to make an expedition 

of domestic feud before the world. From Benares Uie Peshwa 
proceeded about eighty miles beyond Gaya where Kaghuji 

himself came and paid a hurried visit to him. For four days 
they stayed togctl^j’ and deliberated on their differences, but 

no tangible result came out of this visit.’ - 
From Gaya the Pe^wa marched to Mur^idabad^and Irnd 

a meeting with Aliwatdi IChan near Plassey for a week from 
31st March. The preliminaries of the meeting were arranged 
In advance by Pilkji Jadhav on behalf of the Peshwa and 

! Mustafa Khan on behalf of the Nawab. These two met 
1 their principals in advance and settled the details Including 
1 sacred oaths i^jainst treachery or foul play. Aliwardl Khan 
^ had his camp at Lavda about 7 miles south of the present 

Berhampur Cantonment. The meeting took place in a gorge¬ 

ous tent pitched on the west bank of the Bhagirathi near 
Plassey between the camps of the two chiefs. Malharrao 
Holkar, Pilaji Jadhav and some others were present at the 

2. ^ PtirenJarg Daftar. 1. 152. Unpublished papers d the Ysidys 
(OTI^cdon,. n( which one letter is Quoted on pege 73 uf the sutbor's Rlyssst 
Volume on ''Peshm Baljii Bsjino snd 
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meeting with the Peshwa, The Nawab presented four ele¬ 
phants, some horses and she-buffaloes to the Peshwa. An 
agreement was arrived at, purporting (1) that the Nawab 

should pay 22 iacs of rupees to the Peshwa for his expenses, 
(2) that he should pay the annual Chauth of Bengal to the 
Chhatrapatl and (3) that both should jointly expel Raghuji 
from the Province. This last item they at once set about to 
perform. 

The details of their next move are rather conflicting and 
cannot be accurately determined- Ragliuji realixing the danger 
from this combination, dismantled his camp at Katwa—and 
formed a plan for retreadng whiie fighting rear-guard acUons, 
confident of the superior activity of his cavalry, The Pbshwa 
finding his helpmate the Nawab‘s troops utterly useless for a 
pursuit of Haghuji's active cavalry, parted company with him 

and alone iindcrloolc to bring Raghidi tfl action, 

The Peshwa encountered Raghuji on 10th April in the 
narrow pass of Bendu near Pacbet. The main part of Raghuji’a 

army had already escaped through the pass : only his baggage 
and pack bullocks and other non-combatants were attacked 
and plundered while passing through that small pass, quite a 
trifling loss in reality, although apparently it was deliberately 
magnified into a serious and severe action. From Pachet 
Raghuji bent his way to Nagpur and the Peshwa to Gaya 

on his return to Poona, On 20tb May the latter horn hia camp 
•on Uie Bhagirathi wrote thus To Rarachandra Baba : “ By the 
Rtap of God I liad a successful expedition into Bengal' R. 
was routed and my authority established. The Nawab was 

convinced of my power and I have received ainple return In 
money both from him and the Emperor. R- had invaded Bengal 
and havir^ established his cantonment in the province, had 
asserted his strength- The Emperor desires that I should op¬ 

pose and expel him."" Raghuji himself writes on 5th June 
“ I had been to The district of Gaya for succouring 

Bhaskar Pant, who had during the previous year defeated Ala- 
Birdi Khan and cantoned in Bengal. The Peshwa came into 
the same region. He sent me trustworthy agents inviting me 

to go and meet him. I journeyed to Gaya and had conferences 

3. Par^«ni9 collecUoQ UBpublhhed. R^RaghujL 

M. H. 
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with Iiim. I then travelled badi, niarchtfd as,TiiT)sl Ala Bird) 
Klian and halted at Katwa Gunj on the Bliagirathi, oatside 
Maksudabad. The Khan sent me «nissarie.s for an accommo¬ 

dation promising a peaceful settlement of the dispute. In the 
meantime the Pesliwa arrived on tlic scene, declaring Uc had 

come at the behest of the Emperor to succour Ala Bird! Ivhan 
and that he would co-opemte with him in driving out K. The 
two marched against me with the consequences which I luive 

already reported. I then came to Ramgacl and llic Pesliwa 
altci’ dismiftsing Ala Birdi's Iroups atart«l for (Inya via Pnclict. 
There is Nusani'Uhmulk s agent one Shcsliauio residing witli 
Ala Bird! IGian, lie wrole lo me Ala BirdlV dcj^irc \j) efTccl 
a compromise roquosting me to send hsclc Bliaskar Kain for 

that purpose. Accordingly 1 sent Bhaskar Ram back to the 
Nawab and myeeJf started on the i^turn journey with some 
troops and the non-combatants. As 1 crossed the Bendu pass, 

the Peshwa aUack'_^, iuy non-combatanlR who were behind. 
Some two hundred of them were killed. I at once came bade 
and drove away the attacking party of the Peshwa. There¬ 

after I arrived at Nagpur by easy mardies," 
nils aUair of a clash het^v«^n the Peshwa and Raghuji 

is well summarised by Chitnis iu his life of Sliahu. Tlie same* 

subject is described by IfiRgne in a letter to Iiis son Bapuji 
dated 27th April in which he says, 'the Pesliwa declared that 
he was proceeding for a vidt to Raghuji and plundered aeveral 
places on his way, exacting tilbute. A number of people with 

their wives put an end to their life to avoid oppression. ThiK 
action was liighly resented by tlie general populace. Then 
came tlie news t^t the Peshwa and the Nawab had a long 

visit and conferences. They swore mutual friendship by taking 
sacred oaths. The Pesliwa then started t£> chastise Raghuji. 
This news gladdened the Emperoris heart, who appreciates the 

Peshwa’s loyalty.*’* 

These are all tlie authentic details that we can get of this 
memorable affair. 

^ 4. The reconciliacion.—In this Jong drawn account the 
; reader recognises on the one hand the Peshwa's desire to assert 

4. Pb;. voI. 3. 217. 
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central control over all tlie sardar$i and execute the policy of 
the Maratha $iate in the name of the Chhatrapati, and 
Kaghuji’s desire on the other hand like many others before 
him and after, to carve out an independent sphere of action lor 
him'sdf without interference from the Peahwa. This fissiparous 
tendency of the Maratha saidars proved the greatest weakness 

6l their position. RagUuji realiaed that he could not bold his 
own against tlie Pe^iwa and that it was hln best Intereat to 
ndjust matters with him. The diherence of the two had al* 
ready nlnrmed Shahu, lest Uicy sliould lead to conKequex^ces 

like the clash of Dabhadc with the Pesbwa at Dabhoi. He sent 
urgent calls to Iwllr Immcdlatdy to repair to his presence, 

Expansion of the Maratha dominion in all quarters of India 
was tire avowed aim of his policy. The defining of splxercs was 
not a serious obstacle : and both parties well understood how 
tlie I-'inperor, and Aliwardi Khan took advantage of these 
internal dissensions. There were wiser counsels in both the 
camps, and it did not take long for a reconciliation being 
effected in the presence of Shahu. It was soon reported that 

the Peshwa waived his claim on Bengal and was willing to 
abstain from molesting Raghuji in his legitimate sphere. An*^ 

^eemenC was signed by both on 31st August 1743 at Satara / 
by whichl all the territory from Bcrar to the east right up to / 
Cuttack, Bengal and Lucknow, was assigned to Ragbuji, / 

with which the Peshwa bound himself not to interfere : / 
and the territory west of this line including Ajmere, 
Agra, Prayag and Malwa were to be the exclusive; 

spheres of the Peshwa.’"' 

Another paper thus defines the Peshwa'a spheie. " All 

the territories previou^y acquired by tiie Peshwa, Mokasa and 

Jagirs. the Government of the Konkan and Malwa, the tri¬ 
butes from Agra, Prayag and Ajmere, three taluks from the 

Patna district, the Inam villages granted to the Peshwa of 
the revenue of 20 Oiousand, within Raghuji's jurisdiction of the 
ICamatak, these are to be the exclusive assignments of the 

Peshwa to which Raghuji or any one else should not object. 
Lucknow, Bihar, lower-Bengal, i.e. all the lands from Bcrar 

sT Chilais Bakhir paje 79, Alti- Patravyuvehar 35-39; N, R. 1-10; 

Raj. vol. 2 pp. 9W9. 
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to Cuttack are assigned to Ragbuji from which he sliould rea¬ 
lise his tributes and otlicr claims " 

Thus the Peshwa and Raghuji both bound themselves to 
respect each other’s boundaries and not to encroach on the 
spheres assigned to them. The Peshkash or presents from 
these territories were also regulated. Ti\s Peshwa and Raghuji 
were completely reconciled in the presence of the Clihatrapatl 

and exdianged dinner?^. Shahu called upon them both to lay 
their hands on hia feet and aw'ear that they would never more 

entertain suspicions about each other. They entertained the 
Maharaja at dinner, and after all a»<urancGK for a firm friend' 

ship had been secured, they were given leave to deparl. A 
separate agi'eemenl was also efTccled about the disputed dis¬ 
tricts of Garha and Mnndla. So this long standing ri\'alry of 
Raghuji with the Peshwa was closed for the present, and it 
must be said to the credit of both that their relations never 

came to be appreciably strained during their lifetime. 

5, Massacre of Mai'atha generals.—Thus during tlie 
rainy season of 17^5 the Pcslnva and the Senaaahib Subah 
RagliujI fihosle both became strengthened in their friendship, 
and al^t the next Dasaara lime eadt undertook his own pro- 
meditated tasks. Raghuji at once proceeded from Hatara to 

Nagpur and despatclied Bhaskar Ram to complete his unfinisli' 
ed work in Bengal Bhaskar left Nagpur on his jouniey early 
in 1744, fully equipped with men and material. The news of 

thU fresh invasion roused Aliwardi Khan to a sense^ of hia 
danger and drove him to adopt a dastardly plan of ti^achery 

against the Marathas. Since his accession to the subahdan&hip 
the Khan had been so overwhelmed by worries, difhcultics and 
disasters of an unprecedented character that he found himself 
altogether helpless to meet the present danger. Bbaskar Ram 
and Mir Habib did their utmost to harass him in all possible 

ways. A demand for Chauth arrived from Bhaskar, with a 
threat of dire consequences in case of refusal. Out of bis 

fertile brain the Khan formed a dark plan of vengeance for 
overcoming Bhaskar Ram. He decided to entice him to a 

private meeting and have him murdered with all his 
party. For this he took into hie confidence his Afghan com¬ 
mandant Mustafa Khan and his private counsellor Jankl 
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Ram, both bitter hatere of the Marathas. They were induced 
by the Nawab on specious promL^ Id join in tlie conspiracy 

and developed ail minute delaiU /or its «eculjoth They ar¬ 
ranged the plan wilh consummate dexterity. Bhaskar Ram had 
hia camp at Katwa and the Nawab had liig at Amaniganj abciit 
20 miles north 0/ that place. Mustafa IChan sent his agents 
to Bhaskar Rwn and opened negotiations offering bubmisslon 
and declaring that the Nawab had no desire to fight. Me 
proposed tliat they should both meet in an open conference and 
come to some amicable an-angement acceptable to both aa re¬ 

gards the amount of Chauth. Bhaskar Ram was allured to 
thuA course as he hoped to gain iiis object witliout recourse to 
arms. 

Bhaskar Rom's ^nts and those of the Nawab discus^ 
and fixed the details of the meeting. The -Ooran and the 
Ganges water were both profusely used in their oadts. Mir 
Habib at every moment warned Bhaskarpant against deceit, 
but in vain. A grand decorated tent was erected on the plain 

of Mankaia between Amaniganj and Katwa. enclosed all round 
by high double walls of tent*cioth between which armed men 
were kept concealed, ready to rush out at a given signal aod 

cut down ail the ^rathas they could by their hands on. 
Friday 30th March 1744 (Chaitra Vadya, 13th of Shak 1666. 
Safar 26) was fixed for the meeting. The Nawab arrived be¬ 
fore the Marathas and taking hw seal on hia dais waited to 
receive Bhaskar Ham. The enclosure had several doors at 

which armed sentries were posted as guards, At the appointed 
hour Bhaskarpant arrived with his retinue, was reedved at 
the entrance by Mustafa Khan and Janlci Ram, who held his 
two hands and coriducted him to the Nawab inside, uttering 
expressions oi welcome during the interval. As soon as the 
Pant reached the front of the NawaVs seat, the latter rose and 

asked loiuily ''Which is the brave Bhaskar Ram?" In 
answer to this Bhaskar Ram was pointed out and introduced; 

when the Nav^b in a loud voice called out ‘Cut these marau¬ 
ders down.'* At this signal the concealed Muslims rushed out 
of their place and began an inc^scrirainate slaughter; 

among the perpetrators being Mir Jafar Khan and Mir Kasim 
Khan of future notoriety in history, The Maratha chiefs 
though equally armed were laken by surprise, and before they 
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could draw their swords in self-defence were cut down to a man, 
Mir Kasim cut down Bhaskarpant himself, The whole place 

became a heap of mangled dead bodies, which the Nawab 
watched with satisfaction from his seat, The Muslims cut 
down the ropes of the enclosure and prevented Maratha hoops 
waiting outside from coming to help their leaders. Of the 

22 chiefs killed, 20 weie Hindus and 2 were Muslims. Of the 
Hindus tltree were Brahmans and seventeen MaratJms. 

The news of this dreadful occurrence reached Kaghuji 
Gaikwad, who was guardii^ the Marallia camp Iwhind. He 

exercised great presence of mind in saving the camp and en¬ 
abling the inmates to escape with as much property as they 
could carry, Gaikwad eluded the pui'suers and reached N^pur 

with the ’broken remnants of Bliaskar Ram’s army and com¬ 
municated to Raghuji Bhosle, graphic details of the dastardly 
attack on the leaders. The Nawab returned to Murshidabad 
from Amaniggnj and celebrated his triumph with great re¬ 

joicing, feeling happy at having got rid of his mortal enenies 
80 easily. What a wave of indignation raged throi^h Maha¬ 
rashtra when tile news of the occurrence arrived, had better 

be imagined, R^huji was for a time stunned with the blow, 
but soon recovered and concerted quick measures of revenge, 
after holding amdous deliberations with his sons and Bhasl^ar’s 
brother Konher Ram and his large famQy.'’ 

For various reasons, however, no immediate steps could 
be taken to avenge the dreadful murder of the Maratha Chiefs, 
Men, money and material most essential for a grave under¬ 
taking could not be easily obtained and although Raghuji did 

not waste a moment in idle speculation, he could not o^aniae 
a proper expedilion for at least a year. Mir Habib was all 
the while there to urge and advise him. In the mean time 

6. Bhaskar Ram’s wife Kashibai alias Taibai then a (e« montba 

advanced in pregnancy had ben left behind at the camp of Katna: her 

life wfia saved by a Muslim lady of tbs Pathan clan, A palanquin was 

immediately provided In which ^ was secretly conducted la Bcnard 

Kei'B she later gave birth to a son who wat named Kashirao Bha.^leer. 

Bhaskar's brother Konher Ram was utterly overwhelmed with grief which 

Raghuji and his sons did their beat to assuage, Taibal was given the 

Siibahdaishjp of Berar with suitable provision, Baburao son of IConher 

Ram served the Nagpur state with distinction. 
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Mustafa Khan and Aliwardi Khan came to be se\*erely esti ang- 
ed from each other, and the former solicilafed Raghuji to come 
quickly and crush the widced Nawab, 

Even Mir Jafar rose against the Nawab, with the result 
that thei’e were again unrest and confudon throughout Bengal. 
Raghuji left Nagpur in February 1745 and thus reported about 
his move : “ Leaving Nagpur I arrived straiglit against Cuttadc 
and after a couple of months siege and incessant bombardment 

captured the place on 6th May. Now I am proceeding tow&ds 
Maksudabacl. I have captured Durlabh Ram, son of the 
Nawab's treacherous minister Janki Ram/* This Durlabh 
Ram wa« sent a prisoner to Nagpur whence he effected his 
release in January 1747 after paying Rupees three lacs for 
ransom. 

6. Oiauth imposed upon Bongal.—Raghuji demanded 
from Aliwardi lOian a fine of three crores Cor the murder 

(rnund-Imtai, beads cut) of his 22 brave captains. As Raghuji 
was proceeding against Maksudabad. Mustafa Khan and Alh 
wardi Khan came to open blows and the former was killed 
in a battle at Jagadiahpiir near Atrah in June 1745. Raghuji 
cantoned in Bitbhum for the monsoon. After the rains a run¬ 

ning fight ensued between him and the Nawab. Raghuji had 
to sustain a defeat near Mursliidabad on 2l8t December, aod 
liastened back to Nagpur, leaving a party of 3,000 troops for 
the assistance of Mir HabibJ who remained in possession of 
Orissa. The Peshwa also sent his agents demanding Chauth 

fiwn Aliwardi Khan in accordance with the Emperor’s grant 
Thus the Nawab now came to be pressed between two enemies, 
the Bha^le and the Pe^wa. The realiaatioo of the fine for 
the murd^; however, was put off for a long time, as Raghuji 

was overwhelmed in finandal difficulties. By the end of 1746 
he made his preparations and despatched his son Janoji against 
the Nawab. Janoji reached Cuttadc in January 1747 and was 
joined by Mir Habib; and the combined forces infiicted a de¬ 
feat upon the Nawab near Burdwan. But soon after Janoji 
having been again de^^^by the >4wab, retraced his steps 

to Nagpur. 

7. P. D. 20. 26. 
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The Hawab, however, did not fare better for al) his mea¬ 
sures to obtain relief from the Bhoale menace. Mir Jafar and 
other of^cers formed a plot to assassinate him, but it failed. 

Raghuji got so involved in troubles of various descriptions 
that for Ions he could not attend to Bengal. Nizam-ulmulk 
and Shahu were l>olh ncacing fheir graves and engrasred 

Raghuji's attention. Shahu invited him to Satara in 1747 
asking for his son Mudhoji in adoption and Haghuji had to res¬ 

pond to the call In llie meantime Janoji wiio was campaign¬ 
ing in Bengali had to return to Nagpur on acaiunt of his 
mother’s deatii. itaghuji, th^^fore, despatched his third son 

Sabaji to Bengal He joined Mir Habib and the two did their 
best to harass the Nawab In all possible ways. The situation 
became so intolerable to the Nawab that his shrewd wife press- 
ed him to come to an accominodatlon with the Marathas. Ho 
accepted her counsel and deputed Mir Jalar to meet Mir 

Habib and Janoji personally and settle the terms of peace. 
The protracted negotiations were brought to a close In March 
1751 by a solemn treaty containing the following terms :> • 

(1) That Mir Habib be confirmed in the government of 

Orissa, as the Naib or deputy of the subahdar of Mutshidabad; 

(2) ‘ That the Nawab should annually pay twelve lacs of 

rupees to the Bhosle of Nagpur for the Chauth of Bengal and 

Bihar; 

(3) When these amounts are regularly paid, the Bhoslea 

should no longer harass the two provinces by their expeditions; 

(4) That the district of Cuttack, I.e. territory up to the 

river Subama-reklia be considered Bbosle's possession. 

For (he arrears of Chaulh the Nawab paid 32 lacs to the 
Bhosle at once. Immediately the treaty was signed, Janoji 

returned to Nagpur, withdrawing all hig troops, and appointing 
Shivabhat Sathe as his agent to manage the a^airs of Orissa. 

Sathe thereafter executed his task satisfactorily and maintain- 
ed an efficient government in the province for a long time. No 
amount was, however, recovered by way of fine for the murder 

of Bhaakar Ram and his colleagues, but the main purpose of 
that general’s expedition, \k. the imposition of the Chauth 

upon Bengal and Bihar, was accomplished and the possession 



CHAF. IX ] MAKATKA FENSTSATlON INTO BENGAL 225 

of Cuttack was ensured. Mir Habib did not live long to enjoy 
the peace for wJiIcb he had all these yean^ exerted, He was 

killed in a fracas witl: some Maratha guards on 24th August 
1752. Some allege that he was killed by Janoji Blwale. 
Bag^uji’s tenacity and perseverance are well exempUfied in this 
ten years struggle for the conquest of Bengal He gradually 
lost his health, contracted Illness and died on 14th February 

1755, followed soon after by All ward! Khan on April 10,1756. 
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CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER X 

Sou Madhcflsinh born b Jayamh. 

Sunibluiji AnKria dies. 

Jotiba Slndia ruid party a$s;(&srcuted 
by llirvlnh Dov of Orchlia. 

Nuro Siiankar raaud Orcliha lo the ground 

and fonned his seat at Jhansl. 

Tulaji Angria made Saikhel. 

Sawal Jaysinh dies. 

Mahadev Bhat llingne dies at Delhi. 

Pesbvra's expedition to Bhilsa, 

Tulaji captures Govalkot and Ai^anvel. 

iUnoji Sfndia captures Bhilsa. 

Hanoji Sindla dies. 

War ol Jaipur suecee^on started. 

Uojmai minister of Jaipur dies, 

Battle of RajTnahal, Ishwarisinh victorious 
over Madhosinii. 

Tulaji Angria visits ShsUu at Satara. 

Nadir Sluh assassinated ; Ahmad Shah AJv 

dali succeeds. 

Rajkot of Chaul captured by the Peshwa 

Battle of Mudagad ; Tulaji Angria defeated. 

Battle of Manupur, Ahmad Shah Abdali de> 

fcated. 

Mudagad recaptured from Tulaji* 

Peshwa and Madhoainh meet for a vreeh at 

New^. 

Manikgad taken by the Peshna. 

Hoikar encte terms from Ishwarisinh. 
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175D, Monsoon Sindia and Holkar b Rajputana. 

1750, August Ishwaminh assassinates his minister Kesho< 
das. 

1750, December 14 Ishwarisinh commits suicide. 

1751, January 10 Fearful mnssacie <if die Marathas at Jaipur, 

Eajput'Maratha bitfidship ends. 
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CHAPTER X 

ON TO FURTHER SUCCESSES 

CZ744-«1747] 

1 CiiUMili<1iui«in o^ fiundd* 
khaniT, JliAiui, 

2 Two niinhle dcftilu, 
i Tlitf Ru;put war. 

4 
5 

() 

Social conra^r. 
Xl\9 A/^rift hrwhecSi Mniu|i 

uul TiiUji. 
Pilnji Jadliav. 

1. ConsoUdacion o/ Bujulelkhantl, Jhansi.^To con¬ 
firm the Maratba hold on Malwa and Bundelkhand Balajlrao 
pcmumcntly placed the three valiant Maiatha chiefs tiolkar, 

Sindia and Pawar to guand the region between the Narmada 
and the Jauma. From Bundelkliand it was easy to exercise 

a check upon the Rajputs in the west, to descend in a moment 
ii\lp the Doab and Oudh to the north and advance to Benares, 
Patna and even Bengal to the east. If a large Maratha army 
were permanenlly posted in Bundelkhand it could be quickly 

moved to any place outside where required. The Peshwa thush 
realized the necessity of creating a strong base in the north | 
and deliberately Kpent more than a year in accomplishing tills \ 
purpose. Unremitting efforts were made to obtain possession 

of tile central post of Orchha. stralegically convenient for exer¬ 
cising control around. Orchha is now a railway station about 

six miles east of Jhansi on the railway line running to Banda. 
The famoua ancient fort of Chanderi is thirty mites south-west 
of it, and Gwalior about 50 miles north, while sixty miles to 
the east are Jetpur and Kalinjar, all more or less fortified places 
which the Marathas now tried to possess. There were two high 

roads for entering Bundelkhand from the soulh, one by cross¬ 
ing the Narmada and proceeding by way of Ujjain along the 
present Sironj-BhUsa railway route. The other was to proceed 
along the Narmada m the east and enter Bundelkhand direct 

after crossing the river at Garha. It will be recalled that when 
the first Maratha success in the north was effected in 
1728-29 by Bajirao and his brother Chimnaji, the latter look 

Che first route and Bajirao the second. 
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Altliough Bajirao had obtained a foodi^ in BundelJchsmd, 

sdnce the Chhatrasal incident in 1729, the Marathas hardly 
made any headway in that region lor several years. Chhatra- 

sal's numerous descendants wiro held the main chiefahips in 
Bundelkhand were not disposed to accept tUe Maratha domi¬ 
nation without demur. Govind Ballal Kher was the officer 
appointed by Bajirao to manage the affairs ol Bundelkliand. 
He took up his station at Sagar and tiicd to colled the ant)u;Q 
Chauth. Orchha was then govenied by a small Bundda king 

named Birsinli Dev, wlio also possessed another smull post 
a!x)ut 6 miles to the west named Balavantnagar, whicli had o 
large hill adjoining it. Birsinh Dev built a fort in this hill 
which came to be called Jhansi. 

In the rainy season of 1742, when the Peshwa had esta¬ 

blished his camp in tJie vicinity of Orchba, he despatched a 
gmall detachment under Jotiba Sirdia, son of Ranojr, and a 
revenue accountant named Malhar Krishna demanding Chauth 
from Birsinh Dev, who had not paid it for some time. Jotiba 

and Malhav proceeded and toolc up their quarters in Jiiansi 
where one dark night in November 1742, Biracih Dev suddenly 
attacked the Maratha camp, killed several men and carried 
away the heads of Jotiba Sindia and Maliiar Krishna, after 
plundering all tlieir belongings, Hiis was an outrage which 

the Peahwa could not allow to go unpunished. He quickly 
despatched Naro Shankar to avenge the wror^. The latter 
took severe measures, attacked Orchha and carried away Bir- 
anh Dev a prisoner in chains and kept him closely confined 

on the hill-fort of Jliana. Orcliha was burnt and ra«d to the 
ground. The Peshwa's power was asserted to the full and all 
resistance was violently put clown. Negotiations were there¬ 
after opened by the raja, who was released and restored to 
Orchha, after having given up Jhansi to the Marathas, and a 
citable fine for the murders of Jotiba Sindia and others. 

Thus Jhansi henceforward became the principal Maratha post 
in this province and Naro Shanlcar was appointed its first 
governor. He proved a strong and capable ruler and held the 
office till 1766. He soon conquered the post of Churkhi (Char- 

kheri) in the neighbourhood where some of Birsinh Dev's 
relatives lived. The descendants of Birsinh Dev removed their 
seat to Teheri, as Orchha waii in ruins, and there the family 

still rules. 



CtiAP. XI ON TO FURTiilSR SUCCESSES 231 

Naro Shankar estabUshcd a town at the foot of the fort 
of Jhansi and invited there many Brahman and other families 
from the Deccan, so that Jhansi became an essentially Maratha 
colony in Bundelkhand and acquired a permanent name hi 
Maratha history.^ 

The year 1743 proved memorable in the new Peshwa’s 
caieer. He had met Sawdl Jaysinh the year before and ob¬ 
tained through him the imperial grant ol Malwa. He then 
de«:ended into Bihar and Bengal aa already narrated and ad¬ 
justed his diftcrcnces with Kaghuji Bhosle and Aliwardi KJiaa, 
IhuH ensuring an extension ol Maratha power in tl)e 
east. Ki'om the lieginnlng lu had sot Ins heart upon the sub¬ 

jugation of Bundelkhand, and would have stayed longer in 
the north, had he not been abruptly called away to Satara 

by Shahu who was then sobering from a severe illness. The 
Peshwn at Satara was relieved to find that Sliabu had recover¬ 

ed, Tbe months of July and August were spent at the capital 
in dfecting a lasting rccoadnation between him and Raghuji 

Bhosle. Pilaji Jadhav w'rites to Ramchandra Baba on 2iid 
August, "Tile Peshwa has been restored to the favour of the 
queen Sagunabai, who had taken oi^ence at bis conduct to¬ 

wards Raghuji." For the Arst lime the Maratha sardaiB made 
their monsoon camp in the north, breaking the usual Maratlia 
practice of returning home for the rains. The Pesbwa was 
requested by Mahadoba Ptirandare to order Holkar and Sindia 
tc stay in the north in view of the necessity of the situation. 

The Peshwa accepted Maliadoba's proposal and the aardars 
from 1743 onward took their permanent reardeoce in Malwa 

and Bundelkhand with all tiieir military following.* 

2. Two notable deaths.—The Peshwa^ was anxious to 
complete his work in tlie north, but for over a year could not 
disengage himself fiom the affairs of the CbhatrapaU and of 

l. After Nam Sbankar Lhe follo^iag M&ratlui ofRcen beld my at 

thie place: 
Mehadfljt Govind Kakirde, 175&1760; Bsbuao Konber Kolhalkar, 

1761-1766; \^va9rao Latahman (Nam Shankar's nephew), 1768*1789. 

Rachunath Hail Ntiwalkar, 17C9 oo, in whose family the chieMiIp be¬ 

came heredUary and whose last ckaceid&nt was the Raul L^Jeahmibai the 

hsrmnc of die mutiro' 

3. P. D. 21 9. 
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tlie Nizam. The Bundelas were up in arms» a^inst whom both 
Sindia and Holkar did their best to hold the ground. Bhllsa 
which had some time back coma Into Maratha possci^ion was 
wrested by the Nawab Yar Mohammad Khan of Bhopal. 

Ranoji Sindia after a alrenuous effort recaptured it on llth 
March 1745. Bhllsa forms the centre of Malwa and conti¬ 

nues Sind la's main outpost to the present day. 
Towards the end of 1744. tl« Peahwa again started on 

a journey to the north and toolc up his residence at Philip, 
lie had not only to deal with external enemies but also to 

remove the differences and intermU jealousies which were 
growing in intensity iKtween the three principal sardars. Sin^ 
dia, Holicar and Pawar and a number of minor sulx^rdinalcs 
all more or less l}ent upon per^iunal gains, with the result that 
severe mutual conflicts became common to the detriment of the 

public interests. 
The Peshwa first settled the affairs of Malwa and then 

turned his attention to Bundellchand, where 3 number of cliiefs 
such as those of Datia, Chanderl, Jetpur» Kalinjar, Panna and 
other places, offered a stern opposition to the prennt Maralha 
penetrations. It required long yem3 of labour and exi>ense 

before these opponents could ovettome. Their internal 
jealousies proved their greatest weakness of which the 
Marathas did not fail to take advantage," The Peshwa could 
not stay long in. tJie noith, but returned to Poona for the 

monsoon, leaving the affairs to the care of Ranoji Sindia and 
Malharrao Holkar. Damodar Mahadev Hingne thus reports 
the Emperor's view of the Peshwa's doings in a letter dated 
23rd June 1745 : "The Emperor asked me to take to the 
Peshwa his presents, elephants, horses, ornaments, &c., which 

I delivered to him in Bundelkhand and which he received 
with due ceremony, The Peshwa felt highly gratified at this 
Atgnai honour coming to him from the Empcior. Having set¬ 

tled Uie affairs of Bundelkhajid, he left for the south and 1 
am accompanying him."' 

At this time Ramchandra Bawa Suktankar and Gaiiga- 
dhar Yaslwant Chandrachud acted as the Peshwa’s agents 

3. As an In^sno*. nnt« the caw of Arjtin Sinh Dhandbue In K. S. 

Pairen Yadi Nos, 50. S7 and 58. 

4. Raj. vdI. 6. 174. 
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wilh Sindia and Holkar respectively, and watched over the 

«xccution of the Peshwa's ordm for ftuarding the best interests 
ci the Maratha State. Both were able men and bad worked 
faithfully since Bajirao’s days. Ramcbandra Bawa was parti* 
cularly adept in the collection of tributes and taxeSj and 
inspired awe and respect for the Maratha government among 

northern peoples by his methods of economy and diplomacy. 
Oangadhar Yasbvant was nf a difTorent type, posses^ng the 

qualities of an inirepid soldier and serving ilolkar with loyalty 
and devotion. Tliese two men for long executed the Pcshwa*s 
policy in the north. 

Ranoji Sindia and Ramchandia Bawa pulled together 
well and kept on cordial terms with each other. Ranoji died 
suddenly on 3rd July 1745 at Shujalpur, about 30 miles north 
west of Bhopal. He had long served the Maratha State with 
valour and integrity, having started his career under tlic first 
Peshwa Balaji Viehvanath, and is rightly regarded not only 
as the founder of the present house of the Siodias but also of 

liavii^ been a principal helpmate of Bajirao in establishing 
Maratha power in Malwa and Bundelkhand. Ranoji left be* 
hind him four sons, equally valiant and capable, Jayappa, 
Dattaji, Tukoji and Mahadj: who all distinguished themselves 
in later history. Minabai ^ias Nhnbabai was the mother of 

the first three and Cbimabai was the mother of MahadjI. 
Ranoji had a fifth son Jotiba who was killed before hia father 
at Orchha. After Ranoji*s death Jayappa became the head of 
the family and his rela^ona with Ramcbandra Bawa soon 
came to be severely strained as the sequel will show. 

It is necessary here to advert to another important death, 
that of Mahadev Bhat Hlngne, the first Maratha ambassador 
at the Court of Delhi, a distinguished diplomat, who accidental¬ 
ly lost hia life on Ist February 1744. He left his priestly pro- 

fefsion at Nasik and accompanied BaUji Vishvanath in his 
firet expedition lo Delhi in 1718 and came to be permanently 
postal there to look after the Maratha interests. For twenty- 

five years he conducted his onerous duties with courage and 
satisfaction, built up a tradition a diplomatic reputation 
at the Mughal Court which long survived his death. His 
house continued to serve the Maratha State through genera- 
tions adding to fiieir amba«adoriai duties the successful 

le 
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branch of banking. Mahadev's end was curious. He had 

gone on a viat lo Mansur All Khan, the grand Bakhslii oi 
Delhi. During conversation on a vital subject of politics he 
lost his temper and called names which the Bakhshi bitterly 

resented. He was at once cut to pieces by the Bakhshi'^ 
guards, while his son Bapujt was wounded in tlic scufile. 

Mahadev Bhat*s sons Bapuji. Damodar (Dada), Punisholt^ 
(Nana), and Devrao (Tatya), all earned reputalion for abllily 

and probity in later history. 

The setllemcnt of Bundclldiand was not at all an w»y 
affair- The fort of Jelpur resisted for a long time and round 
it raged a 8evere struggle. Tlie place was besieged by Sindhi 
and Holkar and captured by them on 5th May 174(i, They 
reported, ‘‘the Bundelas had stored an immense amount of 

ammunition at Jetpur. We lost a thousand men killed and 
some Four thousand wounded.” The chief of Datia took long 
to be reduced. Antri was captured on 24th January 1747. 
The plan adopted by the Maratha aardars was to prevent a 
strong Bundela combination. Each was singly combated and 
reduced. In this arduous campaign Ramchanrira Baba's 
genius proved most useful. But after the death of Kanoji 

Ramchandra Bawa became estranged from Jayappa. and lor 
a time it seeraed that on this aaount the Maratha interests 
Vt^ould suiter a severe drawback. As soon as the Peshwa came 
to know of this unhappy development, he invited both Jayappa 
and Ramchandra Baba to Poona and brought about a recon¬ 
ciliation between them. 

3. Tlie Rajput war.—-Two outstanding personalities, 
Raja Shahu and Sawai Jaysinh, growing up tugelher in a 
^irit of mutual respect and friendship, created the coixUal 
relations that long subsisted between the Marathas and the 
Rajputs and which facilitated the rapid extension of Maratha 
power in the noilh during the regimes of the ilrat two Pesbwa.s. 
Soon after Bajirao's death, affairs began to take a different 

turn Ijetween the Rajputs and the Marathaa. The reader 
should note the Rajput rulers contemporary with Shahu men¬ 
tioned in an earlier chapter. For a time the Marathas and 

the Rajputs had acted in concert and risen against the religious 
persecution practised by Aurangzeb, It has already been 





Madbosjab 
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narrated how in 17:0 the Rajput potentates held a two years 

conlerence at the Pushkar Lake and executed an impca'tant 
agreement tor preserving the hereditary purity of Hindu blood, 

viz., that no Rajputs should offer thar giria in marriage to 
the Muslims and that if any prince had more than one male 
i«ue, precedence should be given to the son bom of an Udaipur 
mother in determining the succession. Tin's contract, howevci' 

noble in principle, proved dis<wtrous in practice. This is welt 
illustrated in the case of the Jaipur Raj. 

The renowned ruler Sawai Jaysinh of Jaipur, for long a 
great Agure in Rajputana, the builder of his new capital, a 
great social reformer and patron of learning, died on 23rd 
tenubcr 1743, at tlie age of 55, leaving behind him two eons, 
Ishwarisinh, Che elder and Madhosinh the younger : the lattci' 

born of an Udaipur Princess claimed the ingdooi in conson¬ 
ance with the agreement of Pu«hkar, He was bom in 1727 
and Sangramsinh the Rana of Udaipur conferred on him his 
Pargana of Rampura and entrusted its management to Sawai 

Jaysinh, in order to make good his future claim to the Jaipur 
throne. Madhosinh spent most of his childhood and youth 
at Udaipur in the company of his mother. As soon, 

however, as Sawai Jaysinh died, Ishwarisinh selaed tlie 
throne and obUined the Emperor'a recognition for his suc¬ 
cession. But jacatsinh the Rana of Udaipur supported Madho- 
sinh’s claim even at the risk of an armed conflict. Thus a 
war started which continued intermittently for some seven 

years. 
As soon as Ishwarisinh occupied the throne after his 

father's death In 1743, Jagatsinh of Udaipur collected his 
troops and with Madhosinh marched upon Jaipur. lahwarc- 
sinh came out to meet the fore® of Udaipur. For nearly two 
xnontlis the two armies remained facing each other on the- 
plain of Jahajpur, conducting peaceful parleys, as a result of 
which Ishwarisinh agreed to hand over a few more parganas 

to Madhosinh; but the latter demanded quite a half and half 
division of the kingdom. Ishwarisinh enlist^ the sympathies of 
Sindia and Holkar and in 1746 defeated Madhownh who then 
sent his agents to Poona to obtain Ihe Feshwa's support. In the 
meantime Ranoji Sindia died and there arose serious differences 

of policy between his son Jayappa and Malharrao Holkar. 
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agents succeeded in obtaining the armed heip of 

Malharrao, while Jayappa supported Ishwarisinh's cause. 
Both Sindia and Holkar were heavily bribed by tlie rival 

Rajput parties and fell, a prey to personal greed. At such a 
juncture the capable minister of Jaipur, Ayamal IChatri, 
popularly known as Rajmal or Malji died on 9th February 
1747, an event which caused serious confusion in tlie affairs 

of Jaipur, l^warisinh’s troops marched against Madh(>>siiih 
and his ally the Rana of Udaipur; a blcwdy battle took place 
for two long days, 1st and 2nd March 1747, at Rajmahal on 
the river Banas near Deoli in which Ishwarisinh scored a deci¬ 

sive victory, and the Maralhas secured much plunder. Rana 
Jagatsirb humbly sued for peace. Ishwarisinh in his distress 
had already sent his vakils to Poona, pressing tlie Pcshwa to 
support his cause and agreeing to offer large amounts in return. 
On 7th March 1747, the Peshwa writes to Ramchandra Baba 

from Poona. '‘The Rana of Udaipur's vakils have come here. 
They urge that both Madhosinh and Ishwarisinh are equal 
sons of Sawai Jaysinh and must be justly treated. Ishwari- 
&nh should fulfil his promise of handing over parganas worth 

24 lacs to Madhosinh. You must support this claim and 
obtain from the Rana (for mef 15 lacs or more which hie 
vakils agree to pay.® 

Upon this Ranicliandra Baba replied, '' Madhosinh's offer 
is unreal. There is no chance of getting any funds from him. 
People here very well know that we have so long supported 

Ishwarisinh. It would now be scandalous to shift our ground." 
There was here a dear dash between Sindia and Holkar. and 
the Peshwa became confused. Ishwarisinh's exasperation knew 
no bounds. He sent an emphatic protest to the Peshwa. 

Holkar would not yield. He steadfastly supported Madbo- 
sinh, whose minister Kaniram proceeded to Poona towards 
the end of 1747. The situation became so tragic that the 
Peshwa decided at once to go to the north and himself decide 

the dispute on the spot. This is known as the Peshwa’s ex¬ 
pedition to N^ai, for here Madhosinh paid to him a visit. 

The year 1747 was full of grave happenings in the north. 
Nadir Shah was assasrinated in Persia and his portion and 

5. AHih^ik Patravyuv^OT. 68. 
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power were usurped by Ahmsd Shah Adbali, with whom fu¬ 
ture Maratha history came to be linked. Ahmad Shah claimed 
the Indian conquests of Nadir Shah and threatened the Em* 
peror with an immediate expedition, unless his claims were 
speedily granted. !n hie sore need die Emperor sent an 

urgent appeal for help to Shahu who ordered the Peshwa at 
once to proceed to IDelhi and extncate the Emperor from his 
difficulties. He started on lOth December, but beloi’e he 
reached Delhi,^ Che Emperor’s forces bad met Abdali and de¬ 

feated him at Manupur, on 3rd Mardi 1743. The Pediwa, 
however, arrived and wa« cordially received by the Emperor. 
Kajfl Shahu was higlUy grattfled with this account.’ 

At this time the dispute between Madhosinh and 
Ishwarisinh had reached its height. Tshwarlsinh had gone to 
Join the Mughal forces at the call of the Emperor, but was 
disgraced lor having run away from the battlefield as soon as 
the action joined. The Peshwa had large forces at his command 

and went from Delhi to Jaipur in order to coerce the two 
claimants into a reasonable agreement. Of a brave but haughty 

temperament, Ishwarisinh remained sullenly aloof, while 
Madhosinh paid a visit to the Peshwa and was cordially re^ 
calved at Newai, 39 miles south of Jaipur. Conferences took 

place for a week from 21st May 1748. A workable compromise 
was effected between Madhosinh and Ishwarisinh. The latter 

at the pressure of the Peshwa agreed to hand over four of bis 
districts to his brotlier, and Malharrao Holkar stood guarantee 
for the observance of the terms by tlie two brothers. Rupees 
3 l6cs was paid as na^ar to the Peshwa ; and he returned 

. to Poona on 9th July. In the meantime as Ishwarisinh would 

not fulfil his contract. Malhanao Holkar marched against 
him with his force and exacted fulfilment of the terms on 10th 
August 1748.* 

The Emperor Muhammad Shah was hastening to his 
grave, carrying away with him whatever semblance of imperial 
power and prestige there remained at Delhi. The Pathans 
were ri^g in power Co give the death-blow to the Mughals. 

6. P. D. 27. 29, 30. 
7. P. D. 2. 9, 
8. Ral. voL &~190. 191. SSL 
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The Wasir Safdar Jang was powerless to relieve the situaliou. 

In the south, king Shahu was siniUariy in his last moments, 
causing grave anxiety to all those who had so long sustained 
Maratha power. 

Jayappa was in open disagreement with Malharrao and 

tliey between them lost the Rajput friendslup for wiiicli they 
had to pay dearly at Panipat. The Peshwa was keenly ccms- 
douH of this situation and wrote from Ncwai a strong ac1m<5nt- 
tion to Ramdiandra Bawa condemning the open rupture lljat 
had developed between Sindia and HoUtar and of which tlic 
enemies of tlic MaraLhas did not fail to take advantage." TIic 

Pealiwa recalled them both to Poona for effecting a compifi- 
niise, but no amount of paper advice or sentimental appeals 
could heal the sore differences. The want of cordial co-opcra- 
lion between the sardars is indeed the root cause of llie 

Maratha disaater at Panipat. 

It would be convenient at this place to close the episode 
of Ishwarisinh, although it oveilaps the period after Shahu’s 
death to a srnall extent, The year 1749 passed peacefslly in 

the north. Sindia and I-Iolkar were in the south and the 
TVarir Safdar Jang was trying to establish his portion with 
the new Emperor Ahmad ShalL The Maratha vakila pressed 
Ishwarisinh for payment of the promised amounts, and as 

these were not forthcoming, the Peshwa despatched Sindia and 
Holkar during the rainy season of to the norOi with 
orders to e3cact the tribute from Ishwarianh, who was then 

deserted by his erstwhile allies and was driven lo desperation. 
In a fit of rage he poisoned his minister Keahodas in August 
1750 and persecuted his artillery officer Shivnath, and thus, 
became odious to all. There was no one in the state who 
could control the situation. In the midst of these troubles 
Malharrao Holkar approached Jaipur with his hordes in 
November and put severe presstare against Ishwarisinh for 

payment. " The latter would offer only a lac or two. MaJhar- 
rao’s wrath knew no bounds. He talked of wreaking vengeance 
for the death of Keshodas. Iahwarisinh*s officials would not 
venture to meet Malharrao for fear of reprisals, Ishwarisinh 

9. This 76 a )(3n^ unpubli&hed letter lent by the late Fentioiis end 
jfl printed at pages 70-73 of the RIyasat Madhya Vibbag 2. 
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vas at his wits’ end. Hearing that Malharrao was rapidly 
marching on, Ishwarisinh ordered a cobra and some deadly 

poison to be brot^t in. He swallowed it at midnight and 
got himself bitten by the cobra. In ibe early hours of the 
morning he expired. Three of his wives and a concubine 
similarly swallowed poison and died (December 14). Tlieso 
four, and 20 other maids burnt themselves on tiie funeral pyre. 
There was consternation in the city. Madhosinh arrivetl and* 
pacUied Ilolkar. .Iayapy« Sindia al»> arrived in due course 
when Madhosinh played a dastardly game against the friendly 

Maratlias. Pretending outward /i*iendsl3ip he invited Jayappa 
and Malliarrao for dinner and served them poisoned food. 

Jayappa detected the mischief in time and sardars managed 
to escape death, It was a providential relief, Another plot to 
destroy Uie Marathas was hatched the next day. Five thou* 
sand Marathas along with Jayappa were invited to view the 
city, Following a pre*arranged plan after their entoance, the 
gates of the city were suddenly dosed and a genaal massacre 
of th£ Marathas ensued, for about 12 hours from midday to 

midnight on 10th January 1751. About three thousand 
Marathas were killed and a thousand wounded, including 25 
pi*ominent commanders of Jayappa, a hundred Brahmans, and 

a number of women and children. Several tried to escape by 
jumping over the rampart, receiving severe injuries in the 

attempt. One thousand good horses, ornaments of gold and 
pearls and other valuables were plundered by die Rajputs. 
Two days after, the Marathas organized theraselvea in a camp 
a few miles away from the town. Madhosinh started negotia¬ 
tions, which proved of no avail.'"' 

After diese dreadful occurrences, which only served to 
create bitter resentment between the Rajputs and the Marathas, 

an accident alone prevented Jayappa and Malharrao wreaking 
severe vengeance on the Jaipur city. Safdar Jung at this mo¬ 
ment was threatened by the Pathans of the Gar^etic Doab, as 
will be narrated later, and sent urgent appeals and piteous soli¬ 
citations for Maratha help, to which Jayappa and Malharrao, 
ncjw acting in perfect amity, responded and marched direcUy 
from Jaipur into the Doab; and thus the affairs ol Jaipur 

10. P. D. 2^1 and P, D. 37. 64, 65. 
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came (o be relegated to the background. The Jaipur epi^de 

ciosetl, leaving serious rancour behind. The /riendslup which 
had lasted between tlie southern invaders and the Rajput 
chiefs had given place to enmity and bitterness. 

The Peshwa on liis way back from Ncwal halted at Dliar 
and formally handed that place back to Yashvantrao l^awar, 

.along with Mandavgad and its adjunct Songad. YaKhvaiilrao 
thereafter remained perfectly loyal to the Rcslnva and sacrific¬ 

ed his life at Pan!pat. Thus n sort of consolidation of Marnilia 
power in the north was effected during tiie life-time of their 
revered monarch Shahu. 

4. Social contacc._cultural exchange between 
Maharashtia and the otlier parts of this Indian continent must 

have been immense and is an interesting and usefiJ field for 
special rc^rch. Such an excliange had commenced in die 

days of Shivaji and continued uninterrupted for half a century 
particularly during Aurangaeb's invasion of the south and the 
first Peahwa'a expedition to Delhi in 1718. Thereafter It re¬ 

ceived an immense impetus during the stirring twenty years 
regime of the Peshwa Bajirao, who developed particularly cul¬ 
tural relations with the Court of Sawal Jayslnh. The latter 

perfonned a horse-sacrifice for whidt he invited learned Pandits 
from all parts of India. Jayeinh's personal Guru was a Maha¬ 
rashtrian pandit of Paithan named Katnakar Bhatt Malia- 

shabde. Rataakar's brother Prabhakar Bhatt and the latter's 
son Brajanath were Jay sink’s family priests, who all exerted 
themselves to bring about the famous vf»t of Bajirao to Jai¬ 

pur in March 1736. Jaysinh's minister Dinanath visited 
Satara. The mission of Deep^nh sent by that prince to Satara 
which has been aheady dealt with, v;ras a great cementing 

factor, as also the memorable pilgrimage of the Peshwa’e 
mother. A Kanarese Pandit named Harikavi was for long 
the chief judge (Prad-vlvaka) of Sawai Jaysinh. This kind' 

of common life and thought exchange continued to grow side 
by side with tiie Mughal-Maratha struggle which Bajirao so 
strenuously conducted. It is a subject which deserves a careful 
and independent treatment, how several cities of India, Satara, 
Poona, Bhaganagar, Burhanpur, Jaipur, Benares, Delhi, Tan- 
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jore and others wore linked together by an exchange of social 
lilt and trade. 

This social and cultural contact attained fresh strength 
during Nanasaheb's regime owing to many Maratba 

families now taking up theix permanent residence in Malwa 
and Bundelkhand. Large numbers of men had to migrate from 
their homea for miUtary, diplomatic and religious purposes and 
move from one place to another as duty and convenience dic¬ 
tated. These frequent and rapid movements a>uld not but 
have materially affected their social life. The poverty of the 

Marat ha lands was much i‘eiieved. People's life became ex¬ 
panded and enriched. Changes silently took place in tlielr 

language, dress, food and mannera by contact wilh toe world 
outside. Large edifices and palaces on tlie northern modd 

came to be constructed in Maharashtra for residential and 
religious purposes with well bid-out gai*deiu^ attached Co them. 

New ibwers and fruits were imported and planted. Deccani 
Brahmans rapidly assimilated military training and avidly 
took to a new life of war and diplomacy, giving up the exclu¬ 

sive religious pursuits of their ancestors’ days. The third 
Peshwa himself felt extremely charmed with the novel ways 
and varied pleasures of life in Che north as compared with its 
simplicity and ruggednees in the south. A letter written in 
a high flown sanest style by this Peshwa to his friend Nana 

Purandare from Bundelkhand on 2Z December 1742, accurate¬ 
ly reflects this social change and expansion of ideas that were 
rapidly coming over Maharashtra. It is here reproduced in 

substance: 
“You see here visibly the old Aryan Culture, Hindu kings 

well-versed in Sanskrit, not addict^ to but averse to the 
pleaaureji of drink and sex, fond of music and dancing. They 
alone experience real enjoyment, being devoted to their reli¬ 
gion and respectful towards Brahmans. Life here is rich and 

full. One finds here large gardens growing varieties of flowers 
and lohxaes. The rivers of these regions are full of healthy sweet 
water, which enrich the lands and their people, in comparison 
with which our Deccani rivers would appear to be poor slender 

streams. The people here are rich and (air in conplexion : 
they cam more than they have to spend. I wish you were 
with me here to enjoy and experience this highly pleasant life. I 
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liope you will talca an early opportunity to viwt these regions 

and enjoy the pleasures of life to which we have been stranKers 
In our land, As regards pditlcs, my father and grand-Father 
of revered memory had made a river of gold nm from tlw 
north lo tlie south now for 24 years, Even now that river 

continues to flow and scr\'e the leaders of our armies and the 
guardians of our posts: but it goes on increcising our thirst 
all the more, A similar stream of gold was brougiu inhp lltc. 
Maratha country Qom the extreme south by Uugliuji and 

Fatehsinli Bhosle, hut it mtwily vanished In Its distant jnumey, 
Fortunately tius ycaj* that stream of gold has been well Icept 

up by our armies ; but wlien it cutTOS through the arid regions 
of Pooira, I fear il will disappear before reaching Jiomc. Wlien 
the two streams, the one from tlie north and the other from 
the south, will have their uninterrupted confluence at Poona, 
as it the mighty sea-atream ^ould come to meet a poor well, 

then only shall we be freed from our haras^ng debts and attain 
salvation both in this world and tilt next, TJjc river Bhagi- 
rathi took its birth for meeting the ocean, hut goes on ferd- 
li«ng the valley through which it flows ameliorating the peo¬ 
ples' lot In Its coiirae, Similarly, moat rivers flow lo the 

ocean, but like tlie Kaveri beneflt the regioas through which 

they pass, This river of wealth also must essentially serve 
the peoples’ cause most. Men like you should exercise their 
minds in this direction and do their utmost to relieve tlie 

miseries of our Maratha country, 

Some other features of this social revolution iKcomc 

obvious when one reads the published materials referring Co 
the activities of this Peshwa. The military profession Is hardly 
conducive to the development of a moral tone In life, It la 
bound to bring with Its successes many evils and draw-backs, 

such as then particularly prevailed in the north, Writes tlie 
Peshwa on 11th June 1744 to Damodarpant Hingnc: “I 

aslted you at your departure for the north to acquire and send 
me two handsome Hindu girls ^ed about ten years. Please 
do not forget this mission and send the girls as quickly as 
possible," By asking Hindu girls only, the Peshwa probably 
meant to avoid the trouble that the Muslim Mastanl’s pre- 

11, Rij. wl, 6, 160. 
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Bence in Pocma had previously caused to his hoiaehold. There 
are many simiiar requests horn the south to the north lor 

^irls being purchaeed, trained in music and dancing and sent 
CO Poona and other places. Thei’e was also a constant detnand 
ior various articles of utility and Itjxury to be impoited into 

the Deccan, e.g. atiors or scents from Peshawar, saddles from 
Lahore for horses &c. Any rare artide unknown in tlie south 
was specially requisitioned by various persona, 

Pilgrimage to holy places in die north became quite fre> 
quent in these days of tlxe expansion of Maratha power. Rl- 
grims required piotecUon on the way and took advantage of the 

constant movement of troops that journeyed Lo and back from 
tlieir homeland lor military purposes. That is liow the prac¬ 
tice arose of ladies accompanyii^ military expeditions, often 
crKumberlng the operations as in the case of Panipat, The 
Peshwa's mother Kashitai perlormed her famous pilgrimage 
for four years in the north. Mathura, Prayag, Ayodhya, 
Benares and other places of Hindu worship were usually owned 

ior prestige by Muslim powers who derived revenue from the 
taxes on the devotees. Kashitai accompanied Babuji Naik to 
Uic JCarnataJc end performed visits to the southern slirlnes 

returning to Poona in May 1742. She immediately afterwards 
went to Benares when tbe Peshwa was camtung in Buodel* 
khand At Benares she spent some four years, often cau^ng 

(rouble to the Maratlia agents at different places. Her brother 
Krishnarao Joi^i Chaskar who looked after her affairs, was 
a man of eccentric and irascible temper, who posing as the 
favourite of P^hwa created trouble and noise which for a 
time became unbearable to the Muslim governors of the holy 

places. Safdar Jang who controlled the places as ruler of 
Oudh received intelligence that Kashitai had left her home in 
disgust after having quarrelled with her son, the Pcahwa. She 
was unwilling to return home even after hnishing her devotlona 

and it was with diflhculty that she could be persuaded at last 
to go back to Poona some time in May 1747.^* 

The Brahmans belore Bajirao’s days had the surname Font 

(Pandit) added to their names, but it changed into Pao 

12. P, D. 2. 1, 2; IS. 134.140, 152, 15S ; 20. 22; 27. S7; 40. 37 42, 
44, 47, A9. 50; RiJ, 6, 163. IW-I, 



244 New HISTORY OP THB MARATHAS (VOL. IT 

quickly and denoted that priesthood had given place to a sol¬ 
dier's life, which most yoiing men from Maharaslitra now 

rapidly adopted. What kind of education these rising lights 
received in their formative period, is a question wlilch the 
curious might lilce to iiave correctly answered. There were 

then no schools like tJie ones wc have under British regime. 
There used to be at certain places Pathalinlas or private clawys, 
where lessons were impiirted in Vedic and Saiudcrlt studies. 
But here only a few ymiiig members of the up^r ckiwcs of 
society attended. Education was not then regarded as « public 

duty. It was entirely left to private iniliative, each family 
making its own arrangements according to iu needs. WritiJig 
and reading the Balbodh and Modi characters, arithmetic 
and accounts and a working knowledge of the Sanskrit 

language were die subjects which were iLKually taught to the 
generality of the boys and in a few cases to girls also. The 
great Sliivaji had not received much literary education him¬ 
self. but tutored Iris son Sambhaji into a master of Sanskrit. 

Most of the high placed families had eacli an oiUdating 

priest, a Puramk. and also the staff of the accounts oJIice. 
These formed the teachers of Ihe youngsters of the family: the 
priest taught recitations from the Vedas; die Pia’onik ex¬ 

plained the epics (the AfahobhoTat and the Pamayan) and the 
PuT<ina$ to the ladies arid boys of the household and taught 
Sanskrit grammar in addition. 'Widows of the household 

spent much of their time in studying Sanskrit philosophy. 
Sagunabal Peshwa a pioua widow had a large private MS 
library of rare Sanskrit works of all varieties. The head clerk 
probably taught reading and writing in the vernacular and 

account-keeping. The Fesliwas had in their palace a large 
accounts office called the Phad/’ where a large number of ap¬ 
prentices was entertained and which proved the principal train¬ 
ing school for future officers of the accounts, diplomacy and 

derical departments in which the members distinguished them¬ 
selves In later life according to their aptitude. This Phad or 

18. From comes the word Pbadnie, one who handea the pkQd. 
Nina Phadnii took his early u^inlnfi ir. this oKa. His Mimame was 
Bhinu. FHad is a loeal corruption of tiK Persifio word, tard, meaning a 
Set or a Blip of paper in eeMral. 
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secretaridt was thus an institulion of uniQue value which 
built up and manned tlw various brandieft of the Maratha ad* 
minis Ijation along with the home training directly under the 
supervision of the elderly members of the family lo which they 

belonged. Life at home and abroad supplied the iiupreme 
practical basis of all training in those days, The Marathas 
had no institutions to their credit after the model of the TJiu* 
versitiea of Oxford and Cambridge. 

A few papers are available such as the recorded advice 
offered to young Sawai Madhavrao by his grand'Tnothtf Gopi* 

kabai or the code of morals enunciate by Madhaorao Vedantl 
and Daryabai of Nagpur.^ ^ These papers disclose the Lradi* 
tional type of editcation which an average Maratba was ex* 
pected to possess. One particular letter addressed to his 
younger brother Raghunathrao by the Pesliwa fioin Udaipur 
In May 1748 deserves to be reproduced in Ihis connecUon, as 
much to elucidate the sort of educational preparation of those 
days as to explain the evil tendencies to which Raghoba was 
subject from the beginning of his life. 

“ 1 hope you will well remember the various instructions 
I gave you at our last parting. Do not forget to ke^ up the 

daily revision of the Vidumiti, aelecrions from Chanakya and 
other persons thai you have learned. You must also learn 
more every day from the Shastris, and read the Maliabharat 
whenever you have leisure from the Virat Parva onward, and 

not waste time in constant reading. You must also keep up 
the practice of memorisjing accounts in weights and measures. 
Do not fail to render implicit obedience to dear Bhau, and 
to secure his good will in every point You must promptly 
execute whatever he tells you. You should take your food 

along with him and have no separate stable for your horses 
cither. Now and then you must spend some time in the com¬ 
pany of Bai. Tai and Anubai. Your health is not robust, and so 
you must not neglect to take medicine. Whenever you wsh 

to ride out, you must go in Bhau^s company. If you are 
asked to visit Satara, you must obtain Bhau’s permission and 
take with you Chimangiri or Ganghadhar Bhatt with his con¬ 
sent, When you reach Satara you must not call on the queens of 

U. Palre YaH 18% 393; Ait. PolT^vyaoahat 432 ; Rik}. vol 1 p. 96- 
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your own accord, uniesss they send for you or unless Govindrao 
Qiitnia advises you to do so. You must dress properly as 
becomes your position and age. In point of worship, mwiiti- 

tion and prayer, you must do the needful quietly and in soli¬ 
tude : and while ao engaged you roust keep absolute concen¬ 
tration and not talk of otlier matters. Whatever little you do, 

do it regularly and unostentatiously. Always keep active a 
de.slre to learn aiud a readiness to obey and to eain the good 

opinions of all elders. Be ever alert, and store your mind wilh 
Icnowledge, inquiring from elders whenever they are disp^^sed 
to teach. You should always exhibit a spirit of humble pupil- 

ahip. Your younger brother Janardan works more and leams 
more, and In this way he will soon outstrip you. How can 
you then command respect In ilk ? •' 

Another letter addressed by Sadashivrao Bhau to Bajaba 
Purandare on 17th April 1760 tells us a little more about the 

system of education then prevailmg i^'^You must write to 
me frequently and communicate your news. We have mv 
arrived at the Narmada and are marching oo. You must learn 
to read, write and ride and go to Poona whenever required. 
You must not while away your time In play. The grandma 

Will fondle you too much and spoil you by loeping you from 
studies. Therefore you niust attend to reading, writing and 

riding in particular."'’® 

5. The Aflgria brothers, Manajf and Tulajr.—Tlie 
Angria brothers' dispute at Kolabs proved a perennial source 
ol trouble to the Peshwa and to Shnhu’s court In general. 
Sambhaji Angria Sarkhel died on 12th January 1742 when a 
dispute once more arose about the succession to hte oMce. 
He had been posted to Vijaydurg with the title of Sarkhel and 

his brother Manaji at IColaba as Warar^t Maab, thus the 
Angrlan estate came to be divided into two. As aoon as 
Sambbaji died, Manaji went to Satara and requested Shahu 

to make him the Sarkhel, as the eldest surviving member of 
Kanhoji's family, Shaliu waa ever anxious to get back from 

the Siddi's possession the two important posts of Anjanvel and 

16. P- E). 31 Z : 18, 134-140, 1S2, 158; 20. 2E; 27- 27, 40. 37 48, 
44-SO. Pjj. 6. 163, 160. 
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Govalkot, which even the Peshwa Bajirao had failed to capture 
during the war of 1733 and which still remained outposts 
of the Janjira State. Shahu had to choose between Manaji and 
his brother Tiilaji, and declared thsit he would confei* the 

Sarkhelship upon him who would capture those two places. 
I'ulaji at once undertook the enterprise, YamajI Shivdev, ihe 
Pradnidhi's mutallk stood guarantee for him, and Shahu con¬ 
ferred the SsrUieVs digntty upon Tulaji some lime in 1743 
and helped him with fundj« and troops, so that Tulaji with 

great heroiwn captured Anjanvel and <aovalkot on 251h January 
I74n and immccliatuly communicated the happy news Co the 
CWxalrapali.'^ 

Tulaji thereupon went to Satara and paid a visit to the 
Maharaja on 3rd May 1747 wl^n great respect was shown to 
him. To all appearances, the visit passed nfT very cordially, 
but Tulaji’s grievances against the Peshwa were not removed 
tu Ills faction, an evidently the king was in bis last stage 
of dotage and powerless or incapable of iiandling state alTairs. 

Tulaji was a man of haughly temperament and would not 
bend before the Peahwa in the least, The dlsqiute about fort 
Manikgad near Panvel assumed an aggravated /ons. It be* 
longed to Manaji Angria and was forcibly taken out of his 

hands by Ramaji Mahadev at the instance of the Peshwa on 
28ih May 1748. Manaji at once proceeded to Satata and 
worked hia way throu^i the Influence of Rani Sagunabai. 

The storm assumed such violent proportions lhat the Peshwa 
had to yield and after three mnnthK wrangling, gave back the 

fort to Manaji. In the meantime Tulaji started d^redationa 
openly in the Peshwa's territory. At the end of 1747 he 
captured Mudagad, on the top of the Sahyadri range at the 
entrance to the ICajirda pass, a little to the south of Vishalgad. 
As in this region the ^atinidhi, the Amatya of Bavda, the 

Savant of Wadi and the Peshwa had each their respective juris- 
dictions and as they all suffered more or less on accotiot of 
Tulaji’a aggression, they combined their resources and waged 

a severe war against Tulaji from January to March 1748. 

16. UnpubHshed letter Vaidya Cod. Sbabu was b^y sr«t!fl«d 
at this KureesS and named lliu plsoa Gojwif&d (Aujenval) end Govlndged 
(Covolkct) but these new names did not come into popular use. The 
placQs still go by their old names. 
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Naw Rayaji Tliakur Code, the Peshwa's keeper of Mudagad 
led the attack valiantly and reaptured the fort on Ist April. 

It is a pity that the two brothers Tulaji and Manaji could 
not act in unison: othenviae they would have proved invincible 

being both brave and capable commanders on land and water. 
They became bitter enemies to each other so that Manaji took 
shelter with the Portuguese at Chaul, or fort Rajkot as it 

was then known, Lest Manaji should prove troublesome, the 
Peshwa at once ordered Ramaji Mahadev to proceed a^^a^nst 
Rajkot. He performed his task well and captured Rajlcot on 

IBth January 1748. By order of the Peshwa Rajkot and the 
Masjid in It were ah puJled down and Chaul came into the 
possession of the Peshwa from the Portuguese. Manaji had 
no longer any support outside and fell back upon the good 
wiU of the Peshwa. 

6. Pilaji Jadhav_History has not done justice to 
the raeritofioua services rendered to the Maratha stale by 
Pilaji Jadhav both in war and diplomacy during the legimes 

of Ae first three Peshwas, much of whose initial success in 
the expansion of Maratha power is due to the loyal support 

and devoted co-operation of this chief of Wagholi. The sober 
policy of Shahu was doubtless inflamed by Pilaji’s views. 
They present a severe contrast with those of Dabhade, 
ChamJrasen Jadhav and others, no less prominent in Shahu’s 
Darbar. Pilaji with his conciliatory temperament and deep 

understanding of human nature, cleverly and successfully 
handled many a delicate situaUon arising out of antagonisms 
which developed between Bajirao and the Muglxal chiefs. For 
over thirty years he acted almost as the accredited Maratha 
plenipotentiary rwgotiating peace now with Nizam-ul-rnulk 
and again with Aliwardi IChan and other grandees of the 

Mughal Court. The rapid rise of some younger men like 
Holkar and Sindia eclipsed the part which this veteran worker 
played during the difficult times of Shahu's early career. To¬ 
wards the end of his life Pilaji was an invalid and died some 

time after 1752. 



CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER xr 

1732 

ITiG 

1737 

1739 

mo. April 

1740. May 20 

1740, May 25 

1740. Juno 

1740, November 16 

1740, December 

1741, JanuHfy 16 

1741, February 

1741. Mareh 14 

1742, August 
1743. early months 

1743. August 20 

1744, September 

1744, December 
1746, Febiuary 15 

Rhja <jf TricIiino|K>Iy dies, 

CItunda Sabeb Uikce fMeacssion of Tricldno* 

nt)iy. 

HIiuIju undertaken an cxiwliUon Into the 

KarciaUik. 

^^ahu deputes Kaicsinh miiJ Rag])uji Bh(«lc 

to collect tribute from Uk Xamutsk and de¬ 
fend tlie Raja of Tpnjorc* aKamat Chanda S, 

Fhtcsinh and Raghuji come upon Areot 

Dost AM falls fisHting agaiu^ the Marathas : 
hia son Safdar Alt taken altcitcr at Vellore, 

Ladies and valuables of the Nawab seek 

protection at Pondicherry. 

Raghuji comes upon Pondicherry. 

Secret pact bec^veen Raghuji and Sa/dar All. 

Raghuji besieges Trichmopoly, 

Pmtap Sinh of Tanjore purchases Ragliujl’a 

help. 
Chanda Saheb*s brother Baba Saheb falls 

ftgliiing asainsi the Marathas. 

Trldiinopoiy surrenders to Raghuji: Chanda 
Saheb and his son Abid Alt aeni prisoners 
tn Nagpur : Murarrso Gherpade appointed 

to the charge of Trichinopoly. 
Safdar Ali murdered, 
Nizam-uUntulk descends Into the Kamatak, 
Nissm takes possession of Trichinopoly from 

Murarrao, 
Chanda Sabeb transferred to Satara. 

Babuji Naik starts for the Karoatak. 
Musaffar Jang and Aawaruddin rout Babuji 

Naik near Basawepattan, 

17 
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1745 

1746, Decembw 5 

1747, May 

1748, May 21 

1748, June 
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Babuji Naik a^in sustains /allure in the 

Kamatak. 

Sadashlvrao leaves ibr the Karnatak. 

Sadashjvrao returns from the Kamatnlc with 

success. 

Nizam-ul-mullc dies. 

Chanda Saheb e/Tects bis escape trAm Saiara 

■and returns to ttic Karnatak. 



CHAPTER XI 

CONTEST FOR TRICHINOPOLY 

[1740—1748} 

1 Tiift RUe nf Cliantla Snhc^. 3 Qiuxla 5«hch's coiiJiiumenL 
2 Riuhuii nhosle mpturfii 4 Tricltinopoly Iik(. 

xck^innpo^X* ^ Dahu|i N&ik ud the 

1. Tbc rise of Chanda Saheb.—Tht part of India known 
in liistcry as tlic Kamnlak or Kannad, ia the country inhabited 
by the people who speak the Kanarese language. It 1$ bound< 
ed on the north by die river Krishra and extends southwards 
through the Indian peninsula from sea to sea. It Ik traversed 

by the Sahyadri range in the west as in MaharafJitra, and 
in the east by the Eastern Ghats which is a lower line of hills, 

Ihe lands above this lirie are known as Bala*Ghat or uplands 
and those below as the Pine-Ghat or lowlands. 

This region of the Karnatak was assigned by Aurangaetr 
to the Subahs of Bijapur and Haidarabad and when after Che 

.Emperor*.^ death, Nizam-uJ-mulk became independent in the* 
Deccan, he claimed all this region of the Kamatak as his Mu¬ 
ghal heritage. It was divided among themselves by several local 
Nawabs, who had been orktinally the governors appointed by 

Aurangzeb. Five of these Nawaba were comparatively more 
powerful, vis., Uiose of Arcot, Shiia, Kadappa, Karnool and 
Savnur. Along with these Sliivaji’s lather Shahji held a jaglr 
from the Bijapur rulers, coning of the five parganas of 
Bangalore, Hoskot, Kolar, Balspur and Shlra, which descended 

to his sons and continued as the principality of Tanjore. for 

the rulers of which the Chhatrapatis of Satara ever enterfained 
an affecdonate kinship and extended their helping hand when¬ 
ever they needed it. There were, besides, some ancient chief- 

ships more or less independent such as those of Mysore, 
Bediiur, Chitaldurg, Raidurg and 'Harpanhalli. The Peshwa 

Sajirao arrived on the scene to exact the Maratha claim of 
Chauth during the years 1726 and 1727- Shahu had always- 

be«i anxious to establish Maratha rule in this region. 
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In 1737 he himself started on an expedition into the Kar- 
natak, but as he possessed nather the capacity lo lead anmcs 
nor the personal valour necessary for success, he could only 

proceed as far as Miraj within two years. In 1739 he deputed 
Raghuji and Fatesinh Bhosle to exact tribute from the 
aoufliem prindpalities, on the stipulation that half the pro¬ 
ceeds should be utilised for their expenses and the other half 

should be remitted to the treasury at Satara. The cxpres.'^ 

instructions are these 

" As you are the trusted servants of the State, His HlKh" 
ness has no doubt that you will achieve success in this enter¬ 

prise. The Maharaja's cousin of Tanjore is being harassed by 
Chanda Saheb of Trichinopoly. Fatesinh Bliade is ordered to 
meet the Tanjore Raja and chastise Chanda Saheb/'* 

Nawab Dost Ali was the Mughal governor of the Kamatal: 

with Arcot as his capital. His son-in-law Hussain Dost Khan, 
popularly known as Chanda Salieb, rose to prominence in the 
Nawab's administration after the year 1732. He effected re¬ 
forms in the revenue system and with the help of ^ French 
at Pondicherry improi^ his army, so that his power soon 
increased on all sides. There luled at Trichinopoly a petty 

Hindu chief, whom Chanda Saheb managed to suppress and 
from whom he acquired that rich and strong post, where he. 
took up his own residence in 1736.* 

The story of Chanda Salxeb's aggresaon on Trichinopoly 
is typical of hig character and is thus recorded in “ Moiras 
in Olden Times ”:— 

" In 1732 the Raja of Trichinopoly died witliout issue. 

His second and third wives burnt themselves with his body, 
but the first senior Rani Minakshj succeeded to the Kovernment, 

in conformity with the deare of the deceased Raja. Disputes 
subsequently ensued between the Rani and a prince of the 
Royal blood. Dost Ali the Nawab of Arcot was prevailed 

upon to take advantage of the confusion to subject the king¬ 
dom of Trichinopoly to his own authority. Accordingly he 

aeitf an army under his son Safdar All and his son-in-law 

A, Art, Patrav. 26: Raj, 6, Nagpur BaJ^har. 
2. Wakaskar’s Rislory of Tanjore. p. 296; Love’i T'fiS/«|rs of old 

A/edrae II, p. 275. 
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Chanda Saheb to setae any opportunity which might offer oi 
fuelling possession of the capital 

“ The result was ti^cal Clianda Saheb who already o\v^ 
liis advancemeDt to lus matrimonial connections alone, was 
fortunate enough to excite the tender regard of the Rani. Ac¬ 

cordingly lie was enabled to prevail on the love-strickeji lady 
to admit him with a body of troopa into the dty of Trichino* 
poly, luiving first taken an oath on the Qoran that he would 

act in nolhiiitc to her detriment- But the loves of middle-aged 
queens are not always fortunate and Chanda Salieb proved 
cruel to the llani. He broke the heart of tlie Rani by remain¬ 

ing where he was. He «ci2C(I the rity of Trichinopoly and there 
imprisoned the lady, who thereupon died of grief and the king¬ 
dom of Tficliinopoly yielded to tlie authority of die ffuthlesa 
Clmmla.” 

2. Raghiiji Bliosle captures Trichinopoly.—From 
Trichinopoly Chanda Saheb cast his covetous attenlion on 

Tanjore and Madura. In bis extremity l?ralap^h tlie Raja * 
of Tanjore threw himself upon Shahu's protection. Clianda 
Saheb's ambition and audacity proved so inordinate that he 

became an enemy also of the Nawab Dost All and his whole 

hoasehold. So when the sad tale of Chanda 5aheb'» aggres¬ 
sion reached Shnbu, he despatched Kaghuji and Faleeinh Bhosle 
with large foices and with instructions to oust Chanda Saheb 
from Trichinopoly and make Pratapsinh'a portion secure. In 
April 1740 the»e Maiatha forces came sweeping upon Arcot, 

when Its Nawab Dost Ali encountered them at the pass of 
Damalcherry. The Marathas offered to settle their demands 
by negotiation, but aa the Nawab would not accept a compro* 

mise, ten thousand Maratha troops upon the Nawab and 
beueged him. A stiil and prolonged fight ensued in which 
Dost Ali, his son Hasan Ali and several prominent command* 

ers lost tlieir lives; the Nawab's army was scattered and his 
Diwan Mir Asad was taken prisoner. This happened on 20th 

May 1740. 
This Maratha success at once electrified the southern 

atmosphere. Bajirao had already subjugated northern India and 
now it was bdieved tliat Raghuji had conquered the southern 
portion of the continent as well. The late Nawab’s son Safdar 
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AH, who was hastening to succour his father, leamt of the 
latter's /ate and took shelter in the fort of Vellore. Chanda 

Saheb quietly waited at Trichinopoiy watching the turn of 
events. But fearing that the late Nawab’s ladies and ali his 

precious property would fail into Maratha hands, both Safdar 
AJi and Chanda Saneb despatched them immediately to the 

protection of the French at Pondicherry (25 May). Uumius, 
the French Ooveinor of tlte place hesitated for a moment 
whether he should accept this risk and face possible Maratha 

ver^eance. But the French bonds of iriendsJiip wiili the 
Nawab were strong and Dumas took charge ol the aonana 
and the wealth of the Nawab. Prom Damalchcrry the Mara- 
thas rapidly came to Arcot and captured the place without 

difftcuJty. They were, however, extremely disappointed that 
the hoarded wealth of the place had been already removed. 
Raghujl at once wrote a threatening letter to Dumas, who 

made a dignified arid firm reply, urging that he knew no other 
master but his King in France whose cctfnmands he sliould 
obey. At the same time he presented Raghuji a few bottles 
of the best Champagne of France, which, as the stoiy goes, 
so pleased Raghuji's wife that she asked for mon: of tliat 

foreign nectar, and Raghuji’s wrath wa-s pacified, The inci¬ 
dent reached Shahu's ears and shook his faith In Raghujl's 
integrity.* 

<thanda Saheb fired with the desire of securing the Nawab- 
ship for himself after Dost All's death, entrenched himself at 

Trichinopoiy and prepared to proceed against Arcot- Jn this 
predicament, Safdar Ali sought Raghuji's support against 
Chanda Saheb's aggression. A seaet agreement took place 
between them on 16th Novembei' 1740 purporting that Safdar 

AH should pay by instalments one crore of Rupees to Raghuji, 
if the latter succeeded in capturing Trichinopoiy and the per¬ 
son of Chanda Saheb and in making Sa/dar All’s position as 

Nawab safe. It was also agreed that the Raja of Tanjore 
should be protected from all outside molestation. 

3. Afi inteiestiog account H available of thii ejuaede of Raghuii'a 

attacit on Pondicherry. See Sardeiai’s BriiUk fHyastU, Vol, I, p, 409 

and also Kliarc's LekkiangTaiui Vol S, page 4439. Purandars 

Diary in Raj. 6 ^Ived details of this Maratha expedUloo. 
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Chanda Saheb felt extremely alaimed when he received 
the news of thie ssecret agreement, lie lost no time in suppli* 
eating Dumas to help him in hia sore x>eed. This is indeed the 
first example of Euiopeau Powers directly intervening hi 

Indian politics, too made cummori cause with the 
Hindu Poligaia and was joined by Pratapsinh of Tanjore with 
whatever forces he could get together. Two agents of Pratap* 
sinh, Timaji PHiiRnath and Gangappa visited Raghuji and 
formed a compact with Jiim lo this effect:—"Capture Trichino- 

puly, remove Chanda %Salieb, and Piatapsinh would readily 
give fifteen Ircm cash, Uircc laca of which would be a personal 
iiazar to Pajn Sliahu, two lacs to his Rani^, two lacs to Fate* 

sinh and Pi^huji, and eight lacs for the expenses of the troops 
(IG January 1741).*' 

Raghuji invested Trichinopdy in December 1740, having 
been joined by most of the Hindu Poligars and potentates, 
Gianda Saheb too did his utmost Co defend the place; but he 
could not long hold out as Ids supplies were ediausted. He 

called his brother Bada Saheb urgently from Madura: the 
Marathas got scent of his coming to raise the siege and des¬ 
troyed hia whole army after putting Dada Saheb to death, 

Chanda Saheb thus became altogether helpless and delivered 
the place to Raghuji on 14th March (Ramnavami). It was a 

grand success for the Maiathas, Murarrao Ghorpade was im¬ 
mediately placed in charge of this new acquisition and ordered 
to defend it at all cost. Chanda Saheb was talten into custody, 

3. Chanda Salicb's confinQiiient.^-MuramLO Ghorpade 
tA^a a valiant and resourceful soldier, well acquainted witli the 
internal affairs of that region. He sent a request to Shahu 

to grant him the office of his Senapati, but Shahu dedined the 
request as he did not wish to deprive Dabliade of that post, 

although the latter was quite incompetent for it. These here¬ 
ditary ofhees had now lost their original purpose. Raghuji 
was in sore need of money at Trichinopoly, and for that pur¬ 

pose demanded a heavy ransom from Chanda Saheb and lus 
son Abid All, who were prisoners in his hands. They were 
unable to pay the amount, and Raghuji, well knowing how 

dangerous it was to leave this wily politician ^ to pursue 
hid never-onding intrigues, at once despatched the prisoners to 
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Nagpur under close guard of hiA capable captain Bliaskar 
Ham. Chanda Saheb's family escaped this fate as they had 

been already removed to French profe^ion at Pondiclierry. 

A recent discovery of original correspondence on tlie sul>- 

ject of Chanda Saheb’s imprisonment in tlie Deccan enables 
Us to determine its details with accuracy.' Bhaalcar Ram l<H)k 

the father and tl« son to Berar direct and ix»t Ui SiitHra, in 
order, it seems, that no one else miifht lay a claim U> a share 
in the ransom, for which the captive was being coiLsUuiUy 

pressed. Chanda Saheb had no funds and so hud to put up 
with his captivity for nearly seven years. Beyond the 
security of his person there was absolutely no restriction on 

his contact with the world outside, In fact he was given all 
fadUries for this purpose to enable him to procure his fine. 
He freely negotiated on this account widi the French at Pondi* 

cherry, 'with the Court of Shahu and also with that of NSzam- 
ul-mulk. For a time Chanda Saheb thus became a pawn of 
value in the hands of seveial bankers. He seems to have 

passed his first three years in Berar, the actual place not found 
mentioned. In September 1744, Raghuji agreed to accept 
lacs, on Chanda Saheb’s account and 3 on account of Abid 
Ali. The bankers of Satara advanced the amount to Raghuji 
and took cliarge of the prisoners. Thus they were removed to 

the Satara fort towards the end of 1744. He wrote constantly 
to Pondicherry to pay him the amount as a loan on the secu¬ 
rity of the jewellery that he had left in French ca^tody, But 

it seems he received no money from the Frendi Governor 
Dupleix, He then made friends with the Peshwa and trietl Ut 
obtain release through hfm. The death of Nizam-ul-mulk on 

21st May 1748 Created a stir in the Deccan and early next 
month Qianda Saheb effected his escape from Satara and pro¬ 
ceeded to the south collecting troops on the way. Probably, 

the Satara banicen never received ^clt the loan they had ad¬ 
vanced, as fliey continued to press the demand upon Chanda 
Saheb for a good long time after his escape/ 

Shahu personally took no interest in Chanda Saheb, be- 

4, Vaidya Family pap&rs, Modent lisTiew, December 1943. 
5. ProceMfinff^ H. R. C. 1943-^Paper od Chandaaaheb by C S. Sri- 

juvaaochari. 
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yond maisting that Trichinopoly should be permanently ttana* 
iorred to Maratha role. The performance of Ra^uji emd 
Ratewnh gave them a high place in public estimation among 
the Maraias. “ It broxight in large funds. The two leaders 

were received by Shahu at Satara with high encomiums- Shahu 
was highly gvatilied that his cousin Pralapanh of Tanjore was 
freed fmm fiie danger of his enemieR, and conferred the mokasa 

ol Bcmr and Gondwajia upon Raghuji right upto tlie fronliers 
of Cuttack. 

4 Trichinopoly losi.^When Tiichinopoly was lost in 
1741 Nl^am-ul'niulk highly resented this Maratha encroach¬ 

ment upon wlmt he considered as his own ptes^e. Ever «nce 
llTc disaster of Bhopal this nobleman was fast losing hia power 
and prestige, While Knghujj was citRaged in reducing Chanda 
Saheb to humiliation, Ni2am*ul-mulk was having a war with 
his son Naair Jang, When Nasir Jang was put down, in July 

1741, there arose a Irind of bitter jealotey between the Peshwa 
and Raghuji Bhosle, which to some extent relieved the Nizam’s 
anxieties. He even felt secret satisfaction that one of his 

competitors in the Kamatak, Chanda Saheb, had been happily 
removed, But what the Nizam resented most was that 
Murarrao Ghorpade and FYatap Sinh came to be firmly planted 

at Trichinopoly and Tanjore respectively, so that when the 
Peshwa and Raghuji came to oppose each other in Bengal 
during the early months of 1743, tlie Niram utilised the oppor* 
tunity of their absence in undoing the Maratha work in the 

Kamatak- The Nawabs of tliat region did not a{^nowIedge 
Nizam-ul-mulk’s authority. Dost AU had never paid tribute 
to the Nizam. The latter now demanded it fr£Bn bis son Safdar 

AU. but he was murdered in October 1742 by his cousin 
Murtaza AJi, who seized the Nawabship. In the midst of these 

disorders Nizam-ul-mulk started from Golkotida in January 
1743 with a large force and descended into the Kamatak aiming 
at the recapture of Trichinopoly. 

Murarrao CHiorpade the guardian of that place learnt of 

this danger and applied to Shahu for help. But all Maratha 
forces were then engaged in Bundelkhand and Bengal under 
the Peshwa himself and no succour could be spared for Murar¬ 

rao. Nizam-i^-mulk reached Arcot in March with an enorm- 
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ous army computed at 80 thousand horse and two hundred 
thousand foot, whom the poor Nawab could not oppcwe. Tl\e 

Nizam took possession of Arcot and appointed his own 
nominee Anwar-uddin Khan'' to the governor^ip. At the ssime 

time he called upon Murarrao to deliver up Tricbinopoly. 
The latter could not resist the demand and spent four months 

in negotiations, at the end of whicli the Nizam gniiUud him 
liie post of Ciutd and tor>k from him the possession of Trichi no* 
poly on 29lh August 1743.' 

Ni2am*ul-mulk retraced Ids steps from TrichiiitJpoly and 

halted for some time at Arcol, where the KngUslt and the 
French traders sent him presents as the over-lord of the 
southern regions. His large forces quickly reduced the cnunlcy 
around, causing thereby enormous losw to the Kuropcan 
traders. In the following year Nizam-ul-mulk posted his 

grandson MuzalTar Jang at Adoni with instructions to look 
after the governraent of the eastern Kamalak, and himself re¬ 

turned to Golkonda in Febn^arj’ 1744. 

5. Babuji Naik acid the Pesbwa_King Sliahu was 
distressed to hear of tlie loss of Tricbinopoly. He had then 
by him only two men of some wekiht, Katwinh Bhoslc and 

Babuji Naik, both of whom were incompetent to undertake an 
enteiprize, particularly as the Peshwa wa.s not inclined to co¬ 

operate witii th^n. Babuji Naik thrust himself forward, and 
in a weak moment Shahu allowed him to proceed against 

Nizam-ul-mulk. But the Naik suffered a severe set back after 
some two years campaigning, in which only the bitter anti¬ 
pathy between the Naik and the Pesliwa became more marked: 
tlixs produced a vast literature, which tlie inquiring student 
may notice.® 

d. Tina Aftwar-uddin was ia e>^ricnced and capable nobkmaa who 
bad miftated to Delhi and made fnenda with Nisani-ul-mulk during the 
period that the laUer was Wasir (17S2). He accompanied Nizain*ul- 
midk to the Deccan and was appdntcd by him to the management of 
the Subah of Haidarabad, a woilr which he carried out e^cientty since 
1725. 

7, PtfT6sn.\^ ili/tfu SMgtaka. AH. Sthalas. Tctchlnopoly. 
8. The tangled web ai Karnalak politics Is wall Uluatrated in the 

following documents; 
P. D, 40. SZ^Z. 45. 48, 52. 63 ; P. D. 28. 17, I7A, 20-34, 36-44 : 
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Babuji Naik started from Satara towards the end of 1744 
with the intention of taking Trichinopoly back from Niaam- 

ul-mviIU’s possession. Muiaffar Jang aii Anwar-uddin with 

H large following of most of the Nawabs and Jagirdars op> 
posed (he Naik’s lender forces near Basawapattan, about 15 

February 1745 and inflicted a severe defeat upon him. The 
Maik returned to Satara in discomniure* renewed his effort, 

and suffered a similar miserable failure again during; the year 

1746, He incurred huge debts which he was un^le to pay 
and had to enduiu great ignominy and misery, whidt he attri' 
Inited to liic apathy of Shaliu and his Pe^wa towards his 

interests. He threatened to starve himself to death and had 
evcii recourse to poison. It was detected in time and his life 

was saved. 
In the end the Peshwa's silent diplomacy Irivtfnphed. He t 

won over the Ni^am^s minister 5aiyad Lashkar Kl^an and / 

through him nuillfied all the efforts of the Naik to improve hiej 
position either at tlie Nisam's Court or anywhere in the Kar* \ 
natak. Shahu became helpless in the matter, and ultimately 

consigned the whole affair to the discretion of the Peshwa, who 
tliereupOQ equipped an expedition and despatched his couain 

Sadashivrao Bhau into the ICamatak on 5th December 1746, 
with Mahadoba Purandare and Sakharam Bhau as his ad' | 

visers. 
Sadashivrao posses^ superior resources and performed 

his task with efficiency. He quickly established Maratha govern¬ 
ment in the western ICamatak and returned in May from 

Basawapattan after gaining the first valuable experience iu 
leading an independent expedition. Trichinopoly, however, 

never again cartie back to Maratha possession. 

?. D. 25. 10-79,; P. Dl 26, 19-29^ PaUe Yadi 45, 45, 62, 68, 64 (dated 
18^^1744} AiL pjtrav. 53, 55, 65, 59, 05; Puiandsre D&ftai, 1. Ida, 

le, 1«. 
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CHRONOLOGY' 

17^1 

1727 

17H Nt^vcmUrr 26 
i14>. DcMmlMi' 24 
174^, JunuHry d 

L740» November 25 
174C< Difwmbw 17 
1746 

J747, Fd>.-A|)i ll 
1747, May 
1745, April 25 

1742, May 21 

1742, AujtuaC 25 
1749, AuBust 

1749, Ott. 10 

1749, Dec, 15 

CHAPTER XII 

Shahu builds a palace at Sltohunasor below 

Uic Tort ol Satara, Tile palace liumt down 
In 1B74. 

Runi S:ifiunaljai htirc Shnliu a son who died 
when three ycott old. 

CiHOBadliar Swnmi of Chaplial dies. 
Sliobu's mlsticdia Vlrubai dicti. 
Jivaji Klvtndo Chitnis dies. 
Shrlpsuao Pmtlnidhi dlua, 
JasJIvan made PratJnIdhi. 
Sainbhsii <>t KolhaiHjr at Satara for six 

months. 
Dalajirao out of oflice. 
RiRhujl BhofilH at Saiaia. 

Emi»ror Muhammad Shah dies. 
Nisatn-uhmulk din. 

Kanl Sogunsbai dies. 
Shahu*s condition grave. 
Shahu nominates Ramraja to succeed him. 

Shohu dies, Sakwarbai becomes Satl. 

1. The atudeol ehould nets that then often oceeijs a confusion of 
ndays in the dates asaieoed to cventa by the various writers, some using 
the new style and some the old one about the middle of this century. 





CHAPTER XII 

END OF A GLORJOUS REIGN 

£1748—1749} 

1 The iMt (Uys oi Slkahu. 5 ptOj^cay. 
2 Scntrli fckT ft successor ^ Cnnceknpomry opiixlon. 
5 rinnl docLinDs 7 of cliftractM. 
4 The death iii Shahu. B Sluihu’» benevolence. 

^ 9 ShahO'NagM. 

I. The last days of Shahu,_Since 1743 Shahu*8 health 
had been visibly declining. In that yeai* ht8 Ute was despaired 
of lor some days and tlie PesUwa was summoned to Satara pre¬ 
cipitately from bis important occupations in the north. Happily 
the king recovered for a time, althouj^ his iafirmitus went on 

increasing. Wliat preyed on his mind most was his failure 
to obtain a male issue to succeed him. 

The year 1748 witnessed a big void in Indian politics, 

Emperor Muhammad Shah died on 26th April followed im¬ 
mediately after by Njzam-u!-mulk on 21st May. Ahmad Shah 
Abdali a risir^ Pathan sovereign appeared on the scene. 
Sindia and Hollcar developed a mutual ants^onism which cost 
them the friendship of the Rajputs. In the midst of these oc¬ 

currences in the north king Shahu died on 15th December 1749, 
Sh^u’s successor on the Maratha throne, proved an utter, im- 
b«ile. A& lttd' Peshwa wielded the supreme power of t^ 
Maratha State, he could not escape the responsibility lor any 
eventual deterioration in Maratha power and presdge, 

Many factors combined to sadden the last years of Shahu. 
His two Queens, Salcwarbai the elde* and Sagunabai the youneer, 
mttt'fered in the administration and carried on incessant intri¬ 

gues thereby often worrying their husband to death. He loved 
the younger wife better as she was soft-hearted and not so 

violent openly. Shahu's household was for loi^ satisfactorily 
controlled by his illegitimate wife '\^rubai, a capable woman, 
who most carefully and lovingly looked after the personal com¬ 

fort of the king and who exercised a healthy control over the 
two queens. This Viruhai's death on 24th December 1740, caus- 
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ed a rapid decline in the management o( the royal liouxhold. 
Gradually Shahu became so enfeebled and helpless that he 

would not allow the Pe«h\va to move away from his side for fear 
of some unforeseen danger overtaking him all of a sudden. 

His own ill-health, his two queens’ intrigues, Tarahai’s inde¬ 
pendent move to secure power, the selfish animosities of some 
of the powerful chiefs sucli as Raghuji Bliosle, Murarrao 

Ghorpade, the Angria brolhers &c., these and oth<?r Hubjccln the 
Pesdiwa was called upon to handle, and It must be said U> his 
credit that he did all Uiat was possible to safeguard the public 

interests under the daiimatancea, with the cf»uivscl and co¬ 
operation of some of bis own supporters, such as Slrtdta, IlolUar, 
the Purandares and ChitnU. Let us review how the final posi¬ 

tion developed,* 

On Slst October 1746 the Peshwa wrote to Ramchandra- 
baba, I have been unavoidably detained at Court. The 

debts contracted by the Maharaja, the enormous sums required 
by the queens, and their constant quarrels, have ho engross 
the Maharaja's attention, that he has no time to connidei* the 

matlers of State which I put before him. I have n great dcKire 
to journey to the north, but that does not aecn^ possible. I 
am now given leave to proceed to Poona, as I have the Konkan 

affairs of ui^ency on hand,*'® 

On 25 November 1746 Pratinidhi Shripatrao, Shahu’n 
friend and cMnpanion in lUe died. Me was politically a non¬ 
entity, but in private life he was a constant a^ciate for 

over thirty years to Shahu, who thenceforward Rcrfously felt 
that he must soon follow his friend. Tlic Maharaja apiK>inled 
lus younger brother Jagjivan alias Dadoba to the vacant post, 
(17 December 1746), Sliahu felt great re^ject and love for 
the holy seat of Chaphal founded by the revered itamdaa. 

Gangadliar Swaml was a pious occupant of the institution for 
a long lime. When he died on 26th November 1754 disputes 

arose about the succession, which Shahu settled by a personal 
visit; and he appointed the deceased’s son Lakshman Bawa 

2. Itcfld ol» Furwtdare Dallar, Vcl. I, 159 sod scqiMb. The Maha¬ 
raja Ihdught Nanawtieb alanc hi* support wid agent (or oxlricatinj* hiirr 
•out of hla difRciiltloa, 

3. P. D, IB. 86, 85. 
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lo the headship of that lioiy place. Jivaji Klxanderao Chitnis, 
Sljahu’B hereditary secretary died on 6th Januat7 1743. Anotiter 

devoted servant of Shahu. Naro Ram fortunately outlived him 
by a year. Sh&hu had a favourite elephant named Madari. 
Me was a huge beautiful animal, and always most docile even 
when in ruts. One night he pot loose, fell into a well in the 
city and died, an inddciit which threw Shahu Into the deepest 

despair about his own future. His Court was of the nature 
of a private himily, and these incidents deprived, him of all 

_reliHhJnJjfc. On 2iid August 1746 Mahadoba Purandare thus 
flescrib^ Sliahu's condition : •' For die last few dayw His 
lliphnc»> has been potting a little temperature in the afternoon. 

BlUtCi's have been applied to his etomadi. Every day he re¬ 
ceives one complaint or another from the palaces (the two 
ilurvnK), Wlu’u such a complaint comes, he loses all nerve and 
cries out. ' Why does not (lod lake pity on nw and end my 

days ? ’ In su<i a state he does not tidte medicine and neglecta 
his health. He often gives vent to his feelings by crying out, 

' These two ladies will starve me to death.’ Recently the 
hankers itave become impatient, lest they should lose their ad¬ 
vances in the event of the king's demise. Hence they are using 

all contrivances to have their loans repaid. These are bad 
omens for the State. God knows what these will lead to ? 

There always existed a faction at the royal Court opposed 

to «my measures that the Peshwa might propose to relieve the 
situatiun ; and tixe moment Shahu was in extreme exasperation, 
the Peshwa's opponents poured into the king’s ears all sorts 

of bitter complaints against the Peshwa and attributed mis¬ 
chievous motives to him. Shahu got disgusted with such re¬ 

peated complaints, and much against hia will yielded only once 
to the pressure of the opposition and made a trial of bow 
matters would fare by deriving the Peshwa of bis office in 
the early months of 1747. The Peshwa willingly acquiesced, 

He resigned office and for a time kept aloof from ffie affaira 

of State, watching the course of events from outside. Tradi¬ 
tion mentions that the Peshwa was reading in a tent near 

Satara walling to receive a call from the Wng. Shahu sent 
him a message by Govindrtio Chitnis that he was deprived 

4. P, D. 8, 60. 63. 

IS 
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of hiK office and that he need not come to wak upon His 

Ilii^ness. Instead of rebeilinCi Pesiwa quiofiy accepted 
the order and returned all the insignia pertaining to Ills office. 
Tht report did not take long to readi the public. OHicers and 

bankers were altogether upset to see the administration bivak- 
ing down; lor, to the world outside it was the \'oice of tlie 
Peshwa that was dominant. There wem visible signs of cliucw: 

all trust and confidence disappeared in a moment. The I\v!nva 
wisely sunt a timely warniiiK to the king. 

Within a couple of mnntlw all people and the puhlic felt 

convinced that the I^jsluva was tlic only loyal and honest ser¬ 
vant of tlie Stale, and wiffiouL him the adminiKlialton could not 
go on. On 13th April 1747 he was given formal leave lo go on 

his mission with the robes and pow*erB of liis office. IIuw cau¬ 
tious the Peshwa was, is well illustrated by a note written by 
him evidently for the king's information to Govlndrao Chitnis 

plainly indicating tlie issues at stake : 

“ I was sorry to hear you could not get an audience of 
His Highness and explain to him the posilicij'i of affairs. 1 
liave very nearly ijettled tl« demands of the tu'o queens. 1 

am not sure they will not put forlh new claims, which I cannot 
help. Aa regards His Highoc.sK' personal debts I will ccrtamly 
do my best to relieve Ills HighncicV anxietica if I am allowed 

to go out. My being lied down to presence would not help 
the sdtuation at all. To say that 1 should first pay off the 
debts and then move from hence, la an impossible pmpo$dtion 

beyond my power to execute. I want at least a couple of 
montlis time to move about and arrange matters. 

As for Bahuji Naik’a complaint, I am ready lo give 
whatever undeitaking is needed that 1 shall never encroach 

upon Ihe province definitely set apart for him- At present 
Sadashjvrao Bhau is in tlie south ; the Nkam also is obstruct¬ 

ing our operations in that quarter. Let me go from here, des¬ 
patch Klaji Jadhav with succours for Bhau and then I will 
immediately return to execute whatever His Highness wishes. 

" The news of my having been dismissed from office has 
spread widely : it will encourage Ihe Niaam and other enen^. 

Speedy measures are required to counteract the evil con¬ 
sequences. 
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"U with all tliese plain issues before His Highness^ Iio 
will not grant me leave to go. I wQl understand that Providence 
is wrath against the Maratlm State and completely resign my¬ 
self (0 whatever fate may bring. 

"Please explain thU to His Higliness and let me have 
• a reply/’ 

TJUs iKite cloaily explaine the trouble raging between the 
King and the I’cshwa.® 

At this iinvi Sluihu imriiedly sent lor Itaghuji Bhosle 
fmm Nagiwr with a view to cnlruKliiig the msuvigement of tite 
State Uj him in pirtercncc to the Feshwa, liaghuji arrived in 

May 1747 with his son Mudhoji, whom Shahu wished to 
adopt tiA his Hucceasor. Mudhoji's motlicr was the sistei' of 
ShiUui's Itani Saguiiahai. lliis visit of Usyjhujl appears to 
haw Jam'll all 1(m> slv^rt; he did nut consider it worth hla 
while to underUiJvc the responsibility of managing the conceros 

of Uic Maratha State, as his own independent field of Nagpur 
supplied him with a more Iua alive arena for his talents than 
Hatara, where he bad nothing to gain and possibly everything 

to lose. Itaghuji had «i secret understanding with the Peshwa, 

whldi kept him from meddling with the affairs of Satara. Nor 
did Uughuji ;)spire to secure the succession of the Maratha 

State for his son Mudhoji." Shahu Icnew he was dying and 
like a pious Hindu lie ardently desired that he should pay off 
hia debu l>crnre his death; otherwise he would be doomed 

to eternal perdition. So Shahu restored the Peshwa tn his 
office, himself going to his tent and effecting a complete re¬ 
conciliation with him. This v'as done in April 1747/ 

2. Search for a successor._“When the Peshwa fell out 
of favour with Shahu his numerous opponents suddenly rose 

on all sides, caimng an unprecedented confusion in the affairs 
of the State. Tlie Angria brothers started fresh troubles in 
Klonkan. Sarobhaji of Kolhapur and his Rani Jijabai invited 

5. Patrmiyaudm &5 snd 59. The deUiiU of the Idsc’s 

debts esn be read in Pvrandffre Daltsr 1, 
6. The Veidya papers mention Mudbojl'd presence at Satara. Fbr 

iht r<shwa<RaKhujl relations vide Nsipur Sakkar, new edition pp. €3-64. 
7. P. D, 31. 137 end A P. 61. 



263 KBW HISTORY 01- THE MARATHAS 1V0I-. H 

Murarrao Ghorpadc and planned an attack upon Shahu's terri¬ 

tory out of revenge for Sada^ivrao Bhau'a iiUorvention in 
the Kamatak. Nizam-ul*mulk and h'ta sons were not alow 
to take advantage of this deteriorating situation. Abdali’s in¬ 

vasion of Delhi at this very time was for ihe I^uKhwa an 
additional disUadion. Evidently a crisis developed In Ihe 

fortunes of the Marallia State. 

The Peshwa could easily nrconcllc Sambliaji of Kolha¬ 

pur. This prince came to Satetra in 1746 and stayed Iheiv for 
«x months. Durinj; this visit, Iho Peidiwa ansured him IhnL 
he would support his (Snmhhaji's) succesxi<m aftitr SluUm's 

death. Rani Sakwarbai also supported this secret move. Il 
was not ihen known that Tarabai would play a diflcrent game 
by putting forward a.s an heir, Ramraja whose existence even 

was not then suspected. Salcwarbai, it sliould he remembered, 
declared from her funeral pyre at the time of hor Sati, " that 
Hamraja was a pretender and that Pambhaji alone was the 

rightful claimant to the Satara throne.” Thus Nanasaheb 
quietly pacified nearly all his antagonists and nlarted on his 
Newai expedition at the end of 1747, He oven elTccted in a 

personal interview, a very friendly underKlanding with Nnsir 
Jang immediately after the deuth of Nisam-ul-mulk in May 

1748. He conciliated Musaffar Jang also in a private visit. 

Gradually the dying Shahu became qukk-tempered and 

peevish, Wriles lus personal attendant Kagorao Meghashyam, 
"The king's health is growing very delicate every day. He 
does not tolerate a large number of men about him. The Rani 

Saheb alone is in constant attendance. Even Sukhanand (Ihe 
jester) is excluded. He hsa started the work ol building a 
permanent structure at MahuU as Vinibai's memorial. He 
talks of visiting Pratapgad and Jejuri.” 

Purandare writes probably from Jejuri to the Peshwa In 
1743.—*' The younger Rani Sagunabai has been ailing witlt 

fever and heatiche for some days, She is not able to talk and 
has grown very weak. Phyaiciam? say that the malady cannot 
be quickly cured. If she does not impiove, the Maharaja will 

have to come here. She has hardly any stamina left in her.”“ 

& P. D. la. 88, 1S3. 
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A news-letter of 23 June aays, “ His Highness had been 
for Home time at Medbe. He wanders from village to village 
and linds no rest. He jikgsJo Uv&io.g. grass-hut. The rain 

adds to his troul)Ies. Most of the attendants have erected 
wmiJar huts lor tliemselves. Out of regard for the King, Deorao 
alone is in constant attendance. Ramoji Shirice, his lather- 

in-law (father of Sakwarbai) expired on 21st June 1748. It 
weins the ICiiig will live in the hut all tlie rainy season. His 
fondness for hunting continues, The Rani lives in the palace 
at Satara and visits him here twice every day," 

J'hus irUiahu ardently longed for retirement t^ a 
.CyaijUpraaLh ashram as it is calledl in ?irv»nrHiancp. .mifh fhi> 
Hindu sclicme of life. He got finally disgusted with palace 
life and its intrigues and selfish bickerings. CKuing these last 
Uvn yeaiN he was constantly attended by his confidential secre¬ 

tary Orwindrao Chitnis and his intimate advisers, Devrao 
Meghshyam and Yashvanlrao Potnis. The Peshwa was called 
up from Poona whenever necessary. At last the ailing Rani 

Sagunabai was removed to Jejuri as well for a change as for 
seeking divine fevour at that famous shrine. But here she 
grew worse and died on 25lh August 1748. The Maharaja 
himself escorted her dead body to Mahuli where the funeral 

took place the next day. 

The last bond of Shahu’s earthly a^ections was thus 
finally snapped and it plunged him into a deep gloom, although 
he retained his keenness of perception and judgment to the 

last moment.® 

During August 1749 his condition liecame grave; and as 
there seemed a chance of disturbances occuning over the 

question of succession, Shahu sent for the Peshwa from Poona, 
with a sufficient armed force to preserve peace. During Sep¬ 

tember and October, various plans about a successor were sug¬ 
gested and considered by the King and others, the outcome 

of which may thus be briefly summarized.*® 

9. P. D, 8, 60, 63, 
10. There ie ample HtereUixe on this subject The Ch’tm Sakkar 

/nil and aulbentic and Ja useluiiy auj^cnented by tbe piher bakher 
published ill Bharata^Vamhe by Parasnis vhich joca under tbe name of 
Govindiao Qiltnis. The Shediaon Bakhar and the babhan of the Prati- 



270 NEW HISTORY OP THE MA8A1TIAS | VOl.. II 

Shahu had a son from Sagunabai in 1727, but Uit? diild had 
died at the age of three. Thei’eaftcr he had twycml dnughtei's 

but no son. He tried to adopt an l«ir from liie Kajput faniilicy 
of the north and brouKht to Satara one Neilmji, i>rolhcr of 
Kana Jaeat Smh of Udaipur. But Nathaji wun called upon 

to intcceed to the Japr of Bagor and Sliahu's plan failed. 

Jaipur papers say that he similarly tried thrc»uidi Sawai Jay- 
sinh to adopt annllUT Kajput heir. Shahu gave tlur wvlul't 

tcj the claim (tl Sambhuji of Kolhapur to sua'ced to Uk* Satara 
raj and unilc* the two houses, liul Shahu had never found any 
special capacity or discerning p<nvtt in Sjimbhuji; tlic lolUt 

tcK> had already advanced In age and had no son himself, >40 

that he again would possibly lutve to adopt a sucenssor a tew 

yeare later. Tlierefore Shahu declined to support the proposal 
of Sambhaji being entrusted with the headship of the Maratha 
government. He had heard of the many descendants of Vithoji 

und Sharifji Bhosle living at different places, out of wliom he 
thought of selecting a suitable boy and for that purpose sent 
round trusted men for enquiry- He ct>i)duct«l liiis search 
through his intimate arlvincra, Covindrao Chitnis, yashvariimo 

Potnis, Devrao Mcghjmhyam and others who were in close al- 

teadance on him. 

There wax then living at the fort of Satara, the aged c(uetn 

Tarabai, nominally a prisoner, but otherwise a respectable old 
relation. When she learned that Shahu was looking out tor 
a boy to take in adoption, ahe sent the King a ines.sagc that slic 

had a grandson, who was born of her son Shivaji and who 
had been brought up secretly at Pangaon for fear of Sambhaji 
of Kolhapur making an attempt on hia life. !t was obvious 

that if such a son was indeed available, he would certainly 
be the rightful heir, being doser to Shahu In relationship than « 

boys of distant families. Shahu sent his Chitnis Goviddrao to 
Tarabai and got in writing Ihe statement given by her. Then 
he invited Bhagwantrso Amatys to Satara who was privy to 

the secret bringing up of Shivajfs posthumous son Ramraja** 

nidhi Hnd the Anutya, Itlhisa-San^rahe. P. D. Selection.'^ Bovda Dekar. 
Ihc volumtt of tbe P«bw&y Emories, tk chronolofices ^ conuJn rok* 

Vint matter on Die last days of Shaho. 

IL Hs :eid rwme wsk Rajanim, but ei Tnrabai according to ITtndu 
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Bhanwantrao was asked to vouch for ihe truth of the 
story by a solemn cath taken to the holy waters of the KrUlina 
at Mahuli. When this was done, Sbahu’s natural doubts 

were removed. But hia Rani Salcwarbai openly declared that 
the whole affair was a hoax, concocted by tlie wicked Tarabal 
in order to satisfy I«f vanity and ambition of securing power 
in her own hands. Sakwarboi also plainly told Shalm that.^be 
would adopt snt>lber boy and frustrate the plan of Tarabai. 

She took the Rialmidiii and his Mulalik Yarnaji Sbivdev into 

liur umfulciice and plotted ajtainst tlie advisers of SMm such 
itx (rtjviudrao^ Vaslivanlmo and even the Peshwa. Witlx this 
object tkikwarlxii bcann to enlist troopa and increase her fol¬ 

lowing. preparing for an armed wnflict j| that would be found 
ncixssnry. Siahu pacelvcd the danger of his posution and 

sent quidc orders to tJic Pes^iwa at Poona to collect a strong 
force of trusted men and rei»ir to Satan without delay in 
order to meet Uie danger. The Peshwa left Poona on 21st 

August with his brother Janardan and his trusted Sardars 
Hollcar and Sindia. *Ke then stayed at Satara for lull 

eight months, performing the obsequies of Sbahu after his death 

in December, then bringing in Pamraja, placing him on the 
throne and thus preventing what miglxt have developed into a 
war of succesMon. It is obvious this was a time of unprece¬ 

dented anxiety, on the part of the Peshwa. 

Sakwarbai remained in immediate attendance on Shahu 
in hia last days Nobody could keep her away. She brought 

Shahu from his thatched cottage out^e into the palace of 
Rangmahal, on the slope of the Satara fort and exercised full 
control by closely watching him and his plans. She prevailed 

Chitnis, the Peiwa and any of their partisans from having 
access to Shahu'a presence. She even attempted the life of 
the Chitnis and the Peshwa. In the meantime Shahu matured 
his own plan of bringing in Ramraja and ascertained the views 

of all responsible leaders interested in the future management 
of the Maratha raj, Whenever Sakwarbai talked to Shahu of 
her own plan of an independent adoption, he quietly reasoned 

with her and tried to convince her that her plans far from 

cuxtnrr would not henelf utter the name oT her busbaod, she transposed 
the letters and made It Hamnja. 
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witli success, would create trouble lur Ikt and 

implored her to desist. But Sakwarbal was a woman 0/ a stron>$ 
unyidding bent of mind and would not listen to the »;ubcr 

advice of lier husband. In the meantime Shahu sent Govind- 
rao Chitnis round to all piominent leaders such us the Sar* 

lashkar, Fatesinh Bhosle, the Pratinidhi, and the rest and usked 
their advice if there was any beltei* plan for them to sujotest 

and if any one of the cnitKidcix was ready to accept the ivsixjii* 
sabillly of Jtovcntmenl in opi^osition to the Pealiwa, fCvi-ry 
one replied tliat tJic Pesliwa aUine possessed Ihe resnurci's nnd 

the capacity to meet 11 ic sUiiallon and l<xik after I he interests 
of the Maratha State. Govindrao Chilnis faitliiully repealed 

to Sltahu the various individual opinions that iht iiupHrlinl 
national leaders entertained on this vital subject. Shahu ex¬ 
plained to lus Rani the details of the situation as suggested by 

the public opinion and the general interest, but nhe was 
obdurate to the lust moment, although she realized very well 
that any bold step on her part undertaken in opposition lu 

the Pfifthwa and the wishes of Shahu, could not suwwed and 
that slie alone could not conduct the alTalrs of lht» SPiti*. 
She therefore called Sambhajl from IColhapur immediatel}' and 

arranged to take charge of the government, When Shahu learnt 
tlmt Sambhaji was coming to ndze Satara, he immediately des¬ 

patched Bapuji Kiiando Chi Inis with an armed force to pn*- 

vent Sambhaji from coming on. Sambhaji wisely returned, 
and happily a dvil war was averted. 

3. Final decision._Although weakened in body, Shahu 
fortunately retained bis mental powers to tlie la.st. lie realized 
tluit if he brought in Ramraja and completed the adoption in 

his presence, Sakwarbal would most certainly create trouble; 
and grave mischief or even bloodshed would be the result. He, 
therefore, wrote In his own hand two small orders commanding 
the Pesbwa, definitely to lake cerUiin steps in regard to his 

succession, These two small papers liave sir)ct been published 
in their original form and leave no doubt that they are in 

Shahu's hand and represent his genuine disposal of the knotty 
problem in agitatiori for over three years. Botli the papers 

seem from internal evidence to have been issued about the 1st 
October 1749 or possibly on the 10th October, that is the 
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Dassarfl day of the year. They bear no date. 
Rescript No. 1: 

“Balaji Praclhan Pandit is hereby commanded—You 
should collect troops; several others were similarly asked but 

they do not accept (die responsibility), i could not write this 
before. Nor do 1 now hope to recover. The concems of the 

Stale must be protected. Therefore you should take steps to 
cuntiniie Uie succession. Do not bring: in Koliiapur. I liave 

explained maUers to the Chitnis. You should conduct the 
affairs of Uie Stale under the orders of the one who would 
succeed \o the throne. I have every conAdeiice in the Chitnia. 

You should work in co-operarion with him. Whoever becomes 
the Chhatrapali, he will not interfere with your management. 
May you act wisely." 

Rescript No, 2: 
' Balaji Pandit Pradhau is commanded. We fed confl* 

dent you will caiTy out the responsibility ol the raj. I was 

sure of this myself, and the Cbitnis confirmed me in my view. 
You have my blesange, and my palm is laid on your head. 
Wlioever comes as Chhatrapati will continue you in the office 

of minister. If he does not. my curse be on him. You should 

continue your service in obedience to him. Do preserve the 
Stale. What more can 1 write? You are wise enough.”'“ 

Shuliu survived thiB decision by a Uttlc over two months 
from 10th October to 15lh December. It is clear from this 
that Ire cle^rves credit tor having made the best possible 
arrangement for the future of (he Maratha Slate in the circum¬ 

stances then obtaining. The Peshwa's attitude too appears 
perfectly dear. His sole concern was to faithfully carry out 

the wishes of his dying master. II Is unjust to charge him 
with having purposely brought forward an incompetent suc¬ 

cessor and thereby usurping tlie Chhatrapati's power. Ram- 
raja was not more incompetent than any other average 

Maratha of his day, or even a real son of Shahu would have 
been. The Peshwa or anyone else, knew UlUe of the man then. 

4. The death of Sbahu.—The death of Shahu is thus 
recorded m the Chitnis and other hakhars. "Shahu expired at 

12. I. $. Ml. Sphui Ltkk, 4. 5. 
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lu« j^alace of Rangamahal at Shnhuna^ar on IStli i>eccml)cr 

1740."’^, when all were very sad. He was a /aUier and protec¬ 
tor to young and old. to man and woman, \o olHcers and ser¬ 

vants, great and ^all. Such a king never lived, lender hia 
government even criminals were not harshly treated, ilc hud 

no enemy. UnprecederKed lamentations were hoard- Shalm'a 
aunt Taral»i came down from the fort to have a Inst Itxik at 
him. Govindruo CliilniH went ond conversed widi Iut. She 

advised (jovindran " to uriiiiige that v^kwarbal should Ik'coiiu' 
Sail. If she lives, she will create trouble for the mj. Nor 
should Saml)hajl l)c asked to come from Kolhupur. ( have 

a young grand-son ))roujshl up at Pangaon, He should lx* 
fetched and placetl 0!i the ihrone" 

The Qiitnia reported this propoyil to the Pesliwa who 
consulted the Praljnidhl. Katesinh Bhoale and others. They 

unanimously supported T&rabal’s suggestion about Sakwarbai’s 
becoming Sali. Her brother Kanhoji Sbirke was sent for. lie 

went and communicated the proposal to his aiatcr. She re¬ 
volved it in her mind and concluded that If slw refused and 

lived after her husband, slje would have to sulTer unUiId miseries 
at the lifinds of the Pcsliwa, who was strong enough to contml 
the situation. The brother returned and ccffomunicaUd hor as¬ 
sent. Then preparatiems were made." Along with Sakwarbai 

two of Sliahu's concubines, Lakshmi and Sakhu also buiml 
themselves on tlie same pyre. A statue of Shahu wae after¬ 
wards erected on the burning ground, where it still stands." 

There is no evidence to show that Sakwarbai was forced 
by the Peshwa to bum herself. The latter immediately on 

Shahu’s death put Sakwarbai’s partizans under arrc-st, viz., the 
PratinJdhi and his Mutalik Yamaji ShWdev. When she saw 
that she could not manage to snatch power out of the Peshwa’s 

hands she preferred to die. The Pe^wa had no need to com¬ 
pel her to that course. He could easily have restrained her, 
if she iiad lived and made mischief. The custom of Sati had 

a strong hold on higher society of those days, as we notice 
several prominent Mardtha sardars such as Kanhoji Angrla, 
Hagbuji Bhosle and others being followed at their death by 

IF. Friday meniinc 8 o'ricKik. Marcos^lrsha Krlslino 3 of Shak IH71 
ShiTkla Samvointu. €7 ycuiu uiid 7 mniUhK old. 
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a number of their wives and maids bumiag themselves on 
their husband's funeral pyres as a mark of respect for the 
dead. An elderly lady like Sakwarhai, the only Rani then 

living of the pious king was bound lo follow the time-honoured 
custom, die merits of which have Co be judged by the moral 
standard prevail ing at Uiat period. 

5. Sl>ahu's progeny.—Sliahii’s mother Yesubai bore 
Iw) diiidren from SamJihaji. the cider a daugltter named 

Bhavginil^ai married to Shnnkaraji Mnhadik of Tarla. She be* 
dime Siiti. Sambhaji had an illegitimate wife, who with her 
aon Madansinh was also captured at KaiAad by ZulAqar IChan 

and taken to the ICmperer’s camp. Shahu took in all four 
legitimato wives, Aml)ikabfli Sintlo, Savitribal Jadhav, 
Salcwarbai Shirkc and Sagunabal Mobile; while Vinibai. his 
highly lionoured. although illegitimate wife presided over his 
haim. Hift marrhu<e witli tlie first two took place some lime 

about 1703 In the Emperor's camp. Ambikabai died 
shortly after and tlie otlier wife was taken to Delhi whence she 
reCurned to the Deccan in 1719. Shahu on his return home 

married two wives in the Dectan below fort Purandar, Sakwar- 
bai the elder and Sagunabai the younger. He had besidca two 

concubines Lakshmibai and the younger Sakhu. Prom Sagu¬ 
nabai Sliahu bad a son In 1727 who died at the age of three. 
Sakwarbal had a daughter GajrabaJ who was married to 

Malharrao Bands of Wadgaon. Sagunabai had also a daughter 
named Pajasbai, who was married into tlie family of the Nim- 
ballcm. Two illegitimate sons Yesajl and Kusaji were bom 

to Shahu from Lakshreibai. They were given Ibe jagir of 
Shitol and came to be known as fihirolkar. Yesaji had a son 
named Balgopalji. After Shahu's death Ramraja discovered 
four young girls, Santubai, Gajrabai, Lakshmibai and Gum- 
vantabal in the palace who claimed to be Sbahu's daughters. 

Ramjara turned them out in June 1750.'* 

6. Contemporary opinion.—Writes Malhar Pamrao 
Chitnis,'' Shahu by his kind and obliging disposition, attracted 
the love of all hli subjects; every one supposed that he alone 

14, P, D. 6. $a. 97, 99. 
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had the full measure of his master’s favour- He freely re¬ 

warded whatever service was rendered to the State, by means 
of inams, stipends or gifts, carefully concealir^ the short¬ 
comings of his officers and servants, and making the highest 

use of their good and strong points. He fully realized liow 
hts lather Sambhaji had injured the interests of the State by 

his cruel ways, by harshly punishing the various qualified ser¬ 
vants whom the great Shivnjl had with immense pains neared, 
Shahu in his policy avoided all such harsh measures and In¬ 
variably employed soft and conciliatory means to gain the 

hearts of his people. He evinced great regard for llu- Hindu 

gods and holy Brahmans, passed his time in the aunpany of 
gifted and qualified sen'ants, awiding levity and low associa¬ 
tions. He carefully continued tlie inaras and gifts previously 

enjoyed for temples and holy purposes- He picked up men of 
merit and turned them to the highest service of the Maratha 

State. The poorest had free access to him and received quick 
and impartial justice. He never disregarded even the lowest 
applicant. On his tours he stopped his palanquin nr lior.se 
whenever he saw any one making an appeal to him. lie dis¬ 
liked harsli and cruel punishments : even in cases of muixler 
his kindly heait revolted against inflicting tlie capital punisli- 

ment, such as dropping a criminal from a high precipice/' 
Muzaffar Jang, Nlzam-ul-mull«'s grandson is recorded to 

have said when he heard of Shahu’s death, ’‘Shabu at the 
Maratha Court, and Nizam-ul-mulk at the Mughal Couil, are 
the only two great men, the like of whom is hardly to be met 

with. He carefully looked after the interests of hia State : 
There has been no equal to him. He rightly deserves the title 
of “enemy-less" {Ajata^ihatru). 

“By selecting right men for right duties Shahu increased 

the valour of-his soldiers and giving them ample field for ex¬ 
pansion, extended the Maratha dominions in all quarter of 
India, thus fulfilling the ardent wishes of his giandfather 
Shivaji." 

" One peculiar trait of Shahu’s character was that he felt 
the highest pleasure in malcing others happy, not only his de¬ 
pendents and subjects, but even aliens in race, religion and 

rule. ^Himself flying a plain frugal ascetic’s life,, he felt hicUv 
rejoiced in seeing peopl^njoying oieir varies trades and 
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avocations.. Indeed he could be called a saint in Uiis. respect. 
Even when faced with murderers that came to attack him, he 
let them go unpunished and thus created a genuine Reeling of 
reverence for his personality in the minds of tlie public."*^ 

7. Escimace of chataccei_Personally Shahu was neither 
a clever politician nor a capable commander* but his innate 

common sense and sympathetic heart enabled him io detect 
these quailtica in others and utilise them for his service. He 

rightly judged men's capacities and gave them a free hand 
without grudge or hindrance. He particularly advanced tlje 
intemHls of the ryots, brought barren tracts under cultivation, 

encouraged U\e planiation of trees, relieved the sufferings of the 
poor, removed irksome taxes. Hn wrote to his bx'Othcr-in*law 

f^hanlcaraji Mahadik, “Your management of the territory is 
peculiarly hamh, tlielike of which is nowhere to be seen between 
the Narmada and Rameshwar. Do the ryots belong to you» 

that they should be freely robbed 

Sbahu ever considered himself one of the E>eople. He 
freely mixed with them, partook of their joys and sympathised 

with their sorrows. During festivals, celebrations, dinners, 
marriage ceremonies &c., he took an active part with outriders 
and observed how they fared. The rich and the poor alike 

invited him to their marriage or other celebrations and he 
licartiiy joined them, spent lor them and helped them who¬ 
ever help was needed. 

Shahu is rightly styled Ptmyashhks (of pious memory) 

by mof^ than one contemporary writer. He appointed fit offi¬ 
cers and trusted them, Nor was he remws in punishing any 
of tiiem if he did wrong. He always appeared in public in the 

same plain white garmenU as in private life, with a bare head,, 
the long grey haira of which hung down gracefully on the 
shoulders. He moved about sometimes riding horses, at other 

times in a palanquin with only a slender retinue, but hie 
secretary and clerks always accompanied him. His daily 

routine was a permanent fixture. As a rule he went out hunt- 

15. FalTf Ysdi 36. 38; Raj. vol, 6. 15, 85, 86; pp. 120*136. 
,16. /riA« SanjiaAa F. D. pp, S7S-2K ; All. Tjprw. 2. 5; 2 Chitnia 

p. 88. 
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ing every morning, that was liis only exercise and diversion. 
Alter breakfast he sat down to office work, carefully disposing 
of every matter that came before him^ and patiently hearing 

every petition that was submitted. Tills continued till it was 
lighting time In the evening when a full Court was held, sdler 

formal obeisance had first Iwen made to tl« deity of light. It 
is computed that he nrdew on at jMst.5QCl.maltci*s or 

, cases every clay. A'little music and dancing closed tlic occu¬ 

pations of tlicday. He never lutd a seriou-s ailment in )ii« long 
life* till three years Iwfore hlw death, exptsod himself freely to 
sun, wind and raJi), and Jccpl hi.s licad Ixire even during tlu* 

hunt. 

One, however, notices some peculiar traits alsf> in Sliahu's 
character. Having been brought up in the midst of MiLslim 

surroundingi of the imperial camp, in the most imprewdonable 
period of life) he was indlned towards Muslim manners and 
customs in preference to the Hindu ones of which he was 

ignorant at first and whidi he picked up only in later life, 
He had a large harem full of maids and female servants with Ieimuchs to suard them>’ ^^th all this hi^ personal life was 

scrupulously clean, quite affer the austere example of Aui'ung- 
^seb. He certainly smoked the hukka. lie was similarly fond 

of hunting wild game and shooting birds. He used to have 
a daily ride outside into tlw Jungles for this purpose, thereby 
getting both fresh air and exercise. During the monsoon season 

he amused himself by fishing. There was nothing private or 
secret in his life; he was accessible to anyone at all times. 
He had on bis staff ^gers, instrumenbplayerH, bards and 

actors. He k^t well-trained hounds and was partiav 
larly keen on thwr breed.** He was equally fond of well- 
bred horscui and birds and knew 'meir qualities and features. 

Rarities of various (duds such as candles, scents, knives, swords, 
tobacco, gunpowder are also found to have been ordered fay 

him through Kanhoji Angria from the European traders.*" For 
tusks of el^hants he paid high prices. He wa<% equally fond. 

17. The eunuch Masavanc Xh&la wat then a familiar figure ul hiiS 
CHirt 

AS. P. r>. 18. 7T>, 71. W. Fult deteUs b P. D. 8 and 18. 
19. P. D. 8. 6t, 63, «. 55; 18. 17, 21, flihat Sm, P. D. pp. 276-888. 
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Of j;ood gaixiens and ordered the plajiting of rare fruit and 
/lower trees broujdit from diiferent places. Entries like the fol* 
lowing are numerous. “You liave been ordered to sow ln‘ent>’- 
thousand reeds of Shlvapur mango®' every year. Let me have 
a detailed return where^ when and how ihese Ireea Itave been 
planted and what the actual outcorfte is. Tlic district of Poona 
i\ns no munKu itrovcs. Tltis sliould be quickly attended to.’* 

Thu winning power of Slwhu's kind heart was in evidence 
iliitJUKfitnil Ills life, Few notable figui'ea in lustory appioacli 
SiKiliu'a personality Jn the rule of the heart. The motto he 
adopted for his seal is ilaeU eloquent in this_respecL: " 
man like jnu is after all a pait of the alUpeivading Divine 
Power.*’*'^ It is tlw Eeneiwjs selflew? policy ol Shahu wlii^ 
enahletl (lie MareUia power in expand bo ciuiddy. 

H. Shslm’s benev<ilcncc._P’ew realise tile severe aijony 
uf ShaiuVs captive, lot in the Muglial camp for seventeen yeare 
during tlic entire formative period u\ a man’s life. Tlie resuh 
was that when at last he came to the throne he never chose 
U> shine on the field of battle like Ills fallier and grand-iather; 
added to this hig surrender of all power into the hands of tlie 

Raj. 20. so, 
All acimiiu Indnrji Kadom h well wciHR r«prududiU4< He 

KviH e MTKtIj iMklvr of a he»d of troops in ihc ftrvi<% uf Lhc Pcshwi, 
hnvliu: bcCQ invited to pay hisi rcspwu js.’oonklly tn Shahu. he TiuiJicd 
willt n lar^c and ^Hndldly dreewd fnllnvinc htutlne hia dnim^ ngtit up 
tn the XInff’is palaec, contnry ui (lie usual praedee of waUdng oa fbot 
from a long diGtance and etoppinji all inunc. Shahu's uin^ter of ccruiavJiy 
NU^Cfited that dii» arcuitant oipuin ihould be loicjUy rastrainod. This 
would poMbiy haw rcnulled {a aome kind of a deplorable incident SNahu 
Raid, "Never mind, let him come as be chooses. Z will see to it myself." 
Tium Shaba came and took his scat in Uk Dsrbor, wiili hia favouiiie •Sog 
by his dde, upon whose head he placed bis own lurbao. Indrajj walked 
in with Ml proud sahuations right up to the Maharaia'i pwanee. Shahu 
quietly said, "come iCadam Roje. you aro indeed o t^ve man," and 
poiQt^ him to a seat nearby. Indroji at once noticed the sirongc way 
in which Ibeic words were uttered and the tnajinar In which the dog sal 
near the throne with the turbon on. Re felt mortified, rose and profuaety 
apofogiicd for hts rudeness thus Iceming a lesson whldi be never alter* 

wards forgot. 1. p. 126J. 
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Peshwas, made people light-lieartedly aedit Shahu with all 
kinds of blenushesi that he was nu judge of men, diat he was 
too soft to wield power and mie men, that he was ignorant of 
Indian politics, void of the sternness required in managing die 

intricate concerns of a large growing state. But can such a 
judgment be borne out by the evidence we now posacKs in 
plenty ? The story of Shahu’s active life is fully narrated in 

the preceding pageK. The very fact of his recognizing tlie 
great qualities of Bajirao and giving a free scope for (licir 
play, gives a lie to lliul narrow view. lie ensured the CX' tpansiort of Maratha power by conciliating the Kmperor. lie 

effected a lasting friendly understanding with Sawai Jaysinh 
and other Rajput princes in rhe mteresta of a general Hindu 
regeneration. Tliere came to be an immense exchange of cul¬ 

tures between the north and the south for nearly a century, the 
authorship of which goes doubtless to Shahu. 

Sbahu succeeded in achieving brilliant results through a 

mild persuasive policy dictated by rigid justice and good will 
X towards all. From the moment he came to occupy the Maratiw 
I throne, he made this policy Che principle of his life, vviiich 
! enabled him lo say truly on his cleatli-bed (hat he had done 

/ wiong to no one. When at the death of Aurangzcb .Siiahu came 
I to occupy the Maratlia throne, there was hardly any raj and 

regular goveiTunent in mdstence in the Deccan. Maratha 

leaders roamed all over the land with their predatory bands 
and ravaged what tliey called the Mughal Empire. They had 
recuved military training and wide experience in warfare and 
mostly spent their energies in cutting each other’s throats. 

How were these to be pacified? Unless they were given suit¬ 
able occupation away from their home, they were sure to kill 

themselves in the civil war which Tavabai had already started. 
This was the problem which faced Shahu and his farsighted 
minister Balajl Vfsbvanath. Shahu called these Jeadei’s to- 
gethcr and, let us imagine, thus harangued them; 

' ‘ Look ^ere, you 'Have no money in hand, nor have we: 

your own strong bodies are your only asset. But if you read 
the Mtuation aright, yori can create lucrative fields for your¬ 
selves and help build up a Maratha dominion into the bargain. 

__AU the Mughal territory is yours if you .will go, and capture 
it Borrow funds, form your fighting material, roam wherever 
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you like, establish po^s, settle and colonize them, build yo^ 

own palaces and your capitals: hold them tenaciously against 
all odds; start your own banks, and trading bu^nessea. foster 
agriculture, capture distant markets. But do all this in a spirit 

of self-help and good-will to ail. Do no wanton injury to 
anybody and make younselvea welcome wherever you go. Thus 
wiil our nation rise,’^ This is tlic method Siiahu personified 

in his own example and preached to his natiwi. 
Shahu's precept was heartily accepted and acted upon. 

Dabhadc worked in Gujarat, Kaghuji Bliosle established 

Nagpur, Uie Pawurs settled at Dhar and Dewas, the Holkara 
nnd the Sindian at Indoio and lljjain, and later Hunddkhand 
was similarly colonized. All the Maratha colonies, communiUes, 
anrl culture that we notice today at various centres outaide 
Maltavaslitra, were thus the creation of Shahu and his 
Peshwas. ■* It was by no means an accidental, haphazard de¬ 
velopment, but a studied plan of pliilanthropic non-vjoient! 

principles applied to the politics of the day. Shahu simply 
continued the work that was begua by Shivaji and that was 

for a time interrupted by unforeseen circumstances. The 
ISndus and thdr religion had no room, no supporter in India. 

Providence aupplied one in Shivaji. As soon as time came, 
Shahu rose to the occa^on, took up the cue, end dropping 

those elements out of Shivaji's policy, for which he foundlSm- 
scU incapable, tiarwlormed Uie traditional Marafta actfvitiea 
in a new channel where the Hindu interests were safeguarded 
not in a policy of hate but of good will which he extended in 

eqwd measure to Muslims also. More than once did Bajirao 
offer (©.extinguish Asaf Jah's rule in Maharashtra, but Shahu 

reatf^ned him, On February 1740 Bajirao conununicat- 
ing his victory over Nasir Jang wrote to his son, " Tam at this 
momeret in a position to eradicate the Mughal completely if 

only His Highness will immediately order all his chiefs to run 
to my support. If he does not respond to my call, I shall 

close this affair by negotiating only an advantageous peace."*’ 
The vein of this kindly spirit of Shahu is fully disclosed 

in such sentences as these which he wrote to a host ol his 
supporters,—“You are an old servant of the Gihatrapati, you 

2J. Sh. Ch. s, 7 p. 7. 
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have rendered loyal and selfless service and undergone severe 
labour, ever fdnee the days of Raigad {i.e. since Raised became 
the Maratha capital). It is therefore my bounden duty to 
look after you and your family's w'el/are, &c., &c.” Words like 
these doubtless fill one’s heaai with reverence and admiration 
for the king. 

As already mentioned Sliahu certainly tell as great a 

respect for the Muslim practices as for hiR own. He started 
the practice of recitiug the IChulba at Satara for which bv 
brought with him the preaclier known as ICliatIb from Liw 

Emperor’s camp. The sanad conferring an Inam on this 
Khatib mentions,-- 

“You are one of my select sardars, of high respocUibiliiy, 
professing the Muslim faith. I am tlierefore allowing you tlie 

possesKon of the Satara fort for the accommodation of the 
throne wi^ the title of Sardeshmukh. The Begam ^inal- 

un-nisa looked upon you as a son. ” This Khatib brought 
with him the gold palm of the Emperor given him by the 
Begam which Shahu worshipped faithfully during his life. Tlie 
Khattbs still live at Satara. .Siahu made no difference between 
MtMm saints and Hmdu onc6. BraJimerKfra-swami, ICachesIi- 
var BaVa; Thalcurdas'Bawa, tlie RamdaMS, the Gosavis and 

others were all equally rejected by him. He conferred inams 
' and gifts upon all without distinction. He extended his patron* 

to the Christiana also. After the fall of Bissrin he took ut- 

p /''most care of Christian priests and place? of worship. Equal 

r^aoect J(>i all religion was fully ingrained in his blood. Au- 
T rangreb’s daughter ^rngt^uninisa ^rgated him jiice a son and 

l_he always respected her his own mother. 
, It cannot bower be said that Shahu was a perfectly 

f spotless ruler. had weaknesses and fauhs. Many of his 

campaigns miscarried through vacillation and mismanagement 
where sternness and prompt action were caUed for as in the 

b case of the Janjira expedition, Another drawbaclc of his policy 

I was that his administration did not become progressive; his 
•• coaservatism pervaded the whole Maratha administration. 

9. Shahmiagar.—Satara the capital of Shahu was. the 
name of the fort and not that of the town, which now 

stands at the foot of the hill, Shahu in 1721 first took up his 
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residence below the fc»rt and caused his courtiers to build their 
own s^rate quarters adjoining his own. A town thus soon 
grew up which he named after himself as Shahunagar. When 

he was crowned in 1708 he took his seat on the throne in the 
fort, which he removed to his palace ol Rangamahal in this ne\v 
rapidly rising town about the year 1721. This original palace 
of Shahu was burnt down in 1874, and on its idle only the 
old well now eiiats, known as “the well of the throne”. The 

otlter old structures that one sees today were erected by Maha¬ 
raja PratapsInlL a hundred yeara after Shahu. The 
various wards of the old town arc named, like those of Poona, 
after the days of the week, in addition to Yado Gopal Pelh, 

Vyankatpura (named after Vyankalrao Ghorpade, who had 
married Bajirao's sister Anul»i), Cliimanpura (named after 
CUimnajL Damodar Moghe) Durgapura, Rajaspura, Raghu- 
nalhpura, &c. Shahu supplied the new city with g(»od drink¬ 
ing water brought in pipes from the Mahadara and Yavteshvar 

hills. The temple of Krishneshwar still rerninds visitors of 
Krishnarao Joahi of Chas, a bro^r of Bajirao's wife Kaslii- 

bai. There was a mint established by Shahu in the rity. It 
was entrusted Co a well-known tvm of banicers, headed by 
Tansliet Bhurke. 

Space forbids a more detailed account of Shahu’s activi¬ 
ties which have received ample notice in Marathi books. 





CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER Kill 

1790, Jttnu&iy 4 
1750, March 

1750, April I 
1750, April l» 

1750, April 80 
1750, Jun« 

1760. June U 
1750, July K 
1750, July 24 

1730. August 

1'^, S^tember 8 

1750, September 35 

17SQ. October 29 

17S0, Nov. 17 
1750, Nov. ZZ 
1751, early months 

1761, July 16 

1752, Sep. 14 

1760, December 16 

1761. June 23 
1761, Dec. 9 
1762, Sep. 22 

1763, March 23 
1773, February 17 

Riuuruja u'uwnvd Hnd married. 
Tarjbai dci)arts for Siohgad. 

Kogtiuji Btiosle arrives at Satara. 
Feshw^k luHvce SaUtra for Poona. 
Sudaahlvrao married to Pervotibai. 
Tarabtii at PcKina from Smhgad. 
Chimiuijj N. Sadtiv und<;r arrest. 
SInhgad taken from him. 

Sndiiv liberated. 
Ramrnja with Raghuji Bhoslc at Poona; a 

grand HBScmblagu held, and resolutions 
Uken. 

Kaglmji leaves tor Nagpur. 
Sadashtvrso captures Ssngola from the PraU* 

nidhi, and onacta constitutional reguk' 

ttons. 
Tarabai returns to Satera. 

Ramraja returns to Satam. 
Ramraja placed under Tarabai’a coiiQinmcnt 
Peshwa goes loto Kamatok; Tarabal's acti* 

vltics against Peshwa. 
Tarabai puts to death Anandrao Jadhav end 

other guards of Saiara. 

Reconciliation effected between Peshwa and 
Tarabai at Je;ur1. 

Sambhejl of Kolhapur dies. 

Pe^wa Nanasaheb dies. 
Tarabai dies. 
Jijabai adopts Shlvajl. 
Rantraia formally crovmed. 

Jijabai dUa. 





CHAPTER XIII 

THE MONARCHY IN ECLIPSE 

£1750—17151} 

l lliimnijn nu<inllcii. 
3 Uuvtrluiiou 

.!( Sanjiiiiu. 
3 Hnmmju tcmfincil. 

4 Tanbii (ccciadltid 
5 2>iuni)U(i;i of Kolhiipiir, 
6 Tliu' PnLwa’s ohjccfivc^ and 

m4knc.v». 

I. UHcuraja inscallcd_Ramraja, the successor chosen 
by Shahu, wjis an u I ter strancer Lo tlic Maratha nalion. Taia- 

bai declared Jiim lo l>c tlw posthumous son of her son Shivaji 
born of Ihe latter’s wife Bbavanibai. According to l«r story, 
he was born at Panhala and was secretly removed lo aeveral 
oUier places lor lear that Sambhaji of Kolliapur and his Rani 

Jijabai rnisht resort to some foul play against die child's life. 
Ramraja's sister Daryabai Nimbalkar lived at Pangaon six 
miles KouCli of Barxi. to whom the youth after some wander* 

ings, came to be entrusted lor bdng brou^t up. He thus lived 
hus first two years at Panhala then about 16 years at fiavda 

or Gacangad and then for five years he resided at Pangaon. 
Pie was about 23 years old at his accession. « 

After the cremation riles of Shahu and Sakwarbai had been 
performed, an official deputation from Satsra headed by 

Bapuji Khanderao Chitnts, brought l^amraja to Satara from 
his retreat at Pangaon along with his sister Daryabai Nimbal* 
kar. Anived at Vaduth on the Krishna on 26th December, 

he called on Tarabai the same afternoon in the temple of 
Shakunteshvar. The next day, 27^ December the Peshwa 

along with the sardars and offidals called on Ramraja and 
made their obeisaaca to him by offering tiazars. T^^^_con* 
vinced the Maratba sardars of the genuineness of H^iija'a 

birth by eating food with himjD^t Of the same dish; ^ 
youth'was imquesrionabiy accepted as Tarabai's F^'^indson. 

On Thursday 4th January 1750, Paush Shulda, 1, ^ak 

1671, Ramraja left his quarters outside, passed through the 
gaily decorated dty in a procession, and ascended the throne 
at Shahunagar late in the afternoon. 'Xlie new king married 
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two wives on 8th February, Tukabai (Shlrke) and Sagunabai 

daughter of Baranji As the presence of the Prati> 

ntdht was essential for the coronation and as Jag] ivan Prati- 
nidhi was in confinement, Bhavanrao, son ol Krlshnaji Pant 
of Vlshalgad, was brought to Satara and made Pratiiudhi by 

Tdrabai» Bhagvantrao Amatya was also invited to SaUmt on 
that occasion and was given the robes of his ofiice. Bliagvant- 
rao was mainly matrumentol in supporting l^amraja's sue- 
cesuon. 

The tutelage in which Tarabai constantly kept Farnraja 
was too irlisome for him. Prom the beginning slie severely 

controlled all liis actions, stopped him from associating with 
the Peshwa with a view to maintaining her own importance 
in the administration ; and destroying the latter's overweening 

influence. For a time she conducted this game secretly trying 
to gatlicr power in her own hands and allowing no chance to 

Eamraja either to obtain experience or wield authority inde¬ 
pendently. As she was then about seventy-five years of age, 
the best interests of the Maratha State would have been served 

only by allowing the new king to work in unison witli the 
Peshwa. Ramraja was naturally Inclined to support the 

Peshwa as against his grand-mother, but this conduct enraged 
the lady all the more, so that they soon became bitter oppo¬ 
nents of each other. Tarabai began to hate and openly abuse 
him, which exasperated him sdll furth^. Purandare writes in 

February 1750, ''If the Raja would live alone with her for 
any lei^th ol time, he is sure, to keep her in confinement of hla 

fiwn accord.” Matters, however, shaped just the other way. 
In a few months time, Tarabai anested Ramraja at the Satara 
fort and kept him a dose prisoner. 

AU the while the Peshwa watched the situation quietly and 
soon made up his mind to transfer all the administration to 

Poona, thus leaving the Chhatrapati and his grandmother free 

to do what they liked at Satara, Chiranaji Narayan Sachiv 
and the Pratinldhi's Mutallk Yamaji Shlvdev were Tarabai’s 
chief supporters and obstructed any move on the part of the 

Peshwa, Early in March fell the death anniversary of Tara- 

1. Nofia Jiot. 1, 125, 43^1 [Ukoi Sangreha P. D. p, 3. 
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bai’s husband,- which used to be pertonned at Sinhgad where 
he had died ; so under the pretence of being present at the 
ceremony, Tarahai left Satara and took up her abode at tfiat 
fort, starting fresh intrigues against the Peehwa there. 

From 26Ui December 1749 to 18th April 1750 the Peshwa 
stayed at Satara doing his utmost to sustain the new Chhatra* 
pati's power and get him into a proper trim to carry out hia 
duties in Qie be?t interests of the S^tate. During this period 

the minister found himaeU so much entangled in the domestic 
concerns of the royal house, that he could not attend to the 
external affairs of a momentous character. He, therefore, 
sent his trusted agents to Raghuji Bhosle and invited him to 
Satara with the utmost expedition as tlie fittest person of res* 

poiuuble position for handling the situation. The latter anived 
there about the b^inning of April and the two surveyed Uie 
situation together lor a week or two- The Peshwa tlien asked 
Paghuji to stay at Satara and use his best endeavouta to 
put Ramraja in the proper way to discharge his duties. 

Raghuji stayed on at Satara till 8th July and the Peshwa went 
to Poona on 18th April, where his presence was needed for 
tlie thread ceremony of his son Viahvasmo and the marriage of 
Sadashivrao who had recently lost his first wife. The Peshwa 

writes to Dikshit, " I have now been at Satara for seven 
months. Constant bickerings are going on witii the new 

Chhatraputi. He is entirely nerveless unable to malte up bis 
mind and act on his own initiative. I wonder if you can sug¬ 

gest some means by whidi I can secure the master's good will 
and have freedom for myself to attend to the pressing matters 
of the State.” 

Thus an impasse arose in the Chhatrapati's affairs at 

Satara and when Tarabai would not find Ramraja pliaUe for 
her purpose, she damned him for good, declaring that be was 
an impostor and not a ^ue son of his father, though she herself 

had fonnerly called him legitimate- What Ramraja must have 
felt at such a crushing blow, had better be imagined. There 
were a large number of respectable Maratha gentlemen and 

families, scrupulous about their pure heredity and its preserva¬ 
tion, who fdt extreme mortification at this open repudiation of 

2 Mercb 1700. 
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Ramraja by Tarabai. Buibanji Mobile' a highly respected 
Maratha grandee, who had long lived with Haghuji Bh(»le at 
Nagpur and who had just married his daughter to Ramiaja, 

ielt highly offended at this turn of events. "Hundreds of Mara- 
tha nobles asaembled at Burhanji'a house and started a sitting- 
in strike of starving tlicmselves to death. They Khowen^d 

reproaches upon the old grand mama, saying "It wh« slie who 
asked us to give our daughters in marriage to this Icing; and 
now she declares he is not a true son of his father. What a 
shajneful development! Vou, Burhanji, must first kill us ami 
then kill these newly married ^rla." Matters tl\us assumed a 

grave outlook. Military guards were called out to keep ibe 
peace. “Burhanji Bawa is proceeding lo extremides and will 
end his life in a day or two," When such a situation developed 

at Saiara the Peshwa left the place and went to Poona, unable 
to find a way lor solving the social trouble which developed 
so unexpectedly at the capital of Shahunagar witliin a j^iort 

time of the pious monarch’s death. 

2. Constitutional revolution at Ssn^ola.—The Pea(iv,m 
then made a pressing request lo Taral)ai to visit Poona. She 
agreed, left Sinhgad and reached Poona in June. Her parti> 

xans Bhagvantrao Amatya and Chimnaji Narayan Sachiv were 
also present. The Peshwa sent a request to the Maharaja at 
Satara to come to Poona. He arrived in August and all the 

assembled leaders of opinion and though! had full discussions 
together over the situation. Raghuji Bhosle, and Sar-lashkar 
Somavanshi were there, as also Sindia and Holkar from the 

north. Sadashivrao Bhau, Ramchandra Bawa, Malmdoba 
Purandare, Sakharam Bapu, Ihen a rising diplomat of the 
Peshwa’s party, tliese and nthen^ sat together for days and 

weeks and had heart to heart Calks. The Peshwa tried his best 
to come to a kind of a working compromise, so that the ad¬ 
ministration should run smoothly and a rapid expansion of 

the Maratha power could be assured. Such a conference 
was indeed unique in Mara tha history botii in weight and 
variety of vlewa. Here then the Pcaliwa took the final re»olu* 

3. Burbanji'$ one aster iIk; laic Ruii Sfiuunabal of Sbehu aim] 

the i^econd was Ihc wife of Kauhiif) Bljosk, mnthvr ol MudimJI 
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tioo Df removing all official work from Satara to Poona, leaving 
the ChhatrapatL and Tarabai to themselves at Satara. The 
Peshwa firmly lu'gcd upon the attention of the a5.^einblage that 

in the interest of the State, the executive power muRt remain 
in hie own hands and lhal he would not tolerate any interfer¬ 
ence with tlie administration from the Pratinidhi, or the Sachiv 

or any one else. For Sinhgad belonged to the Sachiv and 
affurd^ a cenlre for Intrigue agaia^t tlie Peshwa. So he cate¬ 
gorically demanded possession of that fort from the Sachiv. 
The Chhatraiwti gave his wriUen sanction to this proposal, 
causing further exasperation to Tarabal. The Sachiv as he 

refused to hand over the fort, was at once arrested (14th June), 
and a parly of troops was despatched to take possession of the 
fort forcibly. It surrendered cn 6 July. The Sachiv was set 
free and allowed to go bwne on 24lh July,* after receiving sulB- 
dent ©jmpensation for the losi. 

This was a critical moment for Uie Mamiha raj. All 
India waa having her eyes on Poona, eager to sec in what 

manner the crisis created by Shahu's death was going to end. 
The Peshwa determined 10 have lull power. Paghuji 
Bhcwle Iieartiiy supported him and departed for his domain 

of Nagpur on 8th September, after arriving at a concerted 

settlement for Ihe future adminiatratfon of the Maratha State, 

Like the Sachiv the Pratinidhi too was known to be a 
partizan of I'arabai. Personally Dadoba Pratinidhi possessed 
little capacity, but hh Mutalik Yamaji Shivdw was clever and 

intriguing. Dadoba hsid been confined on the fort of Purandar 
and owned the iraportant territory between Karhad and 
Pandharpur bordering on the east of Sataia, and affoidicg a 

convenient region from which Uie Mutalik could work mischief 
against the Peshwa. Sangola near Pandharpur was a small 
fortified post belonging to the Pratinidhi, which the Pcahwa 

now demanded from him, as he bad done Sinhgiad from the 
Sadiiv. The Peshwa brought both the Pralinidhi and the 

Mutalik for his grand conference of Poona and there dictated 
to them the terms on which he said be would set them free. 
If they hesitated, the Peshwa threatened them with dismissal 
from their hereditary posts. As soon as Raghuji left for Nagpur, 

A. Nana $ah«b Ros. 1, 43; P. D. 6. 63. 
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tlie Peshwd dispatched Sadashivrao 5hau aiid Ramchandra 

Baba witli an adequate armed force and Ranuaja himseU at 
their head to take possession of Sangola from Yamaji Shivdev, 

The latter resisted and waged a short struggle ot hvo weeks ; 
but being overpowered by the Peshwa's artillery, Yamaji deli¬ 

vered Sangola into Sada^vrao's hands on the Daxsara day, 
25th September. The neighbouring place of Mangalvcdlta 

was also reduced and a^gned to the trusted Patwardhatis for 

future defence- Thus the Pratinidlu's opposition was dis¬ 
armed. 

Sangola has become famous for tl)e aetUement that was 

drawn up there ui^cr orders of the Chl^airapati for the future 
r^ulallon of the Maratha State. The scheme was conceived 

in Ramchandra Baba’s head and executed by Sadashivrao’s 
ann. A complete revolution was thus ^lently eiTected trans¬ 
ferring all power from the Chhatrapati to the Peshwa. Within 

nine months of Shahu’s death the Chhatrapati became a creat¬ 
ure in tl^e Peshwa’s hands. The following is the substance ol 
these new regulations. The system of the eight ministers had 

already fallen into disuse and the Prime Minister (the Peshwa) 
had begun to wield supreme power since the lest years of 

Sl^ahu. The only other ministers that now existed were the 

Pratinidhi, the Sachiv and the Senapati. The other lour of 
Shivaji's system had already dwindled into insignificance. The 
Sachiv became perfectly innocuous hereafter. In order to 

depnve the Pratinidhi of any power of mischief, Bhavanrao 
was now brought to Sangola and formally installed as Prati- 
nidhi by the Chhatrapati. Yamaji Shivdev having waged a 

war against the Peshwa fell from power and his nephew 
Vasudev Anant was made the Pratlnidhi's Mutalik, as being 
more amenable to the Pealiwa. The Senapati Yashvantrao 

DaWiade had proved incompetent on account of his incurable 
vices. So he was given a cash allowance for maintenance, and 
the Subah of Gujarat was divided half and half between the 
Gaikwad and the Peshwa. 

Babuji Nalk Joahi was another thorn in the Peshwa’s 
side, as he claimed all power in the Kartiatak. He was de¬ 
prived of all such pretensions in the future, and the manage¬ 

ment of the Subah of Karnatak was taken over by the Peshwa. 
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Ramraja’s pc»sition at Satara was also delmed. Govindrao 
Chitnis was made the Maharaja's prindpal manager with his 

nephew Bapuji Khanderao as the military capUin and 
Trimbak Sadashiv alias Nana Purandare as the Peshwa's 
representative helpii^ him In keeping order, Yashvantrao 

Potnis and Devrao Lapate were to be tlie Chhatrapati's per¬ 
sonal companions and advisers. Many other minor appoint¬ 
ments were also made at Sangola which need not be detailed. 
Ramraja's sister Daryabai was expecting some substantial 
reward for her share in jociceying the Maharaja into the throne, 

rier husband Nimbaji Naik Nimbalkar was made Sar-laslikar, 
In the place of Appaji Somawanshi who was removed. Fate- 
sinh Bbosle’s affairs weie falling into mismanagement, 
Trimbak Hari Patwardhan, one of the Pesliwa’s trusted de¬ 
pendents, was appointed as the principal manager of Fatesinh 
Biiosle at AlcaUcot 

Thus Bhau Saheb and Ramchandra Baba acting together 
with a strong hand quiddy put an end to the intolerable situa¬ 
tion which had developed, and evolved a fresh order of tilings 
under the sanction of the Chhatrapati. This willing co-epera* 

tion and complete accord with the Peshwa’s policy on the pari 
of Ramraja was highly resented by Tarabai, For, after all the 
fountain head of power was the"CE!^*trapati, so Tarabai de¬ 

cided to keep him under her control. With an intent to thwart 
the Pfishwa she left Poona about the middle of October and 
after visiting Shambhu Mahaclev reached Satara on 29th Octo¬ 
ber, organising her own party and an armed force during the 
interval. Prom Poona she wrote to Siekh Mira, the guardian 
of fort Satara to store ample supplies and prepare for its de¬ 

fence. On arrival she compelled all ohicers and guards of the 
fort to swear allegiance and obedience to her personally, Some 
were won over by money and some by other inducements. She 

carried the two queens of Ramraja arid his valuables from the 
palace below up into the fort Ramraja was at Sangola during 
October and parting from Sadashivrao early in November and 

paying a viat to Shambhu Mahadev on the way, reached 
Satara on 17th November, taking up residence in his palace in 
the city. He was fully tutored by Sadashivrao to assert his 

power and control' the activities of his grandmother from his 

capital. But this he could not do. 
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3. Kara raja confined.-^ th« 22nd November was the 
Chaznpa-Shasthi day on which the family deity of the Bhosles 
was worshipped- Though previovisiy warned, the Maharaja 
unguardedly went up to the fort for the sacred function, hoping 

to disarm ail suspicions of the old lady. But at the very first 
meeting which they had in private, Tarabaj strongly remons¬ 
trated witli him against his lending support to the Peshwa and 

advised him to be guided by herself alone, Eamraja did not relish 
the advice and when in the afternoon he started on his horse 

along with his two Uanis in palkies to go down to the dty> 
gatekeepers wlv)had received previous intimation, put him under 
meat, and took him to Tarabai who kept him closely confined. 

Bapuji Chitnis and others below on learning this development, 
tried their best to release him, but once the gates were dosed 
against all outsider, tht prisoner could not be freed without 

a regular siege and bombardment by artillery. 
The fort Of Satara being strongly defended, it enabled 

Tarabai to assert lier power at once by issuing commands and 
taking the administration into her own hands. She brougliC 
to her presence, Dadoba Fratinidhi, aud the MutaJik brothers 
Aataji and Yamajl SUivdev with the latter'a son Oamaji, who 
helped her with men and money fn>m the adjoitirng distrlctH. 
The Peshwa kept cool, showed no irrimtion but adopted a 

wonderfully submissive attitude, lie wrote to Purandare, I 
have not the least desire to stand in opposition to the lady 
soveregn, our master and protector, You must solidt her 

pleasure and impress it on her how our enemies would take 
advantage, wlicn evil reports reach the distant Delhi. You 
must also find out whether the cooHnemcnt of the Chhatrapati 

a mere show or harmful to him and how far the two are 
likely to collude against us. 1 should be informed about the 
persons in their confidence and their opponents. What is the 

attitude of Daryabai in this affair?” Purandare replied Co 
this as follows r " Ramraja is being strictly guarded by 

Taiabai's men. He sends me pileous appeals to get him re* 
leased.” The Peshwa asked i^randarc to persuade Taral^i 
to adopt a softer attitude. If she persists in keeping tlie king 
a dose prisoner and conducts the administration herself, the 
whole Maratha raj suffers diagrace in public. How ia it 

possible for Her Hi^inesw to superv'Lsc from her snug perch 
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on the toit political operations ranfting over a wide area from 
Delhi lo Rameahwar. It ie not impossible ior me at once to 
revert her to her fomicr confinement, but T refrain from such 

a drastic measure, remembering that we are the Chhatrapati’s 
servants tJirounh three generatjona. Any coercive step? by me 
will appear like a rebellion against the master. This I wish 
to avoid at any cost, I can easily put Uie families of the fort- 

guards under confinement aitd harassment bo as to ptmish 
tlK-m for their Insichery. 1 can also besiege the fort and pre¬ 
vent any communication with outside, But I desist. You 
must In sweet language pei'suade the lady to the right com'se. 

Plcstse assure the King oC our cKtreme concern for his welfai'e. 
Toll him to sul)iTuL to Iler Ilighnes?' wishen for a time. Assure 
Jlcr Highiicas also that wliatever she does I shall always remain 
her rrm\ obedient servant. You must quietly manage to win 
over the King completely to our views. You must on no 

account seek favour cither frem tlie priests or the g^iards in 
the employ of Tarabai.'' 

These soft words on the part of the Reshwa were misunder¬ 
stood by the lady and only served to stiffen her hostile attitude. 
Months passed In wrangling and wordy exchanges. There was 
another weighty reason why tbc Peshwa was reluctant to use 

harsh measures against the lady. A great stir occurred at 
this lime in the Kamatak. Nasir Jang had led a strong ex¬ 
pedition into that region during the closing months of 1750, 

which compelled the Peshwa to proceed lo that quarter per¬ 
sonally. So he did not want two major tasks on his hands 
aunultaneously. 

While Ramraja was a strictly-guarded prisoner In the fort, 
all his belongings, jewellery, plate and o^er valuables were 

in the palace below. The Peshwa ordered all these to be care¬ 
fully collected, listed and kept secure at Puranrtar vr\th a view 

boUx tliat Tarabai should not appropriate them and also to 
restore them to the King when time came, lo prevent 
the calumny that would pertiaps attach to the Peshwa’s name 

that he had deprived the Kirxg of all his valuables.® 

S, PuTOfutare Daltar Psrt I 22S-364 pves graj^ details Of Eam- 

n)i\ iflHjw; P. D. C. 147163; Rb). ^ B53. 
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In January 1751 the Pe^wa and his couan Sadashlvrao 
started for the Kamatak lo watch Nasir Jang^s movement!;, 

keeping; for the management of the Satara affairs a sufficiem 
force under trusted agents. Purandare continued sending the 
Peshwa frequent reports from Salara, proposing certain alter¬ 

native measures, such as using force against Tarabai so as to 
reduce her to submission, or leaving her alone and conducting 
the administration as best as pc^lble, or bringing in Sambhaji 

from Kolhapur as a counteiblaat to the power both of Tarubai 
and Ramraja. The Peshwa patiently waited for a better turn 

of events and took no stern measures during hia absence. 

i. Tarabai recoiKiIed.—The opinion of the Maratha 
nation unanimously condemned Tarabai’s high-handed action 
in keeping the Chhatrapati, their master and sovereign, in 
confinement. In Che coui'se of time her hatred towards Ramraja 

grew so violent that in angry moments she began to use cruel 
and filthy language towards him, She at every moment de¬ 
clared that the raja was no son of her son Shivaji and that 

he was an impostor. This was felt by him as the most cutting 
stroke. For whatever the factu may be, Ramraja personally 

knew nothing about his birth and was not responsible for the 
reproaches his grandmother heaped upon him. She alone was 
the author of his fate in liaving brought him out of oblivion, 

After Shahu's death all moral checks on her behaviour vanished 
and became violent and uncontrollable. In the meantime 
her ally Damaji Gaikwad along with tlie Dabheda^ came 

thundering against the Peshwa and ravaging his territory. He 
was, however, checked near Satara and finally humbled. Tlua 
defeat of Damaji proved the ruin of all the lady’s plans and 

measures, but it also served to incense her still more. 
Anandrao Jadhav, the Keeper of the Satara fort was put to 
•death (16 July 1751) only because he had tried to obtain news 

of Ramraja’s situation. Many guards and servants were simi¬ 
larly put to death oi* made to suffer indescribable hardslnps. 
As she found Dadoba Pratinidhi Incapable of managing her 

affairs, she promised the Pralinidhrs post to Babujl Naik 
Josh I, thereby causing an unnecessary open war between 

Dadoba and Babujf. She started a low Intrigue * with the 
Nizam’s Court, offering the Peshwasbip to bis minister Ramdas- 
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pant It i8 dinicuit to understand how in all this she wae 
serving the Maratha State. But the Peahwa with iwticnce and 
lortiLude gradually overcame all opposition and so thwarted 
the lady in al! directions, that she found after a year's vain 
struggle that she had no course left except to make peace with 

the Peshwa and strike the best bargain possible with him. In 
June 1751, xhc sent her two agents Cliinlo Anant and Mom 

Shivdev, to Jiegotiate terms of peace with the Peshwa wlio first 
flcmandcrl (he release ol Uanu'aja, Although this was not fully 

accomplished. Tambai yielded so far as to come down from 
Uio foit aU)ng with Uumraja and to take up her residence in the 
town below. Later on she ^vent and visited the Peshwa at 

Pr»f>ha;"bul she violently opposed any idea ol releasing Ramraja 
or of entrusting any power to liim. Ultimately the Peshwa 
having practically obtained u free hand in the administration, 
despntclied both the king and his grandmother back to Satara 
under a strong and able trusted commander Trimbakrao Pethe. 
He was to keep a strict control over both, A patched up peace 

in which both the partiea umicratood each other's game was 
thus brought about in the month of September 1751; so that 
when the Kiram invaded the Peshwa’s territory during the 

closing months of that year, Tarabai dqjuted Dadoba Pratlnidhi 
to join and help the Peshwa. The Peshwa thankfully sent back 

the Pratlnidhi an he liad no troops and replied adroitly that the 
lady's blcs.sings alone would enable him U) ward off the dai^ger 
created by the Nizam.'* As Tarabai deprived Dadoba of his 
office of the Piatinidhi arwl gave it to Babuji Naik, both 
Dadoba and his Mutalik Yamaji became friendly to the 

Pesliwa, in opposition to Tarnbai.’ 
The reconciliation between Taraba: and the Peshwa was 

later confirmed on oaths which they both took in the presence of 
the deity of Jejuri on I4th September 1752. It was at this meet¬ 
ing tiiat Tarabal solemnly declared that Ramraja was noljhg -i 

true son of his father, that his advent had brought op ' 
the Chhatrapati's house; that he should, therefore^ ^ ronoved 

a'nd'Sambhaji'of Kolhapur placed oh" &e’ttirone at ^tata/ 

e. Raj. 6. SS5. S66; Shahu Roi, 115. 
7. Shahu Rot. 284. 243. 244 ; P- D. 6. 813. 216 : PsifA Ysrfi 114. 
8. Pii, 6, 257 ; Tr/aliet an/i Eniatemenlt p. 46 ; Tlihai SanfiAha 

V. D. p, 7. No. 8. 
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A written agreement between Tarabai and the Peshtva 

took place at Jejuri in which the following words occur. 
“This Raja is false. Every one knows this. But he 
should not be killed. He should be treated as an 
illegitimate son like FatesinJi Bawa or Yeaaji Kusaji. 
He should be supplied with the recjuirements ol life; 

ii necessary he should be kept confined but not killed. ” As years 

rolled on, Tarabai came to be fully reconciled to the PesUwa 
and during the last four yeai*$ of her life there existed perfect 

amity between them. She witnessed the national disaster of 
Panipat on 14th January 1761 and died ten months later at 

Satara on 9th December 1761 ("“Thursday 11 Jamadilaval). 

Rarordja, however, had a most miserable life during 

Tarabai'a usurpation of power. He continued in confine¬ 

ment till her d«lh, Thereafter ihs Peehwa Madhaorao I for¬ 
mally crowned Ramraja at Shahunagar on 23rd March 1763.*' 
Since then his lot became much improved although he was 

not allowed to assert himself as Chhalrapatl. a role foi which 
he posdessed neither the training nor the capacity. 

It is difficult to see how Tarabai in all her struggles could 
have improved the lot of the Maratha Slate by an inveterate, 

oppoation to the Pealiwa. It is cicditablc to the Peshwa that 
he showed wonderful coolness under extreme provocation and 

took no drastic action against the old and revered lady, on 
whose account he lost three precious years of hia valuable 
time, which he all along ardently defied to utilize in nortlr 
India. The consequence was the miamanagement, dissen?(ions 
and blunders which presaged the disadter ot Panipat. It is a 

pity that a capable woman like Tarabai, who had in her 
younger days achieved ^gnal success in the war against 
Auiangzeb, should find her after life altogether wasted. Thirty- 

six years of that life were spent in confinement either at Pan* 
hala or 5^tara. In her extreme old age she tried her hand 

after Shahu*s death, with what result we have seen above. 

5. Samhhajr of Kolhapur.—Xo. wnclude the stoiy of 
the Chhatrapatl’s hoase a word is necessary to recount the 

d. SAdAu 
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destiny of the other brandi, that of Kolhapur. The Peshwa’s 
eifort to unite the two branches of Satam and Kolhapur proved 

of no av^. Sambhaji of Kolhapur had no special capadty 
for managing his concerns, whicli were better handled by Ins 
adroit queen Jijabai. The Pesbwa kept amicable relations with 

him to the last. The management of his state fell into dis- 
repute; and his and subjects remained always dis¬ 
contented. No new conquests were made nor any capable 

servants roarecl up. Sambhaji died on 18th December 1760 
witlwul leaving any heir to the gadi after him. This a/foided' 
the Pcsiiwa the desurod opportunity to confiscate the Kolhapur 
State and annex it to SaUira. Sucli a result would most likely 
have taken place if at that very time the Peshwa's position 

had not grown precarioius owing to the disaster of Panipat 
which took place within a month of Sambhaji's death, fn 
this connection writw .Tijabai on 20th January 1761; " It is 
highly to be regretted that the ^dhanpant, Instead of offers 
ing coridolences on the deatli of my revered husband, has sent 
troops under Hari Ham and Visaji Narayan to confiscate the 
State. Our friendahip of long standing has thus been well 

rewarded! But you must explain to Raghunathrao that we 
four Ranis of the late Maharaja are alive, one of whom Kusabai 
has advanced in pregnancy some months. The Peshwa has 

broken his solemnly given word. What more can I say?" 
Jijabai wrote letters to several persons and gave out the 

false report tliat her co-wife Rani Kusabai was enceinte. She 
also circulated further false news that the queen liad given 

birth to a son on 25th May 1761. She wrote this news to* 
Nanasaheb and Gopikabai also. Shortly after the Peshwa 
died on 23rd June. Nana Purandare went to Satara to meet 

Tarabai and arrange about the Kolhapur succession in con- 
sullatlon with her. But the report of a son having been bom 
was after full inquiry found to be false, and it was admitted 

later by Jijabai hemelf In a personal meeting with the Peshwa 
Madhaorao, who, then in serious danger about hia <5wn posi¬ 
tion. did not Invite further trouble on account of this Kolhapiir 

succession; so he allowed Jijabai to adopt any eligible boy 
and make him the Chhatrapati of IColhapur. She thus adopt¬ 
ed on the Dassara day of 1762 (September 27) a boy from the 

Khanwat branch and named him Shivaji. Jijabai continued 
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to conduct the affairs of that State till her death on 17lh 

February 1773. 

6. The Peshwa's objectivos and weakiWssses.—The 
second half of tlie Peshwa Balajirao’s regime (or the years 

1749-61) has for various reasons become memorable in the 
history of India. It was during this period that the Brilisli 
poww leaped up above tlie Indian horizon to stand later 
against the Marathas in the ctmtest for the sovereignty ol 

India. When tlie new Uihatiapati was installed ou the Uirone 
j \ at Satara, the Pesdiwa set before himself tltree main objectives, 
('! to humble tlie Nizam*, to subjugate the Karnatak region, and 

/ i to assert Maiatha influence at the Court of Delhi. The In- 
^ { transigence of Tarabai and the incapacity of Kamraja led the 

Peshwa in the best interests of the Maiutlia State to remove 

* all the administrative departments to Poona, where he had 
at hand three capable individuals, his own coa^ln Sadashlvrao, 
a feartess executive officer, Ramchandra Baba Sukhtankar, a 

• financer and diplomat of high order, and Mahadoba Ihirandarc 

a selfless and fbreaghted servant of the MamtJia Slate, by all 
of whom he was loyally served, 

After the death of Shahu a sad state of disorder and mis- 

government overloolc the regions between Satara and Poona. 
Thefts, robberies, murders became so common that life and 
property were for a time quite unsafe. These were obvious¬ 

ly tile reults of Tarabai’s wanton mterference with the admi- 
ojstration; and these disorders came to be accentuated when 
the Chhatrapati himself <ame to be lodged in strict conQnc- 
merit, having no property of his own and fearing momentary 

danger to his life. The confusion in the Chhatrapati’s house 
quickly reacted upon the general populace outside. The only 
drastic I'emedy would have been to put the old lady in confine¬ 

ment as during the time of Shahu and to restore the Chhatra¬ 
pati to his position. But the Peshwa declined to lake such a 
step, and thereby became estranged from Mahadoba 
Purandare.^'' 

It was a trying circumstance for the Peshwa that when 

10. PuroHdart DaUsr 1. 224, 225, 267-275, 345, 354; Piirandau 
Dktry pp. 71, §1, S3; P, D. 23, 43 : Palu Yadi 103. 
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Tar^i took up a liostUe attitude he should have been severely 

estranged from Mahadoba Purandare, Sadashivrao and Rarn- 
chandra Baba executed some bold arid quick measures at 
Sangola ai«l saved the situation, But this the Pesliwa felt as 

an encroachment on his own powers. He bitterly resented 
Sadashivrao's action at Sangola and the two couans were 
ricarly on the point of an open ruptum. In this situation 
Mahadoba quietly withdrew fitim all oflice work and retiied 

to his home ut Siiswad. thus easing tJie tension so far as lay 
in his power, 

SadHsIiivrao, however, look a different line of fiction, 

iKiing encouraged and rinancially helped by I^uchandra 
Baba. He demanded fr(sn the Peshwa full power to conduct 
the arimi nisi rati on, md apppiving the lenient methcxl adopted 
hy tixe latter. The Pesliwa refused to surrender his power 
on any acetjunt, Sadasliivrao thereupon tlireatened to rcswi 
and seek service under Sambhaji Raja of Kolhapur, who had 

written to him, offering him the post of his Peshwa with a 
jagir of five thousand along with the possession of three iiu- 
porUint forts Bhimgad, Pargad and Vallabhgad, all on the bor¬ 
der of Kolhapur and Bclgaum." Happily the dispute was soon 

reconciled ?md nothing untoward happened in comequence. 
This was in the closing montlis of 1750, when Sada^vrao 
met the I’eshwa after his expedition to Sangola. 

In contrast with his father Bajirao, the Pesliwa Balajirao 

suflered fi-om one serious drawback. He was no soldier and 
could not personally conduct military campaigns. To meet 
this defect he often had to depend upon others thereby expos* 
ing himself to great risks. The Sindias and the Holkars be¬ 

came overbearing and practically independent. The Peshwa, 
therefore, reaied new young men of his own caste and confi¬ 
dence such as Trimbakrao Pethe, Gopalrao Patwardhan, Visaji 

Krislina Binivale, Balavantrao Mehendale and others. But 
none of these could he sent to the north, so as to exercise 
conlToi over the two powerful chiefs Sindia and Holkar. 

Ramchandra Baba being the richest public servant at the time, 
was a power by himself. He amassed a large fortune in the 
capacity of the Peshwa’s agent, controlling and gupervising the 

11, Puruniiat^ Diary p, 60: Palrt Yadi 72. 
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affairs of the S^ndias, Jayappa became disgusted with Ram^ 

Chandra Baba's greed and compelled the Peshwa to recall him 
lo the south, just about the time that Shahu died. The Baba 

gave several lace to Sadashivrao and guided him in his execu- 
^on of the Sangola settlemei^t. Ramchandra Baba died at 

Poona on 4th October 1754. He built a houre in Focm which 
Is said to have had seven storey a. the first of its kind llicn. 
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CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER XIV 

Unubai Dabiuidu misute Peshwa at Atandi. 
Nasir Jjuis iTxurdcnid. 
Mux«tlTar Jang murdera:]. 

I’csltwa and Saciaehivrao proceed to tbc Kar- 
natak. 

Ddmuji Gaikwad'K raid upon die Pcsltwa’s 

territories, 
PisKwa's forces sufTcc defeat at Baliadarpura 

in KJiandeeh, 
Uamaji iieai Poona. 

Dana)! defeated near the Venya, 
Light actioQs near Satara between Dainaji 

and the Feshwa’s troops. 

Pe^wa at Pangal. 
Ptshv/a leaves for Satara. 

PeshWB reaches Satara, demands finm 

Damaii half share of Oujatat 
pQliwa raids Damaji's camp aod makes him 

prisoner, 
Onjnajf kept in confmement at Poona. 

Pcahwa reati^cs Poona, 
Kaghunathrao starts for Gujarat. 

Bamaji removed to Lubgad. 
Damajl agrees to cede ball Gujarat, 
Damajl highly honoured at Poona. 
Ahiitadabad captured but again lost 

Lcnabfll Dabhade dies 
Yashvantrao Dabhada dies, 

Ahmadabad recaptured. 

Sarat taken by the English. 
Srt)ach «>nquered by the English. 





CflAPTER XIV 

DAMAJI GAIKWAD IN GUJAKAT 
{1749—1759} 

1 ll|Hni 3 ’J1lV PcillWtl KOrOK, 
iliv IV'liwt. 1 AlirnulUvJ cui'iiirviL 

i ’I'lii* IVnIiwj tuck. ^ Siirar nnil Itnaub. 

J. Daiiiuji’.s iinslau|»Iir upon die Peshwa.—Tlie years 
17r>0 cukI 1751 proved exceptionally siirring lor Maliarashtra 
and the Dwxani jii A severe struwjle for power srarled 
belwocu the Pcshwa and Tavabai and a similni* domestic trou- 
Wc* engrossed the tHfiKhtaiiiiK Stale of llaicUuabad, Nasir 
Juny and MiixalTai' Jan^ invaded Uic Knmatak and both were 
murdered in quick succcstuon, the finrt on 5th December 1750, 
and tiic second on Slat January following* This was an op¬ 
portunity for the Peshwa to int^'fere in the aiTaim of that State 
and assert We supremacy over it- With this intention he and 
iiis cousin Sadasbivrao left Poona early in January with largo 
ioatfs to subjugate the southern regions. Katesinh and 
Uaghiijl Bliosle joined them on their way. 

In the meantime a dispute was long going on between ^he 
Pcshwa on the one ade and the Dablia^ and tlie Gaikwad on 
tJie other- The Peahwa dabned a half share in the territory 
of Oujarat, a claim which the two veliwnently resisted. Afler 
difi”Pratinidhi and the Sachiv, it was now the lurn of the 
Sennpali an old member of the Aahta Pradhana, to be humbled. 
Dahhade’s hou.se was divided against itself* arid while Damaji 
Gaikwad was not particulady anxious to support either of 
them, lie considered it advantageous to side with them in the 
resistance they jointly offered to the Psshwa’s demand for a 
half share in Gujarat During the rainy season of 1750 when 
the grand assemblage met at Poona* the Peshwa pressed Uma* 
bai Dabhadc to accede to his demand. She in her extremity 
approached Tarabai against him. The two ladies started con¬ 
certed measures to put down the Peshwa and raised a cry that 
the Chhatrapati’s Raj was usurped by the Brahmans. Tliey 
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wrote Strong: appeals on this subject to most of the Maratha 
sardars and induced Damaji to head thdr cause. Umabai 

sent her agent Yado Mahadev to plead her case before the 
Peshwa : but liaving failed in his misaon, Yado Mahadev re¬ 

turned without even accepting tlie customary hospitality from 
the Peshwa. Thereupon Umabai herself met tlie Peshwa at 

Alajidi on 22Tid November and finding that he would not relent 
in his demand, both Umabai and her daughter-in-law Ambika- 
bai signed under compulsion a written consent agreeing to give 

up the half sham of Gujarat. 
This proved the beginning of the trouble- Tarabai and 

Umabai perfected their plans. Tlie former obtained conttn) c»f 
the Cliliatrapali at Satara and invited Damaji Gaikwad to 

march upon Poona, as soon as the Peshwa had left that place 
on his Kamatak expedition early in January 1751. Thus 

during the next three months a severe commotion raged 
through Maharashtra owing to Damaji's irijiption. 

In addition to the usual skirmishes and plundering raids, 
there were two severe actions between the Gailcwad's and the 

Peshwa’s troops, one at Bahadarpura in Kliandesh on IStli 
February and the other on the Venya river near Salara on 15th 
March. In the fii'st action Damaji defeated the Peshwa’s, 

army ; but in the second he sustained a severe set back. The 
I^wa learnt of this great commotion when he was on the 
Krishna near Raichur and repaired to Satara hastily, where 

he arrived on 24th April. On 30th April he attacked Damaji’s 
camp near Satara, plundered it completely and took Damaj! 
captive. This short summary of the affair requires an elabo¬ 
ration. 

The Peshwa had stationed in Baglan some of his trusted 
officers to oppose Damaji who had about 15000 troops with 

him. Hari Damodar Nevallcar, an ancestor of tlie future Rani 
of Jhansi, was the first to venture alone against Damaj'i. 
Balvantrao Mehendale, Bapuji Bhimrao and Mahipatrao 

Kavde hurried into Khandesh from Poona as soon as reports 
reached them of Damaji’s devastating invaaon. On the banks 
of the Tapti stood the two opposing forces, the Gaiiwad's on 

the northern and the Peshwa's on the southern. For some 
time none dared to attack the other, Damaji then crossed over, 

attacked the Peshwa's troops at Bahadarpura, about ten miles 
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from AmaJner and routed them after a stiff fight Damajj 
captured the elephant with the Peshwa's standard and secured 
a large amount of booty, The Gaikwad thereupon marched 
upon Poona devastating the territory on his way, From Tale- 

gawi came Oabhade and joined him. On March lOth the 
Gaikwad reached Nimbgaon Davdi. Trirabakrao Pethe came 
out of Poona to oppose him. 

Frxjna foil into the throes of a scare, (jovernment pio- 

perty wjis removed to Sinhgad and the resdents of the city 
ran etw\y witli Lheir valuables and otlicr belongings. Wlien 

Ihe veteran Pilaji Jadhav learnt that the Gailcwad was going 
lu devastate Poona, he came out ot hia post at Wadi, saw 
Damaji and induced him to desist from any aggression upon 
the innocent city, Some of the Pe^wa'e wcU-wishers also saw 
Damaji and thua reported their talk. '• I saw Damaji and 

gave him the revered mother’s letter (Radhabai’sj, He read 
it but gave no answer. I then spoke to him a few words of 
conciliation, when he said, ’'This is no time for friendship. 

You must leave my camp. I am come to wed and am seeking 
brides; but there ia time yet for the ceremony,” He used 
such a haughty language and added, 'The revered mother has 

fled to Sinhgad, where was then the need for her to write to 
me? I know you have come to get news. Take away what 
you liave seen. Tell the mother we have erected die welcome 
ardi: your troops must pull it down.’" I then returned. 

Damaji has arranged hla armies In five dlviaons, and is pro¬ 
ceeding to wards Satara.” Pilaji Jadhav again wrote to him 
not Vo go against Satara and if he did, he would come to grief 
adding, "If you tru^C me, 1 will bring about a peaceful settle¬ 

ment between you and the Peshwa.” Damaji replied, “I have 
given my sacred word to Tarabai which I cannot violate. 
Gamaji the MutaliQ, has come to me with Tarabai’s letter,” 

It is this insolent language of Damaji which irritated the 
Pesliwa so severely in his future dealings with him. 

For a time Damaji doubtless created a strong sensation. 
Tarabai collected a force of Mavlas to co-operate with Damaji. 

But Trirabak Sadashiv alias Nana Purandare left Satara with 
his force and joined the Poona array near Jejuri. Many ollict 
sardars came quickly and swelled the Peshwa’s army. 
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Damaji proceeded straight upon Satara and pitched his camp 

at Varye and Mhasve on tlie river Venya. The Poona Iroops 
soon arrived and the Peahwa's camp waa formed at Vadulh 
on the left bank of the Ki ishna about ten miles east. On 

13tli March Nana Purandare rashly attacked Damaji V camp, 
hut boiny roulcd fell ])ack upon Limb. But this wis only a 

short-lived joy. Mehenrinlo, Pethe and olher valiant. yniniK 
commanders who were behind at Vaduth, made a conccrtKl 

fuiioua attack un Daraiiji on 15th March ;iml Ktuned a amv 
plete victory, captufjii« a Jarjre tjuantity of stores ami IxIouk- 
ings, Damaji and tlic Uabhadc saved what they Ciiuld and took 

shelter in tbe Mahar-dara Valley west of tlie town. Tins 
fxittlc of the Venya decided tl« fate of the campaiKU. Awaln 
on March 21 Damaji orttanisod his resources with some small 

help rendered by Taiabai. A light action took place witli no 
decisive result. 

The Pesbwa's camp was now moved to flie river Venya, 
where formerly Damaji’s troops had taken post. Dahhade's 

plight became most miserable. He had n(» motjey and no sup- 
plies. He had to lx* content with what little Damaji clii)se to 

spare for lum. Another action took place on 30th Marcli on 

the plain of Pawai, in which tlie Gaik wad again KUstained a 
defeat. His two sons and son-in-law took shelter xvith Tara- 

bai in the fort. 

2. The Pe?J»wa hits back—The news of the battle of 
the Venya on 15th March reached the Peahwa on the 20Qi 
at Nizam-konda near PanaRal in the vicinity of tl« confluence 

of the rivers Krishna and Tungabhadra. lie there made :i 
grand demonstration of hia power liaving been joined by jnost 
of the Maradia worthies including Ramchandra Jadhav, Uclaji 

Chavan, Murarrao Ghorpade (with his four brothers), Fate- 
sinh and Raghuji Bhosle. Had not the Gaikwad's affair called 
him away suddenly to Satara, he would have made short 

work of the Nisam's power then utterly disconcerted by the 
murders of Nasir Jang and Muza/Tar Jang and the absence of 
a powerful personality to organize the resources of the Haidar- 

abad State. Such a personality soon appeared in the French 

General Bussy. Tlie mere demonstration of the Pcahwa’s 
power was enough to make the whole region from Haidarabad 
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to Trichinopoly submit to Maratha domination and quickly 
pay the tribute. 

The Pesbwa gave a grand entertainment to the Maratha 
assemblage, honoured them with gifts, and enlisted their sym¬ 
pathies lor the course lie was then following to root out the 
enemies of the Maratha power. Leaving Sadashivrao to com¬ 

plete the operations of this expedition, tlie Peshwa himself re¬ 
turned by the j^iorlcst route to Satara. On 12th April he vmtes, 

*' I'lavInK effected a beneficial peace with the Haidarabad 
authorities, I am returnijig craped itiously to Satara ; Raghuji 
Bhosle wa.s willing to accompany me; but as he had other 
pressing work at Chanda Devgad and as there wsus no longer 

any need for me of his help, I allowed him to depart for his 
province.” Within twelve days the Pesliwa reached Satara 
on 2iUi April and found that Gaik wad was practically besieged 
by his troops, so that no supplies could reach him from outside. 

But at the same lime the Peshwa rightly concluded that 
the best way to master the situation at Satara was to gain 

ascendency at the Niaam's court; and this he had done before 
reaching Satara. " Where could I stand,’' he writes to 
Purandare, "if by chance I had lost my position in these 

quarters ? Fortunately I have gained more than 1 had expect¬ 
ed ; and you must be in no hurry to conclude the affair of 

SaLara. Try to keep up the stale-mate and remain on the de' 
tensive, till I arrive on the scene. When we meet we shall see 
how best lo deal with the wiluation,"* 

On niTival in the camp on Uie Venya the Peshwa at once 
launched a severe offensive against the Gaikwad. Within a 
day or two Damaji found his position untenable and applied 

for terms, A personal conference was found necessary. The 
Peshwa sent his own agents Satvoji Jadhav, Nana Purandare, 
and Ramdiandra Baba to fetch Damaji. He came along with 

Dabhade, talked to the Peahwa and returned to his can^. 
Thereupon he was asked to come and talce up his residence 
near the Peshwa’s quarters. He complied and fixed his post 

on the right or the southern bank of the Venya, the Peshwa 
being on the left side. The latter immediately made a stern 
demiid for the half share of Gujarat Damaji replied, 

1, PurandoTt Daflar 1. 333*343. 
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Gujarat beloDg:3 to Umabai Dabhadc. I am only her («rvant. 

She has to decide the point.'’ Damaji thereupon saw Umnhai, 

explained to h« the Peshwa’s demand and resigned his own 
position as the agent of the Dabhades by delivering the 
seals and infalgnla of his office. Early in tlie morning of 30th 

April the Pesbwa during the course of these negotiations sud¬ 
denly attacked Damajl's quarters, when lie wae not ready to 
hghl; and was actually ha^dng his hath, lielng perfectly at ease 

under the solemn assurance he had received from the Peshwa 
against ti^eacliery. 

Damaji called upon his followers to of^r nc resistance and 

allow tlie Peshwa's men to perpetrate what they willed. Vilhal 
Shivdev plundered the Gaikwad'a camp and carried his two 
brothers Khanderao and Jai'sinh prisoners to the Peshwa, 

Manajl Payg:ude similariy captured Yashvantrao Dabhade and 
carried him to his own tent. Thereupon Damaji alone 
walked to the Peahwa's tent and offered himsdi for arTest> 

vehemently protesting against the flagrant breach of a sacred 
oath. The Pe^wa put all Qie Gaikwad brothers together and 
kept tliem strongly j^uarded from outside communication. The 
Dabhades too were eimilariy placed together along with Uma¬ 
bai and when under such restraint, asked to cede hall of 

Gujarat. They reluctantly signed their consent under compul¬ 
sion and were on llth May all despatched to Poona and kept 
confined in the house of Avji Kavde, under strict guards. 

They were to be released after they had actually handed over 
the districts in Gujarat demanded by the Peshwa. Two of 
Damaji's sons Patesinh and Manaji remained in the Satara fort 

with Tarabai. The Peshwa’s conduct in arresting Damaji 
against his plighted word was widely condemned at the 
time. But it must be remembered that Damaji himself had 

provoked the Peshwa's wrath by his wanton invasion of Poona, 
when the Peshwa was absent in tlie Kamstak. 

After sending away the Dabhades and the Gaikwads to 
Pwna, the Peshwa remained behind at Satara, negotiating his 
further course with Tarabaf. But she declined to come down 

from the fort or deliver over Ramraja I The Peshwa wisely 

abandoned all coercive measures against her, stationed a strong 
force to watch her at Satara and himself returned to Poona 
on 22nd May. He very well knew that it was no easy matter 
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to reOuce Satsira to ^bmission, as the fort was well provision¬ 
ed to stand a long siege. As with the capture of the Dabhades 
and the (Jalkwads, the main support of Tarabai was gone, her 

own devoted followers also realized that heia was then a lost 
cause. The Peshwa hereafter abandoned her to her fote. 

Thus botl) Tarabai and Ramraja at once lost all power and 
influence. But Damaji and the Dnbhade, tlmugh well guard¬ 

ed at Poona did not give up their intrigues. They secretly 
carried on plans witli Taralmi at Satara, When this was dis¬ 
covered, (heir confinement was made extremely rigorous from 
about Itlth July onwards- On 14lh November they were re¬ 
moved from P(H)na to the fort of I-ohgad along with Ram- 

chandra BasavanU Daniaji's helpmate. 

3. The Peshwa scores.— In die meantime the Peshwa 
unt Vitlial Shivdev into Ciujarat to take poesasMon of the dis¬ 

tricts of Damaji, constituting the Peshwa’s half sliare. A little 
later on 22 October Rf^Uunathrao Dada was also despatched 
to Gujarat to complete the work. With him went two sons of 

Damaji Khanderao and Sayaji. In the meantime Ramchandra 

Basavant escaped from Lohgad, went to Songad in Gujarat 
and started trouble against the Peshwa. Thinga went on in 
this way for .<»mo month.*: when ultimatdy Damaji finding 

there was no use resisting the Peshwa's demand, i^eed to the 
following terms on 30th March 1752 end was then released 
with all his relations and allowed to proceed to Gujarat:— 

(1) Dabliadc's claim to Gujarat was entirely abandoned; 

(2) Damaji Gaikwad was to be the sole Maratha repre- 
wnta^ve there with the title of Sena-Khaa-Khel; 

(3) He at once ceded half the territory and agreed to 

yield a similar half share of all tlmt would hereafter come to 

be conquered; 
(4) He agreed to pay a fine of Rs. 15 lacs to the i^shwa; 

and 
(6) He likewise agreed to serve the Peshwa loyally here¬ 

after with ten thousand troops wherever and whenever be 

would be called upon to do so. 
This agreement was later confirmed In writing by Tarabai 

also. Thus this question of the P«hwa*s claim to a half share 
in Gujarat, first put forth in 1726 came to be finally settled 
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after a quarter of a century, and tlie Pcshwa's aulhoriiy as the 

supreme manajJier of the Maratha State wish /ormally acknow¬ 
ledged by Datnaji in the same way as Kaghuji Bhoslc had done 
in the case of Nagpur and as Sindia, Holkar and others were 

doing in Malwa and Bundelkhand. Baghunathreu was ao 
companied by Sakharam Bapu a competent rising diplomat, 

and together they executed the terms of the agreement on I lie 
spot in Gujarat, took possession of the districts allotted to llic 
Peshwa’s share and returned in May. Damaji himself so 

loyally carried out the (ilipulatjons tliat upon his visit to 
Poona on 23rd June 1752, he was highly honoured and cordial¬ 
ly received, the Pcaliwa himsilf going a long distance in ad¬ 

vance to meet him." The outcome of this visit was an agreed 

plan to capture Ahmadabad, the capital of Gujarat whicli was 
still held by a representative of the decaying Mi^haJ power. 

It did not take long for the Peslrwa to settle with Dabhacle, 

who had to accept under compulsion the terms ottered to him, 
and get reconciled to the fate that bad come upon him. Uma- 
bai grew old and wearied and the Peshwa did his best to relieve 

her distress. She was brought to Poona from I'alegaon for 
treatment in September 1753 and tlicrc abc died on 2Rth No¬ 

vember following, ller son Ya.shvantrao died the next year on 
18th May 1754 near Miraj on his way back from the Karnatak 
where he bad accompanied the Peshwa, Vashvantrao's son 

Trimbaknio II became the next Senapati,.which now remained 
only a nominal title. This, Trimbakrao died in 1766 near Verul, 

The descendents of the Dabhade Senapati are still living at 

Talegaon on the scanty remains of their ancestral estates. 

4. Ahmadabad captured.—Damaji Gaik wad and the 
Pe^wa having been fully reconciled, they jointly undertook 

the task of conquering Ahmadabad which was indeed the 
capital city of Gujarat. Rajduuiathrao was appointed by the 

Peshwa to proceed to Gujarat for that venture, lie left in 
January 1763 and having been joined by Damaji in IQiandesh 
came directly upon Ahmadabad and be^eged tlie city. Jaivan- 

mard Khan Babi and his helpmate Kamal-ud-din Klian tried 
their utmost to defend the dty. They were overpowered and 

3. Rej. Vol. S. 39.S, 395 ; Ptrandart Diary p. 79. 
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surrendered the town to Raghunathiao on 25th April 1753, 
including the whole territory of Kathiawad, right up to 

Dwarka. The famous shrine of Krishna at this place came into 
Maratha possession and so continues till now. 

The affair of Ahmadabad did not end here. It was re¬ 
captured by the MussaJman Nawabs of Palanpur and Cambay 

early Jn 1757, But the Peahwa took prompt measuits, and the 
place was again secured on 11th October 1757. Ahmadabad 
tiiercafler continued to be a Maratha possesidon, with half 
sliaa's for the Peshwa and the Gaik wad, until during the last 

Anglo-Maralha war it full into the hands of the British on 
1st l>ecernber 1817. 

5. Suiat and Bioscii,-Another important town of 
Gujarat was Surat, with a long and chequered history of its 
own ; while the Brilish traders of the East India Company 
had gradually established thdr control over this excdlent 

harbour on the west coast, it formed an important possession 
of the Mughal Empire and as such had attracted the cupidity 
of Shivaji long ago. Aurangreb, however, cared for it only as 
an embarkir^ station for Muslim pilgrims goic^ to and return¬ 

ing from Mecca ; and for this purpose he entrusted its manage¬ 
ment to the Siddi of Janjira as an expert naval commander. 
Thus Surat was being governed from Janjira by one of their 
naval chiefs. 

In the limes of the Peshwa Nana Salieb, the governor ol 
Surat was Siddi Masud, an enemy of the Marafhas, doing iiis 

utmost to defend the place against any attack by the latter. 
He secured the support of the British traders, who used to be 
well armed in naval defence. There was in addition a Mughal 
governor whose rule was nominal- Thus there was a keen 
rivalry going on for years between the four powers, for the 

possession of this lucrative naval post, the Marathas, the 
Siddi, the Mughal Governor Miya Achhan and the British 

traders. These last had just asserted thdr power by the de^ 
truction of Tulaji Angria and the capture of Gheria or Vijaya* 
dutg in 1756, The British tried to take possession of Surat 
by every contrivance they could think of. They concluded a 

treaty ^ween these four powers, which on ihai account is 
termed Chauthia, on 4th March 1759. By this means they 

21 
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first gained the friendship of the Maralhas and put down SidUi 
Masud. Then they managed to obtain a iiman of the Km- 
peror of Delhi on Ist December 1759, granting them ihe 

governorship of the place so that the local Mughal Governor 

Miya Achhan lost all power At this very time tlie Marathas 
became crippled by the disaster of Panipat, which gave a /rcsh 
start to Biitish ambitions, by removing the only powerful c<vn- 

petitor from the contest lor the possession ol Sural, In due 
course die Englrsli confirmed their hold on Surat aiKi Uiat poit 

was finally lost to the Marathas." 
The Slddl of Surat hod all along In the past been the Ivwt 

friend of the British, but the moment tlieir inleicsU claslicd, 

the British removed him unceremoniously by brinKing from 
Delhi a fresh fiman against the SIddi. Broach was captured 
later by Mahadjl Sindia during the first Maratha v'ar and 

lost by Daulatrao in the war of 1803. Cambay alone managed 
to eke out its own controllefi existence under its Nawalj on a 
par with the Gaikwad’s State of Baroda. 

Such has been the chequered history of the four unpovtanl 
towns and harbours which command the ferlile lerrilory of 
Gujarat, 

3. K D, 3^, 836'S41, No. 234 in partifular and P, D. Ss. ISl 



CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER XV 

1720, Feb. 8 
174«, May 21 
17G0, Ducunibcr 5 

L750. December 

1751, January 7 
ITOl, January ‘il 

1751. February 

1761, Mu I eh 23 

1761, April 22 

1751, Monsoon 

1751, November 15 
I^l, November 20 
1761, November 21 

1751, November 27 

1751, December 2 

1751, December 
1752, January 6 

1752. April 
1752, April 7 
1752, June 3 
1752, September 25 

1752, October 16 
1752. November 24 

1752, November 

Bussy bom. 

Nizam*ul-inullc dies aged 77. 
Nfluir Jang murdea’d, 
MuzofTat Jung declared Nawab at PondU 

cluirry. 

MuzunVki Jang Ivavus Pondicherry. 
Mueaifar Jang killed; Salable Jang pro> 

claimed by Bi^y. 
Pcsliwa at Pangal, arranging to bring Ghnsi* 

uddiji /rom Delhi. 
luriTm of pcacK arranged butwuen PunltwH and 

Saliibat Jang ; Hamda^ant's secret intrigue 
agairut tite Peshwa, 

Kamda^nl seizes Pcshw&'s treasure near 

Aurangabad. 
JanoJi Nimbalkar negotiates peace in Poona. 

Bussy starts offensive against the PecliwA. 
Baltic of Parocr, Chimnaji Bapuji killed. 

Surprise raid upon the Peshwa at the river 
Kukdl during a night of eclipse. 

Battle of Malthan, Muglials defeated. 
Fort Trimbak captured by the Peahwa. 
Raghuji Bhosle ravages Nlsam'a territory. 

Treaty concluded at &ngwa, fort Trimbak' 

restored to the Nizam. 
Ghaai'Ud'dln leaves Delhi for the south. 

Ramda^nt murdered. 
Chanda Salteb murdered. 
Ghasi'Ud'din arrives near Aurangabad, 
Ghaahud'din killed by poieoo. 
Treaty of Bhalki; BagUn and part of Berar 

come into Maratha possession. 

MuzaHor Khan GardI comes inb the P^ahwa's 

employ- 
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17SS, January 8 

175S, March 20 
ires, May U 

1753, June 

1754 
1754, October 24 

1754, November 

1755, early months 

1758, M^rch 
1756, March 12 

1756, April 

1756, May IS 

1756, May IS 

1756, Junc Ort. 

1756, July 

1766, NcFvembflT 16 

1757, January 1 
,1757, May 

1757 
1757 

1757, Monsoon 

1757, August 27 

1757,S^teinber 24 

1757, November 

1757, Dec. 12-16 

Peshvra uarU on liis first expedition to the 
Kamatak. 

HoU Honour captured. 
Dharwar enptured. 
Peehwa visits Kolhapur on hia way to Poona. 
The Pesliwa's second expedition up to Haribar. 

Tlic Poshwfi starts m hie 3rd expedition to 
Bednur. 

TIu Arinc of Trimbakeahwar restored by the 

Fcsliwa, M&sjtd pulled down. 
Muxaff^ Khan quarrels with Puiandnrc, 

quits Peslm's service and rebels at 
. Savasur. 
Peabwa appears before Savanur. 
Mmffar Khan makes a sally upon the 

Marathae. 
Severe fightiag before Savanur. 
Savanur surrendered: Muaaffar Khun 

escaped; Muranao Ghorpadc agrees to servi> 
the Peshwa. 

Salabat Jang dismisses Busay. 
Bubs/s heroic stand against Salubat Jang at 

Qiar Minar. 

‘Hie Peshwa returra victorioue to Poona. 
Bussy reinstated in service by Salabat Jang. 
Peshwa's expedition to Slirirangapattaa 
Peshwa receives tribute from Mysore and 

returns to Poona. 

Nlxam All employs Ibrehim Kban Gardi. 

Shah Nawas Khan takes posseesioc ol Dau- 
latabad. 

NieaTTi Aii starts aggiession against the 
Marathas. 

The Peshwa moves from Poona against 
Aurangabad. 

Nawab of Kadappa laJIa fighting against Bala* 
vantrao Mehendale; Kadappa captured. 

Hostilities start between NJzam Ali and 
the Marathas round Aurangabad. 

Severe fighting before SndVhed. 
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1757, Dca:cinbfir 27 

1757, December 29 

1750-1760 
1758 

1758, May U 

175K, June 18 

175f>, Oclobcr 

nC^. 28 

1759, November d 

1759, Duccanber 

1760, Januaiy 

1760, January 22 

1760, Januajy 26 

17G0, February 3 

1762, July 7 

1763, September 16 
1783, March 17 
1786, January 7 
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Nisam All acknowledges defeat tod requests 

terms of peace. 
Treaty of jicacc raliftad at &4kharkhedla. 
East coast region reduced by die Marathas. 
Salabat Jang dismisses Shah Nawas Khan 

and a|)|K)jnts Haidar Jang his mlnkter. 

llaidnr Jang, Siv^h Nawaz Khun and hh 
Stine murdered. 

J3u»y leaves I laidarnbad llitnlly, at tlic cal! of 
Ilk aupurior, Laby. 

Nisnm All dismisses Ibrahim Khan Gsrdi. 
wIk] immcdbitcly accqita Ptsliwak avrvictL 

MuzalTar Klitm ntlcmptii Sadaslumo's lilc 
and k orecuted. 

Fort Ahmadnag&r secured by the Peshwa 
tliroufih Kavi Jang, 

War oixns bulween Peshnn and Niaoni. 

Marathas attack Nisam All near Udgir. 
Bussy taken prkoner tn tlie battle of 

Wandcwasli and sent to Europe. 

A stiff action near Udgir, is whldi the Mu* 
ghals arc completely routed. 

Treaty of Udgir, rigoroua terms imposed upon' 

NIsam All. 
Salahat Jang kept under confinemeot by 

Nizam All. 

Salabat Jang put to death. 
Buisy ncicc more returns to India. 

Bussy dies In India. 





CHAFTER XV 

THE MARATHA-NI2AM S'rRUGGLE 

[1751^1761} 

1 hu8«y tho sv«Av. 

2 M&nihU'Niujn wor of 
l7S:-«. 

.•* Uwj of grcilkry. 
Muxiiffui Khan, 

•I fnll of Snvnnur. ml uf 
Mm>i(7ir KI>An. 

$ The Kjimjiuik mk unJ^nahoJ. 
6 ^utsf Ht Char MIuc« 
7 The Ni^iun's (tvkiic At 

Sintikhed. 
R Horrid munUsn 
9 Baltic of Udglr 

1. Biwsy on ihe scene,—Asaf Jab's cspedliion in the 
i^amatak and capiore of Trichinopoly in 1743 proved his last 
{treat achievement; thei'ealter he fa^ declined in health and 
died at Burlianpur on 21 May 1748 at the age of 77. Before 

his death be prepared a document, in which among otlter things, 
he gave a strong warning to hia son to keep on friendly terms 

with the Marathas and avoid hostiiitiea with them. He expross* 
ed sentiments of amity towards the Peshwa. For a few yeare 

before his death he studiously avoided giving any irritation to 
the Meratlin^j. But his son Nasir Jang being of a restless 

temperament tried to talce advantage of his father’s death 
by launching hostilities against the Mnrathas.^ Nasir Jang also 
tried to intervene in the affairs of Delhi, but circurmtances 
soon compelled him to check his ambitions both in the. north 

and the south, The Peshwa had no small share in putting a 
curb on the aggressive moves which Nasir Jang attempted. 

Muzaffflf Jang a son of Asaf Jah'a daughter, and Chanda- 
sahch made a common cause against Naair Jang, and by secur¬ 
ing the support of the French of PoDdicUerry, tried to alrengthen 

th^r position in the Karnatak. Nasir Jang realising the danger 
from this quarter, secured several allies bcloding the Britisdi 
merchants of Fort SI. George and with huge forces descended 

into the Karnatak in, 1750. The two armies came to oppose 
each other in the vicinity of Arcot. On December 5, 1750, 

1. Rjii. 872; Raj. 6.186, 186; P. D. 23-25; tiofini Daftar 1-34. 38, 

40. 



320 NEW HISTORY OF THK MARATHAS j VOIv Jt 

Nasir Jang was suddenly murdered by his Pathan allies, wJu> 
had proved faithless and who then raised Muzaffar jang to die 

jnasnad, Muzaffar Jang proceeded to Pondidierry and was 
thece acclaimed by Dupleix as the head of the Nisam's Slate. 
Accepting a strong contingent of French forces commanded by 

the rising Bussy^ (b- 8th Kebruaty 1720), MuzafTar Jang left 
Pondicherry on 7th January 1761 to proceed to hiw capital in 

the Deccan. After leaving Arcot as he was moving towards 
Kadappa, an unexpected encounter took place Ixstween the 
aeverai Pathans and the Kroncli auxiliaries in the plain of 

Eakhoti (Laldd-reddi-palli) about twenty five milea south uf 
Kadappa, wherein Muzaffar Jang was on January 31 suddenly 
killed with a bullet shot by the Pathan a^esaors. Bussy dis* 

closed a rare presence of mind on this critical occasion, pro¬ 

claimed Salabat Jang as the rightful Nawab and marched on 
with him towards Haidarabad.^ Bussy was guided in these 
measures by a clever Brahman diplomat Kamdaspant, who 

had been in Nasir Jang^s employ^ and wJiom Bussy now won 
over. E>upleix gave him the title Raja Raghunathda^. Bussy'K 

Muslim secretary and interpreter Haidar Jang, a verxatilc and 
clever diplomat well-versed in French also rendered him faitli- 

ful service. Witli the help of these two, Bussy saved the posi¬ 

tion of the Haidarabad State with consummate ability, and 
soon made himself indispensable. Ramdaspant was made the 
Diwan of Salabat Jang. 

These changes in the fortunes of the Aaaf Jahi State at> 
tracted the Peshwa’s attention and created in him a desire to 

make the best use of them for the advantage of the Maratlia 
power. Aitliough the Peshwa was at tlje time involved in 
serious trouble with Tarabai, he managed to leave Poona early 

in 1751 and proceeded towards Aurang^ad, subjv^ating the 
north Godavari region on the way. But as soon a$ he learned 

Muzaf^ Jang was killed and that Salabat Jang was 

coming towards Haidarabad, the ifehwa quickly turned south¬ 
ward to oppose them, arranging In tlie meantiirie to bring the 
late Asaf Jah's eldest son Ghazi-ud-dln from Delhi to claim 
his father’s possessions in the Deccan as the legitimate and 

rightful heir. But considering it dangerous to oppose Salabat 

2- P. D. 36. 10*. 1<6. uo. 
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Jang and involve himself in a ^ht with the welHrained French 
troops and their able commander Busay, he managed to effect 
a peaceful understanding wltli Salahat Jang by engaging the 

aympalliies of Janojf NimbaUcar a powerful Maratba chief in 
the Nizam’s service. At the end of February the Pesliwa 
halted nt l^ragal, wi^cncc he conducted negotiations with 

Bujwy and Salabat Jang wtv) were encamped about fifteen 
miles furtlicr south, liussy was not then wdl conversant with 
the trends of Dcccan politics, nor was he anxious to open a 

war against the Pej^wa, as he was not tliwi in full control 
of tlie military situation, so that he readily closed in with tlia 

h^rntlia offer of peace. It took two weeks for the negotia^ 
tfons to be completed and a settlement acceptable to both 
the parties to ^ arrived at. On 23rd March 1751 the 

Peshwa writes, We have concluded a friendly arrangement 
with Sabbat Jang,” who agreed to pay 17 laca to tlie Peshwa 
In order to pur^ase his nondnt&rvendcn in the succession 

dispute, of which two lacs were paid in cash, and the rest 
was guaranteed by the bankers. The Peshwa cancelled his 
previous orders for occupying the Khandeah territory of the 

Nizam between AurangaW and Burhanpur, on recriving a 
payment of three lacs more on that account 

Saiyad Lashkar Khan and Shah Nawaa Khan were two 
hereditary officers of Salabat Jang who had ably served Asat 
Jah and who atill continued to wield influence and power. The 
Peshwa managed to win over these nobles and tried through 

them to establish his ascendancy in the Nbam's counsels. 
Bussy, under Dupleix's instructions, was guided by Ramdas- 
pant, in addition to hb own secretary Haidar Jang. While the 

Peshwa’s agents at the Niram's court hi^ly humoured Ram- 
daspant, he was secretly intriguing with Tarabai at Satara to 
oust the Peshwa from his position and secure it for himself 

or for some one of his relations. This was the game then being 

played by the two parties, 

In the meantime Bussy was not long in studying and 

gathering into his hands the threads of Deccan politics, pre¬ 
paring for an eventual struggle, should that become necessary 
in order to put down the aggres^on of the Peshwa, who was 

fast occupying the forts of the Nasik district belonging to the 
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Nizam, and who in addition was persuading Ghazi‘ud*din the 

eldest son of Asaf Jah to come to the Deccan and assert hia 
claim to hU father’s dominions, tlierehy upsetting the arrange¬ 
ment BussY had effected in favour of Salabat Jang. 

2. Maratha-Nizam war of 1751-52.—Although Buasy 
and his advisers conciliated Uie Pealiwa for the lirnc being, 

in thdr hearts they decidwl to humble his pride. UamdaspanC 
was in this respect the moving spirit of the Nizam’s Court. 

In spoken words he purposely disarmed all suspicionn of the 
Marfltha agenta and news-reporters. The Peahwa returned to 

Satara from Panagal and Salabat Jang too moved on to his 
-capital. On 22nd April, Kamdaspanl captured and appropriat¬ 

ed in the vicinity of Aurangabad a treasure of 5 lacs which 
was coming for the Peshwa from tfae north, thus committing 

a wanton breach of friendly underslanding. When an cxpla- 
nation was demanded, such trilling excuses were made that 

they irritated the Peshwa all the more. Bussy and Salalwt 
Jang prepared for war if Ghazi-ud-din would come to claim 

the possession of the State. But as the Peslwa was to be kept 
off hia guard, Bussy and Ramdaspant deputed Janoji NImbiU- 
kar to Poona for l^ee months pretending to conduct negotia¬ 

tions of peace so as to be able to take tiie Peshwa by surprise 
in a sudden attack. But the Peshwa understood the game, 

refused to walk into the trap and prepared to meet the con¬ 
tingency. 

Witliin a few months Bussy managed through strict dis¬ 

cipline and incessant vigilance, to set the affairs of Salabat 
Jang on a sound basis. He selected for his camp a convenient 
spot in a comer of the town of Aurangabad and there fortified 

his position well. He qulddy trained large fresh troops, paid 
them handsomely and regularly, and thus attained exceptional 
military efficiency unknown to the indigenous armies. His 
rigorous discipline all round began to have a telling effect upon 
the administration, and even Salabat Jang himself began to 

quake before him, so that the machinations of the other slate 
officials were all put an end to. For his expenses Buwy ob¬ 

tained possession of some of the finest districts in the north- 
east, which became known as the Northern Sarkare and which 
came to be entirely managed by French agency 
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The expected war with the Marathes brckc out in Novem* 

ber, 1751. The Pesliwa had already left Poona and marched 
Cowards Ahmadnagar In October. On 15th November Busay 
left Aurangabad and alter crossing Cbe Godavari began lavag* 

ing the Maratha territories. The Peshwa loch to guerilla 
Cactjcfl. burnt and desolated his own villages ho to starve 
the enemy whose main strength lay in his artillery, the reach 

of which the Maralhas carefully avoided. Bussy ardently de* 
Hired to blow away Poona with his guns: but he couid liardly 
pn>ceed so far. On 20th November a fairly stiff action was 

fought near Pamer, in which one of the Peahwa’s valiant olH* 
eers. Chimnaji Bapuji was killed and Bhamsher Bahadur's oiait 
was wounded with a spear. The ne.xt evening November 21. 
while the Peshwa was engaged in his religious performances 
due to a lunar eclipse on the river Kidmdi, artillery shots sud¬ 

denly falling in. created a consternation; the Peshwa ran away 
to save his life and his materials of worship were seiaed by 
the Muslims. On 27th November a bloody action took place 
near Mallhan resulting in a severe defeat of Saiyad La.shkar 
IChan who lost a great deal in plunder. This battle is called 

the battle of the Ghod river. The neighbouring villages of 
Shikrapur and Talegaon (Dhamdhera) were plundered and 

destroyed by the Muslims. Paghuji Bhosle at this time came 
and joined the Peshwa after capturing many important places 
between Aurangabad and the Godavari. The Mughals thea 

retired to Pedgaon or Bahadiirgad, being hotiy pureued by the 
Marathas during the march. 

Nearly two months of such desultory warfare convinced 

Bush/ that he was not strong crwugb to resist the Maratloa 
tactic!) of a running light and suggested the patching up of a 
peace in order to gain lime, Envoys eat down at Singwa near 
Pargaon. The Peshwa had seised fort Trimbak, which Salabat 

Jang insisted on getting back. The Peshwa yielded and a 
restoration of status quo was agreed to on both sides on 6tb 
January 1752, known as the treaty of Singwa. Konher 

Trimbak Eicbote was rewarded with the title of Phakde for 

distinguished service In Ibis short war. 
These operations did not however, decide the dispute of the 

two Stales finally or remove the cause of friction, viz., wbo was 

to be the deciding authority in the politics of the Deccan, 
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Buasy'e advent in support of the Asaf Jahi Slate, doubtless 
irritated the Peahwa who now urgently invited Ghaai-ud'din 
from Delhi. The Khan left Delhi in April 1752 accompanied 

by Sindia and llolkar and readied Aurangabad on 2Sth Sep* 

leraber. But even before his actual arrival the very news ol 
Ghazi-ud-din having left Delhi filial Salabat Jang with con¬ 
sternation, m a civil war between Uie two brothers became 

imminent; and with the advice of Bussy he left AurangaMd 
in order to eatablisli himself far away at Haidarabad. Busay'x 
troops had not received their pay for some time and raised 

a dreadful damour on the way. While they were camping at 
Bhalki about 40 miles east of Tulzapur, a mutiny broke out, 
in which the troops attacked Pamdaspant, their paymaster and 

killed him (7th April 1752). The other two prominent 
officials Saiyad Lashkhar Khan and Shah Nawai; Khan were 

already estranged from Bussy, as the latter wa^ too oveibear- 
ing and roi^h in his treatment of them. The Pesbwa at once 
tried to seize this opportunity and asked Sindia and Holkar 
to bring Ghariud-din on the scaite as quickly as possible, and 

himself started in August to meet him in the vicinity of 

Aurajigabad. Bussy and Salabat Jang loo retraced their steps 
to that city. 

The F^hwa and Ghasi-ud'din met early in October and 

concerted thdr plans, but before they could be executed, Ghari- 
ud-din met with hie death suddenly by poison at a dinner to 

which he was invited by Nisam Ali’a mother (16th October 
1752). So the whole project at once toppled down and things 
reverted to their former state. A large force of the Maralhas 

with most of thdr leading commanders now assembled near 
Aurangabad and tried to surround Salabat Jang and force him 
into obedience. He and Bussy took their departure for Hai* 
darabad and were followed by the Marathas harassing the 

Mughal rear. When he arrived near Bhalki he found himi^lf 

completely surrounded by the Marathas who had guns with 
them on this occasion. Bussy had not his full forces with 

him, not being prepared for such an eventuality. For four 
days the Marathas so harassed their enemies that they lost 

large numbers from starvation and the Maratha artillery. 
Salabat Jang requested terms through the medium of Bussy. 
The Marathas insisted that they would accept notfiing 
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than wliat Gha^i-ud'dln had conceded to thorn. 
That condition waa accepted and the treaty of Bhalki was the 

result. It was cemented by a ionnal exchange of visits and 
gifts of dresses and presents on 24th November 1752. The 
main part of this treaty of Bhalki was the cession ol thu whole 

western half of Berar between the rivers Godavari and the 
Tapti, by the Nis^am to the Maralha-s. Tills also included the 
whole of Baklan and Kliandesh. This demarcation of the 
Nisam's terrihny lias practically existed to llie present day. 

Belore the treaty of Bhalki the Nizam claimed all the territory 
eant of the Saliyadri range, Nasik, Trimbak' and all the im¬ 
portant forts in that region tliua passed into Maratha hands, 

and were soon put in an efficient slate of management and 
government. Thus the liberation of a large part of Maratlia 
homeland from the Mughal yoke was no imail gain. 

After the treaty was concluded the Pesliwa and Bussy 
had many cordial visits and full talks. The former pressed the 

latter to accept his service, which he wisely declined. Bussy no 
longer remained an enemy of the Marathas. 

3. This fort has a ^gnirtcaut history for the MaTelha«, deserving 

muflliun. Tlw Pi’ahwa lii dearly loved the north'Rwia tenitofy of the 

Nas*ik dUricL t* the unilham reglMt iipto Sataia. ThU wae considered the 

heart r>f Mrtnara'hlia fuel Ilbcrutcd by ShIvaU from Muslim yoke. Nosik 

nnd fort Trinibsk wu’v lioly places where uuwdo of Hindu jHlsrims flodsed 

in fmm different parU of the country. Aur^nj^xeb capU)rcd thcae places 

merely out of hlo fanatic policy, polled down the andent ^rlne of 

Trimbakesliwar and icnaiocd Nn^ik m Culdihoiiabad. Shaliu and the 

Peshwa were keen upon geUlng these holy j^aces back into Hindu posses' 

aion. In fact Shahu had specially menllonsd fort Trimbak In tiio demands of 

Swarajytt he preferred Uirough Balajl Vlshvanotli to Salyad Huseln AH 

in 1718. Bajirao did not succeed in gelling the places back. Sadflsblv* 

rao Bbau succeeded in It through his tniMd daring commandant Trimbak 

Suryaji. who captured the /ort on 3nd December 1751, Nasik alao was oe* 

copied and kre the Pe^wa rapidly erected palaces and temrJes. Though 

fort Trimbak was tamporaiily giveu bade to Muslim control. It wes 

captured by the Marslh&s within two yetri, the Muajid was pulled down 

and the original temple restored Nana and Bhaa paid their first eerc' 

monial viwt to this temple of 'rrunbake^war in Novambei 1754. Several 

minor forts la the vidnlty such as Kamala, Tringalwadi. Bltlnga aad 

othem cams at the same time into Manlha poasession. Shivaii’s birth' 

place fort Shivner was taken a litde lalcr in 4766. 
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3. Us« of arciilcry, Muzaffar Khan.—One imporlanl 
lesson which deeply impressed the Peshwa and particularly 

his cousin Sadashivrao, who had acted as lus leading com¬ 
mander during this war, was the supreme advantage ol artillery 
and disciplined troopa in Indian warlare when opposed to the 

traditional Maratha tactics. Busy was now the chid expo¬ 
nent of the new European method of warfare, but neilhiT Sada- 
shivrao nor the Pesliwa's son Vi^vasrao ventured to work* 

with Bussy; they contented themsel\'W' with bonxjwing ihe 
services of Busay’s Indian lieutenants like Muaaffar lOnin or 
Ibraliim Klian whose Uoopa’ name (htrde (Kr.J, cjime to Ik 

corrupted into Gardi i.e. disciplined infantry trained on the 
western model in the use of artillery willi al^iolute uniformity 
ol dress and arms. The Peshwa discussed the subject with 

Bussy during their meeting at Bhallu, and engaged the services 
of Muzaffar Khan on a combincfd salary of Rs. 55,000 a month 
for himself and a corps of two thousand infantry and a thou¬ 
sand cavalry, with a park of guos. It was Malharrao Holkar 
who first tried the slcill and efficiency of Muzaffar Khan and re¬ 

commended him to the Peshwa. Unfortunately tliis man, al- 
. though highly capable, proved extremely dangerous, as in an 
emergency he aelflslily made bargains for personal gain rather 

than loy^y execute tlie duly he had agited to perform. 
Sada^ivrao Bhau's stern character could not tolerate this 
Vait of the Khan and the two became open enemies. 

The political situation of India was fast changing. A war 
tad begun between England and France in Europe, known 

Js the Seven Years War (1756-1763), which produced .serious 
^epercusaons in India, From Bhalki the Pejiwa directed his 
Bt^ to the Karnatak, During the next five years he led 

yearly expeditions into that region. The first is termed the 
expedition of Shrirangapatlan 1753, January 8, to June 19. 

The reader is aware of the war that was waged in the region 
of Arcot between Muhammad AU and Chanda Saheb for the 

Nawabship of Arcot in which Duplebc and Clive figured pro¬ 
minently. Chanda Saheb’s murder on 3rd June 1752 proved 
a blow to Dupleix's diplomacy and ended the French supre¬ 

macy in the Karnatak. In ].753 the Peshwa went directly from 
Bhalki to Shrfrangapattan where he took up his station. On 

20th March Bhausaheb captured the fort of Holi Honnur 
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standing at the juDction of the rivers Tunga ajid Bhadrfl. 

They turned bad? and captured Dharwar on I4th May. 
Thence on the way to Poona they hailed at Kolhapur and 
were cordially received by Raja Sambhaji and his queen Jija- 
bai, who gave Bhausaheb the forts of Bhungad. Pargad, 

Vallabligad and Kalanidhi along with the district of Khanapur, 
in fulfilmenl; of an engagement which had been contracted 
earlier. 

After the rains the Peshwa decided to proceed again to' 
tile KarnaUUc to complete liis work of the previous year. 
During 1754 Bagallcol, Anjani, Hariliar and Mundalgi were 
captured after severe lightir^ at each place and the Peshwa 

returned to Poona for the rains, This was his second regular 
expedition, 

Tlie next expedition of tlie Peahwa is turned that of 
Bednur. Leaving Poona on October 24, 1754, Nana Saheb 
and Bhau Saheb went to the western Kamatak and des¬ 

patched Mahadoba Purandare to Bednua* along witli Muxaffar 
Khan Gardi. Purandare and the Khan came to loggerheads 
on a matter of discipline. It was discovered that the Khan 
did not entertain the stipulated quota of troops and ammuni¬ 

tion and Mahadoba demanded a muster ^o which the Khan 
objected. Hot words ensued, when the IChan in extreme irri¬ 
tation walked away from the Maratha camp and sought ser¬ 
vice with the Raja of Shrirang^ltan. He revolted openly 

against the Peshwa and organised a strong opposition to him. 
The Raja of Shrirangapattan was by no means friendly to the 
Peshwa, being unwilling to pay the tribute that the latter had 
demanded- The Nawab of Savanur was equally averse to 

accepting Maratha control and resisted the payment, Muaaffar 
Khan taking advantage of the Peshwa's difficulties made a 
common cause with his enemies and soon became a danger. 
The Peshwa returned to Poona, secured the friendship of 
Salabat Jang and Bussy. and planned a grand joint expedition 

to the south in order to counteract the menace created by 
Muzaffar Khan in that quarter.* 

4. Fall of Savanuf, end of Muzaifac Khan,—The years 
1755 and 1756 proved a peiiod of extreme anxiety to the 

4, GtvaHor Pfialks S. 295. 
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Peshwa. His brother Raghuoathrao was in the north during 

the previous year and had achieved no marked success. Tulaji 
Ai^ria proved most obnoxious and severe measures liad to be 
employed to put him down, In order to mate up for his 

weakness in naval warfare, the Pesbwa effected a contract with 
the British borrowing naval help from Bombay, a step which 

eventually proved disastrous to the Maratha interests. At tins 
very moment Jayappa Sinde came to l>c inextricably involved 
in a contest with his Rathod enemies in Marwar. The Peshwa 

possessed a strong nci-ve and made preparations for tlie capture 
of Savanur, whose Nawab had sheltered the rebel Muzaflar 
Khan and committed aggresuon. In order to slrenglhen his 

position, tlie Peahwa specially called to his side from the north 
Malhnrrao Holkar and his able lieutenant Shetyaji I^harade, 
and also Vithal Shivdev Vinchurkar; Janoji and Mudhoii 

Bhosle of Nagpur abo joined him at his invitation, Murarrao 
Ghoipade unfortunately deserted the Peshwa and made com* 
mon cause with the Nawab of Savanur, adding to the gravity 
of the Maratha situaUon. 

The Peshwa arrived before Savanur at the beginning of 
March 1756 when serious operations were at once launched 

and constant fighting continued for two months. Salabat Jang 
and Bussy arrived very late and brought little substantial help, 

Tlie Nawab and Muzaliar Khan ably defended the place. 

On March 12 the garrison made a desperate sally in which a 
fearful slaughter of Musaffar Khan’s Gardis look place. The 
Khan had openly boasted of his invincible powers and defied 

the <»mbined mi^t of the Peshwa and Bussy. The Peshwa 
demanded from the Nawab the surrender of MuzalTar Khan, 
which was refused- During the month of May the strong 

walls and unrivalled defences of Savanur collaps^ before the 
heavy fire directed by Bussy, Mtiaaffar Khan realizing that 
the place could no longer hold out, ran away to save his life 
and the Nawab surrendered Savanur to the Peshwa on 18th 

May, the first public demonstration in the south of the efficacy 
of western artillery, intently watched by friends and foes alike. 

In this battle of Savanur both sides fought with utmost 

tenacity. Many Maratha commanders recftved serious 
wounds. Baba Phadnis (father of Nana) who was presjent in 

the camp writes, " The Nawab humbly sued for terms. Eleven 
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lacs of IcibuCe was agreed upon. The Nawab had no ca^ to 
pay : he ceded for half the amotint half of his districts, Banka* 
pur, Msrikot, Kundgol and Hubli. After Ibishing the affair 

of Savanur, the Pc^wa and Salahat Jang proceeded together 
beyond the Tungabhadra when Beduur agreed to a tribute of 
12 iacs. Similarly, the chiefs of Chitradurg, Raidurg and Har- 

panhalli came and paid tribute. Sondha agreed to pay 8 lacs. 
Mardangad and Basavapattan also came into the Pe-shwa's 
possession. Aflcr stationing Gopalrao Patwardhan and Paste 

in the Kamatak the Peslwa returned to Poona in July." 
Thus the southern Irontier of the Maralha State now extend¬ 
ed from the ICriahna to the Tungabhadra river. 

After the fall of Savanur Murarrao represented to the 
Peshwa, “If you treat me with the importance and respect duo 
to my portion, I am prepared to serve you loyally, otherwise 
I shall give up all work and I'emain a silent private man.” 

The Peshwa assured hiro of his sympathy and respect as an 
honoured member of the Maralha State saying, “ If you serve 
the Stale loyally and enthusiastically, we shall highly promote 
your interests." He agreed to serve the Peshwa in future with 
all bis heart, bringing his contingent ot four thousand troops, 
mid relumed lo his guarters at Gooty. 

In this Savanur adventure Muzaffar KJ^an lost his repu¬ 

tation for good. When the Nawab expelled him on 19th 
March he soughl temporary shelter with Ramchandra Jadhav, 
one of the Nisam'a chiefs- Moat of his followers deserted him 

for want of pay. The Peshwa alone against SadasbivTao's 
strong protest employed personal agents to induce the Khan 
to come back to his original post. The Khan had purchased 
ammunition from Goa for use at Savanur for which he owed 

a large sum to the Portuguese. Hts subordinates deserted him. 
Thus reduced to extreme beggary he readily complied with 

the offer of the Peshwa, conveyed Ihrough Shetyaji Kharade. 
The Peshwa paid him 2S>000 rupees cash to meet his im¬ 

mediate needs, and the Khan once more joined service at 

Poona about the Dassara time of 1756. 
The Khan was hereafter employed in reducing the diffi¬ 

cult forts of north Konkan and was studiously excluded from 

5, p, D. 2R. 140, 182. 183, l€5, Raj. 3- *172, 473, 479, 4S1, 

M. H. u—22 
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any important campaign or foreign war which could afford 
him an opportunity to profit by collusion with the enemies ol 

the Peshwa. But even in the reduction of forts he harassed 
innocent people and squee^^d money, so it became increasing¬ 

ly difficult to manage him. Mu2affar Khan bore bitter hatred 
towards Bhau Salieb, and when the latter entertain«l the ser¬ 

vices of Ibrahim Khan, a rival Oardi commander, Musaffar 
Khan sought to wreak liis revenge. On the evening of 28th 
October 1769 as Bhau Saheb was transacting his routine Inisi- 

ness in Ills tent at the Garplr of Poona, the IGian's son-in-law 
Haidar Khan suddenly stabbed Bhau Saheb in the back, h'urlu* 

nalely the wound though severe did not prove fatal. An imme¬ 
diate Inquiry was made and dght culprits including Mus^ffar 

Khan and his son-in-law were blown away from guns on Octo¬ 
ber 30. 

5. The Karnatak task unfinished_It would be con¬ 
venient Co conclude here the Peahwa’s further dealings in tlic 
southern regions. During 1757 he himself once more miuclicd 

into Karnatak. Leaving Poona on Ist January he aod 
SadashivTdo reached Shrirangaputtan collecting tributes on the 

way. Both Murarrao Gborpade and Muzaftar Khan were 
present with the Peshwa. It was the latter’s intention to 
take possession of that important capital town, so as to end 

the old Mysore Kingdom. During the siege of the town a 

chance gira-shot shattered the golden pinuacle of the fainoi» 
shrine of Shrirangam. This was considered an evil omen and 
gave rise to mutual negotiadons. The Raja and his mjnj.'>tcr 

agreed to pay a tribute of 32 lacs, of which only five were 
paid in cash and lor the remaining, 14 valuable districts were 
given in mortgage. The Peshwa returned in May after leaving 

Balavantrao Mehendale as his deputy to finish the remaining 
work of the expedition, and captured the strong post of Shira 
on his way back. 

After 1767 the Peshwa did not personally command an 

expedition in the south. Hereafter his lieutenants complete 
what remained to be executed. During the last three years 
the limits of the Maratha dominion covered the whole of the 
Kanarese region, compriring the present Mysore State stretch¬ 

ing from the Kaveri river continuoiKly upto the eastern coast- 
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When the Peshwa first started his work, the Maratha State 
was bounded in the south roughly by a line running from the 
mouths of the Krishna in the east to Goa in the west. In the 

actual conquest of the territory beyond this line, the work of 
Gopalrao Patwaidhan, Balavantrao Meheodaie, Visaji Krishna, 
Raste and Panae between 1757 and 1760 much exceeded the 

Peahwa's own jjains between 1753 to 1757. Tlie disaster of 
Panipat gave llaidar AU tlie opportunity of his life to wrest 
back these conquests and practically to undo all the previous 
Maratha achievements. 

Maralha ambitions in the ICarnatak aimed mainly at the 

subjugation of the four Nawabs of Aurangzeb's days, viz., those 
of Shira, Savanur, Kamool and Kadappa. The fifth, namely, 
the Nawab of Arcot was saved from Maratha aggression by his 
support from the British. Shirs and Savanur were reduced by 
the Peshwa himself. • Kadappa, which claimed tlie districts of 

Kolar, Ho^rot and Balapur once forming the Jagir of Shahji 
Raje, was subjugated by the prowess of Balavantrao Mehen- 
dale. Abdul Majid Khan the Nawab of Kadappa was a man 
of valour and resources. In the fierce engagement fought 

between Sidhout and Kadappa on 24th September 1757, the 
Khan was killed along with four hundred of his men. The 

same night ICadappa was captured. Thereafter Visaji Krishna 
directed his attention to Bednur, but before it could be subju¬ 
gated, \^saji was called away suddenly to Poona. Haidar AU as 
a commander of the Mysore army attained prominence at this 

very time and resisted Maratha aggression stoutly. He was 
an ^terprising, skilful soldier, un^tood the art of war as 
no one dse of his time did, and trained his amiies in western 
discipline so thoroughly that he soon became irresistible in the 
south. Gopalrao Patwardhan worked hard to capture Mysore, 

but was called away to Poona in the midst of his operations. 
In the meantime Visaji Krishna reduced Oi^ole, Ndlore, 

Sarwapilli, KalahastI, and other posts along the east coast near 
the mouth of the Krishna river. The Maratha armies com¬ 
pleted their conquest by a holy bath in the eastern seas. The 

Nawab of Kamool yielded to Maratha demands without 

resistance. 

6. Bussy at Char Miner_Here we must revert to 
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the story of the Peshwa's relations with Nawab Salabat Jang 
of Haidarabad, resuming the thread of the lime from Ihe peace 

of Bhalki in December 1752- Bussy was called upon lo lace 
the machinations of the two old and able servants of the State 

Saiyad Lashkar Khan and Shah Nawaz Khan, who became 
greatly jealous of his power and control of the administration, 

giving rise to murder and secret plots at the Nizam’s Court 
to which ultimately Salabat Jang fell a prey. 

While Bussy had been reducing Savanur in the summer 
of 1756, his master Salabat Jang wiping lo be rid of this over¬ 

bearing and grasping servant, sent him on 18th May, an order 
that he had been dismissed from service. This was the result 
of the serious alarm which Indian powers began to feel at the 

increa«ng domination which the Englisli and the French began 
to exercise through their superior military organization. As 
goon as the Peshwa learnt of Bussy’s dismissal, he offered 
to Bi^age him in his own service and to all appear¬ 

ances this was agreed to by both the parties- But Bussy was 
a master tactician, intent upon impressing tiie Indian pewers 
with a premonition that hereafter the Europeans weits to be 

the masters in India. Bussy quietly said yes to every request 
that was made to him and asked for passports to proceed to 
Masulipatan after a few days stay at Haidarabad to collect 

his effects. The Peshwa even gave him hie own escort on the 
way. With his whole foUowing Bussy reached Haidarabad in 
June and took up his residence at the grand old edifice known 
as the Char Minar in the centre of the town, where lie so 

fortified himself by means of his powerful artillery that lie 
could not be dislodged- Salabat Jang came soon after with all 
his forces, but could make no effect upon Bossy's position during 
a stiff contest that r^ed for four months. In the end Salabat 

Jang was completely humbled and gave a written agreement to 
Bussy on 16 November reinstating him in his former position, 

After arrangir^ his affairs in Haidarabad, Bussy left for Masu¬ 
lipatan lo manage the lucrative districts he had obtained in the 
Northern Sarkars, for ffie expenses of his army, He returned 

to Haidarabad in September 1757 * Had not the fortunes of 

6. The inddent oi the battle of the Char Miner haii bcea eloquently 

<leBcribed by many Indian aod Eurc^jean ^Pritcr^ Itt revolutionfiry ehi* 

xacter deserves to be well understood. See P. D. 25. 1S7. 
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the French so thoroughly waned durit^ the Seven Years' War, 
il K dear that Busay could never have been dislodged from the 
Nizam’s Stale. 

7. The Ni^ajn’s defeat ac Sindkhed,_What with his 
grasping French auxiliary Bussy, and what with the increas¬ 
ing power of the Peshwa in his neighbourhood, Salabat Jang’s 
position began rapidly to grow weaker. The lesson taught by 

Bussy at Che Char Minar did not fail to impress the Peshwa 
also. Ho openly demanded from Salabat Jang all the north 
Godavari region under a threat of resorting to arms. Bussy 

was then away and Shah Nawaz Khan did not resist the 
Peshwa'h demand. This was too much fox' the spirited brother 
of Salabat Jang Nizam Alt to bear, Guided by a clever 
Hindu diplomat Vithal Sundar, Nazim All enlisted the aeivicea 
of another of Bussy’s captains Ibrahim Khan (iater of Panipat 

fame ), Tlie Khan brou^t with him 2,500 trained inlantry and 
fifteen guns on an annual payment of one lac. Shah Nawaz 

Khan, feeling nervous about his own safely when Nizam AU 
thw began to assert himticlf. took prompt possession of Fort 

Daulalabad, removed there his family and valuables, and pre¬ 

pared lo defend himself there in case of necesaty, following the 
example of Bussy at the Char Minar. 

Thus the two courts of Poona and Aurangabad occupied 
themselves during the monsoon of 1757 in preparing for an¬ 

other trial of arms. Tlte Peshwa gave the command of the 
impending campaign to his eldest son Vishvasrao, a promhir^ 

lad of fifteen, in order to afford him experience for his future 
position in the State. Dattaji and Jankoji Sindia who had just 
returned from their Marwar entanglement, were asked to train 
Vishvasrao under them and conduct the expedition to a success¬ 

ful iaue. Damaji Gaik wad and other chiefs joined the army 
in due course. The Maratha forces left Poona on 27 August 

in the direction of Aurangabad, the Peshwa and Sadaahivrao 
halting on the Godavari to watch the operations beyond. Au¬ 
rangabad was the main objective for the Marathas to reduce 

and for the b^zam to defend. Hostilities began in November. 
Nizam Ali was put in charge of the campaign by SaUbat Jang. 

Bussy was then absent on the east coast. 
As the Marathas were marching upon Aurangabad, they 
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received news that Ramchandra Jadhav a powerful Maratha 

'Commander in the Nizam’s service was coining rapidly from 
Bhalki to remove the threat to the capital. In order to pre¬ 
vent Jadhav attacking the Peshwa’s anny before Aurang¬ 

abad, Dattaji learning that Ramchandra Jadhav was at Sind- 
khed quickly moved upon that place and at once invested it, 
These surprizingly quick movements were most effective. The 

small rampart of Sindkhed was not likely to hold out long. 
Nizam Ali with Ibraliim Khan Gardi at once marched frcjm 
Aurangabad to Sindkhed, in d^e walce of Dattaji's men to 
relieve the pressure upon Jadhav, which increased every mo¬ 

ment when swarming Marathas quickly gathered from various 
directions, A fierce struts between the two opponents raged 
for nearly a month round that small place. Nizam Ali and 

Ibrahim Khan effected a junction with Jadhav and tried to 
break out all in a body through the Maratha cordon on 12Ch 
December under the shelter of dieir powerful artillery. A fierce 

battle was foi^ht continuously for four days at the gate of 
Sindkhed, when Nagoji Mane a supporter ol Jadhav was killed 
along with many of his followers. On 16fh Decemljer dark¬ 
ness set in towards evening and tlie combatants parted. Vic¬ 

tory remained with die Marathas. 

The next few days decided the fate of the campmgn. 
Hordes of Maratha cavalry came sweeping upon the Nizam’s 
forces. On I7th E)ecember Nizam Ali acknowledging defeat 
sent Vlthal Sundar to the Maratha camp begging for terms. 

Peace was concluded by tfie Nizam ceding to the Peshwa terri¬ 
tory worth 25 lacs alot^ with fort Naldurg. Ceremonial visits 

by the two principals at Saldiarkhedla ratified and confirmed 
the treaty on 29th December 1767.’ Once more the unity of 
Maratha ranks under the Peshwa’s direchon was plainly exhi¬ 
bited to the Indian world, finally dosing the rift that Tarabai’s 
activities had created. 

The forces of disruption became now too apparent in the 
counsels of the State reared by Asaf Jah. Bussy had kept 
studiously aloof at Haidarabad during the late Maratha- 

Muslim simple- After the war was over, he left for Aurang¬ 
abad there to pay his respects to his master. On the way he 

7. R D, 35. 183, 184. 
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paid a cordial visit to the Peshwa and held an exchange of 
views on the general situation. He then arrived at Aurangabad 

and visited Salabat Jang with the utmost humility. He also 
paid a formal visit to Ni^am Ali, beii^ extremely careful to 

guard against any treacherous design on that chief's part, 
Shah Nnwas Khan fell into disfavour, and was dismissed from 
the Chief Minister s position by Salabat Jang, who appointed 

to that post, on the advice of Bussy, the latter's confidential 
secretary Haidar Jang. Hius at one stroke Bussy’s voice again 
liecame powerful, a result most highly resented by 
Nizam Ali, 

8. Hoirid murders.^alabat Jang began to quail 
before Bussy, under whose advice Nizam AU was appointed to 
the government of Haidarabad, so that he might be safely Itept 
at a distance, Haidar Jang immediately on coming to c^ce, 
took possession of fort Daulatabad and removed from that 

place all partisans of Shah Nawaz Khan, keepir^ that Khan 
a closely watched prisoner. It became apparent that Bussy 
contemplated riie same design agalost Nizam AU also. Haidar 

Jang called on Nizam Ali and delivered him a message that 
Bussy wanted him immediately for a conference. Nizam Ali 
apprehending danger to hia person answered that he would 

call on Bus<;y the next day. Kaidar Jang Insisted that he must 
go at once. This threatening tone roused Nizam All's sus* 
pidons and drawing the small d^er he carried in his 

hand, he immediately thrust it into Haidar Jang’s body, kill¬ 
ing him instantly. Vithal Sundar who was near cut off Haidar 
Jang's head and escaped along with Nizam AU to safe quarters, 

As soon as the news of this outrage became public, Basa- 
lat Jang collected a few of his Maratha followers, went and 
informed Bussy of what had happened. Bussy frantic with 

immediately despatched his subordinate Lacbhman 
Dubash with instructions to kill Shah Nawaz Khan and his 
sons under the apprehension that they were the inatigatorg of 

Haidar Jang’s murder. This man went straight to the Khan's 
quarters, and murdered him with his two sons and another nian 
Mir Muhammad Husain. Thus the 11th of May 1758 proved 

a day of wanton murders. Fortunately for Nizam Ali, Bussy 
was just then removed from the scene. War was raging furi- 



336 NEW HISTORY OF THE MARATIUS [ VOL, 11 

ously between the French and the British on the east coast. 
The French Governor Count Lally immedialely recalled Bussy, 
who received the orders on 18th June and left immediately with 

all his French followers, leaving Salabat Jang to the meity of 
his brother, Bussy fought in the battle of Wandewash in Janu- 
ary 1760. was tak^ prisoner by the British and sent U) Kutope, 

only to return to India twenty yearn later in 1783 and lo die 

here in 1785 at the age of 61. 
After Bussy s departure affairs UK)k a rapid turn for the 

worse in the Nigam’s State. Jang and Nizam All 
quarrelled over the power to manage the administration as 
Salabat Jang was a mero fyfure-head, playing into the hands ot 
his powerful ministers, During the war on die east coast, 

Captain Fonde of the Britisli East India Company marched into 
the Northern Sarlcars and captured those districts for them¬ 

selves : neither Basalat Jang nor Nuam Ali could pre\’ent this. 
The latter demanded from Salabat Jang the sole management 
of affairs: but Salabat Jai^ was afraid of his own life being 

attempted by Niaam All's Gardis headed by Djmhim Khan. 
He therefore stipulated that he would entrust him with all 
powers provided he dismissed Ibrahim Khan from his service. 

This he agreed to do, Ibrahim Khan was dismisfied by Nizam 
Ali in October 1759 and the latter was given full powers of 
administration by Salabat Jang. When Sadaahivrao at Poona 

learnt of Ibrahim Khan's dismissal, he at once engaged him 
in his employ, having already fully satisfied himself about the 

latter’s honesty and capacity. This was the reason that pro¬ 
voked Muzaffar Khan to attempt Bhau's life as has been men¬ 

tioned above, 

9. Battle of Udgir._Nizam Ali highly resented the 
aggression which the Peshwa, now armed with efficient artillery, 
commenced against the Haidarabad State, particularly by 

seizing Ahmadnagar, Daulatabad, Burhanpur and Bijapur all 
renowned capitals and relics of old Muslim glory. On 9th 
November 1759 ICavi Jang, the keeper of Ahmadnagar sur¬ 

rendered the place to the Peshwa on receiving a handsome 

reward in money and jagir. This led at once to a fresh out¬ 
break of hostilities between the two neighbours. The Maratha 
forces led by Sadashivrao and Vishvasrao moved east from 
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Poona and descended upon the Nisam’s territories in January 
1760. Figbtii^ commenced on the 20th of that month con¬ 
sisting of artillery and cavalry actions in the vicinity o! Udgir 
a few miles inorth of Bidar. On 3rd February a sdff action 

was foT^ht in which tlie Asaf Jahi forces were so completely 
routed that Nizam AU sent ambssaadora seeking terms. He 
agreed to aurrender to the Peshwa territory worth sixty lacs 

together with the four Muslim capitals Steady mentioned. 
The treaty was concluded on 11th February and all the stipu¬ 

lated places came into Maratha possession within the next two 
months. T^e Riory of this victory was, however, suddenly 
marred by tM growiiiR Maratlia reverses in north India inflict¬ 

ed by the Pathan ruler of Afghanistan, Ahmad Shah Abdali. 
Sada^ivrao was at once called upon to proceed to the north, 

before he was able to get the terms agreed to by the Nizam 
executed. The stunnir^ blow that the Marathas a year alter 
received at Panipat saved the Nizam’s State from complete 

collapse. Salabat Jang could not hold his own against Nizam 
All, who fin^t put him into confinement on 7th July 1762, and 

later put him to death on 16th September 1753. 
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CHAPTER XVr 

TWO INCORIUGIBIE CHIEFS 

£1755—17603 

1 Tlve NiBl>af 4 The Pwhwa'i proles l 
i TuIr|i Anuria tlerianr. 5 Did ihu Peshw* destroy the 
6 Mil VijAyftdurc. Mnrntha OAvy? 

6 Manali find Knyliu/i Anuria. 

2. The NagPiif succ^ssioo.—The Bhosles of Nagpur 
and the Angrias oi Kolaba were the two Incorrigible c^/b 
whom the Peahwa with all his patience and diplomacy found 

it hard to reduce to obedience in his effort at unifying Che 
Maratiia State. It ia now time to describe the Peahwa’s deal* 

ings with them. PaghujI Bhosle's relations with the Peshwa 
have been amply detailed in the foregoing narrative. Shrewd 

and alert as bo^ were, Vtigy fully realised the sdvanLage of 
preserving amity with each other and fully co-operatiAE -in 
measures of mutual benefit. Raghuji long suffered' from a 
stomach complaint and was almost bed-ridden during the last 
two or three years of his life. Raghuji not only made his name 

in the conquest of BengaU but he also exhibited great heroism 
in subjugating the Gonds and creating the Nagpur State as a 

distincl entity in which he stands quite on a par with Malbar- 
rao Hollcar or any of the Sindias. He coloniaed Nagpur and 
other cities with Maharashtrian dements and made his State 

a* strong and wealthy base by training a large band of devoted 
co-workers in war and diplomacy. 

After having effected the conquest of Orissa and arrived 
at a final understanding with Nawab Aliwardi Khan in 

1761, Raghuji led a peaceful life and did not concern himself 
with the various important projects and expeditions which the 
Peshwa restlessly carried out in the Kamatak region. Baburao 
Konher Kolhatkar was his Intimate adviser who co-operated 

with Janoji, Haghuji’s ablest son. In transacting current busi¬ 
ness pertaining to his rule of Nagpur. Raghuji died on 14th 

February 1755, when six wives and seven hand-maids are said 
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to have immolated themselves on his funeral pyre, tie willed 
that Jasoji should become the Senasaheb-Subali after him. 
Of his four sons Janoji and Sabaji were born of the younRw 

wife, and Mudlwji atid Bimbaji of the elder one, Tlie first two 
were fairly brave and capable men. 

Janoji though bom of the younger mother.was older in 
^ than Mudhoji. who was tlie olfspring of the elder queen, 

which gave rise to a complicated dispute about lUc success) fni 
and considerably weakened the position of that principality. 
Disregarding the injunction of his father, Mudhoji claimed tlie 

position of Senasalieb Subah and wrote letters to Janoji with 
an address proper only to a younger brother. The dispute 
was refentd to the Peshwa, who coveted a large amount for 

• the succession fee. Janoji's adviser Devajipant Chorghodc went 
to Poona and obtained the Pe^wa’s decision in his master's 
favour by promising to pay two and a half lacs as naaar. 

The Peshwa was at the moment proceeding to Savanur and 
invited both the brothers to join him. They complied and at* 
terided, with the result that the question of sucx*ssioii lo the 
Nagpur estate came to be abnomiady postponed. At last a 

conference was held on the Godavari in Mardi 1757 and it 
divided the estate in two paits, Janoji was declared the Sena* 

saheb Subah, and Mudlioji was asked to rule at Chanda with 
the title of Sena^dhurandhar. The Peshwa ratified this deci¬ 
sion after exacting a present of 20 lacs from the four brothers.* 

For a time the Bhosle brothers worked together and helped the 
Pe^wa in his attack upon the Nizam at Sindkhed. But the 

domestic dissensions of the four brothers never came to an 
end, and as a result the Nagpur State fast declined in power 
and prestige. 

2. Tulaji Angria dedant.—The Angrias and their navy 
were the guardians of the western sea-boMd^of the Maratha 

State. During Shahu’s lifetime the Peshw?i'^could not exercise 
full powers in restraining the disobedient sardars. For the 
_ ^ 

1. Khare 1. II ; Raj. 3. 186, 193, 464-4S8, 514, 556, 6S7; Pair* Yadr 

153-1S9; P. D. 20. 75: A)t Pat. 96. See Bakhar alsn. A vatt 

litareture hn been .publi^ed on tho hiatory <lf Naj^pur to which tlie stu* 

dent is referred. * 
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safety of the Maratha raj, as well as for restraining the aggr^ 

sion of the western powers, the west coast had to be carefully 
guarded from danger, and in this respect Tulaji Angria's hosti¬ 
lity to the Peshwa soon became intolerable. In addition to the 

ioteroal disputes of Indian powers, the French and the Englisli 
trading companies now directly interfered in Indian politics. 
Bengal and Madras they largely seized and it became the 

Poshwa’s duty to guard the west coast from a similar fate. 
It was necessary for him to have the Maratha navy entirely 
under his control, 

The boudiern portion of the west coast was at this time' 
controlled by Tulaji Angria who had his residence at Vijaya- 
dufg, and the northern portion by Ramaji Mahadev, the 

Peshwa's governor of Kalyan, both strong and singular per¬ 
sonalities, who during the last several years contracted bittw 
hatred towards each other. The Peshwa in the mid&t of hts 
other serious pre-occupations, did not personally deal with the 

Angrias but left every affair in that region in the hands of this 
l^majipant, Ihpreby only adding fuel to the fire. The Portu¬ 
guese of Goa who had lost Bassein in 1739, were trying their 

level best to get back their possession and readily joined every 
opponent of the Peshwaa. The Savant of Wadi was a protege 
of the Peahwa and wa*? brought to extremities both by Tulaji 
and llie Poituguese. During 1751 T^abaL tiien bitterly op¬ 

posing the Peshwa. insingated both the Porti^uese and Tulaji 
Angria and promised lie former the return of their territory 
of Bassein, if they would put down the Peshwa. It became tbe 
l^hwa’s policy therefore in this difficult situation, to prevent 
an alliance o£ the Portuguese of Goa and tbe English of Bom¬ 

bay. The P^wa for some time was trying his utmost to 
"gain the friendship of the English whp bitterly hated Tulaji 
and gradually accepted the Peshwa's overtures. The British, 

intent solely on self-interest with no more love for tbe 
Peshwa than for Tulaji, proposed to join the Peshwa in 
putting down Tulaji, War was going on between the French 

and the English on the east coast The^Peshwa agreed that 
he would not help the Freofh on the east Coast if the En^ish 

(Jd not help Tulaji on the west The Peshwa’s only object 
in this proposal was to bring Tulaji under his control and 

prevent him from combining with the enemies of the Maratha 
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State. It was no part of the Peshwa's programme to destroy 

the Maratha navy owned by tlic Angria. Tulaji's own ira^ct- 
ble temper aggravated the situation. lie was possessed by an 
Inordinate hatred for the Peshwa and particularly for Pamiiji 

Mahadev the Peshwa's agent on the spot- He did not fall 
in with the Peshwa in eisecuting the resporusibilities of the 
Mar^a State as a whole. He never showed the least incli¬ 

nation to come to terms with the Peshwa. Otherwise the latter 
would have gladly utilised Jiu? seivices and promoted the 

interests of such a valiant naval commander as Tulaji. 

To preserve amicable relations with the Peshwa and pre- 

V vent him from joining the French was the main plank of the 
] British policy at Bombay after the fall of Bassein into Maratha 

\ hands. When severe tension grew between Ramaji Mahadev 
and Tulaji, the former by way of a counterpoise secured the 
good graces of the Bombay Covindl, in order to ecercise control 

over both the Angrias and the Siddis of Janjira. During 1754 
when the Peshwa was busy with the affairs of the Karnatak, 
Ramajipant had several talks wiUi the Bombay Governor 

Bourchier and agreed to engage the services of the Bombay 
navy for putting down Tulaji Angria.“ 

The Peshwa's leltejs of 8 and 11 February and 8 March 
1756 were placed before his Council by Governor Bourchier on 

10th March 1765, and the following terms were finally agreed 
upon between the British and Ramajipant on 19th March 

1. That both the Maratha and the British navy .should 
be under the complete con&ol of the latter; 

3- Whatever ships would be captured from the Ai^iaa 
should be divided half and half between the two ; 

3. That alter Tulaji was overcome, the Marathas should 
cede to the British Bankot and its fort Himmatgad (after¬ 
wards riamed Fort Victoria) together with five villages in that 
neighbourhood ; 

4. That the British should prevent any succour going to 
Tulaji through the sea; 

5. Whatever treasure, ammunition, guns or supplies 

would be captured or found in the forts and places belonging 
to the Marathas, should be equally shared ; 

2. Porrcsl'j Maralbo iffrits. War with Ihc Angrias. 
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(3. 1/ ihe Briti^ and the Matalbas should jointly attack 

hTanaji the island of Khandcri should 1)e ceded to the 
British. 

These terms were sanctioned by Uic Pesinva awl the war 

IWKaa 

■ i\ 

3. Sail of VijayaduiiJ.— Ah the wi\n>n of 1755 was ad- 
vancecl witen the treaty was concluded, It wa.s decided Urst 

lo atttick Siivarnadui'K, the fort of Hamai, «5ervinB the cap¬ 
ture of Vijayaduri? tor tW? next fair season. Captain William 
Jittnes was appofnled by tJie Bombay Council to lead the naval 

expedition and was accompanied by Itaraajipant. they led 
the Bombay harbour on 22nd Mardi and were joined by the 
Mnratha naval ships uuLside the fort of Chaul. On 29Ch the 

joint navy fired un the Anglia's ships in tlie harbour of 
Suvarnadurg. The latter ran away and escaped. On 2nd 

April gun-fire was opened upon the fort. On the 3rd an 

explosion took place in the fort in which the store of Angria’s 
ammunition was burnt up. The next day 4th April, some of 

Angria's men came to Ramajfpant with a white flag and the 

uttackera landed in the fort, 'which surrendered on the 12th, 
Javjl Gatili and Khandojl Mankar supported the operations 
from the land on behalf of the Peshwa. Shamsher Bahadur and 
Dinkar Mahadev were two c^her commanders whom Ihe 
Peshwa nummaled for conducting land operations against 

Tul^jf. They descended through the Amba pass upon Anglia's 
fort of Ratnagiri late in May and invested it on the landward 

aide; but they could not take the fort without naval co-opera¬ 
tion, which the advent of the monsoon prevented. That place 

was captured next year on 18th February 1756. A little be¬ 
fore this Anjanvel and Govalkot were also taken from TuJaji's 
possession on 14th January of the same year by the Peshwa's 

men. 
But the main objective of the campaign was to reduce 

Tulaji's scat of fort Vijayadurg or_Gheria, tube called 
aftei! a vUlage"in"TriV*vidnity ham^Girye. How Tulaji re¬ 

mained 10 uttefly indifferent or careless till the last moment is 
a mystery. was perhaps over confident of* defending the 

place against any odds and made no move. For two years the 
attack was being discussed and throughout 1755 most of his 
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ouUying posts were faJling into the Peshwa’s hands one after 
another and yet Tulaji did not stir. He managed to secure 

from Goa some slight Portuguese help of about 600 men. 
Rudrajl Dhulap an Angrlan lieuCenaot was worsted losing a 

large number of his own men and some of the Portuguese who 
had accompanied him. 

In the month of October 1755 some troops under Capt. 

Give and a naval force under Admiral Watson arrived from 
England at Madras. At that very moment, Madras received a 
demand for military help from Bombay to act against Tulaji 
Ar^ia. The Madras authorities readily complied witli tlie re¬ 

quest of Bombay and despatched the forces both of Clive 
and Watson to Bombay. Governor Bourchier ordered these to 
proceed against Vijayadurg with definite instructiox>s (1) that 

Tulaji should be brought to Bombay after the fall of his fort 
of Vijayadurg; (2) that the Bombay force should ccKoperate 
with the Peshwa’s in capturing the other forts and places of 

Angria ; (3) that until Banket and its territory were actually 
delivered into British hands, Vijayadui^ should not be restored 
to the Peshwa's possession ; (4) that an efTort should be made 
to secure such other places and harbours as would be con^der- 

ed beneficial to British interests; (5) that Tulaji was a very 
wicked man and his word should not be trusted. '^He has 
fcff long destroyed many of our vessels and put us to the annual 

loss of 3 or 4 lacs for the last so many years. He should on 
no accoimt be given up to the Peshwa ; for he may again be¬ 
come free and molest us as before.'’ 

On 7th February 1756 fourteen British ships of war with 

a force of 800 English troops and a thousajid Indians, left 
Bombay under Give and Watson, aU by the sea-route. It was 
expected that the war would continue long and stiff, but on the 

7th day after leaving Bombay, Vijayadurg feU into British 
hands. Watson reported on 14th February, “ We arrived be¬ 

fore Vijayadurg on 11th and learnt that Tulaji was negotiating 
for terms with the Pe^wa. '*ln order to prevent him from 
gaining time for negotiations, I at once called upon him to 

deliver the fort to us. On the 12th we started firing upon the 
fort. At four in the afternoon, a chance shot falling upon one 
of Angria’s ships set fire to all his ships large and small about 

70 in all, and they all were quiddy burnt to ashes. On tha 
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ISth a few of our men landed; and prevented any of the 

Peshwa’s men getting into the fort. Capt. Forde with 60 men 
entered the fort in the afternoon and planted the British flag 

on the top-mast. This morning all our men had an easy 
access into the fort. Ramajipant is coming to meet me today 

when I win demand the delivery of Tulaji Angria, We suffer¬ 
ed no material losses.” 

As the British ships were sailing to Vijayadurg, about 
forty w fifty ships of the Peshwa joined Ibem on the way. 

Tlie land forces of the Poona Government were caraping in 
tents on tlie east of the main fort. Tulaji was not prepared 
for the sudden rush that took place. He was expecting the 

arrival of the British naval ships ance November and as none 
had made their appearance for over three months, he remained 
off his guard. As soon as he saw the ships, Tulaji ran into 

the Maratha camp to see Uamajipant, wlio did not pay much 
attention to what he had to say. Tulaji well knew how he 
was liated by tlxe British. He then commenced firing upon 

the British ships from the fort, but almost at the start all his 
ships were suddenly set on lire and, to his utter dismay, im¬ 
mediately burnt down. The first thing Clive did was to enter 

the fort and take possession of all valuables. The Peshwa’s 
men also rushed towards the fort, but Captain Forde stood 

at the gate with a drawn aword in hand, threatening to cut 
down whosoever should venture to 8tq> forth. Thus mortiflfid, 
the Marathas returned to their camp, The British found in 

the fort 250 guns, ten lacs of rupees in six brass mortars 
and about four thousand £ worth of goods and valuables. 

Immediately on the arrival of tiie British ships in flie 
harbour Ramajipant visited Admiral Watson on his flag-ship 
and mentioned that Tulaji was seeking peace terms. Watson 

answered, “I have no orders for making peace: but if you 
desire, let Tulaji come to me on my ship. If he does not come 

at once, I will fire on the fort ” But Tulaji could not make 
up his mind. Then the British flred, burnt the ships of Angria 
and took possession of the fort. Tulaji surrendered to Khandoji 

Mankar and was securely guarded by the Peshwa’s men. The 
next day Ramajipant again visited Watson on his ship, when 
the latter demanded the delivery of Tulaji. Ramaji replied 

that he would not hand over Tulaji unless he had written 
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orders from his master, Ratnajipant made a demand tor the 
possession of the fort. Watson replied he had no orders but 

would hoist the Pcahwa’s along with his own. He would 
noT allow the entry of Maratba troops info the fort if Tulaji 
was not delivered to him, The British dug up the lort for 

hoarded wealth, and obtained conwderable amounts which ih^y 
distributed to their men. As the Peshwa was al«ent at Sava- 

nur, no final solution could be found to dissolve the differenccfS 
about ^he possession of the fort and disposal of Tulaji 

Edward Ives a sut^n on Watson's ship ha« left ^ journal 

of hU travels and given some p»dnent details about the nflair 
of Vijayadurg, He mentions that when tlie Britisli entered 
the fort, not more than 20 on their side were found dead or 

wounded. Tulaji had three days before left the fort having 
stationed his wife's brother in charge. The British found in 

the fort Tulaj’i's two wives and two sons. 'Watson went into 
the fort and took a kindly interest in them. They all witli 
tears in their eyes bowed to the ground belore him as Watson 

entered, and the Admiral assured them of safety and c^e on 
his part. Tulaji's aged mothei* was much moved by tWs 
assurance and replied '‘Now we are without protection,—no 
father, and no children. One six year old son of Tulaji held 

Watson's hand and .said, “You aie now my father.'' These 
words touched Watson's heart too- The British discovered in 
the fort in addition to the above family of Tulaji, ten English 

and three Dutch rnen imprisoned by Tulaji, They were all set 
at liberty.” 

The English obviously behaved contrary to the terms 
agreed upon by keeping possession of the fort, and appropriat¬ 
ing all valuables and demanding the person of Tulaji. As soon 

as the British navy arrived at’ Vijayadurg, Tulaji in terror 
started negotiations with Ramajfpant. The English construed 
this as a breach of agreement on the part of the Marathas in 
conducting negotiations for peace without the knowledge of 
the other allied party, and alone attacked the fort and prevent¬ 

ed the Marathas from entering it. But the main fact is clear 
that it was the Peshwa who for putting down Tulaji sought 

tfa5 naval co-c^eration of the British. The British had not 
starts the war against Tulaji on their own account. II the 

Marathas had not already hemmed in Tulaji by land over a 
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length oi more than two hundred miles, Tulaji could not have 

been so easily suMued. The British discovered that the har¬ 
bour of Vijayadu^ was a valuable base for theiv navy and 

proposed to iceep it ihemsclveR exclianging it for Banlcot and 
its fort liimmatgad. Ramajipant went to the extreme length 
of protest sliort of f>pen hosLililies, aixl bided hJs time until 

the Peshwa’s return U> l^ona from Savanur. in fact the Bri¬ 
tish tried to grab Vijayadurf? and establish their sway over 
the west cosb^t just as tliey liad done on tlie east coast io 
Madras and Bengal. Indeed as Bombay was not then well 
developed, the Britisli considered Vijayadm^ as a most suit¬ 
able port for the expansion cl their power. • 

4. The Peshwa's protest.—The Pesdiwa arrived at 
Poona on 20tli July 1756 and the next day hu addressed a 
strong letter to the Governor in wliich lie condemned the Bri¬ 
tish Hclion of keeping possession of the fort of Vijayadurg for 

which alone he had called in tlie British help, He demanded 
its immediate surrender if thdr amicable relations were to be 
preserved in the future. " II you do not act up, the future 

will lie in God’s hands", add^ die Peehwa. A dear threat 
which could not be ea»ly ignored. 

To this the Governor made a mild reply on 1st August 
and promised to hand over the place as soon as the monson 

was over, when his ships could bring back the ganison, offer¬ 
ing at the same time lo send his two agents to Poona, Thomas 
Wyfield and John Spencer for a personal adjustment of the 

outstanding points arising out of the a^mr. The East India 
Co. at that moment had already a war on hand both in Bengal 

and Madras and were not prepared for au additional trouble 
on the west coast., Hence they readily yielded to the Peshwa's 

demand and staged a climb down. 

The Portuguese tried to make capital out of the Pediwa’s 

dtfficulties by attacking the Maratha post on Phonda, south 

of Goa on 28th June 1756. It was bravely defended by the 
Maratha garrison, and the Portuguese Governor Count de 
Alva was killed, losing ten guns and arms to the Marathas. 

The Briti^ envoy from Bombay arrived at Poona and 

a fresh tmty was then drawn up on I2th October mainly sii- 



S50 NEW HISTORY OF THE MARATHAS [ VOL. II 

pulating that Bankot and ten villages should be ceded to the 

Hnglish in lieu of Vijayadurg. Govind Shivram Khasgivale at 
once proceeded to Vijayadurg and took possession of the fort 
on behalf of the Pcshwa. Tulaji remained a closely watched 
prisoner in the hands of the Peshwa, along with his mother, 

wives and two sons Raghuji and Sambhaji confined in various 
forts from {time to time. These sons escaped from their con* 
finement in 1766 to Bombay, but the British did not give them 

shelter in their settlement- Raghuji then went to iHfaidar All 
and remained there long. Tulaji died as a prisoner In fort 

Wandan in 1786.* 

5. Did che Peshwa destroy the Maratha navy 7— 
Historians like Rajwade and others have scathingly criticised 

the I^wa for destroyed the Maratha navy by accept- 
ing^B'Htish help for that purpose. Hem Tt must be observed 

that on some fmportant points the critics have proceeded on 
wrong assumptions. The Peshwa was intent on putting 
down the recsldtrant and defiant TuJajj Angria who 

obeyed no law and recognised no authority. The Peshwa 
had no grudge against the Angrian navy at all. The navy 
was burnt down by the Peshwa's allies the British. Once a 

war is on, it was difficult to regulate the destruction. After 
Tula}! was removed, the Peshwa did appoint another naval 
c^cer DhuUp in his place. Nor could the Peshwa conteivc 

that he was doing damage to the Maratha State by removing 
Angna. He had already humbled Damaji Gaikwad and 
^fenced Dabhade and Tarabai. The Peshwa did not remove 

TuJaji's brollier Manaji who preserved his position at Koiaba. 
To^defend the west coast properly by taking possession of the 
important points and harbours of Suvamadurg, Anjanvel, 
Kataagin and Vijayadurg, was the principal aim of the Ptshwa 

for which lie called in Britisii aid. But even in ttiis point, 

it may be asked why did he n^lcct the obvious political 
dictum, on no account to call in an enemy to help one's cause, 
Here is the crux of the problem. The agreement for British 

3. Tbfs Aogrian epnsode synchronised vlth Imporunt hsppnmngd on 
the east coast, Uie Angjo*F»nch war, Uic affair of 6{ir»J.ud*Daula and 
Bussy^i bold stand againM the Niiaia at Char Mirar. 
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help was contracted early in 1755, when the British were not 
considered as unfriendly to the ‘Marathas. The Seven Years 

War had ribf yet started- Bussy a French oflicer was already 
a Iriend to the Peshwa. These Western settlers, the French, 
the Dutch and the British, were working in India for over a 

century as peaceful traders, and their territorial ambitions were 
not disclosed till the grant of the Diwani to Clive by the 

Emperor in In ascribing to the Peshwa an unpardon¬ 
able fatal indiscretion, it seems we anticipate history, and 

powerful as Uic Peshwa certain I y was during the late fifties, 
he had no reason to suspect that he could not control the 
action of the British power in Bombay. 

One must also note the Peshwa's subsequent dealings with 
the British. Me had set his heart upon subjugatir^ the Siddi 
of Janjira and the Nawab of Surat, who received British sup¬ 
port to the detriment of the Maratha State, So after TuUji 

had been removed, the Peshwa turned hia attention to Janjira 
and Surat and requested British help for that purpose in 1758. 
There were other points of friction between the two nalions 

for the settlement of which British envoys were sent to Poona 
in Ai^t 1759, headed by Price.* Price arrived in Poona on 

7th September and left it for Bombay on 23rd October 1759. 
Visits and discussions took place through Govind Shlvram, but 
no decisive result came about, as on the point of the conquest 
of either Surat or Janjira, the British would not offer any sup¬ 

port to the Peshwa. In fact they took possesaon of Surat 
themselves about this time. Price’s journal forms an interest¬ 

ing study, 

6. Manaji and Raghujt Augria.—With the death of 
Manaji Angria on 23rd September 1758, the element of dis¬ 

union in the Angrian family was removed. Manaji's death 

4. We well knov that it afte* (he iifiair of Plassev that OiTf 

began to rormuUte bla dream of Indian eonauest and he proceeded lo 

England In Pebruafy 1760 to personally discuns the malCer wHh tba 

Bntiah Prime MinUter Earl Cbatbani; but Chathacn did not support 

him. did not even care to meet him. Oupifi’c had certainly worked in 

that direction for a little while, but had failed and been recalled in dis¬ 

grace. 

5. Pull account in Porest'a MsToiha strits. 
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materially damaged the Peshwa’s cherished ambition of sub¬ 
jugating the Siddi of Janjira. as he had zealously cn-operated 

with the Peshwa in that task a few months before. Manaji left 
14 sons, ten legidmate and four illegitimate. Raghuji the 
eldest and the most capable of them all. was invesled with both 

the hereditary titles of Sarkhel and 'Waaajat-Mab. This 
Raghuji Jcept up a steadfast friendship for the PeshwaV hoase, 
After Manaji’s death tlie Peshwa spent four long months 

November 1758 to February 1759 in louring and peitsonally 
inspecting the position of the west coast with a view lo orga* 
nising an expedition against tlie Siddi. l^huji’s youlhhil 

valour succeeded in capturing the Siddi's strong out-post of 
Underi on 28th January 1759 and the fort of Kansa or 

Padmadurg near Murud about three miles from Janjira itself 
on 21st February following. Underi was named .Tayadurg. 
Janjira itself would have fallen into Maratha bands in a short 

time had not Sadashivrao Bhau been suddenly called to the 
north. Soon after on 13th October 1760 the Peshwa puHed 
down fort Rajltot of Chaul and the grand Masj id in it. Cliaul 
a P<ffluguese possession, had long been in the Maratha hands, 
but the strong ramparts and the Muslim mosque formed a 

perpetual nuisance to the Hindu inhabitants of the place and 
were completely razed to the ground.* 

6. Pairs Yadi 182 ; P. D. 24. 261. 262, 2$5. 
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ClIAPTIiR xvn 

Tim M Mhi; 

I74K M>iy KHlh Muy 17D3, Sjiklar JjiiUf. 

I73[i Mny Hist M:iy 1754, Inliwim-u<l-danl»- 

1754 Jund NtivcmlxT 29, CThasi*ud*djn In)ad-iil*inalk. 

iTZ\, Alimiid 5liah Abdali born. 

17:t7 Ahmad Shuh Abdal! takc» service under Nadir 

SimU. 

ITH!), Ahmnd Skih accompHdiea Nudir iit hia 
cxpcdltiun to Delhi. 

1745, July 1 &ikaria Kfian, Governor ol the Rjojab die*. 

1747, June 19 Nadir Shah assasinalcd : Ahmad Sl^ab Abdali 
bccomcfi Kins of ICabul. 

174K, January 2U Abdali captures Lahore and advances to* 
wards Delhi. 

1749, Mnjch 21 Alxlali dofeated at Manupur by Sl^ah> 
zfldu Ahmad; Wazir Qamruddin Khan 

kilkcL 

1748 Mir Mannu aiHwinted .Governor of the 

Punjab, 

174S, April 2S Bm|>cror Muhammad Sliah dies at Delhi. 

1748, April 26 Ahmad Shah proclaimed X^mperor with Safdar 
Jang as Waalr. 

1740, oarly monihs Pathans of the Doab rise against the Wazir 
Safdar Jang. 

„ ^dali invades the Punjab and returos on 
Mir Maiua agreeing to pay blm annual 
tribute. 

1750, August 3 TJie Doab Pathans start war upon the Wa2ir: 

Ahmad Kh&n Bangash attacks the ^Vaslr's 
camp at Farrukhabad ; Navalrai the Wazir's 
cooimander killed. 
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1750, September 12 

1751, Januaiy 

1751, February 2\ 

1751, March 2 

1751, March 20 

1751, April 28 

1751, December 
1752, February 

1752, March 15 
1752, March 23 

1752, April 12 

1752. April 23 

1752, April 23 

1752, Mey 14 

1752, August 27 

1753, February 13 

2753, Mar. 26.Nov. 7 

Battle of Kaagaflj, Saidar Jang himedf 
ed. The Pathans invest Allahabad; Waair 
courts Maratha help from Poona. 

Siiidia and Holkar met by Wasir's agenu aL 
Kotah : condilionx of help agtoed to. 

Safdar Jang leaves DaDii for the defence of Al¬ 

lahabad. 
Safdar Jang meets Jayappa and Mbiliarrao* 

and engages their services. 
Battle of Qatlirganj: the Mar&ihas n^ut 

BangasU : a bitter struggle follows. 
Battle near Famjkhabatl, ten thousand 

Pathatts cut down, Ahmad IChan Bangash’a. 

power extinguished : the Patiians led by 
Najib Khan invilc Abdali from Kabul to 

their help. 
Abdali starts from Kabul for India. 
Through Maraiha mediation, a treaty conclud¬ 

ed at Lucknow closing the Palhart'Wazir 

* war 
Abdali captures Laliorc. 

Mir Mannu submits and agrees to Abdali's. 

terms. 

Safdar Jang m^es a solemn agreement with 
the Maratha Sardars for the defence of 

the Eu^ieror. 

The Emperor c«i die other hand ratifies Mir 
Mannu's arrangement with Abdali and the 
last returos to his courttry from Lahore. 

Sindia and Holkar reach Delhi and demand 
execution of tbdr agreement, 

Sindia and Holkar leave for the Deccan with 
Ghazi-ud'din as reQulrod by (he Peahwa. 

Khqja Javid Khan murdered by tbc 'Warir. 

Abda/i's agonta arrive at Delhi demanding 
tribute, 

Civil war in Delhi. Surajmat supporla the 
Wazir. Najib Khan appears on the scene 
to protect the Emperor against Safdar Jang. 
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1753, May 13 

1753, June 14 

1753, August 19 

1753, September 

1753, November 7 

CHRONOLOGY 35& 

The Emperor dismisses Safdar Jang from 
Warirahip. 

Battle of Talkatora, Gosa'd Rajendra Gir 

killed. 
Another battle, Safdar Jang defeated; the 

Em|>erDr summons the Marathas to hia 

lidp. Tlic Pesliwa dcspatclics Kaghunuth* 
roe to the north. 

A baUlc takes place resulting in heavy loss to 
Safdar Jang. 

War dosed by a formal treaty between the 
Emperor and Safdar Jang. The latter wilh- 
drawa to his Subah of Lucknow, 

Safdar Jang dies. 1754, October 17 





CllAl^TEK XVn 

MARATHA ENTANGLEMENTS IN DELHI 

{1750—1753} 

1 AImUII finil itie Punjnh, Tlicr MitratfiR ()|>j«c(lvc, 

2 'Hi?UhSI: »ar. Sifdir ^ 
/luii: Hv«k« Mamih.i lic;l|>. S GvI! wAr ia 

1. Abdati and tlie l^iinjab, the start,—We have now tf> 
tflkfi up tlie threads of Maratha affairs in north Irxlia since 
the death ol Raja Sbahu and explain how a hitter struf^f^le 

arose between the Pathan King of Afghanistan, Ahmad ^ah 
Abdali and the Maratliaa of tlic Dcccan, who contested for 

supremacy at the Court of Delhi. It was a long drawn drama 
with its tragic close at Panipat (January 1761). 

Between 1741 and 1748 Balaji Bajirao had led four Im¬ 
portant expeditions personally into northern India, and kept 
a vigilant eye on the doinge of bis agents acting in hie name 

in that distant field. But unfortunately his preoccupations in 
the eoiUh during the next eleven years after the death of Shahu» 
proved too engrossing to allow him time even to pay a single 
visit to the north, The affairs In tl\at quarter came to be left 

entirely to Malharrao Holkar and the Sindia brothers, with the 
Hingnes at Delhi in charge of Maratha diplomacy, Govindpant 
Bundele in Bundelkhand and the Doab as n dvil officer, and 

Antaji Mankeshwar as commandant of the small Maratha con- 
tmgent in Delhi. Tlie Peshwa's younger brother Raghnnathrao 

was indeed sent twice to the north, but he proved too weak and 

incompetent for the heavy task. 
Nadir Shah was assassinated.on. 19th June .1747 and.bis 

power and kingdom were usurped by his capable lieutenant 
Born in 1724, Ahmad had enlisted In 

Nadir Shah's service at the age of 13 and accompanied that 

monarch into India in his famous expedition of ITSS*- I*Ie had 
gained in Nadir Shah’s service the piost valuable experience of 
leading anned forci» into distent lands, and developed a greed 

of con<Iuest, and more than once distinguished himself for 
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valour, love of adventure and statesmanship. Within a few 
months of Nadir Shah's death he organizediiis rule at Kabul 

with the help of another able soldier and diplomat Shah Walt 
whom he appointed his minister. Sl^ah Pasand IChan 

was another captain of ability whose services lie secured, so 

that these three names became famous in future Indian hlslory. 
Nadir Shah's immense wealth fell into Ahmad Sliah's posses¬ 

sion and enortnously increased his power. These Pathan sol¬ 
diers of fortune had close correspondence with tlieir Indian 

brethren the Rohillas and the Etangashes, from whom they 
constantly acquired information of the conditions in India 
particularly of the Mughal Court. Thus Ahmad Shah early 
in his career conceived the plan of enriching his poor resources 
by_draininB away the wealth of India and particularly that of 

the Fhinjab, which he coveted as an outpost dominating 
the politics of Delhi. He never entertained the idea of obtain- 
in^fof hip^f the crown of the Indian Empire. The Punjab 

sQono biing contiguous to his home in Afghanistan, be dearly 
prized as a paying adjunct of his western dominion. 

The Punjab has been since ancient days the highway for 

an^ adventurer coming into this country, and its protection 
has wer formed the most troublesome problem for the imperial 

rulers of India. The moment the Indian hold on the Punjab 
became loose, foreign adventurers like Babar and Nadir Shah 
found it easy to invade India and establish power therein. 

During I^Suhacimad.^hah'a rule Zakaria Khan governe<l 
the Punjab for long with conspicuous ability. He died on 1st 

July 1745, leaving two sons Yahiya IQian and Shah Nawaz 
Khan, between whom a dispute immediately started for the 
succession. Qami-ud-din Khan, the Wasir of the Emperor and 
his able son Mir Mannu supported the claim of Yahiya ZChan. 

who was the Wazir's son-in-law and who ran to Delhi, for 
protection after hU father's death. The younger brother Shah 
Nawaz Khan had an able assistant named Adina Beg, who 
sought the help of Abdali and invited him to invade the 
Punjab. Abdali readily accepted the offer and led an eatpedi- 

tion into this country in January 1748. He captured Liiore 
on January 20 and afier completing his military preparations, 
proceeded further on towards Delhi during the next month. 

Emperor Muhammad Shah was at this time ailing, but he 
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•sent hig son Shahzada Ahmad with the Wazir and other 
jtiandees like S^fdar Jang, the Mir Bakhshf, and Ishwari Sinh 

of Jaipur with large forces and plentiful treasure, A stiff ac¬ 
tion between the imperial troops and those of Abdali took place 
at Manupur ten miles northward of Sarhind on 21st March, 
in which the Afghan Shah was completely routed; but at 

the beginning of the action a chance shot killed the Warir 
Qamr-ud-din Khan;‘ 

The Shah immediately relumed to his country after con¬ 
ciliating Mir Mannu the (Jovernor of the Punjab. The battle 
-of Manupur proved tlic last victory won by the imperialists, 

The Emperor Muhammad Shah died at Oelhi on 25th April, 
the news of which reached Shahaada Ahmad at Panipat on 
28th and he at once proclaimed himself Emperor, acting on 
the advice of Safdar Jang, whom he appointed his Wazir, 
along with the charge he already hdd of the Subahs of Allah¬ 

abad and Oudh, At tliis time all the Deccan had been lost 
to Delhi being owned partly by the Marathas and partly by the 
<lyna8ty of Asaf Jah. Bengal, Bihar and Orissa had been al¬ 
ready subjected to the Maratha Chauth, The Subah of Agra 

wa^. usurped by the Jata under Surajmal, The IRajput iajas 
already acted as independent chiefs. The only territory t^t 
remained in the Emperor’s direct charge was the norJi'-westOT 
lands between Delhi and Attock, and parts of the Doab. 

Next year (1749) when the Indinn Pathans rose 
against tlie Waair, the Shah Abdali entered the Punjab in 
the cold season. Mir Manmi opposed him near Waaira- 
bad, but discovering that no help would come from 

Delhi, he saved himself by agreeing to Abdali the annual 
revenue of tlic four northern districts of the Punjab together 
witii a cash naiar of Rupees ten thousand. As the summer 
advanced the Shah returned home with the acquisition he had 

gained. 

2. TEe Pachan war. S&fdat Jang seeks Maracha 
help._Soon afterwards there arose dissensions in the Emperor 
Ahmad Shah’s counsels. His mother Udham Bal and the eunuch 

Javid Khan intrigued against the Wasir and usurped all power. 

1. P D. 2. 9 : Palre Y»ii W, 
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controlling the Emperor who remained immersed in the pur¬ 
suit of pleasure to. iit detnment of the State, so tliat the Wazir 
Safdar Jang soon discovered that he bad no authority to act. 
He could not prevail upon the Empenw to start pensonally 

with forces to defend the Punjab and prevent further invasion.'^ 
by Ahmad Shah Abdali. At the end of November 1748 Safdar 
Jang discovered a plot for attempting his life by means of an 

explosion of gunpowder as lie entered the palace gate. The 
Emperor wishing to deprive Safdar Jang of his Wazirwhip, in¬ 
vited Nasir Jang from the Deccan for this purpose. Tlie latter 

started for Delhi in March 1749. In tills extremity Saldar 
Jang tried through the Hii^nes, the Maraiha agents at Delhi, 
to secure the Peshwa's help in maintaining his posi^n, Upon 
tills the Peshwa at once asked Sindia and Holkar to march 

southward and prevent Nasir Jang from crossing the Narmada 
fc^ Delhi. Safdar Jang collected armies in Delhi and tried 
to maintain his position even by force against the Emperor, 
who got ao frightened at the Warir’s move that he at once 
wrote an autograph letter to Nasir Jang to return to the Deccan 
and not to proceed to Delhi. Nasir Jang, therefore, was com¬ 

pelled to return from the Narmada in May. But Safdar JajigV 
positioa did not materially improve. On the contrary the Jats, 
the^Rohillas and the Pathans of the Doab made a common 

cause against him and started an open aKi^ssion on his terri-^ 
tory. 

These Indian Pathans were the hereditary foes of the 
hjughals and dreamt of putting an erief To the latter's rule 
in Thdia, tiaving commimicalions with the traas-frontier 

Pathans, they now began to assert their power. They were 
fanatics of the Sunni persuasion and bitterly hated the Shia 
Wazir, who had waged an unceasing war gainst them in the 
past, during the time of Muhammad Shah. The Rohillas had 
theii* seat at Barelli and the Bangash at Farrukhabad. While 

Safdar Jang w'as occupied at E>cJhi during_1750. his camp near - 
Farrukhabad was suddenly attacked on the night of 3 August 
by Ahmad Khan Bangash, known in history as the lame 
Pathan. The Waziris general Navaliai was killed and his 
whole camp was plundered. This wa-s a grave disaster for the 

Waar who had already been weakened at Delhi. The Pathans 
gathered their forces to tlie number of 60 thousand and march- 
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ed into the Wazir's possessions. S^fdar Jang prepared Co meet 
the danger and urg«nt)y called in ihe help of the Jats and Ibe 
Marathas under Sindia and Holkar, who h8d gone to the M>uth 

to support the Pej^wa at the acc«.sjon of Kanimja and who 
were given leave by the Pesiwa In July J750 to proceed to 
the north. 

Before the Maratla help arrived, Safdiir Jaim iincl his 
I’athun anlagonlKtH hod fought a )icverc action at Kni4gunj near 

l^rrukhaliiuJ in the L)oab on 12th September 1750. Hero the 
Wnxir again KUHtalned a aevere defeat. liimacU being woiinded 
and carried awuy unconscious frrjm the bauleficld. This news 

R'Hclted Delhi and totally extinguislted his waning prestige and 
the power, widch he had foi two years wielded at the (^pital. 
Tfie Palhans after their victory marched straight upon Luck* 

now and for a time it was feU thut all was lost for Safdar 
Jang. .\ftLT plundering Lucknow the I^thana fell upon Allah* 

jilwd aiKl invested that fort. Ije«des taking posaemuon of ,Taun* 
pui* and (Jhazipur, 

Safdar Jang feeling sorely distressed sought counsel with 
his shrewd wife Sadr^uivnisa Begam and wme personal friends. 

They all with a united voice advised an alliance with the 
Marathas on any terms they would ask. Sindia and Holkar 

were nearing Kotah early in 1751; Safdar Jang sent his per¬ 
sonal agents Raja Ramanarayan and Jugul Kiahore, Inviting 
them with all speed to run to his help. He himself left Delhi 
on 21st Kebruflry and marched towanis the east to relieve the 

pressure of the Pathans upon Allahabad. On the way he had 
a meeting with Jayappa Sindia and Malharrao Holkar on 2nd 
March and engaged to enlist their help on payment of Hs. 
25 thousand per day, This was indeed a grave undertaking 
for the Marathaa, The real anti^thy was between the Em* 

gwor and the Pathans. The latter now dreamt of restoring 
the pr^Mughal Pathan Empire of Delhi as in the days of the 

Khiljls and* the Tughiaka. They Invited Ahmad &iah Abdali 
from the north-west and aimed a decisive blow at the Mughal 
Empire. 

Writes Dr. Shrtvastava, ‘The Ruhela and the Bangaah 
Pathans were in treacherous alliance with the Abdali invader 
of Afghanistan. The history of Ihe next ten years clearly 

demonstrates that Ahmad Shah Abdali swooped down the 
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plains of northern India every lime that his Inother 
Pathans in Hindustan were hard*pressed by th«r enemies, not 
only to rescue them but also to help them in the realization 

of their dream, the Pathan supremacy over India. The Turani 
nobles of Delhi were the'sworn enemies of the Wazir and were 
in secret sympathy with the Pathan rebels. Hence Safdar Jang 

could either allow the Pathans to usurp the Muj:hal supre¬ 
macy and his own provinces of Oudh and Allahabad together 
with his oflke, or crush d«3n with the help of the Marsthas. 
He had to make a choice between two evils, a foreian invader 

as&sted by enemies at home, or the Marathas who for years 
past had been distinctly loyal and been his own friends since 
1747. One cannot accuse Safdar Jang of recourse to the humi¬ 

liating expedient of calling in the Marathas.”* 

The Wazir in his extreme danger also engaged the support 
of the Jats on a promise of Rs. 15 thousand a day, similar to 
his stipulation with the Marathas. 

In response to their undertaking, twenty thousand efficient 

Maratha troops entered the Doab and immediately routed 
tlie Bangash army under Shadil KJian at Kadjrganj near Etawa 
on 20 March, TJiis reverse immedialely compelled Alimad 
Khan Bangash to raise tiie siege of Allahabad and run to the 

defence of his capital of Farrukhabad. A very bitter struggle 
then ensued between the Marathas and the Pathans on the 

bar^ of the Ganges in that quarter. In the mean time two 
R$ina leaders Sadulla Khan and Bahadur Khan with large 
forces came swiftly to the rescue of the Bangash. Ga/igadhar 
Yashvant of Holkar’s party and Jawahir Sinh Jat advanc¬ 

ed against these with fiuy and suddenness, and a heavy enga¬ 
gement was fought on 28th April in which ten thousand Rohil- 
las were cut down along with their leader Bahadur Khan ; 
Sadulla Khan saved his lile by taking to flight. A large 

amount of plunder and a number of prisoners were secured by 
the Marathas. 

At these occurrences Ahmad Khan Bangash completely 
lost heart and along with most of^his folloi^^ers decamped in the 
nj^t. Several of his men were drwned in the river. The 

2. 7’ke First Imo f^awobs «/ Ou4k, p, 177 ; Pclrt Yadi 83. 
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Pathan camp was plxmdered and a iarge amount of boot^ was 

secured by tbe Waair. Writes Govindpant Bundele, "The 
Pathans attempted the restoratioii of their rule at Delhi; and 
failing this, they wished to coerce the Emperor ao far as to se* 

cure for therreelm the posts of the Wasir and tlie Mir Bakhshi, 
w doiJig away witli Safdar Jang’a power. Almiad Khan met 
the fate he deserved on the banks of the CangM. If he had not 

been so mu ted ► tlie Marat has would have lost all their labours 
and acquisitions nf former years. The most faithless of all 
Pathans, Turai Khan had joined Ahmad Khan Bangash and 
was killed wltli ail his followers.” Thus it will be seen that 
at this critical juncture, it is the Marathas wIk» saved the 

situation for the Empire- When the news of this Maratha 
victory over the Pathans reached Poona, a wave of enthu¬ 
siastic joy spread throughout Mahamahtra. Tlie Ptthwa offered 

his heartiest congratulations to the Sardars. Dattaji Sindia 
distinguislied himself in this campaign of the Doab for the 
firet time,'* 

3. The Maraeha objective.—The object of the Marathas 

in ail these undertakings was religious, as wqU Jl. 
They particularly intended to get the holy places of 
and Kashi back into Hindu possession. On Idtb June 27Si 

a Maratha agent wrilea, “ Malharrao has pitched bis monwoon 
camp in the Doab. He intended to pull down the grand 
Masjid built by Aurangzeb at Benares and restore the origmal 
temple of Kashi-Vishveshwar, The Brahmans of Kashi feel 

extremely terrified at such a mo^'e, for they realise the Muslim 
strength in these places. What the holy Ganges and the Pro* 

tector Viehveshwar can ordsun will come true. The Brahmans 
are going to send a strong appeal to the Peshwa ^Inst any 
such attempt by his Sardais." 

The Waar-Pathan war was resumed after the rains, In¬ 
stead of attempting conciliation, the^asir'-disclos^g. spkife-of 

vengeance against the Pathans. Tht latter burnt th«r own 
lands and houses and resorted to the northern jungles and 

urgently invited Ahmad Sh&h Abdali to India. At this mo¬ 
ment biey obtained a unique leader, the famous Najib-ud- 

3. Ha). 3- leO, 383 , 334. 397; Ral, 6. 222: Pain yadf 79, 82, 83, 
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daula, a bitter enemy of the Marathas and by no means 
friendly to the Emperor. He twfeted the plain facts of the 
situation and look up the cry of " religion in danger,” in order 

to denounce both the Marathas and their supporter Safdar 
Jang, The cry appealed to the common Muslim sentiment and 

helped to weaken the Maratha position. It was never obvious¬ 
ly the intention of the Marathas to attack Islam or to convert 

Muslims to their faith. They were searing only political 

power and ilntmgh it religious freedom. 

Towards the end of 1751 Abdali appeared again in the 
Punjab and Jhe Emperor quaked in Delhi. He invited ^'afdar 
Jang to the capital to save the atuation, The Wazir under¬ 

stood danger, and extricating himself from the pursuit of 
the Pathans in which he was engaged, ran to Delhi. But be¬ 

fore his arrival, the Emperor had sent his agents to Abdali, 
and agreed to give up the Punjab to him. Nor was the Wa«ir 
in a potion to oppose the Abdali in a pitched battle. Sindia 
and Holkar v;^ere his allies. They had exhorted him in view 

of this fresh danger to conclude a peace with his Indian 
Patbans on reasonable terms through the medium of Ganga- 
dhar Yashvant, so that he (the Wazir) could devote his sole 
attention to the danger from the Shah of Afghanistan. In 
February 1752 the Waar signed the treaty of Lucknow. By 

this treaty the Marathas obtained in lieu of their expenises 
and dues a large territory in the Doab, which henceforth tliey 
held r^ht upto 1803 when Lord Lake conquered it from Sindia. 
The Peahwa's aim all along was not to selst the territory of 

others, butJnly^tQ levy^contrihutions in return for the- pro¬ 
tection he extended to them and to release the holy.f^laces 
from Muslim control. Mu^im sentiment, however, proved 
too strong in this respect. The Muslim possession of the Hindu 

places was a matter of long standing prestige of conquest. 
Even Safdar Jang, otherwise so friendly to the Marathas and 
his son Shuja-ud-DauIa, proved most unbending on this point 

of surrendering the holy places of the Hindus r and although 
they dared not give a flat refusal, knowing the strength of 
ibe Marathas, they usually txded their time by putting forth 
paitcy. excuse > for not granting demand, At the present 
day the cruestion has only an academic interest. 
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4. The Punjab ceded co Abdali_In the meantime 
Najib Khan the leader of the Indian Pathans, smarting Iron: 
the defeat he had to auslain at the hands of Safdar Jang aided 
by tlie Marathas, urged the Abdali Shah again to invade India 

In put down their etwmy Safdar Jang and tiis usurping 
Warathn auxiliaries. In response to this invitation Ahmad 
Shth left Kal>ul in l>cember 3751 and marched without op* 
petition riglit up to the vicinity of LidioK. Mir Mannu cuntinu* 
e(l standing urpA^ni appeaL*^ lx>th to the hjnpeiDV and to XW- 
Waziv for lielp. He rcKisted the Abdali Shah as long as possible, 
hut lindtnR himself woisled in an cno'uuter ne?ir Liihore on 

I5ih March 1752. he went hJ the Shah and in a personal visit 
effected nn agreement to clelKtr up the two Subaiis f>{ Lahore 
aixl MuUan tcj him (23rd March 37521. 

llie news of Aljdali s retunt to Uie Punjab threw tho 
lijnperor and the city ol l>elhi into consternation. The Em« 
peror sent angi y summons to his Wazir to repair at once tii 

the capital with the allied Maratlta continKents. Safdar Jang 
received the call at Liiclcnow' on 27th M{UT:h and at once went 
and saw Sindia and Blolkar at Kanauj as flxey were on the 

point of leaving for the Deccan. He effected with them a 
formal agreement for obtaining Maralba help in support of 
ilte Kmperor’s cause and Ttitiiicd it on 12tJi April 1752 with 

solemn oaths and royal seals, the Waeir acting on behalf of 
ll« Emperor. The agreement contained the following material 
leims: - - 

(J) Tlmt the Peshwa should defend the Emperor front 

his internal enemies like the Pathaas, tlie Rajputs or othu 
rebels, and from external loea like the Afghan king Abdali. 

(2) That the Emperor should pay 50 lacs to the 

Marathas for their help, of which SO lacs was to be on accxsunt 
of Abdali and 20 lacs on account of internal foes like the 
Pathans, 

it) That in addiUon the Peshwa was given the right to 

levy Q^auth from the Punjab, Sindh and the Doab. 

(4) That the Peshwa be granted the Subahdarships of 

Agra and Ajmere, which be should administw on the tradi¬ 

tional lines of Mughal nde. 

(6) That if the Peshwa could not come personally to 
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to drifts would surely bring about disaster. It is a pity the 

wambg was not heeded. The Peshwa dispatched to Delhi 
his inoMTipetent brother K^hunathrao, who made (he confu¬ 

sion worse con(ounded, as the sequel will sliow. In the meau- 
time the small but daring commander Aulaji and a gieedy 
ambassador like Hingne wei'e called upon to deal with llic 
grave situation at the capital as best they crjuUI. l''veryl)ody pei * 
ceivcd that a civil war was al>out U‘ rage in the capital, belween 

the Emperor and his Wazlr and Antaji’s help was cajftTly 
couited by bo(h. Bt)(li oJTered him heavy brilic.s. Anlaji 
recklessly aciecd to support the Kmportir, on condition that 

the two Subahs of Oudh and AQahahad, which had lieen held 
by the Wazir, should l« given up to the Maralhas. 

At last open war brolce out between the two principals at 
Delhi and continued for nearly eight months frrjm 2fiLh March 
to 7th November 1753. 11 ia not necessary to describe it lun'c 

in full detail. During the early pl^se of it, from 26lh March 
to 8th May, there was hardly any actual fighting, as the Wazir 
though prepared to fight was long wavering whether he shoulrI 
resign his post and witlidmw to his dominion of Lucknow. 

The second phase Iwgan on 9Lh May wto Surajmal Jat arriv¬ 
ed on the scene to support the Wazir, and the two chiefs 
besieged the Emperor in the fort and tried to capture his 

person by bombarding the palace. The slow progress of the 
war was brought to a sudden close by the unexpected arrival 
on the scene of Najib Khan Rohilla, a determined enemy of 
the Waair : and alteough a time-server all along, his appear¬ 

ance to support the cause ol the Emperor gave a decisive turn 
to the war. Fortunately the war did not extend beyond ten 
or twenty miles round Delhi. 

On 13th May the Emperor dianlssed Safdar Jang from 
his Warirship and appointed Intizam-ud-danla in his place. 
Soon after the younger Gharl-ud-din Imad-ul-mulk, then only 
16 years old, resourceful though wicked, joined the Emperor. 

On Uth June a severe action took place at Talkatora in which 
Rajendra Gir (3osavi, a loyal supporter of Safdar Jang lost 
his life. Another pitched battle was fought on 19th August 

in which Safdar Jang lost his ground and began graduallj* 
to withdraw towardi his own country'. In the mean¬ 
time Che Emperor and Ghazi-ud-din wrote pressing lettei's to 
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the Pftihwa, to Sindia and to Holkar, ti) come with all speed to 
Hipport tJie Empemr. ofl^crins one emre of rupees and the two 

Suhwhs t>f Oudh and Allahabad in return for their help. 
As s(w« as the Peshwa received this call he despatched 

UUKhiuiathnio alotv; with Sindia and Holkar from Poona. But 
before Ihcy ctmUl 1*00011 Delhi the war was and there 
rcmaintfl no iK'cd for Maratha trtx)p« in the north. Tlic war 

ha<l eslumsled both piirties. Hic h-mpuror invited Maelho 
Sinh front .loipnr. who iirrisid aiul neimrintwl iwacc. The hm 
arlion was ftniL'hl near lianipuln in which Sandal* J^nii lost 
heavily; he w'lil hi» iwent to the Emperor anking pardon and 
pinying llvit he should l>e allowed to retire to his tv^x) Subahs. re* 
luninriim all cUiiiit to llii’ Wae.irship. Wasii Intizam-ud-dauls. 
rdluunl»ii, Had ho Sinh and Surajmal all wcriccd in ther own 

ways in clTecUiiii a seUletnenl between die two parties. ^ frjrmal 
granl of hin iwo Sulvilis wn» made \o Safdar Jang, thus can* 
celling tile prtjmisc already made to Anlaji Manheshwar. The 

treaty was finally a>ncludecl on 7th November 1753. Surajnial 
was pardoned by the Emperor for having joined in the war 
against him. Satdar Jang departed with all speed to Lucknow', 

thoroughly worn out by the trouble of war aiid the anxiety Tor 
his situation, He died within a year on 17th October 3754 

and was succeeded in the Subahdarship by bis son Shuja-ud* 
fiaula, wIk> figured pr<jmincntly in the hlatoiy of noith India 
for the next twenty years. 





CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER XVIII 

1749, June 10 

1752. June 

1752, September 21 

1752s October S 

1753, November 3 

1753, November 21 

1753. December 17 

1753, December 17 

1754, January 

1754, March 17 

1754, May 

1754, May 17 

1754, May 18 

1754, May 2S 

1754, May 31 

1754, June 2 

1754, June 23 

Abhay Sinii of Marwar dies; his broilier 

Eakht Sinh usurps tbe r»ij< 

Abliay Singh’s son Ram Sinh s;ccks Jayaf4)a 
Sindia'a aupjxirt to gain his kingdom. 

Bukht Sinh dies and is succeeded by nla soo 

Ajit Sinh. 

Kaghunathrao crosses the Narmada fnr DcDii 
to set nortbom affairs right. 

Mir Mannu dies at Lahore ; hU wife Mughlstii 
BcgDtn seises power. 

Khandcrao Hclkar at Delhi. 

Ran Sinh meets Raghunathrao and Jayappa 

at Jaipur and courts their hdp. 

Raghunathrao at the invitation of Ghaai'Ud* 

din attacks the Jat Raja. 

RaghurtAlhrao invests Kumblter; the sie^e 
continues for 4 months. 

Kl^andcrao Holkar killed; Malharrao swears 

vengeance against the Jat. 

Jayai^a mediates peace with the Jat 

The En^ror moves to Sikandarabad. 

MaratJia armies leave ICumbher; Ghasi-ud* 
din and Raghunathrao fall upon Delhi. 

Imperial ladies plundered by Holkar’s 
Kndarlee. 

Emperor grants Gha»-ud<din’$ demands. 

Ghazi-udniin becomes Wastr; be deposes the 

Emperor and places AJamgjr II cm the 
throne. 

Jayappa Sindia goes to Marwar to support 

Ram ^nh. 



372 NBW 

1794, August Q 

1754, Septcrobftr 15 

1754, October 25 

1754, December 

1755, Jan.-Peb. 

1755, February 21 

1^5, R^rcli S 

1755. April 

1755. July 25 

1755, October 1C 

1756, Jaouary 

1766, February 7 

1756, Fcbiiiary 

1756, October 

1755, November 

1756, December 

\7S7, January 5 

1^7, January 28 

1757, February 
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Jayappa at Merta. 

Jayappa routs Ajit Sinli at Merta—the (utter 

flees to Nagore. 

lmj>crjal iormen is»uc6 granting districts In 

the Doab aud Uie collection of pilKnm tarn 
by MaraUias at Gaya and Kuiukshulra. 

Uagiiunatiuuo enters tltc KoItiJla country. 

ltaghunalhr7io*s pilgrinuM^ to GarlimukiPfliwxr. 

Jayaiipa captures Ajmcrc. 

tOkghunaiJirau aL Pudikar. 

Uaftliuiuilhrao at Gwalior and Uiunci: bu re< 
turns to Poona in August. 

Jaya|)pa Sindia murdered at NaRuri:. 

Baltic of Didwana in which Ajit Sird;'s ally 
Anirudh Sinh is routed. 

Ajit Sinh visits Dattaji and begs far terms 

Chagl-ud-din at Sarhind; or^nts Adina 
Deg to the Punjab and carries Mii?blani 

Degam to Delhi, 

Maiika Zamaol and Najib Khan invite 
AbdaJi from Kabul to put down Gliasi ud* 
din and the Marallias. 

Abdali'e agent Kalandar Khan at Deflii de* 

manding tribute. 

Peehwa despatches Raghunathrao to the 
lief of Delhi. 

Jahan Khan and Taimur ^lah, defeat 
AdiPs Beg at laliore and proceed to Delhi. 

Jahan Khan at Sarhind, followed soon after 
by Abdali. Mughlani Begam discloses to 
Ai)da!l secret hoards of wealth at Delhi. 

AhdaJi enters Delhi 

Abdali sacks and plunders Delhi with the 
help of Najib Khan, 
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1757, I^ruaiy 22 

1757, Match % 

1757, March 5-^12 

1767, MfUtth 

1757, April 1 

1757, April 

1759, December 
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Abdali sends Hs generals towards Mathura. 

Abdah liimsdf leaves Delhi for Mathura. The 

Jat Raja defies hire. 

Week cf the holi (estival; Mathura sub* 
jeeted to untold atrocities; (our tlv)u&and 
naked Gosavia lull hghling, hdvinA massa¬ 

cred a vast number of the Muslints. 

Utulcra harasses Abdall's forces. 

Abdnii leaves Delhi for ICabii), and rightly 

serves Mughlani Begam on the way. 

AMali irolls down the Golden Temple of 
tl)e Siklis. 

Antaji Mankcshwnr arrested and lent to 
PofHiR on diaries of cmbcszlemcnt. 

1772, September 3 Ram SInb of Marwar dies 
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CHAPTER XVI It 

MARATHA MISCONDUCT. ABDALI’S GRIP 

TIGHTENS 

11754—1757] 

I HRiduinaihNo huftiro 

Kuni]>hor. 

i lltc hiiipvRjr murdurc.1. 

3 UiiKltu4M0irE<»'> 
mlKmaAftccmcnt. 

I Tlic Hnihnr 'Vnr. fliurtlvr »f 

% AhuAli inviiM. 
6 Atfodiiftt id Delhi, 

7 Al)dnli'« leiumphanc icturr. 

1. Raghuuachrao before Kumbhcr..-At; Poona ihc 
course of events was not nil running smooth. The Peshwa's 
plan of inrtaUing a friendly Chaii-ud*din on the seat of the 
Nizam, fell through on accouni of thai grandee's sudden mur¬ 

der. Sindia and Holkar had bcpth been estranged in that 
transaction, as they had gained nothing for all tiie troubles and 

labours they had so long undergone. Jayappa Sindia and 
Maiharrao Holkar, were openly hostile to each other, The 

Peshwa had fixed his attention long since on the conquest of 
tlic Kamalak : aa he was no seedier himself, he always rieeft'd 
to have by his side some reliable person who could discharge 

eflidently the dudes of a genera). Such a person w»s his 
cousin Sadashivrao Bhau, who possessed both a stern and 
v'alignt character, but whose independent and uoylelding tem¬ 

perament the Peshwa always fear^. So when during Ihe mon¬ 
soon of 1753 urgent cfiUs came to the F^wa from Delhi, he 

made a choice which in the end proved fatal. He knew his 
brother Raghunath then 18 years old, was not capable of con- 
trolling dUhcult situations and divergent elements. But the 

recent conquest of Ahmadabad was to fus credit, and the 
Peshwa deputed him to proceed to the north with Sindia and 
Hc^kar; and himself marched into the ICamatak with Sada- 

shivrao Bhau. The author of the latter’s bakhar thus criti¬ 
cizes this move:— 

''While Balajirao's reputation as a ruler was rising like 

the second moon in the Maratha State, his evil stars committed 
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him to a wrong step in that he deputed RaKhuruUiirao to gain 

his first experience in the north/’ This pnnvi a fatal ^tep/ 
At this time Raghunatluao had with liim most of the 

ri^ng stars of the next generation, Sakharam Bapu. Chinlo 
Vilhal, Mahipatrao Chilnis, Shamsher Baliaciur. TrimbaUrao 
Pethe, Ramchandra Ganesh, Krishna rsio Kaie, Naro Shanlair. 

Vithal Shivdev and Babuji Naik. They crossed the Narmada 
on 5th October 1753, and proceeding straight via Indf>re and 
Ujjain through the Mukundara pass, reached Jaijjur in IX*- 

cember having collected arrears of IriJjuUj on the way and 
overawed the Rajput chiefs. Govindpant Bunclek* joiiud tlu- 

expedition from Bundelkhand. 
There was hardly any particular objective for I he 

Marathas at this time. TTie war for which they were so urgent¬ 
ly invited had been closed, and now the presence of the largo 
Maratha armies in the north was considered quite a nuisance, 

as they had to exact their subsistence from the inoitensive and 
hapless populace. In such circumstances unexpected hostili¬ 
ties with the Jat Raja of Bharatpur arose and were blindly 

welcomed by the Maratha leaders, as nothing better was then 
before them to occupy their energies. Surajmal Jat a valiant 
and powerful chief, ruled at Bharatpur possessing Kumbher 
and other fortified posts as strong bases. He had been the 
prominent supporter of Safdar Jang in the late dvil war, and, 

although formally pardoned by the Emperor, was an object 
of bitter hatred to the Delhi Court and to the wicked Ghazi- 
ud-din the second, who now detwmined to punisli him for his 

audadty. "Hie Marathas had been recently granted the subahs 
of Agra and Ajmere in which they intended to esinbllsh (Jieir 
actual hold. The Subah of Agra was an object of greed to 

Surajmal, aa it lay contiguous to hj$ own possessions of Bharat- 
pur and Mathura. The Subah of Ajmere was equally prized 
by the Raja of Marwar and ecdled the cupidity of Jayappa 
Sindia. 

Malharrao Holkar sent his son IChanderao and liis trusted 

lieutenant Gangadhar Tatya to Delhi to meet Ghad-ud-din 

’ *' vwMhw %% ^ arfljrt. 
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and arrange plans for the campaign. They reached Delhi on 
2l8t Nov'embtf and decided to conduct a war against the Jat 
raja. The Emperor not wishing to part with the Subah of 
Agra tried to concQiate Khanderao Holkai' with presents and 

audiences; but the latter under the advice of Ghaai-ud-din 
spumed the Emperor’s wishes and rejectir^ the presents re¬ 
turned to his father in January 17&4, and hostilities v'ere 
immediately opened against the Jat, by laying siege to Kum- 

liJier where the raja defended himself, Surajmal went to the 
farthest limit ot conciliation m trying U> avoid a war. For 
this purpose he sent his trusted Brahman minister Ruparam 
Kolliari to purchase Maratlta friondsljip offering to pay 40 lacs 

as the price of i>eace. Raghunatlirao hauglttily demanded one 
ci'ore, upon which the Jat raja returnetl a small padeet of 
gunpowder and shots in answer. Kumbher was at once invest* 
ed and a bitter conflict lasted for full four months, January 
2J to May 18, 1754. During the operations a chance shot 

killed Khanderao Holkar on 17th March, cauang bitter grief 
to his father in his old age.- 

Zn his agony MaJharrao swore terrible vengeance i^ainst 
the Jats and would accept no compromise. Feelings ran high 

on both sides. Rani Kishori alias Hassia, the shrewd wife of 
Surajmal whose advice he always sought in any difficulty, 
was well pasted with the details of the severe estrangement exist- 
ing between Malharrao and Jayappa. She won over the latter 
with gifts and friendly approaches. Jayappa agreed to use 

his influence and get Raghunathrao to raise the siege. The 
Jats defended Kumbher so valiantly that the Marathas had no 
prospect of victory. Malharrao felt extreme mortification at 

not being able to fulfil his solemn vow. Jayappa insisted that 
the best course was to come to an understanding with the Jat 
and end the futile fight, as Kumbher could not be reduced 

without long range guns which the Emperor possessed but 

2. He was cut oi7 in the prime of hie life at the age of 30 and hia wife 

the famous Ahalya Bat became a widow. She bore him ooe son Malrao 

who later died in I7S7, Khanderao had other wived; three of thejc asuJ 

seven maids burnt themselves alive on hl$ funeraJ pyre. Ahaiya Saj 

alone lived at the intense 4olidtation of her father-in-law Malharrao. 

Khanderao certainly bnve but was inordinately addicted to drink 

and dissipation. PAofikfi stfieti Gwalior 3, 205. 

M, M. II—2S 
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which he refused to lend. Under these circumstances a peace 
was concluded upon the Jat raja agreeing to pay 30 lacs in 
three yearly instalments and tlie Maratha armies left Kumbher 

on 18th May. Raghunathrao reaped failure. 

2. The Emperor murdered,—Ghaai-ud-din was )ic>w the 
most powerful person controllioK the affairs of the lCmpeix)r, 
whom he bitterly hated. lie had failed to scr>d the guns to 
Kumbher, and witli the help of Qie Marathas C5haxi*ud-dln 
prepared to vent his wrath on him. The I£mpt'n>r now began 

to repent that he had exchanged Safdar Jang for Cihazi-ud-din. 
The latter’s troops had received no pay for long, and a.s the 
Emperor would not give him funds, he Ixyueged the palace 
and starved the inmates. Thereafter he crossed the Jumna 

and plundered several cities of the Doal). Intizam*ud*daulai 
the nominal Wazir could not help his mastei* or slop Ghaii- 
ud-din’s mischief, In order to obtain some relief Intizam-ucl- 
daula carried the Emperor to Sikandarabad,'' under pretext 
of a hunt, there to concert measures for securing help fi'om 
Ihe Rajput princes, the Jats and even tura Safdar Jang. 

He removed Ihe imperial zannna and their valuables Lo the 
same place, which he meant to fortify by bringing over the 

long range guns of Delhi. 
Ghasi-ud-din watched these movements closely and with 

the help of Malharmo Holkar prepaied to ov'crpower Ihe Em* 
peror. 'The latter reached Sikandarabad on 17th May and tlie 

very next day the Maratha-Jai war was closed. Malharrao 
and Ohazi-ud-din marched together to Mathura with a view 
to falling upon Delhi, bringing out another Shahzada and de¬ 
posing Ahmad Shah. This news reached the Emperor on 25 th 

May at Sikandarabad and he became unnerved, and with his 
mother Udhambaj and his favourite Begam Inayatpuri, start¬ 
ed at night huniedly to return to Delhi and entrench himself 
in the palace. 

As soon a$ the Emperor’s departure became known to 
Malika Zamani and other members of the harem (more than 

350 all told), they hurriedly loaded their valuables on their 

3' Stkandariibad is now in lh« dislncL of Bnlandnhahar dbout 30 
mills south ot Delhi nnd 35 milc» ca.st of the Joirwna. 
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elephants and started in a long train for Delhi. The Maralha 
yoops were not far off. They got news of these ladies escap¬ 
ing with their jewels and suddenly fell upon them, on the dart 
night of 2Bth May. The ladies were made prisoners and 

stripped of all their valuables and belor^ngs : the camp ol 
Sikandfirabad was plundered of every useful article. When 

(»hazi-ud-din and Malharrno learned ol this oulrage on the 
imperial zanana. they felt ashamed. Malika Zamani called 
Malharrao Itj h«‘ presence and cerwurwl him. He slapped his 
own Ihcv in tlic Queen's presence and tried to plead his invto- 

cence saying that it was the work of the phTndcring Pindaries 
attached to Uie army. Malhorrao caught hold of a lew cul¬ 

prits and cut off tlieir heads in her presence. He then collected 
oil the ladies and their goods together and sent them two la® 
for their expen<^ Mthough the imperial jeK'ellery was 
restored, a large slock of the Slkandarabad camp, 500 guns, 
tents, equippage and gold and silver trappings fell into Maratha 

hands. Ghari-ud-din himself met Malika 7aniani on 28tU, 
fell prostrate before her and asked parrton, 

But while these sad misfortunes were happening in 

the Doab, a big tragedy was being acted by Gha^i-ud-din and 
Malharrao near Delhi. Malhairao made some heavy demandn 
upon the ICmperoi' and himself lollowed to make them good. 

On Slst May the Emperor gave a written consent to all those 
demands, Tlie Marathas began to plunder the ouU4<(rts of the 
dty. On 1st June the Emperor removed Intizam^ud-daula 

from tile Wasirslilp and appointed Ghazi-ud-din in his place. 
The next day a grand Darhar was held in Which Ghaal-ud-din 

declared that Ahmad Shah was unAt to rule, brought out Azz* 
ud-dau1a, a grandson of Bahadur Shah, and placed him on 
the throne, giving him the name of Alamgir II. Ahmad Shah 

and Udhambai were made priaoneTs and kept confined. A few 
days later they were blinded and put to death. Such was the 

fate ordained for weaklinge if they occupied imperial thrones, 
Raghunathrao, Jayappa and other leaders soon after 

arrived at Delhi. Ghazi-ud-din promised them 82 lacs for their 
help in this grand revolution: what a contrast with the wise 
policy which Shahu Raja had followed througluut his long 

regn! The Maratha name and character henceforth received 
an indelible stigma. 
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3. Raghunflchifto's inismanagcmenc.—Let ud now see 
what Ra|;hundthrao did as the Peshwa's representative in the 

north. The new Emperor Alamgir 11 was now fifty years old, 
having been born on 6th June 1699. He had spent all his life 

within the prison walls of the palace and never breathed the 
free atmosphere of the outside world. He was intensely devoted 

to his religion after the manner of the great ancestor whose title 
he now adopted. He entrusted to the Maratha agents (the 
Hingnes) the work of coHecting taxes on pilgrims at Gaya and 
Kurukshetra, which used to be formerly done by Muslims. A 
fOTtHW to this ^ect was Issued on 25th Octe^r 1754. The 
Emperor wished to give over the management of tlie two holy 

places ^ayag and Benares to the Maradtas. but he was power¬ 
less in this respect as the places were owned by Safdar Jang. 
Although strict in religious observances, Alamglr's habits were 
licentious enough and he knew no moderation. He directed his 

lustful eyes on the youthful ladies of the imperial sanana. 
Nor did the Emperor possess the nerve to exercise power 

independently in any affair. Whenever any one approached 

him with a complaint, he simply pointed to his Wazir. His 
aim in accepting the imperial dignity was simply to gratify 

his greed. He had a large family and needed funds for their 
maintenance and dignity. He had five sons, one daughter, 
in addition to the six sons of his brother, besides grand-sons and 

a great-grand-son. Each of these members had a stipend 
of 30,000 rupees yearly on paper. How to meet this huge 

expense was his first problem. 
As regards the Wazir Ghasi-ud-din. he was certainly of 

all the imperial Wazirs the most selfish and unscrupulous; and 

he lacked vision and a broad outlook. He utilised his talents 
in a time-serving policy, trying to gain his own ends. 
He inherited a la^ fortune from his father, more than 
a crore aa was then reported. He had his own trained 

army numbering twelve thousand. But he could not gain the 
loyalty or devotion of his followers. All things considered, his 
master the new Emperor was ever ready to support him but 
the Wasir failed to earn his good will, No other Wasir wit¬ 
nessed flucli confusion, such lack of order and such poverty at 

the capital and outside, as happened to prevail during his six 
years of power. His own troops were always in want, never re- 
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«ivjng their pay regularly, They tore the clothes oft his jjerson 
and dragged him through the streets of Panipat with such in¬ 

dignity as no other Wazir had ever before experienced. He pro¬ 
mised enormous amounts to the MaraUias for their help, but 
never fulfilled his word, so tliat they would not leave the capital 
until they received their dues, He would at one moment court 
the friendship of Najib Klian, at another seek favour fi*om 
Abdali, but witli none did he remain firm and true lo his word, 
When ultimately he murdered the Emperor AUingir in cold 

blood in 1759, be lost the confidence of all,‘ 
It was with such a Wazir that Haghunathrao was called 

upon to deal immediaLely sfier Ihe new Emperor was placed 
on tlifi throne In June 1754. For full five months Elaghuoath* 

rao remained moving near the capital trying in vain to obtain 
funds from the Wazir and Ihe Emperor; hiahuge forces con* 
turned practically all that was available. He ultimately foiind 
his position so unbearable that in December he left Delhi and 
moved into the country of the Rohillas beyond the Jamuna* 
There he spent two nxoiUbs having holy baths and making pil¬ 
grimages to places like Garhmukteshwar. Ko could get no 

funds even here. He recrossed the Jamna and went into Haj* 
putana for collecting tribute and after visiting Kannod, Narnol, 

Sambhar and other places, reached Pushkar on 3rd March 1756, 
accompanied by Malharrao Holkar. 

At this time Jayappa Sindia was engaged in operationa 
against Bijayainh of Marwar. As Raghunathrao had luthii^ 
else to occupy him, he offered to join Jayappa : but the latter 
so strongly resented any interference in a task which he was 
handling with complete freedom and valour, that he sent a 

g«itle hint to Raghtuiathrao not to come to Marwar. Haghu* 
nath, thus discomfited visited Gwalior which had just been 
captured by Vithal Shivdev, and finally returned to Poona at 
the call of the Peshwa.^ It will thus be realized that Raghu* 
nathrao during his long expedition of nearly two years, Sep¬ 

tember 1763 to August 1755, did nothing important which any 

4. Thereefcer 'n% no place when he could hlely pass hu 

Tanaiirins long life. X/fiter on the Peehwae had pity on he mlnferttines 

and Ravfi him some lands ki Bundelkhaod wliore he with (SniciiUy main. 

taJned hh-nself till hU death in 1S02. 

5. PhoUie series, Gwalior 3. 2&4, 2g9 &c. 
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subocdloate ot his could not have done. Govindpant Bundde 

conveyed to the Peshwa plain sentiments disapproving Raghu- 
nathrao's ways and declaring ihat unless either the l^hwa 
himself or Sadashivrao came Co the north, the lost ground 
could not be regained. 

But the worst legacy that Raghixnathrao left behind was 
the open hostility that he allowed to prevail between Anlaj; 
Mankeshvar, Che Maratha commandaiit at lJ)elhi and the 

Hingne brothers, the diplomatic |•ep^ew^laUves of the Pysliwa 
at the Imperial Court. He could not reconcile these two chiefs 

any more than he could the other \'fro, Sindia and Holkar, The 
origin of such disputes was in the greed of money, Whenever 
Maratl^ help was called for, it was Che resident ambassador of 

the Marathas that was first approached, and he in his turn con¬ 
sulted the rodent commandant. Hingne was the ambassador 

and Antaji the commander and each of them tried to utilise the 
occasion to improve his own monetary prospects. Hingnea also 
conducted a lucrative banking business, having branches in 
several outside places. Antajl’a corruption and falslhcalinii of 
accounts became so notorious that the Peihwa is.sued orders to 
Sindia in 1759 lo have him arrested and sent to Poona for trial. 
He arrived at Poona just at the time that Dliau Saheb was 

starting for the PanipaL campaign ; and the laUer had no leisure 
at the moment to examine the charges against Antaji. He was 
taken to the north along with the large Maratha armies and 
dearly paid by his death at Panipat for all tus sins. 

4. The Rathof war, mueder of Jayap^n,— Just as 
Malharrao Holkar after the death of Sawat Jay^mii obtained 
an excuse for interfering in the succession dispute of Jaipur, 
so now came the turn of Jayappa Sindia to interfere in the 
aflairs of Marwar, when its ruler Abhay Sinh died on 10th 
June 1749, leaving a aon Ram Sink, not a very capable man, 

who expected to succeed to his father's throne, but who was 
set aaide by the more valiant and warlike Bakht Slnh, bro¬ 
ther of Abhay Sinh. The aggrieved Ham Sink sought tlic sup¬ 
port of Jayappa Sindia, who had looked for an opening to ob¬ 
tain ascendancy over the Rajput States and levy contributions. 

Jayappa assured Ram Sinh that he would take up his cause 
and l^lp him to secure his fatlierts throne as soon as he be- 
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came (ree from olher pressing callSs In 1752 Jayappa when 
on his way to the Deccan escorting Gha2i*iid-din the elder 

from Delhi (June), marie an attempt to help Ram Sinh to the 
throne; but Jayappa bad with him only a small contingent al 
the time which was easily routed by Bakht Sinh. He was in 
a imrry to proceed to tl\e souUi and could not then afford to 
)y> to Marwar. DurinR the year 17S3 when both >\nd\» 
and llolkar nccoitipanjcci RnKhunnlUrao to the noilh, Ram 
Sinh met them near Jaipvtr nnd reminded Sii«lla ofln« promise 
Ui help him Ui t1\c* throiKs Raglvunalhrao agreed to depute 
Siiidia for llial purpo«‘ ns soon as the affair of the war ngainsl 
l!ie jats al Kumljirer w>uld be settled. That affair occuplerl the 
Marat lias for Ave months in I73'l, and in June of that year 
JayappQ left for Marwar from Delhi accompanied by Ram 
Sinh. In the meantime Bakht Sinh had died (2lsl September 
1752) and his young and energetic son Bijay Sinh had suc¬ 
ceeded to the rulemliip of Mar war. Bijay Sinh had statioiwd 

himself at Ajmcrc which Jayappa Invested, when the (omwi 
considering Ajmere unsuited for carrying on prolonged bostili- 
Ues, fell back upon Merta. about 40 miles northwest, Javappa 

immediately followed Bijay Si nil to Merta in Ai.^t and in 
a stiff action inflicted a severe defeat on the Rathors on 16th 
September 1754. Thereupon Bijay Sinh fell l>ack still flulher 
nortii to Nagore another fortified place about 70 miles from 
Merta. Jayappa pursued him to Nagore and invested that place 
immediately. Tliis siege ol Nagore lasted long for nearly a year 
and now acquired a unique importance owir^ to the bitter %ht* 
ing that raged round it between the Rathors and the Mareihas. 

For a time it became a life and death sirusKle in tliat far away 
comer of sandy desert, where both water and food were ?carce. 
Sindia in the meantime captured Ajmere on 2Ist February 1755 
and expected that Bijay Sinh would submit. But the Rathof 

King was a man of resources and did not give up the struggle, 
although he all along kept up the show of negotiating for terms 
by frequently sending his agents into the Maratha camp. The 

Marathas got possession of most of the important posts of 
Marwar, including Jalor in the far south where the accumulat¬ 
ed treasures of Bijay Sinh had been secreted, which now fell 

into Maratha hands. Even Jodhpur was attacked and there re¬ 

mained little hope for the Rathors to continue the struggle 
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Nagore alone held out, as mines proved ineffective in the sandy 
foundations of the fort. 

With the increase of the summer heat of 1755 the leeling« 
of the combatants at Nagore also ran high, and Bijay Sinft 

looked out for some stratagem by which he could make slwrt 
work of his redoubtable antagonist The Rafhnr envoys ww 
often coming and going from Uie fort uf Nagore to Sindia s 

camp on the Peacock-lake (Taua-sarJ about 7 miles distant, 
for negotiating peace terms. The talks were pn>traclcd (A^cr 
months and the party used to be accompanied by large num¬ 
bers of clerlo, accountants and servants. No foul j)lay was 

suspected by the Marathas. On the morning of kYiday 25th 
July, 1755, the Jodhpur Vakil Bljay Bharat! Gosavi, accom¬ 
panied by Rajsinli Chauhan and Jj^neshwar, two of bis lielp- 

mates, and a nurnber of menials, some of whom were dressed 
like the Maratlias, visited Jayappa’s camp and held long dlK- 
cussions with him over the terms. The discussions were held 
in a tent in the middle of the open scpxare of his camp, where 

the cavalry horses were tied In long rows. About II o’clock 
in the morning Jayappa’s bath was ready, which he fmislied 
as usual openly seated on a wooden stool. Si;ddenly two b^* 

gars who had been picking up horse-grain in the comi>ound 
ran at Jayappa, as he was drying his hair with a towel, and 
stabbed him, wounding him mortally, so that in an hour he 

A great hue ard cry was at once raised. The ambassa¬ 

dors and the members of their party were cut to pieces by 
the infuriated Marathas. Before expiring, Jayappa gave full 
instructions to hU brother Dattaji and son Jankoji for aveng¬ 
ing the wrong without betr^ in the least disheartened by his 
death. Thus fell a valiant Maratha soldier, a victim to 
the foul play of the Rajputs. Rawat Jait Sinb Sisodia an 
Udaipur representative residing with Jayappa, who hap¬ 
pened to be present at the discussion, was innocently 

6. These asttilanta' had come in the party of the tnvoyti drewod 

as bcfisars and watched for a auitable opportunity in get at Jayappa. 

It was a prearranged and deliberate attempt, not brought about by a 

eudden provocation produced by Che insolence of Jayapps's language nfc 

ie alleged by later wriiera. PkitJkt faeries. Gwalior 3. 320. 
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killed ill the confusion, as every Rajput was considered 
succour, 

Dattaji and Jankoji rose to the occa^on and nothing 
daunted conducted the war all the more vigorou^y, having 

received speedy reinforcements from the various Maratha 
captaias who were on duty at different places, Antaji Man« 
keshwiir a daring; soldier immediately started from Bundcl- 
khand and successfully prevented Madho Sinh of Jaipur and 

oilier Rajput parlies from reaching Nagore for Bijay Sinh's 
II suspect.' 

Party-feeling between Sindla and Hotlcar ran so high that 
there were reports that Jayappa's murder was secretly insti- 
ffutetl by Hnlkar. There is alK>olutely no proof on this point, 
But tlie Peshwa well knew the position of affairs and quickly 
recalled Malharrao to the south for conducting the war upon 

Savanur and left a free hand for the Sindia’s party to dose 
the Marwar operations with honour and advantage and vindi¬ 
cate tlie prestige of Maratha arms. 

Jayappa’s murder, however, did not avail Bijay Sinh in 
any way. He was soon brought to his knees mainly by the 
Sindian arms, although he tried to organise a formidable 
coalition of northern powers, including the Emperor, his Wazir, 

Najib-ud-daula, the RohiUa Pathans and others, in order to 
put down the Maiathas. But such a heroic plan was beyond 

the pKJwers of Uie Rathor prince. Madho Sinh of Jaipur des¬ 
patched Anirudh Sinh with a strong force; but he was touted 
in a pitched battle at Didwana on 16th October 1755; and he 
soon begged (or terms. By the end of the year Bijay Sinh*s 

position became so untenable lhat submission to Siiidta's 
mercy was his only way of escape. He paid Dattaji a personal 
visit in January 1756 and agreed to the tenns that , were im¬ 

posed. Dattaji too had learnt a bitter lesson and showed wise 

?. Rajput accounts give a s^ligbtly different Teralon of Jayappa's 

murder, dedaring that It wbr not deliberately plotted In advance, that 

during the acrimonloua discustdon, hot Nvordfi cBirae to be exchanged and 

Jayappa uttered such iiiS)icnt and foul language towards the accredited 

aiflbasaadorp, that in the heat of ibe momeoi they struck him down in 

an excited atiocaphere. But the presence of armed and diiKuiscd assas* 

$ins in the pajCy of the amba^adors Is a complete rclulatloo of the 

<)ckncc put lonh by Tod and U»e Vamsh-BhasJrsr. 
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mudersUon. Bijay Sinh agreed to pay a fine of 50 Iaca» ceded 
Ajmere aitd Jalor, and gave his cou«n Ram Sinh a half share 
of hi$i kingdom. Dattaji kept posaes»on of Ajmere and had 

it strongly garrisoned ior defence. He gave away Jalor to 
Ram Sinb : but Ihe* latter continued to be unformnate thiougU- 

out life and died in distress on 3rd September 1772. 
Thus after completing the requirements of a long aiid dis- 

astroHs campaign E>attaji and Jankoji left Nagorc, csiine to 
Ujjain in June and immediately proceeded lo I^)ona- The 

Peshwa paid them a condolence visit in October at Chambar- 
gonda. Malharmo too came there for a visit, but l')nUair de* 

dined to receive him. The gulf between Sindia and Ilolkar 
widened, 

5. Abdali lavitcd,_Abdati's invasion of 1752 wrought 
almost as great a havoc upon India as that of Nadir Sliah 

had done twelve years ago. Mir Mannu the Mughal Governor 
of the Punjab died on 3rd November 1753 and the affairs of 
the Punjab fell into extreme mismanagement. The principle 

of hereditary service then prevalent in India, ruined the 
State. Tlie Emi)eror instead of at once appointing a capable 
man to hold the Punjab and guard the frontier securely, allow* 
ed Mir Mantiu's widow Mughlani Begam to hold her husband V 
post in the name of an infant sen who also died the roiiowing 

year. The Punjab now formed a part of the Afghan Kingdom 
with its Governor deriving his real power frean the Shah ol 
Kabul and not from Che Emperor of Ddhi. Mughlani Bcgam 
In order Co retain her infant son in ollice looked to Ihe Durani 
Shah for support. Ghaai'Ud'din learning of (he confusion at 
Lahore, started with a large force to make his own gain. He 
reached Sarhind on 7th February 1756 where Adina Beg, a 

competent Governor of Che Dcab, came and met him. Ghazi* 
ud'din sent him to Lahore, captured Mughlani Begam. Che 
widow of the late Subahdar and her young daughter llmda 
Begam, with all her accumulated treasure and carried them to 
Delhi, after entmsting to Adina Beg the government of the 
Punjab. This Mughlani Begam was a woman of loose charac* 
ter, intriguing, and meddlesome, gaining her selfish ends by 

any unscrupulous means, When later on Abdal: came to 
India she managed to gain his confidence and bring about the 
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ruin ol Ghazi-ud-dm who had wronged her, thereby affecting 
Maratha interests in no amall measure. 

Malika Zamani and other princely ladles ol Che Mughal 
harem came lo experience actual starvation through the new 

Wazir’s default of payment, He turned a deal ear to their 
incessant pleadings, so that they in despair sent for Najib-ud- 
daula and held a long consultation with him about the situa* 
tion. They oil agreed that the Wazir was a creuturc of the 
MaratliJis, who had grasped all inwer, and that the only means 

of (JUsting Qio Miinithas was lo call Abdah to India. There¬ 
upon Najil>-ucl-daula acting in the name of the ladies sent 
urgent iind pathetic appeals to Abdali to come immediately to 
this kind. Najib sent his own l>rotltcr Sultan Khan lo meet the 
Shah at Kaljul and bring him with a sufficient force. Mv^hlaoi 
Hcgam, (JiLsied fiom lier power in the Punjab, wrote to Uie 

Sh'dh, “ I am njined by the treachery of Indian diiefs. Goods 
and casli worth crores lie buried to my knowledge in the palace 
of my late father-in-law, Wazir Qamrud-din Khan, besides 

heaps of gold and ailver stored inside the ceiling. Tf you in¬ 
vade India this time, the Indian Empire with all its richrs will 
fall into your hands.’'"* 

Abdali, however, did not want a war on his hands; and de¬ 
siring to settle matters amicably he sent his envoy Kalandar 
IChan to Delhi in October 1756- But Ghazi-ud-din paid no 

attention to him. So the Shah arrived at Peshawar In No¬ 
vember and sent his son Taimur Shah and his general Jahan 
IClian ahead to capture Lahore. Adina Beg was defeated in 
a fight and retired, and the Afghans came on conquering and 
plundering the territory right up to the banks of the Satlaj- 

On 5th January the Abdall's general Jahan Khan reached Sar- 
hind without the least opposition. When such a state of weak¬ 
ness at Delhi was reported to the Shah at Peshawar, he himself 

left the place and came by quick marches right towaids Delhi. 
The news of Abdali's sudden advance threw the people of 
Delhi into extreme consternation. The well-to-do gentry of 
the city went into the country with their valuables. Many 

retreat^ to Mathura thinking themselves safe at that holy 

7a Excellent inside aliinpsea car be gathered from Hih Ham Gupta's 

recent fasclDating pjuWicalion "Lata 'Mughal Hiitory oj ikt Pmifab." 
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place. The Maratha commander Antaji Mankeshwar who wa« 
then near Gwalior, was summoned to repair to Delhi quickly. 
He came Immediately with his band ol five thousand troops. 

Woeful was the suftering of those who had left their hornet at 
Delhi. They were robbed by the Jats and wild bandits on 
the way, The Wazir Ghazi-ud-din was powerless to cope witli 

the situation, He visited Mughlani Begam and humiliated 
himself before her, to induce her to meet the Shah on the way 
and arrange for his return on payment of a heavy fine. Ui«>n 

this Abdali’s envoys came to the Wazir on Hth January ask¬ 
ing for two crores and all the territory between tlie Indus and 

the Satlaj as the price of his return, In the meantime Najil>- 
ud-daula joined Jahan IChan, the commander o( Abdali’s 
advance troops at Panipat. 

The wicked Mu^lani Begam began to play a double game. 

As the messenger of the Wazir arrived on a mission of me* 
diation, she attained importance, got ready access to Abdali’s 
counsels and managed to gain her own ends by supplying to 

the Afghan Shah all lands of useful and valuable infonnation 
about the Delhi government and its wealcnes.s. He too did not 
emit to humour her by showing extreme favour to her in order 
to profit by the information she disclosed of hoarded wealth- She 
knew men and affairs of Delhi intimalely and disclosed Ml de¬ 

tails to the Shah, including the plans and intrigues of the offi* 
dais, the bankers and wealthy inhabitants and their secret trea¬ 
sures, The Shah was shrewd enough. To gain his own ends he 
treated her with affectionate favour, calling her his own daugh¬ 

ter, and conferring on her the title of Sultan Mirza, as if she 
were his son. He bestowed on her as jagir the districts of the 
Jalandar Doab and Kashmir, and also obtained from her fuU 

details of the married and unmarried beauties of the Mughal 
palace and of tlie outside gentry Induding Hindus. This was 
indeed a selfish game of the Shah who arranged his further 
plans of squeezing wealth on the information he thus obtained- 

Accoclties in Delhi.—When news actually arrrived 
that Abdali was nearing Delhi, the Emperor's Wazir on the 

19th January left his palace alone with four .servants and saw 
Abdali's Wazir Shah Wali IChan at his residence. The next 

day Shah Wali Khan took Ghazi-ud-din to the Shah’s audience. 
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The Shah scolded Gh82i*ud-dtn for his incapacity and mU- 

management and demanded one crore for coafinning* him in 
his post. Gha2i-ud*din replied, he had not even one lac, how 
oould- he think of a crore ? Abdali next made his formal 
entry into Delhi on 28th January 1757 and had the Kliutba 
read in hts own name. He had with him a force of a!»ut 50 

thousand troops, of which thirty thousand had come from 
Afghanistan, and about twenty thousand were new levies made 
in India. 

The* AlKlali Shah now jitarUsd a reign of terror inflicting 

all kinds nf atrocilieK {>n Uie unfortunate residents oot only of 
Dellii biiL of Mathura and other lowas within about a hundred 
miles radius from tlie capital. The harrowing accounts of 
Ihe^tC atixicfties are a mcpst painful reading. How much wealtli 

Alxlali accumulated it is clifTicuJt to aay: possibly he hiinseU 
had no correct idea of it. In addition to whaL he might have 
carried away for his own State, most of his Mowers freely ap¬ 
propriated, whatever they could lay their hands on. A reporter 

writes “Most peoples’ houses in Delhi w«’e dug up to find hid* 
den treasures. He sent Jus son escorted by ten thousand troops 

back to his country with loaded animals of accumulated ti'ca* 
sure, choice horses, elephants camels. People left their homes 
in huge crowds running for shelter to different localities. 
The territory round Delhi is now ctuite desolate. Mathura and 

Agra have also suffered the same fate. About 20 thou¬ 
sand Marathas and 15 thousand Jats are ready preparing for 
a conflict. The whole town of Delhi is occupied by the Pathaa 
troops, each one of whom now owns a house occupying it as 

its real ma.ster. Many men have been killed ; many women 
have been ravished ; several committed suicide ; others drown* 
ed themselves to avoid dishonemr. All the imperial princesses 
that were discovered, have been married forcibly to these foreign 

invaders; every Hindu lady of handsome features was hunted 
out and taken into some Muslim harem. Najib Khan is ap* 
pointed to govern the city. Abdali married the 'Waair Gha^l* 
ud-din in his own presence to Umda Begam. daughter of 

IMughlanl. Every house in the dty was searched; every indi¬ 
vidual was examined for his belongings. Every householder 
was served with a v^itten order to disdose his wealth. Those 

who resisted suffered terrible hardships. People brought out 
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lor ssle whatever they possessed, but found no buyers. Several 

took poison and put an end to their lives. Minute details were 

supplied to the Shah by Mughlani Begam/’ 

Antsji Manke^war did wh&t he could to oppose the Shah 

Abdali's forces and sent lull reports to the Peshwa. The news 
of the threat from Kabul had been very early received, and 

the PeshwH had nnt delayed a moment in despatch!Paiihu- 
nathrao and Hollcar to Delhi in Novemlwr 175G, that is, Abdali 
from Kabul and Raghunalluao from Poona slarted alxml 

the same time and sliould have In the ordinary course faced 
each other near Delhi, as that city was almost equi-dfslant 
from the two bases. If Raghunaihrao had moved as rapidly 

as Abdali did, the danger would have been warded off, at least 
much le&sened. The Pesliwa could not send back the Sindias 

as they had just arrived home after an arduous campaign In 
Marwar. Kolkar probably was not inclined to face Abdali. 

It was the duty of Raghunathrao to go to Delhi expedi¬ 
tiously for the relief of the Emperor whom the Matatlias had 
agreed to protect against all foreign danger. The Siklis of tiie 

Punjab were Abdali's enemies, so that a strong Mamthn [mix 
at or near Delhi would have prevented much of the plunder 

and atrocities that he committed/ 

7. Abdali’s ctiumphanc retuxo.—Having deva.stated 
Delhi for a month and di ained out of it as much wealth as 

he could, the Abdali Shah on 22nd February 1757 sent seme 
of his fanatical generals In difTerent detachments to Mathura 
and other southern towns sweeping both the banks of the 

Jumuna, He gave dear orders to his men that "Mathura and 
other places are holy cities of the Hindus. It in your sacred 
duly to kill as many non-Muslims as you can and maJee heaps 
of their severed heads/' promising that he would pay tliem 

Rs. 5 for each head. Matljura had no fortificadons and fell 
an ea^y victim to the enemy's ferocious swords. Several houses 
were burnt down, idols in the temples were broken to pieces 
and t/smpled under feet During the week of the spring festi¬ 

val of the Hindus, (5th to 12lh March), the Afghans squirted 
the blood spray to imitate Hindu gaiety. They plundered 
Mathura, Brindavan and Gokui and filled the roads literally 

8. p. D. 21. IM, 105. 107, i08. 
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with coipscs, For days together the roads were irapaaeable. 
Several thousand Hindus were cut down, Jahan Khan alone 

being respon^ble for slayii^ three thousand Bcira^ and pil* 
grims. 

Abdali himself moved from Delhi on 3rd March and ad* 
vanceri as far wuth as Mathura. He threatened the strong 
places of the Jat Kaja, Dig, Kumhher find others. The Raja 

kepi a watchful attitude, remaining on the defensive. He did 
nut vi.sil the Afghan King but sent his agents to negotiate a 
fine, at the same time preparing to oppose liim if Iho occasion 

required it, This Ihreatening demeanour of die Jat deterred 
Abdali. The Raja was saved from any loss or injury, 

This succes.sltil defiance of Abdali by Che Jat Raja is iAiHi* 
ciently eloquent, to prove that if Raghunathiao had advanced 

<juickly, much of the havoc could have been prevented, When 
the Pailmns ewne against Gokul under Abdali himself, four 
tiiousand naked (k^savis of that place came to oppose thorn 

und fought with such valour that several thousand of hia fol¬ 
lowers were killed. This bitter experience was enough to make 
Abdali turn hia back upon India. He sent Jahan Klian Co 

Agra where also the same auclties were perpetrated during a 
fortnight’a siege of that place. 

It was now the end of Maich and the summer of India 

with its extreme heat set in. The waters of the Jumuna had* 
practicHlly dried up and what Utile remained became foul with 

the decaying corpses; the only source of drinking water for 
tlie people being thus contaminated, a terrible epidemic of 
cholera started In the ranks of Abdali, nearly 200 deaths 

taking place daily. He wisely retraced his steps on 24th 
March from Gokul and after reaching Delhi quickly, did not 
>;tay there more than a day. He r^nstated the £mperor Alam- 

gir on the throne with all bis former dignity, appointed Ghasi- 
ud-din as liis Waeir and Najib-ud-daula bis Mir Bakhahi and 

on April 1st departed for his native country. Reports declared 
that he carried away 12 crores of wealth altogether, of which 
he acquired 4 crores from the single house of Che ex-Wazir IChar 
Khanan Intizam-ud-daula and one crore from Gbazi-ud-din. 
He carried away as well Muhammad Shah’s daughter arid 

other ladies from the imperial harem. They raised a terrible 

wail of grief and cries at such banishment fer life. Abdali 
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stationed Tairaur Shah and Jahan lOian at Lahore for the pro* 
tection of the Punjab and quickly returned to Kabul. 

Mughlani Begam, however, got her deserts fully. Having: 
obtained from her whatever he needed for his purpose. Abdali 

threw her over and had no time to attend to her solicitations. 
She followed him with resentment and angry cries up lo the 
Chenab. But in the new government which Abdali established 

at Lahore, he made no proviaion for thi.s grasping lady. Ui» son 
Taimur Shah was married to the Hmperor Alamglr’s daughter 
Muliammadi Begam and given the charge of tlie Punjab; and 
when Mughlani found that she received no commission, no re* 

ward, not even the promised jagir, she became wild and 
showered filthy abuses upon the invader. She had nothijig in 
hand to live upon and began to beg at Lahore from door to 

door. Once she went to the Wa^ir Shah Wali's tent asking 
redress but received such a severe caning in return that her 
mental condition can better be imagined- In Lahore wliere 

^e had aijcyed only a little while before honours and position 
in her husband Ivtir Mannu’s days, had now to sufTcr such 
indignity as cannot be described in words.^' 

9. Maiatha history b cot concerned with the eubaoquent life ol llu 

Begam. She asttled at Jflmmu and had little scope for jmericring !n 

policies. She died in 177ft Her life ia fully recorded in PeiHian by her 

persona) servant MiaJtin Cone copy jq ihe poswwidon of &r J. N. Saiker), 

which auppCiea pers^aJ information on the poJIiIcal Iniiigueit of tlic north 

west 
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CHAPTER XIX 

Raj^iuiiathrao teavii Pnona :u^d Abclafi 

Kbbul, for Delhi. 

KtiKhunalhraC) at Indore. 

Ahdali loivca Delhi for Kabul. 

li^igiiuiiathnick at Agra where Majib Khan 

wbiniu his terms. 

RafdtunaLhrao Ukkus charge of Delhi: Najib 

IChan is captured, but MaJliarroo him 

from being confined. 

Najib Khan leaved Delhi: the Ooah is h:- 

cured by the Marathas. 

Raghunathrao starts from Delhi lor Lah(»c. 

Raghun&tlu'ao at ICunjfnira. 

Raghunathrao readies Sarhind, and captuies 

it: Governor Abdus-samad Khan submila. 

Taimui Shah and Jahan Klian are ttpelled 

from Lahore by die Maratlias. 

Raghunathrao taken up residence in Lahore 

After arranging to hnW the Punjab Raghunath' 

rao sdiits for return to Poona. 

Ragliunatlirao at Kurukshetrs. 

Tukcji llolkar und Sabaji SicKila subjugate 

the whole of the PunjBb and plant the 

Marutlia bannur on the fort of Attock. 

Raghunathrao and liolkar marching tlirough 

Rajinitana, meet Jankoj) and Battaji Sindia 

rePiming to the north near Kotah instruct 

them to gunrd the Punjab properly, 

Jankoji and Malhasrao meet near Kotah. 

Adina'Beg dies; Raghunathrao reaches Poona, 

Holkar and Gangadhar Yashvant meet the 

Peshwa in Poona They immediately re¬ 

turn to the north. Dattaji and Jankoji 

at DelW. 

M. H. It-2g 
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1759. December 18 
1759, December 24 

1759, Decembei' 31 

1760, January 6 

1760, January 10 

1760, January 13 

3760, Pebniary 5 
1760. Feb.—March 

Sindias leave Delhi for the Punjab. 

Ali Gauhar and Sliuja-ud*daula march 

upon Patna but are turned beck by Clive 

and ICoox. 
Dattajj appoints Sabaji Sindia at Lahore to 

hold thfl Punjab, 
Dattaji returns from Lahore. 
Dattaji crosses the Jamna into the Dosb. 
Najlb Khan pays an abortive visit to Dalt&ji. 

He agrees to construct a bridge at Shukratal. 

Dattaji pitches his camp near Slrukrata). 
Dattajj attacks Najib Khan but fails. 

Goviodpant Duodcie crosses the Ganges and 
harasaca the Kuhillaa. 

Abdali takes possession ol Lahore. 
Sabaji driven from Lahore reaches Dattaji's 

camp near Shukratal. 

.Ghajj'Ud'din murders the Emperor, tlw w* 
Wazir and four others. 

Abdali comes on thundering from Lahoa\ 
Dattaji hurriedly marches towards Delhi . 

Dattaji crosses the Jumuna at Kutijapura 
A severe actloo takes place at Thaneslivar 

between Dattaji and Abdali. 

JTie two opponents face each other near 
Barari Gliat with Che river Jamuna between. 

Dattaji sends away hH baggage and non-com* 

batants and prepares to face Abdali boldly. 
Dattaji falls lighting at Barari Ghat and 

Jankoji is wounded; thdr army falls back 
upon Kotpudi. Abdali lakes possess^ of 
Delhi. 

Malhacrao Holkar in RajpuUna learns the 
news of DattajI's fall 

Malbarrao Holkar joins the Sindiaa. 
Punning fight betw<^ the Marallias and the 

Afghans; the latter prove too strong, 



CHAPTER XIX 

ABDALI’S TRIUMPHANT ADVANCE 

[I75S>—1760} 

1 liaHhucftihmi^ a< DoU>i. 3 Toilute ui retimiA Najih KhAn, 

2 Tlie MnrftihA« raich AtiAck. H Dattati lockwl at Shtiktaral. 

3 DiiiiUi lalls at nararl Ghat. 

1. Kfighunachrao ar Delhi_1C has already been 
mentioned mat it was never the intention of Shah Abdali of 
Kabul to sain Che crown of Delhi and rule India. He scru- 
pulouttly avended enUnfflements and commitments in Indian 

affairs. His only purpose w'as to hold the Punjab if posable 
up to the river SatlaJ, and assure himseU of a steady income 
to meet the expenses of fua large amiy and the administration 
of his poor country, If Najib Khan, Malika Zatiani, and 
other anti'Maratha eJementK had not played a hostile part, 

there was every possibility of matters being settled amicably 

between the Marathas and the Afghan King, Whenever there 
appeared a chance for such rapprochement, Najib Khan Inten¬ 

tionally came in the way and prevented an understanding with 
the Maratha». 

Prom Atiock to the Bay of Bengal stretches a vast plain 
of enormous extent unimpeded by any natural ol)8tacIcfl except 
the numerous rivers all easily fordable in the dry season, and 

unless some special arrangement whs made at Attock or Lahore 
to hold a strong enemy In check, any conqueror frean beyond 
the Indus valley could easily sweep down the whole north 
Indian region, as had been exemplified times without number 

ever since the day of Alexander. Tlxe Wazir and the Mara- 
thas failed to make proper provision in this respect. Raghu- 

nathrao left Poona in October 1756 and should have reached 
Delhi in time to face Abdali and compel him to return. But 
movii^ slowly and having no strength to enforce his own judg¬ 
ment, he reached Indore on 14th February 1757, when Abdali 

had sent out parties against Mathura. Raghunathrao and 
Malhairao occupied themselves In exacting tributes from the 
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Rajput thereby contracting their iil-wiil, and readitd Agra 
\Ti May, where Ghaai-ud'din welcomed them with all his Iieart. 

In the absence of Abdali, Najib Khan felt terribly afraid of 

Maratha vengeance and proposing the following terms of sub- 
mwsion, thus wrote to Malharrao : 

1- I am your son, r«>t desHving cha»lf«'ment at ymir 

hands. I am ready to hand over Delhi to your possession and 

walk away to my own lands beyond the Jamuna. 

2. If you so desire, I am quite ready to bring about a 
permanent undaiitanding between you and the Sliali Abdali 
and fix up the demarcation of the spheres between you two. 

3. I am prepared to keep my son /Cabeta Khan with a 
party of seven thousand armed followers in your camp, as my 

hostage, by way of guarantee for the due performance ol my 
undertaking. 

4. If with all this you are bent upon waging a war 
against me, I am ready to acc^t the chalienge, placing my 
faito in God and His deciaon.* 

This was a reasonable proposal and sliould hsivt* been 

readily accepted. But Najib Khan had made himself so odi¬ 
ous to the Kmpemr that the latter prefened Ghasl-ud-din l<> 
him. The Marathas entered the Doab and noon captuied not 
only all the territory up to Saharanpur, but easily took 
possession of Delhi itself in August, after a fortnight's strug¬ 

gle. Najib Khan was captured with all his friends and fol¬ 
lowers by Vithal Shivdev, who for that achievement was re¬ 
warded by the Emperor with dresses and ornaments and given 

the title ol Umdat-ul-mulk and a jagir near Nasik, wliich his 
family still hold& 

I. P. D, 2, 77, See aL«o Muniddin Hu.sK»lnV Lilr of Nttyih-Hd-atmlu 
oaDsJated by Sir). N. Sarkar (Msrjuhi version In /ti<. PalTui'. No. 447]. 
X3r, .9irTvastav in hi* life of Shuja<iid*daijla (I) vritCK fp. 30 and 

' Oetemincd in revive ihc long forsotten day^ o( Aurangsoh, (be Qtizf 
<>f the lown ol Benarea rallied a party of fanaircal MwUirns and donolidi- 
ed on 2nd Sepicrnbcr 1^5 the renovetud lenrple of Viatvcshwar /lituatcd in 
e comer of the Alamort mosque. Upon this ihc [^eshwa aaked Shuja to 
hand over .the holy dty to the Maratba^^. He prepared a esined lo that 
(STcct and made ct over to the Maratha agent Copalnio Guncah, But 
Kaghunaihrao broke off tfic ncurvti&tinnK with Shuja." P. D. 21. 124 : 

27. 165. 
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Nhjib Khan's charactei' was wdl-known to every Maratha 
anci even every Muslim in the north. He had aJi along been 

' iixe chief souit* of mischief for the Marathas, and had early in 

die year himself participated in the atrocities inflicted upon 
Ihc Hindus of Mathura, Agra and other places and in the 
tcrriWe clesecrahon of Hindu shrines. It was, Iberefore, highly 

necessary to keep him permanently secured, preferaWy lu a 
distaiil southern fort after the fashion of Chanda Saheb at 
Salara, livery Maratiui of I>elhi and the north advised such 
a course to Kaghunathrao. Bui Najib wormed himself into 

MalhaiTao’s bosom. He made piteous appeals to liim, that 
if he were saved from death or indignity he would serve the 
Maratha cause witJi all his heart. Malhanao was moved ; the 
author of Siycr-ul^tWiiakkerin says, Holkar received large 

brilws from Najib Khan and earnestly pleaded with Raghu- 
nathrao to release the Khan and utilise his services to 
strengthen the Maratha hold not only over Delhi and the sur¬ 

rounding regions but also through him and the Pathans of 
the lower Doab, over the eastern lands of Benares and beyond. 

The prospect was indeed alluring. Raghunathrao could not 
resist Holkar, and yielding to his enteaties, allowed Najib to 

depart unscathed to his home on a verbal promise never more 
to interfere with tlie concerns of Dellii and to surrender all 
his fortified posts in the Doab to the Marathas. The scrpwt's 
taji was merely trodden upon. On l5th September Najib loft 
Delhi for liis patrimony. 

Najib Khan having been removed, Raghunathrao formal¬ 
ly installed the Emperor on the throne, confirmed Ghaii-ud-din 

in the Wa^irship and appointed Ahmad Klian Bangasb Mir 
Bakbshi. He then despatched parties to take possession of the 
Doab and himsdf proceeded to Garh-mukte^var apparently 

to settle the government of the lerritory surrendered by Najib 
Khan, but really to take a holy bath in the Ganges and purify 
Ws soul by a visit to the numerous sacred spots and scenes 
reminiscent of the ancient epic days. Renko Anajl and other 
Maratha captains secured Saharanpur after driving away 

Najib's deputy Qutb Shah, and proceeded up to the foot of 
the Himalayas driving Najib Khan to his ori©nal home be¬ 
yond the Ganges. Haghunath wrote to the F^iwa glowing 

accounts about these achievements. He boasted of having csta- 
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blished Maratha supremacy tluoughou^ north India fnxn the 
SaUaj to the environs of Benares and proposed that he would 

soon release the Punjab from Abdali's possession. Not a few 
discerning Maratha agents in the north brought to Raghu* 

nathrao’a notice the weakness of these arrangements* but 
the eWef was so hypnotised by Holkar that he turned a deaf 

ear to them. Antaji Mankeahvar, the Hingnes Govindpant Bun- 
dele, Gopalrao Barve, and others like tl«m were all moio or less, 
corrupt, canying on nefarious transactions to satisfy their sel¬ 

fish greed or private pique. After speiiduig lour months in ar¬ 
ranging the affairs of Ddhi wliere Antaji Mankeshvar and 

Krialinarao Kale were stationed, Raghunathrao left for the 
Punjab on 22nd October, the Dassara day, accompanied by 
Malharrao, They reached Kunjpura in January, accepted sub¬ 
mission from its commandant Najabat Khan in February 1758 

and reached Sariilnd on 8 th March. 

2. The Matathas reach Atcodc.—Here the Maralhas 
for the first time came into contact with tlie Sikhs who had 
been bitter enemies of the Pathans of the trans-frontier regirins, 
and who had the ambition of creating an independent Punjab 
as their motherland. During the ten years 1755-65 there ap¬ 

peared three powerful leaders of the Sikhs, Jasasinh AliluwaJia, 
the founder of Che present State of Kapurti^l^ ‘Alasinh Jat 
(Ala Jat of the Maratha papers) founder of Patiala, and Jasa- 

sinh Ramgadia, who all successfully and resisted the 
aggression of Ahmad Shah Abdali, whom they hated more 
than they did the Marathas. During 1757 Ahmad Shah 
Abdali after demolishii^ the Hindu shrines of Mathura, 
pulled down on his way back through the Punjab the golden 

temple of the Sikhs at Amritsar and hlled up with earth the 
sacred lake in' front of it. But no sooner did the Afghan King 
turn his back, than the Sikhs rebuilt Che temple and restored 

the lake which we see Co this day. Abdali had left his son Tai* 
mur Shall and his general Jahan Khan at Lahore for the go¬ 
vernment of the province with a fairly large army of occuparion. 
At Sarhind Haghunathrao discussed the question whether he 

should proceed to Lahore or turn back without caring to sub¬ 
jugate the Punjab, which the Sikhs were disputing with the 
Pathans. But the Emperor and Ghasi-ud-din were anxious to 
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recover the Punj^, and Adina Beg the Mughal Governor of 
the Jalandar Doab between the Satia; and tlw Bias, wa^ al¬ 

ready waging a relentless war against the Pathans with the 
help of the Sikha and encouraged R’rao in that project. This 
apiwared in a way a mad venture particularly as the Marathas 

thereby lengthened their line of comjnunication with tbeir 
base at Poona, while tliey had no mean? of holding a territory 

extending to the Indus. Ttiis would have been possible if the 
Maratha poation at Dellii had been made perfectly 

as against their antagonists Najib l^han and Malika 
^*uneni, 

ICver since the Invasion of Nadir Shah, the-Punjab had 
1)ccn the land ol constant contention between various forces 
and so subject Co plunder and devastation that the residents 
had developed a sort of resigned mentality bowing to the in¬ 
evitable. Raghunathcao laid siege to Sarhind, whidi had a 

garrison of ten thousand Pathan troops commaTKled by Abdus- 
»amad Khan. The Khan was wounded and made his submis¬ 
sion to the Marathas, agreeing to serve them in the same way 

that he bad done Abdali before. In this light ol Sarhind Ala 
^Inh Jat joIrMd the Marathas to expel the Pathans. At this 
moment Taimur Shall and Jahan Khan were already being 

haras.sed at Lahore by Adina Beg and now, learning that Che 
Marathas after capturing ^rhind were coming in strong 

bodies against them, the two Afghan chiefs evacuated Lahore 
and fled to their native land with ae much wealth and goods 
as tliey could carry. They were hotly pursued by the 

Marathas, and had to leave all their equipage and belongings 
on the river Cbinab as they could not carry them away with 
safety and these were easily secured by the Marathas. They 
then gave up Che pursuit of Ihe retiring Afghans and returned 

to Lahore.* Raghunathrao readied Lahore on 11th April and 
was right royally entertained with joyful illuminations by 
Adina Beg and others in the Mughal palace of Shalemar. This 

was the Maratba Nev/ year's Day of the Bahudhanya Shaka. 
The territory between the Satlaj and Attock was in those 

days distributed for administrative purposes into three divi¬ 
sions, the southern, the middle and the northern, with their 

2. f.etter ol Had Bhlde, P. P. 27. SIS, 
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capitals at Multan, Lahore and Srinagar. When Rayhunath- 

rao witli his valiant bands was so enthusiaslically welcomed 
at Lahore and Prince Taimur and Jahan Khan had relumed 
pixidpjtately in gieat discomfiture, Abdali becanic aJnuisl liopc- 

leas 0/ recovering that land, particulariy as the Sikhs wxn? his 
worst enemies. From subsequent e\'enls one is apt Icj ridicule 

this as an audacious venture of the Matalhas iryh^ li> hold 
such an extensive country fixmi Poona. But Uic aimlillons of 
1758 did not warrant any sucli fears. Alidali was llien fludlnji 

extreme difliculty even in holding liis own. In 1758 he was 
threatened by the Persians from Ihc west; his own noplicw 
Abdur Pabmaii n)se ngainst him and went to Pooini seeking 

the Peshwa’a support in regaining his inheritance, nic three 
Sikh chiefs mentioned above were bravo leaders and aliies 

commanding a con.siderable followirm of the best Wildicrs in 
Asia. 

At Lahore, therefore, Raghunalhrao and his advisors found 

the situation easy and favourable. Abdussamad Khan wlu) 
was a prisoner in Maratha hands, with characteristic dmiWo- 
dealing offered to undertake the defence of tiie frontier agiiinsi 
Abdali on behalf of the Marjithas. Krcjm PtjcHia Die Peshwu 
despatched Abdur Rahman with all haste to Lahore wllh 
instructions to Kaghunath to malce the iKst use of him in llie 

scheme he was now executing- Raghunathrao, therefore, con* 
signed the trans-Indas regions of Peshawar to these two Mus¬ 

lim agents, Abdur Rahman and Abdussamad Khan, posting 
them at Peshawar, with a considerable body of troops, They 
were asked to capture the territory of Kabul and Kandahar 

which had formerly been parts of the Indian splien? of the 
Mughal Empire and which had been lost since the days of 
Muhammad Shah. This meant a complete exllnction of Ah¬ 
mad Shah Aljdali, a man of supreme resourcefulness and capa* 
city in which he equalled or excelled even Nadir Shah. Mercm 
lay the hidden danger, which no one then could gauge or fore¬ 

see. After all it is the personal factor that predominates in 
human affairs and tliat cannot be predelermined. 

Tukoji Holkar, Sabaji Sindia, Renlco Ana)j, Rayaji 
Sakhadev, Gopalrao Barve, and other captains were asked to 
hold the Punjab for a few months before Dattaji Sindia could 

arrive and make some permanent arrangement, DatlajI was 
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Ihen at Poona and momentarily expected to comft to the Pun* 

jab. Obviously the weaken link in the chain was that no 
strong Maratha leader of prestige was associated with AbduS' 
xamad IChan to guard and hold Peshawar, the trans-Indus 
gateway of India in Uie nortli*west. TJie Pcsliwa sent distinct 
orders to station H<i)kar at Lahore. As Dattaji was shortly 
expected, the provisiorud arrangement wan hoped by Uaghu- 
nathrao and Molkar tn last a few months without disturbance. 
I^ul well posted with all Indian details as Abdali was. 

lie struck at thU very weak point, utilised Najib Khan and 
killed l>altJi}i. One can never leave things to chance, Tlie 
ixwponsibilily ft>r tlicsc consecjuences comes home to Holltac.' 

Ua^fhuimthiao and Holkar left tor the Deccan towards 
the end of May 1758 having on the way performed their I'ellgi* 
<ius a?remonies on 5ih June at Kurukshetra. The other party 
of Ahdur Hahman and Abdussamad with Tukoji Holkar and 
Saixiii Sindia left Cor the frontier and about July planted the 
Mamtha star^dard on Attnck and esUbiisbed revenue adminis¬ 
tration in that extreme north-western region. Adina Beg 

accepted the responsibility of paying 75 lacs to the Marathas 
\yy way of income from the newly conquered territories of the 
Punjab. The revenue management was entrusted to Sadiq 

Beg and hib Hindu banker Lakshmi Narayan. AJI Mafui* 
rashtm felt clectrilied with the proud performance of Raghu- 
nnthrao and hi» bands having reached the extreme frontier of 
ludiH and Iwlhud their hones in the Indus,' It is, however, 
true IhuL the Maraths po»ie»non of these distant regions did 

not last long, perhaps half a year. Adina Beg's death on 16th 
September 1758 gave the firxt signal of the impending danger; 
and later on Abdsli during the summer of 1759 was able to 
recover from his internal troubles. He retook Peshawar In 

August tind shortly after marclied into the Punjab, But be- 

3. Phaike Gwalior 3. 33, 373 and 112. 

Jadtmath in hie yuU 9j the Muihal 11, p 76 wxonily 

8x«ris on Ibc AUdnglh of F. D. 27. 218 that th« Manthas never went 

he)‘ond the Chinab nv«r. But Chandrachud Vol. 1. <<9 and another part 

of it printed later iL Gwalior by Dongre No. 4. ftwo important papers) 

dearly prove that the Marachaa captured Altock aod for a lioie col* 

lected laaca and administered tbe dcMrids right up to fhe Indus. Akhba- 

rets and other aourcea aupport U)is conclusion. 
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fore we take up the narrative ot 1759, we must first oondude 
the story of return journey of Raghunathrao and his 

party in a false hope that ail was well on the frontier. 

3. Failure to tescrain Najib Khan,—All friends of the 
Maratha cause sent urgent and pathetic appeals to Kaghunath- 
rao not to think of returning to tlte Deccan quickly, but to canton 
at or near Delhi in order to give stability to the arrangements 
just made, and to exercise a check upon evil*doers and i:u<pire 

confidence among those who like the Pathans of the Doab were 
vacillating, In fact Raghunathrao received strong appeals 
from various quarters that he should stay on till at least Daltaji 

Sindia or some other responsible leader should arrive on the 
spot. But Raghunathrao played into the hands of Malharrao 
Holkar, who was deluded by the mischievous Najib Khan's 
assurance that all was well and that he would see to It that 

Abdali did not return. While he was makii^ these professions,. 
Najib was actively intriguing vrith that monarch to come to 
India and save the Muslim interests from Maratlia aggres¬ 
sion, Even this double dealing of Najib Khan was plainly 

reported to Raghunathrao by several responsible agents, but 
he turned a deaf ear to all such suggestions and directly set 
out in haste from Kama! on his homeward journey without 
visiting Delhi on the way,‘ He should have at least dearly 

reported these protests to the Peshwa before going back. 
As Malharrao was anxious to collect tribute from the 

Rajputs, the two marched separately throu^ Rajputana to 

Malwa. On the way they accosted first Jankoji Sindia and 
then Dattaji both proceeding to the north. These two had not 
started from the south together. Jankoji left Poona in Febru¬ 
ary 1758 and Dattaji in May after having celebrated his own 
marriage with Bhagirathibai in March. Jankoji reached Uj- 
jain in March and after spending a couple of months there pro¬ 
ceeded to Kotah, where in Jvly he met Raghunathrao then on 
his return home. In this visit they fully discussed matters of 
moment and the general situation at Delhi and in the Punjab, 

5. A va«tt number of letters speak this ssd tale, which the student 
should carefully note. P. X>. 2, $8, 89; P. D. 21. 156-158; P. D. 27. 150, 
166, 226, 229. fffuiu Sahib Bakkar is most eloquent and recorda fact? 
from authentic aources. 
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Raghunathrao strongly impressed on Jankoji's mind how 
Malbarrao obstructed any action being taken against Najib 
Khan, who required to be checked in time and prevented from 
creatii^ mischief. How utterly foolish was It to ejcpect Jankoji 
to do what he as a mai^ had failed to effect! F^hurathrao 

begged Jankoji, ‘'You must do me this one favour, never 
mind even if it cost a crore or vast armies, via., you must res¬ 
train this Najib ICltan finally. Malliarrao coasiders Najib as 
his adopted son. lie has many such sons to look after. Najib 
is terribly wicked and will surely ruin the Maratha pro^^ects.’* 

In a few days, on l<Hh August, Janlcoji saw Malhan 
rao himself returning. He tried to avoid a personal meeting after 

his experiences of N^ore and the murder of Jayappa ; but 
Ciangoba Tatya brought about an interview between them. 
After all Najib Khan was not restrained. He did the mischief 
for which the Marathas had to suffer in the end.® Datlajf 
reached Ujjain in June and in a short dme met Raghunathiao 
and Malharrao returning Irora the north. Tlic same talks were 
held between them as with Jankoji. 

Raghunathrao reached Poona on 16lh September and in 
his own way communicated a full tale to the Peshv,^ of what 

he had been able to accomplish in the north, particularly how, 
owing to Malharrao's interference Najib Khan was left at large. 
The Peshwa at once detected the lurking danger and sent for 
Malharrao to Poona In all haste lor a personal ejrplanation. 

Unfortunately Malliarrao then was seriously ill at Indore dur¬ 
ing October and November. He sent Gangadhar Yashvant on 
Co Poona to explain matters and himself followed in December. 
In January the Peshwa directed Malharrao immediately to re¬ 

pair to the north and support the Sindias. This Malharrao failed 
to do, why it is not possible now to determine. He spent ont full 
year (1759) doii^ nothing important, mostly in Rajputaua, 
from whence he hastened to on ISth January 17^ after 

learning at Jaipur that Dattaji had fallen at Barari Ghat on 

the lOlh of that month. 

4. Datcaji locked at Shukrata!.—We shall now narrate 

6. See P. D. 2. 94. 21. 162; KMah Dakar 1. ISS, 190. Note the 

etrons words used by Marathi wrurs in desenbins Najib Khao. 
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bow the mistakes ol I^eghunatbrao and Malharran and inci* 
dentally of tfie Peshwa brought about the ruin of Dattaji Sindia. 
fn November 1758, Dattaji and Jankoji met at Itcwari and 

proceeded to handle the situation of Delhi widi which they 

had no occa.*uon till then to be conversant, nor a first hand 
acquaintance particularly witli the character of HoikarV proteKOs 
(yliasi-ud'din and Najib Khan. This meant tlial they were cuIUyI 

upon single-handed to execute the commitments which had I wen 

already made, vix, to a-slrain Nujib Khan, pnrvide for the de¬ 
fence of the Punjab, release lUc Hindu iioly places frrm Muslim 
control, and acquire funds lo the extent of a crore or two for 

paying (he Fesliwa*s debts. The last item required tlie exten¬ 
sion of Mamiha power on the east up to Patna. Thuev were the 
grand isska entrusted by the Pcahwa to the .Si/idlas and sniem. 

nly accepted by them, in colossal ignorance of the circum¬ 
stances. 

When the Sindias arrived at Delhi, Vithal Shivdev was 

near Saharanpur seiising the RohiUa possessions. Najib Khan 
had then collected a large force and was openly defying tlie 
Marathas. Arriving at Delhi in December the Sindias w’crc 

compelled to waste three precious rrwmlbs in arrjmgjriK the 
affairs of the Emperor and the Wazir, in which they had to 

act with unprecedented sternness. The Emperor’s son and heir 
apparent AH Ga\ihar, later known as Shah Alam II, !md left 
Ddhr the previous year and was trying to take pos.ses.^ion of 

the eastern territories of Bihar and Bengal, which had now 
been practically seized by the English East India Comi»ny. 

He invaded Patna in conjunction with the Nawab Bhuja-ud* 
daula of Lucknow in March 1759 but was turned bade by 
Qlve’a troops under Col. Knox. 

Dattaji found Ghaal-ud-din utterly worthless for the execu¬ 

tion of any useful plan, so that the former paid no attention 
to him and managed matters independently. He aent ius forcc:^ 

to capture Najib Khan but failed. He, therefore, decided first 

to settle the ilairs of Ihe Punjab and then start operations 
against Najib. With this object he left Delhi on 1st February 
1759 and proceeded to the Satlaj where Sadiq Beg and Adina 

Beg's widow and son met him. In consultation with them 

and with tlie other advisers he posted Sabaji Sindia at 
Lahore for the protection of the Punjab as Sabaji had already 



CHAP. XlXj ABDALi'S TRIUMPHANT ADVAMCE 405 

subjugated the territory right to the Indue. The Peshwa 
had suggested the name of Naro Shankar for the sole charge 
of the Punjab and Dattaji also accepted the suggestion, but 

Naro Shankar was not very cnthuaastic on the point and would 
not accept the commigaion wiUiout express written orders from 
tJic Peshwa. Dattaji did indeed realise Che necessity of a Arst 
class Maratha sardar being permanently posted to Lahore: 
but this he thought could ]x later done by the Peshwa himself. 

DaUaji could not penionaliy remain in Lahore as he had other 
momentous affairK on hand. There was then no news ol any 
Ihreat hx;m Alxlali and things were quiet beyond the frontier. 

After making the best arrangements he could, Dattaji re* 
turned from the Punjab in May, crossed the Jamna into the 
Doab on Isl June and set himself to overcoming Najlb Khan. 
DaUaji was accompanied by Govindpant Bundeie, a steady 
and conciliatory man who had direct intimate dealings with 

Najib IChan and the other Rohilla Patlums. Many advised 
DaUaji to ignore Najib Khan and push on. But thla was 
neither advisable nor possible, as Najib Khan at large was the 

greatest mischief-maker of the day. In the meantime Najib too. 
with deep Ireachery at heart, professed readiness to perform 

whatever Dattaji would ask him to do A personal visit was 
arranged between them through (he mediation of Govindpant, 

But the visit proved abortive. Najib Khan came all alone into 
Dattajitent, but before talks could be started, some of his 

followers rushed in and carried Najib Khan away forcibly, 
under the supposition that hla life was in danger. Whether 
the whole plan was a prearranged ruse or not cannot be as¬ 

certained. Thereafter negotiations began through agents. 
Najib Khan agreed to help Dattaji in carrying all his troops 
across the Ganges by means of a bridge of boats which he 
agreed to construct: and with this underatandlr^ both pro 
ceeded to Shukratal," a place suited to the construction of a 

bridge, as the river bed there was full of small islets, and the 
mud banks sufficiently high. It proved a fatal step for Dattaji 
to have tried to conciliate Najib Khan. He could easily have 

7, ShtikTWiI en the western bsuk of the Ganeee. 40 miles «nith of 

Kardwar, and 15 miles east of the nilny ^tisn Musaff&maaar. B<^nd 

the river lay Najib’s own renidence Nafibabad sbout 20 crilo Co the east. 
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been altacked and captured, but on the advice ol mzny ex¬ 
perienced men on the spot, Dattaji decided to utilise Najib';^ 

services as was suggested by Malhairao. Najib Khan had 
eaid when coming out of Datt^i’s tent, the looka of these 

Marathas appear wicked: they cannot be trusted.'* Jaitainh 
Gujar, a aamindar of Shukratal and the environs, was entrust* 

ed with the task of construcUng the bridge, as ite was consi- 
dered an expert. Najib Klian reached Shukratal at once, 
while Dattajl followed slowly, to allow time for the construc¬ 

tion of the bridge. But the monsoon arrived, the river rose 
in floods and Najib Khan urged that the operations of the 
bridge could not be pushed on. Dattajl finished his holy 

baths on the way at Garhmukteshvar and pushing on en¬ 
camped at Mirapur about a couple of miles from Najib's camp, 
which was pitched In a huge bend of tlic river, 

Heavy rains had made the whole place muddy and move¬ 
ment waa impossible. Najib utilised this circumstance to hi» 
best advantage. He was fully conversant with the situation and 

the surroundings, the range of rain, the country paths and tlic 
prominent people, to which DatCaji was an utter stranger. 

Najib Khan sent his secret personal agents to Shuja-ud*daula. 
to Hahz Rahmat and the other Pathans and also to distant 

Afghanistan inviting Ahmad Shah Abdali quickly to India 
and giving him all possible details of the situation at Delhi 
and Shukratal and of the Sindla's position. Thus he organized 

a formidable coalition against the Marathas with such secrecy 
that Dattaji soon became perplexed. Najib Khan represented to 
Sbuja that to allow Dattajl passage to the east was sui¬ 

cidal, as he would soon wrest from Shuja his two Subahs of 
Oudh and Allahabad, If on the contrary he would help Najib 

in his distress and join the Muslim combinadon, Shuja could 
become Waair and restore the prestige of the Mughal Em¬ 
pire. But Shuja knew Najib betler than Dattaji, and did not 
at all put trust in the profes^oos of one who was known to be 

eo un^ithful. Besides in religious matters the Shla Shuja was 
no friend of the Sunni Najib. However, the only object which 
Shuja wished to secure was to resist by ah possible means the 

cession of Prayag and Benares to the Marathas. That was 
indeed a sentimental point, but the surrender of these two 
plscffi would spell disaster to Muslim prestige throiudraut 
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India, With this view Shuja sent his two Gosavi captains 
with about ten thousand men to the Ganges opposite Shukratal 
to help Najib Khan and safeguard his own portion. 

In the meantime Najib Khan entrenched himself at Shu- 
kratal so formidably that the Marathas could not easily at¬ 
tack him. I*Ie collected troops and within a couple of months 
as the bridge became ready, instead of its serving Daltaji's 
purpose, it became a most convenient channel for Najib Khan 

himself to bring in supplies and maintain communicatiojj with 
the Pathans Ijeyond, Before the end of August Dattaji saw 
through Naji))'s game cleariy and began counter mcaauies to 
defeat it On 15th September Dattaji made a sudden attack 
on Najib Khan’s camp, but it failed, the Marathas Ic^ some 
rnon and retired at nightfall, Thereafter skirmiahes occurred 
for nearly two months, but on account of the biolien terrain 
Dattaji could not close with his opponent; ignorant ol the 
latter’s schemes he perasted in his efforts, never suspecting that 

Shah Abdali of Kabul would come upon him suddenly from the 
north'West. In order to cut off Najib Khan’s supplies and sup¬ 
port from b^rd the river, Dattaji despatched Govindpant 
Bundele on 21st October with ten thousand troops via Hardv'ar 
where there wag a ford. The Pant went straight against Najib- 
abad plundering and bumii^ on the way, but was repulsed by 

Hah? Rahmat and Dunde IChan who rapidly came upon him 
in response to N a jib’s call. Govindpant was forced to beat a 
hurried retreat. Anupgir Gosavi too crossed the river by the 
bridge and joined Najib Khan at Shukratal by the end of 
October. Dattaji besieged the camp of Najib Khzn at once. 
'W^lh an effident array under him and many devoted followers, 
Dattaji never till the last moment felt daunted. 

Early in 1759 Shah Abdali was reported to be in extreme 
peril, but he soon recovered hl$ position and was agitated in 
his mind to learn that the Punjab for which he had toiled 

for the past several years had been lost to the Marathas, that 
his son and Jahan Khan had returned after suffering a 

terrible defeat, and lost their valuables and a lai^e num¬ 
ber of fighting men, that the Marathas had planted their 

•flag on Attock and that a rival to him h^ aj^eared 
at Peshawar, in the person of his own cousin Abdur 
Rahman, with Maratha support. Fully informed of 
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Pattaji’b position at Shulcratal the Abdali Shah immediately 
organized his forces, despatched Jahan Khan with a suHicieiU 
army to take possession of Lahore in July 17[)9, just al tiio 
moment wlien Dattaji was persuading Najib Khan lo build tor 

him a bridge of boats on the OangeB. The Shall himself l<K)k 
post in l^shawar and stood ready lo suppent Jahan Kiuin whf> 
had advanced into the l^njab. It has already l)oen meiJliotied 
that no permanent arrangemcnl had be^n made by t|if IVsIiw;h 

for holding die Punjab. Sabaji Sindla was merely a lemixrt’iiiy 
caretaker, witli only slight forces at his command, with which 
he ctttainly could not defend a lerrilory extending over m<»ri* 
Chan 300 miles- Short work was done of the many scsiUcrtd 
MaraClia parties in the outposts of the province and Jahan 
Khan appeared before Lahore in August. Sal)aji maintained 

his position with great valour and strength, inflicted a crush¬ 
ing defeat upon Jahan Khan, who was severely wounded and 
lost his son in the acliom Jahan Khan's return to Pesha¬ 

war in discomfiture so roused the fury of Uie Slinh ihnt lie 
immediately came upon Lahore, with .Snbnji 
Sindia could not oppose him and retreated in wtremo conster¬ 
nation reaching Dattaji's camp at Shultratal on 8lli Novemhor 
lo tell the sad tale that the !^njal) had been kwt, that many 

Marathas in different places had been cut down lo Lhe numlior 
of about one thoasand, that mojit of the survivors had lost all 
Chdr belongings and were helpfessly fleeing alwut lo save their 

lives from the merciless Afghans, 

In this dangerous predicament the heroic Datlaji was not 
at all daunted. He possessed wonderful courage buL did not 

unfortunately combine it with prudence and circumspcclbn- 
Instead of at once falling back upon Delhi and caflins in suffi¬ 
cient aid from different quarters, he attempted alone lo oppose 
the full force of the Afghan King, who wan advancing with the 
fury of a tempest. Dattaji ciui^ to his portion at Shukratal 

for more than a month even* after the arrival of Sabaji Sindia 
and tried !o force Najib Khan into surrender." This proved an 
impossible task, Najib Khan continued freely getting supplies 

and men in laige numbers from across the Ganges and the news 
of Abdali's rapid advance heartened Muslim resistance, 

& See Pkalke ttrvs 3, IdO. 
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Another evil effect of Abdali’e advance was that the Waair 

became entirely unnerved. He was in exlrerae of life, and 
suspected that the Emperor would eiv'e him up and join Che 
Afghan King. S5o being out of his wits he had the Emperor 
Alamgjr 11 murdered on 30lh November 1759 along with the 
fonner Wazir lutizam-ud-daula and four minor peisons, hav¬ 
ing taken Uie party out under the pretence of paying a visit 

to a Muhammadan saint who liad arrived in the vicinity. He 
(hereupon raised to llie throne a princeHni; ajuj gave him the 

% name of Sliah Jahun Sani. When All CJauhar learnt of bla 
father's murder in Bihar he declared himself Emperor on 22ncl 
J)uc«nl?er, 17S39. 

Dactaji falls at Baraei Ghac._The news of tins 
diabolical crime reached AbdaU at Sarhind on the third day, 
und enraged him tiiat he at once proceeded to Delhi to 
punish the wicked wrongdoer, although he had originally 
formed no iniention this lime of p^oceedi^^5 beyond SaAind. 
The MaraChas had absolutely no hand in tlie murder, but 

their general support to Ghazi-ud-din made then) r«iponsible 
lor the miserable /ate of tl:e Emperor. The whole course of 

evenla from now on to the battle of Panipat, took an entirely 
different turn, rousing feelings of anger and revenge. 

The Poshwa In Poona hardly knew anything about this 

development, llolkar roved in l^ajputana dealing with trivial 
matters and acted criminally in not running to save the situa¬ 
tion in the Punjab, brought about by Najib Khan and Ghazi- 

ud-din, both helped by Holkar from the beginning. 
As Abdali came rapidly marching upon him in the first 

week of December, Dattaji was compelled to give up his at¬ 
tempt against Najib Khan- He hurriedly broke up his camp 
and left Shukratal on 11th December to face Abdali beyond 
the Jamuna, which he crossed on the l$th, and arriving at 

Kunjpura he learned that about 40 tliousand Afghans undei* 
Taimur Shah had reached /Vmbala. It was quite rash on hia 
part to proceed alone against Abdali’s full force, but retreat 
was a word which Dattaji never knew, and he at one? 

divided his forces into two parties, the light one of tvnintj’-flve 
thousand he led himself against the advancing enemy and the 
other consisting of heavy baggage, artillery and the camp fol- 

W. H, 11—27 



410 NEW' HISTOBY Ot' THS MARAT!t/VS [ VOL. il 

lowers, were sent back to Delhi under Govindpant Bundcle. 
On 24th December he met the Afghans near Sthaneshwar and 
had a stiff encounter with them for a couple of hours, in which 

the two parties remained equally balanced- Datlaji lost about 

four hundred of his men but held the ground. 
Evidently Abdali avoided an open encounter wiUi Dattaji 

at this time and waited to be joined by the Rohillas so that 

he could attack the enemy with success. Therefore Abdali 
crossed the Jamuna the same night at Btiriaghat“ and proceeded 

towards Saharanpur, where Najlb Khan joined liim. There* 
after the combined armies merdicd along the eastern l)ank of 

the Jamuna towards Delhi Dattaji at once turned beck ii» 
save the capital, moving by the opposite bank of that river. 
By the end of December the two opponents stood parted by 

the river facing each otiier some ten miles north of Delhi, 
Abdali taking his position at Luni and Dattaji at what was 
known then as Barari*ghat. Gha2i*ud*diJi, now ftoroughly terri¬ 

fied, was assured of safety by Dattaji, whe^ asl<etl him to orga¬ 
nize the defence of capital by all means. 

Dattaji was advised by many well-wishers to fall bade 

from Delhi, join Holkar, obtain further reinforcements and 
then oppose Abdali with a sure diance of successbut he 

declined.to follow such a defeatist course : losing Delhi meant, 
in his opinion, the loss of so many years of labour and success. 
He considered himself quite able to hold his own and save 

Deihi until succouta arrived, for which he had sent urgent de- 
mands. Malharrao was expected every moment, and why he 
did not at once move north from Jaipur Is a mystery, which 
can be explained only on the supposiUon that he wished to bene 

fit himself by the saoiflee of Sindia. Dattaji had about him, de¬ 
voted veteran men of hig own, besides Naro Shankar and 

Bundele. Dattaji cared rather to prevent the harm and alro- 
ddea sure lo happen to Delhi in case he gave the place up lo 
Abdali’s vengeance. 

On 6th January Dattaji sent away all his carap followers, 

non-combatants and heavy baggage to Rewari, and prepared 
to encounter Abdali if he should venture to attack Delhi, re* 
jnaining entirely on the defensive until Holkar should arrive, 

9. Burlaghsl is aboiir 130 miles north of B&rsrifhaL 
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and guarding the fords of the river with strict vigilance. It 
was the hei^t of the cold season in north India. Dattaji did 
not expect a direct attack either on Delhi or on his camp at 

Baraiighat. The river at this place was divided into two 
streams of scanty water enclosing between them something like 
an island overgrown with tall reeds which could easily conceal 
men and horaes. Abdali sent Najib Khan to attempt a cross¬ 

ing at this place on the morning of Thursday, 10th January' 
1760. The Rohillas came on camels and small elephants with 
only two light guns on each, all hidden by the tall reeda. Sabaji 

Sinde was guarding the ghat and resisted the attackers with his 
few men, after reportir^ the attack to Dattaji. Tlie latter 
without knowing cither the exact numbers or the concealed 

guns of the enemy, proceeded rashly to prolect the ford with 
a liandful of men wearing only swords and not equipped with 

any firearms. A deadly combat ensued in the dried bed of tl\e 
river and Jankoji so«i after came and joined in, but a chance 
bullet struck Dattaji dead and another wounded Jankoji making 

him unconscious. The loss on the Maratha side was by no 

means heavy, certainly less than a 1,000. But the death of Dat¬ 
taji created a panic and severely damped the Maratha spirit 
The army at once dispersed, everybody running to save him- 
self in wJiatever way seemed possible. Datlaji's head was cut off 

by ICutlj Shah, the reputed Guru of Najib IChan, and presented 
to the Shah Abdali, Jankoji was removed hurriedly by his fol¬ 
lowers, who all ran south to Kotputli, in Jaipur State, about 28 
miles north-west of Alwar. Here Malharrao Holkar joined the 
fugitives on 16th January. Najib Khan immediately after 

raided Dattaji’s camp and carried away sonae plunder and a 
few Muslim prisoners such as Sadiq Beg's duldren, Lakshml 

Narayan, (Adina Beg’s manager), and others, who could not 
save themselves otherwise. Dattaji's headless body was duly 

cremated by his followers. 
This terrible news spread all over India like wild fife, 

Sabajf Sindfa who was in charge of the Baraii Ghat ford, ran 
and joined the c^p at Kotputli. Poor Ghazi-ud-din sought 
the shelter of the Jat Rajah. Abdali immediately took 
possession of Delhi and appointed Yakub AU Khan as its 

Governor. He was in great straits regarding money. He had 
a large army to maintain and Ddhi had nothing to offer, hav- 
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ing been completely sacked by Win two j'cara before. Xiijib 

Khan could not pay him anything but begged llit* S)>ali lo 
stay on and not to depart Immediately, otherwise, he argued, 
the Marathas would return and destroy him in no time, .\t 
his request Abdali sent insisteut demands for funds lo ^uja* 

ud-daula, Surajmal Jat, and Madho Sinh Raja of Jaipur; but 
all relumed a negative answer, urging they had m funri.'i to 

spare. The Jat Indeed made a very bold rpply, "You 
must first drive tlie Marathas away from Delhi, ansuro us Uiat 
you are tlie master Uiere, and then wc shall be y(mr williiiK 

vassals." Abdali was not inclined to remain as the limpcror 
of India. He bad his best interests centred in Argiianl.'it^io, 
Tlte Peshwa in the south was preparing n powerful expedition 

for the relief of Delhi, with which the Abdali was not 
at all inclined to entangle himself. Ali Gauhar had already 
declared himself Emperor and was waiting at Allahabad for a 
favourable turn of events, which would enable him to proceed 

to Delhi and secure the throne. 

At Kotputll the funci al ceremonies of Dattajl were per¬ 
formed, and the p^ty moved back to Sa1»lgad on Uie Cbam- 
bal where in February Datlaji’a wife Bhagiralliibai gave birth 
to a son. Malharrao Holkar comforted them all a» an elderly 

guardian. They then began measures for recovering their lost 
position and driving away ihe invader by employing guerilla 
tactics in whldi Holkar was an adept. On 24th January a 

campaign was conunenced. Abdali was watching the Maratha 
movements, having advanced parties of his men to prevent 

any Maratha move against D^l, which he did not leave for 
some time. During February and March skirmishes took place 
between the Afghan parlies and Holkar's bodies. The latter 

while plundering in the Doab suffered a severe defeat near 
Slkandarabad on 4th March. Full accounts of these occur* 
renccs quickly reached the Peshwa at Poona with a united 

dsnand that unless a strong and efficient artillery and some 
commander of outstanding merit appeared fn the north, to 

conduct operations against the Durani ShaK, it was not possi¬ 
ble to drive him away and recover the lost position. 



CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER XX 

February 13 

1760, March 7*14 

176fi, Marcli 14 

I7(i0. Ajiril 12 

lim. May HI 

17W), Juno 27 

2760, July 13 

1760, July 16 

1760, July 18 

1760, Aj^KuAt Z 
1760, Aui^st 

17«). Aug.-Sept. 

1760, October 7 

1760, October 10 

1760, October 17 

17S0, October 25 

1700, October 28 

1760. October 31 

1760, November 4 

1760, Nov. 19 and 22 

1760, E>ecembEr 7 

1760, December 17 

Nbws of Deltaji'y death readies (he Peshwa. 

Meeting of leaders at Patdur: Bhau Saheb 

nornliiatcd to lead a well prepared cxiwdi- 

tion to Delhi with Ibrahim Khan's artillery. 

illutu Stiltob starts from Patdixr 

Bluiu Sajieb reaches tlic Narmada. 

Bhau Saheb reaches .Gwalior. 

Sardars meet Bliau Sah^ near Agra t also 

Surajmal Jat. Abdall encamiis near Aligarh. 

River Gambliir crossed by Bhau. 

Bhau Saheb reaches Mathura. 

Shuja joins Abdali In liis camp. 

Delhi taken Irom Abdali's posscssitfi. 

Abdali moves his camp to the Jamuna nppo* 

site Delhi: negotiations conducted for peace. 

Food scarcity in Maratha camp. 

Bhau Sah^ leaves Delhi for Kuojpura. 

Shah Alam proclaimed Emperor. 

Kupjjjura captured: Qutb Shah put to death. 

Abdali crosses over at Bagpat to the right 

side of the Jamuna. 

Abdali halls at Sonpat. 

Bhau Saheb returns arid forms his camp 

at Panipat, 

The two parties face to face at Panipat. 

Light actions take place. 

A severe battle, Balavantrao Mahendalc 

Jdiled. 

Govindpant Bundcle lulled in a surprise 

attack. Abdali’s position highly satisfactory. 





CHAPTER XX 

FROM PATDUR TO PANIPAT 

[1760 Mafch-DecemberJ 

1 JUiaii 8ttv$iftcv to i Nc^jfftMus for 

l^cihi. 4 X^njputa capruted. 
i Shuja*u(UciMuta ^)in« Abdflli. S Fsc« u> fkce at Ponipat 

1. Bhait Sahcb'5 advance to Dellii.^The news of 
l)aLUiji'« death at Barari Ghat reached the Peshwa at Ahmad- 
na|?ar on 13th February, 33 days after the event. He at once 
called back Bhau Saheb from Udgir with aU his troops in 

order to concert measures for avenging Sindia's death. Patdur 
near Jalna was chosen as tlie place where they could all con¬ 
veniently meet and whence the armies could proceed direct to 

the north without delay. The news from Delhi certainly stag- 
jeered the Peshwa and his advisers^ but did not damp their 

spirits. The Maratha State had just reached the zenith of its 
power, it had ample resources in men and money, and during 

the last 25 years a large number of capable young leaders had 
been trained to discharge both military and civil functions effi¬ 
ciently. The whole service was rwver better manned 
than at this moment, A loud cry therefore arose from all 

quarters at once lor fully equipp^ armies being hurried to 
Delhi in order to drive away the invader, It took Bhau 
Saheb a week or two to dose his operations and effect a 

favourable peace with the Nizam, although he could not owing 
to diis trouble in the north exact the fullest reparations as he 
had all along intended. The Niaara too on getting news of 

the changed military situation in north India, demurred to 

fulfil the promises which he had made under pressure of arms. 
Tla Peshwa, Bhau Saheb, Raghunatbrao and other leaders^ 
and dij^omatTairmei af Patdur on 7th March 1760 and deli¬ 

berated upon future measures night and day lor a whole weik; 
A free discussion took place among responsible leaders and 

every detail of past mistakes and aliortcominp and future 
possubiUties came under a scathing scrutiny and thorough 
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mvesligation. Sindia and Holkar were the only leaders who w-ere 

absent from this conference. The gist of tlie dis cussion was the 
disclosure of the mismanagement and disorder that largely 
figured in the two expeditions of Kaghunathrao, who was 
found to be incapable ot exei'cising power or controlling sub* 
ordinates ard punishing them properly for dereliction. liiiiKnc, 

Anlaji Manlceihwar, Bunclele and so many others required 
checks by a supervising master which Rsghunathrati ftiilcd 
to exercise, A wt>eful mismanagement of hla accounts alw> 

became all too plain. These matters whidi used to )» public¬ 
ly talked of and discu&sed before now, came up for a sciircliii^ 
criticism at this conference. The result was a startlinK revela¬ 
tion to the Peshwa. A strong man clever with the pen and 
the sword, possessing experience of warfare and diplomacy, 

one who could create order out of chaos, was now needed; and 
everybody pointed to Bhau Saheb as tlie right leader to handle 
the situation in the north, It till now had been the Peshwa’;; 
settled intention to nominate Raghunathrao again Co go to the 
north. But a differMit resolution was taken at Patdur : the 

die was cast. 
Sadashivrao who had developed after his great uncle 

Bajirao I, was nominated to command the expedition which 

was hurriedly organized, Most of tlie young and old soldiers 
and diplomats were immediately told off for that duty. Sada¬ 
shivrao was asked to take the Peshwa's eldest son Vish* 
vasrao a lad of 18 with him. both by way of giving 
him an invaluable training for the future Peshwaship 

and also as a convenient check upon the former*s impetuosity, 
The whole plan was arranged deliberately by Che Peshwa going 
info every detail of the past and selecting the present person¬ 

nel, Nothing was left to chance or extraneous influences. 
Dainaji Gaikwad, Yeshvantrao Pawar, Naro Shankar, Vithal 
Shivdev, Antaji Manlce^war. Balavantrao Mehendale, and the 
young Nana Phadnie, then not yet twenty and only five months 
older than the Peshwa’s son Vishvasrao. Uiese with thirty 

thoasand select and well armed troops with the best military 
equipment and the finest artillery, the best horses and the 
choicest elephants were placed under the command of Bhau 
Saheb. TJiis force in due couree increased on the way as it 

proceeded, trough allies joining in and fresh enlistments made. 
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Tlie brave and faitliful Ibrahim IGian Gardi with his efficient 
park of arUllery made a valuable addiliun to Bhau Saheb'.s 
equipment. It must, lu>wet%r, be remembered that althouKh the 

Maratha assemblage at Panipai jiumbered about 2 lacs of 
souls, guile Iwo-thirds of these were non-combaUnts, being 

persrmiil sen'ants, clerks, shupkeepers, and other non-descript 
people. Hhmi Sahth left Patdur on Mlh Marcli 17(i0 anri 
exactly alter ten months latei* on 14th January 17(51, met his 

fate at l^ighunatliran was asked to rumuin watching 
the miscliievous activilics of Uic Miaam In the Deccan. 

ft was expected that tlie Shall Abdali would as usual 
mardi bock to Jils country in summer, and in tlial case most 

o( the Rajput and other powerful duels would readily jdn 
Ihc Mamiha standard. But ibis did not prove true. Abdall 
stayed bn in India and most of the northern potentateA did 

not venture to incur his displeasure by jojiiing t\vi Marathas; 
Indeed sci-eral rcmniiiecl simply watdiing the game, waiting 

ultimately to throw in tlwir lot with the successful party. Yet 

another disappointment was in store for Bhau Saheb. He ex¬ 
pected to rea^ the Doab in about two months and to attack 
the Afghans at once in summer by crossing the Jamuna in boats' 

I!e therefore asked Govindpant Bundele to keep ready for this 
purpose a large number of boats. But the whole project fell 
through as the Marathas were unavoidably detained for over 
a month in croxsing the small river Gambhira beyond the 
Qiambal, botii of which were in untimely flood that year on ac¬ 

count of early rains. 
Bhau Saheb reached the Narmada on 12tl) April, crossed 

at Handia and proceeded straight north via Sihore and Sironj, 

without visiting Bhopal or Bhilsa. By the end of May he 
jtached Gwalior, but thereafter took more than a month to 

cover the ahort distance of 70 miles to .Agra. On 16th July he 

was at Mathura. 
While nearing Agra he met first Malharrao Holkar near 

Dholpur and Jankoji Sindia a little later, in the last week of 
June, Surajmal Jat who was already at war with Alidah, 

came and joined Bhau Saheb, cordially offering presents and 
dresses- He only stipulated that as his country lay in the 

main route of the Maratha army, no damage should be done 
to it, tliat no tribute should be demanded, that he would wHl- 
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iogly serve the Marathas with a contingent of ten thousand 
troops and give shelter to their ladies and non-combatants. 
Bhau Saheb readily accepted these conditions and issued strict 

instructions to his men that the Jat tenitory should in no way 
be molested. 

As soon as reports arrived of Bhau Saheb having left the 

Deccan with a large army, Najib Kltan begged Che Shah Co 
remain in India for the hot season and thus preserve the work 
that had been eo far accomplished, Najib agreed to defray 
the Shah’s expenses. Ultimately the Sliah yielded and pitched 

his camp at Hamgarh which he had recently captured from 
the Jat and named as Aligarh, and himself with a party of fol* 
lowers took up his residence at Anupshnhar on the Ganges^ 

about 40 miles away. 
In July the Jamuna was found unfordable and no mean^ 

could be obtained for the Maratha artillery to, cross over so as 
to get at the enemy ami finish contest quickly. Heavy 
rains prevented all movement. It was, therefore, decided to 
advance Co Delhi and capture the capital from Ahdali’s agent, 
Yakub Ali Khan. He was easily overcome, and v'as allowed 

to return to his master’s camp if he surrendered Uie town. 
D^bi was taken after a slight bombardmcciC of Che fort; 

and Bhau Saheb and Che whole party of Maratha chiefe made 
their formal entry into the capital on 2rid August 1760. The 
Abdali Shah sent out parties for Che succour of the capital but 
the Jamuna prov^ an impassable barrier. The possession of 
Delhi by the Maratha^ at once changed the aspect of the war. 
The centre of political activity and imperial transactions, now 
came back to Delhi from the hands ol Abdali, who for a time 

had wielded all power. The Marathas were now in high spirits 
and confident of driving out the Pathan invaders from India. 

2. Sbuja-ud-daula joins Abdali._Shuja-ud-daula of 
Oudh was then a very powerful potentate with a large army 
and ample funds, whose support was likely to turn (he scale 

In this war. Both Bhau Saheb and Abdali tried their best to 
win him over. The former despatched his agent Co Lucknow 
Qrst from Gwalior and again Naro Shankar and Ramaji Anant, 

both influential and well-known (o Shuja almost 
agreed to join the Marathas. They were his father's frieiids 
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and he had no regard for, ihe profesaon of Najib Khan 
whom he hated, both as a Sunni and as a treadierous time-ser¬ 

ver. When this inclination oi Shuja was revealed to Abdali, he 
became extremely anxious and deputed Nsjib Khan to go to 
Shuja personally and win him over. He quickJy proceeded to* 
wards Shuja's quarters, kept an armed iorce at Kanauj and 
crossed over to Mehdi Ganj where he met that chief for a short 

time and so overwhelmed him with arguments of common inte¬ 
rests and profes.^ons of fidelity that Shuja had to yield. He 

soon prepared his forces, marched with them into the Doab and 
was cordially received on Igih July in thdr camp at Anupsha- 

Iw both by Najib Khan and the Abdali Shah. 

This stroke proved a great blow to the Maratha cause. 
For if Shuja had remained on the side of the Marathas* there 

was every chance of the Afghan Shah returning in discomfi¬ 
ture. It must, however, be said to Shuja's credit that he all 
along exerted his best influence to bring about a lasting peace 
between the two antagoniets and to prevent a recourse to arms, 
which even Abdali was anxious to avoid. Another loss to tlie 

Maratha cause was the sudden desertion and departure of 

Surajmal Jat Irctn Delhi back to his capitiil Bharatpur. The 
Jat Raja had never agreed to serve the Maratha cause beyond 
his own jurisdiction. He had aizrecd to do what be could 

within his own territory, As soon as Delhi was captured, 
Surajmal demanded that he should be put in charge of Ita 

government, This Bhau Saheb for obvious reasons could not 
do. Delhi essentially belonged to ihe Emperor now. Shah 
AJam, who was at Allahabad and Shuja'Ud'daula who aspired 

to the Wasirship would never allow the Jat ruler to be the 
guardian of tliat capital town. All other alleged reasons for 
Surajmai’s desertion of Bhau Saheb are on historical scrutiny 

untenable and false. 

3. Negnrifldons for peace.—For two months and a 
quarter from August to October, Sadashivrao with hia whde 

following of over a hundred thousand souls, stayed at Delhi 
and practically consumed the entire food supply of the city 
and its surroundings, so that in a short time the Marathas began 

to suffer for want of funds and provisions. No supplies could 
come from out^de. Govindpant could not send funds from 
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the Doab, which yielded him littie; Bhau Saheb ordered trea¬ 
sure from Poona, which did not anive. Negotiations which 
liad been going on with the Shah for settUng terms of peace 

and for the latter’s return to lus country, did not prove success¬ 
ful, and in a short time Bhau Saheb began to feel the piiich- 
Bapuji Ballal (Phadke) witrte from the Maratha camp cm 

I5th September, “ it fe yel a month for the floods of the Jamunu 
VO subside and the liver to become fordable r peace does n<>\ 
seem to be in s^ht: our troops are starving : our horses no 

longer know what gram is. The army is kjslng its morale, m 
funds can be obtained. The prospect appears extremely 
gloomy.” Nana Phadnis wrote to his uncle Baburao about 
the same time, ‘'After the capture of Delhi by Bhau Saheb, 

Shah Abdali moved his Quarters from Anupshahsa* to the side 
of the Jamnna opposite the city. He has secured all the boats. 
We clearly sec his army from our side of the river, Shuja is 
engaged in mediatir^ terms oi peace but he cannot he trusted. 
We are quite stior^z, but hungw is staring us in the face. If the 
water goes down in a month's time, there is likelihood of the 
two armies coming to close grips. One good thing is that there 

is perfect harmony in our counsels. Bhau Sahob is sure to 
carry things to success,*' Bhau Saheb himself wrote the follow¬ 
ing letter to the Peshwa explaining the whole position dearly :— 

” We arrived at Delhi with the sardara and took possc-s- 
sion of the city, The Shah Abdali with Shuja and Najib Khan 
has moved to a spot on the opposite side. The river is still 
in flood- Shuja and Najib Khan have suggested certain terms 
for a peaceful return of the Shah, They have proposed that 

the Punjab be ceded to the Afghans with Sarhind as the boun¬ 
dary between the two spheres, that he should laice charge of 
Delhi, appoint Shuja ae the Waair and Najib Khan as the 
Mir Bakhshi. These are the tenng that the Sliah Abdali 

offers. We have urged that the Maratha influence should ex¬ 
tend to Atlock and that we shall take charge of Delhi and the 
Emperor, although we shall make such appointments to the 
high posts as will make no material change from the past 

Unless a mid-way between these two extimes is found out, it 
seems the negotiations will break down. If the river had Yiot 
been an impediment, we should have asne to grips with the 

enemy long ago. We will not accept any dictation of terms. 
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Both the sardars Sindia and Holkar are loyal and contented. 
There is perfect harmony in our counsels civil and oailitary. 

Our serious trouble is our low food supply. No loan fs avail¬ 
able as bankei's have closed their operations on account of the 
serious conflict that is raging. The Shah Abdali is in high 

having gained signal victories over the two sardars- 
Our present position is doubtless grave, shall try every 
means to secure a nejjotialed peace and avoid recourse lo aims. 

If it wanes ttj fiKhting, wc shall aojuit ourselves with credit 
nncl deU'rmlnatjon. If Ilia Highneiw the Pcahwa recovers hU 
hctdlh, we shall have gained all tliat we desire." 

These three au^orltative pronouncements explain the 
situation dearly and at tlic same lime set at rest various con¬ 
troversies and questions that have gatliercd about the subject, 
such as reports of severe diaagrecmeni between Sadashivrao and 
Holkar, that Bhau Saheb’s irascible and haughty temper 

alienated his subordinates leading ultimately to the final 
disaster, that lie haughtily discarded the terms olfered by Abdali, 

and 80 on. He himself admits the gravity of hk situation due 
to want of supplies and funds. He came from the south with 
the avowed purpose of opposing the Afghans openly and put¬ 
ting an end to the con.stant disorder and confusion whicli had 
raged at Delhi for yearn. There was certainly a crop of 

i*umours and bazaar reports spreading at the time tliroughout 
the country, which have partly survived to the present time. 

But these should be discard*!d in preference to the original and 
authoritative statements quoted above. Bhau Saheb was a 
strong man, but not at all vainglorious and overbearing as some 

writers would make bim, Mailiarrao Holkar had a genuine 
difference of opinion on the point of military tactics. He 

was not used to artillery warfare and was out and out an 
advocate of the guerilla system. But such differences of opinion 

cannot be construed as disloyalty. Bhau Saheb had come with 
an efficient artillery to match the Abdali’s, managed by a com¬ 
petent and loyal Muslim officer Ibrahim Klian to whom Bhau 

Saheb wag solemnly pledged, that he would not resort to a 
limning and harassing warfare to which heavy artillery was 
not suited That is why die vast plain of Panipat was later 

selected as the field of operations. Holkar had Yielded Najih 
Khan in the past, but that no longer formed a ground of debate 
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at the present moment- Malharrao too had lost the spirit of 
his youth, and the inlinnities of age were having their effect 
on him, If he, therefore, looked upon Bhau Saheb and the 

other youngsters as raw youths, void of experience and cir¬ 
cumspection, a certain amount of latitude may be allowed for 
Holkar to hold such views, so common to old men in all ages. 

The prolonged stay at Delhi began to tell severely upon 
the Maratha position. Bhau did not obtain funds at Delhi. 
His monthly expense amounted to about live and a half lacs 
of rupees; and this amount went on increasitig as prices and 
the time advanced; so that during the ten months that Bhau 

Saheb was in the north, he may be said rov^y to have re¬ 
quired nearly a total of dghty lacs, of which he obtained about 
23 lacs in the north firnn various sources. He obtained in 

com about nine lacs from the silver ceiling of the Diwan-i- 
IQias, which had been partly dismantled by Ghazi-ud-din be¬ 
fore, and of which the remaining portion was now utilised by 
Bhau Saheb in his extreme need of funds. Later on he acquired 

about 7 lacs out of the plunder of Kunjpura- The balance 
had to be made up either by loans or by a supply Irom the 
south, which did not arrive.^ 

Nor must one forget that in this respect the Shah Abdali 
too was in no better posifion. He too had come to extreme 

distress, having received only ten lacs from Najib Khan since 
his arrival. He stayed in India for a full year and a half 
from October 1759 to March 2761 : and this time he obtained 
little by plunder. His army was nearly as large as that of Ihe 

Marathas, although the Rohillas and Shuja-ud-daula, his prin¬ 
cipal allies defrayed their own expenses. The trans-Jamuna 
r^on had for long been severely taxed and stripped of all its 
wealth. There was often an aj^;ry exchange of hot words bet¬ 
ween the Shah and Najib-ud-daula. The former was so hard 

pressed and dissatisfied with the Indian situation that he con¬ 
sidered it the best policy to arrive at a peaceful understanding 
with the Maralhas and return to his country without damag¬ 

ing his prestige. Sadashivrao thus wrote to Govindpant on 

I. P. D. 2, 130, 13;, P. D. 27. 265-258, Putmidati DoUta Vol. I, No. 
339. Jedunsth dead/ explains the financial position ot Bhau Saheb 
OD page 263 oI liis Fall cf tke Mucftal EtHpire. Vol. 2. 
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2nd SeptemJ>er, “ Naro Shankar has bwn entrusted with the 

command oi Delhi. The Shah Abdali, the Rohillas and Shuja- 
ud*daula are conducting negotiations of peace with us, hut 
knowing that these woiiid be pitrtracted and that it is harmful 
ff> remain here idle, we have decided to advance to Kunjpura, 
thus drawling die enemy to the north arui relieving the pressure 
upon Delhi; you will in tl^e case bo Ivcc along witlt Gopalrao 
(Janesh to move into the Doab and devasldte die Rohiila 
country/’® 

Najib Khan was not »dow in counteracting this move oi 
the Marallw leader. lie drculated lalse rumours that Vishvas* 
rao waH made the Emperor, that money was coined in his name 

by tearing down tlic silver ceiling of the Audience'Halk He 
also violently opposed every move on either aide for coming 
to a peaceful understanding. Shah Abdali was not at all 

anxious to hold and occupy Delhi: and Najih Khan rightly 
feared that ii tltc capital city remained in Maratha po&ses.sion, 

lie would have to endure the utmost vengeance at the bands 
of the Marathae after tlw Afghan monarch had returned to his 
country. Sada.idiivrao had deputed his ambassadors Kashiraj 

and Bhavani Sliankar to Shuja for negotiating terms of peace 
and Shuja’s agent Devidatta was Uvic^ with Sadashivrao for 

the same purpose. But the convicting interests of the various 
parties ar\d Najib's obduracy obstructed every attempt to ad¬ 
just matters. Najib Khan wanted to crush the Manthas 

hnaily. Shuja aspired to the Waairship and objected to any 
Pathans wielding power at Delhi. The Shah himself deared 
to secure an honourable retreat to his country, remaining con¬ 

tent with the possesion of the Punjab only. When Dattaji 
fell at Barari Gliat, the Marathas retreated to the Chambal 
and gave up Delhi, which was exactly midway between Sar- 

hind and the Chambal, a distance of 320 miles. If Bhau Saheb 
had agreed to cede the Punjab and make the Satlaj the boun¬ 
dary line between the two claimants, a negotiated peace was 

quite possible. 

4. Kunjpuia captured—On 7th October Bhau Saheb 

left D^hi for Kunjpura, a distance of 78 miles, while 78 miles 

2. Hal Voi, e. 
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furflier north was Sarhind. Bbau Saheb went on from Delhi, 
minutely examining the fords of the Jjununa, and as noiu: na^ 

discovered, he made no anangement for guarding agaiiwt the 
eventuality of the Shah crossing over to his j^ide, Sunpat I<(3 

ra\\<fs from Delhi and Panipat another 20 miles beynncl were 
passed by Bhau Saheb. Kunjpura lay 22 miles furtlior north 
on the right bank of tlic ri^'er Jamuna, an (iutposi strongly 

guarded by the Shah Abdali’a partiaans and plentifully sUvked 
with provisions and ammunition as a mid^way base for hi:* 
return. Having travelled two stages Irom Delhi, Sadashivrao 

discovered the mischievous report Najib Khai^ had circulated 
and at once arranged for a public ceremonial and declaralioii 
at Delhi, proclaiming Shah AJam as the Emperor aixl appt)int- 

ing in his absence his son Jawan Bakht as his regent (Vall- 
Ahad) and minting fresh coin^ ia that Kmperor's name, (10 

October 1760.) 

Advance parties of Sindia. Holkar and Vithal Shivdev 
arrived before Kunjpura on 16th October and called upon 
Najabat Khan, the keeper of the place to surrender. lie refused 
and a severe bombaidment by Tbrahim Kiian proved elTi'Clive. 
Abdussamad Khan and Mian ^hah who were posted at 

Sarhind ran to the help of Kimjpura and even Alxlali sent 
large succours froin the east bank of the Jamuna to ll’iat place. 

But before any effective resistance could be made. Ihc place 
was captured the very next day. 17th October, DamajI Gaik wad 

rushing with his valiant parties through the breaches made by 
the heavy guns in the huge stone walls Nearly ten thousand 
Athens were killed or wounded in the action. Abdussamad 

Khan was killed and Qutb Shah and Najabat Khan secured 
alive. Najabat IChan died of his wounds, I>i« son DlUr Khan 
escaped, while Qutb Shah was put to death by Bhau Saheb 
in retaiiation for his having cut off Dattaji Sindia's head at 
Barari Ghat a few months before. Qutb Shah'a severed head 

was paraded through the Maratha ranks. 

The capture of Kunjpura marked the highest triumph of 
the Maratha power. For the present the needs of the Maratha 
army vere more than met. Two lacs maunds of wheat, 

ten and a half lacs in rupees and another ten lacs worth of 
anns, ammunition and valuables were secured, including ^ome 
five guns and three thousand horses. 'Die Zaver elephant of 
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Dattaji Sindia which had been carried a^vay at his fall 
now came back to Maratha possession. Much plunder besides 

duH was appropriated by the various members of the Maratha 
army, Two days after this happened to be tlie Uassara day, Sun- 
day 19th Oclolier, which was celebrated with Llie i»reatest pomp 

and triumph, such as was i\e\'er witnessed by any Maratha 
before or after. A grand Darl^ar was held at whidi actual 
sold was pitaientcd to Vishvasrao, instead of the customary 

leaves of the Apta tree. 

The loss ol Kunjpura was deeply felt by the Shah Abdali 
and exciU'cl in his heart biltei' animosity towards the Maialhas, 
I bus nuLsinjj supremo anittr and haired in the Patiian breasts, 

and heroafLor cltanKinji the essential character of the struggle, 
by adding an element of ferocity to what was a mere trial of 

strength f)oft>re. The bitterness thus slatted continued loi^ 
after Panipal and is even now disclosed in the partisan writ¬ 

ings. AIxiali at once aclclrossed his soldiers in animated tones, 
saying. " My men, how do you endure this open affront given 

us by the Kafir Maralhas i Don't you feel impelled to inflict 
upon litem adequate retribution? You must now be ready 
to saaifice all, even your lives, in the grave trial that is await* 

ing us." 

In this agonising mood Abdali moved slowly along the 
left bank of tlie Jamuna from opposite Delhi to the north, care* 
fully looking out for a ford and utilising local men in effecting 

a crossing with his whole army and guns on to the other side, 
in order to get at the Marathas for a close combat. About 20 

miles north of Delhi he reached Baghpat on the east bank of 
tlie river, where after four days inspection he decided to cross 
the river on October 25. It was a daring experiment which 
might as well have proved disastrous, But Abdali had gained 

uncommon e^^Derience in crossing numerous rivers and streams 
during hLs long previous career throughout Central Aria and 

India, so that he could fully gauge the possibilities of a succes- 
M fordir^. His followers hesitated, when after a devout 
prayer to Allah, he untied the girth of his horse arvd rushed 
into the stream followed by an equally enthusiastic train. The 

water level had now conriderably subsided and the horses 
could Ret across swimmlriR part of the way where the water 

M. H. u 28 
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was deep. Within thiee days, he CTirried across without being 

detected, his whole army and heavy artillery on the backs of 
elephants and camels. ITiis dexterous move is highly extoUcci 

by all writers as a rare feat ol generalsliip. 

5, Face co face ac Paaipat.—On 28th Octtiber 1760 
Abdali started north in search of the Marathas along tiie rjgiu 

bank of the Jatnuna, and after n jountoy of 7 miles reached 
Sonpat. Bhau Salieb received this news of Abdali s cmssJJig 
over on the 28th while Jic was proceeding northward having 
left Kunjpura on October 25 with a view to rcpienidling 

his supplies and crossing tlie Jamuna on to Uie other jdde to 

get into contact with Abdali. He also meant to gain llie 
friendship of the Sikhs if possdble. But rejoicing that Abdali 

had himself come over and was now within hia eany reach, Bhau 
Saheb immediately retraced hia steps and arrived at Panipat 
within five miles of Abdali’s advance troops. The two forces 
sighted each other toward.s the end of October, when the ad¬ 

vance parties of the two combatants had slight skirm/shes. 
Bhau's original plan was to encounter Abdali beff>re ho had 
time to organife his troops in battle array and e\'en during 
the act of crossing if pa'sible. But by the lime he arrived at 
Panipat, he found the Shah well prepnretl for a combat, and 

realized that the determined ^tand of the Afghans and their 
perfect order were not to be trilled with. Bhau Saheb could 
not easily rout th^ and find hU way back to Delhi, un¬ 
molested. 

He, therefore, decided on the advice of Ibrahim Khah 

Gardi to entrench himself on the plain with the town of 
pat north of him, and remain on tlie defensive until the olhci' 
party got weakened by starvation, so as to combine guerilla 

tactics with die use of trained infantry and artillery. He was 
encumbered with a Jarg;© number of non-combatants and some 

ladies; the-se now formed a drag on him consuming his sup¬ 
plies and requiring protection- If Bhau had only the fighling 
force with him, he would have easily fought his way through 
the enemy’s ranl«. But this did not now seem possible, and 
in order to save them he created a defensive camp, of tents and 

huts, about 6 miles in length from ea.st to west and alwut 2 
miles deep north to south. He dug a large trench round Ihi.^ 
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camp about 2S yards broad and 6 yards deep^; and the heaps 

of earth thus brought up forraed a huge wall upon which guns 
were mounted, The Abdait Shah too formed a permanent 
i:ainp facing the Marathas, about three miles to their south 

with the village of Sonpat behind. He iortiAed his position 
witii tretiches and wood defences made of felled trees. In this 
way the passage home of the two antagonists came to be block¬ 
ed against each other. None could escape without annihilating 

Iho other. On Hrh November Bhau Saheb wrote to Govind* 
pant. “ We arc now face to face with the enemy and have 
prepared ourselves lc»r an encounter^ having pitched our camp 
im the plain of Psinipal. Abdali's way home is completely 
Wf>d<cd by us. Every day we capture his camels, horses and 
oxen in large numbers. Now the Doab is freely open to you. 
You must hrirfg ti'ea.sure and supplies from your district and 
deliver them at Patpatgsinj opposite the south comer of the 
city of Delhi, whence we .shall manage to take them. You must 

stop any treasure and .supplies reaching Abdali from the Doab. 
The Jat Raja is quite friendly and will in no way obstruct 
you. Now is the time for you to do your utmost.” On 5th 
November Kri>d\na Joshi, one of Bhau Saheb's rebnue, wrote 

from Panipat a Ml account of Bhau Saheb’s position, in 
which he said, " Bhau Saheb has returned to Phanipath from 
Kunjpura, and daily skirmishes are occurring between the two 
opponents. The Muslims fear our strong artillery. No corn 

now reaches the Abdali’s camp, where there prevails extreme 
scarcity. If he within the next tliree or four days advances 
against us, he will be annihilated by our guns. Our camp has 
plentiful supplies which can be had very cheap. There ate 

good auguries all round and our men are in high spirit. 
Abdali, Najib Khan and Shuja will now meet with th^r ruin 
within a week. The Shah, although a general of standii^ and 
experience, is now so humiliated that be dare not advance all 
these days. His road to his country is blocked; and he has 

no hope of success in a fight and, cannot afford to remain idle 
where he is for want of food." This was the condition of 
affairs in the first week of November, and the Marathas could 

then have attacked Abdali with success, Why Bhau Saheb 
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waited thereafter lor the two long month? of November and 
December ia a myatery which cannot be satl^actorily explained. 

But the accounts presented by the two invaluable compila¬ 

tions, Bhau Saheb's Kcdfiyat and his Bakkm give the whole 
story lucidly, and doubtless they bear marks of having been 
compiled from original documents, which are now not forth¬ 

coming. The Kaifiyat Is very accurate and the bakhnr an en¬ 

larged edib'on of it, quoting long pa.ssage.s exactly a^ they are 
in the former, 

In a few days, however, the position came io be reversed, 
.^bdali moved his camp quite close in the bank of the jamuna, 
although at first he was a few miles away from it. This gave 

his camp not only a plentiful supply of water, but made his 
communication easy with the region of the Doab which was 
lU Najib Khan's possesion and from which he arranged to 

obtain plentiful supplies, The Doab was essentially a Muslim- 
ruled country, and as feelings ran high at the time, Govlndpant 
or any of the Maratha officials could obtain no supplies for 
delivery into the Maratha camp. There was a strong anti- 
Hindu feeling and it was with difficulty that GovJnd Ballal 

held his position round about Etawa. In a few days the 
Shah Abdah posted strong guards all round the Maratha camp 
and prevented any supplies reaching it. He cut oH Maratt^ 

communications towards the south with Delhi and Bajputana, 
and the past beyond the Jamuna. The way north towards Kunj- 
pura was for a time open, but Kunjpura was soon retaken 

by Abdall and all Maratha communication stopped on that 
side. The west was a thorny uncultivated country, full of 

brambles and jungle. Tor tsvo months no news reached the 
Deccan from Panipat, 

After the Arst week of November Abdall'a position began 

to improve daily, and in proportion that of Bhau Saheb began 
to deteriorate. He could not get supplies from any quarter. 
Abdali slowly gathered into his hands all the points that fii^t 

appeared to be an advantage to Bhau. But the latter’s courage 
was undaunted, against which was matched the superior gene- 
lakhip of the Abdali Shah, who had seen fighting throu^out 
his life. 

The held of Kurukshetra stretdiing down to Panipat is 

a wide plain, battles on which from uncounted ages, have de- 
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cided the fate of India and now yet another momentous deci¬ 
sion was to be reached on that batUe-scarred plain. The 
moment arrived for Bhau Saheb to ifrapple with the Abdali 
troops, for which he had been longing ever since he left the 
Deccan. 

From Ist November 1760 to 14th January 1761 for full 

two and a half months, the Marathas remained entrenched in 
their camp and lost whatever chance they at first had of achiev- 
ing success, every day that passed making their position worse. 
They sjradually lost heart and despaired of victory. During 
these two and a half monllv? light slcirmishing was going on 
ctmslanUy between the two armies, but three or four sdfT 
actions also look place. Once on 19th Nov'ernber Ibrahim 
Khan’s brotUor Fath Khan (lardi executed a secret n^t raid 

upon AMali’.s camp, dragging light guns bj’ the hand : but he 
was ca.si]y jtpul.secl and returned discomfited. Three days 
aftei* in the aftenioon of 22nd November, die Durrani 'Wcizii* 
was detected by Sindia’s men reconnoitering a well near the 
Maralha camp, and be was immediately attacked by Jankoji 
Sindia with fury, Nearly ail the Waair's party was cut down 
and he was hotly pursued right up to the Durrani camp, In 

Ibis encounter Sindia showed unexampled impetuosity, but 
could not win all the success his efforts deserved on account 
of the failure of the Peshwa’s troops to render him timely sup¬ 
port A thousand Rbhillas were killed and a few of their 

guns were captured by the Marathas. Daricness set in and 
the combatants parted, otherwise greater havoc would have 
been inflicted upon the Afghans. 

AU this while Bhau Saheb and the other leaders were 
constantly ui^ng Naro Shankar at Delhi and Govind Ballal in 

the Doab to do their utmost to send supplies and cash to Pani- 
pat and thieve their misery. But the Durranis were so watch* 

ful and alert that they successfully prevented any article or 
cash reaching the camp at Panipat. Another serious en¬ 

counter occurred about a fortnight after the one described 
above, on 7th Decanber, when Najib Khan without permission 

from the Shah and aedng on his own respon^biJity, made a 
precipitate attack on a party of the Maratoas who were man- 
CBuvring their guns in certain positions. The small party was 

se^*e^ely handled and pressed back right to the ditch by Najib 



430 New HJSTORY 01' THE MARATHAS | VX)L. IL 

Khan. But Che latter's presence being noticed, huge MaraLha 
parlies came upon him like lightning, More than three thou¬ 

sand Rohilias were mown down by the guns of Ibrahim IClian 
and the swords of the Hu2rat under Balavanlrao Mehendale. 
Bui a chance shot killed Ihis brave young leader of promise 

and marred the value of the auccesa the Marathas had attained. 
That night Belavantrao’s wife became Sati. The death of this 

hero spread a heavy gloom throughout tlie camp. T)ie slide 
down of the Maralha hopea definitely begun from this moment. 

Govindpant in the lower Doab was, however, fully appriz¬ 
ed of the state of things prevailing at Panipat and strove hard 

to collect supplies and cash from the ivgion cast of Delhi, and 
tried to forward them Co the beleaguered camp, lie made u 
iarge stock of things gathered from Sikandambad and other 
places, and his parties were moving within ten to twent}' miles 

ofsShahdara (opposite Delhi), Ghaaiabad and Jalalabai The 
agents employed by Najib Khan watched Chose operations of 

the Pant and communicated the news of their activities lo the 
Rohilla chief, He at unce despatched Alai Khan and ICariim 
dad Khan with a party of some hvc thousand fresh troops tliat 

had just arrived from Afghanistan. These troops crosKed ihe 
Jamuna and moved rapidly In search of the Maratha foraging 

parties. On the evening of Ibth December they came upon a 
small party of Naro Shankar s men, and cut them all down. 

The country around was all hostile to the Marathas and burn¬ 
ing for revenge against tlieir fearful depredations in the past. The 
next morning, 17th December, the Afghans started again and 
came across a Maretha party at Ghtuiabad, who were all Klmi- 
larly cut down. Thence they rode about ten miles north-east 
to Jalalabad where they found Govindpant himself, who not 
suspecting any sudden attack by the enemy, was engaged in 

saying hla prayers and preparing his meal, with only a small 
party of personal servants. As soon as they were attacked, 
they mounted thdr ponies and ran to save their lives in diffe¬ 

rent directions. They were hotly pursued and a bullet shot 
brought the Pant down from his horse, The Mualiras dosed 
upon him, cut off his head and carried it to the Shah in 

(riumph. Abdall paraded ihe bead in hU camp and sent it 
as fl present to Bhau Saheb. Govindpant's son Balajl was 
with his father, but was saved by his servants. Thus perished 
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an old and faithful servant of the Peshwas who had for thirty 
years laboured hard to keep the Maratha flag aloft in Bundel- 
khand and the Doab. Essentially a non-military man, profi¬ 
cient in accounts and levenue mailers, he happened to be the 
only prominent Maratha in the north at the time of Bhau 
Saheb’s expedition. Naturally, therefore, Bliau Saheb ailed up 
on him to execute many responsible functions and duties, which 
he was unable to perform owing to the disurbed condition of 

I he regions in which he worked. His descendants still live at 
Saugor. 

'iixe Maratlias were now faced with terriWe starvation 

brought about ))y a complete stoppage of food supplies fresn 
outside. As the high price of food exhausted the money in 
BhHu Saheb’s treasury, he with Sindia and Holkar erected three 
separate mints in the camp and melted down all the men's and 
women’s gold and silver ornaments, thus produdng a quantity 
of fresh rupees stamped with the words Bh4tushaki, Jmkushahi, 
and MdlHarskaki. But this money did not last for more than 
I wo weeks. 

Still neither side was willing to attack the other. For 
two months they had tried to obtain a superiority In light 
cavalry actions. It was clear that so long as the main armies 
chose to remain stationary, the force whose light cavalry held 

the command of the open country would starve the other force 
out- In this (;ame the Shah Abdali ultimately succeeded in 
getting the Maiathas in his strong grip, Bhau Saheb ever 
since his start from the Deccan had placed his main confidence 
in the Infantry corps of Ibrahim Khan and they had so far 
given a very good account of themselves. The idea of re¬ 

maining entrenched at Panipat was a result of this confidence. 
The Marathas were render^ unassailable so long as they re¬ 

mained within Ibeir entrenchments. Bhau Saheb waited long in 
this entrenched position expecting Abdali to attack him, as 
he was sure of victory in the event of such an attaclc- Abdalr 
saw through Bhau Saheb's game and studiously avoided an* 

open attack upon the Maratha camp, hoping to get the victory- 
when the Maratha army would be forced to come out through 
sheer starvation. Bhau*s letters to Bundele are full of rage 

and railing for die Utter's failure to goad the Abdali Shah into 

an attack upon the Maratha camp. 
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When thus reduced to extremity, Bhau made, so says 
Nuruddin Husain Khan, a last moment attempt to necoliatc 

peace with the Afghan monarch, and offered to pay him a 
heavy tine for being allowed to withdraw from the contest 
and retire safely to the south. But, as before, Najib Khai' 

persuaded the Shah to reject the proposal and welcome an 
opportunity to slay the inddels in a holy war. Indeed Najlh 
Khan was iubtrumeinal in hnnu'mn aliout the Maratha ruin, 

proving thereby the character that Hafiz Ridiiml had given 

him.' 

4. "Najib Khan b a vulgar upstart, who had dm ontorsd his 

rca$t&*$ service z3 a poor infantry<man, but now has risen to be the die* 

tator of Delhi and the Prime Minister of Che Abdali Shah for Indian 
^airs," 
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CHAPTHR XXI 

THE TRAGIC CLOSE AT PANIPAT 

{1761] 

l Crup lull CO (he hrim. 
i J'loMum uf {lie J*u(((« in 

(he fa'll). 
i TI>C CCHCClHlt. 
4 Tice Vieior’K |>IIr1u. 

conciliecliui ihe PeshwL 

5 The Pcahnu hrealcf Jnwn 
in i^unclicJklixnU. 

A Review of (]ic dIse.Mcr. 
' SiuAiiiionce tif (T)v dlKeiiter. 
H The PeshwA’s Iajc 
9 Dale/inui'e clmncicr. 

1. Cup full to cho brun.—Covind Past's d«alh and the 
manner fn which It was compassed, roused both ra^c and des* 

pondenc/ in all Maratha breasts; and hereafter from 2Ut De¬ 
cember to 14th January increasing misery fell upon the 
Maratha camp and nil liope of relief was lost. Anotlier mishap 

came soon after the death of Govlnd Pant. He had collected 
about four and a half laca of cash and sent it to Naro ^wikar 
to be despatched to Bhau Saheh, who had deputed a special 
agent to Delhi for that purpose. A little over a lac reached the 
Maratha camp on 2Ist December : the remaining 3 lacs were 

enlrusied to Parashar Dadaji, a young captain in Holkar's ser¬ 
vice, A party of picked liomemeii each carrying Rs. 500 left 

Delhi early in January making secret marches by night, Being 
unware of the clanged location ol the Afghsm camp* they, In the 
darlcness and cold ol tlie last night of th&ir march, stumbled 
info the circle of the piquets of the enemy on the south-western 
or Delhi side of the route. They were at once detected and all 

put to death, except a few who escaped. This happened on 4th 
January, Their leader Parashar Dadaji returned to Delhi on 
the 6th. Bhau Sabeb tried to hold on bravely and kept up the 

spirita of the inmates of the camp now entirely dependent on 
him. All his aborts to obtain supplies of grain or caaii proved 
fruitless, The small city of Psmipat was denuded of every 

thing, food, timber, grass and gardens, for supplying the crying 
need of the Marathas; the populace of that city were mostly 

i. Kotah papers 1. 222. 
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Muslims and altogether hostile, as they were dispossessed of all 
Ch«r belongings. Thus the whole camp found starvation and 
death staring it in the face. The only couix* ivpw open lo the 

Marathas was either unconditional surrender or a last despe¬ 
rate effort to fight their way through the enemy's ranks. After 
prolonged deliberation, the latter course was approved and ac¬ 
cepted. But Bhau Saheb ctmtinued his efforts through his 
agents with Shu]a to obtain terms cm which they crmld secure 

their release from the dreadful situatioa 
By tliis time it was known that the I’csiiwa had left PiHjna 

and was coming to the north with large forces. Bui while he 
was growing anxious about the condition of affairs in the north, 
he had absolutely no news for long, as all letters and despat¬ 

ches were intercepted by the enemy. ^He had left Poona in Octo¬ 
ber and was slowly raising money, men and supplies both by 

way ol a checlt over the Nizam and also to meet the probable 
recjuirements of the army in the north. He took a second wife, 
a young girl of nine near Paithan and celebrated the ceremony 
on 27th December. It is wrong to suggest that he took lo 
amorous pleasure with a second wile and neglected lo succour 
his cousin.- tie was already fast declining in health and Soda- 
shivrao was extremely anxious on his account. Nor is it rigl>t 
to hold that Bhau S^heb delayed his final attack under the im¬ 

pression that the Peshwa would soon arrive and in that case 
they could crash the Muslima between the two Maratha armies. 
Bhau Saheb was in no need of additional troops. His difficulty 
was about feeding his men and keeping open his line of com¬ 
munication. So the mystery of Bhau Saheb waiting for two and 

a half months before he delivered his final attack, cannot be 
satisfactorily explained. 

Abdali’s allies, however, became very impatient and urg¬ 
ed him to no longer delay the final assault on the enemy. His 

only reply was, "My duty is that of a general, and let me be 
full master in this. You can take care of your politics as you 
wish, hut do not interfere with my military plans,” He was 

always alert and constantly on the move, He had a small red 

2. In this connection a fandful suKestion ha» been put forth by 

Mr. Shejverkar )n his recent work on Panipet that the Peshwi look this 

wcond wife aa a cure for his fast faltmt health! (Sw P. 1201. 
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tent pitched in advance oC his camp to which he regularly came 
e^'ery morning for his prayers and for his breakfast, and spent 
the whole day in moving round the entiit camp, inspecting the 

arrangements, givir^ instructions and tigjitcning his hold on 
the Maralhaa. Me never rode less than 30 miles a day, He 
reserved a special guard of 5 thousand troops to go round the 
wiK)le camp and keep a strict look out for the slightest remiss- 

now in his army tjr any activity of the enemy. He asked 
Shiija imd the other allies to enjoy sound sleep and rest as 
usual, witliout worrying themselves about tlie war. 

Condilloris in the Maratha camp grew desperate with the 
pa.ssagc of Lime. Many Maraiha groups, who in search of food 
miwed out of the comp, were cut down by the enemy patrols. 
Starvation and death loomed large before every body’s eyes. 
Animals died in large numbers and the consequent stench be¬ 

came most obnoxious. Young and old, leaders and mer^ all urg¬ 
ed Bhau Saheb that it was no use waiting any longer, that they 
would ratlier die fighting with the enemy than pciish through 
starvation in the camp, All gathered and look full counsel to¬ 
gether. There was the annual Sankrant day on 10th January, 
which they celebrated as best they could, eating away the last 

stock that they possessed. The next three days were spent 
in discussing the arrangwents for a final dash ; assigning duties 
and giving full instructions on the various points of the ensuing 
combat. By the advice of Ibrahim Khan, the whole force was 
to move slowly cm in a square formation, all the four sides of 

which were to be protected by heavy artillery. The ladies and 
non-combatants were to be put In the centre, and the whole 
mass was to movo in a block under the protection of Ibrahim 

Khan's cannon- One serious defect of this arrangement was 
that it could be easily disturbed by the slightest tactics of the 
enemy, as actually happened. 

Having completed his final di^sitions for the morrow 

and issued full instructions to his subordinates, Bhau Saheb, 
if Kashiraj is to be believed, made during that fateful night a 
last minute effort by addi’essing a note to Kashiraj, saying, 
" the cup is full to tte brim : not a drop more can it contain. 
Rease let me have a final reply on the adjustment of the dis¬ 
pute.” Early in the morning of the 14th Kashiraj presented 
the note to Shuja who directed Kashiraj to go and show it to 
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the Shah. By the time the Shah came to know of it, the Mara- 
thas were already seen moving against the Durrani Camp. Still 

Abdali replied, “ Wait for a day and we shall think how to end 
the affair." But by this time the fighting had nearly commenced. 

2, Position of the Parties in the field_At la.>t tlie 
fatal 14th January arrived for Bhau Saheb to get into dose 
grips with the Abdali Shah, for which he had been longing ever 

since he left the Deccan. The Sliah did not take long to vcaliiw. 
when on that early morning he reconnoitred the huge mass oi 
the whole Maratha camp moving in a block towards him, that 

it was no longer to be one of the light actions which he was 
having during the last two months. He at fence prepared his 
whole army for a final issue and quickly arranged his Hnc of 
battle with judicious calculation for reaping the highest ad¬ 
vantage. In arranging his men be used his best discretion, as¬ 
signing suitable positions and duties to his various captains 
and allies. Of his total of sixty thousand, nearly half was 
foreign and half Indian, the major portion consisting of cavalry 

with a small admixture of infantry. He placed Barkhurdar 
Khan and Amir Beg on his extreme right wing keepinjj next 
to thdr left the Ruhelas of Hafb Rahmat and those of the 
Bangash Nawab. Thereafter in his line came his camel swivels 
and his ovm Kabuli infantry. Next to these came the central 

command of the Waair Shah Vali Khan in whom he had the 
highest confidence. To the left of the Waair was posted Shuja- 
ud-daula leading bis own contingent, closely joined on his left 
by Najib Khan's party. The extreme left of the line was made 

up by Shah Pasand IChan along with the Shah's own slave 
squadrons and his personal body-guards, the last two having 

been kept behind in reserve to be moved as necessity would 
demand. It would here be noticed how the Ruhelas, the Ban- 

gash contingent and Najib Khan's men were purposely wedged 
in between the Shah’s own foxeign troops, a« he was suspicious 
of the loyalty of his Indian allies. He himself lemained be¬ 
hind the whole line, directing the operations and repairing any 
weal? points that would develop when the action came to he 
joined. 

As the.Marathas moving in a square formation approach¬ 
ed the long and well arranged Afglian line facing them, thdr 
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original plan ol mass movement could not I'c carried out. Fail* 
ing lo fora a passage idr moving on, Bhau $al>cb predpitalely 
reformed his men in a long line similar to that ol the enemy so 

as to light them out and obtain a passage through, Ihe main 
object being lo effecl an escape rather than anniliJlatc his op* 

ponents. This tacdcai and sudden change created a sort of 

confasion among Maratha ranks, cauang extreme annoyance 
to Ibrahim Khan, as liis plan came lo be eniirely upat.- The 
Klian, however, quietly accepted the situation and tried to do 

the bewl ho could under Iho circumstances. When Bhau SaJwb 
la^olonged his force in a Uno, he gave his extreme left wing 

to the care of Ibraliim Wian and his heavy artUlery, wllU 
Damaji (Jaikwad next to him for the Khan's support, Bhau 
Saheb himwii look his station in the centre with Iris dftvoled 
Huzrat troops, with which he faced the Afghan Waair. Anlaji 
Mankc.sliwar, Pilaji Jadhav’s son Satvejl and some minor cluefs 
were posted towards Bhau Saheb'a right, the extreme end m 
liie line being specially strensthened by the veteran fighters of 
Yashvantrao Pawai\ jankoji Sincle and Malharrao Holkar. 
Bhau Saheb could not keep any portion in reserve, as the whole 
camp wad Intended to fora a passage through the .\fglian 
ranks, With this disposition Bhau Saheb attempted to rush 

through the enemy's ranks with his entire army. 

Before describing the actual nature of the titanic struggle 
that, now followed, some salient points regarding tl^e position 

of the two parties deserve to be noticed, Although the iwo 
forces and particularly that of the Marathaa, were large on 
account of the vast numbers of the non'Combatants, tlu strength 

•ol the actual lighting calibre ha$ now been ascertained lo 
be sixty thousand Muslims and forty>{!ve thousand Marathas. 
The latter were certainly weakened by starvation and the loss 
of animalH, fn this respect the AJghans were in high and buoy¬ 
ant spirits. In general^ip also, the superiority of Ahdali was 
obvious, as Bhau Saheb with all his enthusiasm was Infeiior to 
tile Shall in the military handling of a battle-field. Bhau Saheb 

had from the begmiui^ a great faith in hi& powerful artillery of 
more than two hundred pieces, and in its effective use by his 

S. The losi. n^bt'e plui of square formation was gim up. 

*Rgaf ?T^. arr* ff® 
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trusted commaridant Ibrahim Khan. But tJiis itself proved 
rather a handicap in the predicament diet had developed. Tlie 
heavy guns took time to be brought into proper position, while 

the Maratha army was on the move. Otherwise this heavy uitn 
of tlie Maratha force could have done great execution. On 
this occasion Ibrahim Khan's long range cannon ovci'shot 

Iheir objective and could be eawly silenced, when Uie two s-ides 
came dose together. The Shah on the other hand ]»ad no lumvy 
guns of the Maratha type : he had instead an elFicienl wi <if 

about two lliousaiid li^l guns, camel-bontc awiwfs, which 
could inflict severe havoc upon the dense mass of die Maradia 
ranks at short range. These lighl-guns of the Afghan Siiah wirn 
handled each by two expert gunman riding one camel. Besides, 

tliis whole corps was kept in reserve by the Shah for a hisl 
moment execution, after the Marathas had exhaasted them¬ 
selves in the early stages of the combat In addition to this 
light artillery the Shai kept in reserve a select force of six 

thousand lCa?.aJba8h of his personal body-guard, with fine 
young horses freshly imported from the norili-west, The 
members of this Kazalbash corps regarded themselveK ^ the 
Shah’s faithful ^ave», receiving special treatment rn food and 

dress. It is these two bodies of carefully reserved men which 
decided the issue. 

Another handicap from which the Marathas suffered firose 
out of the difference in the drew of tj» two combatants. The 
Marathas of the south wore th^r plain'shirts, while the Afghans 
dwelling in tlie cold mountains of their native land were pro¬ 
tected with a thick woollen or leather waist-coat; most of the 
higher men wore besides a plaited armour of iron upon which 

the swords and spears of the Marathas could hardly make any 
impression. The AbdaJi Shah kept his eye steadily upon the 
slightest move of his opponents and promptly corrected every 
trifling short*coming In his ranks. He allowed the Marathas 

to spend themselves in au initial dash, himself standing on the 
defensive during this stage. He patiently waited till the Mara¬ 

thas became completely exhaasfed and then brought into action 
at the right moment not only his reserve but also some ol those 
who had run away and hidden themselves in the rear rank«, 

Bhau Saheb’s original plan of forcing out a passage re¬ 
quired a careful combination betw'een his three arms, artillery, 
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inlantry and cavalry. Such a combination could not be pre- 

Mrved in ihe combat as it actually developed. The Maratha 
units neither understood, nor had a mind to follow accurately 
the instructions that were issued to them on the ba^s of the 
plan advised by Ibrahim Khan. 

3. 'riic ciiinlmc.—The action was Joined at about nine 
in the mt^rning anrl continued unabated till nearly three in the 
nftcmtxjn. In their fii'xt rage (he Marallias fought vigorously 
and committed great havoc upon the Afghan snldiery, Tlw 

Maratha left and right wings and (he centre maiRtajned a 
grim struggle for the flrsL few haui% Tlie Gardl'Ruhela duel, 
Bhau’s dash against the Waeir Shah Vaii and the Sfndia-Hol- 

kar sweep from the Maratha right againal Najib Khan and 

Shah Pasand, brought out the determined valour of the Mam- 
thfUi and inflicted great destruction upon (heir opponenta. The 
Afghan position was saved only by the timely succours which 
that Shah rendered wherever he discovered danger Qireat‘’ning, 
Ibrahim Khan furiously attacked the right wing of the Shah 

and killed Atai Khan with some three thousand men of his 
corps, making (he Shah for a moment nervous about the Issue. 

He. however, immediately pushed up his reserves and re¬ 
covered his pceution. Ibrahim Khan's infantry corps was 

outnitmbered, surrounded and aimihilated, his heavy guns 
entirely silent during the mixed combat at close qiaarters. 

The light in the centre, however, was likewise tenacious 
and dreadful on account of the preface there of the Maiatlia 
Commander and the Peshwa's son. Before the determined on¬ 
slaught of Bhsu Saheb the Durrani centre of Shah Vail T<han 
completely broke down. When Shuja perceived the sad plight 

of the Wasir. he sent KasAiraj to ascertain the facts, l^e 
latter found Shah Vail KJian sitting on the ground, beat¬ 
ing his forehead in agony and trying to rally his flying fol¬ 
lowers piteously crying. "Where are you running away my 

friends : Kabul is far off ; you can't reach it by running away.” 
When the Shah came to know hla Waslr's dangerous vtuation, 

he immediately detached fresh troops for his relief and had all 
the fleeing men called back on pain of catting them down. 
About thirteen thousand troops that had withdrawn from the 
battle were thus thrown into the combat at two o'clock in the 

M. H. u^29 
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afternoon. Till that hour Bhau Saheb, Vishvasrao, Ibrahim 

Khan, Yashvantrao Pawar, Janicoji Sindia, Antaji Mankesh- 
war and th^ rest had done Iheir best and Iheir attack had de^ 
veloped furiously. The enemy was yielding ground and the 
Marathas appeared almost within an inch o/ winning. The com¬ 

bat on the right of the Majatha line was equally stiff, wim 

Jankoji Sindia boldly o^aging Shall Pasand KJian and Najib 

Khan's Rohilas, who suffered heavily. 

The Maratha troops who had been mai'Ching from the early 
dawn and sfrenuou^y fighting for over five hours without food 
and 'water, now began to show signs of exhaustion. Abdali 

chose this moment to throw in his reserves of ten thousand 
men into the battle. These reserves turned the scales dcciavely 
against the Marathas ; and their destruction was completed by 

the Afghan squadron of 1500 camel swivels, which wheeled 
round in three batches of 500 each, doing injnense dams^ at 
dose range. In the midst of such a terrific fight a stray bullet 

from a Zambtfrak struck Vishvasrao dead on his horse DHpak 
a little before three in the afternoon, This proved the ^gn 
for; the rot to set in. Bhau Saheb not bearing to see the 
sight of his dead nephew, placed him on an elephant and 
rushed headlong with his personal guards into the Afghan ranks 
until he quickly disappeared. This last half-hour witnessed a 
frightful carnage round the Peshwa’s According to the 

Hindu scriptures suffering death on the batlle field bestows 
merit on the warrior. Prom this point of view the Marathas 
certainly attained it by their supreme sacrifice at this last mo¬ 
ment. The disappearance of Bhau Salieb at once created a 

panic, and before four in the afternoon of that short 
January day, a general flight commenced with the deba- 
de consequent upon such an occasion. A srnall proportion 

of the oommon fighters and some of their leaders sudi 
as Malharrao Holkar, Damaji Gaikwad, Vithal Shivdeo 
and a few others made their way sa^ly out of the 
holocaust, when they realized that the day was lost. But the 
major portion of that vast array with their families and camp 
followers perished by the cold steel of the pitiless Afghans. 
The field was littered with the dead and the wounded of the 

helpless non-combatants, stragglers, bazaarmen, clerks, account¬ 
ants and others. Several ran back to the camp where there 
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was none to protect them and where the Af^uns cut down 
ss many as they could in the early waning moon-light of the 
fith aight of the bright half of Poush. The carnage continued 

the next day also. A few of the Marathas escaped towards 
Delhi, Rajputana and the country of the Jata. The Jat Rajft 
and his Rani Klahorl took tlie utmost care of these (ugitives 

providing them«with food, clothes, and re^dence and comfort¬ 
ing thc/u in their unspeakable sufTering. 

The balUe-field was examined the next day by Anupgir 
(»o«avf and Kashiraj under ioatructions from Simja-ud-daula. 
They discovered 32 large Iteaps of corpses, which when counted 

numbered 28 thousand* Countless corpses were besides found 
strewn on tliat vast plain, and the nooks of the jungles around. 
About 35 thousand were taken prisoners and slaughtered in cold 
blood by the heartleas Durrania. About $ thousand Maratha 
refugees and four hundred of the ofBceia trxJc shelter In Shuja- 

ud-daula'j{ camp. Tlie latter besides generously affording them 
all the protoedon he couki, despatched them under a strong 
escort Co Surajmal's dominion financing their journey from hi? 

own purse. The huge trench of Panipat wa? equally full ol 

dead bodies, and several wounded men succumbed to their 
wounds in the extreme cold of the night, It is estimated that 
nearly 75 tliousandMaratltaswerekilledinChis huge slaughter 

and some 22 thousand saved their lives by paying rajisom, 
Ibrahim Khan Card) and Jankoji Sind la ware captured 

wounded and .subsequently put Co death. Not much plunder 
could be secured by tlie enemy beyond some horaes and the camp 
equipage in Panipat. The dead bodies of Vi^vaarao and 

Bhau Saheb were recovered, properly recognized and given the 
due rites by Anupgir Oosavi, Kashiraj and others, for which 
conces^on Shuja pleaded with the Shah personally and paid 
the Abdall a considerarion of three lacs. Bhau Saheb's head 
was recovered from a Durrani trooper by the exertions of the 

Nawab and was burnt a day later. I^ashira} himself wrote 
letters to this effect to the Pesbwa. Bhau Saheb's wife Parvatibal 

returned, safe to Gwalior and joined the Peshwa near Bhilsa. 
The Afghan monarch Ahmad Shah commemorated his 

triumph by paying a visit the next day to the shrine of the 

Mufilim saint AU Kalandar in the Panipat village, wearing a 
gorgeous dress and jewels including the Koh-Unoor and offered 
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devout prayers for the great victory he had won. ThereaUer 
be struck his camp and started for DcDu where he arrived in 
three days, and camped outside the dly. On 29th January he 

made a formal entry into the city and took up his residence in 

the halls once occupied by Shah Jahan and hid successors, hold- 
ina court in the Diwaji-i-KhaB after the fasliion of the MuRhal 
Emperors. Rut on account of various troubles he had no peace 

at heart and departed for his native country on 20th Mardi. 

The victor himself wrole the following account of this bat¬ 

tle to Raja Madho Sinh* 
“ The flame of ftghdng blaaed up and raged on all sides. 

The enemy Coo distinguished themselves and fought wi well, 

that it was beyond the capacity of other races. Gradually the 
hghtlng passed from llie exchange of cannon and rockeCHre to 
tlie discharge of muskets, from vrhsch ft proceeded Co the stage 
of combat with liwords, daggers and knives. They grasped 
each other by the neck, lltosc dauntless bloodaheddeist the 
Marathas) did not fall short in fighting and doing Kl^^rioua 
deeds. Suddenly the breeze of victory began to blow and as 
willed by the Divine Lord Ihe wretched Deccania suffered 
utter defeat. VIshsvasiao and tlie Bhau who had been 

fighting in front of my Waxir were slain and many 
other Sardars also on their side fell. Ibrahim IChan 

Gardi and hia brotlier were captured wounded. Bapu Tandit 
(Hingne) was taken prisoner. Forty to fifty thousand troopers 

and infantry men of the enemy b^ame as grass before our 
pitiless swords. It is not known wlicther Malhar and Janko 

have been slain or what else has happened to them. All the 
enemy's artillery, elephants and property have been seized by 
my men,’’* 

4. The victor's plight, conciliating the Peshwa.— 
During hJs residence of two months at the capital. Shah AbdaU 
confirmed the arrangement that Bhau Saheb had made, by de- 

A. sir JadundU; $«rksr, Mcdttn fievieu. Msy 1(M6. Iferc Abdiill 

dedn/icly nyt (hat SadtKhivrao wm slain : so all theories about the future 

pretender being the real S^’SSIhTvreo must SnsTat reel finally. 

S. Graphic dcecriptions of thk bloody battle have come down from 

tbc pen of many writem. Kmbfraya bai<har and the i'ho/t autoblofirvphy 

of Nana Phadnis can be reod with advantage. 
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daring Shah Alam Emperor, his son Jawan Bakht then at Delhi 
acting as the heir. He appointed Najib Khan to tbs post 

of Mir Balchshi and entrusted the management of the Empire's 
affairs jointly to him and Jawan Balcht. He refused to appoint 
Shuja-ud*daula as the Wazir, a reward which he was ai^ntly 

expecting from the Shah for the valuable part he had played 
as an ally In the recent struggle- Shuja felt this as a bitter hu¬ 

miliation and left abruptly for Lucknow on 7th March. 'This 
indeed in no way affected the Shah as he hardly cared now for 
the politics of India. He was now faced with an open mutiny 
of his own Afclian troops, who had received no pay for the last 
18 months of their aojourn in India. They had expected to go 
back rich and wealthy by the acqumtion of Indian spoil, but 
this could not be, as they had liltie cr no pl\inder this time, 
TTwy had not received even their i>ay, Their maintenance 
aIor;e cost the Shah as much as the Marathas or about a crore 
of Rupees per annum. The Maratha camp at Panipat was 
plundered, but hardly any thing valuable was found there as 

the Marathas had sold every bit of whatever could fetch i.hem 
food. The Shah himself lived in a gorgeous palace at Delhi 
apparently unconcerned about his return, while his troops 

were longing to go home fearing that as the Marathas were ex¬ 
pected to return headed by the Peshwa, another war would 
be inflicted on them, When the pressure of the clamour became 
severe, the Shah asked Najib Khan to procure nwney to pay 
his troops, as the IChan was now the sole custodian of the 
imperial affairs. Najib Kl^an urged his utter Iwlplessness in 
the matter of funds, and said he had already giv^ away all 

that he could possibly procure. He suggested that Sumjmal 
Jat should be attacked and made to yield treasure of which he 
possessed plenty. It meant another war, and the Afghan troops 
declared they would not move unless they received their past 
wages. The Shah could find no way out of the difficulty and 
decided upon returning home. He left Delhi on 20lh March 
and reached Afghanistan in May. 

After studying the movements and arrangements made 
by the Shah Abdali, let us review his attitude as it affected the 
Marathas. The grand victory of the Afghans and the cniahing 
defeat inflicted by them upon the Marathas. availed Uie vic¬ 

tor hut little- He never coveted the aown ol Delhi. His only 
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anxiety was to hol<l the rich province of the Punjab in order 
lo relieve the needs of his poor country, without undergoing 
the risk of interfering with the affairs of Delhi or the rights 
of the Marathas in that sphere, Had it not been for the per¬ 

sonal animosity of Najib Khan towards the Maratliaa, Uie 
dreadful struggle of Panipat would not have occurred at ah, 
But having goi^ the length of a stiff and costly war with the 

Marathas, the Shah was now anxious to close the bUteruesK 
that had been reused, and to eneui‘e in future that the Marathas 

should not molest him so far as the Punjab was concernul, 
And when he learned at Delhi that the Feshwa himself had 
arrived as far as Gwalior with large forces, and that the war 
might be renewed any moment now under conditions very 
adverse to him, with his own troops in open rebellion, he be¬ 

came impatient to arrive at an understanding with the Peshwa 
which iht Maratha agent Hingnc had already offered to bring 
about immediately on the Shah's arrival at Delhi, Bapuji 
Mahadev was sent for with this object within four days of the 
battle of Panipat; he writes, " I met the Shah ihrough liis 
Wasir Shah Vali Khan, and explained to him that the Pciihwa 
had no ilMeding towards liim, that he should safely march 
back to his country, and that he (Hingne) would undcrtnlce 
to effect a lasting peace between them. The Shah readily 
agreed to this proposal and at once asked Yakub All Khan 
to proceed to Gwalior and bring about a treaty of peace per¬ 
sonally with the Peshwa. The Shah gave his solemn cou^enl 
to the proposal and then decided to return to his country. 

When he reached Lahore^ he again sent pre^^sing instructions 
to Yakub All Khan not to delay the subject of a lasting peace 

Had the Peshwa boon Ui his normal health menially, a 

treaty cmiJd have been at once arranged: but even here the 
trouble arose partly throxjgh Najib Khan, who was now ex¬ 
posed to the vengeance of the Marathas, and partly tlutmgh tho 
stunning blow which the whole Maratha nation and their 
northern policy had received on the fatal 14th January. 

Several precious months were wasted In gathering the 
actual facts, even as r^rds the fate of Bhau Saheb himself. 
For a time no Maratha general dared to come to Delhi and 
meet the Afghan monarch. If Malharrao Holkar and Naro 
Shankar had rwnained at Delhi or come back as soon as Hlngno 
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called them, the peace nfigotiations would noc have been de¬ 
layed. On 23rd March the Peshwa wrote to “ I am en- 
dosing my replies to the letters received /rom the Shah AbcUli 
and his Wazir Shah Vail Khan and delivered here by their 

agent Gulraj, I am now deputing Anwanilla Khan and Hus¬ 
sain Muhammad Klian to negotiate peace with the Shah. I 
have authorized Malharrao Holkar to conclude the !%ubject. 
You must now deal directly with HoUcar and accept bis deci¬ 

sion. I want you to take Cull counsel with these two advisers, 
Anwamllah and Husain Muhammad, OJiiJ continue to keep 
me informed of tiie progress of the negotiations, Where is the 

Shah Abdali now ? Has Ghazi-ud-din interviewed him ? 
Please write all deUlls." 

The Peshwa repeated the same query on 6th April to 
Hingne and asked. ''Who is now the Padshah at Delhi, who is 
the Wazir, why baa Abdali left so abruptly, what are now ibe i 
de&gns of Ghazi-ud-din and the rest?" The PesViwa added, 
'' Malharrao Holkar is now at Gwalior with large forces and [ 

will attend to our concerns in north India." i 
Early m May 1761 Gangadhar Yaslwant on behalf c4 i 

Holkar reported to the Peshwa, "before departing for bis home¬ 

land, the Shah gave definite instruclions in the presence of 
Hingne, to Shuja-ud-daula and his Puhela allies, that he Jiad 
effected a lasting peace with the Peshwa and that they ail 
^oulcl respect the latter's authority, which course alone would 
beneht tliem mast." The Peshwa cordially accepted the Sbah's 
proposal of deputing Yakub All to Poona with Hingne for 
fixing up the defnltc terms of a la^^tlng peace.’ 

This subject of peace came to be unavoidably delayed 

for nearly two years. The Peshwa himself died in June, giving 
rise to ^ unfortunate domestic dissension between die new 

Peshwa Madhavrao and his unde Haghunathrao. One point 
is thus as clear as day light that the field of Panipat, however 
dreadful to the Marathas on account of Che heavy death roU, 

decided wthing finally and only maintained the status quo 
ante so far as the Delhi politics was concerned.^ Abdali himself 

thus wrote to the Pe^wa, There is no real reason why there 

6. Hmtnt Fafitii I. 202, 20S, 207, 210. 

7, P. D, 2. 103, US end 21. 202. 
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should exist any il)>teeling between you and us; true, you have 
lost your son and brother in the unfortunate fight: but it was 

entirely provoked by Bhau Saheb and we could not act olher- 
wise than we did in sdf-de(«ice. However, we arc deeply 

sorry for these losses, We readily leave to you the subject of 

the imperial management of Delhi, provided you allow us to 
hold the Punjab up to the river Sallaj, and support Shah Alam 
as the Emperor. You must forget the regrettable events tJiat 
have taken place and entertain a lasting friendship towtircls \x$, 

which we are anxiously solicitinB<"" 

With such gestures and letters breathing a genuine spirit 

of conciliation and good will, the AbdaJl Shah sent his agent 
Gulraj to the Peshwa accompanied by the cuatomery dresses. 
Gulraj met the Peshwa in Malwa on lOth February 1761 and 
Gaugadhar Chandraebud was commiesioned to proceed to 
E>elhi and adjust matters. Thus a con&derable delay ensued, 
and the treaty of peace took nearly two years to be finally con* 

eluded, although the essential points had been discussed and 
determined before 20th March i.e., the day on which boih 
Abdali and the Peshwa le/t thetr respective statical for 
their homes. There was another strong reason for Abd:4i tu 
come to an immediate understanding with the Peshwa. The 

Sikhs had grown powerful in the Punjab and violently resisted 
Abdall's claim to that province. After Panipat the Shah Abdali 

had to come to the Punjab year after year and to return each 
time in discororuure after being molested and repulsed by the 
Sikhs. Ahmad Shah lost bis health and vigour in the vain at* 
tempt to conquer the Punjab, and the last few years of his life 
were for him sad and inactive. He suffered from a carbuncle 
which put an end ito his life on 14th April 1772, at the age of 48. 

In the mean time Abdali's agents Gulraj and Anand Ram 
had arrived in Poona, and the F^wa Madhavrao I put the 

final shape in Pebruary 1763 to a treaty of peace and good 
will. The Pftshwa sent dresses and a handw'mc elephant to 
the Shah from Poona, thus finally effacing the sad memories 
of the fatal day of Panipat.* 

8. Huioiy cj the SUfks by Dr. Hari Ram CupUi; Saritar s FoU of 
tki Muthol E^pin II, p. 379, 

9, Midliavraft RoinWli, 1. 1, 6, 7; AMituaik Tifinf. 1. 56. 
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5. The Peshwa breaks down in Bundelkhand.—Here 
we must go back and review the movements of the Peshwa 

during the four nwnths from October 1760 onwards* when his 
son and cousin were being hard-pressed at Panipat. He had 
received no news of any adverse occurrences in the north and 
was quite at ease as regards the affairs in that quarter, having 
provided everything that was needed for Sadashivrao's expedi¬ 
tion. As iisuai he left Poona at the Dassara time and prepared 
to march io the north for cqjiipleting the political settlement in 

that quarter, after Abdali had l)een expelled, as was fully expect¬ 
ed. The last letter that he received from Bhau Saheb was dated 14 

November, when the two opponents had just confronted each 
other at Panipat and a decision was momentarily expected. So 
without Che least concern the Peshwa moved leisurely to Ahmad- 
uagar and spent two months on the Godavari, but having 

received no news ol the northern affairs he was getting 
increasingly anxious every day about the fate of his armies and 
wrote to several persons asking for news. Suspecting some 

mishap he hurriedly left his quarters on the last day of 1760, 
with his brother Raghunathrao and another large army led by 
the two Bhoslc brothers, Gopalrao Patwardhan, Sadashiv Ram* 
Chandra, Yamaji Shivdev and others. On 9th January he sent 
back Raghuna&rao to watch the Nizam. On 18th January 
the Peshwa entered Malwa and at once wrote to Bhau Saheb 
asking him to hold the Abdali Shah until he himself arrived, 
when they could easily OTJsh him between the two armies. 
While in wait at Bhilsa for tidings, he intercepted a banker’s 
private messenger on 24th January, who was the bearer of s 

letter which indicated by metaphors relating to jewellery, that 
-something serious had happened to the Maratha host. Among 
other enigmatical expressions there were these words: **two 
pearls dissolved, twenty-five gold mohurs have been lost, and 
of the silver and copper the total cannot be cast up.” In due 

course furthtt* details reached him, telling how the Marathas 
having been cooped up in the entrenchment at Panipat were 
nearly starved and clamorously rushed forth Co ^hc and were 
ridden down by the superior weight of the Afghan army. The 
Peshwa retired to his tent literally with a broken heart, unable 

to endure the grief. Gradually news filtered to him daily as 

.streams of ill-fated men gradually returned in distress, but no 
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one fiiving full and satisfactory details as to what had actual¬ 
ly happened.**' 

For over a month a dreadful suspense prevailed in the 
Peshwa’s mind and in that of his followers. It was only in Feb¬ 
ruary when he met Nans Pursndare on his roturn from Paoipat 

that the Peshwa could get some reliable and tangible details 
of the fate that had overcome the Maratha army on Uth 
Januaiy. The death of his son and the complete destruclion 

of his huge splendid army plunged the Peshwa for a long lime 
into terrible grief, and the uncertainty was heightened by the 
reports that Bhau Saheb and Jankojl were returning wounded. 
It took at least two months more to prove the falaty ol these 
reports i but all the ^me it diverted the Peshwa's attention tc^ 

the immediate inquiry about the fate of those who were sup¬ 
posed to be ^:U alive. The shock itself proved too much (or 
the frail and declining constitudon of the Peshwa already 

stricken down by an incurable malady; and the idea of his pro¬ 
ceeding towards Delhi had to be given up. It was unfortunate 

that Malharrao and Naro Shankar left Delhi in a panic. Had 
they taken their stand at the capital, the Peshwa would have 
joined them and could have restored Maratha power at Delhi, 
having brought about a friendly understanding with the retir- 
ii^ Shah Abdali. The Peshwa proceeded north from Bhilsa ort 
7tb February and reached Pachhor about 32 miles further. 
Here he made a long stay, and after full dehberatiw retraced 
his steps to the south on 22nd March and passed through 
Indore on 6th April. The two months that the Peshwa spent 

near Bhilsa and SironI were not wasted. Maradia power and 
prestige were quickly re-established in Malwa, Buiideikhand 
and the Doab. Although the Peshwa himself was overcome 
with sorrow and affliction, tliere were men and captains about 
him, who did their best in restoring the Maratha rule which had 
been ahaken for a few months. Tlie panic-stricken leaders, 
MaJharrao Holkar, Naro Shankar, the Pawars and others who 

had left Delhi, without making a bold stand, were severely dealt 
with, all their possessioTis being confiscated for a few months,, 

and later restored to tlieir holders as soon as normal conditions 
l)egan to reappear. Malharrao HoUcar took the lead promptly 

20. Hej. 3. 2l0; 1. 26. 
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in restoring the lost Maratha pwestige. The leadii^ Rajput 

prince at this time was Madho Sinh of Jaipur. Malbarrao 
sternly demanded the arrears of tribute, which the Rajah re* 
fused to pay and prepared to resist by a recourse to arms. 

Malharrao look up the challenge readily and in a sanguinary 
action at Mangrol, 20 miles north east of Kotah, which lasted 
for two full days, 29th and 30th November 1761, Madho Sinh 

was completely humbled. Tliis one Instance dispelled all ru¬ 
mours of tJie Maratha power having vanished from north India, 
lly ihia timely sti'oke Malharrao regained his former glow of 
p^p^lige in Maratiia politics, lost by his precipitate flight fvcHn 
the field of Panipat. 

6. Review of the disaster_It is now over 180 years 
since the third battle of PanipaC was fought by the Marathas 
and it has made a permanent mark in the history of India. 
Patient and critical enquiry is still being persistently carried 

on by writers and students each trying in his own way to assign 
praise and blame. Let us here take a short dispassionate re¬ 
view of the whole struggle whidi proved so fatal to the Maialhas 
at Panipat, and properly assess the responsibility for that 

momentous result, 

Such an important affair as this national disaster could 
not have remained without a formal inquiry. IT stands to rea¬ 
son to suppose that the Peshwa Madhavrao I got a full and 

foiroal report prepared about the event dealing both with its 
antecedent and remote as well as immediate causes.^'^ These 

U. The two v«Juiiblc documents known m Uhau Saheb's KaiHyet and 
Bhau Saheb's Eakhar arc po«ibly the result of fiudv an enquiry instituted 
for the edi/icetion of (he future adcninlhtratw^ These two intcis practi* 
ea^ly aummarue ail the saBenL fcaturea ckquottly expreased for tbe aii^ 
predation of an average reader. Th^ ate evidently baaed on original 
meteriula. Kolkar and Naxo Shankar were pwvahed by the dying Pe^hwa 
lilmaelf for (heir dereliction, History Is often blind and cruel towards the 
authonc of a lost cause, and the vjetora usually win their case in public 
eHtimaclon. Recent research haa brought to light a large quantity of 
literature in Marathi and Pem&n particularly the three volumes 
S, 31 and 27 of the P. D, Selectims and the Purgndan Dctllsr 
volome 1, the excellent Persian aceounU of Kashira! and Kuruddin Hus¬ 
sain. letters In Raiwadc Volumes I and ^ along with tho dear reasoned 
analysis presented bySTjadunathSarkarinbisPalfo/ tfit AfwgAaf Empire. 
Volume 3, These will be found of immense help in ebd dating the subject 
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have been already made clear m the preceding pages. 

Maratha affairs in the north came to be mishandled by 
Raghunathrao, who could not compose the growing differences 
between the two leading chiefs Sindia and Holkar.''^ Sada* 

shivrao was mainly sent to set right past abuses, a task which 
he quickly and cfTectively executed. He was doubltes.s the 
Attest leader that the Maratha nation then possessed. He 

was respected and feared, and possessed uoninching conraK^. 
He was certainly often obstinate and liot-lempered, but (lie.se 
drav;^acks were the result of a genuine desire (o serve hts na^ 
tion. He had never before gone to the north, but this point he 

soon rnade up by constant inquiry and labour. Compared wUh 
his Afghan opponent, he must be reckoned inferior in gene* 

raiship being seven years junior to the Shah Abdali, who had 
possessed matchless experience ot warfare in central Asia, hav¬ 
ing received his training under Nadir Shah, the Napoleon of 

Asia, dealing with varied characters and rituationsi overcoming 
obstacles of flooded rivers, difficult mountains and human ec¬ 
centricities. This is well illustrated by the cool and patient 
manner in which Abdali managed every detail of this campaign, 
and the way in which he soon dexterously turned a crifical 
situation ageing his opponents. He took possession of die 

Jamima and assured for his army plentiful supplies from the 
country beyond, having cleverly succeeded in besiepng the 
Marathas in their cntrondied camp. 

Malharrao Holkar and others had suggested to Bhau Saheb 

to keep the women ar^ the non-combatants behind somewhere 
near the Chambal or pear Mathura : the rejection of this pre¬ 

caution prowsd disastrous. He encumbered himself with an un¬ 
necessarily large number of non-combatants at least three times 

» that of the actual t^hters. If he had not been so hard 
pressed to feed tlw large number, the starvation would not 
have been so acute. 

We can here thus summand the main 

tha disaster at Panipat: (1) RaghunatHrSa failure* to main- 

V J . 

uses of the Mara- 

12. Tb$ hlcnself never went to the north after the drslh of 

Shohu. He could mtily have gone there during 1759, when lharc was no 

major iseue in the Deccan to occujjy hfa attention. 

• / 'V\ < 
^ 3 

tO 
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tdin order and disdpline among Maratha agents in the north; 

(2) the failure of Holkar to restrain Najib Khan from doing / 
mischief; (3) the Peshwa's failure to go to the north and ad* / 
just matters when it was yet time to mend them. These were . 
the antecedent causes. The immediate causes were (4) the ' 

failure of Bhau Saheb with Dattaji Sindia's example before his , 
eyes, to keep women and non-combatants behind at Bharatpur ^ 
or even at Delhi at the time when he left that place to advance > 

upon Kunjpura; (5) as noon as the two armies came face to > 
face about tlie last day of Octo))er, Bhau Saheb should have at 

ojice attacked Abdali and maiuUined communications with his 
at Delhi. He wasted two and a half months on the 

defetwive in a befueged camp until starvation compelled him to 
make the Iasi desperate el^rt for escape. But we have now 

no means of knowing why Bhau Saheb w^ted so long, (6) 
And the lai«t adrninating point was reached, when Bhau Saheb 
finding Vi^vasrao kiiled, rushed headlong into the fight, per¬ 

haps under the impression, " after me the delx^." (7) One 

serious handicap from which the Marathas suffered may be 
noticed in passing. The strength of the Maratha fighter was 

in his horse. It was his horse that gave the strer^th of mobi¬ 
lity to the Maratha army. Bhau Saheb commanded at Panipat 
K large body of the finest troops that ever went out from the 

south, But during the months of starvation in his besieged 
camp, most of the horses died, compelling all troopers to play 
the role of infantry for which they Were not trained. This 
drawback could not be remedied. 

One school of critics argue that the Marathas lost the 
day at Panipat because they gave up their traditional method 

of guerilla warfare. But such a view has no basis in 
fact. It is doubtless true that ft was this method which en* ^ 
abled the Maratha nation in the last century to rise above 
others. But this warfare was suited only to the hilly r^ons 
of the Deccan plateau; it could not be effective in the vast 
plains of northern India, where not a single natural barrier 
exists from the Indus to the Bay of Bengal- Nor were the 
Marathas at home in these foreign regions, the inhabitants of 

which were not only strangers but positively hostile to them. 
To obviate these defects Bhau Saheb equipped himself with an 
efficient artillery, with which he reduced Ddhi and Kimjpura. 
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The situation so changed on the last day at Panipat that the 

same artillery proved an encumbrance. 

7. Significance of the disaster.—It is a popular mis¬ 
take of longstandir^ to supposethatthe third battle of Panipat 

destroyed the Maratha pow^ in the north or that it easenliaily 

^ook the Maratha Empire of India. Notwilhxtiindjjig the 

terrible iosses in man pemer sulTered on that field by the Ma- 
rathas, the disaster decided nothing. In fact it puslied forward 
in the‘'dllfafff‘ae^l two proniment members of the dominant 
race, Nana PhacinLs and Mahadji Sindla, both miraculously 

escaping death on that fatal day, who resuscitated that power 
to its former glory. Not long after Uie baiUc of Panipat the 
Maratha power began to prosper again as te/ore and continu¬ 
ed to do so for forty years, until the deatli of Mahadji Siixlia 

or until British supremacy was establislied early in the 19Ch 
century by the second Maratha ^ar (1803). The first set back 

the Maratha power received was by the premature death of 
thdr greatest Peshwa Madhavrao, which enabled the British 
power to come forward so easily on the stage of history and 
dispute Indian supremac}' with the Marathas for a (quarter of 
a century. The disast^ of Panipat was indeed like a imtural 
visitation destroying life, but leading to no decisive political 
consequences. To maintain that the disaster of Panipat put an 

end to the dreams of supremacy cherished by the Marathas, 
is to misunderstand the situation as recorded in contemporary 
documents. The truth is correctly stated by a learned scliolar 
who asserts that, 

" The fall ol the Angrias (1756) and tl»e disaster of Pani¬ 
pat (1761) freed the British from the thraldom of insidious 
neighbours and hastened their rise.’'“ This is indeed the in- 

direi^ but important consequence of the Maratlia disaster. 
Instead of this event crushing Maratha aspirations for good, 
it certainly gave them a new strength and a fresh vigor in their 
efforts to establish supremacy over the Indian continent. Their 
mettle was severdy tested and found to be as vigorous as ever 

before. In the midst of the extreme misery and distress of the 
beleaguered camp, there was absolutely no sign of panic or re- 

13. OersDii da Cunha’a Ofitm o} Bombay. 
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volt, no wail of despair or defeat. Bhau’s courage inspired every 
soul to supreme exertion, and even after the final rout, people 

wrote and spoke of the event as if they svere heroes- The 
Marathas liave been a practical people possessing a tein* 

perament which never was overenthused under victory or 
<jushed under disaster. Writes Maj. Evans Beil, “The battle of 
Panipat was a triumph and a glory for the Marathas. They 

firtiitht in the cause of "India for the Indians,” while the great 
Muhammadan Princes of Delhi, of Oudh and the Deccan stood < 

iifude, intriguing and trimming, And though the Mai'athas 
were defeated, tlie victorious Afghans retired and ^er again 
interfered in the aHnirs of India." 

It Ls significant that while the two combatants, the Mara- 
tbas and the Muslims, were locked in a deadly combat on the 
field of ancient Kurukshetra, Clive the first founder of the Bri¬ 
tish Empire in India, was on his way to England to explain 
the feasibility of his dreams of an Indian empire to the Great . 

Commoner Lord Chatiiam, tlien the Prime Minister. Panipat 
indirectly ushered in a iiew participant in the struggle for 
Indian supremacy. This is indeed the direct outcome of thal 

historical event, which on that account marks a turning point 
in the history of India. 

Oppressed by the Waair Ghaai-ud-din’s vulgar ambition 

and relentless ferocity, tlie Crown Prince All Gauhar was com¬ 
pelled to flee from Delhi in May 1758 and seelc safety in exile. 
The Wazir’s foolish measures brought down on his head and 

on his Maralha confederates the wrathful in\'asion of Ahmad 
Shall Abdali, and led to the prolonged ©ntest between the two 
for the mastery of the Punjab and the paramountcy over Hin¬ 

dustan. It finally culminated in the Maratha rout at Panipat 
two years later. This absort^ng contest made it impossible for 

the Wsujir and his Maratha allies to take note of the political 
revolution that had come over Bengal by the battle of Plassey 
and its sequel. The English ma'chants were thus enabled to 

make a successful bid for the position of King-makers in Ben¬ 
gal and Bihar, and to use the power thus acquired to cleverly 

throw dieir net of supremacy over the whole land, The ignor¬ 
ant and mutually quarrelling Indian chiefs failed to realize the 
significance of these British activities and the meaning of their 
political and territorial ambition. AH Gauhar, Shuja-ud-claula, 
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Surajpial, Ghazi-ud^Jin, Najib Khan, Raghunathrao, Malhar- 
rao Holkar, each and all vuuccustanfid tn Like tong views, 

could not appreciate the trend of the epoch-making events that 
were happening in Bengal and in the Kamatak. They all 

wasted their energies in perscmal squabbles at Delhi. 

The battle of Panipat waft fought on I4lh January 1761. 

The very next day the Mughal Emperor Shah Aiam in his 
effort to recover Bengal sustained a severe defeat on the river 
Son at the hands of the British forces led by Major Carnac. 
Shah Alain’s French crflicers were taken prisoners and be had 

to throw himself on the British protecdon, The day after this 
event, that is on the 16th January, Pondicherry, the rival of 

Madras, fell into BriUsh hands, thereby smashing the French 

power in India. These three days proved momentous in deter¬ 
mining the future fate of this country. The Peshwa sank &> his 
grave under the blow of Panipat, and for a few years the Bri¬ 
tish had no rival on the horizon. The tone of their behaviour 

and correspondence markedly changed frttfn the days of the 
Peshwa Bajirao I to those of Madhavrao, as the missions of 
Gordon and Price amply testify. The rise of Haidar AJi 

in the South was also the direct result of Che Maratha 
roijt at Panipat. 

If these broad political issues of the Indian situation are 
kept out of sight, Panipat in itself brought to the Marathas 

a unique experience in pplitics and war, and brightened 
their naticmal pride and sentiment, as nothing elHe could 

have done. The disaster instead of damping tJieir spirits, 
made Uienv shine higher as, when a. nation is on the 
path of advancement and progress, such ups and downs 

are inevitable. Such valiant soldiers as Daltaji, Jankoji, Ibra¬ 
him Khan, Sadashivrao and Vishvasrao did M die in vain. 
They left their mark on the fortunes of their nation and pre¬ 
pared it for a greater effort such as the young Peshwa Madhav- 
rao actually put forth- Out of death cometh life, is only too 

AltfHMjgh one genei^oh; the oldri* one, was cut off, the 
‘younger generation soon rose to take its place and perform the 
nation's service as before. The disaster was felt as personal 

by almost every home in Maharashtra, and every soul was stir¬ 
red by it to rise to the nation's calls. 
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8. Tlie Pcshwa's last days_Tn view of his ruined 
health it was decided that the Pejiiwa should return to Poona, 
He left Pachhor on 22nd Mardi and after crossing the 

Narmada and the Tapti, performed his lather's death 
anniversary rites at Tolca on the Godas'ari on 16th May. At 
the Narmada he fainted and was luckily saved from drowning. 
Here he was welched tixxi found to be 4568 tolas or about IH 

llw., wbiJc six years l)ofore his weight was 178 Ibs.'^ As his son 

Narayanrao Juid an allack of small-pox, the l)oy with his 
mother was left hehiad and the Peshwa reached Pooiia about 
r)th June. Here lhirusht>tlamrao l^twa'^liuin remained in at¬ 

tendance and managed to humoui* him. Hi» once robust body 
had now become cxlremdy emaciated; his memory faltered; 
hia temper had become irritable so that his filends and advisers 

dreaded to appear before him and avoided all talk with him. 
He unwittingly gave out stale secrets to those who came to see 
him. On 121h June he left the Shaniwnr ]jalace and took his 

lodgings in a house on tlie PanTiti hill, wliere be expired in 
the early part of the night of Tuesday 23rd June. The fune¬ 

ral took place at the new wocxlen bridge.’*' After the funeral 
ritea were over, Madhavrao received the Peshwa’s robes from, 
the Chhalrapali at Satara on I7th July, 

^ Balajirao had two wives Gopikabai and Radhabai. By 

the former he Iiad three sons Visltwasrao, who died at Panipat, 
Madhiwnu)’who succeeded him, and Naraynnrao who succeed¬ 

ed* Madhavrao came to be murdered. SadashiNTao's wife 

Parvatibai returned safe from the battkrxeld of Panipat and 
died on 16th August 1783. 

-^9. Balaji Rao's diaractcr.—Peshwa Balajirao was 
certainly more fortunate than his father and grandfather 

in both his surroundings and the instruments whidi came 
ready to his hand. The political performance of the first 

four Peshwas is rightly considered unique in Indian history, 
inasmuch as they not only rapidly expanded the limit 

U. Nana Ftiadnts in hia autobiography gives interasUng details ol 

ibe PcMiwe'a health aa be was with hiin part of the way. 

15, Kaj. Vol. 6. 416; P, D. 18. 163. Pitranlore Oc/la?. Vo). 1; 
Oulnia bakha; of Ramraje. 

M. H. TI--S0 
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of the Maratha Empire far beyond the dreams of those who 
valiantly fought the war of Independence against Aurangzeb, 

but they certainly gave to Maharashtra and the territories they 
subjugated outside* a humane and benign rule in severe contrast 

with the rapacity and anarchy Ibat set in after that Emperor's 

death- The main credit for establishing a sagacious and healUiy 
adfliinistration over vast territories goes to this third Peshwa, 
whose solid and vstlal work conducted with patient toil for 

years unfortunately came to be clouded by the sad and sudden 
erwi which closed his all too short career, With all his laulLs 
and failures we can certainly accept in substance the judgment 
pronounced about him by discriminating writers. 

One contemporary opinion runs thus : " Balajipant Nana 
secured the affection of the great Chhatrapati Sh?diu and pro¬ 
moted in the service of the State all those who had been select¬ 
ed and raised to high positions by his father and uncle. He 
enccur^d talent wherever he detected it, and bestowed tides, 
gifts and honours upon those who exhibited valour and ropaci* 
ty. With a heart disposed towards public welfare, he manned 
the services with highly qualified individuals. Sardars and 
people undertook adventures and carried out grand conquests. 
His sweet, conciliatory and forgiving ways conquered the hearts 

even of his enemies* His conquests extended from Rameshwar 
to Indra-Prasta. Nana Saheb .and Bhau Saheb were both 
incanjatiofls of divine qualities.”** 

So long as the benign hand of Sliahu was at his back, 
Nana Saheb succeeded in holding together several dis¬ 

cordant elements, but after the death of that monarch, 
be was confronted with serious political complications 
arising one after another, and thereafter his weakness ol 
character and consequent failures became glaring. Afte^ 

Shahu’s death he removed the Maratha administration from * 
Satara to P^wna, thieiiby incufnr^'tKe'cHir^or^urpation 
against his master the Qibatrapati. In the northern affairs he 

could not compose the differences between the chiefs Holkar 
and Sfndia and allowed them a free hand against the Rajputs, 
who thus became estranged. He did not take steps to set 

right the mismanagement created in that sphere by his bro- 

16. Peiliwa bakhar in R«j,, Vo). 4 and ths bakl*Br erf Bhau Saheb. 
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ther Raghunatbrao. For a-usliing Tulaji Angria, this IPeshwa 

called in the help ot the British who soon proved too strong 
/or hjja He lost control of affairs towards the end of his 

career, and died in a demented state deeply mourning the 

deaths of Vislivasrao and Bhausabeb. 
Bfllajirao was a man of refined tash*, fond ol leading 

a luxurious life and enjoying splendour and U« fine arts. 
During his regime the social life of Maharaslilra underwent 

great changes in various directiom;. The Mamtlia camp lile 
rajxdly lost its oiiginal rudeness and simplidiy, and fashioned 

itsilf on Uie enervating spletKaour of the imperial court, it is 
•diflicult to estimate correctly Uic financial position of the Mani- 
tha Stale under him, The public debt Is reckoned by one au* 
Lliority to have been about 17 iacs at tlie time of llie Peshwa’s 
death; other students have calculated ft at nbout a cioi^e of 
Rupees, But fifty lacs will be an unreasonable figure, by 
no mean* discreditable to his administration. The Peoltwa was 
an expert in accounts and pcnmansliip, and exercised strict con* 

trol over receipts and expenditure. Public servants were train* 
ed in a special institution of the Secretariat called the Phad. 

where Nana Phadnis himself received his trainft^. 

The Pesliwa perauasive methods both in diplomacy 
and war rather than force. It is wrong to charge him with a 

predilection for his own caste. He treat^ all castes equally and 
laid down the principle of equal treatment and impartiol 

patronage for ail. Nevertheless as the Peshwas were intipiate 
with their Brahman relations and ft'iends, it fs quite true that 
the latter received much, though not cxclusiv? altention and 

encouragement. With all the stortcomlngs and mistakes of his 
rule, Balajiraq will ctttainiy be remembered y on^ the 

four great Peshwas, who extended Mara&a rule pracdcally 
throughout India. 

Sir Richard Temple thus summarises Balajlrao's charao* 
ter: " Balaji’s character was formed on the same lines as that 

of his father, and his dispo^tion moved in the same direction. 
But though a man of Wilful address, of influence in counsel 
and of ability in the field, he waa inferior to his father both 
as a soldier and as a politician. He well knew how to 
the talents of those ^urhlm, and some of his greatest suc¬ 

cesses wCTe won for him by his lieutenants. Still he was ever 
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to the front, organizing or supervising and he saw the Mamllia 
power attain its zenith. It was under him that the Maratlia 

cavalry fully oi». hundred thousand strong could truly hoast 
that they had ,|lak^ their thirst in every stream tliat flowed 

between Cape Comorin and the Himalayas. But he did r»oC 
'^TaKe, perhaps he was not capable of taking, any steps for ren¬ 

dering this widely extended dominion advantageous to the peo¬ 
ple. He allowed Maratha rule to continue to be what it h;id 
been from the first, nY)re an organization of plunder than a 
system of administration. Personally he was lULscrupulous In 

this respect, .rnorally inferior to his father grand father."^’ 

Grant Duffs opinion is more balanced ; ^'Balaji Bajirao 
was one of those princes whose good fortune originating in 
causes anterior to their time, obtained in consequence of na¬ 
tional prosperity, a higher degree of celebrity than they may 

fully merit. He was a man of considerable political sagacity, 
of polished mannere and of great address. The territory under 
the immediate care of the Peshwa had been in a progressive 
state of improvement. Balajirao appointed fixed M?imlafclar« 
or Subahdars each of whom had charge of sc^’eral disfricts. 
They held absolute charge of the police, the revenue and the 
dvil and criminal judicature and in most cases had power of 

life and deatli. The commencement of a better system of ad¬ 
ministration particularly for Maharashtra is ascribed to Ram- 
chandra Baba Shenwee and after his death Sadashivrao im¬ 
proved on his suggestions. A Shasttee of respectability named 
Balkrishna Gadgil was appointed head of the Poona Nyaya- 
dhishl or court of justice, and the police was much invigorated 

at the capital. Under the Government of Balajirao, Panclufyuls, 
the ordinary tribunals of civil justice began to improve. The 
Maratha dominion attained its greatest extent under Balajirao's 
administration and most of tlie piincipal Brahman families 
can only date their rise from that period. In short tlic txindi- 
tion of the whole population was in his time improved and the 
Maratha peasantry sensible of ihe comparative amelioration 
whicli they began to enjoy, have ever since blessed the days of 

Nana Saheb Peshwa.'’»* 

17. Orfentnl Experience, P. S92, 

18. Volume 2, P, 157. 
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Kincaid adds some interesting touches i—Of all his 
cities Balaji loved Poona best- He spent vast sums in attract¬ 
ing to it learned scholars, devout Brahmans and famous poets. 
He encouraged trade, built fountains, improved roads artd creat¬ 
ed fresh peths or quarters. Sada^iv Peth and Narayan Petit 
arc still populoua and fashionable. He greatly improved the 
lake at Katraj and planted innumerable trees on Ihe roads to 
Theur, Aland! and Ganeshkhind. But the monument that to¬ 
day most vividly recallR to the viator's mind this magnlftcent 
prince is U\c Parvati Hill Before Balaji’s dme a tiny temple 
to I^rvnti crowned its summit and ihe shrine had acquired the 

reputation of curing rick people. Once Gopikabai suffering 
from a sc»‘c Itccl, went to see hill Goddess and was cured. 
Her husband io sluw his gratitude erected the noble lempio, now 
known ns l>cvn'deveriiwar. After Shahu's death Balah ^aced 

in it Uic Padtikat or sandals of Shahu and thas the hill became 
a monument of the Maratha king, In the plain to the south 

the Peshwa gave great feasts and distributed cliarlty. while to 
the north he built another tempid on the hill to the God Vishnu 
and on the 11th of every month he went regularly to worship 
at the Vishnu's shrine. liKieed he so loved the hill IhaC he 

built a palace there and when he felt deadi coming near, it 
was to the Parvati Hill he went to dee. The far^ of Balaji 
Peahwa resounded from the Indus river to the southern seas."^* 

'18. ffisiory fff ikf Mar. Volunw III, pp. 78-77. 





CHRONOLOGY 

CHAFfER XXIT 

1745, I^cbruary JC 
1755, nw. 

JuJy 0 

17G1. July 2Cl 
17()1, ScjJt. 29 
17(>1, Nov. 29^30 

17(51, Nw. 

iTBI, Dlc. i5 

17(52, January 5 
1762, JaDuary 7 
1762, March 
17(52, June 

1762, July 

1762. August 22 j 
17C2, S«'i)t.*Ocl. 

1762, November 7 
1762, Nov. 12 

1762, Nov. 21 

1762, Dec. 6 
1762, Dec. 

1762, Dec. 29 

Mndbavrao born, 
MudiiuviTu) irtamcd to Kaiikabai. 

All (icix»cfi S»lal)jiL appoints 

ViUuil Suiidar his ininisler. 
Madhavjvio receives n>l)(M d I’cshwashtp. 

Mailiaviiiu ILolkar's wife Gautafnabai dies. 
lloikar rciutK Madlioslith at Mnngrol. 

Nisam All's nggruseicji upon Pbona; Toka 
and other holy places mvjiged; Shriprnda 
dug up. 

Nizam AU occupies Chas and comes to Uruli 
witcre he is routed. 

Raghunathr&o makes peace with Nizam Ah. 

Madhavrab proceeds to Kamatak. 
Malharrao HoJkar arrives Irom Malwa. 
Madliavrao entrusts Mirai to the Patwar* 

dhans. 
Poona Court torn by factions. 
Raghunathrao flees to Wadsaon. 
Rnghunatlirao al Vinchur, prepares to oppose 

Madhavrao: Nizam Ah and Janoji Bhoeic 

join Ikim. 
Indecisive action on the Ghod river. 
Madhavrao being doTcalcd at AJegaon aulv 

mits to Raghunathrso and k confined. A 
memorable assemblage of iv^atha Chiefs. 

Raghunathrao reetores to Nizam AU all the 

territory ceded by him at Udgir ; he maltea 
fresh appointments to offices. 

Haghunathrao leaves Alegaon for Satara. 
Raghunathrao makes Ramchandra Jadhav 

Senapati and liia own infant son Pratlnidhl 

Raghunathrao invests Mirai ; Mahadji Sindia 
and Damaji Gaikwad join him. 
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I763v February 3 

1763» Fcbniaiy 9 

1763, March 

17S3, March 10 

1763, April-June 

1763, May 10 

1763, Aug. 0 

1763, August 10 

1763, Sept. I 

1763. Sept, 0 

1763, Sept. 23 

1763, October 

1763, October 26 

Miraj surrendered, 

Nisacn All and Janoji Bhosic meet at (>ul* 

barga*. Vithal Sundar and Gamaji Y.'nnoji 

join the confederacy. 

Raghunathrao and the Maratha Chiefs !(>rin 

a union to oppose the Ikostile cniifedcrucy, 

Raghunathrao comes u])on Autiingabad : IIH- 

kar Joins him ; Ramchandra Jadliav arrest¬ 

ed ; war started Nixam Ali. 

Mutual territory between Burhanintr and 1 Ini- 

derabad ravaged ; Poona sacltud :uid burnt. 

The Marathas at Mcdak near Ilaidnrabad. 

Maratha armies at Majalgaum. 

Battle of Rakahasbhuvan: Vtlhal Sundar 

IdJled; Nisam’s army annihilated. 

The Pesbwa crosses the Godavari and 

threatens Nizam Ali. 

Salahat Jang beheaded by Nizam Ali. 

Treaty of Aurangabad ; the Peshwa gets back 

aJl the restored terrfcoiy. 

Madhavrao returns victoiious to and 

resumes authority. 

Mahadji Sindia meets tlie Pcshw.i on ilM» 

Godavari; Haghunatlirao repairs to Kasik. 
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CItAFTER XXII 

s MADHAVRAO COMES INTO HIS OWN 

{1761-17(53} 

1 Nbeam AJl'n MiAck upon Htc :tssc;nhJ«^c of Alc|9c»ti. 
PcHtnfi. 4 Marailut'NJam luMtIU«Qti. 

i Civil War. i\n3 P«slnv» ^ TSc dcci^iiui Hf)ksh4a* 
dtffeMcd. hhuvan. 

1. Nizam Ail's Atcack upon Poona.—^It had generally 
been agreed Ixifore the death ol Nanasaheb P«hwa that his 
son Madhavrao, lJu2n sixteen years of age. ^hnulcl succeed him 
in the Peshwaship and conduct the administration under the 
guidance of his unde Raghunathrao. Another person of the 
young Pesliwa's family who sought to guide liis counsels, was 

his mother Gopikabai. a self-aasertive lady, who bad witness¬ 
ed the march of events in the State since the days of the great 
Bfijirao. 

Itaghunathrao was of a weak and vadilnting nature, self- 

indulgent and shamelessly sensual ; his past mismanagement 
of the affairs of north India was a proof of his unfitness for 
the arduous task of guiding the State at this critical moment. 

He was, however, so vaio-glorious as to boast that if he had 
been in command at Panipal, he would have won the day. 

It ia no wonder that he now attempted to obtain the Peshwa- 
ship for himself and immediately address letters to the 

Emperor and to Shuja-ud'daula outlining his plana and seek 
Ing their support But these dreams of Raghunathrao were 

doomed to failure, as not a si:^ person in the administra¬ 
tion would support his nomination to the Peshwaship in 
8uper«8sion of young Madhavrao’s claim. He had to fall in 

reluctantly with the general sentiment- Madhavrao proceed¬ 
ed to Satara, as soon as the obsequies of the dead 

Peshva were over, and <» 20th July received the robes of office 
at the hands of the Chhatrapati. This proved an ominous start 
and foreboded stormy weather ahead. Pagliunathrao had to 

remain sullenly content with the position of a mere adviser 
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having no real power- A letter of 6th July written with¬ 

in a fortnight of the late Peshwa'e death, recorded that "difli- 
cult arc ahead. Sakharam Bapu and Baburao Phadnis 

are conducting the provi^onai admimstration". 
If lUghunathrao had honestly accepted his trust and 

willingly co-operated with hia nephew, the general almospherc 

and the political situation were indeed favounible lo such a 
couree. The defeat at Panipat and llie terriWe carnage lliat 

followed it, rankled deep in the heart of the nation and mailc 
Ihem forget their petty diiTcrcnces and close Uieir riuiks* 
They were only too anxious to wipe <mt the igmsniny of 

Che defral and avenge deaths of their leaders and relatives. 
A wise and t^solutc leader would have at once directed this 

spirit of villing sacrifice and selfless service of Che nation into 
fruitful channels. The departure of Abdali to his country 
after expressing a sincere desire to gain the Pe&hwa’a friend¬ 

ship, had left the northern field completely open. But Baghu- 
nairao's attitude from the beginning was averse to any pa¬ 
triotic move for undwng the results of Panipat. A strong self¬ 
less leadership was not to be expected from such a feeblc-mi tid¬ 
ed egotistical man, who found himself in the position of a 

guardian of a young prince. He selfishly directed his efforts to 

an internecine struggle with his nephew, which ultimately 
ruined both him and his country. 

A newsletter says, "Upon reaching Poona Raghunathrao 

began to ignore the young Peshwa and conduct every mailer 
of arlnunistration himself. But Madhavrao was not to be ao 
ea^y silenced." Thus arose an unpleasant position in which 
the Peahwa'g mother and her parliaarw ranged tUemselvei? 
in a strong party opposing R'rao's measurea, a development 

which was soon reported to the Nizam's Court, giving it an 
opportunity to profit at the expense of the Marathas. At 

this time Nizam All had attained predominance in the counsels 

of SaJabat Jang and started forcibly to ivicaplure the rich dis¬ 
tricts of the Ratchur Doab which had been ceded lo Ihe 
Maralhas by the treaty of Udgir. To counter this move ^ 

Madhavrao and R’rao proposed an attack upon Aurangabad^ 
in their sore need of funds they melted personal ornaments 

and the gold and silver vessels of household use to mint money. 
They also sent urgent calls to Damaji Gaik wad and Malhar- 
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rao Holkar to come to Poona with aJl expedition, as they were 
the only two leader? who had escaped safely from the disaster 

of Fanipat, and who were {sxperioiiced elders whose word 
carried weij'ht, Malharrao was, however, prevented hy ctreum 
stances from leaving his station io Malwa. He was charged 
with die duty of preservirut Maratha prwtige in nortli India 

and arriinging Uic treaty of peace with Abdali. liis wife 
(JauUmabni diwl at Inckni? on 29lli September 1761 and the 
nvmrnini; and funeral rilCK occupied M&]harrao'>« attention 

for u lime. IIo had u war on hfs hand against Madhoslnh 
of Jaipur and v'lnle eng^ua'd in the oiKraliorw he received 
wounds in the battle of Mangml (29 Novcjnbcr), which kept 
him con lined \o betl. It was oniy in March 1762 that Malhar- 
ra<j could mch I'^oona. 

The clisRraa* of Udgir enftwed at Nizam AU's heart, ard a? 
St Km as the ralas were over, he marched directly upon Poona 

nl [ht head uf a powerful anny of wxty thousand men, with 
a determined intention to capture the nerve-centre of Uie 
Maratha power and to prostrate it pennancntly. Fire and 

desolation marked the trail of Nisam All's invading forces. 
By destroying Toka and Pravara-Sangam, two great centres of 

Hindu religious sanctity, in November, he added fierce fanatU 
ci^ to Ills political aims. He dug up Sindia'a palaces at 
ShriRondn for obtaining hidden treasum. The cnerace so 

quickly approached Poona, that it then created a scare, ui 
consequence of which the Peshwa’s family and scpme of the 
general populace removed themselves for safety to Lohgad, 

Purandar, Sinhagad and other places. 

At this trying moment Madhavrao and his uncle sent 

urgent calls to Janoji Bhosle and other Sardars to join the 
Peshwa's standard, so that a force of about seventy thousand 
was assembled by the end of October. With this army tliey 

at once moved to oppose the en^y and bring him to submis¬ 

sion. Avoiding a general action, they harassed the progress of 
the enemy at every turn, and wore down his spirit in several 
skirmishes which took place at Ahmadn^ar, Shrlgonda, Hivre 

and Bhuleshvar on the enemy’s route toward? Poona. On Sth 
December Nizam Al! occupied Chas* 20 miles north of Poona 
and pudied on to Urull less than one day’s march from that 

capital. Here his advance was halted. His devastation of the 
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places of sanctity had already estranged his Maratha subordv 
nates and sedition was being successfiiJIy employed in liis 
ranks. Ramchandra Jadhav and Mir Mughal, Niiajn Ali's Ixt)* 

ther, deserted him and came over to the Peshwa. This defec¬ 
tion in his forces created a serious sitfiation lor Nizam AU, 

who came to be practically surrounded at Uruli and was com* 
pelled to beg lor terms to secure his retreat. 

At this time the selfish Raghunativao, who then guided the 

affairs on behalf of the minor Peshwa, showed undeserved 
mercy and dosed willi Nizam Ali's offer “to surrender teni* 

lory worth forty lacs." The Peshwa wrote to his mother on 
5 January 1762, " We had humbled Nizam Aii and complelely 
overwhelmed him, when he made overtures for peace through 

his brother and Ramchandra Jadhav, who had already joined 
us.” The predpltate conclusion of peace by Raghunathrao 

was highly resented by most ol the prominent leaders assem* 
Wed on the occasion, such as Gopalrao Patwardhan, Trimbak- 

rao Pethe, Babuji Naik, Janoji Bhosle and others, who »n8i- 
dered it a ^endid opportunity of humbling the troublesome 
Nizam AJi. The atmosphere in the Maratha camp became sur¬ 
charged with suspicion and completdy destroyed whatever cor¬ 
diality had at first existed between the Peshwa and his unde. 

Raghunathrao was openly accused of harbouring ill will towards 
hia nephew and of securing the good will of Nizam Ali, aa 

a potential ally in a future contest for the Peshwaship, which 
the uncle was then secretly plannii^ to secure. Gopikabal 
and the Patwardhans openly accused R’rao's Diwan Sakharam 

Bapu, as the author of a secret understandir^ between 
Nizam AU and Raghunsthrao. 

2. Gvil War, the Peshwa defeated_A few months 
after his return to Haidarabad Nizam Ali deposed his brother 
Salabat Jang (6 July 1762), keeping him under his restraint 
and usurped the sole power on the advice of Vithal Sxindar, 

whom he now appointed hia Divan.^ 

1. Vithat Sujidar Parashurami, a dever diplomat brouebt up by Ram* 

<Uspant during the early rule of Selatet jdcirlihed himself with the 

fortunes o( Niaem Ah and .was rewarded by him vdth the title of Raja 

l^aUpwanc He was a De^esdia Brahman of the same casU tui Sabhamcn 

Bepu. and for a time played an imporUnt part in the fortunes of Haidar- 
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Madhavrao all alor^ watclied the course of events wi^ a 

keen and intelligent interest, and soon obtained full insii^c 
into the problems affecting the Maratlia Slate and the capaci¬ 

ties of the various agents that handled them. It was quiddy 
discovered by many that here was a master who possessed a 
judgment of his own and a determination to execute it fear¬ 

lessly, On tlie day after the conclusion of peace at Uruli, he 

writes to his mother, "Dada Saheb declares bis intention of 
retiiing from worldly affairs and devoting the rest of his life 
to worship and prayers. Sakhararapant also declines to con¬ 

tinue in ofQce, resenting the factious intrigues of the KMik- 
iiastlia clique, I am soliating Dada Saheb not to witlidraw and 
I do respectfully seek his advice.’' Trimbaltrao Pethe a capable 

person of standing and experience, held long and open div 
cussions with Raghunathrao on the present doubles and thus 
reported the outcome to Gopikabai from his camp at Uruli, 

" Dada. Salieb is altogether unfit for the high respondbility of 
managing the affairs during the Peshwa’s minority. It ix 

well-known how he had mishandled the situation in the north 
and added to the financial burden of the State. I cannot put 
my trust in his word. Babujl Naik and some others would 

not like to serve If Sakharam continues in edhee. Dada Saheb 
1‘cquh‘es sixty or seventy lacs a year to meet his personal ex¬ 
penses. Whence can all thU money be obtained ? Duiing 

Nana Saheb’s regime Dada Saheb always returned from bis 
campaigns.with heavy debts and the Peshwa quietly put up 
with the loss. But now who can exercise a salutary ^^ecU on his 

action ? Unrestrained he would simply wreck the administra¬ 
tion, Now the relations betw«n him and Rao Saheb 
fMadhavrao) are severely strained, Every one in this huge 

camp has become sullen, brooding over the dianal consequences 

which are sure to follow.” 
Nor was R’rao himself slow in expressing similar threats 

of retirement to Gopilcabai. He writes, “ I have no desire 

to run the State; Sakharam Bapu and I have decided to 
retire and entrust the conduct of affairs to Rao Saheb and 
Baburao Phadnis. I am a simple soul, unused to diplomatic 

ways. 1 unguardedly give out what comes uppermost in my 
mind and find myself ever misunderstood. I have lost all 
interest in the State.” These protestations, however, lacked 
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ftinccrit/ and were dcaignKl to conceal his evil intenU<>n^ 
Gopikabai in order to avoid an open rupture used lier good 

offices to effect a comproniise* and directed that Sakharam 

Bapu should withdraw, leaving the management of aifairf; 
Trimbakrao Pethe and Baburao Phadnis acting under orders 

of R’rao. This obviously meant that the two Karbhari- 

were to act as a check upon Raghunaihrao s freedom, and 
it pleased no party, He chafed under tlie restraint placed 
over his free action by subordinates, who had been thrust 

on him and whom lie disliked. He took Bapu's retirement as 
a personal affront. On the other hand the two Karbharis, 
Pethe and Phadnis, felt themselves Insecure in their position 
and responsibility. 

Under such a tension the affairs of the State began to 
languish. The Peshwa and his uncle left Urull on 7th January 

with their forces for the Kamalak to save their posses¬ 
sions from tlie growing encroachments of Haidar Ali of Mysore 
durii^ the last two years. On the way the differences between 

the two assumed such proportions, that from Chikodi on the 
Krishna, the uncle returned to Poona in resentment. Madhav 
rao alone proceeded with Tiimbakrao Pethe towards tlie Tun- 

gabhadra. reporting to his mother the severe breach of amity 
witli which R'rao bad returned and asking her to keep a vigilant 
eye over his movements. Malharrao Holkar had arrived 

from Malwa at Wafgaon (Nasik) in March at an urgent call 
from R’rao and caused serious anKiety to the Peshwa, as be 
(Holkar) was an avowed partisan of uncle. 

Madhavrao seeing the turn of events began to strengthen 
his own party^ and on his march southward put Govind Hari 
Patwardhan in possession of tlie fort of Miraj, a safe portion 

for retreat in case of trouble.* Govind Hah and his son Gopal- 
rao were the moving spirits in the young Peshwa’s coureds 

and tixe transTer of Miraj into their hands alarmed R'rao in 
no small measure. Govind Hari lest no time in strengthening 

the fortifications of Miraj and preparing by force of arms to 
prevent any attempt to remove him. At the end of the 
hot season Peshwa retumtti to Poona with a fair supply of 

funds and materials of war. 
The months from June onward in that year (1762) wit¬ 

nessed an abnormal agitation at Poona as the ill-feeling that 
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was brewing between tl« two parties for some time past now 
/^ared up afreah. Discussion, mediation, arbitration and other 

methods of conciliating R*rao were in vain tried openly 
and privately, in full Darbars and In pcn»nal mesetings. But 

R’rao's restless ambition to gather supr^ne power in Ills own 

hand and to L'onduct the State affair) himself unfettered, made 
ium reject all efforts to effect a reconcillaUon. Gopikabai, 
Madhavrno, Trimbakrao, all spoke out their mind?) freely ; only 

Sakharam Bapu continued to ^peak in such an ambiguous and 

inwtived manner that rw definite formula could Ik evolved. 
MadJiavrao anxlr>ua to live in amity with his uncle pleaded 

for hU cooperation on bended knees. But his appeals fell on 

deaf ears: Malharrao Holkar also arrived at Poona and parti¬ 
cipated in the discus»<>ns. At the end of a month'^ vacillation, 
R'rao came forth with an open demand for a separate jagir 
yielding an annual income of ten lac» in addition to five im¬ 
portant forts. The Peshwa could not tolerate such 

a rival power and stoutly opposed the d»nand. Under sudi a 
tension a report went out that the Peshwa contaminated the 
seizure of his uncle and keeping him in confinement. Alarmed 
by such fears Raghunalhrao suddenly left Poona on 22nd 
August, and went to the nearby village of ^ adgoan, where the 

Peshwa and his mother immediately followed him inviting him 
to return. Outwardly signifying compliance witli these impor¬ 
tunities, Raghunathrao suddenly decamped with a few fol¬ 
lowers and by way of Koregaon and Ahmadnagar, reached 
Vinchur near Nasik, where Sakharam Bapu had secured the 

suj^rt of Vithal Shivdev. Here soon arrived Aba Purandare. 
Naro Shankar Raja Bahadur, and Bahiro Anant, partizana of 
Raghunathrao aM these in concert prq^ared to light the 

Peshwa's party, having secretly airangeii to recure the support 
of Janoji Bhosle and Nisam Ali. Soon the signal went round 
and a considerable force of some fifty thousand including the 

Nisam's contingent, became ready to march upon Poona 
Madhavrao and his advisers, realizing that Raghunathrao 

was not a man to scruple to go to any length, at once pre¬ 
pare to accept the challenge and decide the issue by an open 
contest. For a time quite a race went on for securing adher¬ 

ents by exchange of oaths, while negotiations for a peaceful 
adution continued to the last minute, in which Ram Shastri, 
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Krishnarao Parasnis, Gangadhar Bhal Karve and other respect- 
aWe mediators tried their utmost. 'Hiere indeed was a large 
number of disinterested persons fully loyal to the Slate, who 
found themselves perplexed as to which party they should join, 
having been approached by both. GopUcabai's brother Malhar- 

rao Baste, e.g., joined the uncle's party, while Anandrao and 
the other brothers remained faithful Co Madhavrao. 

The Peshwa left Poona to meet the forces of his uncle; 
and the rival armiea faced each other on 7th November on 

the river Ghod, which Aem's in a south*easterly Erection about 
30 miles from Poona, A desperate action was fought on that 
aAenxxm; and the evening darkness separated the combatants 
without aoy decisive result. 

The Peshwa thereupon moved his camp from the banks 
of the Ghod river to Alegaon about 15 miles lurther south, 
near the northern bank of the Bhima. Hcie R'rao's forces 

now joined by hie friend Nisam All soon came in pursuit and 
suddenly fell upon the Peshwa on 12 November ; the latter not 
being ready sulTered a severe leverse. Unwilling to protract 
this civil strife, the young Peshwa made up his mind to surrcn> 

der- He fearlessly rode into the uncle’s camp and delivered 
to hire both his power and person. Malharrao Holkar acted as 

the mediator and brought about peace between them. Madhav- 
rao completely humbled himself before his uncle, placing the 
latter's shoes on his own head. Haghunathrao reciprocated the 
kindly sentiments in apparent sincerity, declaring that he did 
not covet power or prestige. But he was bent upon wreaking 
his vengeance i^on some of the Peshwa's ardent supporters, 
particuiariy Gopalrao Patwardhan, Trimbakrao Pethe and 
Baburao Pbadriis. The two latter were sheltered at Baramati 
by Babuji Natk ; Gopalrao proceeded to join his father at 

Miraj and like a soldier prepared there to resist Raghunathrao. 

5. The assemblage of Alegaon.—In the midst of such 
a dreadful contest Alegaon presented a unique spectacle of two 

opposing armies now a;malgainated in a huge camp numbering 
over a lac of men, with most of the prominent Maratha leaders 
and diplomats present. The presence of these worthies for some 
days of November 1762, lent a lurid colour to this gigantic 
assemblage, partaking along with Nizam Ah in a solemn con* 
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clave for settling the domestic liqjute of the Peshwa's house¬ 
hold, Indeed the recent disaster of Panlpat paled into insigni* 
ficance before the immediate problem of reconciling the present 
conflicting interests. 

On 21 Novectlber the Peshwa and hia uncle entertained 
Niram All at a dinner ami exchanged civilities. On 23rd 
Vitlial Sundar, the Diwan of Niaam All was similarly trealecl- 

Ilaving come so courteously to support Raghunatbrao In his 
aore need, must not the ally be properly rewarded? Murad 
IChan one of Nizam All's i^clals acted as the iDtermediary, 
through whom secret negolialions were conducted with Raghu- 

nathrao. The territory of sixty lace surrendered at Udgir was 
demanded, and Raghunathrao agreed to return the major 

portion, together with tlie fort of Daulatabad, whidi was now 
given bacl< into the charge of Murad Khan. Ramcbandm 
Jadhav came over into Maratha eervice on condition that the 
Senapatl’s post lost by his father Chandrasen should be given 
to him. After these agreements were effected, Nizam All de¬ 
parted for his capital. Janoji Bhoalc doubtless aspired to be 

the Chhatrapati, a move certainly initiated by Raghunalhrao. 
But for the moh^ent it was dropped and Janoji was given 

leave to depart after some discusrion of the subject. 

Paghunathrao thus tried his best At Alegaon to maice his 
position as secure as possiNe against future trouble from his 
nephew. He placed firict restraint upon Madhavrao’s person 

With a guard of 2,000 men to watch him. The acUvitica ot 
Oopikabai at Poona were similarly controlled by placing a 

strict guard at the Shaniwar palace where she redded. But 
this was not enough to make Kaghunathrao's position perfectly 

safe. He must have about him such persons for immediate 
duties as possessed unquestioned loyalty to him. Ttimhakrao 
Pethe and Baburao Phadnis were removed from their offices. 
Sakharam Bapu was appointed the chief executive officer with 
a rich jagir for Ills expenses and the fort of Sinhagad for 8 
secure residence. Nilkanthrao Purandare another partizan was 
amilarly given the fort of Purandar. The Phadnis family were 
the hereditary pursers of the Peshwa's house. They were 
deprived of that office and Chinto Vitbal Uairikar, Raghunath- 
rao'a confidential secretary, was made the Phadnis. Malharrao 
Holkar was given leave to return Co his work at Wafgaon, but 

M. H. ll'-Sl 
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Ragbunathrao particularly kept by his side Damaji Gaikwad 
for the expedition to Sataia and Miraj, which he now planned 

to secure, in order to punish the Patwardhans and their parti- 
aans and control the Chhatrapati. 

Having effected these changes Haghunathiao left Alegaon 
on 6th December in full force and spent about a week at 
Sataia, ensurir^ Ramraja's suppwt Dabhade ^vas at this lime 
deprived of the office of Senapati, which now was conferred 
upon Ramcliandra Jadhav, and that of the Nyayadhish upon 

Vitlial Shivdeo, with the provision of a jagir in each case, 
The office of the Pratinidhi could not be so easily disposed 
of. The Pratinidhi's Mutalik, Gamaji Yamaji was a powerful 
man, a relation of Vithal Sundar, now in league with Gopalrao 
Patwardhan. Raghunatbrao cut the knot by aj^inting his 
own infant son Bhaskanao to that (^ce with Naro Shankar 
to perform the active duties, This ridiculous change soon pro¬ 
vide the spark for an explosion, The infant Bhaskarrao died 
within three months of his elevation to the dignity, and his 
deputy Naro Shankar succeeded to the post These uncalled 
lor changes roused a general discontent throughout the land, 
which was voiced by the Brahman oomraunity in an open let¬ 
ter of protest to Raghunathrao. They pointed out that he 
was ruining the State by &ed<ing the help of the Nizam, said 
that it was sad to keep the Peshwa's mother under detention 
and that several devoted servants had to flee the country for 
safety. The Brahmans roundly ascribed the trouble to Raghu- 
nathrao’s evil genius Sakharam Bapu, 

But these admonitions could not turn Raghunathrao 
from his guilty ambition, He considered the Patwardhans at 
Miraj as the chief offenders, and called upon them to surrender 
that place. Govind Hari defiantly replied he would not evacuate 
Miraj, unless be was reewnpensed for the huge expenses that 
he had incurred in raising troops for the Peshwa and streng¬ 

thening the defences of Miraj. This insolent defi^nr» of 
his commands drew on the Patwardhans full wdght of 
R'rao's wrath- From Satara he marched upon Miraj and with 
a mighty horde of forty thousand laid siege to it on 29th 
Decembw- Govind Hari stoutly defended the ^ace and his son 
Gopalrao harassed the besiegers from outside Raghunathrao 
sent a detachment under Nllak^tbrao Purandare to chastise 
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Gopalrao, who was defeated near Jamkltindi, and ran for shel* 
ter to Nigam Ali. The siege of Miraj was hard pressed and 
Govind Hari after negotiating for terms surrendered it on Srd 
February (1763). 

From Miraj R'rao moved southward to put down the 
aggression of Haidar All. but before he had proceeded far, 

reports reached him of a coalition being fonned between Nisam 
Alt and Janoji Bhosle with the host of malcontents like the 
Patwardhans and the Pratinidhi, who had been deprived of 
their patrimony and dignity. The movii^ spirits of this coali¬ 
tion were the Nizam's Diwan Vithal Sundar and the Praii- 
nidhi's deputy Sadashiv Y^aji, familiarly known as Gamaji- 
Agents Quickly moved from all these chiefs to different places. 
Janoji Bhosle required little persuasion to fall in with Nisam 
All's views. 'They met at Gulbarga on 9th February and 
formed a definite pact for seizing the Peshwa’s Innds and sharing 
the spoils. They organised their forces and arranged a definite 
plan of campaign. Gamaji undertook to lead an amy dg:ainst 
Satara, sdze the person of the Chhatrapati, and instal Janoji 
in his place, Janoji and Nizam All together directed the 
operations and moved in hot haste against the Peshwa’s terri* 
lories. Nizam Ali sent his arrogant demands to the Pe^wa, 
calling upon him to deliver all the territory and forts lying 
east of tbe Bhlma river, restore the jagirs of those who had 
been unjustly deprived of them, and accept his own nominee 
as his Wwan and be guided hy his advice in all concerns of 

the Maratba State. 

4, Maratha-Nizam hosdlities.—The situation thus 
became one of the gravest danger to the Maratba State, three- 
tenir^ its entire independence. The treai?ury of Poona was em¬ 
pty, the army already depleted by desertions, lacked equipment. 
Such a critical moment, however, served to unite the divergent 
elements and the ccmroon danger induced the various parties in 
the Peshwa’s Darbar to lay a«de their differences and join in 

ruling the hostile combination. Madhavrao wrote pathetic 
leftters to his roothe;, describing the state of affairs and the 

need of a joint effort, which both his unde and Sakharam Bapu 
now wholeheartedly undertook to lead- They had aboi^ 60 
thousand men under their conunand.but lacked the means to 
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face the enemy's powerful artillery in an open action. Avoid¬ 
ing a dose engagement, they dedded to wear out the enemy by 

layit^ waste his territory and keeping him on the run. In a 
revengeful temper R'rao turned from Mjraj north towards 
Aurangabad As the combined armies of Janoji and Nizam All 
moved along the Bhima ravaging the Peshwa’s tenitory, the 
Marathas similarly began to ravage the Nizam’s territory, and 
early in March attacked Aurangabad, but failed in making any 
effect upcm the town which was stoutly defended by Murad 

Khan. In order to save the city, Murad KJian paid 2 lacs. 
MaJharrao Holkar joined the Peshwa's army near Aurangabad 
on 10th Mard\, and the whole body started with great im¬ 
petuosity towards Malkapur devastatii^ the Bhosle’s territory. 

Ramchandra Jadhav whom R'rao had induced to desat 
the Mughal service, proved rather a dog than a help. This 
Jadhav like his father bore an inveterate enmity to the 

Peshwasand now as the Maratha forces were camping near 
Aurangabad, he made a secret attempt on R’rao’s life, which 
fortunately failed of effect. He had before this plundered the 
territory of Satara and desecrated the shrine of Pandharpur, 
an act which made him more odious than a real Muslim. 

H’rao at once arrested Jadhav and kept him doedy esenffned 
during the period of hostility.* 

For full five montlvs from 10th March to 10th August, 
the two combatants occupied themselves in wearing other 

out, destroying each other's territories and seeking some 
advantageous portion for an action where a decirion could be 
obtained. While the Mughals ravaged the Maratha country 
between Naak and Satara, the Peshwa's forces retaliated by 
a similar process between Malkapur in the north and Haida- 

rabad in the south. When the Marathas entered the Bhosia's 
possesions in Berar, Nizam Ali came on their heels. But 

the Marathas giving him the slip and avoidii^ an action, fled 
southwards to Sholapur and Naldurg. Nizam All then chang¬ 
ed hia taetics, finding it futile to pursue the nimble Maratha 
horse with his heavy train of artillery. In order to draw the 

Z. When peace was concluded in Sej^tember Jarihe? was wstored to 

Nisam's service, but was never fully pardoned, N)»ain All had him 
murdered jn 1770. 
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Marathas back, he entered Maharashtra about the middle of 
April wlien the Marathas were pluoderirig in the vicinity of 
Yadgir and Bedar. Vithal Sundar'a ncpliew Vinayakdas ravag¬ 
ed the rich towns of Nasik, Junnar and Sangamner, Niiam Ali 
himseU turned hia attention to Poona, and Gamaji inard)Cd 

southwards devastating Satara. They carried fire and sword 
into the countryside and met with little opposition. 

Poona shared a dreadful &te by a major portion of it 
b^ng completely burnt down. Gopikabai had left the dty 

and taktn shelter at Sinhagad with her little son Narayanrao 
and jewellery and valuables. Moat of the Poona gentry ran 
for safely lo different places and forts. The idols of the 
temples on the Parvati hill were broken and desecrated. Naro 

Appaji had paid a huge ransom to Nisam Ali lo purchase the 
safety of the town, but lost the amount into the bargain. 
Gopikabai bitterly felt the conduct of Gopalrao Patwardlian 
and held him responsible for the fate of the Pe^wa's capital. 
But Gopalrao was now a helpless spectator, unable to prevent 
mischief to Maratha interests. Indeed he Iccenly watched for an 
opportunity to come back lo his allegiance after issuing: un¬ 
scathed from the invidious position he found himself in. 

5. The decision of Rakshasbhuvan.—The Peshwa and 
his uncle after despoiling Naldurg on lOth April, Udgir on 23rd 
April and Medak on 10 th May, arrived before Haidarabad, 
where they learned ol the spoliation their capital had suffereO 
at the hands of the enemy. The Peshwa wrote lo his mother 
on 5th June, "We have retraced our steps from Bhagansgar 

and reached the banks of the Krishna, looking <ait for a suit¬ 
able opportunity when we can avenge the cruel fate the enemy 

has iiiictecl upori I^na.” On the same date R^hunathrao 
also wrote to Goj^bal expressing his indignation against 

Nizam Ali. He was so impatient to close in with the enemy 
that it was with difSculty that Malharrao Eolkar, Sakharam 

Bapu and other chiefs restrained him for a tirae, until the 
enemy was isolated by the separation of his new allies Janoji 
Bhosle, Gopalrao Patwardhan, Piraji Niinballcar, Dhaygude, 
the Pratinidhi and otfiers, who had to be weaned away from 
Nizam All’s side. For this purpose secret negotiations were 

now undertakea Govind Shivram was sent to Gopalrao and 
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Sakharam Bapu to Janoji Bhosle, with offers of restoring them 
to their jagii's, if they would desert Nizam Ali and resume 
thar former loyalties. AJl these deserters had practically gain¬ 
ed nothing and lost much by their new alliance. Janoji realised 
tliat he had little pro^ject of getting the Chhatrapati’s throne, 
while on the other hand, the Peshwa threatened him with be¬ 
ing replaced by Mudhoji at Nagpur. His province of Berar 
had been overrun and plundered. At the Peshwa's summons 
Mahadji Sindia marched from Ujjain to attack the nortoem 
parts of the Bhc«le's territory. Inducement was offered to 
Nizam Alt's brother Basalat Jang and he came over to the 

Peshwa's side So did Piraji Nimbalkar a subordinate chief of 
Janoji Bhosle. 

These negotiations continued throughout July. Nizam Ali 
then saw his position deteriorating and began to look for a 
place of safety where he could escape a sudden Maratha attacit. 
Early in June the Peshwa's army turned back homeward 
fr«n Bedar, cautiously feeling its way for a position from 
which it could overcome the enany marching in its direction. 

By the time the two armies had come near enough, Nizam 
Ali*s allies began to desert him, one by one, giving out as an 

excuse that they were returning hcrae for the monsoon. This 
large scale defection so unnerved Nizam Ali that he oounter- 
manded his original movement and began a retreat to Aurang¬ 
abad as the best place for safety during the wet weather. Jarvoji 
Bhosle was still in the Mughal camp, and sent news of his 
change of ^an to the Peshwa, advising an attadc before the 
enemy eroded the Godavari. The Peshwa began a hot pursuit 
of the retreating en«ny, reaching Bid on 5th Ai^st. On the 

9th the Marathas arrived at Majalgaon, where the report game 
that Janoji and the Pratinidhi had separated from the Mughal 
army, and that Nizam AU with a few followers, had hurriedly 
crossed the Hooded Godavari, leaving belilnd at Rakshasbhuvan 
his main army and the artillery under the command of Vlthal 
Sundar, who were to have crossed over the next day, Naro 
Shankar and Sakharam Bapu were away arranging Janoji 
Bhosle’s desertion, and althou^ the Peshwa’s army was feel¬ 
ing the strain of loi^ marches for several days, it was decided 

to attack the enemy at once without allowing him time to 
escape across the flooded river. It was the dark night of the 
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last day of Aahad with pourinj? acd ligbtoirg flashes 
makmg movement difficult. Orders were circulated to begin 
the march long in advance of day>ilgbt, so that swarms of light 
Maratha troops swept down upon die unwary Mughak a little 
after aunriae on the 10th. 

The Nisam's artillery opened upon the Maratha vanguard 
when a stray rocket struclc a tumbril containing and 
caused a loud cxploion. Taking prompt advantage of the con¬ 
fusion thus caused, Aba Purandare and Vincburkar drove in 
the enemy’s outposts and rushed towards the main body, 
while a strong column under Raghimathrao himsdf closed In. 
Vithal Sunday immediately formed- his men and furiously 
pushed back the advandng Marathas. He tjuickly overcame 
and surrounded R’rao seated on his elephant. At this criticai 
moment, young Madhavrao rushed in from tlxe rear driving 
Vithal Sundar and his column back towards the river, and 

relieving his imcle from imminent capture, a feat in whidi 
Mahadaji Shitole attained special distinction. Vithal Sundar 

with several other prominent chiefs either fell fighting or were 
captured, 8o that within two hours the Marathas gained a 
complete victory. The Peshwa himself wrote to bis mother 
the following account immediately after Uie setion. 

" Learning the dispersed cemdition of the enemy's army 
we dosed upon then tius morning. After a ^rt but severe 
engagement at dose grips, we gained a decisive victory. Vithal 
Sundar's severed head was brought in. His nephew Vinayak- 
das, and Gopaldas the raja of Kandhar were killed. Murad 
Khan and sixteen chiefs are taken prisoner, About eight 

thousand of Che enemy's troops and four thousand trained 
infantry were slaughtered. Fifteen elephants, twenty-five 
pieces of cannon, and a large number of animals and quantities 
of material were secured. Shahji Supekar, Sadsshiv Ram- 

Chandra and some othen of our service who had deserted to Che 
enemy, saved their lives by Aight The river ssved Nizam Ali 
from a similar fate." 

The severed head of his able minister Vithai Sundar was 

sent to Nizam AU, who remained a helplesa spectator on the 
other side, mourning the slaughter of his fine anny, Fearing 
that the Marathas would new cross the river and attack him, 
he asked Murad Khan, a prisoner in Maratha hands to seek 
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tenns of peace. The wiSie large and rich territory between the 
river Manjra and Aurangabad worth about a crore o! rupees 
was demanded, but this demand could rwt be at once pressed 
home owing to the flooded river. Nearly a month was lost 

in a useless wait, in which Niaarn Ali could organise a defence 
of his position. During this interval, Janoji Bhosle, Gopalrao 
and others made thdr submission to the Peshwa and were re¬ 
stored to favour. They took no part in the actual %hting 

of the lOth August; the Peshwa by this conduct purposely im¬ 
pressed it upon them that he did not much care for their 
co-operation in humbling Nizam Ali and was himself able to 
enforce his power upon all, Some three wedts were wasted 
before this victory co\ild be pressed to advantage. 

On Ut September Malharrao Holkar and Janoji Bhosle 
crossed the Godavari, followed soon after by the entire Maratha 
army and matdied upon Aurangabad. After some stray war¬ 

fare and continued negotiation, a treaty was concluded on 2S 
September by whidi the Niaara surrendered to the Peshwa 

territory worth 82 lacs, that is, all that had been already secur¬ 
ed at U^ir four years before, but whidi the self-se^ng R’rao 

had given back at Uruli and Alegaon. This treaty is known 
as the treaty of Aurangabad. 

Thus ended the Maralha Nizam contest which had con¬ 
tinued intermittently for over two years from June 1761 to 
September 1763, Several efforts were made by the successors 
of Asaf Jah to cripple the aggressive Marathas: and now came 
forth the spirited Nisain AU to avenge the sc^backs of Salabal 

Jang's regime, taking advantage of the internal troubles of the 
Peshwa's house; and once more the Marathas proved their 
superiority over the Mughala. 

The battle of Rakshasbhuvan was won mainly through 

Madhavrao's own initiative and energy exhibited throughout 
the campaign. Not only did he manoeuvre the initial st^es 
cleverly through his uncle, but even on the day of the battle it 

was due to his careful planning and disposition of the troops 
at every stage that the day was won. Never before had such 
terrible losses been inflicted upon the Nlaam. Madhavrao on 
this occasion proved his capacity in war as well as in the man¬ 
agement of the'general administration, thus winning the ap- 
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plause of his people and mastery over the hearts oi friends and 
foes aJike. 

The victory of Raksha^uvan had repercussions through* 
out India. It proved that the disaster of Fanipat had not 

crushed the Maratha porrer and that they still possessed the 
vibrant energy which had carried their bannei's to the far cor* 
tiers ol India, and that they were stUl a power to be feared 
and respected. The more immediate effect of this victory was 
the assertion of his power by the young Peshwa, both over 
his unde and his partisans. He proved hla worth by dint of 

his own inherent strength in controlling and ruling the vast 
Maratha State. By contraat his unde's levity and want of 

decision came to be clearly exposed. He could no longer 
hold his able ne^^icw in thraldom or tutelage. Madhavrao 
during these two years gained the most valuable experi¬ 
ence of liis life, both in wai' and diplomacy, by controlling 

divergent elements, and by leading his nation to its former 
presdge. The generation that Panipat had destroyed, was 

^ain thus quickly replaced by another no less worthy. Rak* 
ahasbhuvan proved the beginning of this national revival. 

Out Raghunathrao’s profession of a wish to retire was by 
no means sincere: he was all along thinking ofi the best way 
of getting mastery over bis nephew, to whom he soon aftff re¬ 

peated his demand of'a jagir worth nine lacs and five impor¬ 
tant forts. Salcharam Bapu also was uneasy and skulldng and 

expressed his wish to retire from service. Madhavrao well know¬ 
ing what pilschief the two were capable of, flattered them for 

their vast knowledge and experience, and told them how their 
presence about him was essential for conducting the administra- 
rion. With this object he hereafter kept Sakharam Bapu near 
his person to advise him on matters o( moment, but gave 

no particular office or independent voice. Bapu understood the 
Peshwa's game, but could not find a way to obstruct it openly. 
From Aurangabad, the Peshwa returned to Poona and his 

unde to Nasik to perform his devotiona at Trlmbakeriiwar, 
with Govlnd Shivngn and Trimbakrao Pethc placed by the 
Peshwa as his own personal agents in attendant on him. 

Plenty of miscellaneous work arising out of (he recent war 
kept Madhavrao fully occupied nearly to the end of October 
in the vicinity of Aurangabad. Tvfahadji Siodia, who had 
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been equally involved in domestic disseusioas, came from Ujjain 
at the pressing invitation of the Peshwa, met him at the cross¬ 
ing of the Godavari on 26th October during his return jour¬ 
ney to Poona i and by his ready obedience and willing service 
at once earned the good opinion of the Peshwa. Nana Phad- 
nis and his cousin Moroba were restored to their former offices 
which they had lost during the short regency of R'rao. The 
youi^ Peshwa and his equally young coadjutors, Nana and 
Mahadji. both having miraculously escaped death at Panipal. 

now formed a trio upon whom the future destiny of the Mara- 
lha nation so vitally depended. 



CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER XXIII 

176 L Oct. 

1763, Novt. 

1764, Febr. 

1764, April 

1764, ^fey 

1764, May 

1764> June 

1784, July 

1764, Oct. 

1764, Oct 23 

1764, Novr. 6 

1765, Jan, 25 

1765, Jan. 27 

1765, Mar 30 

1765, May 3 

1765, June 

1765, Aug. 4 

1765, Oct IS 

1765, Ending 

months. 

Govind Shivram'a abortiv® mission Co Bombay 

for British help. 

Kedarji Sindfa entrusted witii Sindian estat« 

by Raghunathrao. 

The Peahwa starts for Kamatak. 

Haidar Ah marches upon Savanur. 

Battle of Rettehalli; Haidar routed. 

Mahadjf Smdia flees to Ujjain in anger against 

Raghunathraa 

The Peshwa forms his monsoon camp in the 

Kematak. 

Surprise attack upon G^^aJcao PatAyardbau, 

Raghunathrao leaves Nasik for Kaiaatak. 

Battle of Baxar : the British inflict defeat up¬ 

on the Emperor and his allies. 

Peshva captures Dharwar after tvro rmnlhs 

siege. Sadaahivrao Bhau’s pretender appears. 

Fort Mal*an captured by the British. 

Raghunathrao joiris the Peshwa near Savanur. 

Treaty of peace with Haidar Ali at Ananupur, 

Maiharrao Holkar routed by Fletcher near 

Rara, escapes to Kalpi. 

The Peshwa returns to Poona from Kamatak. 

The Pretender ^amined by Holkar at 

Soltanpur. He escapes, is pursued and 

brought to Poona, 

llie Pretender tried by a council of 26 and 

imprisoned for life, 

Jarvoji Bhosle and Nitam All at war. 
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1766, Jan. 

1766, Feb 5-15 

1766, March 

1767, Nov. 19 

1768 Feb. 27 

1772, Oct. 13 
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The Peshwa joined by the Nisam's forces 

marches against Bhosle. He submits and 

accepts the treaty of Daryapiir, 

Peshwa and Nizam Ail fTaternizlog in a 

friendly visit, cement cordial rdations. 

Babuji Naik bumbled. 

MosCyn’s mission to Poona and Brome’s to 

Nasik. 

Mostyn and Brome return to Bombay. 

Mostyn arrives at Poona as British Agent 



CHAPTER XXIII 

THE PESHWA ASSERTS HIMSELF 

{1763—1767} 

1 Offcfulve amio9t Hai^nlL 
2 Th« Kolis of 
3 Peafe Haidar AU, 
4 dilftrch against Jannji Ubosle. 
$ Friafxfahtp wilh Kizitir AIL 

6 Bdbuji Naik humbled. 
7 The Pretender, 5adAihivrao 

Bhuu 
S Mabadji Siodia’a &ae, 
5) The Briiuh oieoace. 

1. Offensive against Haidar Ali—Madhavrao's 
Peabwasliip lasted eleven years and four months, from 20 July 
1761 to 18 November 17^, the first two years of which were 

a period of tutelage as we have already seen. During his 
last year he was entirely bed-ridden, so that it was only for 
about eight years that he actively controlled the management 
of affairs and marked his personal stamp on the admioistration. 
His acrivities may be arranged under four main heads, viz.:— 

1* His Karnatak expeditbns for putting down Haldarali; 

2. Hia relations with Nisam Ali; 

3. His struggle first against his own uncle and then against 

the Bhosles of Nagpur; and lastly 

4. The revival of Maratha power in the north. 

There are of course other minor episodes intermixed with 
these; but if these four heads are kept steadQy in view, it 
would be easier to study the complexities of this Peshwa's situa- 

^n and estimate at their true value his p(7wers as a great ruler. 
He gave a distinct promise of attaining to the position of the 
supreme arbiter of India’s destinies in competition with the 
two contemporary British statesmen Clive and Warren Hast¬ 
ings. It would be convenient to take up for narration the Kar¬ 
natak expedition first. But before doing so we must review the 

general situation of Indian politics, which forced itself on the 
Peshwa’s attention and induced him to prefer this one task 

to others more or less equally urgent. 
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It was generally believed that the Matatba power had 
suffered its death-blow by Its severe rout at Panipat: and this 

sentiment was ^gravated by the domestic dispute In the 
Peshwa*s family, immediately alter his accession. But a new 
hope arose when the young Peshwa proved his capacity at 
Raksbasbhuvan by putting down Niaam Ali and his unholy 

alliance with Maratha deserters. Both the soutii and the noilh 
claimed the Pe^wa's attention equally, when be found himself 

free during the closing months of the year 1763. While Haidar 
Ali pushed back the Maratha power from the Tur^bhadra 

to almost the banks of the Krishna, the situation in the north 
threatened to be no less alarming. Najib JChan Rohilla who 
was then manning the affairs of Delhi was having an imeasy 
time with the Jats, the Sikhs and the Abdali king of Afghan* 
Stan. The Emperor Shah Alam II and the Wazir Shuja-ud- 
daula in their attempt to regain the lost ground in Bihar in con¬ 

junction with Mfr Qasim, repelled by the rising British 
power, now an additional factor for the Marathas to deal with. 
During 1763 when the Peshwa was locked up in a life and death 
struggle with the Nizam, Haidar Alt conquered Bednur, esta¬ 
blished his hold* upon the Nawabs of Savanur, Kamool and 

Kadappa, who had long ago been subjugated by the Marathas. 
Haidar Ali seized likewise the territory of Muranao Ghorp^de, 
so that Haidar's threat came nearer hQjne and could not be 
overlooked. The Peshwa’s sore need was money so that after ^ 
full deUberaticm, he for the present deferred the northern task 

to a future date, and decided eariy in 1764 to undertake an 
expedition to the south for punishing Haidar Ali and putting 
ATI end to his aggrestion. 

To collect a sufficient anny and equip it with arms occupi¬ 
ed the Peshwa’s time in January, and it was not before Febru- *i 
ary that he was able to cross the Kritiina. During the Peshwa’s 

journey to the south Haidar Ali was busy making his prepara¬ 
tions to resist the Maratha advance. He sought Nizam All’s 
conDperatlon but did not succeed in obtaining anything from 
him beyond hollow j^mses, Leavit^ Bednur in April Haidar ^ 
Ali marched to the vicinity erf Savanur where he prepared to 

meet the advancii^ Marathas in an open eng^ement. The ( 
Nawab of that place had long ance accepted Maratha over-lord- j 
ihip, and the advance of Haidar's troops threatened his very [ 
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•existence. This nwant an open call to the Peshwa to save his 

vassal from Imminent danger. Gopalrao Patwardhan was 
immediately detached vlch two thousand select troops in ad* 
vance to hold up Haidar’s march and defend the Nawab, 

The Peshwa invited Murarrao Ghorpade, won him over 
to his cause and secured hU aid in the forthcoming contest 

with Haidar All. The ensuing struggle indeed put to the test 
the respective capacities for war and organization of the two 
combatants, both active, tenacious and daring. There were 
skirmishes, moves and counter-moves^ In May, Haidar AH 
who had been lured out of his strong position at Rattehalli, 

was surrounded and severely defeated. Losing a thousand men 
cm the field, he rebred to Anavati in the forests of Karwar. 
The season was fast advancing, the campaign so far had proved 
inconclusive; the Peshwa, therefore, dedded to stay on and 
finish his task durii^ the ensuing cold season. This deddon 
was highly welcomed and heartened the Maratha ranks for a 
supreme effort. Murarrao joined tlie Peshwa in May and was 
rewarded for his services by the confennent of the office of the 
Senapati of the SaUra Raja. Fonnal documents of this ap¬ 
pointment were executed next year (20 September 1765). 
This cffice had just fallen vacant on account of Ramachandra 

Jadhav’s dismiskl for misconduct. 
The temporary lull in the operations caused by the monsoon 

was utilised for advancing preparations and makii^ disposi* 
tions of troops to bring the enemy quickly to his knees. The 
region between Dharwar and Savanur formed the main theatre 
of the campaign. In the month of July Haidar planned a secret 
night attack against Gt^lrao who was defending Savanur. 
but the latter having received a timely warning throu^i his spieSi 
lemained on the alert and the en&ny^s design came to nouglit. 
The Peshwa at once remforced Gopalrao and directed his own 
attention to the capture of Dharwar, a strong and well defended 

fort, the principal station commanding the northern region of 
the Kamatak. Haidar’s commandant Pazl Ali Khan stoutly 
defended the post for two months, at the end of ^ch he sur¬ 
rendered the place to the Peshwa on 6 November on a promise 

of his personal safety. 
This quick success at once raised the spirits of the Mara- 

thas, and with the close of the rains the oftosive was resiimed 
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against the enemy. On Ut December a dedaive action was fought 
« Jadi Anwati, a littJe to the south of Savanur, where Haidar 
had pitched his main camp which was suddenly aUacked by 
the Marathas. Haidar Alt was completely routed, and 1200 
of his men were slain. He took shelter in the neighbouring 

thick woods and thus saved himself from complete annihilation. 
Tn his ac^on of Anwati MuraiTao Qiorpade figured conspi* 

cuotiidy. After this encounter Haidar AU never ventured to 
come to close grips with the Marathas, but retracing his steps 
remained hidden in the thick jungles of Bednore and continued 

desultory warfare, prolonging the contest and thereby wearing 
out his opponents, till the setting in of the I'aiiv. During the 

interval he continued negotiations to end the war for the time 
being. Haidar All was Indeed well posted with the situation 
at Poona and the difierences that had arisen between the Peshwa 
and his unde. Circumstances again conspired to give him an 
opportunity to secure favourable ternia. How such a consum¬ 

mation canie about can be explained by reference to Raghu- 
nathrao’s activities at Nasik. whidi often marred the success 
of many of the Peshwa’s plans. 

2. The Kolis of Purandar.—It has already been 
explained how Raghunathrao pretended to retire from worldly 
concerns and took up his residence at Nasik, when the Peshwa 
started on his expedition against Haidar Ali early in 1764. 
Madbavno tried his best to keep him pleased by writing res¬ 
pectful letters, reporting to him the progress of the war and 
often seeking his advice on state matters. As the Peshwa was 

away from the capital, he had asked the uncle by way of giv¬ 
ing him occupation to supervise the affairs of Poona. 

During the summer of 1764 the Koli guards of the fort of 
PuraIldar, who had long been hereditary servants, revolted 
against Nilakantb Aba Purandare in whose possession the fort 

lay. Purandare punished them with dismissal with the result 
that they all in a body took fordble charge of the fort in the 
absence of Aba who was then with R'rso at Nasik. Raghu¬ 
nathrao coveting the fort for himself as a place of refuge, 
played a trick upon the Pe^wa, wrongly charing him with 

having secretly instigated the Kolis to rise. The incident 
roused a storm of ind^nation among the parties of the two 
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prindpals, and revived the atcni:>g3h(re 6f s^^sp^donU^d acer¬ 

bity which had happftly been laid at rest the year before. 
The Peahwa explained the aifair to hie uncle disavowinj; 

any sinister intention on his part and repudiating; iodtement 
from him in the rising. In ilaelf the incident was trivial, but it 
is now clearly proved that the unde selfishly turned it to the 
Peshwa’s disadvantage, dedaring it to be a deliberate attempt 
by the Peshwa to undermine the undoes power. The latter 

called Nana Phadnis frnn Poona to Kasih and asked 
him to work there under his direct svtpervislon. Thi? 

Nana could not agree to do and matUrs came to 
such a pass at Nasik that R'rao threatened to create trouble 

for the Peshwa. Nana Phadnis reported to the Peshwa thesj 
atfairs and his own inability to conduct the current admini¬ 
stration at Poona. This sudden crisis caused severe annoyance 
to the ^hwa in the Kamaiak. Fearing that his uncle 
would again revolt and commence his former intrigues. 
Madhaviao invited him to his camp to advise him on the 
operations against Haidar Ali. Even for this K'rao proposed 
his terms through Govind Shivram which Ihe Pe^ws accept¬ 
ed : and he left Na»k in October 1764 and moving in a lordly 
leisurely fashfan, emphaj^aing his importance on the way, 

reached the Peshwa's camp near Savanur on 27 January 
following. 

3. Peace wich Haidar Ali-_The arrival of R’rao on the 
scene, at once gave a new turn to the war. The Peshwa, the 
Patwardhans, Murarrao, the Nawab of Savanur were all in 
high spirits, vigorously prosecuting the war and hoping to im¬ 
pose such terms on the enemy as to finish him linally by re¬ 
covering the whole territory usurped by Haidar, and restoring 

the Raja of Mysore to his fonner portion, Haidar’s agents were 
in tlu! Maratha camp discua»ng terms of a lasting peace; these 

negotiations R’rao now took into his own hands and so managed 
them as to impose a curb on the increasing power and popu* 
larity of the Peshwa. Like Nizam Ali, Haidar Ali also was 

the declared opponent of Ihe Maralhas in the south, whom 
R’rao managed to spare as an eventual counterpoise, if the 

Peshwa should ^xwe too strong for him. So on one prelexi 
or arwther R’rao proposed to dose the operations by giving easy 

M, H. J{—32 
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terms to Haidar All. The Pe&hwa could not offend his luicle, 
and the plan of humbling Haidar AJi completely had to be 
given up for the preseni- A treaty was ratified on 30th March 
through Haidar’s representative, Mir Faiaulla. The twms 

agreed to were :— 
(1) that Haidar AU pays 30 lacs cash tor expenses; 

(2) cedes all the territory to the north of the Tunga- 

bhadra, and 
(3) leav^ Murarrao Ghorpade and the Hawab of 

Savanur unmolested as Maratha vassals/' 
This treaty is known an the treaty of Anantapur. Thus 

once more Raghunathrao was responsible for saving a declared 
^emy of the Marathas, who was on the point of bdng wiped 
out within a month or two. How this result reacted up¬ 

on the future Maratha fortunes history has recorded. For 
the present the Peshwa stationed GopaJrao, Murarrao and the 

Hastes with adequate forces under them to defend the acquired 
territory and returned to Poona in June, visiting several holy 
shrines on the way, and collecting arrears of tribute. 

i. March against Jano;i Bhosle.—Wfiile Madhavrao 
was trying to restore the ground in the south, affairs deve¬ 
loped in the north greatly to the detriment of the Marathas. 
Without anticipating events, we must know what main pro¬ 

blems engrossed the Peshwa’s attention in the south. Aa baa 
been mentioned before, the British now came fcath to contest 
Indian supremacy with the Maiathas, whose temporary eclipse 
in the north afforded a valuable o^jortunity to the East India 
Company. While Madhavmo was overcoming the Nizam at 

Paksbashhuvas, the Bridsb managed to drive away the legiti¬ 
mate Nawab Mir Qasim from Bengal. Ag»n, while the 
Peshwa was occupied in reducing Dharwar, the British won 
their grand victory of Baxar (October 23, 1764) over the 
combined power of three Muslim potentates the Emperor, die 

Wazir and the subahdar, and established their sway over Che 
vast territory of eastern India from Allahabad to the Bay of 
Bengal. This was bitterly resented by the Peshwa, as a direct 
challenge Co Maratha supremacy in the north. Malharrao 
Holkar tried to dislodge the British from the Doab in the early 

months of 1765, but was compelled to retire after sustaining a 
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severe defeat.^ The Peshwa discussed this development with 
bis unde at Poona during the rains of 1765 and begged him 
at once to proceed to the north, as the most experienced Maiatba 

captain then alive and retrieve the lost prestige. Raghunathrao 
started from the Deccan as usual after the Dassara season. 

At this moment a frightful stniggle was raging in Berar 
between Nizam Ali and the Bhosles of Nagpur, both of whom 

bad appealed to the Peshwa for help, in consonance with the 
understanding that had been arrived at when the treaty'of 

Aurangabad was concluded two years ago. The Peshwa al¬ 
ways apprehended that a combinatjon between hi$ uncle, the 
Bbosle and the Nizam would gravely menace his position, and 
determined to utilise the ooaaion to reduce the overgrown power 
of the Bbosle and draw the Nizam closer to him. The Bhosle, 
a member of the Maratha State, was often disloyal to the 
Peshwa, bdng in Che habit of intriguing with Che Peshwa's 
enemies. Jaaoji's atrocities during the suinmer of 1763 in the 
devastation of Poona and other places, the Peshwa bad neither 
forgotten nor forgiven, and now came an occasion to teach him 
a lesson by putting down his treachery. Madhavrao gave his 

uncle only a v^ue general outline but did not disclose his 
line of action, nor bis inner motives as to which side he was 
going to espouse, and asked his uncle to join him at the Goda¬ 
vari directly from Nasik. The Bbosle and Raghunathrao hard¬ 

ly expected that the Peshwa would make friends with Nizam 
Ali and manage to foil their secret intrigues.’’ At the Godavari 

Nisam All’s forces joined the Peshwa by previous arrangement, 
and the two marclied agatn^ Bhosle and within a month re¬ 
duced him to such sore straits, that he humbled himself ab¬ 
jectly before tbe Peshwa at Daryapur near Amraoti, at, the 
end of January 1766. Janoji ceded to the Peshwa territory 
yielding 24 lacs out of the 32 lacs worth he had reedved two 
years before as appeasement before the action of Rakshasbbu- 
van. He now solemnly agreed to join the Peshwa whenever 
called upon to do so in future exp^itions. Raghtmathiao 

was thus made a helpless witness of Janoji’s humiliation. 

1. This scvcte diMster Uk veteran Hollar took ip much lo heart 

that he detenoiated in health and died a year later <20 May 1766). 

2. Sw Ait Pat 106 daWd 26th Nm*en^r 1765. 
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5. Fxiendsliip wich Niiam AH_On his way back the 
Peshwa added to his success another diplomatic victory by 
brii^ing about a rOost successful and cordial meeting with 

Nizam AU near Kunimkhed (Dist Umarkhed) in south Berar. 
It was a deliberate Step taken by secret previous arrangement,, 
without giving an inkling oMt to his jealous uncle- This clever 

diplomacy turned a traditional enemy into a potential friend, 
thereby dosing old sores which had marked the Maratha-Nlzam 
relations from Palkhed to Rakshasbhuvan (1763). To make 
Nizam All innocuous for some time if not a cordial 
friend, was no small achievement and this new policy was 
not quite heartily endorsed by the so called wise*acres 
of the day steeped in selfish intrigue. The meeting of 
the two potentates, Madhavrao and Niaam AU took place 
at Manrath and Takli On the Godavari and lasted for ten da5*s 
from 5th February with a lavish display of cordiality, ceremo¬ 
nials, dinners, presents and all without a trace of suspi¬ 

cion between the two camps. Public Darbars and private 
talks were conspictious. To the Hindu and the Muslim alike 

the sight was strikir^y amazing, the like of which luid hardly 
ever been witnessed, befc»^. Nizam Ali probably ten year^ 
senior in ^ was highly impressed with iloe young Peshwa’s 
independence of thought and policy; and the cordial friend¬ 
ship thus established lasted right up to the days of Kharda 
(1795), and was proudly recalled by the former chief in his 
future dealings. Wh^ Raghunathrao on his way to the 
north learned the full account of this unique visit, his equani¬ 
mity was highly disturbed and he wrote uneasy letters to bis 
agents.* Indeed it was this high regard of Nizam Ali for the 
Peshwa, which induced him to espouse the BarWiai’s cause 
against Raghunathrao after Narayanrao’s murder, 

Madhavrao was thus the first bold builder of a new era 

of honest dealings In poiitics, discarding the traditional intrigue 
and dissembling in dealing with friends and foes alike. Many 

instances of this fresh departure of open and frank dif^omacy 
are available in the short career of this independent Peshwa. 
In all his transactions one notices a pleasant ring and a re¬ 
freshing change to a courageous innovation- 

3. P. D. 20. I6S. ite, !67, 172, 174 
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6. Babuji Naik humbled,_Babuji Naik Joshi of Bara* 
mati was an bid hereditary servant who had looked upon tlie 
rise of the Peahwas with a jealous eye, He was an eye*80re 
Co the late Peshwa, During recent days he sided with Gopika* 
bai'3 party and served Madhavrao pretty loyally, But he was 
often whiinucal and extremely hckle minded. Duriiif the 
Peahwa's expedition into the Kamaiak the year before, he was 
discovered to have conducted an intrigue with Haidar AU. 

The matter was investigated and the Naik was exposed. But 
he did not repent and continued to offer pinpricks to the 

Peshwa often opposing bis commands. He possessed two 
strong forts, Sholapur and Wanda n, where he fortified himself 

and stored his valuables. The Peshwa could not toast his 
loyalty and ordered that the two forts be taken out of his 
possession. The Naik resisted the Peshwa*s demand and re¬ 
fused to surrender the forts, Ramchandra Ganesh the Peshwa's 
captain attacked the forts and took them away forcibly (1766 
March). The Naik remained sulking in Ida jagir at Baramali, 
but dared no loiter stand in opposition to the Peshwa. Babuji 
w'as in many ways a singular personality bound In relation¬ 
ship with the Peshwa's house. He witnessed the regimes of 

six consecutive rulers. 

7. The Pretender, Sad««hivrao Bbau,—In between 
many important affaire of State, the Peshwa had always on 
hand not a few matters ol a secondary nature but ezasperatit^ 
enough for the time b^g. One such subject that for long 
attracted serious notice in Maharashtra, was the crop of im* 

postors that the disaster of Panipat gave rise to, Of many well- 
known persons that perished on that field the bodies were never 

fully recognised and properly cremated. Sadashivrao Bhau and 
Jankoji SInde ^ere long reported miasing, although the imme¬ 

diate household of the Peshwa knew the truth of their death 
through their trusted agents. An impostor peponating the dead 
Sadashivrao, continued to cause trouble apd ^naaiion in the 

Deccan for a number of years. A Kanoja Bf^hman named 
BukhJaJ appeared in Bundclkhand near Chhatr?^pur towards 

the end of 1761 and was declared to be Bh^u Saheb by a few 
minor Maratha officials In quarter suc^ as Ganeeh Sam* 
bhaji, Vishwasrao Lakshman Kaja Bahadur, and others. He 
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soon collected a large following and roamed about exacting tri¬ 
bute and levying contributions. For the first few years his acti¬ 
vities were confined to north India. During 1764 tie crossed the 
Naimada and appeared in Maharashtra. On 14 January 1765 
Madhavrao issued orders for making an enquiry and ascertain¬ 
ing the truth or felsity of the man. Accordingly Malharrao Hol- 
kar held a council of enquiry at Sultanpur on 12 Ai^ust 1765, 
examined Sukhlal and declared that he was not the real 
Bhau Saheb. Then Sukhlal ran away and started fresh trouble. 
Hari Damodar NevaJkar and his son K^hunath Hari, ance¬ 

stors of the Rani of Jhansi. pursued the pretender, captured 
his person and sent him to Poona for punishment. There again 
several prominent persons of Poona separately examined 
the man and declared him an impostor. He was then puhlidy 
exhibited for a whole day in the Budhwar square of the city. 
On 15 October 1765 Ramshaslri and a large number of officials 
again examined him in front of the ddty of the Parvati temple. 

Here he confessed his guilt, gave out his whole previous history 
and was punished with life imprisonment.* 

Jankoji Sindia also was similarly impersonated and the of¬ 

fender was properly punished. 

8. Mahadji Sindia’s rise.—Mahadji Sindia having been 
occupied with his elder brothera in his early life, has 
received hardly any special jnection in existing papers. 
Out of the large ^mJly of Ranoji Sindia, Mahadji was 

the only son who escaped death in the natkm’s cause, 
and lived long enough to be the main support of the Mara- 
tha Stale. Bom probably about the year 1727 he was mostly em¬ 
ployed in various Maratha transactions in north India, and was 
wounded in the leg and picked up unconscious by a pasdng 
water-carrier, Rana Khan byname, on the fatal day of Panipat. 

He came frc«n Malwa to the Deccan in DecemJm* 1762 and join¬ 
ed the Peehwa in Che si^e of Miraj, when the question of his suc¬ 
cession to the Sindian estate had not been yet decided. A la^e 

amount of succession fee called Nazarana was demanded, which 

4. He vae at fiut leapt at fort Ahmadna^ar end thareaflar at other 
placea. He escaped from fort Ratnagi/i i& 1776 and aJUt aome commotion 
was apprehended and put to death. 
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he could not pay and Raghunathrao out of spite for his nephew, 
appointed ICedarji and later Maiiaji SIndia lo inherit the estates 
of that family. The widowed ladies of that family created no 
small trouble for Mahadji In a letter dated 8 July 1767 
Mahaciji complains bitterly that his own mother Chima- 
bai had no rruans of livelihood and that she had to 
contract heavy debts to sustain hersdf aod knew not how to 

repay them. , 
During 1763 and 1764 Raghunathrao and the Peshwa sanc¬ 

tioned confUcting arrangements for the Sindian succession. 
Mahad}i was out of favour with Raghunathrao^ although he 
Studiously avoided taking sides In the domestic dispute of the 
Peahwa's houae. During the summer of 1764 when the Peshwa 
was absent in the Karnatak, Mahadji returned to Ujjain without 
oWJunii^ formal leave of Raghunalhrao, who at once issued 
orders to have him arrested. But Mahadji was not the man 

to be so easily coerced. He opposed bis pursuers boldly anth 
after reaching Malwa safely, at once took the management 

of his patrimony in his own hands, without caring to ac¬ 
knowledge Manaji or Kedarji. the nominees sanctioned by* 
Raghunalhrao. When Kedarji was summoned by Raghunath- 
rao to his presence, he made this bold reply. "The rcwetf 

Mahadji Bawa is already performing loyal service hers. To him 
you should address whatever commands you wish to issue. I 

am entirely obedient to his wishes We shall both serve you 
loyally." When Raghunathrao thus failed to detach Kedarji 
from Mahadji. he nominated another Sindia Manaji aa the 
head of the family instead. Manaji was the grarviaon of that 
Sabaji Sindia who had carried the Maratba arms to Attock and 
who was also a member of the same family. During all these 

years Mahadji did his best to sustain the Maratha interests in' 
Malwa and Rajputana. He carefully husbanded his scanty re¬ 
sources and strengthened bis military position by enterlaiiunp 

a regulaiiy paid force of troops and collecting a band of devot¬ 
ed followers about him. One of his lieutenants Ragho Ram 
Page writes on 17 August. 1765, "Here Mahadji has about 
him a band of devoted comrades ready to sacridee their lives- 
for him. All are of one mind, imbued with a si»rit of loyal 

service to the Peshwa in exact imitation of the devoted sacri¬ 
fice of his eminent brothers before him. 
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Thus the period of some eight years from 176 L to the eud 
of I76d marks the tuteJage of Mahadji's life, and in the b^in- 
ning of 1769 he emerges as a man of deatiny on the pages 
of history. 

9. The British Menace.—The President of ^e Bombay 
Council while giving instructions to Thomas Mostyn whom 

he nominated his ambassador to Poona, wrote, on 16 November 
1767, '' The growing power of the Marathas i« a subject pauch 
to be lamented and has not failed to attract our attention as 
well as that of the Pre^dendes of Madras and Fort ’William.*’** 
In fact much more did Madhavrao lament and apprehend 
the growing power of the British during the latter part of his 
short regime. Both looked upon each other as the most potcn< 
rial enemies of the future : and Madhavrao waf: all along keen¬ 
ly alive to the fast increasing danger. The British had already 

planted their power in Madras and Boigal, and now deplored 
that they could rv>t make a similar headway in the weatl 

l>uriRg 1761 when Nizam Ali threatened an attack upon Poona, 
R'rao sent his agent Govind Shivram to Bombay ajOcIng for 
military aid Govind Shivram returned with certain stipula* 

tiona upon which the British agreed to lend a military con¬ 
tingent. Thereupon Raghunathrao seat counter proposals 
irith Baji Gangadhar ; but as the Britiab demanded in retum 
for such help the cession of Bassdn and the whole of the is¬ 

land of Salsette, Raghunathrao found this unacceptable and 
wrote a biting reply to Bombay that Bassein could never be 
parted with. The danger of the Nizam's invasion bad already 

passed and the Briti^ aid was no longer needed. 
A litde later when the Pcffhvn undertoc^: operations 

against Haidar Ali, ihe Bombay authorities tried immediately 
to profit by the contest. They were very eager to possess the 
coastal regions bordering the islands of Bombay, which supplied 

them with their d&ly needs of proviaons and fuel, whidi they 
studiously-watched for an opportunity to seize. A wanton ag¬ 

gression was committed by them on 2S January 1765 by cap¬ 
turing the fort of MaJvan belonging to the Chhatrapati of 
Kolhapur and naming it Fort Augustus. 

S, Forreit, Haraiha Serits, page 141. 
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This incident spread alarm throughout Maharashtra about 
the British objective in India, of which Madhavrso was not 

slow in taking notice. Indeed hereafter he counted this 
western power as his enemy number one, and in his own way 
slowly prepared to meet them. His friendship with Nizam Ali 
was the first step to that end. His unde and the Bhosles of Nag> 
pur were the weakest links in this connection, being most like¬ 
ly to yield to any temptation offered by the Briti^. Hence the 
stern measures that Madhavrao had . to take against them. 
Haidar Ah of Mysore was an antagonist whom the Bdtisli 
eQually hated and feared, so that when in 1767 war started 
between them, the Bombay President sent an embassy to Poona 
headed by Thomas Mostyn to seek an alliance with the 
Peshwa’s Government, The mission left Bombay on 19 Novem¬ 
ber and reached Poona on 29th. Mostyn had an assistant 
named Brome who visited R^unatbiao at Nasik. Although 
tlie members of the mission were most civilly treated at tlie 
Maratlta Court, they obtained no material results, as their real 
intentions had beccane too naked to the Maratha Government 
to be ignored, and the party returned to Bombay in great dis¬ 
appointment on 27 February 1768. The only gain they made 

was the valuable information they gathered about the acute dis¬ 
sension then raging between the Peshwa and his unde Brome’s 
overtures to Raghunathrao will be referred to later. After deal¬ 
ing with his unde, the Peshwa slowdy prepared to meet the 
British menace, so that the Bombay authoiities once more post¬ 
ed Mostyn at the court of Poona, where he arrived on 13 Octo¬ 
ber 1772, a short while before the Peshvra’s death. Mostyn, 
continued there to the end of 1774 and witnessed the affair of 
Narayanrao’s murder. 





CHRONOLOGY 

CHi^PTER XXIV 

1761, Nov. 29-30 

1762-67 

1783, July 

1784, May 3 

1764, CcL 23 

17^, February 

1765, March 30 

1765. May 3 

17^, May 3 

1765, June 24 

1765, July 

1765, August 2 

1765, August 12 

1766, Sept 

1766, Feb- 

1766, May 20 

1766, June 

1767, Jan. 2 

1767. Feb. 

1767, Match 27 

1767, April ' 

1767, Dec. 21 

Battle of Mangrol, Malharrao Holkar defeats 

Madho&nh. 

Abdall's efforts to regain the Punjab thwart¬ 

ed by the Sikhs. 

Battles of Katwa and Gheria, Mir Qasim 

routed by the British. 

Battle near Patna, Shuja-ud-daula and Mir 

Qasbn defeated. 

Battle of Baxar, Hector Munro inhicts crush¬ 

ing defeat uptxi the Emperor, the Wa;tir 

and Mir Qasim. 

Malharrao Holkar cfTectB peace between Ja* 

wahir Sinh Jat and Najlb-ud-daula. 

Shuja meets l&lkar at Aoup^tahr and otk 

tains his help against the British. 

Holkar severely beaten by Fletcher near Kara. 

Clive arrives at Caloitta. 

Qive leaves Calcutta for the northern scene. 

Give reaches Allahabal 

Clive arranges a treaty with Shuja-iid-daula. 

Give receives the grant of Diwani from the 

Emperor- 

Orve returns to Calcutta. 

Raghunathrao starts oa his northern expedi¬ 

tion. 

Malharrao Holkar dies. 

Rag^tunalhrao invests Gohad. 

Raghunathrao negotiates peace wfth the 

Rana of Cohad. 

R^hunathrao leaves Gohad for the south. 

Malrao Holkar dies. 

Ahalyabat d^es Ragbunathrao’s threat. 

Madhosinh of Jaipur dies. 
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im 

1769. Ending nuintbs 

1770, AprU 5 

1770, April 5 

1770, April S 

1770, August 23 

1770, S^L 8 

1770, Oct. 31 

1770, Dec. 15 

1770, Dec. 

1771, Feb. 10 

1771, April 12 

1771, July 21 

1771, July 26 

1771, Nov. IS 

17712, Jan. 6 

1772, Feb, 

1772, March 4 

1772. April 14 

1772, April 14 

1772, MoMOon 

m2. Nov. 18 
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Mahadji obtains his iasuly rights and head¬ 

ship. 

Marathd forces proceed north. 

Battle of Govardhaji, Mawal Sinh Jat rout* 

cd; Marathas take possession of Agra arid 

Mathura. 

Najib*ud*daula o^ers submission but aUrti 

hia old Kamu. 

Maratha forces enter the Doab agoinst the 

Bangaah Nawsb and eiocamp at Ramghat. 

Baiaviutt Sinh of Benares dies. 

Treaty of peace with the Jats. 

Najib-ud'ddula dies: his son Zabeu Khan 

confiried but released by Holkar. 

Marathas capture Etawa and marcl) on Far* 

nikhabad, whose Nawab restores Maratha 

territories. 

British oppose Maratha schemes tivough 

Mlrsa Najaf Khan ; Emperor seeks Mara* 

tha protection. 

Mahadji lakes possession of Delhi and places 

Jawan Bakht or^ the throne. 

Emperor leaves Allahabad (or Delhi. 

Ahmad Kh. Bangash dies. 

Thu Emperor readies Farrukhabad. 

The Emperor reaches Axiupshahr; Mahadji 

maela him. 

The Emperor enters Delhi and occupes his 

thnaie. 

The Emperor and th« Maraihaa march in 

puiauil of Zabeta Khan. 

Mahadji captures Shulmatal. 

Ahmad Shah Abdab dies at Kabul. 

Najibabad captured: and spdls of Panipat 

recovered by the Marathas. 

Mahadji and Vjsajj Krishna arrange aBaim 

of Delhi. 

The Mtwa dies at Poona. 
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MARATHA AMBITIONS COMPLETED 

IN THE NORTH 

{17(51—1772} 

1 Muuh4 set back io Korili 
Jndit. 

2 Maihafno KoJbac worsted. 
^ C/Ne and dir Diwani. 
4 Ragfaunathno before CiohsJ. 

5 Ex|»edi(ion of Ibuodumdre 
GajicsK aod hs lasdlts. 

6 Brid«h opposJiion (o Maitdia 
plaes. 

7 The £mpcrur ecstorad (o Delhj. 

1. Maratha set back in North India._Writes Dr. 

Dighe,—The consequences of the Maratha disaster of Paai- 

pat did not lor^ remain concealed from fnends or foes alike. 

Maratha dominant position in Hindustan was no longer ten¬ 

able. So long as Marathas could not support their authority 

by armed might, the northern potentates were not going to 

respect their commands. Maratha dominion in the north,— 

Delhi, Agra, Doab, Bundelkhand. Malwa—became aflame with 

revolt of petty rulers, rising of local miJidas and, disturban¬ 

ces of hill-tribes, and the next few years witnessed the riirink- 

ing of Maratha frontiers aud withdrawing of their rule to the 

south of the Chambal. 

‘'Ahmad Shah Abdali the victor of Panipat was hardly 

in a better plight. TTie year 1761-62 proved that Ibis best 

Asiatic general of his age could win battles but not the subse¬ 

quent dominion. He failed to reap the harvest of his amazing 

successes. His vision wa^ bound by the narrow limits of his 

mountaino\:s homeland of Afghanistan with the Punjab if he 

could possibly annex that province. Hence when his soldiers 

mutinied for arrears of pay and pressed for immediate return, 

the Shah Abdali retraced his steps and marched back to his 

country throwing back his life's chance. His withdrawal 

from the scene of his recent successes let loose pent up forces, 

brought new personalities on the stage and effected such a 

change in the situation that the Shah no longer remained the 
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master cf it.”' His advance through the Punjab was so suc¬ 
cessfully held up by the Sikhs, that he gradually lost all that 
he had gained during ten years of hard ^hting. Between 1762 
and 1767 be struggled manfully to put down the Sikhs but 
was beaten |in the end. He had by then lost both lus health 
and vigour, sank into inertia and died rather a miserable death 
a few months before the Peshwa Madhavrao. 

Among northern opponents of the Marathaa the Ra^uts 
were the most powerful with Madho^nh of Jaipur at their 
head; but Malbairao Holkar soon succeeded In putting them 
down. Madhosinh and his confederates sustained a severe de¬ 

feat at the hands of Holkar at Mangrol near Kota on 29Ch and 
3<Hh November 1761, and could no longer stand in opposition 
to the Marathas. Holkar was, however, called away to the 
south and Mahadji Siodia was for long crippled by not being 
at once recognized as the heir to his ancestral estates. It 
therefore took several years for the Maratha power to regain 
its pre-Panipat position in the north. The natural result of 
this Maratha detenoration was the easy ascendancy which the 

British acquired in Bengal and Bihar, where th9 three legiti* 
mate owners, the Emperor, the Wazir of Oudh and the Nawab 

of Bengal, were quickly put down during the three years follow¬ 
ing Panipat. 'Neither the Bhosles of Nagpur nor the Peshwa 

offered the least resistance to British aggresuoo. For 
young Madliavrao on gathering the reins of Government in his 
liands after his victory at Haksbasbliuvan (August 1763), the 
aggression of Haidar All became the most pressing problem and 
he was compelled to leave the northern affairs to Sindia and 

Holkar. Sindia, bowe^^r, was for sume year? disabled from 
taking a bold action by Raghunathrao mterfering in the succes¬ 

sion dispute of the Sindian ffef and declaring Mahadji a rebel. 
The Emperor Shah Alam lived then at Allahabad, enjoy¬ 

ing the hospitality of the Waair, while the British managed 
the revenues of Bengal and Bihar on b^ialf of the Nawab. 
The deposed Mir Qaaim had tried in vain to resist the British 
pretensions, but bis fail left the entire field open to Briti^ 
ambition. If it suited their purpose, they openly interfered in 
the concerns of the Indian powers, but if it did not. they put 

1. All&hibad KlAory. Modhearac, 
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iorth the cement and plausible excuse that they must refer the 
matter to thetr Iiome autliorides for orders, which meant a de* 
lay of years. Even jn India they never neglected to support 
one power against another. They professed to act in the name 
of the Emperor, when thej* meant to put down the Nawabs 
of Bengal and Oudh. The successes they gained at Rassey 
and Baxar drove them frpm one h«ght to another. Their 

position was peculiarly safe in comparison with the Indian 
powers they had to deal with. If they found their move disad- 

X vantageous, they could easily retrace their steps and offer the 
plea of orders from home, Indian powers once involved in an 

.affair could have no choice but to reap the fruit of their action. 
Mir Qasim whom the BriUsh themselves had raised to the 

Nawabship, soon became odious to them, when he began to 
assert his legitimate rights. The two became open enemies 
and went to war. Mir Qasim was defeated in two succes^ve 
actions at Katwa and Gheria in July 1763 with the result that 
the British made Mir Jafar the Nawab a secorxl time. Mir 
Qasim thereupon secured the aid of Shuja-ud-daula, and the 
two under the direction of the Emperor made a bold e^ort for 
regaining the lost provinces of Bihar and Bengal. In this ven¬ 

ture they secured the co-operation of the Marathas and renewed 
hostilities against the British. The latter took up the challenge. 
Major Camac advanced upon the cembined armies of the con¬ 
federates. On 3rd May 1764 a battle was fought near Patna 
in which the allies suffered a defeat. But no decision was 
reached : the two armies remained camping in Bihar during 
the monsoon and as soon as the rains were over, they came for 
a final action, which was foi^ht at Baxar on 23rd October 
1764. Maj. Hector Munro utterly routed the three potentates 
and compelled them to fall back upon Benares with dielr hopes 
of recovering their eastern possessions finally extinguished. 

The Eknperor submitted to the dictates of the Briti^ and 
sought their protection. 

Thus tile battle of Baxzu- comi^eted the jmwsss begun 
at Plassey seven years before. The BhosJes of Nagpore were 
for long demanding the Chauth as overlords of the province. 
To them Mir Qasim had long been appealing for support. 
But Janoji neglected this important respon^biliCy and bu^ed 
himself with destroying the Peshwa’s capital of Poona in 
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alliance with Nizam AU. The result was that the Briti^ 
could easily establish thdr permanent sway on the two rich 
eastern provinces ot India. 

When the two rivals, the Marathaa and the Afghans, re¬ 
tired from the Indian contest, there was a kind of vacuum 

in the centre. Bui nature abhors vacuum. New forces ruslicd 
in to seize the central authority vacated by Uie two powerful 
antagonists. Najfb Khan Rob ilia assumed supreme authority 
in Delhi, which was challenged by the Jai of Bharatpuj', 
who had now gained strength. Both the cliiefs solicited 

Maralha help: and MaJbarrao Holkar was asked to handle 
the situation. This Maratha chief looked upon Najib Khan 
as his adopted son and had no mind to support the Jat. 
After some fighting Malharrao patched up a treaty of peace 
between Najib lOian and the Jat ruler Jawahirslnh and be¬ 
came free to answer a more urgent call. 

2, Malharrao Holkar worsted.—A.(ter Baxar the 
English ardently tried to capture Mir Qasim and punish him 
severely lor the bloody massacre he had perpetrated of Ellis 
and other Englishmen at Patna. But Shuja protected Mii 
Qasim from British vengeance. Thereupon Major Fletcher 
marched against Shuja and chased him right up to Allahabad, 

taking possession of that chief’s stralegic post of Chunar, which 
formed the base for any conqueror descending upon Bihar from 

the north. The Brid^ also took the precaution of declaring 
that they were acting on behalf of the Emperor, whose terrltc* 
ries they professed to protect against hJs treacherous servants 
Shuja and Mir Qasim. The proclamation which they Issued 
at this time is an amusing piece of political chicanery.’ 

The English having captured Allahabad now began their 
march upon Lucknow the capital of Shuja. In his extreme 

peril that Prince leamt that the two Maratha captains Malbar- 
rao Hi^kar and Mahadji Sindia had been near Agra, negotiat¬ 
ing the terms of peace between Najib and the Jat. As Holkar’s 
force was already in the Doab, Shuja turned to that chief for 
aid. Writes Holkar on 30th March 1765, " I have arrived at 
Anupshahr where Shuja-ud-daula came and met me. 1 have 

i. Fasien Calndar I. 2609. 
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agreed lo lend him my armed aid and •with purpose am 
now proceeding towards the 

Thus Shuja and Malharrao joined Iheir forces to which 
Gbaa-ud'din the eX'WasIr brought his own <3uota also. Major 
Fletcher who was keenly watdiing these movements marched 
upon them from Allahabad. The two opposing armies csme 

face to face on the plain of Kora : Malharrao Holkar with bis 
fcuerilla tactics at first severely harassed Fletcher. But the latter 
brought his excellent artiUery rapidly into action on 3rd May 
and compelled Holkar to retire to Kalpi for safely. Says a 
Maracha newswriter, "the English possessed a powerful artil* 
lery, before which our men were unable to stand firm and took 
to flight. Malharrao lias reached Kaipi in great distress.’' The 
guerilla warfare of the Marathas came lo be doomed.^ 

At the moment of Holkar's reverse Mahadji Slndia •was 
near Kota in Psjputana and ran immediately to that •veteran’s 
support. But as the affair had been finished, he could do little 
to retrieve the position, He wrote to the Peahwa on 10th 
August. *' Holkar is at Dada, where 2 am going to meet him 
and with hie cooperation I am anxious to undertake some 
grand projects.” Most of the Indian poUticians and poten> 
tates of the day watched the change with anxious dismay. 
Shuja-ud'daula in his perplexity asked for advice from Ahmad 
Khan Bangash. The latter told him, “ Don’t entertain the 
false hope that others would come and fight your batties. If 

you have the nerve, stand forth boldly against the English, 
even if you perish thereby. If you have not such a daring in 
you. you must go unhe»talingly to the English General and 

quietly accept whatever terms he imposes upon you." Shuja 
acted up to this latter couTse.^* 

3. Give and iho Diwaoi._Politics in north India 
assumed a rapid change in the autumn of 1765. The Emperor 
grew most impatient lo reach Delhi and occupy his throne. 
All India breatlilessly watched whether the victorious English 

would halt at Allahabad or proceed to convey the Emperor 
to the Imperial capital. At this moment there arrived on tlie 

3. Khare 675; P. D. 29. 90, dS. 
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Indian scene the great architect of the British Empire, Dive, 
now in the capacity of the Governor of Bengal with fuU powers 
to handle the ^tuation, The English, nation had already come 
out victorious in the Seven years* war (1763) and acquired 
unrivalled supremacy on the sea, Clive had keenly observed 
contemporary events and possessed unsuipassed knowle^e of 
the political complexities of India. He landed &t Calcutta on 
3rd May the very day that Fletcher inflicted the signal defeat 
upon Holkar, He correctly gauged how bitteriy every Indian 
potentate resented British aggression, and with a resolve to dia* 

arm aJ] hostility Clive left Calcutta on 25th June for the 
theatre of war. He reached Allahabad at the end of July, 

Clive, separately interviewed the various persons concerned 
and fixed his line of action. He met the Emperor and obtain* 
ed from him tor the East India Company the office of the 
Diwant of the three provinces of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa, that 
is, the exclusive power to collect the revenues arud dispose of 
them, without the responsibility for the provincial administra¬ 
tion and without the appearance of complete annexation. 
Dive put this in a solemn document and bad it sanction¬ 
ed by the Emperor, He similarly dealt with Shuja-ud'daula 

and the Nawab of Bengal and bound them in separate treaties, 
which formed the basis upon which the future Empire was to 
be gradually built up, This was indeed a clever stroke of policy 
quickly executed within the first week of August® by which the 
British rulers obtained the substance of povk'er without accept¬ 
ing the administrative management. The Emperor, the 
suaerain) authority,^ the Wazir of Oudh and the Nawab 

of Bengal, who were the links of an indivisiWe chain, the cen¬ 
tral master and provincial servants in the traditional Mughal 
hierarchy, came to be permanently separated under the sch^e 
of Give, having nothing to do with one anotlier and at the 
same time unable to stand independently on one's own re- 
scAirces without the Company’s armed help for their sustenance. 

Clive spent about a monlh in quietii^ the ruffled feelings 

of the various parties and Impressed upon them that a new era 

S. The agreement with Kajmud-cUvk of Bengal was effected hi July: 

chat with Shuja ii dated 2nd August and the srant of Kvani is dated 

12th August. 
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of peace and good'Wll) had taken the place of that of a ruinous 

war. He recc^ized the power of the Emperor himself, but re* 
moved the two Nawaba from his control. As the vras 
impatient to go to Delhi, Clive assured him that this would 
be accomplished as soon as cirotfUBtances permitted. Haghu* 
nathrao appeared on the scene only a few months after these 
important transactions, but he hardly understood the ^gnifi* 
cance of the changes and concerned himself with the usual old 
routine of internal politics. 

Having accoroplhhed an enonnous amount of diplomatic 
work, Clive returr>ed to Calcutta in September. A Maratha 
agent at Allahabad thus reported on Clive's performance, "the 
whole of Bengal from the sea coast up to Benares has become 
English, with no impediment between. Those who were hos¬ 
tile have become their creatures." Thus Che scheme of the con¬ 
quest of Bernal upon which the Peshwa Balajirao had set his 
heart, was executed by a foreign power. 

i. Raghuaachrao before Gohad.—The powerful Jat 
Raja SurujmaJ perished at the height of his greatn^ in fight 
against Najib Khan on 25th December 1763. His chief Queen 

Hansia alias Kani Kf^ori adopted Jawahlr^nh as her son, 
who succeeded Surajmal and continued hU vigorous career de* 
f^g all his three opponents, the Mughals, the Marathas and 
the raja of Jaipur. The Marathas recovered their position in 
a few years and appeared on the northern scene (n 176G headed 
by R'rao who, as we have already seen, parted company from 

the Peehwa at Kolhapur in February, and taJ<ing Janoji Bhosie 
with him reached Jhansi jo April, where Sindfa and Hollcar 

joined him. The Jat Rana of Gohad backed by the powerful 
arm of Jawahirsinh formed at this lime a strong antl-Maratha 
coalition, which R'rao found it iKcessary to put down. As 
plans were being formed for the reduction of Gohad, Malharrao 
Holkar died near Alampur on 20th May. creating an additional 

problem about the succession. As R'ruo's arrival heartened 
Maratha friends, ambassadors arrived from the Empeior ask¬ 
ing him to stand against the English and undo wbat Oive had 
accomplished the year before to the detriment of the Muslim 
powers. But R'rao did not agree to the task and contented 

himself with sending diplom^ic mU^ons to the various Indian 
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powers and also one tc the British at Calcutta for nego^ating 
a common agreement.* Gohad was besieged but no progress 

was made for several months, as the trans-Chambal Jata strOTg- 
1y supported the Rana of Gohad, and R’rao soon found it difTi- 

cult to extricate biir^t from an awkward job. Ilolkar and 
Gaikwad two prominent Maratha captains left him in disgust 
as their troops had received no pay for several months and were 

on ^e point of revolt. Several surprise attacks launched against 
Gohad ended in failure. The situation was saved by the me^ 
diation of Mahadji Sindia, who arranged an accommodation 
with the Rana on 2nd January 1767. He agreed to pay a fine 
of 16 lacs and the siege was raised. 

Raghunalhiao then proceeded in the direction of Dhol- 
puf to meet the Jat Jawahiisinh. He was In severe distress for 

want of money and was operating almost in a vacuum. Just 
then news arrived that Ahmad Shah AbdaJi had appeared in 

the Punjab and the two parties became anxious to avoid bosti* 
lilies. Jat .envoys met R'rao in his camp and communicated tc 
him their master's readiness to pay him some'na^ar and serve 
und^r him when necessary. The proposal was accepted and 
Jawahir wag invited to a personal interview, Bui the latter 

suspected treacliery and went away without meeting the 
Maratha generalissimo. A temporary tmee was concluded, the 
Jat agreeing to pay the balance of the subsidy promieed to 
Holkar the year before, and accepting a small jagir southwest 
of Bharatpur. Raghunathrao was compelled to retrace his 
steps to the south, in great embarrassment for money, without 

accomplishing any tangible results during one and a half years 
of hla much trumpeted expedition. In March 1767 he arrived 
in south Malwa and learning that Ahaiyabai's son Malrao had 
died on the 27th of that month, decided to Improve the occa- 
»on to his own selhsb advantage, by sebing the hoarded wealth 
of that pious lady, on the pretext that the Holkar State waa 
now hairless and d^erved to be conhscated. 

The spirited daughter-in-law of Malharrao Holkar who 
had given his very best to the Peshwa's house, was not to be 

easily cowed down. When Raghunadirao under the evil ad¬ 
vice of Gangadhar Chandrachud and Chinto Vithal ordered an 

6. Ptnmi Caitmiat S. 78, HS, 807. 
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attack upon Indore, none of hU followers would obey him. 
Abalyabai prepared to defend Indore against the wanton ag* 
gression and recnved full sympathy in her resolve from all the 
Maratha captains in R'rao’a canip< He fdt extreme irritatioa 
at such a discomfiture and saved his face by bim^f o^ering 

to call upon Ahalyabai for a condcrience visit without any 
armed folbwing. The questionofehoednganheirfor tbe State 
of Indore was referred by the lady to the Peshwa at Poona, 
and the unde could not override it He hurried back to Nasik 
in summer utterly crest-fallen with no face to confront tlie 
Peshwa. , 

This failure of H’rao had a disastrous effect upon tbe 
Maratha prestige in the north. The Jat Raja Jawahirsinh. 

hndmg that the Maratha armies had retired invaded Bundel- 
khand during the autumn of 1767 and Quickly elTected the coji- 
Quest of ail the Maratha possessions in that region right up to 
Kalpi, whose guardian Balaji Govind ICher was powerless to 
oppose him. By October practically the whole of Bundelkhand 
was lost and it became now the first concern of the Peshwa at 
Poona to put down the Jats if Maratha power had to be saved 

in the north. A mere accident came to rescue the Maratha 
portion at this time. Jawahirsinb was attadeed by the Raja 
of Jaipur and was severely defeated at Maondha near Namol 
on the Jat frontier on 14th December 1767. Jawahir’s stormy 
career came to a tragic end soon s^er, when in July 175& he 

was suddenly cut down by a favourite soldier whom he had 

disgraced. 

5. Expedition of Ramebandrs Ganesh, its results.— 
Madhavrao was all along anxious to rectify the Maratha posi¬ 
tion in the northern sphere and was able for the first time to 

make necessary preparations durir^ the monsoon of 1768 after 
he had disposed of his unde. But a few more months were lost 
in settling the rebellion of Janoji Bhosle by die treaty of Kan* 

kapur in March 1769. Then the Maratha armies under two 
able commanders Ramchandra Ganesh and Visaji Krishna be¬ 

gan their march towards the north* Mahadji Sindia and Tukojr 
Hdkar had preceded them by a few months. 

The Einperor at AH^iabad' sulking under British restraint* 

/elt encouraged'by this Maratha advent arid promised to pay 
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50 lacs if the Marathas would put down the Jat rebels. Madho- 
sinh, the Elaja of Jaipur, who had lor seveial years dominated 
the politics of north India, died on 21st December 1767, leaving 

behind him a diaotic legacy. His successor Pratap Sinh now 
joined the Marathas and so did the Nawab of Bhopal. 

Madhavrao'8 orders to his commanders were to proceed 
sMght to Delhi and take possession of the capital. But the 
Jat State opposed the Maratba advance in the region of Agra. 
Torn by dissensions that State had lost its former cohesion and 
could no longer present a formidable barrier. The fratricidal 
war between Nawalsinh and Ranjit^nh had reduced the 

strei^th of the Jats and invited foreign intervention. Ranjit- 
sinh courted Maratha aid and with these allies defeated Nawal¬ 
sinh in a closely fought action at Govardhan on 5th April 
1770. This spectacular victory over the Jats produced imme¬ 
diate results. The Marathas occupied Agra and Mathura, and 

Najib Khan who held the imperial capital opened negotiations 
and offered his co-operation in recovering the old Maratha 

possessions beyond the Jamuna. Accordingly the Maratha 
airnies crossed that river near Mathura in April 1770, and en- 

the territory of Ahmad Khan Bangash of Fanukhabad. 
The Marathas established their camp at Ramghat near the 

Ganges on the advice of Najib Khan, who now began to play 
the same old tactics that he had employed at Shukratal eleven 
years before, the only factor against him riow being that there 
was no Abdali to back him ton beyond die Indus. Ahmad 
Khan Bangash had his camp on the other side of the Ganges 
and k^t up a secret understanding with Najib Khan in ord^ 
to bring about Maratha ruin* For a time the Marathas found 
themselves in a critical position at Ramghat, having been com> 
pletely surrounded by hostile Path an elements. Being inform¬ 
ed of this situation of his aiiDies, the Peshwa immediately pre¬ 
pared to despatch from the south another stror^ force for thcii* 
relief. Happily, however, the Maratfia captains had grown 
wiser by past experience, and with dever tactics managed to 
save their situation on the Ganges by slowly retiring to safer 
positions on the Jamuna, Tust at this moment of ciisia, Najib 

Khan died on 31st October 1770 on his way to his home at 
Najibabad, thereby greatly relieving Maratha anxieties. His 
son Zabela Khan inherited his father’s power and property. 
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The Peshwa on Jeaming of The safety of his armies in the 

north, gave up the idea of aendii^ relief to them. 
The Bangaah Nawab failed to grasp the import of the 

clever tactics which the Maratha commander had followed 
in planning a temporary withdrawal and efTecting a complete 

separation between the two Pathan winp, the Bangaah and 
the Rohilla. Ramchandra, as soon aa he learnt that Najib 
IChan was dead, placed Zabeta Khan, who was then in the 
Maratha camp, in detention. Bui Tukoji Holkar true to the 
txaditiona of Malharrao, managed to save Zabeta Khan by 
secretly removing him away and settir^ him free from his 
confinement. 

As soon as Zabeta Khan became free, he repaiitd to tlie 
Emperor and wrested the office of Mir Bakshi from him. 

With this additional authority he marched against Ramcliajidra- 
pant in the Doab. The rains were over by this time, the 
Maratha strategy was perfect. Kamchandra and Mahadji act¬ 
ed in full ccK)peration and completely oveicaine the forces of 
the Bangash and the Rohillas. They captured Etawa and 

marched on Famikhabad on 15th December 1770. Ahmad 
Khan now in a t^ubdued mood, begged for life, ceding to the 
Marathas all the territory that they had possessed before the 
day of Panipat. Ahmad Khan felt this mortification so SW* 

rely that he died in grief on Uth July 1771. The former Mara¬ 
tha position was completely retrieved. 

How keenly Madhavrao watched and how anxiously he 
directed the operations of this northern expedition, is found 
cleady explained in a recent find of a letter addressed by hirn 
on 2l8t December 1770 to his commandants Ramchandra: 
Ganesh and Visajt Krishna.^ He writes,— 

"It is now over twenty mcmlhs ^ce you were asked to 
proceed to the north with a force numbwing seme fifty thou¬ 
sand led by picked captains. Never slum the celebrated ex¬ 

pedition of Bhau Saheb to Panipat had such a large forco 
advanced to that region. You were invested with full powers*, 
and asked to reduce the Jat and other rulers who had thrown 
off their allegiance to our government and to impress upon the 

Rajputs, the Sikhs and the Abdali king that the Maratha rul& 

7, /tir SoxAirNd Sek, 7 p, 42. 
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had ^ain been as vigorously restored in north India as before. 
Full confidence was reposed in your capacity and valour to 
achieve these objects, and thereby to bring in a plentiful sup* 
ply of money contributions. The two experienced chiefs of 
the houses of Sindia and HoUcar, the main props of our State, 
were purposely associated with you in your present under¬ 
taking. 

“ It seems, however, that you have not all been workii^ in 
full co-operation. Holkar and Sindia are openly at loggerheads 

and you two are not woridi^ in perfect union either. Fortu¬ 
nately you have obtained a grand victory over the Jat raja, 
but in the end little substantial benefit has resulted from that 
victory. You have also had consultations with Shuja-ud-daula, 
but have not succeeded in taking from him the possession of 
the two holy places, Benares and Prayag, a longstanding claim 

which you should have obtained. Your dealings with the Ro- 
hilUs have yielded no better results, altiwugh the death of the 
wicked Najib-ud-daula offered you a most favourable opportu¬ 
nity of obtaining satisfaction for all the past wrongs. You 
can now easily talce possession of Delhi and give the Wazirship 

to Shuja and not to Ghazi-ud-din who has ickt all credit. You 
must control Najib’s son Zabeta Khan without doing him any 
harm or indignity- In fact, you have now a golden oppertuni* 

ty before you and you must turn it to the best advantage. This 
is possible only 11 you all act in perfect concert. You all well 
know how disunity and self-seeking have ruined our interests in 
the past You must realise that each one’s personal interest is 
best served by working for the united gpod of all- Rest assur¬ 
ed that your master the Feshwa will amply reward your indivi¬ 

dual merit." 

6. British opposition to Maiatha Plans,—During all 
these events the ant^nlsm between the two leading Maratha 
sardars, Sindia and Holkar, contintied to hamper Maratha ope« 

rations, with no master on the spot to control their activities. 
Neither Ramchandra Ganesh nor Visaji Krishna could dictate 
orders to these powerful hereditary chiefs: but for 'a time these 
two Brahman commanders and Mahadji brought severe pres¬ 
sure upon Tukoji and compelled him to give up Zabeta Khan 

whom he had sheltered- The Jats who had been humbled early 
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in Che year, were negotiating for peace. A treaty was eignert 
on Sth September 1770, by which Nawalainh agreed to pay 
65 laca by way of expenses to the Maraihas ; and his brother 
Ranjitsinh gave up his claim to the,Jat Kingship, receiving 

for hia maintenance a jagir worth twenty lacs. In tius way the 
two wars, the one with the Jats and the other with the Rohillas 

and Che Pathans, came to a successful close, thereby clearing 
the ground for the settlement of the Emperor's position, So 
loj^ as these ne^bbouring powers of Ddhl were hostile, no 
headway could be made with the central plan of restoring 
Mamtha influence at the capital. 

Readers may be aware that for some years i the Emperor 
Shah Alain's affairs were managed by his diief advi^ Mi ran 
Najaf Klian, who was a protege of the British and, being in 
their pay, opposed any plan, of the Emperor to trust his for¬ 
tunes to Maratha management, in prefer^ce to the British 
protection which he was enjoying at Allahabad. Another strong 
supporter of the British cause was Balavant SInh, die Baja 
of Benares, whose death on 23rd August 1770 removed the last 
obstacle to the esUblishment of Maratha Influence at the im¬ 
perial Court. The British always dreaded a combination of 

northern powers under Maratha hegemony, and had since the 
day of Plassey made it the main object of their policy to op¬ 

pose such a combina^on. Mir Qarim and the Nawab of Bengal 
also woriced strongly against their British antagonists. As the 

Emperor would be the central figure of any hcetile combina¬ 
tion, the British held him tightly in thdr grip at Allahabad. 

None understood these currents and cross-currents of the poli¬ 
tical situation better than the Emperor himself. Twelve years 
had pa.Ased since the murder of his father and yet he, a home¬ 
less wanders all the time, was no nearei* the goal of his ambi¬ 
tion. He had amply judged what benefits he could expect from 
his British protectors, and what faith he could place in their 
sweet professions. Now as the Marathas appeared on the rK3r- 

them scene, swiftly restoring their lost prestige, the Emperor 
called upon his British patrons either to advance and oppose 
the Maratha egression openly, or allow him freely to chwse 
his own way. Mere soothing premises had been too much for 
him to bear with patience, He would no longer be satisfied witli 
specious promises and demanded immediate action, not ad- 
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vice. He said lie was no Emperor without the possession of 
Ddhi. 

So when the Maratha forces were campii^ in the Doah 
in 1770, Shuja-ud-daula visited Earochandra Ganesh on be* 
half of the ^pcror. On lOlh August the Emperor himself 

wrote to RajPChandrapant. "we are glad to receive your as¬ 
surance that the strictest harmony exists between you and our 
brother the Wa^ir Shu;a-ud*dauJa and ycur promise to out 
rival the Waar and the English in serving the interests of our 
Empire. We have full faith in your loyalty and attadiment. 

If you act as you profess, we will also look upon you as gra¬ 
ciously.” The Emperor wrote similar letters to the other 
Maratha leaders and to the Peshwa also, showing how im¬ 
patient he had become to reach the capital under their 
protection. 

7. The Emperor restored to Delhi_The Emperor's 
mother Zenat M^al also urg:ed him to the same course, vis.^ 
to accept Maratha protection. He deputed Mirza Najaf IChan 
to meet the Maratha generals and arrange the details. In order 

to put pressure on Shall Alam, Sindia threatened to raise an¬ 
other Emperor to the throne and make Ghazi-ud-din then liv¬ 
ing in the Maratha camp the Wazir. This thi'eat had immediate 
effect- Early in 1771 Mahadji directed his attention to the 
capture oi Delhi, which was then held by Zabeta Khan. Sindia 

advanced with his forces sjid took possession of the capital 
on loth February. He placed Jawan Bakht (Shah Alam’s 
son) on the throne and offered him nazar- The occupation 
of Delhi proved highly beneficial to the Maratha cause. Or 

I2th February Shah Alam ratified a formal agreement with 
the Maratha agents and left Allahabad on Friday 12th April 
on his journey for Delhi. He reached Famikhabad on 26th 
July and halted there for some time arranging his affairs for 

his eventual position. On 16th November he reached Anup* 
shahr. where Mahadji &ndia came and made his obeisance. 
Thence they travelled together to Delhi and made a fonnal 

entry into the capital on 6th January 1772 (n.s.). The Mara- 
thas thus regained the position ^ich SadasWvrao Bhau had 
lost by the disaster of Panipat The Feshwa on hearing of 
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this development communicdted some pertibent reflections to 

his general in the north: 
“ I quite appreciate the value of a performance which the 

English desisted from undcrtaJdng. I should, however, iilce to 
know what amount ol money and territory the Emperor has 

given you. You have now been out there kr three saesons- 
The Emperor has attained his cherished object, but 1 don't 
see what you have gained. Our men have shed their blood, in 
return for which you must acquire money and territory pro¬ 
portionate to the sacrifice. Have you at least freed the holy 

places of Kashi and Prayag from Muslim controf ? You must 
likewise recover the cost of the troops employed and the debts 
our Government have incurred in this venture. The English 
if they had been so minded, did certainly possess the strength 
to place the Emperor on his ancestral throne : but as their 
power Is mainly based on the sea, they declined to go a long 
way inland without a corresponding advantage. Now, you must 
remember never to allow the English to make a lodgment at 
Delhi. If they once obtain a footing, they can never be dis¬ 
lodged. Of all the European nations, Che English are certainly 
the strongest. They have seised strategic points and have 
formed a ring round the Indian continent, from Calcutta to 
Surat." These prophetic words of the Peshwa exhibit hia grasp 
of the political situation of this country and bis impatience to 
prevent their further aggression.^ 

The Emperor was thus firmly seated on his hereditary 
throne, and as ZabeCa Khan was now the only person who was 
capable of doing mischief towards the Mamlhas, Mahadji and 
Visaji Krishna with the Emperor at their bead, marched againsl 
him in the Doab in February 1772, and subdued all his terri¬ 
tory of RohiJkhand. Again did Zabeta Khan entrench himself 
at Shukratal, which Mahadji captured on 4th March. The 

Khan eccaped in the darkness of the night to the territory of 
Bijnor. He was hotly pursued right up to Najibabad, known 

then by the name of Patthaigad, or stone fort, which also the 
Marathas captured in April, along with Zabeta Khan's family. 
He then escaped to the northern jungles. AC this time Mahadji 

avenged the wroi^s and atrocities that the traitor Najib had 

g. Ksi/iytUs and Yadis, p. 159, 
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lonnerly inflicted upon the Sindian house. The Rofulla s tomb 
was opened and his remains scattered. Whatever was found 
existing from the spoils taken at Pazupat was recovered, 
induding* as the report goes, even some Maratha women. 
Immense booty was obtained including horses, depliants, giuis 

and valuables. Mahadji ever after felt a legitimate pride as 
an avenger of past injuries. The Kohillas were a race ede- 

brated tor valour, but not a single member of that race would 
come forth boldly to stand in opposidon to tlie Marathas at 
this time. Zabeta Khan thereupon sought shelter with the 
jals and the Sikhs. The news of tliese successes reached Poona 
in May and gladdened tlie dying Peshwa's heart. The Mara* 
Tha forces returned to the capital for the rains. 

It was no small comfort to the Peshwa to feel that he 
was after all able to wipe off fully the disgrace of Panipat and 
to restore Maratha power to a position which his three great 

ancestors had toiled to build up. Zabeta Khan alone remain* 
ed as a disturbing Factor in the sphare of Delhi. The Era- 
pe'or too out of selhsh motives would not albw him to be 

. crushed. Shah Alam was i^haps the most faithless and intri¬ 
guing person known to Indian history, and proved a perennial 
problem for Mahadji to handle. He alone, however, served 

him to the last and did his best to save his life and dignity 
in the most dangerous situations. Nor was Shuja'ud daula 
happy at the rising tide of Maratha fortunes, and instead of 

joining the Marathas in resisting British aggression, became 
the foremost Indian chid in planting Bntiah supremacy' in 
India.® 

It is DOl necessary to emphasise the weakness of the Mara¬ 
tha chaiactcr aa evidenced by the divided counsel existing in the 

Maratha camp during the momentous expedition that has just 
been described. There was no controlling voice of a r^pected 

master on the spot, and it is no wonder if divergent views pre¬ 
vailed in questions of war and policy. Holkar never gave 

KlBtory amply words haw Indian ItbertSea were bartered away 

mainly fiy the four Mualim poUntateii of Oudh, Mur^ldsbad. Arcot and 

Haidaxabad. Not a aingk Hindu joined in dtii unholy lame until Ihc 

end of the eiihtecnth century, when, at tha ad%‘tnt of WellKley, there 

refaained net a ungle Hindu iHder to r««<U the on?rard inarch of the 
British po^r. 
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up his old game of ghielding the Rohjlla chiefs and exasperated 
Mahadji beyond measure. Vlaaii Krishna's sane and conci* 

liaUuy attitude alone saved the situation. He befriended 2a beta 
Khan and restored his family to him on payment of a ransom. 
The Emperor continued to practise his treachery and managed 
secretly to bring about a wanton attack upon the Maratha 
camp at Delhi on 18th December 1772. The attack miserably 
failed of rffect and the Emperor was compelled to make abject 
submission. But before the Impenal administration at Delhi 

and in the north could settle down to nomal conditions, the 
Pe^wa was dead at Poona, and his brother die next Peshwa 
came to be sadly murdered, whidi led to the withdrawal of the’ 

Maratha forces then in the north. 





CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTORXXV 

1764-67 

1766, Nov. 

1767, January 

1767, Februar? 

1767, May 

1767, June 

1767, Sept 

1767, Oct 13 
1767, cloaing months 

1767-69 

1768, early moulha 

FrloioQ between the Peshwa and Raghunath* 

rao reaches a dimax. 

Peahwa proceeds Co Karxuitak. 

The Peshwa holds a BurpiUe inspectloo of his 

forces. 

The Peshwa captures Shira; exteods protect 

lion to Che IRani of Bednur. 

The Peshwa hurriedly closes Karnatak opera* 

tions and returns to Riona, 

Raghunathrao returns discomfited to Nasils 

and begins preparations for a conflict with 

the Peshwa. 

They two meet at Anands'alli. 

An 3gr6emer\t reached between them. 

Raghunathrao starts fresh intrigue. 

Haidar AU regains lost ground in the Kar< 

iialak. 

The Peshwa and Raghunathrao prepare for 

1768, April 19 

1768, May 

1768, June 10 

1768, Aug. 18 

1768, Sept, 

1768, Dec. 

1769, January 

1769, March 

1769, March 23 

1769, April 18-24 

Ra^unaChrao adepts a son, Amiitrao. 

The Peshwa advances against hie uncle near 

Na&lL 

Battle of Dhodap: RaghunaChrao routed, cap¬ 

tured and confined at Poona. 

Damaii Gaikwad dies. 

Janoji Bhosle rises agaiost tlie Peshwa. 

The I^shwa restrains Damaji Gaikwad’s sons. 

The Peshwa joined by the Nizam's f^ces 

inarches upon Na^ur; the Blioele brotbors 

ravage the Peshwa’s teiritof^'. 

Janoji surrounded; he opens negotiations for 

peace. 

Treaty of Kanakapur arranged. 

Ceremonial visits of P^wa & Bhoste. 
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1769, ending 
months. 

1770, Jan. 
1770, Feb. 

1770, April 30 
1770, May 

1770, Oct. 19 
1770, Dec 

1771, Jan, 17 

1771, Mamh S 

1772, Maith 

1772, May 18 

1772, June 
1772, Oct. 6 

Expedition sent to north India, 

The Peshwa m the Karnatak. 

Niaam Ali and ,Murarrao join tbe Feshwa. 
Fort Kijgal captured ; Narayanrao wounded. 
Illness compels Peshwa to return from Kar- 

natalx. 
Fort GuiTumkonda capCured by Pethe. 
The P^iwa starts toi' Kaniatalc, but is com* 

pelled to return, leaving the war to 
Trimbakrao Pethe to complete, 

Gopalrao Patwardhan dies. 
Pethe's great victory over Haidar AU at Motl 

T^av, (i.e. Chtnlcurali) 
The ailing Peahwa brings Kaghunathiao to 

his presence and entrusu Narayaniao to his 

care. 
Janoji Bhcksle dies after his visit to the 

peshwa. 
Trimbakrao recalled from the Knrnatak 
Raghunathrao escapes from confinement, but 

is secured. 



CHAPTER XXV 

INTERNAt AFFAIRS OF THE STATE 

{1765—1772} 

1 for A RIumU broubc co otgdieace. 
piinj<i(Mi, ^ Utfuiri Ga>KWAd*9 datih, 

2 RMhuBiibrAA ISMlly ovc^ 9 'Wu wuh Hildar AU r«fi«w6d. 
c«oe, (1761-1772), 

1. Raghunathrao’s demand for pa rrition,—Since the 
Pftshwa's success at Rakshasbhuvan Raghimathmo had been 
realizing that he was eclipsed by bis nephew’s increa^ng 
pnstige and moral greatness. He could only make a Iheatri- 
cal exhibition of his inhereut weakness, which the fulsome flat¬ 
tery of his ixnmediate comrades like Chinto Vtthal served 
only to enhance. Raghunathrao’s wife Anandibai was 
probably too young at the time to advise him lor 
better or worse. The Peshwa did his utmost to keep* him 
contented and got out ot him whatever good woHc he was 

capable of. The Peshwa^s mother Gopikabai, sick of the con¬ 
stant turmoil, followed the same course and went to live in 
the naghbourhood of Hasik, seeking peace in pious contcmpla* 
tion. A report from Raghunathrao's quarters says, " Chinto 
Vitbal is Dada*s sole adviser. Some of Hoiksr’s party have 

joined here and keep him in humour. A cnotley has assembled, 
each one with a selflah motive, with little regard for the inte¬ 

rests of the State. The Shrimant is extremriy fkide-minded. 
Every wise counsel from sane persons is misrepresented to him. 
He expressed his desire to solemnly make the vow of flre-wor- 
ship iagnihotia). Pr^rations were quid^ly made; all the 
earthwork and brickwork for the altars were completed ; and 
just at the moment when cermiony was to start, Dads 

suddenly declared, ‘ I can't stand this wearisome job' and threw 
all the brick conatnictinns into the Godavari. Priests had been 
brought from long distances in palanquins with bearers sup¬ 
plied for ad ; and now when they had all assembled, they have 
been dismissed. Chinto VicHal fs bent upon ruining the 

V. H. rr—34 
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Maratha State.” This little incident well illustrates the whim- 

slcal nature ot Raghunathrao. 
More than once during the recent years did Madhav- 

rao personally and in writing, remonstrate with bis unde, 
strongly complainir^ tliat bis sardars flagrantly disobeyed his 
commands and anight refuge with his uncle and obtained pro* 

lection. This undermined the Peshwa's authority and could 
not be tolerated in the wider interests of the State. These re¬ 
monstrances fell on deaf and the Peshwa found himself 
thwarted at every step on account of the dual authority ope¬ 
rating in the administration. He placed all his cards openly 
on the table; but Raghunathrao shifted bis ground, and every 
minute succumbed to tale-bearers who distorted every word and 

action of the Peshwa.' 

In his letters to his unde’s adherents, the Peshwa paihcu* 
larly urged that all owed loyal service to the State; the uncle . 
asked for partition, which would reduce its strei^;th and invite 
its enemies to fall upon it. He would therefore not be a party 

to any such division. He would rather surrender his Peshwa- 
ship and place himself at his uncle’s service. 

The situation reached its climax at Poona in the autumn 
of 1765, when the two chiefs came together face to face and 
held acrimonious discussions for over a month. Madhavrao 

explained his policy to Raghunathrao’s confidant Chinto 
Vitbal: ” Ours is a large State which deserves to be sustained 
hy all, small or great. Dada Saheb however demands a parti¬ 

tion. I cannot be a party to such a foolish measure. The 
age-long practice has bew that full responsibility is centred 
In one person, exercising undivided control over all members. 
He is to provide for all according to his best ju(^nient. Dada 
Saheb’s demand amounts to aettii^ aside this time-honoured 
practice. He asks for the possession of Gujarat for himself 
and a number of forts to be placed under his exclusive manage¬ 
ment. This !$ certainly not the way to preserve the Slate in¬ 
tact. I am Quite willing to withdraw entirely from public 
affairs and take up my residence in a far away comer. But 1 

will not allow the . State to be thus partitioned. Let Dada- 

1. For insUDce tbe affair of Naro Kruhna cnay be Uudied in P. 0. 
19, 52 ; Peueyadi 211, 213 ; Rs). 13, U. 
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5aheb alone exercise the supreme pcpwer. 1 shall be content to 
do what little I can if he requires it of roe. This in my opinion 
is the only solution of our present troubles.” 

A number of letters of this type speaJ? clearly how the two 
.parties were disposed to each other. After a good deal of deli- 
bcration Raghunathrao agreed to undertake an independent 

task on his own exclusive responsibility unhampered by the 
Peshwa, and the demand for partition was for the time shelved. 
In February 1766 Raghunathiao proceeded to the north and 
the Peshwa returned to Poona after a friendly meeting with 
Nizam Ali. How Kaghunathrao mismanaged this norlhem 
enterprise has been already described. 

2. Raghunathrao finally overcome.—After his dismal 
failure in his contest with the Rana of Gohad, Raghunathrao 
returned discomfited to Nasik in June 1767, violently chafing 

at heart and throwing the blame of his failure upon his nephew. 
Once more the old fissure reappeared in a dreadful form, strain¬ 

ing their mutual relations and making them so su^fous of 
each other, that they would not openly meet together. Bent 
upon puttir^ the dispute to the arbitration of the sword, 
R^unathrao began to raise troops and make war4ike prepa¬ 
rations at Nasik. 

During the past two years the Pesbwa's high character 
and capacity had been amply exhibited, in sev^ conU^ to 
the low reputation of his unde. Everybody well understood 
Che merits of the domestic di^te. Raghunathrao’s nefarious 
activities filled the Pesbwa's Court with alarm. The various 

sardars and leaders were approached by botli for armed help. 
Keepers of forts began to be seduced. While a large number 
of public servants were neutral at heart, their loyalties came 
now to be divided. There was an all round commotion in 
the country as preparations grew apace for an armed conflict. 

Madhavrao removed Sakharam Bapu from office, on account 
of his dubious loyalty and appointed Moroba Biadnis as his 
immediate seaetary. The Peshwa showed great forbearance 
and commenced negotiations with his unde thrm^h Govind 
Shivram, whom he deputed to meet the unde and adjust thdr 

difTerences on some reasonable basis. But Govind Shivrazn 
failed in his mis^on, and the Peshwa specially selected Sakha- 
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ram Bapu aixi sent him to Kaghunathrao to negotiate a peace¬ 
ful solution and avoid extremitiea. Sakharam Bapu enjoyed 
KaRhunathrao's con/ldence and arranged a peraoaal meeting 
of the two (^efa. As a last resort the Pe^wa left the capital 
to meet hia uude and decide the dispute in person. Large 

forces accompanied them both and the atmosphere became stir- 
diarged with suspicionfor a long while a personal meeting 
between them became impossible. When the Peshwa was at 
Pshuri nearly half way between Nadk and Poona, Chinto 
Vithal arrived from Dada to negotiate an understanding; after 

a good deal of discue»on and reference backwards and forwards, 
the unde and the n^bew met near Chandore on 12th Sept¬ 
ember and proceeded together to Anandvalli by easy marches. 

The Peshwa was now bent upon seeking a final issue ol 
the conflict and directly demand^ complete surrender from 

Haghunatbrao or an appeal to the decision of aims. He 
purposely assumed a stem and uncompromiBing attitude and 
abandoned the fruitless formalities of the previous years. This 
sudden change in the Peshwa's attitude could not be mistaken, 
and Raghunathrao climbed down in his pretensions. There¬ 

upon numerous drafts and proposals were committed to paper, 
the one procrastinating, the other pressing for decision. When 

thus for^ to decide. Haghunathrao spoke out. ‘'You are the 
Peshwa and the master. 1 have no concern with your adminis¬ 
tration." He agreed to retire on condition that his debts of 25 
lacs inoirred in the northern expedition were paid off and a 
suitable maintenance was provide, enabling him to lead a life 
of resignation at some holy place. Though it was a heavy res¬ 

ponsibility, the Peshwa. anxious to dose the affair finally in a 
peaceful manner, agreed to the demand, asldng in turn the deli¬ 
very of the forts of Ahmad nagar, Ashlrgad, Shivnar and Satara 
then held by Kagbunathrao. ^ likewise agreed to assign a jagir 
of tec lacs for the latlei's maintenance. This arrangement was 
ra^fied on the Dassara day (3 October, 17S7), and dresses were 
exchanged In apparent reconciliation. After spending a few 

days at Anandvdli, the Peshwa and his uncle parted company. 

This agreement proved only a t«nporary truce. By it 

R^hunathrao lost the high position and influence he had so 
long wdelded in the State, a humiliation which stung him aeve- 
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rely. He immediately started his intrigues with Nizam 
AJi, Haidar AJi, Damaji Gaikwad, Janoji Bhosle and others, up¬ 

on whose attachment he had long counted. At this time the Bri¬ 
tish mission under Mostyn arrived in Poona : Mostyn's assis¬ 

tant Brome visited Haghunathrao at Nasik, had several inter¬ 
views with him (from 19 I>ecember 1767), and promised him 
British help if he would take up arms against the Peshwa. 
When Madhavrao learned of these activities oi his unde, he felt 
extremely annoyed and regretted very much that he had not 
once for all dealt severely with the latter last September and 
finished him at a stroke. He again called up his forces and 
marched in the direction of Nasik. Damaji Gaikwad and 
Holkar's Dewan Gangoba Tatya openly espoused Raghumth- 
rao's cause; while Tukoji Holkar chose to remain neutral, but 
Mahadji Sindia came and joined the Peshwa. 

Raghunathrao had no male issue and he in order to lend 
colour to his cause, formally adopted on 19th April a boy from 
a different family and named him Ainiitrao. This meant that 

R^hunathiao had reverted to his former demand of a hall 
share in the Peshwa’s dominion, This was an emphatic chal¬ 
lenge to the Peshwa. Ra^unathrao's plan was to put off the 
campaign to a more suitable time after the rains: but the 
Peshwa refused to let him choose his own convenience. In May 
he rapidly moved in Kagbimathrao's direction giving him no 
chance to escape. The latter was f(nmd camping below fort 
Dhodap. When he heard of the approach of the Pcshwa's army, 
he lost his nerve and hastUy took shelter in that hill fort, 
thus shattering the popular belief of his intrepidity as a soldier. 
Gopalrao Patwardhan and other lieutenants of the Peshwa 
dashed against Raghunathrao’s army and made a clean sweep 

of it on lOth June. F^om amo:^ Raghunathrao's adherents 
Chinto Vithal was captured wounded and his brother Moro- 
pant was killed, Sadashiv Ramchandra saved his life by flight. 
Much booty In horses, elephants and material was secured. 
The Peshwa now demanded bis uncle’s unconditional surren¬ 
der. The latter had no alternative. He came down and sur¬ 
rendered his person and the fort. He was immediately made 
prisoner, taken to Poona and kept closely confined in 
the palace. It will thus be seen that this unsesnly contest 
lasted intemriltently for foil seven yearn from June 1761 to 
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June 1768; and the trouble and anxiety of it contributed 
to tbe break down in the Peehwa's health more than any 

other cause. 
Instead of following the Muslim practice of doing short 

work with opponents, tbe Peshwa behaved with unexampled 
generosity to bis uncle. He was given all personal comforts 

and facilities during his condneznent Kagbunatbiao, however, 
did not take his defeat manfully. Trivial complaints constantly 
poured out from him, to enforce which he resorted to fasting 
and other methods of self-torture. Peports came that he per¬ 
formed sunworship and incantations in order to encompass the 

min of the He maintained a large useless establish* 
men I of Pandits, musicians, Haridaaaa, in addition to a large 

body of servants and retainers along with a number of concu¬ 
bines. All this was intended to spite the Peshwa by compell¬ 
ing him to bear the enormous expense. Raghunathrao's ambi¬ 

tion in life was to shine forth aa the legitimate Peshwa, which 
he coidd not fulfil during Madhavrao's regime. When after 

three years of confinement the latter felt his end was near in 
March 1772, be sent for his uncle, begged him moat carn^tly 

to forget the past and take care of his young brother Narayan- 
rao after he was gone. But this tragic and solemn appeal fail¬ 
ed to create in Raghunathrao any lasting sentiment either of 
duty or of afTecdon. He did not scruple to create fresh trouble 
for the Peahwa and disturb his peace in death. On 6th October 

1772, that is, six weeks before the Peshwa's death. Raghunath- 
rao effected hia escape from the Poona palace, and began to 
collect troops in order to seize the Peshwashlp. He was imme¬ 
diately pursued, captured once more at Tulapur. and sent back 
to confinement. 

The Maratha State had fallen on evil times. The Chhatra- 
pati's house collapsed after Shahu’s death. The Peshwa’a house 

was about to suffer a similar fate after the third Peshwa’s death. 
Fortunatdy hia son Madhavrao came to iCa rescue, although he 

had to waste years of precious life in overcoming the mischief 
in his own family. This domestic feud did not fail to affect the 
other membera of tlie State, viz.. Sindia, Holkar, Gaikwad and 

Bhosle, who were now its four main props, and whom the same 
e\1I contagion affected in a greater or less degree. The 
first two have been incidentally dealt with in the foregoing nar- 
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rative. The Iasi two deserve a special mention, We shall first 
deal with the Bhosle of Nagpur. 

3. Bhosle brought to obedience.—This family from 
the beginning allowed an unwiiiingness to submit to the 
Pesliwa's authority and never realized that under the politi¬ 
cal circumstances of the times, they could not maintain their 
own individual existence without the support of the central 
Governmenl, They were ever ready to take advantage of the 
PeshVila’s difficulties and could not be depended upon in a case 
of emergency, a tendency which the spirited Peshwa was not 

going to tolerate. In the year 1766 Janoji Bhosle was bumbled 
g jhort campaign and was let off liglitly on account of 

Raghunathrao’s intercession on his behalf. Janoji, however, sue* 
cumbed to the wicked advice of his minister Dewajjpant and 
Parted his old game of intriguing against the Peshwa and violat¬ 
ed the agreement contracted in 1766. Some two years passed 
and the Peshwa after dispo^ng of bis uncle at the battle of 
Dhodap in June 1768, decided to teach a severe lesson Co Janoji 

who had coquetted with the Peshwa's enemies, Madhavrao 
3«it for the Nagpur minister Dewajipant for a personal visit 
at Poona. The latter refused to obey the summons and avoid' 

ed a meeting with the Peshwa, but at the same time con¬ 
ducted infonnal intrigues with Raghunathrao and the Bridsh 
deCrimenlal to the Peabwa'a authority. On 2l8t Septenib?r 
Madhavrao wrote to Janoji, “ Your agent Chimnaji Kukman- 
gad has come and offeied an explanation on your behalf, but 

I w^t Dewajipant here at once for setjling our dispute.” He 
again wrote a month later calling upon both Janoji and hU 

minister peremptorily to come and meet him. When this stern 
wamici}23 fell upon deaf ears, the Peshwa at once opened hosti< 
lities against Bhosle and mardied upon his territory through 
Berar and threatened to capture Nagptir itself. Dewaji- 
pant realised the peril he was running into and came to meet 

the Peshwa in Berar. He was at once pul under arrest, a step 
which Irritated Janoji all the more. 

The Peshwa had organized a strong expedition under Rain* 
Chandra Ganesh to be despatched to the north. He now divert¬ 

ed these forces and ordered that general to fall upon Nagpur, 
and ravage the Bhosle's territory, Gopalrao Patwardhan 
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who had bten a^ed Co move into< the Karnatak was 
unmediaCdy recalled and an all round o^ensive opened against 
the Bhosle brothers In response to thd Peshwa'a request for 
military help, Nizam AU despatched his forces under his minis* 
ter Ruknud-daula with Ramchandra Jadhav supporting him. 
Thus reinforced the Peshwa began aggressive movements in 
the Bhosle raja's territory and captured the fort of Amner 

without much effort. He did not thus take long to seize the 
Bhosle possessions of Berar right up to the river Wardha. 
Early in January 1769 the Peshwa marched upon Nagpur and 
Ramchandra Ganesh reduced Bhandara. A severe action was 
fought on 10th January at Panchgavan near Akola, in which 

Narahar Ballal Risbud an able commander of the Bhosles was 

killed,« 
All this while Diwakar Pandit frwn bis confinement in 

the Maratha camp man^d to conduct intrigues with his 
master, communicating to him vital informadon and directing 

plans and measures for overcomiz^ the Peshwa. Acting on 
this advice Janoji who had formed his base at Chanda and bc> 
ing unable to meet the Peshwa’s strength with his small force, 
had adopted guerilla tactics, gave out that he would march 
upon Poona, liberate Raghunathrao and Instal him in the 

Peshwa's seat. He crossed the Godavari and began merdless* 
ly ravaging the territories of his opponents. Madhavrao was 
compelled to give- up his objective of reducing Chanda and 
hurriedly despatched Ramchandra Ganesh and Gopalrao Pat- 
wardlian in pursuit of Janoji to prevent him from reaching 
Poona. For three or four days durii^ February Poona was 
in great alarm and confuson on account of the false reports 

spread by Janoji. The Peshwa took prompt measures for coun¬ 
teracting these r^rts and relieving the people of unnecessary 

fears. 
Janoji was hardly able to make good his words. After 

croasing the Godavari, he began plundering the Nizam’s pos* 
sessions in the vicinity of Bhalkl and Medak. But he was closely 

pursued by Ramchandra Ganesh and Gopalrao. and was so 
harassed that his troops had actually to starve during a vexa¬ 

tious runnii^ %ht which continued over long distances throu^- 

2. P. D. 20. 200410 and 224. 
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out the month of March. Janoji came graduaJly to be sw- 

Tounded in the region of the midie Godavari and was compdl- 
ed to save himself by seeking shelter in the forests of Chinui 
situated in the Andhra country. Wrileg Haiipant Pharike 
on 13th March, “ The Peshwa arrived yesterday at Kanakapur 
on the north bank of the Godavari. Janoji is hidii^ in the 
jungles of Chinur about 60 miles eastwards. Gopalrao is at 
Brahmeshwar." At this stage Janoji's brother Mudhoji joined 
the Peshwa, realirii^ that the former was now in a helpless 
situation. The exhaustion of both the parties induced 
them to seek a teimination of their hostilities by coming to a 
mutual accommodation. Gopalrao acted as the mediator. 
'The Peshwa addressed a conciliatory appeal to Janoji expound¬ 
ing the brilliant prospect of a joint national endeavour, 
and inviting him to a personal interview. The Peahwa’s 
magnanimous offer did not fail to evoke a graceful 
response from Bhosle, as they both came to realize 
the wisdom of serving the Maratha State, forgetting the past 
and sincerely co-operating for the national intere^. The Peshwa 

gave his sacred word in the name of his revered father and his 
family deity, that he would wholeheartedly and dnoerely exert 

himsdf in promoting the highest good of the State. The 
Peshwa sent his emUsariee to fetch Janoji, and when he arriv¬ 
ed he was welcomed at some distance on 18th April by 
Moroba Fhadnis and Haripant Phadke on behalf of the 
Peshwa. On 24th April the Peshwa and Bhosle net in a grand 
<er«nDny of enthu^astic reception near Mehkar and held 
cordial discusaions, in which Nizam All's representative Rukn- 
ud-daula fully participated.* 

A treaty of mutual friendship was then drawn up and 

was ratified at Kanakapur or Bratoe^war, places opposite to 
each other at the confluence of the two rivers the Godavari and 

the Manjra, where the two camps moved during the 
interval for convenience of food and water. The docu¬ 
ment contains 19 articles written in the form of demands 
and replies and amounting in substance to an agree¬ 
ment by Janoji, that he and his house would ever irni^iddy 

4. P. D. S. 20. 2S7, 258, 263, 264, 268-270, 274, 278. AU. P«/ro- 
pyavahar 116*I18, 
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obey the Peshwa as the head of the Waratha State; that he 
would not increase the ^escribed number of his army; tttat 
he would serve the Peshwa with five thousand troops whenever 
and wherever called upon to do so; that he would pay a tribute 
of 5 lacs yearly ; and that he would conduct no intrigue against 
the State with any foPHgo power.* 

It was discovered durir^ these loi^ drawn transactioiis 
that the root cause of the Peshwa-Bhosle trouble was the mis¬ 
chief created by Dewajipanl, who was declared to be an un* 
desirable character unwordty of trust The Peshwa convinced 
Janoji how dangerous it was to keep him in hia service. Janoji 

at the instance of the Peshwa kept the Pandit closely confined.. 
All this happy result however came to be nullified vAen Uie 
Peshwa and Janoji were both dead. Diwakar Pandit was set 
free and resumed hia old intrigues to the detriment of the 
Marafha State. History records how he played into the hands 

of Warren Hastings. 

This war of short duration between the Peshwa and the 
Bhosles of Nagpur and its happy termination mark the signal 
triumph of this Peshwa's policy at once stern and conciliatory, 
which brought into closer union several disaHected members 

of the Maratha State- An attempt was for the first time made 
to define dearly the relations between the Central power and 
its feudatory members, The treaty of Kanakapur marks a 
distinct departure from the previous policy of appeasement and 
corruption. The Peshwa reached this consummation by slow 
stages, in which he first made his neighbour Nizam Ali a friend 
and dijanned hia unde's power of mischief. 

4. Dama/i Gaik wad’a death—The Gaikwads of 
Baroda, the Bhosles of Nagpur, the Sindias and the Holkais 
were now left as the four principal subordinate vassals, upon 
whom the Peshwa depended for the defence of the Maratha 

State, so that the history of these four houses also forms an 
important part of this Peshwa’s distinguished administration. 
Of all these Damaji Gailcwad was the most shrewd and 
circumspect, avoiding both the extremes—either strong attach* 

S. Ait P«Lr. 117-116. 
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ment to the Peshwa or open defiance. The test of his loyalty 
came when a fierce war raged between the Peshwa and his 
uncle during 1768. Damaji mainly devoted his energies to con¬ 
solidating his power in Gujarat, extending his boundaries up to 

Palanpur in the north, and Dwaika in the west, and carefuliy 
avoidir^ participation in the domestic dispute of the Peshwa'3 
house. He had long worked under R'rao and been associat¬ 

ed with him in many campaigns, eo that it was difficult for 
Damaji to disobey Raghunatlirao when called upon to help 
him. But during 1767 and 1768 Damaji was in decUning healih 
and shrewdly avoided taking ades in the civil war. 

He had toiled for forty years and greatly helped in extendir^ 
and reausdtatiQg the fortunes of the Maratha State in Gujarat 
atid Kathiawad, Damaji died at Baroda on 18th August 1768, 

leaving four sons Sayaji, Govindrao, Fatesinh and Manaji who 
aJI took part in the subsequent history of the Maralhas. 
Tlie usual succession disputes started between these brothers, 
and thereby weakened their position. On 2l8t December 1768, 
Madhavrao addressed this stem rebuke to Fatesinh. ‘'It is re¬ 
ported you are quarreilir^ with your brothers and on that ac* 

count damaging the interests of your possessions and estate. 
We cannot tolerate any disturbances of this kind and have sent 
Appaji Ganesh with orders to take charge of the state, and con¬ 
duct the administi ation independently of you. Please harxi over 
die management to him and repair immediately to Poona for 
whatever representatioJi you may have to make. Govindrao is 
already here and in the presence of you all we shall decide your 
di^tc; and our decision will be binding upon you all. No 
excuse will be accepted- It is our duty to decide who is fit 
and who is unfit among you all- We won’t allow any mischief 
to be created. If you have any regard for your interest, you 
must implicitly obey this summons and act without hesitation- 
If you disobey you will have to suffer heavily. Please take 
heed and act.” 

This eloquent letter illustrates the Peshw-a’s passion for do¬ 
ing impartial justice to the members of the State and his deare 
to enforce his commands. During the war with Raghunathrao 

Daniaji had sent his son Govindrao with a contingent to help 
him. For this delinquency the Peshwa imposed a fine of 23 

lacs on Govindrao and appointed him Damaji’s successor on 
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jjayment of a nagarana of 27 lacs in addition. Thus Madhav* 
rao was the only Pe^wa who understood the weakness of tlxe 
Maratha consUtulion and who exerted himself to the utmost 
to remedy the evil. 

5. Wat with Haidar Ali renewed (1767*1772)._ 
The Peahwa had retunwd to Poona during fte monsoon oi 
1765 after re'estahlishing Maratha sway over the region 

ween the Krishna and the Tungabbadra. During the mid-sixties 
of the dghteenth century the Marathas, the British, the Niara 
and Haidar Ali were the four powers contending amongst ttem- 
aclves for sway over peninsular India, some trying to form al¬ 
liances with another in order to get the better of tiie others. 
Madhavrao was anxious first to finish Haidar Ali before attend¬ 

ing to the English aggression in the north, During 1766 he made 
Jiiends with Niz^ Ali so as to prevent him from joining cither 
his unde or Haidar Ali. Towards the end of 1766 he first des¬ 
patched Gopalrao Fatwardhan to the Karnatak and hlmseU fol¬ 
lowed him soon after by the eastern route, capturing Surapur, 
Raichur and Mudgal. Thereupon he ejected tributes from tlio 

^chiefs of Kanakgiri, Advani, ^iari, Karnool, Qdtradurg, Dev- 
durg and Raiduig^, and prepared to march against Shrirai^- 

pattan, the prindpal seat of Haidar Ali. The Peshwa was in 
high apirits at this time with a number of able diplomats and 
generals helping him. While camping at Devdurg in January 
1767 he held an unexpected inspection of the number of troops 
and thdr equipment belonging to the chiefs serving in the cam¬ 

paign. After the inquiry he severely punished the delinquents 
with the result that thereafter cr^npiete disdpliue prevailed in* 
bis camp without any room for ure^arity or fraud. In Pebru- 

-ary the Peahwa captured the strong fort of Shira from Haidar 
All’s possesion. Nizam All and his son i^me and joined the 
Peshwa here against Haidar Ali. The Nawab of Shira and Mir 
Reza, one of Haidar Ali's principal chiefs, came over to the 

Maratha sernce. 

On 4th March the fort of Madgiri was captured in one 
day, a performance which very much impressed the enemy. 
The Rani of Bednur and her son who were Haidar’s prisoner 

in this fort, were liberated and sent to Poona for protection. 
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Nov only two places. Shhrai^pattan anl Bednur remained in 
Haidar All’s possession to which the Peshwa next directed his 
attention. This move so paralysed Haidar, that he sent his 
dg:ents humbly seeking terms and freeing to surrender all the 
territory in the Kamatak that the previous Peshwa Nana* 
saheb had possessed. About this time Raghunathrao. highly 
discomfited in his northern expedition, again started trouble at 
Poona ^ich obliged the Peshwa to return, ac«pting the terms 
offered by Haidar Ali, instead of finishing him completely. 
While the Peshwa was in the Kamatak the BritL* Government 
of Madras made overtures to him for his co-operation against 
Haidar Ali and sent their agent Lt Tod to arrange a Iriendly 
treaty. But knowing how dangerous it was to take foreign 
help for putting down one's enemy, the Peshwa wisely rejected 
the Briti^ offer. Tod thus reported to his superiors, " I blush 
when I think the degree of contempt 1 was treated with consi¬ 
dering my station and those I represented. Newrthelesfl 1 kept 

my temper and showed as little sign of disgust as possible.” 
Madhavrao concluded a separate peace with Haidar Ali and 
went to Poona, having established a high positiw for Maratha 
aims and prestige in the minds of his rivals.* 

During the nut two years the Peshwa, as has been 

explained before, was involved in wars first against bis unde 
axKl th^ against Janoji Bhosle, so that he had no leisure to 
direct his attention to Haidar AU till the dosing moi^hs of 
1769. This interval (1767-69) enabled Haidar Ali to recover 
much of the lost ground and resume authority over some of 
the chiefe who had previously become Maratha tributaries. He 
bad humbled Murarrao Ghorpade and the Nawab of Savanur. 
The Peshwa was therefore required to begin over again all the 
work that had been previously accomplished. He stationed 

GopaJrao Patwardhan for the protection of Savanur and him¬ 
self marched straight against Sbrirangapattan, Haidar Ali re¬ 

mained under cover of the forests ol Bednur, resortu^ to the 
same old tactics as in the previous years. Nizam Ali and Murar¬ 
rao Ghorpade both joined the Peshwa In February 177Q, as also 
most of the other Palegars. The fort of Bahirc^ad covering 
Bangalore, and those of Devraidurg and Kolar were captured. 

6. Hddar AH by R K. p. 107. 
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On 30th April while fort Nijgal was being stormed, the 
Peshwa's brother Narayanrao received a wound in Bis hand, 

fortunately not very serious After aJI the Peshwa's strenuous 
effort, he could not accomplish much as the season was advanc¬ 
ed, and the premonitions of his fatal malady oimpelled hyn once 
more to retrace his steps to Poona, leaving further operations 
to Trunbahrao Petlie. 

Towards the end of 1770 the Peshwa ^ain started for the 

Kacnatak, but was compelled by his severe ailment to turn back 
from Miraj. For two years fixan the summer of 1770 his com¬ 
mander Pethe accomplished much of the remaining work in the 
Kamatak, with the co-operation of the Palwardhans. During 

the rains of 1770 Haidar Ali suffered several reverses at the 
hands of Pethe. Heavy artillery was supplied by the 
Peshwa from Poona, along with fresh condngents of troops. 
Towards the end of 1770 Gopalrao Patwardhan who had been 
ailing for some time under the severe strain of years, became 

seriously ill and banding over the charge ef the operations to 
his brother Vamanrao, returned home. He died at Miraj on 

17th January 1771, de^Iy mourned by the whole nation. 

Trimbakrao relentlessly pressed the campaign against 
Haidar and inflicted upon him a crushii^ defeat in a battie 
near Shrirangapattan on 5th March 1771, which is known as 
the battle of Chinkurli or the Moti Talav. Several thousand 

of the enemy’s troops were slain and a large booty of animals 
and materials secured. Haidar Ali escaped with his life in dis¬ 
guise during the darkness of the night. Pethe at once followed 
him to Shrirangapattan, but the place was impregnable and no 
impression could be made against ft for a long time. The rainy 
season of 1771 arrived and the Marathas, encamped at Moti 

Talav, continued op^ations in various directions, inflicting 
severe reverses upon the enemy at many different places. Bui 
Haidar Ali too went on tenaciously opposing the Marathas and 
holding his ground with courage and fortitude. It was a diffi* 
cult job for Trimbakrao- For three years continuously the 
Maratha troops had been out on field aervice, wearied by con¬ 

stant campaigning and now extremely impatient to go home, 
In the mean time alarming news arrived of the increasing ill¬ 
ness of the Peshwa at Poona, which depressed every body- 
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Haidar AU too was no less wearied and hia only hope now lay 
in the report of the Peshwa’s severe illness ^reatening 
his life. For some months he was negolialmg with Pethe for 
terms: and when the latter received peremptory summons to 
return to Poona, he made the best bargain he could, con¬ 
cluded a treaty with Flaidar, and returned in June 1772. Hal* 
dar All agreed to pay a fine of 31 (aca in cash and surrender a 
large part of the territory south of the Tungabhadra. That he 
could not finally destroy Haidar All's overgrown power, was the 
only regret that preyed on the dying Peshwa^s mind at the end 
‘Of his short but eventful career. 





CHRONOLOGY 

CHAPTER XXVI 

1770, early appearanct ol a wasting intestinal di? 

ease in the Peshwa. 

1770, autumn SaJcbaram Bapu aslced to condact administra* 

tion and initiate Narayanrao b it. 

1770, Special rites performed for the Peshwa’s cure. 

1770, Dec. The Peshwa weighed against gold. 

1771, April Gopikabai meets the Peshwa at Poona. 

1771, Aug. 28 The Peshwa caiveys a warning to Narayan- 

rao to be of good conduct. 

1771, August The Peshwa receives treatment from three cx* 

pern of Poona, Goa and Jaipur. 

1771. The f^hwa at Katore on the Godavari and 

at Sidhtek for change, 

1772, Sommer The Peshwa takes np his residence at Theur, 

1772, Sept. 30 The Peshwa gives his lust dheciions 

1772, Kov. 18 8 o’clock morning, of Kartik Krishna 8, the 

Pednva exjnres, Ramabai becomes 5ati. 

1788, Aug, S Gopikabai dies at Gangapur. 

» 
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CHAPTER XXVI 

TRAGIC END 

{1772} 

1 Tbe PMhwa*s lAcunMc jnilftdy. 4 T)>« wilt ud (be isother. 

2 His luc wlJJ. 9 Chinner ot the t'nhwa. 
9 Pencehil dnth. 6 Piireign eulo^v 

? Anocdoios, 

1. The Peshwa’s incuiable malady,—What a tremend¬ 
ous atraia must have been caused by the momentous events 
described above on the body and tbe mind of a boy called 
upon at the age of sixteen to manage (he concerns of a far 
dung Empire in its hour of the greatest peril. A tall lean but 
muscular figure, fair and commanding in appearance, soon lost 
all its original vigour, particularly when it was discovered that 
an insidious wasting disease had housed itself in his frame un¬ 
noticed. For some time the patient fought the malady with his 

inborn courage and continued his usual hard woric. Towards 
the end of 1770 he proceeded from Poona bent on completing 
his work in the Kamatak, but he so quickly broke down on the 
way, that he had to return from Mlraf and yield himself to 
proper treatment. Thus his last two years were spent in seek* 
ing health, now at Katore on tbe Godavari, then at Sidhiek, 
and lastly at Theur in the vicinity of Poona. 

There was then no sdenti£c treatm»it of tuberculosisi a 
disease called by the an^enta Raj-Yakshma or the prince of 

diseases, In bis case it was of the intestinal variety as can 
he ascertained from the unbearable pain in the stomach, which 
often made the Peshwa cry out for a dagger to open his bowels 
with. The lungs and the chest were intact. The Peshwa did not 
lake long to realise that his end was ai^roadiing, but hap|»1y 
lived long enough to learn that splendid victories in the north 

bad crowned his all too short a career and that Haidar Naik 
in the south had also been humbled though cot crushed in (he 

summer of 1772. The Mughal Emperor had again come under 
Maratha protection early in that year and been restored to his 
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scat at Delhi, in opposition to the BritisUi plans, thereby 

^tin£ to the world that the batle of Panipat had not made a 
imal decision. Tha various members of the Maratha confe¬ 
deracy had all been completely restored to the Peshwa’s alle¬ 
giance. 80 that it became a legitimate boast of the Maratha 
nation that obedience and harmony were never more in evid¬ 
ence in the Maratha State than at this perfod. The Bhosles of 
Nagpur, the Gaikwads of Baroda, the Gborpades of Gootty, the 
PraUnidhi and Babuji Naik merdlessly corrected. The 
arch-intriguer Gangoba, Holkaris Diwan, was made an example 
of; Tukoji Holkar, Ahalyabai, Mahadji Sindia became attached 
to the Peshwa as never before. The restraint put on the Peshwa’s 
uncle Raghunathrao, checked the factious tendency among 
others as well. Dada’s supporters Chinto Vithal, Sadasluv 

Ramchandra, Sakharazn Hari learnt the lesson of their lives. 
Kven men like Harlpant Phadke and Nana RiadnU, the most 
confidential and trusted secretaries of the Peshwa, stood in the 
greatest awe of their master.' 

The veteran Sakharam Bapu shrank from playing his evil 
pranks. In the autumn of 1770 when work accumulated with 

which the Peshwa’s falling strejigth could not cope, he called 
upon Sakharam Bapu to dispose of the routine work and ini¬ 
tiate Narayaniao into the administration. Brahmans were 

employed at different shrines to recite prayers and solicit divine 
favour for restoring the Peshwa's health. Hia mother Gopika- 

bai suggested certain sanctihed rites, which were punctiliously 
carried out by Nana Phadnia under his own personal super¬ 
vision. When returning from Miraj to Poona the Pesliwa was 
weighed against gold on the bank of the Krishna; he was also 
Again weighed at Katore on the Godavari and the metal was 

distributed in charity to the poor. Janoji Bhosle who had re¬ 
cently made liis submission expressed great concern on account 

of the Peshwa's ailment; he specially came to Poona during 

1. G^ge^bor Tatyi Jiad to sufta confinemeni for thre« years for 
evading jMyment of heavy ranaom of thirty las laid on liist for having 
been the main lastigatar M Raghunathrao'a rebellion. He waa severely 
caned in open Oarbar, a treatment unbecoming for the head of a state 
in the opinion of some, but doubtless served to strike terror into 
every heart. 
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the summer of 1772, personally to plead with him to soften the 
rigour of his uncle’s confinement, lest, as was then believed, the 
prisoner should practise evil rites for hampering the Peshwa's 
recovery.* 

While the Peshwa waa seriously laid up at Poona, his 
mother too became very ill at Nasik and desired to proceed to 
Benares to end her life at that holy place. But the lady wa^ 
persuaded to abandon her intention, as she was unable to bear 

the strain. The Peshwa wished to meet her ; she could not 
eome to Poona, nor could the Peshwa be takm to Nasik in 

his precarious state of health/' Narayanrao used to be in close 
attendance upon the Peshwa, but the latter was not entirely 

satisfied with the way he behaved. This boy was fanciful, 
easily excitable, and inclined to disregard elderly folks and a.d- 
visers. It is recorded in a paper dated 28th August 1771 that 
the Peshwa administered some stror^ advice to Narayanrao, on 
various matters. The severity of the admcailtion discloses the 
Peshwa's extreme dissatisfaction with Uie young lad’s diaracter. 

The Peshwa was placed under expert treatment. Of the 
physicians who treated the patient in his last days at least 

three names are available. One was Baba Vaidya of Poona ; 
there was a European phyacian probably from Goa; and there 
was one north Indian celebrity named Car^a Vishnu hailing 
from Jaipur who treated the Peshwa for some two years. 

2, 'The last wflL—After the summer months of 1772, 
the Peshwa visibly grew worse and all hopes of recovery began 
to be given up. He strongly desired to end his life in the pre¬ 
sence of his family deity Ganesh, and was therefore removed 
to the famous shrine at Theur where permissioD was granted Co 

all and sundry to come and see him. Here he sent for his uncle 
Raghunathrao along with Narayanrao and the principal offi¬ 
cers, and in lh«r presence executed what has been called his 
last will, which is dated 30th September 1772, and which thus 
runs in substance :— - 

1. "All my debts should be paid even by using, if neces- 

Z. Jarkoji died at Tuhapur imreediauly after on iSih May 1772. 
3, It is TKorded that Gof^abai aa^e him at Poona for a re\v days 

In April 1771. 
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sary, my private purse in tlie possession of Guruji (Mahadaji 
BalJal) ; 

2. The system of faniiii^ the revenues is found oppres¬ 
sive to the ryots : it should be modified after a careful enquiry. 

3. The two holy places Prayag and Benares should bt 
released from Muslim control. This was the ardent desire of 
my sires and now is the time to carry it out. 

4. My mother’s desire to perform the pilgrimage of 
Benares should be fulfilled as soon as convenient. 

5. The obsequies of Bhau Saheb should be performed 

next Fdiruary, whether aunt F^rwatiljai becomes sati or not. 
6. The annuities assigned to the worthy Brahmans of 

Benares should be regularly paid and continued in heredity. 
7. Dinners in connection with my funeral rites should 

be sei*ved to two lacs of Brahmans each with half an aima for 
dakshatuj. 

8. Dadasaheb should have five lacs of jagir assigned for 
his maintenance in order to keep him contented. 

9. The charities of the Shravan month should be con¬ 
tinued as long as the administration brings in at least 5 l&cs. 

of revenue yearly." 
The responsible officers swore in the presence of Ganapali 

that they would execute all these wishes. 

3- Peaceful death,_>The religious turn of the Peshwa’a 
mind and his desire to render justice to all are evident in this 
paper. Thereupon knowing that his end was near, he called 
to his presence nearly every body of importance and spoke to 

them, takir^ his final leave in great composure of mind and 
peaceful satisfaction of duty done. His wife Kamabal mostly 
lived at Poona and occasionally visited her husband’s death-bed 
like 3 pious and devoted wife. She performed severe austeri¬ 
ties for his recovery. The malady often caused the patient 
excruciating pain and moments of agony, in which he 
loiidly groaned calling upon hfs attendants to put him to death. 

In its last stage he abhorred the very sight of food, but when 
he abstained from eating anything, the people rourwi him would 
not eat. For thdr sake he would force himself to take a light 
diet, To the last moment he was keen and conscious and as 
stern as ever, so that even in that weak condition people hardly 
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fkr£d to approach him. Sakharam Bapu a/id Nana Phadnia 
kept him constant compsay during his last days, and were en¬ 
joined to conduct (he affairs of the State after him« making 

N^yamo_J^ Ptehwa. In face of the cruel untimely death 
which heldiew was fast approaching, with scarcely the slrength 
to move his limbs in bed. he uttered not a single sigh of disap* 
pointment or sorrow. .The thought tlatjie had lulflUed Ills life’s 
task cheered him to the last. He Invited Ramshastri to his pre¬ 
sence as also the ot^ worthies of bis court and spoke parting 
words to each and all. To the last moment he retained hia 
senses, and expired at 8’clock in the morning of Wednesday 
KartiJc Krishna 8th, 18th November 1772. 

4. The wife and ihc mother.—The Peshwa's wife 
Ramabai showed equal fortitude by immolating heisdf on ihe 

funeral pyre of her husband. She walked in procesion in the 
midst of funeral music and tne beating of driim» for the distance 
of about half a mile from the temple to the river, where the cre¬ 
mation was to take place. Reaching the burning ghat at the 
edge of the wafer, she stood boldly and cheerfully on the holy 
Stone (Dhama-skila) in front of her husband's lifeless fonn, 
gave away in charity all the ornaments she was wearing, en¬ 
trusted Narayanrao to the care of Dada Saheb. and with a 
sereite countenance gave her blessingf^ Co all the assemblage. A 
small stone memorial erected in her pious memory stands today 
to remind the curioua si si tor of the blessed life of this loving 
pair, who departed in close company never to be patled in After 
life, RamU and MSdhav, aa the pec^e believed, the very incar¬ 
nation of Lord Krishna and his consort Lakshmi. 

Ramabai, daughter of Ramchandra Bahai Joshi of l^raj. 

was married on 9th December 1753 when she was six or seven 
years old and departed life at the ago of twenty-six. She was 
handsome, strong and healthy. She bore her husband no clnl- 
dren. She was a devoted wife alwaya in awe of her husband 
and never interfered in concerns outside the palace. She often 

visited the holy places in the Deccan. 
Madhavrao's motlier Goplkabai was also a typical woman, 

strong-willed, shrewd and experienced from having watched the 
riang course of the Maratha State since the days of her re¬ 
nowned father-in-law. Madhavrao, it would seem, had taken 
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more alter his mother than his lather. During the first year or 

two of her son’s Pcshwasliip she directed the affairs of State 
and offered advice on questions of moment. But when she 
came to realize that her interference bred a factious spirit at 
the court, she retired completely from Poona and took up her 
permanent re^ence at Gat^apur near Nasik on the Godavari. 
Here she passed all her remaining life in prayer and worsliip 
till her death in 1788. She had an annuity of Rs. 12,000 as¬ 
signed for her expenses. Though the mother and the son did 
not often meet, they exchanged frequent and regular cotres- 
pondence which breathes intense affection and mutual r^rd. 
Madhavrao reported to his moth« mostly in his own hand in 
Balbodh script every little affair of importance, not only of 
personal health but also those ol a political character, battles, 
treaties, behaviour of officers and relatives. He freely sought 
her advice on critical occasions hut never accepted it against his 
own judgment. Once she recommended that transit duties be re¬ 
mitted in the district of Nasik, as there was famine and grain 
scarcity. But the Peshwa did not accept the recommendation, 
urging that if he allowed I’emittance in one diatricl, he would 
have to do the same in all others. Gopikabai was at least ten 
years older than R^hunathrao, who feared and respected her 
outwardly, although die spurned him for his wicked and selfish 

ways. 

5. Character of the Peshwa.—Of all the Pe^was 
Madh^^flan^ by ccgnmon as tte greatest in point 

"oT^^r^ter. He possessed all thoke qualities which a good 
ruler ougjit to have,—thorough honesty, love of impartial jus¬ 
tice, quick despatch, concern for the welfare of the people com¬ 
mitted to his charge, and an independent judgmoit, formed 
after full enquiry, upon which he acted without fear or favour. 
K one takes into account that he was only sixteen when called 
upon to manage the complex affairs of a widdy spread Empire, 
and that within some eleven years, of which many were vested 
in an unnecessary dvil war and in fighting a consCuning dis 

ease, he carried to completion the main objects of his three 
eminent predecessors, then only can one form a correct estimate 
of his powers. Indeed, he stands as an outstanding figure in 
Maratha history and as a brilliant ornament to his nation. He 
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pos8€S8£d the i(tst£8fna/)Ship of Balaji VighvenaLh, a valour ^ 
cond only to that of Bajirao, and a sternness which his father 
lacked. He wiped off the disgrace which the Maratha nation 
had suffered on account of the disaster at Panipat, and restored 
the Maratha foitunca to such a glory that it ie rightly ciaimed 
that the premature death of this young Peshwa was a greater 
blow to the Maratha State than the disaster ol Panipal. The 
great historian Grant Duff has justly emphasised the same 
view by sayii^. that "the plains of Panipat were not more 
fatal to the Maratha Empire chan the early end of this excel' 
lent prince/' 

When the battle oi Panipat carried away the three leading 

members of the Peshwa's house, Bhau Saheb, Vishvasrao, and 
Nana Saheb soon after the hrst two. it was commonly believed 

tiiat the Maratha State would soon collapse. But Hadbavrao 
in a short time managed to raise a new generation of capable 
leaders to take the place of those that had perished, and he 
raised the State to such a h&ght of glory that if luckUy he had 
been spared a few years more, there was every chance of the 
dream of a Maratha Empire for India conceived and fostered 
by Shivajii Bajirao and others, coming true. Maratha supre^ 

macy never meant extinction of the Muslun or other nationa* 
liUes. It only meant that supreme political power would rest 
with the Marathas. The Marathas claimed religious freedom 
for themselves and for all those who iDhabited this vast conti* 
Dent They did not suppress the Muglial Kmpeior of Deltil : 

they helped him to regain his \osi throne and to maintain his 
rights and authority. They only claimed to guide his political 

counsels. 

But the preeminent service of Madbavrao consisted not 
so much in his achievements and conquests, either in the aoulh 
or in the north, as in the general improvement of the moral 
tone of the Maratha administration to which hardly any of Ills 
predecessors had attended. Corruption was severely rooted 

out. the revenue system was so refonned as to conduce to the 
welfare and prosperity of Che people The judiciary began to 

function efficiently under the management of the eminent 
judge Ram Shaatri. Comptoints came to be speedily noticed 

and wrong-doers rightly punished. Many vexatious taxes and 
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iiQposts were removed. Definite rales and conditions of ser¬ 

vice were framed and promulgated for the jagirdars and their 
military equipment.* The whole administrative staff of offi¬ 
cials came to be purged of various evil practices that had be* 
come rampant. The system of Vtth or exaction of forced 
labour frean lower classes, was entirely abolished, and every 
kind of service came to be paid for in cash. The very name 
of this Peshwa came to be held in awe by the rulers and the 
ruled in and out of the Maratha State. Agendea were employ¬ 

ed to gather secret news by which reports of evil practices 
reached him. so that even his immediate servants used to be 

in great fear of the Peshwa’a punishment. Quite a new gene¬ 
ration of honest and eflicient officials, clerks, accountants, supei- 
visers, revenue collectors, military suppliers, came to be reared 
up. Leaders and commanders of military corps shed their pro¬ 
verbial letoargy and became alert and obedient. The want ol 

effident artillwy was keenly observed by this Peshwa, and he* 
organized a special branch for the manufacture of fire-arms 

and ammunition. Indeed, this was one of the most impor¬ 
tant subjects which the Peshwa personally supervised and con¬ 

tinuously toiled to improve. 

Madhavrao was not only an administrator but by exper¬ 
ience quickly became an effkient commander of large armies 

as well. He often exhibited unexampled valour and skill in 
strategy. He was certainly an autocrat of the type that was 
then common all over the world, but he was benevolent and 
selfless like his contemporaries in Europe. He devoted his 

whole life to the service of his people. 

The mere mention of a few outstanding names among his* 

immediate and trustworthy subordinates, is enough to convince • 
us how this Peshwa reared up a new race of men and purified 
the corrupt system of administration, raising it to a hi^i level. 

Ram Shastfi, Govind Shivram Tatya, Nato Appaji, Mahadaji 
BallaJ Gumji, Trimbakrao Pethe, Gopairao Patwardhan, Raro- 
chandra Ganeah. VUaji Krishna, Nana Phadnis and his cousin 
Moroba, Haripant Phadke and his brothers, are some of the 
celebrities of Madhavrao’g creation. These names are to this 

4. Madhavrao’s DUry by Vad. Vol. I, pp. ?Oe.36B, P. D, Vol, 39- 
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day remembeTed as almost houssliold words in Maharashtra. 
U ia these men thAt worked to preserve the Maratha State in 

the chaotic situation which overtook it after this Peshwa’a. 
death. There is also a number of names of the opposite type 

who were severely dealt with and ultimately reclaimed The 
Pratinidhifl, Janoji Bhosle and his brothers and his minrstcj 
Dewajipant, Chinto Vithal. the Chandrachud family, Babuji 
Nalk, Murarrao Ghorpade, Naro Shankar, Sadashiv Ram* 

Chandra, all these learnt a new and salutary lesson. Ran Shastri 
was to Madhavrao more than what Ramdas was to Shivaji. 

He was a real guru and the final referee In all matters of a 
mundane nature, even outside his department of iuatice. He 
along with Govindpant Tatya and Guruji formed a trio which 
was respected and feared by high and low alike lor their pure 
and upri^ character. Most of the sardars, Mahadji Sindla, 
Tukoji Holkar, Ahalyabai, Damaji GaUewad and his sons, the 
large fairuly of the Patwardhans, these and others became de¬ 
voted and obedient servants of the Maratha State. The net 
revenue of that Stale at the time of this Peshwn's death has* 
been vaneusly calculated and may be reliably put down at about 
ten crores of rupees annually in the coin of those days. 

The trials and hardships to whidi Madhavrao was exposed' 
since the very start of his short career, compelled him to de 
tect the most vulnerable spot in the Maratha body politic. 
The Maratha Stale since Shahu’a days bad developed not as 
a strong unitary Government but as a confederation of states 
loosely hrid together under the central authority. In this con¬ 
federacy the rights, duties and responsibilities of tbe feudatories 
had never been dearly defined or rigidly enforced. Madhavrao* 
inherited this unfortunate legacy and found to hU cost that the 

jagirdara either openly defied the central authority or joined 
the enemies of the State. With the help of competent confix 

dential advisers be gradually succeeded in checking the evil 
by punishing the v^ngdoers and creating solidarity and a* 
workable unity in the Government. This significant achieve¬ 
ment bea)med plain not only in his wars and administrative* 
measures, but even in the jealousy, which his growing power 
excited in the minds of the British. On 10th March 1771 the* 
Madras Coundl wrote,—“ Prom the present conduct of tlie* 
Marathas both in the north and in the south and from the* 
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xenlus, Spirit and ftmbition of Madhavrao we are inclined to 
suspect that their designs are not conjined to the mere coHec* 
tion of Chauth, but extend to the subjugation of the whole 
peninsula/'* 

6. Foreign eulogy,—Sir Richard Temple, by no means 
an admirer of things eastern, records the following eloquent 
testimony about the character of this Peshwa. 

•' In some ol Che characters juat depicted there has beeii 
found virtue of the secondary type, energy, courage, enthu* 
aiasm, patriodsm and the like; bufi in none of them is to be 
seen virtue of the purer, nobler, loftier quality. In Madhaw^ 
there is virtue of the best stamp. In trying moments he evinc¬ 
ed not only presence of mind but also a proud consciousness 
that by him an example sliouid be set to all around. He chose 
ministers with discrimination, some of whom justified his choice 
by thwr subsequent adilevemenls. He enforced strictness in 
the service of the state and strove to procure honesty so far as 
that was procurable in a corrupt age. If an instance occurred 

of bad faith in high places, he would denounce it with a frank¬ 
ness surprising to those who lived in evil times. Though oblig* 
ed to keep the unde out of positions which afforded opportu¬ 

nities of doing harm, yet he showed Ihe utmost condderatiou 
towards his relative. When two of his offLcera during a siege 
wanted to dght a duel over a quarrel, he told them, instead 
to scale the deadly breach, promising to decree In favour of 
the disputant who should fust plant the national flag upon the 
rampart. His care extended to the fiscal, the judicial, and 
the general departments. All men in his day knew that the 
head of the slate was personally master of the work, was the 
friend of the oppressed and the foe of the oppressor, and was 

choosing agents who would carry out his beneficent orders. 
His thoughtfulness and considerateness were untiring and were 
often shown in a signal or graceful manner. For instance, he 
conferred benefits upon the descendants of the cavalry leader 
Santaji Ghorpade, who had been assassinated by ^ivaji's son 
and successor, in order that such tardy justice as might be 

possible after the lapse of a generation, should be done. AU 

S Dr. Sinha'6 }iaiiai AU, p, 1S7. 
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the -vhile he was engaged in war and politics. He had to hold 

his own against the Nizam ot the Deccan ; to drive back Hydar 
All of Myisore, to retrieve that diitaster at Panipat which had 
grieved his father to death. While greatly superior to bis pre* 
deces^sors as a civil ruler» he was not Inferior to them as a wai - 
like commander. His lieutenants were just retrieving the 
Panipat disaster, when his own health, always delicate, gave 
way. Anticipating death, he adjured his unde to protect the 
next Peshwa, who would be a boy to avert disunion (rom the 
reigning family and save the empire from distraction, What 
reply he received we know not: at sJl events he was allowed to 
die in hope ; we shall soon see how cruelly the hope waa belied. 
True to the habits of his race, he retired to a rural village nut 
far from Poona, and died cpiietl/ in the 23th year of lua age ; 
and that village is to this day regarded by the Maralhas as 
one of the most classic spots in their historic land. His child* 
less widow, to whom he was devotedly attached, burnt herself 
with his corpse, to satisfy her grief as well as to obey the be* 
bests of her religion. This is an instance of those who arc 
virtuous in their foint life and to whom death brings no separa* 
tion. 

That Madhavrao, a Hindu Prince, should have done so 

much in so brief a life as his, under such disadvantages and 
despite such temptadons dtat, before being cut off, in the hey¬ 

day of his career, he should have evinced such capacity as this, 
not only in affairs susceptible of management by youthful 

genius, but also in mattera ordinarily demanding the experience 
of ripe years. Is truly astonishing. Indeed, he is for ever to 

be revered as the model prince, ‘ the flos regum ’ a^, as one 
of the finest characters that the Hindu, nationality has ever* 
produced-’^* 

Writes Kincaid, "Threatened both by domestic and foreign 
enemies. Madhavrao triumphed .^lignally over all. Vet 

triumph had brought him no rest. Victorious over his foes Ite 
had spent his years in tireless labour to belter Ihe condition 
of his people. Every department was quickened by his super* 
vMon, his industry and his example. His secret intelligence 
was faultless ; and no matter hov rercote the officer guilty ol 

6. Oriental Experience, pp. 3fi3-396. 
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acts of tyranny, he rarely escaped punishment. The Pesliwa’s 
annies went well-equipped on service for the entire military 
organisation was under his direct control. . Quick t? anger, he 
was no less quick to forgive. And the orSy~lault that the 
harshest critic can find in this admirable ruler is, that 

be shortened a life precious to his people by his arduous and un¬ 
ceasing toil." . 

7. Anecdotes.—Maharashtra still loves to repeat a 
I'.umber of anecdotes and reminiscences illustrating the high 
moral character of this Peshwa, which are doubtless substan¬ 
tially true and give an accurate picture of his personality. 
When Madhavrao like a pious Brahman^ at first began to de¬ 
vote much of his time to prayer and ritual. Ram Shastri sternly 
rebuked him for neglecting his secular duties and advised him 

'!/) repair to Benares to spend his life there, if he were inclined 
to be so sanctimonious. The Peshwa quietly and thankfully 
took the bint and dropped his priestly role. He doubtless 
possessed an irritable temper, but that only disclosed his aver¬ 
sion for injustice and wrong and his impatience to correct 
blemishes. On that account he soon came to be feared and 
obeyed. 

When he found that death was near, he set about destroy¬ 
ing the accumulated store of secret state papers, referring to the 
low intrigues of his officials and servants. Sakharam Bapu learn¬ 
ing what the Peshwa was doing, approached him and humbly 
remonstrated gainst this procedure. The Peshwa unable to 
move from his bed. asked Bapu to hand him a certain packet 
from the adjoining chest. When Bapu brought the bundle out, 

the Peshwa asked him to open it, read the contents and tell 
him whether he should destroy or keep it. To his amazement 
Bapu discovered that the papers in that bundle referred to his 
own secret intrigues and plots of a crintinaJ nature deserving 
punishment. The Peshwa had in his possession those proofs of 
Bapu's guilt, but had never let him know what accusations 
had reached him throi^h various channels. ^ 

Madhavrao's attention to details excites our admiration. 
He inquires about the construction of unauthorised buildir^ 

in Poona. He scrutinizes the lists showing the number and 
pay of his attendants. From the Kamatak he inquires how 
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Nana Phadnia waa befiavug in Poona, )ike a roarer or a sir* 
vant.* He vifhts Co be informed of tbe arrangements for sup* 
plying fodder to the cattle attached from Babuji Naik’s esta¬ 
blishment at Baramati. His daily accounts contain references 
to very small items of expenditure sucli as lU. 1*8 for lamp oil 
supplied to clerks. He personally chooses dresses and presents 
to be given to Nizam All and his suite or to an envoy from 
Goa or to Ghazi'Uddln. He minutely examines caaa of cm- 

beKlement, There used to be much corruption among inspect* 
ing (^cers sent out Co examine the military equipment of Che 

jagirdars and sardars, the number and quality of their men and 
horses, their saddles and arms and accoutrements. The inspec¬ 

tors •when bribed certified that there were no deficiencies, When 
complaints were received, the Peshwa sent his own trUated 
agents such as Ouruji, Nana Phadnis, Naio Appaji to detect 
frauds. When these spedal agents arrived for inspection, the 
whole official staff was in consternation and quaked for the 
heavy punishments that awaited Ibem. IL would thus appear 
that this Peshwa's rule was far above tliat of hia contempota* 
ries in rooting out officii corfjp^h ’an3'vemflily, * 

The Peshwa would not allow the ryots to be molested on 
any account. He paid compensation to them when they sulTcr* 

ed losses from the march of troops. During his tours he per* 
sonally inquired into tlie people’s grievances and removed tlte 

iniquities that he noticed. Remission of revenue was granted 
when there were political disturbances or failure of rain. A 
KotwaVs duties and the rules which should guide him in his 
management of the towns, are found clearly set down in various 
documents issued by the Peshwa. and now reproduced in tiie 
Peahwa'a Diari^. 

This Peshwa’s death ushers in a new phase in Maratha 
history which will form the subject of my concluding volume, 

7. R D. 99. S4. Dus miHlcrly letter lllustracAt the PesiiMa's ri)a/ac- 
icr vivjdiy. 
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res and returns to Satan, 47 ; la* 

trodueea jagirdari system 53-56; 

plants Maratha colonies on battis 

of hereditary service 67 ; dies 59; 
progeny 60; character reviewed 

60*61, his critics 62; hb reveruce 

for Brahmendraswari 136, 

Soavanumd msksnsau, Peeh 

wa's cape—301; 306: 331; 415; 
killed'43a 

Balavantsinh of Benares—dia 

513. 

BAltHAKJi MOHITB—2BS; 290. 
fiAauATPW«c—; 336. 

AMATyA—«; 116; 
119: 270: 2as. 

Bhagawantsink Adani of Gboai* 

pur—147. 
Bbaskak Ram Xolhaikar, a Nag¬ 

pur ga^cial—takes Cbandanheh 

into custody 210; devastates 

Bangal 211'22S; routed during 

5S5 

puja edebrationa 212; nissacred 

221. 

BhAu Sinh Tuoks—12E 

Bhavanbao PitATtNiDat—28S. 

Bkium], Baiino’s ester— 

BIJAYSINH Rath<k>-3B1 ; 383; 

murders Jayappa Smdia 384*385, 

BBaUMGNIiRA5WA.N41—13S; taka 

rasideace near Satan 136; con* 

gratulatee CUmnajl 140 ; his eha* 

meter explained 141; 191> 

Bkfttsr—Me Eoglieh of Bombay, 

Brom£, English envoy to R*ra^ 

446 ; meets-P’rao 625. 

BVSiSy, French Ceneial—306; 320 ; 

322; 324 i at Bhalki 325; pre- 

paras in Indian (^rdi force 325* 

327: 328; defeods himself at 

Chaiminar 332 ; 3*13; retires and 

dies 336. 

CHANOUtAMBB oT KamAtaJt—208; 

sMsee Tridiinopoiy 8S2; captured 
and taken to Berar 265*867; 319; 

murdered 826. 

CHANDRAS8N lA^AV, Soiapati— 

18; daloyai to Siuhu 21; 24; 

dlaaaisKd 37; 56 ; 61; 73; 91; 

92; 96 ; 98; 100; 144. 

CiiAius Boons, Covcioor of Bora* 

bay—27. 

CHAimt-12; 41 ; explained 49* 

54: agreement for ell north In* 

dia 36a 

Chkathasal, Bundals raJa-105; 

inq^Jorcs Bajirao ter help 10$; 
dies IIB. 

CbimiNAJI Afpa. Bujirao’s brother— 

married to Rakhmabai 60; 80; 

97; proceeds to Malwa 102; »• 

ten Gujarat 123 ; kills Slddi Sat 

Id a battle and Is congratulated 

140 ; leads an expedition to Bun- 

delkhand 145; prev»ta Ka^* 

jtfig from jwning Ha fatha 157; 

conducts war upon the PcrOi* 

guese 169*174; captures Thana 
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170 and Baswiti 173 ; dltt 191: 

ld9. 
CiiiM»A]l Damqcax Mogbc—13 ; 

44:93i 12Si 12$; 288. 

CnucNAji Nasayan Sadiiv->-S$S: 

drived of Sinhpd 2dl. 

Chinio VrrHAi> R rao'a Secrelary 
—376 ; 47$; 524; CAptund and 

itnpriaoned 525. 
CtlV^buma Anfria's navjr and 

capiurw Vijaydutg 346-347; 
drama of Brl^ Empire in In¬ 
dia 851; 455 ; Mcuraa CKwanl ol 

Banjul 606. 

i^Auo BftiMSSV* Bajirao's ng«nr— 

102; 14S. 
DAU*ATftAO TkOKB, of ihc Slnff ol 

Dabhade-123. 
Dakaji aAttcwAi>—1« ; IJl; lS8 ; 

207; helps Babnji against 

the Peshwa 214 ; raida Pocoo 

205-808; defeats tha Pohwa's 

force 806; routed at Satan 30$: 

agrees to Peshwa's terras $18; 

capiura Ahmadabad 313; 838 ; 

<16; 442; dies 631. 

Daajajj TwteAT—$2; 61. 
DARYABAt NiMOALKAR Rimraja's 

eister—287; 293. 

Dattaji 5q«!a—at tbe balUc dI 
Sindidied 333 ; 368 ; in the aouth 

402; insMs Kdkar 408; pro¬ 

ceeds to Delhi and Lahore with 

dednite objectives 404; falls to 

secure Nsjlbuddaula 405; Indeed 

al Shukntiu 407-40B ; opposes the 

Abdali Shah 409 ; falls el Barari- 

gbai 410. 

&AUD Kh. Panni—^S ; Idlkd 33; 

36. 
Dava BARAOUR^ti; IQI ; killed 

102. 
DiBPSiNH, s Rajput ambassador- 

ill ; leads an embassy to Satara 

111-113; returns 115. 

Df/ajtfant CecaeCHOiK, allan Dl* 

wakar Pandit, a Nagpirr mlolater 

—842; creaUa trouble lor the 
Pesbwa. Is Irnpnsoaed 687-629, 

Dhaimji Jadhav Senapati—descrU 
to Bhaliu 16dies 17, 

Dkowo) GWIKP, BajirtO'e envoy at 
Delhi—151; 153; 166, 

DiuwAH Ali Mughal Viceroy— 
Killed 7a 

DiwAxAB Pa^pit—see Devajipant. 
Dupisnt, Frtndi Governor—$30. 

Engjsh (the) of Bombay—26 ; 
135; send mieinns to Chinuiiiji, 
Shahu and Dajiran 174*176; exe¬ 
cute a treaty with ihs Peshwa 
175: capture Surat 314 ; icdn tbe 
Peshwa and put down Tnlejl An- 
gria 343; capture Suvamadurg 
Hnd Vijsydurg 34S S48; oppose 
Maretha pleiis in the north 495 
end 412. 

Parri/kh SiVAa, Emperor—SI; de¬ 
posed 45. 

PAttSKH Bh9$u oi Akaikot—14; 
55; 74; 88; 90; 96 ; at Tiichi- 
oopoly 258*255 ; 808. 

Fosr^ (CapL')—captun« Notthftrn 
Sarkara 336; at Vijaydurg 347, 

Gadamiak PBAIJIAO Fratloidbi—17 ; 
20; 22. 

CAMAJt YaMAJI Mutalik—294; 
307 ; 475, 

Gampatrao Mahandale 102. 
Gama Vishnu, phyaidaa— mat- 

iog Madbamo 541. 
Gahcaksas YASBVAMf Chandra- 

diud-^94 ; 852; 376; 447; stoo- 
iy dealt with 540. 

Ghasiucoin the elder—bom 196; 
82; Watir al Delhi 80; 187; 195; 
322 ; kiUed 324 ; 366. 

GuAaiutom the younger, Mir Shah- 

buddfn, Itnadui-muDo- 357; 375; 

murders Abmadsliah 379; death 

88l; capturas Mughlsni Begun 
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386; 40i; nnu'ders Alame^r II 
40d. 

4iiKU?ilAft HAhtADUii^fi ; Si ; l4S ; 

killed 102. 

GorALXAO Barvk~J9S ; 490. 

U)FAUcAO i*ATVWkUiAN->30I; 331; 

with the ftAwa in mcth 449; 

458 : 470 ; 472 : 477 ; 487 ; 528 ; 

flchtd with Haider Ali 527^9; 

632; dies 634. 

Got'iKABAi-o^nanied 178 ; 195; 461; 

465 ; 468: 4®: 477; 543-544, 

GoflsoN (Capt.)—mladon M 

Satara 176, 

COMNDRAo CHTTNi^2d6; 266; 

293. 

COVINO HA&I ?AtWARDHAI^.-20l ; 

aurrcnden Mini 474. 

CovihUtf^AKT Bondek (Kher>^C2 

I4S : 230; SS7 1 375: 282: 298 

Willi DsilOji Sindia 40^407 ; 4JC 

417; killed 43a 

GovtNbKAO GAiKWAi^-eucceeda Ida 

father Damaji 532. 
CoviND Skivkam. dfpl<untt^-361; 

on rais&lon co Bombit^’ 496; 523. 

HAIBATRAO NlMSAlXAa-'lS. 

HAIDAR Ai.1^70; Ptthva's war 

upon 486-488 ; peace e/Tecled 490; 

funber war with 632-535. 

KAiDAfijANO, Buaay'u sccr^Ury— 

made ^waa of Solabul Jang and 

335. 

KaKID KH*. one of Niaajn'a duefa— 

144. 

JlAm DAwooAk Nevalkar, ancestor 

of the Rani of jbanai^defeated 

bf C^aji 306 i pursues tbe Pre¬ 

tender 494. 

HmesA, »on of Cbh^sai—10?. 

Ibrahim Kh, Gardl-^trainad ^ 
Bussy 336; at Slndkhad S34 : em- 

ployM by the Peahwa 336; pro¬ 

ceeds on Panipat expedition 4Lf: 

421 ; 429 : 437 ; 441 : killed 443. 

iNCHfijRo fCapt.), Enf^ envoy— 
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visin Chimoaii Appn a ad Ueji' 
rao 176. 

(sifWARisiNEt—succeeds Saws! Jal- 
ainh at Jaipur and vages war 
with hia bTDlher 235 ; 23?; swaV 
lows poison and diea 239. 

jAOATRAj, ChhatraBal*! wn—107. 
jACjiVAN alias Dadoba Praiinidht— 

264. 
jAHANiujt ShAh Emperor—31. 
JAHAN Kh., Abdali’s General 392; 

398 ; 398 ; dafeated in Fan jab 
408. 

Jaisinh ^wai -see Sawai Jakinh. 
JANASDAK Baqa Pbadnis, retber of 

Nana—152; al Savanur S26. 

Jakardanfanti Peshwi’A bmther— 
194. 

jANKOji SiNDiA—ai &adkbed 333; 
with hie father at Negor 384; 
386 ; 408; neeu Holkar 403; 
wounded ei Ba/ari gbat 411; 
IdUed 449. 

jANtV) BhMle Of Nagpur—223; at 
Savamir 98$; sudsceda to hia 
patrimony 342 ; 467 ; 458; 475; 
473; is oveicQixte and executes 
treaty N Daryapur 491 ; submita 
to the Peshwa and ace4>C& treaty 
of Kankapur S27-529. 

jANOji NiiQbftIkar. Niaara’s Cap¬ 
tain—331423. 

JAVAHIS SiNa Jat of BhantpuF— 
60$: defeated and murdend $09. 

Jayati^a SiNDJA—aueee^ hls fa¬ 
ther 233, 235; falls out with HN- 
kar 238; witnasea iraasacre of hrs 
followers at Jalpus 239; helps 

Safdsr Jan? 361 ; erecutes 
ment for the prolecUon of the 
Emperor 966; at Kumbher 375; 
doace the Jet wHr $77; marches 
into Marwar 383, murdered at 
Nagor 384. 

JA2U—see p. 36 footnote. 

JlfASA: af Kolhapur made prison-. 
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tr Z17; 267: 299 i adopts Sbivaj: 
and dlss 300; 327. 

jOrniA SiNDiA, son oi Raooji^dll' 
ed at Onbht 230 and 233. 

JOTYAji KnaiVar. Shahu'a favoudta 
atrvant—12. 

Kamnqar Kh„ Abdairs envoy— 
366. 

Kamdakhsk, Aurangaeb's son- 
killed 12 and 20. 

Kanhoji A»ai;^-22 ; 24 ; won 
over by Salaji vishvanath 25 • 

. 35 : death 133; 177./ 
KA»Hojt KTreeLt—37; S3 s ai t 

65 ; 71 i 74 : 80. 91; joins tKo 
Nlsam 100 and 114: 223. 

ICANrHAjr Kadam Bande—jting 
Nisam 114, 

KASH1&4I, Baiirao’s wife-^l$l; 189; 
on pelgrimace to Benares 243. 

KASinsAt. iriie of Ah asks r Raeiu 
232. 

ZCASMUIAJ, I^B^WS AfCQt. •AdtbOT 
of Panipat balthar—457; 441; 
namjnee The Panipat battlefield 

443, */• '* 
KaVijaHo, Ittcpcr cd AhmadnaeaT 

—aurrenden ibe fort to the 'Ph- 
ehm 336. 

K&AJejT SOTDiA, eouain of Mabadji 

—495. 
Khakm BkiuAL Qdtnle—15; 24 : 

44. 
Khan Davsah. Mir Bakhdil—Ul; 

14$; dies 1$5 ; 199. 
KhaKDSUO Da9HAC&^7; made 

senapsU 38; 43 ? 44 ; 61; $5; 
71; 74 ; dies 122. 

Khanusao Houub, Ahalyabai’s 
busband—Idllad 377, 

KiSMOfli > -see Rani Kisbori, 
ICdnhbr ram. brother of Bhaakat 

Rao^-ZSS. 

laupAKAM. Jaipur eavo)^ 151; 
106. 

KciabNAKAO jeshi Chaakar—243. 
KRrSHNAMo Kalb, dt^omat—pre¬ 

sat in the Atlodc ctpcdiiMO 
398. 

KRl&lINAaAO KHATAVKAf^ebcia 
22. 

KuTB Shah, Na^ Khan's guru- 
ousted from SabBtanpur 397; 
cuts o6 Dettaji's head 411 ; kill* 
ed by Bhau Saheb 424. 

KuvAp rUHADUtt. DedunuMi of &n- 
nar—96; 123. 

LAKSHADHm Dalpatcao, Chief ol 
Petit—123. 

Mapan Stkh. eoD of Sambhafi— 
13. 41» 43. 

Madhavrao I. Peshwa—457; re¬ 
ceives robes of Peahwadiip 465; 
opposes ius uncle 4$9; submits 
to lum 471; waCdica (he assem¬ 
blage of Alegaum 472; wins vic¬ 
tory over Nisacn it Raksha^u- 
vun 479 ; asserts his power 461; 
«ve\Cj of ius fcigp 486 ; vspturo 

Dharwsr 487 and makes a tr<^7 
a with Haidar AJi 490; meets end 

’* befriends Nisam Ali 492; over* 
comes Babujl NaJk 493; 497; deo- 
patehes an eKpedition to Delhi 
509; explains his pohty to his 
generals 511; ofFere directioos to 
his generals 515; warns hie uaele 
521: punishes Jaaoii Bhoslc 627* 
529; adcuinisten a stem rebuke 
to the Gaikwads 531; bumbles 
Haidar AU in a renewed wmr SdS* 
534: his illaess 539^41; mischief* 
makers overcome 540 and 547; 
bis last will 541; hia death 543, 
wife becomes sati 543 : characte: 
reviewed 544-64$; new men tram- 
ad 64$ ; foreign eulogy uptm him 
$46; aneedetes enumerated 549* 
550. 

Madhosinh of Jaipur—235. con* 
trivas Maratha massacre 239; de¬ 
feated by Hoikar 451 and 467; 
dies 510. 
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MAKADAJi ECeih^v Pbadke. kiQcd 
fighting At Mihim. 

Mahadaji Knahna Joski—13 ; 

his (iaughtfr KiihibBi mafricd 10 
Bajini) 80. 

Mahabev Bhat Hingnc—44; 161: 
ISl; ld4 ; 199; 201; JtlUcd 333 i 
hla sens 234. 

Mamabji SiNDtA—obeys Ibc Pesh- 
wa'K call 478 and 481 ; curly 
career 498; captures Delhi and 
rtstoreo the Emperor 514 ; aven¬ 
ges wrongs of PanifMt upon ihs 
Rohillas 516. 

Mabadoba Pusandars—17$; 189; 

307 ; 259; eetranged from the Fe 
sbwR 300; dlsnts^ Mitaaffar 

Kli 327. 
Malhab KaisRNA—murdered at 

Orchha 230. 

MALHAJtRAQ Barvs, MsTstha sgcni 
at Delhi 73. 

Malharrao KOUCAS^l ; 135; 
148: 163; 167; hdpe Nans Ss' 

to obMl a auccAMful 
start 194; apUires Dhai 
201: 216; 235; estranged 
from Sfndia 238 vitnesses 
Msracha maasaere at Jaipur 
239: introduces MuaafFsr Kh. 
Gnrdi Into aervics 326 : helps Ssf* 
der Jang 361; before Kumhher 
375i swears vangeance sgalnct the 
Jat mfs 377; supports Ghascad* 
din murderirig the Kmperor 379; 
presertt at the siege of Savanur 
365 ; saved Nsja> Kh. 396497 ; 
with R’rao at Lahore 400>401; 
favoura Najib Kh. 402; joins 
Sindia’s camp 411; dlscomdled 
bafore Abdali 412; 421 ; hla dif- 
ferencee with Dhau Saheb 422; 
escapes safe from Panlpat 442; 
retires from Ddb! 446 ; defeats 
Madbo Sirdi 451 and 467 end 
502; hie wife Oautamabai dice 
457; joins R'/oo 470; worsted by 
Flatter 506 ; dies 607. 

MALIKA*2AUAr4t-^87 ; 399. 
Manaji Ancria->-139 ; 177 ; 245; 

dies 351. 
Manaji SiNPfA. rival to Mshadjl, 

grandson of Sabaji^dS. 
MAN8AAAM PUROHIT, B n«rtb JndlB 

Pandlt^ecta to stay with Shahu 
lU 

Man Stnh Mor^Sbahu's Sena- 
paU 37. 

Mastami—pmenml to 8s/ir*u by 
Chhatrasel lOS, and footnote; 
her romance WS-ITS. 

Mm Kabib^O ; 821 ; 223 ; kHled 
3SS. 

Mm Jafar—kills Bha^ar Ram 
221; rises against Alivardi Kh. 
323; 824. 

MtR Kasim—takes part in the mas¬ 
sacre of ibc Marathi g^rteialo 
221; routed at Bwtar 503; toe- 
my of tlie British 518. 

Mm Ma*inu, Governor of the Pan- 
jab-3E8; 856 ; death 386. 

MiB Mughal alias Ruknud*dau1t— 
195. 

MetZA Najar Kh.. ShaJ\ Alum's 
^van—514. 

MuHANRtNH Rawal—18. 

MostyM. Briti^ envoy->4d6-497. 

MUoARiz Kh.—73-re(/,n. mentions 
hia vinous names): 77; killed 81. 

MuoKAjr Ham—145 

MVbBOJi BHOSL^preposed for 
adoption by Shihu 267; at Savs' 
nui 32S; made Setudharandhat 
342 (aaa Janoji). 

MuCHUNi Bgcam—raided by 
Ousl-uddtQ 38$; nivites Abdali 
387; helps the S!)ah in plurider- 
ing Delhi 3ft9; li^lTy aurverl 392. 

Mubammap Kk. 3anguh—66; op* 

poses the Saiyids 72; attacks 
ChhaUasal ; 107 ; in : holds 

conference with Nisarn-ul-munc 
126; reptaess Sawai JaUnh 142 ; 
welcomes Radhah^ 143; 153; 155. 
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Muhammap Shah, Erapcror-Hn* 

46 ; ptocefidA againU Na* 

dirsbah, dclaatad and imprisoned 

1&4*16S i dies S69, 

Muiikam SiNH^ffeared 73« 

MUKAfiRAO OHOt»PADft~^'8ft‘90-92 ; 

given charge oI Tnchinopoly 255; 

ousted by the Nisant 257; at 

Nisacikonda 308; joins tlie Na* 

vab of Savanur aiainat Uw 

329: 4S8 : 490. 

Masat{!a Osjbctivks end koly 

p]ace6-3fi3 ; 380 ; 404. 

MURSHiD KULi Kh.—209, 

MU2AFFAR JAN^259; bis o^Qion 

about Sbabu 276; kUled 305; 

320. 

MuzAiTAS Kh. CardI—trained by 

Bussy 326; deserts the Peshva 

327: Sgbts at Savanur 327*329; 

attempts Btiau Saheb's lite and 

pimished with death 330. 

MuZA^AR KH. Mughal artillery offi* 

cer—146. 

N^)R Shah—163; sadts Delhi 

154-158; addresses a letter to Ba* 

jlrao; murdered 236 and 357. 

NAjis KftAN Cor ud'dauta) Rohlda 

chiei—raises a false cry 364; 

36S; 281 ; 887; appeals to Mai* 

harrao Holkai* 395; pl^s false to 

Dattaji ^dia 404-406; pemiades 

Abdaii to reioain in India 41&; 

wina over Shuja 419 ; 4Z0 ; op* 

poses Marathe peace*mova$ 423; 

severely handled 429; falls out 

with AbdaU 445 ; 504; dies 510. 

Nana Phaunts—acoxnpanies Bbau 

Sabeb to Panlpac 414 ; wriiei 

fronx Delhi 420; proceeds to Na* 

sik 439; 551. * 

Nana Piaakdars—see Trifobak 

Sadaabiv. 

Nana Sahb Peshna^ece Balaji 

Bajirao. 

Narayansao PBSHWA—wounded 

534 ; initiated into administration 
540. 

Naso Ganca&har alias Ayaba Mu* 
sumd&r—124. 

Nai» Shankar Rajb Bahadur—ac> 
companies Balaji Viahvanath to 
Pelhj 44; appmnted to Bund^* 
khaod 208; founds Jbansi 230; 
Governors of Jban» 231 fjt; in 
the Panjab 405 ; with Dattaji Sin- 

dia 410; at Delhi 416; 429; 
abandoas Delhi 446; joins R'rao 
471; made I^tinidbi 474. 

Naa) ram Maotri—65 ; 114; 124. 
Nasir Jano—32; 157; defeated by 

Bajirao, makes peace 180*131; 
rebels against father 195*198: bis 
expedition in > Kamatak 395* 
295; killed 305 and 320; arc^i* 
tlons about Delhi 360. 

Navalsinh Jat—attacked by the 
Maraihu 6d0, dgns treaty with 
the Maratbas 613, 

NbMAJI SCtfOlA—13 : 37. 
Ntlakamthrao Abe Fumndsre— 

473 ; concenved in the Koli rebel* 
lion 43& 

NitAKAHTTi TaiSfSAX Prabhu Ma* 
hadkar, a Kolbapux minister 

NrKMji NiMBALKAR, husband of 
Daryabei—2dS. 

Nizam ALI—195 and 519; defeated 
at Slndkhed 333*334; murders 
Haidarjang and Shah Namz Kh. 
335; defeated at Udgir, losmg 
Muslim capitals 336; saaes 
power from Salabat Jang 337 ; 
attacks Poona 476; defeated at 
Rakehashhuvan 476; attacked at 
Aurangabad 480; befriended by 
the Peshwa 402; joins the Pc^* 
wa in the war upon Haidar Ail 
m 

Nl2AM*0L*MUUt, As&f Jah—^ 
pointed Subahdar of the Deccan 
24; birtb^ early hfe 32; 4S ; 

friendly to the Peshwa 46 57 ; 
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V'iiU the bettle of Khaodwa 70; 

<ppow9 Msiatha daiioi ?9 ; 

cornea Wazir at Delhi 7S; falla 

out with the Emperor 76; 

Mubaiis IQian at Sakharkbedla 

£061; asserts lAdepeodeace 83> 

64; (tHle Asa! Jah foobota 

p. 43); seU up Saxebhaji agaion 
^ahu 9094; explains ^tuation 

to Sawai Jaiamh 96; routed at 

Palkhad 37 and contracU treaty 

of Munp ShevjBum 98; receives 

Deepeinh 115'; supports Dabha- 

de against Bajirao 129; 

forms plans with Bangash 126; 

explains his atuatcon in a (attar 

12d; aupports the Siddi of Jas* 

jira 136; called to Delhi by tile 

Emperor ISS; defeated at Bho 

pal accepts treaty of Dorah 

Sara! 159: at Delhi during 

Nadir Shah's Invasion 163 ; why 

Nizam’s continued existence in 

Deccan tvas allowed 160, 164 and 

261 ; 191; son Naslr Jang’s re* 

bellioQ 19^198; captures ThebU 

nopoty from the Mamthaa 2S7 ; 

death 256 and 319, progeny 319. 

PARAf^HAS Dapaji, a HoOtsr cap¬ 

tain—carrisa cash to Panipat 456, 

FAjzAsnWAMPAfrr Pratioidhi—15; 

punished 24. 

Passoji Bhc^lb—13, 37 ; two sons 

Santaji and Ranoji 46 ; 61. 

PiDAjr Gaikwai>-126 : 127, 128, 

murdered 131. 

PlLAjl Japhav-74; 99; 107; 145; 

156 ; 166; conducts war against 

Portuguese 170; 199-190; 197; 

arranges Peshwa’a visit to All- 

wtardl Kh. 216; 231; eetinate of 

character 246; mediates for th« 

Feshwa 307. 

PORTUGUCStt—25; 27; 155; pcr»- 

cute Hindus 169; attacked by 

Mamthas 170*173: Fort Rajtot 

pulled down 243; help Tulaji An* 
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gria 343 ; defeated at Pooda 349. 

Price, British envoy—361. 

QAMBUPom KK., Warir—111 ; 141; 

146 ; 165 : 5S3. 

Rauhasaj. wife of }4alflil Viabva- 

oath'4ier children 60; her pil* 

grimage In north India 147*149; 

her infuence on family 198 ; S07. 

Radka&ai, 2od wile of Nanasaheta 

—436 and 457, 

Rackuji Angria—succeeds to hU 

estate 352. 

RACHUjr Bhosle of Nagpur— 

96: 112; 155; 176; 199; 207; 

offers help to Mir Hatnb 210; 

campiaii>9 against the Paehwa 

213; meets the Pesbwa at Gaya 

216; defeated by the Pesliwa 

217; recondled 216; levies 

Chautii upon Bengal 223; arises 

Chanda Ssh^ and keeps him 

prisoner 253-255; 264; at Saura 

289: joins the Psahwa in Ksr- 

nsfaJe 3f5; 306; death 341; 

progeny 342. • 

Rachuji Caikwad—aves BhaS’ 

kar Pam’s amp 222, 

RACMOHATH Bajirao—193; lesds 

expedition to Gujarat 312; before 

Kiunbher STMT?; present at 

Emperor Ahmad Shah’s murdtt 

379 ; mismanagK northern a£airs 

360*383 ; 391; leads a second exp. 

to north 395; unable to control 

HoUar 397; at Lahore capturing 

Attodt 399-400; iaUs to restrain 

Abdab 401 and Najib Kb. 4CD; 

works against his nephew 465>467, 

sbendons Poona 471; forma a 

pact with Niaam Ali 473; cap¬ 

tures Mixaj 476; 479; journeys 

to Kamatak 439; closes war with 

Haidar Ali 490; present at Dar* 

yapur 491; neglects British cu* 

naoe 507; siifors discomfiture at 

Gohad 507; thwarted by Ahalya- 
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• bai 508; atUcJccd and overcome 
at DJiod^ 531*625; adopU s son 
Aniritiao 525 ; escapes from con* 
finameiit 525 

8uoa^20. 
Rajasbai of KolhBpur^23; 91; 

94; nade prisoner 117; death 
122. 

Rajmal alias Ayamal or Maiji, Jai* 
pur Diwar^lSO; death 

R^Pirr princca—enumerated 53; 
take dedaibne at Fushkar 35; 
235. 

RAUASAf, edfe of Madhovtao^be* 
comes aU 543*544. 

RiMAji Maiisdev. Pesbwa's officer 
on the west coast—347; imtago* 
nUee Tuladi Aneria 343: neso* 
liates alliance with the British 
344; overcomes Tulajl 345*347. 

Rambhaji Nimbalkar, alias Rao 
Rajnbha—32; 48; TO; defeated 
73 ; 91; 144. 

Samcmanma Baba Sulrliraiikar, 
Sindia’a XXwan—ISl; 194 ; 231; 
232; at San^ola 292*301; dies 

. 302. 
Ramcfancssa GAj4e3u» Macatha 

connsaiider—ii) the north S76; 
fauttblea Babuji NaOc 493; leads 
expe^lion to Ddhi 509*51X, 
stora Rraperor to C>^i 614*515; 
leads a auccesaful canipai^ 
against Jandjl Bboale 527*529. 

Ramchanoas Haki Patwardhan— 
00 the vest coast 172. 

RAMCHAtmtA JAOKAV, son ol Chai> 
drasen->306; 329; defeated at 
Sindkhed 334 ; 408 ; 473; made 
Senapali 474; dies 47$. 

RAMCtBSHDBAFANT Amstya—18; 
22; retires 23 ; 52. 

Ramdaspant. Divan of Salabal 
Jang 320 ; 381; tries to become 
Peshva 322 , murdered 324. 

RAM RAJA, Qihalrapats- his par* 
entage 237; crowned 28S; de¬ 
clared illegitimate 298. 

Ram SifiAgnrr—institutes an enquiry 
into the Pratendar 494; cherae* 
ter 545. 

RAUSiNF Rathod—332 : bis claim 
settled 386. 

Ranjttsink Jat—610; mskes a 
treat/ with the Maiathaa 513. 

Rani Kisdoiu, alias Hasis, wife of 
Surajmal Jat—377; looks after 
the MaraCha refugees from Pani* 
pat 443. 

Ranoji Brosab of Nagpur-^mads 
Sawai Santajl 47; 147, 

RxNOji Gboipade of Kapsl-^; 
93. 

Ranoji SiNDbA founder of Gwalior 
—101; 145 : 161; 157 ; 200 ; 
death 233. 

Rao RAMffHA—see Rambhail Nun- 
balkar. 

Saadat KftAN—37: 147 ; 152; 
swallows poison 165. 

Sabaji SiNPiA'^uated to Lahore 
readies Attock. 400; 404; r^ 
turns defeated 408; 411; guards 
Baxaii ghat ill, 

SAUASJiry Rsmcbanclrs. sm of 
Ramchandra Baba—in the north 
449; at XMiodap 525 ; 547. 

Sadashiveao Bhau—192; 246; 
leads hie fust expadidon to Kar- 
natak 269; captures Sangola and 
adopts constitutional changes 
292; thieateos the Peshva 301; 
advances into Karoatak 306; at 
Savanur 327; his life attempted 
&/ Musaffar Khan 390; conducta 
Udgir campaign 837; 369 ; 375; 
382; sdecCed at Patchir to lead 
the ^iftipat e:g>edrtion ^5; 
meets Surajmal Jat, Hollar and 
Sndia 417; eq>tures Delhi 41$; 
hia negotiations with Abdeli 
prove abortive 419423; his difli* 
cult tituation 420: captures Kujiji* 
pure 424 ; bolds a festive Dar> 
bar 426 ; faces Afghans at Pani* 



INDEX 563 

pat 426 ; eorufucU minor actions 
428; find!; his position prscariouj 
43L ; plans to r«tire b block Cor- 
matico 497; position of the two 
armies explained 499-400 j the 
last combat 441 ; t^sappeais in 
fight 442, appearance of hii pr& 
tender 499. 

Sappai; jANr>, Mansur All Kh.i 
Waair—238; seeks Meratha md 
239; U defeated in the Pathaa 
war 339*361; caodudes an agrees 
ment with the Marathas 965'966; 
prosecutes war against the Em* 
perar 3&7-3&6; dks 369 

SUTUNASAt GUorpada—62. 
SACUKAfiAi, ^ishu’s wife—263; die 

269. 
SaiYAP AfitMUA—31; 44; Uiled 

72. 
Saitas Hussain AU—31; S2; ap- 

pcHcrted to the Deccan 36; 37; 
SBcka MAialhn help 39 ; conclud¬ 
es agreement 41; at Delhi w!lh 
the Manithas 44: depones the 
Bmperor 46; killed 72. 

Saitap Lasitkab Kh., of fhs Nl- 
aam’a slaif—159 ; 1S7; 321; 923 ; 
324. 

Sakba&am Bapu (Bokil)—in the 
north 194; 259: guides Ragliu* 
nathrao 473; goes on misaon to 
Jaaoji Bhosle 478; 523; outwitted 
h>* Madiiavrao 550. 

Sakwasbax. Shahu’s wife—263; 
88; tiies to seeuxe power 271; 
becomes sati 275. 

Sala&at Jaw—196; installed 320; 
forms treaty of Soigwa 323; 
324; concludes treaty of TtHnlki 
326; 328; bsiTled by Busy at 
Char Minar 932; defeaced at 
Sindkhrd 333-93S ; 396; tropri 
soned and put to death 337. 

SAMBaAji Angria—199; death 177 
246. 

SAMBMAji Raja of KoliapuT—2S 
40; oSers condolence for Yesubal 

49; 59; 73: joins the Misam 
^nst Shahu 90; writes to Chan- 
dnsen 92; msrned aad crowned 
at Poona 99; g^^ren up by Nlsaio 
99; subdued by Shahu 116; comes 
to ^hahu and accepts treaty of 
Varna 120; aftermath of the recon¬ 
ciliation 121; dies 122; at Sataia 
2t7; his character explained 299. 

SAtfsas Bakapuc, Mastani's 
son—109; proceeds against ‘Dj* 
lap Aj^a 345; In the north 
with R'rao 376; with Sada^vraO' 
at Pacipat and is killed 442. 

&U4CAAMSINH, Rsua of Udaipur— 
99; 112. 

Saktajj Bbosle—'Idiied 46, 47. 
Saktaji Ghoipade—d7; posthumous 

jagir coBfercBd upon his descend* 
ants by Madhavrao 548. 

Sarsuland Kh.—43 ; 107 r traiw- 
feired 123. 

SARDssHMUKHi—12; 41; explain¬ 
ed 49-54. 

SARntAj KH.^dlUd 209. 
SwiTPiBAi, Shahu's wife—41. 
Sawai Jaiskh—19; early life 34: 

97; addressed by Niom.nl.mullf 
95 ; 101; 103 ; 111; sends Deep- 
*iri1i on misisoD to Shahu 112 ; 
141; transferred from Malwa 
143; 145; receives Hadhabei 148; 
fails in inducing the Emperor to 
meet Bajirao 149-L51; 199; dltt 
235; encourages Maratha 
netration 240; 280. 

SBCHDji ANCatiA of Ko]aba--137: 
d«th 139; 177. 

Shar Alam, (Aunngseb's acm) see 
Bahadur Shah. 

Shah Axau. Emperor (AJi Gau* 
harl—leaves Delhi 404; pro* 
claims himself Emperor in Bihar 
4C6; tries to overcome the Eog* 
Itih and sustains defat at Baxar 
502-503; eeeks Maratha help and 
r^ns Delhi 5ld*51S. 

Shah Nawa2 Kh.—made ^isoner 
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tad wnte Ma9r-ul-unira 197; 

321; 324; murcknd SSS. 

SfiAJiir Chhairapati—hlft home com* 
me 12: wiAfi the bfiiUc of Khed 
14; is crowned 16; advacett u> 
Rfmsna 1? ; SO; appoinu Balftjl 
Vtthvdoaih Pi^wa 26; liii edJ* 
mace ol Bil&ji's worth 92 ; fuxlK 
hia position preuarioua 99; con* 
dudes an agTeemcnl with the 
Saiysds 41; hli cluing coalraH 
to Sajnbhaji 42 ; aiTects a consU* 
tuCionai duage 49 ; has a dash 
with Sambhaji 73 ; ram&na oea- 
tral in the war 7E; oOera 
terms to Mubsns Kh. 76; oners 
aafatjr to the Chief of Sondba 39; 
prohibits Nitam being injured 
lOO end lOE; reolvae Deepsinh’s 
mission ITS muiu of his poHcv 
112 : 159. 174 end 164: csplaina 
Maharashtra dhtrma to Sambha* 
ji IT 7; remonstrates with Da* 
bhade 124; recondlea Unubal to 
Bajirao 129; compels Balinio to 
vlait Nlaem 149 and 149 ; does 
not support Hiadu-pad'padJuhl 
16S; ia aware of the Maiaiha 
weehneaece 176; leads a campaign 
10 Mirsj 17?; hrs faith is Baji* 
rao 182; 189; nstores Dbar to 
Emperor 214 ; reconola Raghu* 
ji ^osle to PeAwi 219; hie 
last days 28S*267; makes fine! 
dudsioa about succauon 273; 
dies 274; bis proganj' 27S; ron* 
tcmporvy opinion abou* hitn 
276; hia duracter estimated 277* 
7B; bis benevolence end offidal 
seal 279; his policy towards the 
Mujtbda 261 : bxdids Shahuna* 
gar 2S2. Xbd Sbohu s^ away 
Maratba indcpendfioce; ICO, 159, 
160, 168, 177, 183, 196. 

Srah Vau Kh., Abdoli's Dlwao— 
8$a; serves Mughlani Bcgam 
riditly 392 ; 441; 446. 

Shaikh Muia, Shatm’s rhief->l6; 

44. 
SUAKKASAJT MALHAe-38; 39; 

41 ; 44 ; dies 71. 

Shankaui Narayan Saebiv—dies 

18. 

SHARHDjt. nja of T8njor->87. 

Shcv Bhat SaCbe, a Nagpur oflidal 

—Subahdir of Orisaa 224. 

Shkjpatrao PraCinidhi—24; 65; 

88; 92 ; 94 ; attacks Sambhaji 

117; esptuKA Halgsd 137; death, 

Jaj;]lvan InscaDed 264. 

SifUjA Kh,—209. 

Shuja'UIXMula—364 ; installsd 

369; resists cession of Hindu 

^neo 406; Joina Abdali 419; 

conducts negotiations {or peace 

between Abdali and fihaueaheb 

422; traces the Maretha dead 

448 ; leaves Abdali m biutr mood 

446; sustains defeat at Baxar 

503! sa^ KolkaiV aid 504; re* 

ccives sound advice from Ahmad 

PQi. Bangas.h 605; fnrma an 

agreemeot irith the English S06. 

SlPDlS OP jANJlJtA—25 ; their ongir) 

135 ; defeated by the Peshwa .162. 

SiUDi SAT^deseoates the shrine of 

Fsrashuram 136; is ld1M In a 

fight 140. 

EiKH CMI93 of the Panjab—39S. 

SPKNcn, an Engllsb envoy to 

Poona-349. 

SULTA^ji Nimbalhar. Sbabu's Sar* 

Uabkar—73; 33; 91; 06; lOO; 

144. 

SuRAjKAL Jat^defends Kumbber 

376; route Abdall's demand 413; 

descrla Bhausaheb 419. 

Swaraj VA—enp]ainsd 50. 

Taka&ai-^ tries to put down Sliahu 

14; suffers lorprisonment 33; 

captured by Shahu 117; elects to 

remain at Satarm 118; death 122; 

her accat move in favour of her 

grandson 279; 287; Isavea for 
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Sintigad 2B9; her menttneat 

acBin&i th« ?eshwa 293 i conflnes 

Fasirsia 294 ; recnnciJed to tbe 

Peahwa 296-297 ; puts to death 

Anandiao Jadhav and the guards 

296; diet 29d. 

Taimur Shak, AbdaJl's son—337; 

392 ; 398; 399. 

TmufiAKSMo DaUiade, &eaapali>- 

88; 1J7 ; IrAUilled 122; Jcrias the 

Niaam 123; ia killed Sn battle 

128. 

Triubax. Sabaohiv alia Nana Pu' 

randerc—194; letter wrttten to 

him by the Peah^va 241 ; appmnt- 

ed to guard Ranraja 293 ; 450. 

Trtmbak Vbhvanatk Petbe—60; 

captured by RBBltuji 214; posted 

at Satam 297 ; 3DI; 307 ; 468 ; 

lemonatraia with Rashunatbrao 

409; 472; conducts war with 

Haidar All S34; wina victor? at 

^^i•ta]av and ia recalled 535. 

TuiODjr HoiKAA—in tha Panjab 

400; helps R'mo 525. 

ToKOJi Pawap, founder of Dewas 

^4; 96. 
Tulajt Angbia—139; captures Co- 

valkot 246*247 ; defeated at Mu* 

dagad 249; opposes Ramaji Ma* 

badev 343; attacked at Vijay* 

chuf and captured 346*347; his 

last days 350. 

Tc&-ta2-KhaN. Nisam'g captain 

^; 91; 94; 96: 144, 

Udaji ChavaN—22; 83 ; 91; 92; 

99 ; 100; 116 ; attempts Shahu'a 

Ufe 117 ; 308. 

UDAjt PAWAfi-.44: 103 ; 108; lU; 

12S, 128. 

UDHAMBAt, Emperor’e mother—367. 

VoriBAi, Shabu’e roietreas-diea 

263. 

Vtsaji Krishna Binivalc. a Mara* 

tha commandec—301 ; 3BI ; leatte 

expedition to Delhi 509; 511; 

516-17. 

VSHVASRAa PeahwB'a aon—289; 

leada tbe battle at Sitidkhed 333; 

present at Udpe 336; accompanies 

Bhausahebi to Panlpat 416; killed 

442. 

VtTHAL SfUVDW^ll; 3281 376;. 

396 ; 416; 442. 

ViTHAL SUNPA2. Diwao ot Nlsare 

All—333; negotiates peace with 

the Peahwa 334; 473 475; de¬ 

feated and kiUdd at Sabsbaahhu- 

van 479. 

Vyankaji Ram. Peshwa's envoy~ 

155; reports to Balirao from 

Delhi 1S6. 

VvANKAfaM) ChoT^ade. husband ol 

6ajimo's sister—60; 147; 155; 

wins victory at Goa 17?-174. 

Watsow, British Admiral—at Vijay- 

dofg 346-347, 

WiTiBio, English envoy to Poona— 

849. 

YAStAvaAo Prabhu Parasnis—42; 

44 ; 151. 
Yaw GorAi KhalnvNar—IIB. 

Yaxub Air Khan, AbdaU’s envoy— 

418 : 446 ; 447. 
Yamaji SHitpgv Mutalilc—274; 

268; 291: 292 ; 294 ; la the 

north 449. 
Yashvantrao DABraue, Senapetr 

—imuUed 129; rcnwved 293; 

305 ; 310: dies 812. 

YASHVANTitAO PAwar of Dhar— 

posted tc Z^ar 203 and 215; 340; 

at Pampat 416; killed 442. 

YbSubaj. Shahu's rnother—41; 43; 

her release and death 48 

Zaj^k Kh. Rohilla—succeeds Ms 

lather and arrested 510*11; at* 

tacked and reduced 515*19. 

21fikASU Khan. Governor of Lnboie 

—164; dies 3S8. 

2IKATWNJSA Begam. Aurangaeb's 

dauebter—12; 19; 283. 

Zui.VDCAK Krah—11 ; 20 ; put lo 

death SI. 
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